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S.illariiey or Xilmerick to Iiistowel and BLilkee.

*^* Coach all the year round. Steamers June to Septemher.
These services should be verified.

Killarnej



Galway, Clifden, Xieenane and "Westport..

Coach : June to September.

Galwaj- (train)

Clifden

„ (coach)

Letterfrack (coach)

Leenane ,,

Leeuane (coach)

"Westport „

C©acli Fares : Clifden to Letterfrack, 2.?. ; Leenane, 4s. 6d. ; "Westport

{via Delphi and Louisburgh), 10*.

Westport to Leenane (direct) 3*. Grf. ; Letterfrack, 6*. (jd. ; Clifden, %s.

Whip-money, \s. to Leeuane ; Is. M. Leenane to Westport.

dep.
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•N-ETW EXPRESS ROUTE TO ZREX.AM-D.
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Fishg-uard-Rosslare service not later than Aug. 1, 1906. The
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The district described in this volume Hes south of

a Hue drawn from Howth and Dublin through Athlone to

Ballina. It thus covers the whole of Munster, and by far

the greater part of Leinster and Connaught. Within these

provinces there is however a great deal of country of an
unattractive character and, while it is hoped that no places

of real interest have been omitted, we have dealt more par-

ticularly with those districts which may fairly be called

holiday-ground. Accordingly, County Wicklow, Connemara,
the grand coast of County Clare, Counties Cork and Kerry

—

the two last including the lovely scenes of the Blackwater,
Glengarriff, and the Lakes of Killarney—are described in

detail, whilst the inland counties are treated more briefly.

The course of the railways is so far given, as not to miss

any noteworthy objects on or near them, and Dublin, Cork,

Limerick and Kilkenny are described at some length.

Scenery, Means of Travel.—But little need be

added on these subjects to what will be found in the body

of the book at the beginning of the principal tourist sec-

tions, ^.^.Wicklow {p. 17), Connemara (p. 180), Clare (p. 163),

Blackwater {p. 73), and Killarney {pp. 90, 111). Many of

the remoter districts have in recent years been made
accessible by rail. Throughout the districts where railways

are still scarce, mail-cars carry passengers, often at very

low fares. On roads which are pleasure-routes, coaches or

long-cars ply during the tourist season, whilst everywhere
private cars can be hired at 6d., 8d., lOd. and 1.*?. a mile for

1, 2, 3, or 4 passengers respectively. In regard to mileage

these rates sometimes apply to Irish miles (11 =^14 English),

but in most places of popular resort they are charged for

English miles. In addition, the driver is entitled to M. a

mile, irrespective of the number of passengers carried, but

may fairly look for something above the minimum |pr short

distances, or for a earful of passengers.

Throughout this volume, distances are given in English

miles, the shorter reckoning being occasionally added. In

most cases, experience or local information has been tested

by comparison with the Intelligence Department's " Dis-

tance Map of Ireland," and our distances, as a basis for

car-fare reckoning, are not understated.

For the principal coach and steamboat arrangements
the reader is referred to the Pink Sheet. The Shannon
steamers' voyages do not easily fit in with ordinary tour-

ing routes and have therefore been added at the end next

before the Index.



xii INTRODUCTION.

The only parts of our present district which appear to us
at all suited for Pedestrian Tours are Co. Wicklow, the
Waterville and Mizen Head promontories, Connemara be-

tween Recess, Letterfrack and Leenane, and the coast of

W. Clare. Elsewhere distances are long, and good sleeping-

quarters wide apart. At Killaruey, boats and cars are a
necessity for most of the recognised excursions. Cyclists
will find little difficulty anywhere. The famines and other
periods of distress of the last half-century have been
partially relieved by setting the people to improve old
roads and make new ones. A great deal of this work has
been done since the original ordnance survey was made,
hence the difficulty in making our maps to fully repre-

sent the facts that in the touring districts of Kerry, Gal-
way, and Mayo they contain many recent additions is due
to the unfailing courtesy of the officers of the Ordnance
Survey Office and of the Congested Districts Board, to

whom and to the many correspondents, who have taken
interest in the correction of the text, we beg to repeat our
sincere thanks.

G-eologry*—A brief treatment of this subject, as regards

Wicklow, Connemara and Clare, will be found in the intro-

ductory remarks to those sections of the text. Here it will

suffice to give an outline of the geology of the south-west of

the island.

When the traveller reaches Limerick Junction from
Dublin, he has nearly completed his journey over the car-

boniferous limestone of the central plain. The Slievena-

muck, Galtee, and Knockmealdown ranges of Southern

Tipperary consist almost wholly of old red sandstone, and
this formation also occupies the main portion of Co. Cork.

The limestone appears in the valley of the Blackwater, but

in that of the Bandon passes into carboniferous slate, which
alternates with the red sandstone rocks throughout the

southernmost peninsulas and headlands of the island. Clay-

slate (Silurian) forms the highest elevations in the western

part of the county, between the head of Bantry Bay and
the Upper Blackwater. Kerry has two markedly distinct

areas. From Killarney northward to the mouth of the Shan-

non it is of small elevation, and consists of carboniferous

rocks fringed on the western side by an irregular band of

limestone. The southern portion and the western promon-
tories are everywhere mountainous. The mountains are

chiefly composed of a red or brownish-grey quartzose con-

glomerate alternating with green and purple slates. This

rock forms the uppermost of the Silurian series, and is
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fcloseiy allied to the lowest member of the old-red system.
The traveller who explores the Keeks and ascends Carran-
tuohill Avill note the grand escarpments which it forms.
Towards the coast, and in the direction of the river valleys,

the flanks of the mountains support extensive layers of

old-red sandstone, which within the valleys is overlaid by
carboniferous limestone—the formation on which Killarney
itself stands. The traces left by old-world glaciers are
abundant—huge moraines and carved rocks.

Mountains.—Ireland is perhaps not a great country
for climbers, but there are some noteworthy ascents. As re-

marked elsewhere, the granite heights of Co. Wicklow offer

few attractions, and the bare ranges of East Cork and
Waterford are as mountains equally deficient. On the
other hand the Galtees are a noble i;ange, and afford superb
views of the rich country at their feet ; the outliers of the
Twelve Pins, e.g., Diamond Hill and Lissoughter, are
to be recommended as both easy to climb and fine view-
points ; Benbaun, the loftiest of the Twelve Pins and
the noble Mweelrea group are more serious ascents. The
grand views from the Kerry heights, for instance, Purple
Mountain, Carrantuohill and Brandon Hill, will amply
repay the time devoted to them. Carrantuohill, the
highest mountain in Ireland, is sufficiently rugged and
abrupt to be interesting for the ascent itself. Perhaps
the best general view-point in Kerry is ftom Caherconree.
The Croaghaun range in Achill is dull to mount, but drops
in superb cliffs to tlie ocean, and Croagli Patrick, though
only moderately interesting, so far as the climb is con-
cerned, is a noble observatory within easy reach of West-
port. These several climbs arc all described from the
author's notes made in the course of actual ascents.
Until we printed that of Carrantuohill in 1888, and of

Mweelrea in 1895, there were no guide-book descriptions
of these excursions that seemed based on experience.
Now there are several

!

Round Towers.—Of these famous structures, which
are almost - confined to Ireland, more than a hundred have
been enumerated. They are found in thirty of the thirty-
two counties (Westmeath and Leitrim being, we believe,
Unrepresented) and in i^reservation or decay range from

* The other examples in the British Isles are in Pictish Scot-
land (i) Brechin, perfect

;
(ii) Abernfethy, imperfect

;
(iii) Egilshay

(Orkney), only a stump attached to the old ruined church. The
last of these may be as early as any in Ireland, but the two first

are assigned to the llth or I2th century.
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perfect specimens to the shortest stumps or mere founcla^

tions. They consist of a hollow and slightly tapering
circular tower, frequently of very massive masonry at
the bottom, and of ashlar or grouted rubble work above,
and terminating, when perfect, in a conical cap. The
height varies from 50 to over 100 feet, and internally they
were divided into stories. The single door is always from
8 to 15 feet from the ground, and each story has a small
window-opening, excej^t the one below the cap, which com-
monly has four. The sides of the door and windows incline

inwards, conformably with the tapering of the tower, and
the tops of the windows, whether round, pointed, or square,

are formed of one or two stones, but not of a built arch.

TXiQ purpose for which they were built, and the period to

which they belong, after having been the subject of end-
less and often wild conjecture, have not been seriously in

doubt since the late Dr. Petrie's The Round Towers of Ire-

land appeared. In date they are now held to range from
the 6th to the 13th cent., the larger number probably
from the 10th to the 12tli. The native name for them,
Cloictheacli, literally bell-house, indicates one of their uses,

but their primary object, to supply a place of refuge for

the monks and their sacred treasures in times of sudden
danger, is inferred from their situation, adjoining existing

or once existing ecclesiastical buildings, and the character
of their structure—massive below, unclimbable and with a
single, small and easily defensible, entrance. That the
latest examples retained the old form, although the ame-
lioration of the times no longer made that essential, may
well have resulted from a desire to keep touch with the

past, even when the provision of a bell-house was the

mmediate object contemplated.
The foregoing paragraphs are based on Mr. Gammack's

article in the Diet. Xtian. Antiq. From Miss Stokes' Early
Christian Art in Ireland (1894), a handbook the traveller

will appreciate, we have abridged the following summary
of the distinctive styles of masonry which the towers
exhibit. The examples named are those met with upon,

or within a short distance of, the most frequented tourist

routes that fall within this volume.

I. Earliest. Rough field-stones, umvrought, roughly coursed

wide-jointed, small stones in interstices, mortar coarse. Clon-
dalkin (p. 55).

II. Stones roughly hammer-dressed, distinctly but irregularly

coursed. Xlldare {p. 56), Cashel {p. 58).

III. Horizontal courses, well-dressed stones, strong mortar of

lime and sand. Glendaloug-h {p. 30)) Kilkenny (p. 53).
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IV. Rough but excellent ashlar, resembling wide jointed Anglo-

Norman. In some cases, finest possible ashlar masonry.
A§:hadoe {p. 117), Ardmore (p. 76), O'Rorke's at Clon-
macnois {p. 203).

Accomaiodation.—The writer upon Irish hotels^

who desires to be just to the landlord, and at the same time

faithful to the traveller, is awkwardly i^laced. He gladly

recognises the anxiety of everybody in the establishment,

notably "Boots," to contribute to his comfort, but patience

is apt to be sorely tried by the general laxity of manage-
ment, which often entirely upsets the day's programme.
This shows itself at one time, in orders for an early call

being quite forgotten, at another in breakfast being served

two minutes before train or mail-car is timed to start, and
generally in unpunctuality and untidiness. The most suicidal

habit however to which the Irish hotel-keeper is prone, is

carelessness about those sanitary arrangements which are

now-a-days essential to the success of any place professing

to accommodate decent people. It is difficult to estimate

the increase in Irish travel which would result from the

removal of these drawbacks. Happily a great advance has
been made of late in the South-West, West and North-
West, and other districts will be bound to follow suit if

they are to hold their own.

Speaking now of that part of Ireland which this volume
covers, there is first-class accommodation in Dublin, Cork,
and on the principal tourist routes. Connemara, County
Wicklow and the Glengarrilf-Killarney country are well

supplied, and no hardship is entailed by having to stop for

a time at Waterford, Kilkenny, Mallow, Youghal, Limerick,
Lehinch, Lisdoonvarna, or Kilkee. The rail-and-coach
route round the Waterville promontory is as remarkable
for its excellent accommodation as for the beauty of its

scenery; otherwise "Irish " ideas are apt to prevail even
in the principal " hotels," at places^ at all remote, or

purely agricultural or commercial. The pleasant country
inn of rural England is a ram avis in Ireland, indeed the
term "inn " is practically not used at all, and every little

pot-house that holds its head above the mere drink-shop
(whose name is legion) dubs itself an hotel.

There is a difficulty of another kind which confronts the
writer of an Irish handbook. Hotel signs are little used,
and houses are commonly designated by the name of the
landlord, hence what is Murphy's to-day is M' Sweeny's
to-morrow. We have done our best to bring this part of

our work up to date, but, herein, as in all else which affects
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the usefulness of the Guide, we invite communications fronl

the reader.

Hotel charges do not, relatively to the accommodation;
differ much from those obtaining in England.

Health Resorts.—Within our district the only Spas
of any general repute, even amoDg Irishmen, are Lucan
and Lisdoonvarna. Of Hydropathic Establishments, " St.

Ann's Hill," near Blarney, is well known. Among winter-
quarters, for cases requiring a mild and equable climate,

may be mentioned Queenstown, Glengarriff, and Park-
nasilla. The first of these is less humid than the beautiful

Kerry nooks, the arrival and departure of American traffic

affords variety, and Cork is within half an hour by rail.

We have failed to obtain trustworthy records of the amount
of sunshine during the winter at either of these places, and
no special provision seems to be made for the amusement
of visitors—an important consideration, if the South of

Ireland is to vie with the South of France ; but a guide-

book wi'iter must leave the merits of sanatoriums to the
doctors.

Shamrock.—The plant now taken as the national
emblem is the White (or Dutch) Clover

( Trifolium repens),

which is supposed to be of comparatively recent intro-

duction into Ireland, where it is not so common as in

England. Some writers maintain that Wood Sorrel {Oxalis

acetosella) Was the plant which St. Patrick used as an
illustration of the doctrine of the Holy Trinity, others that
it was Trifolium minus, but shamrock appears to be a
generic term, and the legend is not older than the 12th
century.

Sooks.—Besides Miss Stokes' little volume (see under
'' Round Towers ") two may be recommended to the intel-

ligent tourist : A Concise History of Ireland (28.) and Irish

Local Names Explained (Is.), both by P. W. Joyce, LL.D.,
and published by Gill & Son, of Dublin.



Parting Pm0anfl»»

Members of the Cyclists' Touring- Club, 47, Victoria

Street, London, S.W.—entrance Is., ann. subsc. 5s., which covers

monthly Gazette and annual Handbook (hotels, repairers," consuls,"
i.e., local men to whom members may apply for information)

—

will have with them the admirable Road Books, Ireland North or

Ireland South (3s. each, post free, to members ; 10s. Qd. each net

to non-members. Excellent and cheap publications are Mecredy's
Road Book of Ireland, in two parts (Is. each. Irish Cyclist Office,

Dame Court, Dublin).

In the following skeleton routes and in the brief cycling infor-

mation in the text of this volume, we do no more than indicate

such routes of approach to the most important holiday districts

as we believe to be the best, and some routes within them that are

good. The wheelman who is a stranger to those districts and has
only a short holiday at his disposal will not waste time in cycling

to them from afar. In Cos. Cork and Kerry the roads are

generally good ; in Connemara, fair ; in Co. Clare, bad ; in

Achill Island, worse.

The long and somewhat devious routes we outline, from Dublin
to Killarney and back, are the best in our opinion, having regard
to the quality of roads, scenery, and places of interest. Such an
instructive tour if taken fairly leisurely would, with the Waterville
Tour thrown in, occupy a busy month on the reckoning of 30 miles
a day. With less time available, the outward route may be re-

commended with some confidence. The return route, by way of

Limerick, is distinctly less interesting, and of its three principal

attractions for the lover of old-time relics—Adare, Holycross
Abbey and Cashel—the last and most interesting can be taken on
the outward route, between Kilkenny and Clonmel, at an additional

cost of 16^ miles' pleasant cycling. We anticipate, and shall

welcome, suggested improvements of our zigzag from Dublin to

Killarney. Meanwhile we are not doubtful of its merits.

DUBLIN TO KILLARNEY.

X. Shortest but least interesting- route.

Dublin
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ZI. Best route for scenery and places of interest. —
Together with IV., a comprehensive tour enjoyable throughout.
Alternative sections in smaller type.

Intermediate.
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Intermediate. Total.

Monasterevan 12J
Kildare 7

The Curragh 3

Newbridge ... ... ... 3

Naas 6J
IWCaynooth 12f 199^
Leixlip 4^
Lucan ... ... ... ... If
Dublin 8| 214J

DUBLIN TO LIMEBICK AND CO. CLAEE.

V. To Ziimerick—best scenery between Mountrath and
Silvermines.
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Special. If you can hit off the Limerick to Kikush steamer at

Tarbert Pier (it is a tidal service) go that way,* as a continuation
of the above Dublin to Limerick run. Otherwise, we advise the

above Lehinch route as far as Ennis and thence train. The
35 miles of the direct road between Ennis and Kilkee are barren,

and the 43 miles " Shannon " road via Kilrush are very slightly

better. The Shannon is a " noble stream," of course, but from
Lough Ree mouthwards it is supremely modest and, for better or

worse, you see little of it from any road. A swim at Kilkee is

worth obtaining, and the cliffs of Co. Clare are superb. To make
for Lehinch (II. above) . and thence wheel to Kilkee and Loop
Head, returning by rail from Kilkee to Ennis and so homewards,
is an excellent scheme, if you remember to halt at Lehinch and
Kilkee to view the cliffs which the road necessarily shirks. It is

28 miles between Lehinch and Kilkee, and on the whole feature-

less. The run from Kilkee to Loop Head is 37 miles, and if there

were an hotel at the Lighthouse, it would be thronged. But
there isn't, and our advice to wheelfolk who object to a twice

thirty-seven journey is to be content with Kilkee to Ross Bay and
back, which is 45 miles, out and home, from Kilkee.

VZZZ. Dublin to Xiisdoonvarna.

(a) Dublin, as above to Ennistymon, 158^, whence Lisdoon-

varna 8 miles.

(6) Dublin, as above to Ennis, 142^, and on by Corofin, 8^

;

Kilfenora, 17 ; to Lisdoonvarna, 23.

DUBLIN TO COS. GALWAY AND MAYO.

The roads from Dublin across the full breadth of Ireland to

Galway, Westport and Ballina are dull, and, for long stretches,

dreary. Moreover, the places passed are generally of little or no
interest, and comfortable hotels are few and far between. To be

overtaken by foul weather, or by a mishap to the machine, might
easily prove distinctly disagreeable, and our advice to the tourist

is to use the rail to the places named above. If Connemara is to

be approached by way of Cong, cycling might pleasantly begin at

Claremorris.

* Limerick to Askeaton, 16^ m. ; Foynes, 23 ; Tarbert Pier, 36

;

and Kilrush to Kilkee, 8.
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ZX. Dublin to Galway.

Dublin
Maynooth (pleasant so far)

MulUngar
Athlone ...

Balllnasloe
Kileonnell

Athenry
Gal\(ray ...

Interme.liate.

.".'

15

.. 364 '

.. 29

.. 16f

.. 71 ..

.. 171 .

..
14i

.

Total.

15

51^

97i

137

C. Dublin to "Westport or Zieenane.

Intermediate. Total.

Dublin
Athlone (above) 80J
Tuam m 121

*Ballinrobe 19l
"Westport 19| 159

XX. Dublin to Balllna.

(a) The road with the best surface, but dull throughout, is that

by Mullingar, 51|; longford, 78; Ballaghaderreen, ll^;
Swinford, 134; Ballina, 150 miles.

{b) The vosid via Athlone, 80^; Roscommon, 101; Ballymoe,

11 4^; Castlerea, 120; Swinford, 144J; Ballina, 160J, is generally

dull, and beyond Roscommon badly off for accommodation. The
direct road (17J) between Roscommon and Castlerea about half-

way goes over Rath Hill, steep descent on the far side, with

another sharp up and down before BalHntoher Castle is reached—
a large ruin, but scarcely of suflticient interest to compensate for

the rough, though shorter, road.

* From Claremorris to Ballinrobe, 13^, by a pretty road, via

HoUymount half-way. Between Ballinrobe {via. Cong, 7) and

Leenane, 30 miles, there is only poor sleeping accommodation.
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*,./::• For particulars of nil touring arrangements in Ireland, apply to Irish

Tourist Office, 2 Charing Cross, London, W.C.

The map opposite this page shows the steamer-routes from

Great Britain to Ireland. Those running to the Northern part of

the island are particularised in Ireland, Part I. Here we are

concerned with those to the Southern part.

(1) Holyhead to Kingstown, 64 w. ; or Worth Wall, 70 «i.

There are four weekday expi'css services between Holyhead and
Dublin, running in connection with trains from London and
England generally, and three of them in communication with
express and mail trains from Dublin to all parts of Ireland. Two
of these services are performed by the splendid boats of the City

of Dublin Steam Packet Co., which carry the Irish Mails and run
between Holyhead and Kingstown, whence there is rail connection
with the Dublin Termini : Wcstland Bow (for Dublin) ; Amiens St.

(for Belfast and the north) ; Broadstone (for Connemara, &c.)

;

Kincjshridfie (for Limerick, Cork, and Killarney). The other two
by the L. & AMI". Bailway Co., whose boats ran from Holyhead
to North Wall, where, on the arrival of the night express boat,

trains are in waiting to convey passengers to the termini (except

Westland Kow and Harcourt Street) of the various companies in

time to proceed by fast trains to all parts of Ireland. The steamers
of both companies are unexceptionable in their appointments.
The Kingstown mail-boats are the swiftest passenger steamers
afloat, but the express boats are not much behind them—notably
the " Banshee."
The approximate time occupied between London and Dublin

is :—by the Kingstown (mail) route, 8 to 8^ hours ; by the North
Wall route, 9 hours. Sleeping saloons {os. in addition to 1st class)

are attached to the night trains.

Tickets (1st or 2n(l CI.), issued for the Kingstown route, are available on
the North Wall boats (cabin) without extra charge, and by payment of an
extra charge i^f 2s. on 1st cl., and 3.s. on 2nd el. tickets, 1st and 2nd class

passengers with tickets by the North Wall route may travel in the 1st cabin
of the Kingstown boats, or, without extra charge, in the 2nd cabin. Third-class
through tickets with first or second on boat are also issued.

The Boute. After passing the magnificent breakwater at Holy-
head and noticing the South Stack Lighthouse at the western ex-
tremity of Holyhead Island, Sve see no more land till the mountains
of Wicklow loom in the distance, the Sugarloaf being the most
clearly defined height. The coast stretches as far as Wicklow
Head. Then our course is near the Kish lightship, and as we
approach Dublin Bay, we have the Hill of Howth, Ireland's Eye,
and Lambay Island to the North, and a shore line, dotted with
villas, villages and towns, in which Kingstown in the most com-
spicuous object, to the south. Dalkey Island and the obelisk on
Killiney Hill are also noticeable. Passengers by the Kinrtfitown

Ireland [I. 1;
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route at ouce enter the train, and in Jess than | hour reach th

Westland Row station, which is within the sixpenny car-fare {seep, c

limits, and has a fair-sized hotel, the Grosvenor, opposite to it.

North Wall passengers can enter the North Wall station {Refr

rm.; L.dtN.W. Hotel) by a covered way. For connection wit]

other termini, see p. 1. North Wall is just outside the cit

boundary, and therefore a car into Dublin comes under Section II.

(2) Iiiverpool to I>nbliJi (Jfortli IVall), 138 w. ; 13.?.6rf., Ret. 2U
bj- the City of Dublin Company's boats. This is also a good service, and will b
appreciated by those who like the sea. The time of leaving Liverpool varies fron

about noon to 10 p.m., according to the tide. Through tickets are issued fron

the chief ilidland stations by the route.

(3) GlasffOAV (and Cwreenock.) to I>ublin, 225 m. ; 13.s. 9(7., Ret
22.1. Gd„ every weekday evening from Central (Caledonian) station, the voj'agc

being timed "to occupy 12 to 14 hoiu-s.

(4) fiondoii, Portsmontli, i^ontliainptoii, Plyniontli, ant
falmoiitli to ]>ublin : Jiritinh and Irish Steatn Packet Co.'s steamers :

—

From London {North Quay, E. Basin, London Docks; 76 hours). Sun. am
Wed. mornings. Fares : 255., 175. 6f/., Il5.; return (two months), 385. 6d
275., 175.

From Portsmouth (")4 hours') Mon. & Thur. 8 a.m,

From Southampton (52 hours') Mon. & Thur. 2 p.m. U^^p, onlv ^litrhtlv 1p«<?
From Plymouth (36 hours) Tues. & Fri. 11 a.m.

^^'^*^^^ ^"^^ flight!} less.

From Falmouth (25 hours) Tues. & Fri. 5 p.m.

(5) Kew Milford to "Waterford : Great Western Raihcay ste.imers.

See p. 40.

(6) Xew Mllford to Cork.: CtVw o/ Cor-t boats, see ;?. 62

(7) I^iverpool (Nelson Dock) to Cork : Citii of Cork boats. On Tues.,
Thurs., Sat., tidal service. Fares : 175. 6(/., IO5. ; return (2 months) 255., 155,

(8) Eilverpool (Clarence Dock) to "^Vaterford : V,'aterford StenmsMp
Company. On Mon., Wed., Fri., tidal service. Fares : 155., 75. 6(/. ; return
(cabin) 255.

(9) liiverpool (Trafalgar Dock) to "%Vexford. On Tuesdays. Fares:
125. 6d., 65. ; return (cabin) I85.

(10) OlasgroAv to Cork : Clyde Shipping Company. On Tues. and Fri.

call at Greenock. Fares : 175. Od., iOs. ; return (2 mos.) 255., 15*-.

(11) OlasjBTOiv to \Vaterfor<l : Ctyde Shipping Company. On Mon. and
Thurs. Fares : same as to Cork.

(12) Crlasg:o-tv to Westport. Lai7-d. Fares : 125. Gd., 55.; return (2 mos.)
205., 8y. Also to Ballina.

(13) Cwlasg^oAv to liimerick. Clyde Shipping Company. On Mondays.
Fares : 175. 6cZ., IO5. ; return, 255., 15s.

(14) Bristol to I>n1»lin. On Tuesdays. Fares: IO5., 55.; rcturu (2 mos.,
available from "l^'exford ; from Cork for 35. extra) 155., 75. M.

(15) Bristol to Cork. City of Co ryt boats. OnTuee., Thurs. Fares : 245.,

105. 6f/. ; return (2 mos.) 365.

(16) Bristol to Waterford. Waterford S.S.Co. Fares: 155., 75. CJ.

;

return 25s.

(17) Bristol to l^>xford. Fare : 15s. ; return 255.

(18) Morccambe to Bnblin. Laird l^iwc. Mon., Wed., Fri. Fares:
12*. y]d., As. ; return, 20*., 65.

(19) l>ovor, Moutlianipton, Plymontlft to Waterford. Clyde
'Shipping Co.

(20) E,ondoii, iSonthampton, PlyinoutJt to Cork. Cork S. S. C
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RAItWAY STATIONS (Distances gireu are reckoned from Xeleon's

Pillar in the centre of Sackville Street) :—

Amiens St. {Gt. Notifiet-n, I ni.) for Drogheda, Belfast, London-
derry, DonejaL, &c.

Broadstone (Midland Gt. Western, 1 m.) for Sligo, Westport, Achill,

Galwaj-, Connemara, «S:c.

King:sbri<lg;e (67. Southern A: Western, If ;«.) for Cork, Limerick,
Waterford, Killaniey, <fcc.

'%VestlanA Rotv {Dubli-a, Wicklow A Wexford, f jh.) for Kingstown
and Bray.

Harcourt St. {Dublin, Wicklow, dt Wexford, \\ m.) for Bray, Wick-
low, &c.

Tara St. {Joint Gt. Northej'n and D.W. <k W., short \ m.) local service
bet^Yeen Amiens St, and Bray.

3foi*t!i "Wall, at Steamer Quay, connecting with Amiens St., Broad-
stone and Kingsbridge, but not with Harcourt St.

nOTXir^S : (see plan)

—

X» At Stations :

—

Xorth Western, belonging to

railway company, at North Wall Station, a small first-class house (bed and att.,

As. ; bkft., 2s. 6rf.) ; Grosvenor, opposite Westland Row Station (bed and att.,

3.5. 6rf. ; bkft., 2*. Gd.).

2. S. of Iiiffey :—Shelbo>/rne, finely situated on N. side of St. Stephen's
Green, first-class (B. &. A. from 4s. Gd.; t.-d'h., 5s.); Maples, 25—28, Kildare-
st. ; Hibernian, 48, Dawson-st. ; Poirer's Roynl, Kildare-st. ; Sassau (Temp.),
12, Nassan-st. ; St. Stephen's Park (Russell's Temp.. C.T.), 1U2, 103, St. Stephen's
Green. All these are good, quietly situated houses. BusselVs, Warren's,
Molesworth Street ; Standard, Harcourt-st. (quiet private houses).

Jury's, 7, College Green ; Central, South Great George Street. Busy com-
mercial houses.

3. ?f. of I>iffey -.—Hotel Mdtropole (C.T.; B. & A. from 4s. 6d. : t.-d'h., 5s. ',

first-class) : Gresham, Sackville Street (B. & A. from 4s. ; t.-d'h., 45. 6rf.).

Hammam, 11— 13, Upper Sackville Street; Turkish baths. Granville, Sack-
ville Street ; Imperial (Nationalist house), Lower Sackville Street ; Four Courts
(late Anfjel), Inn's Quay ; Edinburgh Temperance, 56, Upper Sackville Street.

RESTAURANTS -.—Hotel Metropole : Jammet (late Burlington), 27. St.

Andrew St.; Mitchell's, 10, Grafton St. (tea); Dolphin, Essex St.: X.L.,
84, Grafton Street; Trocadero, Grafton St.; Grand, 8, Lower Sackville St.;
Bodega, 12, Dame St. (popular) ; Larchett's, 11, Dame St. ; Hyne's. 55, Dame St.

;

D.B. C, 7, Lower Sackville St., 33, Dame St., and 4, Stephen's Green ; Harrison
(t Co., 29, Westmoreland St. (lunch, etc.) ; £'»!^j><», 29, Nassau St.; McCanghcy
(Vegetarian), College Green ; Cafe Rest., 7, Leinster St. (Temp.).

CARS AND CABS:—
I. "IVitliln Boundary (see plan).

By set-down. By Time.
From any place to any other First hour (1 or more persons) Is. Gd.

without stopping on the way Each subsequent i^-hour ... 6J.
(1 or 2 persons) 6d.

Ditto (3 or 4 persons) Is. Between 10 p.m. and 9 a.m. first
Minimum fare between 10 /).m. liour ... 2s.

and 9 a.m U. Each subsequent ^-hour ... 9d.
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II. Partly IVithin and Partly Outside or wholly
Outside tlie Boundary.

Jiy Distance. ^'''£^1?'^ ^^ ^"«^-

For 1 or more persons 6d. For 1 or more persons, first

Ditto between lu 2?. '«• and hour ;. ... 2s.

9 a.ni Is. Each subsequent ^-hotir .;; 9d.
Hirer returning at any hour, 3d.

IiU^S^as:^ : (charge covers whole period of hiring) for each articlfe (exclw-
siVe of such things as small i)arcels, umbrella, &c. usually carried in the hand)
2d. Maximum fare per set-down (within municipal boundary) for passengers
and luggage, 2»'. 6d.

BATHS (Corporation), Tara St. Turlcisli Baths, Lincoln Place;
Hanmiam Hotel ; 127, St. Stephen's Green ; 11, Leinster-st.

THEATBES*, see plan.

TBAMCABS : for routes, see Plan. Fares Id. to dd., according to dis-

tance. The chief starting-place is the Nelson Pillar in Sackville St. In con-
nection with the Haddington-road cars, tliere is a frequent and quick Electric
Tram-service to Dalkey (p. 18) by Blackrock, Monksdown, and Kingsdown.

POST OFFICE (Centre of Sackville Street, West Side. Enquiry Office

round the Soixth Corner), open 7 a.m.—9 p.m. ; Sundays, 8—10 a.m., Chief
desp. abt. 6.30 a.m., 6.40 p.m. (newspapers, 6.25 p.m.) Del., abt. 7 a.m., 5.4.j p.m.
Sundays, desp., abt. 6.4:0 p.m. ; del., 7 a.m.

TEI.. OFFICE, always open. Tel. Call Oflfti. : Coinmercial BMgs..
Dame-st. (pi. D 8) ; Crown Alley ; Four Courts (C 7) ; 37, St. Stephen's Green
(E 8) ; 6, AVestland Row (D 10), &c.

POPUIiATIOX (1901), 375,000. This includes environs.

3>ublin is at once the capital and the most interesting city of Ire-

land. It is situated on the river Liflfey, which bisects it from W.
to E. into nearly equal parts, and including its docks may be said

to be on Dublin Bay, though the sea is 1^-2 miles distant from
the centre of the city. The traveller already familiar with the

chief cities of Great Britain will be disappointed if he looks to

find anything comparable in beauty with the famous capital of

Scotland, though in one respect—the strong contrast between their

savoury and unsavoury parts—the two cities are not unlike. The
view, on approaching from the channel is, as we have already said,

very charming, and Dublin may well be proud of its sea- skirted

southern suburbs extending as far as Bray, but its actual site,

once in great part a marsh, is almost a dead flat. Its interest

for the general tourist is confined to its chief thoroughfares, the

principal buildings in them, and the associations of various kinds

connected with its history. In commercial importance, and even
in population, it has lately been overtaken by Belfast, to which
city, however, it is superior in the metropolitan character of its

institutions and its public buildings. A splendid sample of the

latter is the Museum and National Library in Kildare Street.

Dublin, too, is great in statues. In two respects the city will com-
mend itself to the traveller—the compact grouping of its chief

objects of interest, and the small cost of car-hire.

For the convenience of the majority of pleasure-travellers who
visit Dublin but can only allot a short time to it on their way to

one or other of the recognised tourist districts, we limit our main
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itinerary of the city to a two-days' round of its principal sights.

If a hasty view of these with a glance round three or four interiors

be deemed enough, then a good deal may be seen in one day. In

that case a car should be hired " by time" {see p. 3) and the

driver (" jarvy ") instructed accordingly. Those whose destination

is not County Wicklow we recommend, if possible, to include a

run by rail from Westland Kow Station either to Killiney {p. 19
;

Killiney Hill, a fine view-point) or Bray {p. 20), one of the most
beautifully situated seaside places in the United Kingdom.

Just a word of comment on the Plan of Dublin may assist the

stranger in finding his w^ay about. The chief points to be noted

are that the Liffey cuts the city in half from W. to E., and that

the arterial thoroughfare, consisting of Sackville St., O'Connell

Bridge, Westmoreland St., Grafton St., the W. side of Stephen's

Green and Harcourt St., crosses the river from N. to S. From
Trinity College Gateway, College Green and Dame St. lead due
W. to Dublin Cast|^, itself about a furlong E. of Christchurch

Cathedral, which in^-its turn is less than ^ mile due N. of St.

Patrick's Cathedral. The way to the Four Courts and the Custom
House are obvious from O'Connell Bridge, and Phcenix Park will

be reached by continuing past the former of these along the N.

side of the Liffey.

It will be convenient to take O'Connell Bridge as the starting-

point in our description, and thence to make our first perambu-
lation on the south side of the river.

O'Connell Bridg'e (known as Carlisle Bridge down to 1880,

when, after re-building on its present noble lines, its name was
altered) is a deservedly famous view-point. It is 51 yards wide.

view. At the N. end of tlie bridge is the O'Connell Monument (p. 12), and
beyond that stretches >S'rtcAj'j7/e .S^ (/). 12) to the AW^o/j Pillar (/>. 13) and the
G.P.O. ( j9. 13), Down-stream the G.N.R. bridpre has, since 1880, spoilt the view
o"f the Custom House (p 13) with its graceful dome. This railway bridge
connects Amiens St . and Westland Row stations. Up-stream, the Liffey, though
of insignificant width, is fringed by a continuous line of quays on either bank.
Tlie nearest bridge in that direction is variously known as Wellington or Metal
Bridge, an iron structure of a single sjjan, but of little beauty, and disfigured

by a huge open-letter advertisement of a quack drink. Above it is Grattan
(late Essex) Bridge, with the cupola of the Four Courts beyond on tlie N. and
the tower of Christchurch on the S. bank. To the left of tlie latter is seen
the spire of St. Patrick's. Of the two streets diverging at the S. end of the
bridge, the one left is D'Olier St., that on the right Westmoreland St, At the
end of the latter, right and left respectively, we note the positions of the Bank
of Ireland (p. 7) and Trinity College (below).

At the S. end of O'Connell Bridge is the Statue of Win. Smith
O'Brien (by FaiTell), the leader of the "Young Ireland" party.

He died 18CA and is buried at Rathronan. Proceeding along West-
moreland St. (with the E. front of the Bank of Ireland on our
right) at its S. end, we pass, at the junction of College St., the
Statue of Thomas Moore (1779-1852), the author of "Irish Melodies."
Then on our left, facing College Green, is Trinity Collegre (Dublin
University), a dignified elevation, 300 ft. long, in the Corinthian

style. On pedestals, left and right of the gateway, are the Statues
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of Edmund Burke (1729-1797) and Oliver Goldsmith (1726-1774),
both by Foley. Passing through the gateway {anyone is free to

walk round the College ; to view interiors, apply at poi'ter^s lodge)

we enter Parliament Square (560 ft. by 270 ft.), so named from
having been built from funds voted by the Irish Parliament. On
the left is the Chapel (80 ft. by 36 ft.), whose services are open to

the public (8 and 5 ; Sun., 9.45 and 5). Next, on the same
side, is the Dining Hall (70 ft. by 35 ft.), approached by a wide
flight of steps. Among other portraits observe :—Henrv Grattan
(1750-1820), Henry Flood (1732-1791), and Provost Baldwin, who,
on his death in 1758, left £80,000 to the College. Opposite the
Chapel is the Examination Theatre, which contains Baldwin's
monument, by Hewitson, and portraits of Queen Elizabeth, Dean
Swift (1667-1745), Bp. Berkeley (1684-1753), and Burke (1729-

1797). Here too is a chandelier from the old House of Commons
(Bank of Ireland, p. 7).

The Library (weekdays, 10 a.m. to 4 p.m.) further on, is worthy
of the University. It had its origin in £1,8(10 subscribed by the
English army, under Carew, after their defeat of the Spaniards
and Irish at Kinsale, in 1601. James, afterwards Abp., Ussher,

was one of those who superintended the original purchases, and
his own great collections were acquired for the college after his

death. The library receives a copy of all books published in the

United Kingdom, and now contains about 300,000 printed vols.

Here, too, is the Fagel Library (the " learned dust of the Fagel "

—

C. O'Malley) collected by Grand Pensionary Fagel (1629-1688) and
purchased for £10,000. The MSS. Eoom {special permission re-

quired) contains among other treasures : the " Book of Kells,"

the " Book of Durrow," the " Book of Armagh," a celebrated

palimpsest of St. Matthew, and many valuable MSS. in the Irish

language, of which the most noteworthy is the " Book of

Leinster." An ancient Irish Harp, traditionally known as the

Harp of Brian Borumha, king of Ireland, who fell at Clontarf,

1014, is also now in the Library. The traditional safety of the

realm in those days is the subject of Moore's " Kich and rare were
the gems she wore."

The Bell Tower in this quadrangle was erected in 1853 to the

memory of Provost Baldwin, by Abp. Beresford. Around the

cupola are Law, Physic, Divinity, and Science. The N. quad-

rangle is commonly known as Botany Bay.

In the New Quadrangle are the very handsome Geological

Museum and the Engineering School, and in the opposite corner

the venerable little University Printing Press. Passing into

the College Park, which is delightful and forms the recreation

ground of the students, we notice the little Athletic Pavilion,

and almost behind that the Medical School (second in its equip-

ment, &c., only to Vienna). To the left of the Medical School

is the Museum (weekdays 10-4, except Saturday 10-1), which has

a considerable collection of skulls in the entrance hall, and in the

Ijiain building besides animals and skeletons, a ^ood collection of

I
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birds, strong in Irish species. The Magnetic Observatory is in the

Fellows' Garden, on the S. of the Library.

The University was founded in 1591, was opened for students in 1593, and is

the worthiest memorial of the famous Ussher, later on Abp. of Armagh, to whose
exertions it was mainly due. The site of the College formerly formed part of

the monastery of All Saints, but the present buildings are all of comparatirely
modern date.' The present Library was begun in 1709 and finished in 1732.

Down to 1792 Roman Catholics could not proceed to degrees, and it was only
in 1873 that religious tests were wholly removed and the endowments of the
University thrown open to all, irrespective of creed.

In the centre of Collegre Green (a tram-car focus, see p. 4)

is the fine Statue of Grattan (1750-1820), by Foley, and beyond
it, towards Dame St., the equestrian Statue of William HI. (rest.

1890). Opposite the former is the old Parliament House, now the

Bank of Ireland. It has three fronts, viz. the S., or principal

front, in College Green, E. in Westmoreland St., and W. in

Foster Place. The first of these consists of a recessed square,

surrounded by a colonnade, and having a projecting central

portico of 4 columns, surmounted by Hibernia, with Fidelity and
Commerce on either side. The wings which form the sides of the

square have each a fine arch at their S. end, and then sweep
round in a curve to the E. (with Liberty, Justice, and Fortitude)

and W. porticoes, respectively. The building was begun in 1729
with the main front. The E. front was added somewhat later,

and the W. front was not completed till abt. 1790. (To view the

interior apply to one of the hank-porters in the central vestibule
;

an order from the Secy, is required to see the bank-note printing.)

The old House of Commons was in the centre of the building,

where the Board Koom and Accountants' office now are. Tbo
present Cash Office was built by the Bank on the site of the oIg

Court of Requests. The House of Lords is little altered, except

that a statue of George III., by Bacon, occupies the position of the

Throne. Two pieces of tapestry :
" Siege of Derry " and " Battle

of the Boyne," and the handsome chimney-pieces should be
noticed.

The Bank holds the premises under a perpetual lease, without

any quit-rent.

The Bill for the legislative Union of Great Britain and Ireland was intro-

duced into the Irish House of Commons, May 25. It was passed, and the Irish

Parliament met for the last time on June 7, 1800. A considerable sum was ex-

pended as compensation to tradesmen, &c., for the loss the removal of the
Parliament would entail.

Returning to College Green, the visitor who is pressed for time

can at once proceed E. by Dame St. to Dublin Castle [p. 9)

and Christchurch Cathedral [p. 10). Before proceeding in that

direction we shall make a circuit to the S., and begin with Grafton

St., which is in a line with the main front of Trinity College.

It is a busy and picturesque thoroughfare, rather lacking in

breadth, but with shops as good as any in the city, and leads to

the N.W. corner of Stephen's Green, the largest of the Dublin
squares, with a really beautiful pleasure-ground of 33 acres, laid
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out at the cost of Lord Ardilaun (Sir Arthur E. Guinness). In the

centre is a poor statue of George II. ; on the N. side one of Lord
Eglinton and Winton (Ld. -Lieut., 1852 and 1858) ; and, on the

west side, opposite York St., one of Lord Ardilaun, by Thos.

Farrell, E.H.A., 1891. The rockeries, cascades, &c., are taste-

fully arranged and look as natural as art can make them. Fol-

lowing the W. side of the Green, at the corner of York St. we
come to the Boijal College of Surgeons, a handsome building with

a Mmeum (closed during August and September).

The collections are, of course, chiefly of professional interest, but three items
may be named :—a Peruvian mummy, a model in wax of the human body made
to take to pieces, and a monkey riding a greyhound.

By keeping straight on at the S.W. corner of the Green, we should reach the
Harcourt St. Station (Wicklow Line), ^ ?«. distant.

Turning along the S. side of the Green we pass the Wesley

College and the Catholic University, and then in about 350 yards

along the E. side, St. Vincent''s Hospital and the Royal College

of Science, with a Mineralogical Museum (weekdays, 10-4). On the

N. side of the Green is the Shelhourne Hotel (at the corner of

Kildare St.) and No. 16 is the "Palace" of the (Church of Ireland)

Abp. of Dublin; 17, the University Clnb ; 8 and 9 are also clubs.

At the N.E. corner of the Green is Merrion Row, and a short

distance E. we turn to the left into Upper Merrion St., where at

No. 24, formerly known as Mornington House, and now the offices

of the Irish Land Commission, the Duke of Wellington was born

in 1769. Just beyond are Merrion Square and Leinster Lawn
(statue of the late Prince Consort in centre) with the ITational
Gallery (free on M., Tu.,W., Sat., 12-6 or dusk ; Th. and Fri., 10-4,

6(i. ; the last two are students' days), opened 1864, on N. side of

Leinster Laivn. In front of it is the Statue of William Dargan,
the promoter of the Dublin Exhib. of 1853. The collection includes

works on loan from the London National Gallery. The ground-

floor room is handsome and devoted to statuary. Above is the

picture gallery, which, considering the short time it has been
instituted, and the small amount (£2,500 per ann.) of the Govern-
ment grant, has made good i^rogress. The building on the S. side

of the Lawn is the Natural History Dej^t. of the Science and
Art Museum {see p. 9).

From the N.W. corner of Merrian Square we turn left along

Clare St. and Leinster St. to the Kildare St. Club at the corner of

Kildare St. This club is the most famous in Dublin, the next

in esteem being Ste2)]ien''s Green Club (Liberal). In Kildare

St., just beyond the Club and on the same side, is the College

of Physicians, and beyond it the stately BubUn Museum of
Science and Art {Art and Industrial Depts.), a splendid frontage

of about 150 by 70 yards {both depts. free from 11-5 or dusk;

Sl-S alternate Sundays ; Art Dept. till 9 p.m. Tu. ; Natural History

Dept. till 9 p.m. Thurs. Iilbrary, 10-10 week-days; Temp.
Mef.-rm., in N. wing, next to Library. General Guide, sold at

door, 1(/.). The Koyal Dublin Society, founded in 1731, for the
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advancement of Agriculture, Manufactures, &c., in 1815 pur-

chased the town-house of the Dukes of Leinster, on each side

of which the New Buildings have, been erected. In the old Board
lloom of old Leinster House is the chair from the Irish House of

Commons.
The Dublin Society has a fine show-ground at Balls Bridge, where Spring

Cattle Shows and a great Horse Show (in August) are held.

This Museum is one of the finest and most interesting in the

kingdom, and should be visited.

The Rotunda, tlirough which we enter, contains casts of G-reek sculpture.
In tlie Cmtral Court are (left) casts of the grand old Irish Crosses, also of the
<TOsforth Cross in Cumberland; (right) copies of post-Renaissance (15th and
l(5th cents.) Works—Italian and French, etc., etc. In the other Orouiid-
floor rooms is a very large and varied collection of art specimens of all

ages and countries, ranging from those of savage and prehistoric peoples
down to the piano of Tliomas Moore. Upstairs may be seen the finest

exhibition of Ancient Celtic Gold in tlie world, and perhaps a no less

remarkable one of the Earlii Christian Art work of Ireland. Amongst the
rarest objects to be found here are the Ardacih Chalice, a cup of wldte
metal ornamented with gold and enamel ; the Cross of Cong, of wood plated
with bronze richly gilt and ornamented \nth gold and enamel. Under the
central boss was supposed to be a fragment of the true Cross. This precious
relic of Irish workmanship was made at Roscommon about 1120. A yet older
and more interesting object is St. Patrick's bell, of quadrangular form,' of tldck
sheet iron, 6 in. high, 5 in. by 4 in. at the mouth and diminishing upwards, with
a loop at tlie top for the hand. It was given to tlie church of Armagh by St.

Columba, and the exquisite case made for it, between 1091—1105. is preserved
with it. A MS. of the Gospels, said to have belonged to St. Patrick, a Latin
Psalter of St. Columba's,&n(\ the Qe\ehrAtei\ Book of Ballymote,?t.rQ also shown.
Among old-world remains are the skeletons, &c., found in the Phoenix Park
Cromlech (/I. 14). In the Moore l.ibrary of this Academy (19 Dawson St.)

is Moore's Harp. The Natural History department is on both the ground
floor and upper floor ; it may be also entered from Merrion Square.

We may now proceed by 3IoIesworth St. into Dawson St., and
turn to the left i^ast >S'^ Ann''s Church, w^iere Mrs. Hemans, the
poetess, who died at No. 20, and Caesar Otway are buried, to the
Royal Zrisli Academy (free ; week-days, 12-4, and sometimes
in the evening). This Institution, which is not to be confounded
with the Royal Hibernian Academy in Lower Abbey St., used to

contain the collection of Irish antiquities, now in the Kildare St.

Museums.
On the same side of Dawson St., towards Stephen's Green, is the Mansion

House, which has few claims on our attention.

Making our way back to College Green and along Dame St., we
now reach Cork Hill and the main entrance of Bublin Castle
{to see the State Apartment^, dx'., apply to the porter), the oflflcial

residence of the Lord Lieutenant, but only used by him on state

occasions. It was originally built at the beginning of t\ifi 13th cent.,

a.s part of the defences ot Dublin, and is now a gloomy building
of two Yards, with little suggestion of a Castle about it. The
court we first enter is called Upper Castle Yard, 280 by l.SO ft.,

and opposite, on S. side, are tJie Viceregal State Apartments, of
which the chief are St. Patrick^s Hall (ball-room) with the three
panels of its painted ceiling showing:—CTeorge III., supported by
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Liberty and Justice ; St. Patrick preaching, and Henry II.

receiving the homage of the Irish chiefs at Waterford, 1171

;

the Presence Chamber, handsomely decorated, and the Council
Chamber, with j)ortraits of the Lords-Lieutenant since the Union.
The rest of this court is occupied by official residences, &c.

Passing through an archway we descend to Lower Castle Yard,
where the things to be noted are the Round (or Bermingham)
Tower, w^hich has been rebuilt, and long been the Kecord Office,

and the Cbapel Royal (Sun. service, 11.30 a.m.), externally a
rather stiff piece of Gothic of six bays, and built at a cost of

£42,000 between 1807-1814. The interior is architecturally of

very moderate interest, but viewed as a whole the effect is fairly

rich and pleasing. The E. window represents Christ before

Pilate, and was the gift of Earl Whitworth, who was Lord-Lieut,

when the Chapel was being completed.

Returning to Cork Hill we turn left along Castle St. to Chrlst-
churcb Cathedral (services : weekdays, 11.15 and 3 ; Sundays,
11.15 and 3.30).

The site is said to have been the centre of the Celtic dun or hill-fort, which in

the earliest times here commanded the passage of the Liflfey ; and the discovery

from time to time of many ancient remains shows that the spot was inhabited
at a very remote period. The original church is attributed to the Danish king
Sitric and Abp.Donatus about 1038, but probably there is nothing now existing

earlier than the time of Earl Strongbow and Abp. Laurence O'Toole, by whom
the original or a later church was finished about 1170. Of that building, how-
ever, we know that a very large part had disappeared by the middle of the 16th
century, and from then down to about 1830 neglect and injudicious repairs had
done their worst. In 1830—34 more or less extensive restoration took place,

but only to be followed by a further period of neglect, and at the time of the

disestablishment of the Irish Church in 1869 tilings were at so low an ebb that

it was seriously contemplated to hand over the building to the Roman Catho-
lics. In 1871, however, Mr. H. Roe, the whisky distiller, came to the rescue

and undertook the works pronounced necessary by the late Mr. Street, which
were estimated to cost £16,000. From that sprung an outlay which eventually
reached £185,000 for the cathedral, £15,000 for the adjoining synod-house, and
£22,000 endowment, all provided by the same donor, who unhappily proved to

have overtaxed his means.

This is slightly the older of the two cathedrals of Dublin, but

is now practically a new church, though more on the original lines

than before Mr. Street took it in hand. The style for the most
part is E. English, but there is a good deal of transitional

Norman work.
The exterior is now well seen, the old houses that formerly

hemmed it in having been removed, and the visitor should not

omit to view the N. side, including the projecting Baptistery. The
nave is of 6 bays with aisles, and from the central tow^er extends

a short transept. The E. end of the church has been rebuilt in

accordance with the indications of the original plan shown by the

crypt, and now consists of a short choir with apse, around which
runs a Procession Path, or Ambulatory. Beyond this is a small
Chapel, and another and larger one beyond that.

The general effect of the restoration is distinctly rich, though
perhaps somewhat heavy, and there is a sense of spic-^nd-spaij
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newness about the whole that detracts from its interest. That
the new work is a faithful reproduction on old lines, the architect's

repute sufficiently guarantees, and it must be remembered that a

mere repair of what existed of old work in 1871 would have
resulted in a very unsatisfactory church. The rich pavements are

copies of old tiles, and much of the new glass is pleasant in tone.

The old glass, however, necessitates the use of gas in broad day-

light. The old tiles are to be seen in St. Laud's Chapel, S.E. of the

choir. The old Lady Chapel, N.E. of the choir, has given place

to a Choir School.

Of tomhs there arc few wliicli call for detailed notice. The so-called Stron^?-

bow tomb Ijears the arms of Fitzosbert, but the truncated figure adjoining is

possibly Strongbow's son. Strongbow's wife's and O'Toole's tomb are in tlie

O'Toole chapel. Tliere is a fine brass to Abp. Trench {d. 1886) on the N. side of

the Sanctuary.
The crypt should be visited. In it will be seen statues of Charles II. and

James, Duke of York, removed from the now destroyed Tholsel in Skinner's Row.
There are also a desiccated cat ami mouse wliieh witness to the preservative
character of the limestone (cf. St. Michan's Church, p. \?i note), and many
beautiful and interesting modern monuments removed there at the Restoration.

At the W. of the Cathedral, connected with it by a bridge-

gallery, is the Synod Hall of the Church of Ireland.

About ^ m. W. from Christchurch, in Thomas St., is St, Augustine s Chuich ;

in some ways this is the finest modern church in Dublin. It is well worth a
visit. Note the right-hand chapel of " The Mother of Good Counsel." Near this

church Robert Emmett was executed Sei)t. 20, 1803, and the spot ever since

has been one of the sacred places of the Nationalists.

From the S.E. of Christchurch Place, the dingy Nicholas St.

(wherein the vendors of " old clo " and kindred commodities
expose their wares on the pavements) and St. Patrick St. lead

direct to St. Patrick's Cathedral, which is about 8 min. walk
from Christchurch Cathedral.

St. Patrick's Cathedral (services : weelxdays, 10 and 4
;

Sundays, 11.15 and 3.15).

St. Patrick (<1. abt. 493) himself is said to have founded a cln;rch on this site,

and his Well was discovered during the restoration in 1860—63, and afterwards
covered up. The existing church, originally collegiate, dates from 1190, wlien
it was built by Abp. Comyn. It was mad« a Cathedral in 121.^. Abp. Minot
aided the steeple in 1370, and rebuilt the parts of the church that had been
burnt in 1362. In 1492 it was tlie scene of a reconciliation under difliculties

between tlie Earls of Kildare and Ormonde, and the old door of the chajiter-

house, with the hole cut in it, through whicli they shook liands. is still

])reserved. Cromwell and .James II. are botli credited with turning the
church into a barrack. Tlie modern restoration, costing £140,OOJ, was the
work of the late Sir Benj. Lee Guinness, Bart.

Those who visit St. Patrick's, as we suggest, next after Christ-

church, will at first be struck by its comparative coldness of tone,

but that feeling will quickly give place to admiration for the chaste
beauty of the building, and the visitor who cannot spare time to

see both churches, should certainly give this one the preference.

The ground-plan is cruciform, and consists of Nave, Transept,

Choir and eastern Lady Chapel, all of them with aisles. At the
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N.W. corner of the nave is the steeple, which, carries a poor spire

added in the 18th cent. The dimensions of the church are :—Total
length, 300 ft. ; transept, 157 ft. ; breadth of nave, ^Yith aisles

67 ft. The prevailing style is Early Pointed.

Several Monuments call for mention. Just by the S. porch,

on the right, are tablets to Dean Swift (d. 1745) and Hester
Johnson, " Stella,'' (d. 1728). Both epitaphs are by Swift, and
his grave, " ubi saeva indignatio ulterius cor lacerare nequit," is

in the nave close by. The bust of Lecky, the historian, is by
Boehm. At the S.W. corner of the nave is a stupendous Boyle
monument, erected by the "great". Earl of Cork to the memory
of his countess (d. 1629).

At the W. end of the N. aisle of the nave is the bust of Gurran
(buried at Glasnevin, p. 15), and, close by, the statue of Capt.

Boyd, E.N., of the Ajax, who was drowned at Kingstown whilst

endeavouring to rescue a shipwrecked crew, Feb. 9th, 1861.

Carolan, the last of the bards, is commemorated by a bas-relief

h^ Hogaa; the celebrated Lady Morgan left £100 for this purpose.

Proceeding to the end of the N. transept we find two monuments
to the 18th Royal Irish regiment, and, to the right. Swift's

monument to Schomhery, who fell at the battle of the Boyne.
Crossing to the S. transept we find one to Ahp. Whateley (d. 1863),

and, to the right of it, at the S.W. corner a tablet to Swift's

servant, Alex. McGee. Towards the E. end of the S. aisle of the

choir is the memorial to the Rev. Charles Wolfe (d. 1823), the
author of " The Burial of Sir John Moore."
The banners of the Knights of the Order of St. Patrick hang

in the Choir.

The Lady Chapel at the east end of the Church is a very
graceful building.

If from St. Patrick's Cathedral we proceed by Canon St.. on its N. side, and
then turn left along Bride St. to Werburgh St., we shall find St. Wei-burgh's

Church, wliere Lord Edw. Fitzgerald is buried. Swift was born in Hoey's Court,
off Werburgh St., but the house has long been demolished.

Guinness' Brewery {order required from the office unthin the

gateway) is on the left, at the W. end of Thomas St., and abt.

I mile W. of Christchurch. It is of course chiefly interesting on
account of the vast scale of its operations.

The Royal Hospital of XLilmainbam is abt. f mile W. of the

brewery. It was founded in 1174 for Knights Templars, but the

present buildings were erected in the reign of Charles II., when it

was constituted a kind of Chelsea Hospital for decayed soldiers.

The princii)al things to be seen are the Dining Hall, with many
portraits, and the Chapel. Kilmainham Gaol is ^ mile W. of the

Hospital.

We now suppose the traveller to have completed his first day's

found and to return by the qiia^s on the S. side of the Liffey.
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iortlj ^ibc of Ibc |U6cr;

At the S. end of Sackvllle St. (the finest street in Dublin,

and of unusual width), by O'Connell Bridge, is the O'Connell

Monument, designed by Foley, and completed (1882) after his

death by Brock. The bronze statue of the "Liberator" is fine.

Proceeding up the street (at No. 7, right hand side, Shelley lived

for a short time, in 1812) we come to the General Post Office, on
the left, and just beyond it is the XTelson Pillar, 134 ft. high,

including the statue. It can be ascended (charge M.), and from
the gallery the whole of Dublin is in sight. The Pillar is the chief

tramway focus {see p. 4). [Earl St., the street on the E. side,

leads into Marlborough St., where a short distance to the left are

the B.C. 2^ro-Cathedral (hesiYy classical in style and likely to be
mistaken for a municipal ofiice), and opposite it the Offices and
Model Schools of the National Board oj Education,'] A little

further up Sackville St. is a monument to Father Theobald Mathew,
the enthusiastic but unfortunate "Apostle of Temperance" {d.

1856). At the far end of the street are Rutland Square and
the Rotunda, containing halls and public rooms. On the N. side

of the Square is Claremont House, now the Government Offices of

the Eegistrar General, Census Offices, &g. Adjoining it is the

handsome Lying-in Hospital by Cassels. Both were built about
1750-7. A modern Presbyterian Church here shows a striking

fa(;'ade.

Otlier interesting buildings (Plan E 10") beyond this are Poirerscouft House, in

William St., and Alhorongh House, now a Government Barrack.

The Custom House, reached by Eden Quay, from the S. end
of Sackville St., is one of the finest buildings in the city, and was
erected 1781-91, at a cost of £400,000. The river-front is 375 ft.

long, and the portico is surmounted by statues of Industry,

Commerce, Plenty and Navigation, by Sir Jos. Banks. Over the

portico, on the N. side, are statues of Europe, Asia, Africa and
America, while on the summit of the graceful dome stands Hope.

Following the line of quays westward from Sackville St., w^e

pass successively Metal Br. (horribly disfigured by an Advertise-

ment), Grattan Br. and Biclnnond Br., and arrive at the Four
Courts, another of the stately edifices built at the close of the

18th cent.,, at a cost of £200,000. The front measures 450 ft.,

and has a central portico with a colossal statue of Moses in the
centre above it. Over the main portion of the building rises a
cupola, supported on columns. Within is a fine central hall,

with statues of legal celebrities, and from this open the courts.

The Vice-Chancellor's Court was destroyed by fire, Feb. 1887.

The next bridge is Whitworth Br.,* and beyond it is Arran Quay,

* Hence, by turning N. up Church St., we shouM reach St. Miclian's
(iliiircli, the tower of wliich has the steppe<l- battlements that are almost
confined to Ireland. The vaults beneath the cliurch have the property of pre-
serving bodies from decay. Dr. Lucas, a "jnitriot," is buried here, and some say
Robert Emmett, but this is doubtful.
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where, at No. 33, Edmund Burke is said to have been born. Then
we pass Queen's Br., Victoria Br. and Kingsbridge (the G. S. &
W. R. Station is across this last), and reach Park Gate (Lucan
steam-trams from here), the entrance to Phoenix Park, where,

if hitherto on foot, it may be well to take a car and drive through

and around the Part.

Phoenix is said to be a corruption of Fionn-iiisge (proo.^«nt«A:^ = clear water),

aud to refer to a chalybeate spring near the main entrance to the Viceregal
Lodge. Uisge, whence whisky, means icater.

The park formed part of the estates of Kilmainham Priory

—

founded for Knights Templars, 1174 ;
given to Knights of Hi. John,

1312. At the Dissolution it passed to the Crown. Lord Chestertield,

of the Letters, who was Lord-Lieutenant in 1745, did a good deal of

planting, and opened it as a public park. Including the grounds
attached to the Viceroy's Lodge, the Chief Secretary's Lodge, and
the Hibernian School, it contains about 1,750 acres and, from the

Park Gate entrance to Castleknock Gate, is a trifle over 2 miles

long. As a whole it is not remarkable for beauty, and a large

part has rather a waste and neglected appearance.

Entering at Park Gate, the Royal Military Infirmary is a short

distance on the right, adjoining the People's Garden, a prettily laid-

out pleasure ground. On the opposite side rises the Wellington

Testimonial, 205 ft. high. Further on, on the right, are the

Zoologricai Gardens (weekdays. Is., 9 a.m. to sunset ; Sat., Gd.;

Sundays, 2d., 12 noon to sunset) with a fair collection of animals,

&c. About a mile from Park Gate Ave are opposite the Viceregal
iMoAge, a long, plain building. Opposite its front, between the

fine Statue of Goiigh (by Foley) and the Phani.v pillar, is the

spot where Mr. Burke and Lord Fred. Cavendish were murdered,

May 6, 1882. The Chief Secretary''s Lodge is further on, to the left of

the main road, and the Under Secretary's Lodge somewhat further

still, on the right. At the Phoenix Pillar we may turn to the S.,

towards the Hibernian School for soldiers' children. Here, in " the

Fifteen Acres," was the famous duelling-ground where, for in-

stance, Grattan "met" Corry, Chancellor of the Exchequer,

Feb. 18, 1800. On a mound at the back of a cottage near

the Chapelizod Gate is the Cromlech, discovered intact in

1838 ; see Science and Art Museum, p. 9. The prettiest part

of the Park is, we think, between the Chapelizod Gate and
the Knockmaroon Gate. The famous Strawberry beds are on
the N. bank of the Liffey, beyond the latter. Thr; Lucan steam-

trams can be used to return to Park Gate, whence ordinary

tram-cars ply eastward on the south bank of the Liffey. The cars

from Park Gate, along the Circular Road to Phibsborough Road
and thence by the Glasnevin cars, afford an easy route to

Glasnevin Cemetery and the Botanic Gardens. The Glasnevin cars

start from the Nelson Pillar. Glasnevin Cemetery, opened in

1832, chiefly by the exertions of O'Connell, is classic ground to

more than Irishmen. Entering by the new entrance from Finglas

Road, we are close to O'Connell's Monument, a round tower 150 ft.
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high, but of infelicitous proportions. The "Liberator" died at

Genoa, on his way to Kome, May 15th, 1847, and in the following

August his remains were temporarily deposited in a vault (old

O'Connell circle) on the N. side of the cemetery; "my heart to

Rome, my body to Ireland, my soul to Heaven." The body was
translated to the crypt beneath the tower in May, 1869, but Dr.

Petrie's design, which included a small building (lili^e St. Kevin's

kitchen at Glendalough) and a memorial cross, has not been

carried out. In the circle around the tower are other tombs, but

the most visited for many years next to O'Connell's Memorial was
the Cross to the three Manchester "Martyrs," executed for the

murder of Brett, the Manchester policeman, in 1867. This is just E.

of the tower, and following the path we come to the burial-places

of the Jesuits, Carmelites and Infirmarian Nuns. Behind the

last two is the Christian Brothers' burial-place, while at the S.

corner, opposite the first, is the grave of Anne Devlin, whose
faithful service to the " traitor," Robt. Emmett, is her claim to

notice. J. C. Mangan, the poet, lies just west of the old mortuary
chapel circle ; Curran (d. 1817 in London ; translated 1837) near

the old entrance; Hogan, Ireland's greatest sculptor, on the E.

of the old O'Connell circle. O'Donnell, who murdered Carey the

informer, is of course commemorated, and C. S. ParnelVs grave

was for a time a Nationalist cynosure.

The Royal Botanic Gardens (free weekdays, 10-6, or dusk.

Conservatories :—11 to an hour before close of gardens. Sun-
days :—gardens and conservatories open 2-6, or dusk). The site

of the Gardens belonged to Thomas Tickell, poet and friend of

Addison. One of the walks, " Addison's walk," is said to have
been planted by Tickell, who here wrote his ballad " Colin and
Lucy." The stream through the gardens is the Tolka.

The village of Glasnevin, which is just N. of the Gardens, and
Finglas, abt. 2 miles N.W., are associated with some famous names
in literature. Dr. Delany lived at Delville, across the river

;

Hampstead House, beyond Glasnevin on the right, was for a time
the residence of poor Dick Steele ; Pamell, the poet, Avas incum-
bent of Finglas. Swift and " Stella" were the frequent guests of

Mrs. Delany.

In returning by tram-car to Sackville St., we pass close to

Mater Misericordice Hospital, with St. Joseph's Church close by.

When the route crosses Dorset St., we are not far from the spot

where R. B. Sheridan was born, 1751. The house is (on the E.
side) 12, Upper Dorset St.

I>ublln to Blossiiiston, 17, and Pollaphiica, 21| m. ; p. 50. The
Dublin and Blessington steam-tramway runs about 6 times a day each way. For
ixirticulars of times and fares, see the time tables of tlie Company (office : 62,

Dawson St.). The route from Nelson Pillar (Sackville St.) is by the 11 ithmines
tram cars to Terenure, 35 inin. Thence by steam tram in about IJ hrs, to

]SIe8sins:ton ( Wallace's Hotel). An hotel has been opened at PoJlaphiica Falls.

This bit of the Liffey where it dashes and tumbles prettily over several falls is

well worth seeing. From Pollaphuca to Harristowu Sta. (9 w. ; />. 50) is 6s. for

1 or 2 persons.

I>iiblln to I<eixlii>, .<c'<; Dublin to Westport section.
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(Pron. to rhyme with loathe.')

8 m. ; ahoxit 20 traim a day, 12 on Sunday, from Amiens 8t.

(G.N.R.). Circular Ticket, including Coach round the Drive
several times a day, 2s. 6d., 2s. 3d., 2s.

From Sutton Station, nearly 2 miles short of Howth, Electric Trams run to
]Ioi%'t]i Summit { lief.-rm.) every quarter-hour from about 1.15 (Sun., 11.15)
to 7.45. Ret. Fares from Amiens-st. : 1.?. 6f/., l.<. 2d., Is. At Sutton- is the
"Golfers' Hotel," in the liands of the Great Northern Co.

The motive for this excursion is the splendid view from the Hill

of Howth, which rises to a height of 560 feet from the north shore
of Dublin Bay and is connected with the mainland by a low
isthmus.
The route, which branches from the main (Belfast) line at Junc-

tion (i^m.), calls for no description, nor does Howth (Hotels:
Claremont, a high-class house, with bathing, close to station

;

St. Lawrence), except to say that it has an old abbey, and a
harbour of more than 50 acres, made at a cost of £300,000, with
a view to occupying the position now held by Kingstown as a packet
station, but at present only used by small craft, chiefly fishing-

boats. On the east pierhead is a lighthouse.

HoYvtli Abbey stands on an eminence in the upper part of the town, to

the right of the route by which we ascend to the hill. It dates from the 13th
century, and is an oblong, roofless building with a Nave and, sei)arated from it

by six Pointed arches of unequal height, a single Aisle. One wall of the tower,
pierced by three windows, is standing, and underneath it is a round-headed
doorway. The E. irindow is complete in its framework and mullions ; beside it

is a round-headed one, and in the nave, close by. is the nltnr-tomb of an Earl of

Howth (d. 1580). The churchyard is surrounded by a wall with stepped battle-

ments, and the steps over the gateway of the Porch on the S. side are

remarkable.

Ho-ivtb Castle (r/ronuds open on Saturdays, 2 to 1 p.m.) is west of the
town, ^ ;h, beyond the station. The house, the seat of the Earl of Howth, is

a mixture of styles, liaving been frequently altered and added to. Visitors may
walk througli the grounds—tlie beech avenues are beautiful—to the hills behind,
wliich form the highest part of the promontory and command a splendid view.

IValk round, etc. Cars meet certain trains (especially on
Sunday), and for M. take visitors to the high ground in the centre

of the promontory, whence it is a delightful hour's walk by a path

round the eastern side, high up above the sea. The most striking

object is the Bailey Iiighttaouse on a rocky site at the S. E.

corner. It was erected in 1814, and in its surroundings may
remind the visitor of the South Stack near Holyhead.
The view from our path extends over Dublin and Dublin Bay

down the Wicklow coast, Dalkey, Killiney Hill and the Sugarloaf,

with other less interesting heights to the right of it, being con-

spicuous. Close at hand is the rocky Ireland's Eye, and, further

away, Lambay, with the Carlingford and Mourne Mountains in

the extreme north, SlieveDonard amongst them. Doubling round,

we return to the station through the east part of the town.
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COUNTY WICKLOW.

Cyclists will not find many roa<is to their liking in tiiis count\'. On the east

there is fairly good wheeling from Bray to Eathdriim, eitlier by Roundwood or
Rathnew, ami thence to Wooden Bridge. From Wooden Bridge there are good
roads to Arklow ; to Shillelagh ; and, up Glenmalure for 3 m. above Drumgoff.
Tlien this road crosses the stream and is impractical, except on foot, to Knock-
namunnion, in Glen of Imale. On the West the best road is the very straight

one between Blessington and Baltinglass. The centre of the county was not
made for cyclists.

Many circumstances combine to render Co. Wicklow a favourite

holiday playground. It is, as regards its attractive portions,

either directly accessible by train or within a reasonable distance

by good roads of the railway. The most picturesque parts are

also furnished with hotel and inn accommodation, not only dis-

tinctly above par for Ireland, but of a quality to satisfy all reason-

able people. The distances, moreover, from point to point are com-
paratively short, so that pedestrian or inexpensive car locomotion
is possible. In this it has the advantage over its more beautiful

rival, Killarney. In that district there are comparatively few
walks of convenient length from inn to inn, and you have either

to hire or be prepared for feats of endurance beyond what easy-

going folk, who are not athletes, find agreeable.

The pbysical features of the county are simple and strongly

marked. Down its centre, from north to south, for a distance of

some forty miles, extends a great group of granite mountains,
with many summits exceeding 2,000 feet, and whose apex, nearly
midway, attains in Lugnaquillia 3,039 feet. The mountains are

penetrated by deep and narrow glens, wild and stern for the most
part in their upper courses, and richly wooded as they open out,

in theelay-slate district, between the mountains and the uea-board.
The western area of the county is less picturesque, and is outside
the ordinary range of the pleasure- seeker.
For those who like to make excursions from a fixed point there

is the choice between beautiful Bray, rapidly growing, Greystones,
sequestered Glendalough, or silvan Wooden Bridge, not to mention
Newrath Bridge and Ashford. For family headquarters no plea-

santer or more prettily situated seaside resort could be desired
than Bray, and from it almost everything best worth visiting

is within the comj)ass of a day's excursion.

As in Co. Donegal, so here, it is quite possible to have too much
of continuous inland scenery. The ^Vicklow mountains fulfil

their chief purpose, for the seeker after the picturesque, by en-
closing the glens. As climbing ground they are most of them
decidedly dull, and only in the case of their outliers (<?.//. the Great
Sugarloaf) do they afford bi^lvederes of much interest or beauty.
Seen close at hand they ara apt to disappoint expectations formed
on observing their purjile ranges from the Irish Channel. In
outline they are individually bulky rather than graceful, and more
markedly sterile than bold in escarpment. The grlens are as
diversified in character as they are numerous. Of wooded and
rocky dingles, the Dargle ; of glacier-carved ravines, Glenmalure

;

Ireland II.
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of richly-silvan stream-courses, the Ovoca ; of wild defiles de-
bouching on an amphitheatre of wooded cliffs, the Devil's Glen,
are only examples. You can scarcely find in these islands a
happier combination than at Glendalough :—a group of venerable
ruins at its entrance ; wooded steeps and a tranquil lakelet mid-
way ; a sternly guarded, precipice-shadowed tarn at its upper
end. Lough Tay under Luggela woods is a gem.

The seacoast is for a considerable distance bordered by cliffs,

which south of Bray are lofty and deeply ravined, and south of the
town of Wicklow, fairly bold, but on the whole the shore -line is

not remarkable for beauty, and the places just named are the only
ones with any seaside attractions for visitors. For Greystones,

see J). 27.

The staple occupation of the county is farming (including dairy-

farming) and of its half-million acres nearly one-half are in

piasture and about one-fifth under tillage. Mountain, bog and
waste account for ahnost all the rest. The mountain sheep are

famous for the fine quality of their wool. As compared with the
south and west of Ireland, cotter squalor is conspicuous by its

absence, and unless you stumble on a Celt from Connaught or

Munster you will not find a peasant who can speak Irish.

Unfortunately, Co. Wicklow has one drawback, from the angler's

point of view. The fishing might be a good deal better were it not

for the lead and copper-mines, which, though insignificant as

commercial undertakings, are sufficiently worked from time to

time to depopulate the streams into which they drain. The
renewal of sport is unhappily not simultaneous with the cutting

off of poisonous washings, and so it happens that several streams,

which for their scenery are particularly attractive, are too poorly

stocked with trout to make a cast of tiies other than a profitless

companion. This was (and we fear, is) notably the case in

respect of the Avonmore below the confluence of the Glendasan
stream at Laragh and in the Vale of Ovoca above Wooden Bridge.

Dublin (Westland Kow) to Kingrstown, 6 m., X>alkey, 8 m.,

and Bray, 13^ m., aht. 20 trains a day in 35-40 min. ; 2s., Is. 6d.,

Is. ; Bet., 2s. 6rf., 2s., Is. 2d.

The trains start from Amieiis-st. 8-15 minutes before leaving Westland Row,
calling at Tara St., wliich is \ mile nearer Sackville-st. than Westland Row
{see plan).

Also Dublin (Harcourt St.) direct to Bray, 12 m., in 22 to 35 min., about

20 trains a day.

The through trains (about 3 a day), to Wicklow and Wexford from Harcourt
Street do not stop between Dublin and Bray, but connect tliere with trains

from Westland Row.
Electric Train (from Nelson Pillar) to Dalkey by Merrion Square,

iilackrock, and Kingstown. Fare, bd.

. This route reaches the shol^e of Dublin Bay at Merrion, S m.,

and thence onward we get intermittent viev\'s, on the left, across

to the Hill of Howth. Passing SdHhill (with a favourite swb'

urban hotel, just above the station) we reach (6 m.).
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XingTBtown {Royal Marine, a large house, well situated, over-

looking the harbour ; bed & att. 3s. to 6s. ; bkfst., 2s. 6d. ; din.

(t.-d'h.) 3s. ijd. Anglesea Arms, well- situated, a little further west)

which offers pleasant headquarters for those who visit Dublin
but prefer to tarry by the sea. The harbour is enclosed by two
piers, the eastern §-mile long and continued by the Carlisle Pier,

where passengers change between boat and steamer, and the

western pier, nearly a mile long, with an opening between the

two of about 250 yards. The insignificant harbour of Dunleary,
the old name of the spot, is at the base of the west pier. Except
for the hotels and the range of buildings near the harbour,
including the P.O., the town is rather below par, but during the
summer the harbour is a favourite yacht rendezvous, and the arrival

and departure of the fine mail-packets always draw visitors to the
pier. The obelisk, close by this, commemorates the visit of Geo. IV.
in 1821. The other chief buildings are St. Michael's Church, re-

built on an imposing scale (with a rich east window and some
other rather gaudy ones), and the Town Hall. Foj). abt. 20,000.

South of Kingstown, after passing Sandycove, 6^ m., the line

bends inland to Dalkey, 8 m.

I>alkey (pron., ^^ Dalky ;" Queen's, poor), is a delightfully situated little

town, partly inside and partly on the broken coast-ridge. The views across
Dublin Bay" to the north, down the coast to Bray Head and inland, are alike
beautiful.
From Coolamore Harbour a boat (no fixed tariff) can be taken across the

Sound, 300 yds. -wide, to DalUey Island, a rock about 500 yds. long and
30J yds. wide. The Sound, 300 years ago, was an important roadstead, and a com-
mon point of embarkation for England. On the island are a Martello totcer

and the ruins of St. Benet's Chut-ch, with a very early W. doorway. The
'• Kingdom of Dalkey " was famous at the end of the 18th cent., and its king
was elected annually with much convivial tomfoolery. The whole affair was
probably only an excuse for letting off high si)irits, but, revolutionary ideas
being rife, it was suppressed by the Government in 1798, lest it should be a
cloak for political designs.

The R'way Co. run char-a-bancs in connection with certain
trains between Dalkey and Killiney stations over Kiiliney Hill.

Killiiiey Hill (480 //.), a fine view-point for the Dublin and Wicklow
mountains, etc., is a short mile by road S. from Dalkey Station to the Obelisk
Gate, and thence over turf, (fcc, to tlie top. Regaining tlie road it is a pleasant
walk or drive of 4 m. to Bray, or the rail can be taken at Killiney and Ballybi-ack
Station, abt. 1^ m. In either case the archteologist should visit the ancient
little Church of Killiney at tlie foot of the hill on the left, just short of the
cross-roads where tlie turn to the left leads to the station.

A road round Killiney Hill affords a delightful drive from Dalkey station
between the hill and the sea, and so on to Bray. Tlie best plan, however, is to
drive to Obelisk gate, walk up tlie hill and descend by foot-path (a high wall
unfortunately obstructs the \iew on the left) to the gate on the new road, to
which tlie car may have been sent round. Some prefer to take the route the
reverse way.

Beyond Dalkey, on emerging from a tunnel, there is on the left a
lovely view of the coast from Dalkey Island to Bray Head, and after

Killiney Station the conical Great Sugarloaf {p. 24) is well seen on
tlie right front.
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Rail : From Dub:in,/>. 18.

Hotels :

—

Marine Station ; International ; Esplanade (C.T.) ; Bray Head, J m.

S. from Station ; Royal (U.Q.). in the town. Several Boarrling Houses.

'Bus to Enniskerrj^ from the Station, p, 21.

Po8t and Tel. Off. in Quinsborough Road, running inland from Station,

Chief English del. 7.35 a.m. (8.50, Sun.) ; desp. G.25 p.m. (5, Sun.). Tel. Off.,
8-8 ; Sun., 8-10. Tel. Call Off., 4, Maiu-st.

Pop. : abt. 8,000.

Cars : For full list of fares see Bray " Bye Laws," Gd. The fares we give
are between 8 a.m. and 10 p.m. ; outside those hours double fares are payable.

The two prices given in each case refer to 1 or 2 and 3 or 4 passengers, respec-

tively. In the case of cars hired for the outward journey only (see first list

below), to return by them would add half-price. The di'iver (jarvy) is included,

but a small tip will not be out of place.

OutM'ard only :—Tvilmacanoge (for G?-eat and Little Sugarloaf), 2s. M.—3*

;

Red Lane corner (for Glen of the Bouns), Zs. Qd.—4s. 6d. ; Dargle (E. gate),2«.

—

is. 6d. ; (W. gate), Za.Qd.—As.Qd.; Sculp (via Euniskerry), 4i. — 56. ; Ennis-

kerry, 2s. Gd.—'6s.

Tliere and back '.—Glen of the Downs (by Kilmacanoge and back by
Delgany), Is.— 8^. ; Powerscourt Waterfall (bv the Dargle and back by the Rocky
Valley and Hollybrook), IOj;.—12a-. ; 'secen C/turcfies (Glendalough) 18s.—205.

;

Lough Toy, Lough Dan, or Lough Bray (vid Glencree Reformatory), I4s.—los.

A t-wo-days' round, sleeping at Seven Churches (Grlendalough), visiting

the Dargle, Enniskerry, Poueiscouit , Great Sugarloaf, Boundtcood, Seven Churches,

and back by the Devil's Glen and the Glen of the Downs, 40s.—50*. ; see^. 26.

Coacli Tours (2s. 6d. each) May to Sept., to Pouerscourt, week-days ; Glen

of the Douns, Tues. an<l Wed. ; and The Scalp, Thurs. and Fri.

Bray, alike in situation and in convenience as a starting-point

for delightful walks and excursions, is one of the most favoured of

seaside resorts. It stands on a bay of gentle curve between the

hills of Dalkey, N., and Bray Head, S., and the shore-view has
the double charm of varied colour and shapely outline. Inland,

a little to the S.W., rise the Wicklow hills—prominent among
them the purple cone of the Great Sugarloaf. The town
itself has no buildings requiring description. It consists of a long

sea-front of comely private houses and lodging-houses, with an
unusually good promenade from end to end, and instead of sporadic

seats, sure to be occupied when one wants them, is furnished with

a continuous seat throughout. The business part of the town,
well supplied with all needful shops and a few yards from the sea-

front, is in great part of recent erection. The shore is certainly

above par either for children or for bathing (ladies' baths on
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Esplanade), and the aspect of the sea-front being a trifle N. of

East, its houses escape the glare of the mid-day sun. The place is

often, and very inappropriately, styled the " Irish Brighton ;" its

only point of comparison with London-on-sea is its accessibility

from the capital of the island.

SSlalks mxii €untsmxs.

1. To Bray Head (793 ft.), abt. 1^ hrs. there and back'

There is a choice of routes which cannot, however, be com-
bined. A visit to the beautiful grounds of Kilruddery (Mon.
and Tues. only, in the absence of the family) is worth mak-
ing. Either by the left-hand road at the top of High St. and
so through Newton Vevay, and, avoiding turns right or left,

past the Convent Gate, left, to (If ??i. from Bray Sta.) Kil-

ruddery Gate, closed on Fridays, right ; or from the S. end
of the Esplanade road, turning to the right just short of the
Bray Head Hotel. This latter road joins the former in abt. ^ m.,

just S. of the Convent Gate, and we proceed, left, to Kilruddery
Gate, whence we turn off to the left, and by a devious course reach
the summit of the Head. The view, though not to be compared
with that from the Great Sugarloaf (p. 2i), is well worth the
climb. The highest point (793/«.) of the mass composing the pro-
montory is a mile S. of the summit of the Head, and from it we
could gain the road (i.) at Windgate, and either return by it, 2'^ in.,

to Bray Sta., or go over kittle Sugrarloaf (1,120 ft.) into the
Glen of the Downs road. If this latter be decided on, the
easiest way to the top of the hill is to proceed S. for a mile
by the right-hand road from Windgate, and then to turn to

right ; a mile westward brings us, after a steady ascent, to the
foot of the S. end of the main ridge, whence we climb to the
right, I hr. to the top. Snowdon is often visible from the
white pillar. From the top we descend the W. side and join

the Glen of the Downs road at Kilmacanoge (Inn), 3 m. from
Bray. The Raihcay Walk : every visitor should folloxo this

for Ih or 2 miles along the cliff. It begins at a gate at

the S. end of the Esplanade road, beyond the Bray Head
Hotel, and at once ascends to the open ground. (Here a foot-

path leads down to a little bathing-cove.) The walk continues
along the sea- face of the promontory, skirting its fine ravines high
above the railway. From the head of the great ravine, from which
the line enters a tunnel, the summit is barred by a high wall.

N.B.—The railway-walk leads on to Greystones, 5 m. from Bray.

2. To Tlie Darg-le, 2^ m. to the E. gate, 3^ m. to the W. gate.

N.B.— Between tliese gates tlie path up the glen is open, free, to pedestrians
only, on week days. They can also walk along the Charleville drive on the S.

side, but the drive cannot be used by vehicles without an order.

'Bu« to Knniskerry (6(/.), 5 or 6 times a da}'.

"The Dargle " is the excursion })ar excellence from Bray, and
we do not remember any scene of its kind more perfectly beautiful.
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The walk between the two gates just mentioned threads a richly

wooded and narrow rocky glen, down which brawls and tumbles
the Dargle stream. Those who drive will be put down at the E.
Gate, and can order their vehicle to meet them at the W. Gate.
The 'bus which runs 5 or 6 times a day between Bray Station and
Enniskerry might be used in both directions. We turn to the

right at the end of the street running inland from the station and
descend to Bray Bridge, cross it to Little Bray, and shortly after-

wards turn to the left. This lower part of the Bray valley has
gained the name of the "Valley of Diamonds," and is pretty enough
but not remarkable. As we proceed, the round-topped hill seen
ahead is Douce Mountain (2,384 /it.), and the cone to the left of it

and much nearer, is the Great Sugarloaf (jj>. 23). In abt. 2 m. from
the station we again cross the river at Dargle Bridge, which is

just below the confluence of the Cookstown (or Enniskerry) stream
with the Dargle. Beyond this bridge the road turns to the

right and in \ m., between a lodge and a P.O. box, to the right

again to another bridge (over the Dargle stream). A short

distance beyond we turn to the left and enter the Sargrle
Glen by the E. Gate. Following the path and avoiding a

faint one on the left, we take the next one on that side. This
leads down to a charming spot where the stream descends im-

petuously over its rocky bed and is embowered in luxuriant ash,

oak and evergreens. We return to the upper path by steps which
lead to an arbour called the Moss House, and the'a soon reach

the projecting bluff called the Lovers' Leap, from which we get

a glimpse of the stream down among the trees. Below is a bridge

with a castellated gateway by which the pipes from the Kound-
wood Keservoir (Dublin waterworks) cross the glen. The Little

Sugarloaf peers above the trees on the opposite bank. Another
favourite view-point is the View-Rock, beyond which the glen

opens and we pass through a gate and across a field, having the

Eectory above on our right. By a lane we reach the public road,

where those who are not going to the Powerscourt waterfall should

turn to the left in order to visit (10 min. walk) Tinnehinch Bridge, a

sweet spot. If we turn to the right we shall pass at the top of the

hill, the main entrance to Powerscourt {below) and then descend,

seeing ahead on the sky-line the Scaljj defile (2 m. from Ennis-

kerry, on the direct road to Dublin), and on the right, the new
church, with a spire, of Enniskerry (Powerscourt Arms), a

prettily situated village, evidently well cared for. Hence it is a

short 4 m. by road back to Bray Station.

3. To Powerscourt Bemesne and "Waterfall (weekdays,

6cZ., on foot or with cycle; carriages. Is. per horse; the Powers-

court Gardens, weekdays. Is., tickets from the gardener at the

Powerscourt Arms, Enniskerry). Most persons take the Dargle

{p. 21) on the outward journey. From Enniskerry to the Water-
fall there is a choice of routes (a) by the main entrance to

Powerscourt and past the mansion, or {b) by Tinnehinch Bridge

to the entrance to the Deer Park. Both are beautiful, but the
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former is the better, and should of course be taken if the gardens
are to be visited, and then the return to Bray from the waterfall

can be made by the Rocky Valley and Hollybrook, which will

enable those who wish to make the most of their time to include

the easy ascent of the Great Sugarloaf. Distance of the round,

about 14 m.

(a) To the Waterfall via Powerscourt House (Visct. Powers-
court). From the main-entrance (see Excurs. 2

; jj. 21) we have at

first a beech avenue. The house is passed on the left in about a
mile. It is a large, i3lain building, in nowise remarkable except
for the beauty of its situation. The Gardens (see above ) are of

great beauty. Beyond the house we pass as direct as possible

through two gates, and down the glen by a zigzag, having the
Great Sugarloaf in front of us, and then, turning right, we come
to the Glencree stream and a road which we cross, through two
gates. It is now 2 miles on to the waterfall, and on the way to it

we pass

—

(b) To the Wutfrfidl via Timiehinch Bridge. Instead of going througli the
main entrnnce to Powerscourt we pass it on our right and descend the hill past
Tinnehiiich, left, which ])elonged to Grattan and is now in the possession of hia
family. Crossing the bridge, a beautiful spot, we ascend past the grounds of
Charleville, right, and at a gate on the right, opposite the Glebe House, 1 J rh.

from the Bridge, enter the JJeer Pai'k and have ahead the round summit of
Douce Mountain. Crossing the Danjle, 1\ m. from where we entered the Park,
at a uooden bridge, we join route («) and turn to the left.

N.B.—The road which crosses the Wooden Bridge climbs the west bank of the
Dargle, and then ascends above the south bank of tlie Glencree to Lotrer Lough
Bray, 5 m., and Glencree Reformatory, 6 m. from whicli there is a good road
down the opposite side of the Glencree to Euniskerry. For this route see^. 24,

Following the course of the Dargle we soon enter the, not very
appropriately named, Horse-shoe Ravine, and arrive at the foot of
the "Waterfall, which is a waterslide with an almost sheer drop
below. The spot is a great place for pic-nics, and the Fall after
heavy rain is certainly fine, but its normal summer condition is

apt to disappoint. Not its least charm is the considerable growth
of holly hereabouts, and the front view (best abt. 70 yds. off) is

very pleasing.

In returning we go as we came to the Wooden Bridge over the
Dargle, and crossing it and the Deer Park to the gate on the
Roundwood road [route (b) above] can, of course, return by Tinne-
hinch Bridge and the road from Enniskerry. We propose, however,
to take the Rocky Valley route and so turn to the right and in abt.
200 yds. to the left. This takes us down to the Killough stream,
and ascending the opposite bank W3 join (in less than a mile from
the Park) the road that skirts the N. and W. sides of the Great
Sugarloaf {below). We now turn to the left, descend the
Rocky Valley, having the mountains on our right, and reach in

1| m. Kilmacanoge Chapel and old Graveyard, at W. foot of the
Little Sugarloaf {below). Here we again turn left, and it is about
3 771., passing Hollybrook {bcloiv), back to Bray.
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4. The Scalp (map p. 26), about 5m. from Bray by the "Old
Cormaught" road, which turns to the left after ascending the hill

beyond Little Bray. This road, in abt. 2| m. from the turn, joins

the road from Enniskerry to Dublin, and there turning to the

right, it is a steady ascent of something over a mile to the defile,

which is a rocky col or gap in the hills {light refreshment at farm,
N. end, E. side). The return can be varied by descending to

Enniskerry, whence we take the road to Bray, The view from the

defile is good but not of particular interest ; but that from Catty-

golaher (IdS ft.), the E. side of the Scalp, is more beautiful, though
less wide, than the prospect from the Sugarloaf . Shankill Station

on the Harcourt Street line to Bray is a good starting-point.

5. Tbe Great and Xilttle Sug-arloaf and the Glen of the
Downs (map p. 26), returning by Delgany, 14^-15 miles by road

exclusive of ascents ; 9^ miles if the rail be taken at Greystones

Station. Where the two roads fork at the top of High St. we take

the right-hand one, and in abt. 1^ m. from there cross a tributary

of the Dargle and ascend past Hollybrook (grounds delightful and
usually open to visitors on leaving a card at the lodge) and on to

Kihnacanoge Chapel, abt. 3 m. from Bray. Hence the ascent, left,

to the top of Little Sugarloaf {1,120 ft.) is an easy half-hours work.

We advise the preference however to be given to the Great Sugrar-

loaf (1,659 /«.) which is perfectly easy and commands a very fine

view. The climb can perhaps be made with least detour by
turning off to the left about ^ m. up the Rocky Valley, and then

attacking the northern spur, following it to the summit and
descending by the E. ridge to an old road which rejoins the main
one ^ m. short of the Glen of the Downs. An easier way for those

who are driving is to ascend the Rocky Valley and continue up the

road on the W. side of the mountain until the summit is just

above it on the left. Those in need of a stimulus -will find a

decent little wayside inn a short distance beyond this point. The
ascent, over heather and whortleberry, takes abt. ^ hr. from here,

and the descent vnW be made as already described.

The "View is as beautiful as it is extensive. Looking N. we see Bray, with the

square tower of the R.C. Church. Killiney,Dalk:ey Island, Howth Head and Lara-

bay, with the Mourne Mountains on the far liorizon. Left of Bray we note the

Scalp defile in the Dublin Mountains, and nearer hare, N.W., a fine riew of the
Powerscourt and Charleville demesnes. The spire of Enniskerry church but not
the Tillage is also seen. To the left of Powerscourt, high up the Glencree valley, is

the Glencree Befomiatory with Kippure ( 2,473 /V.) to its left. A trifle S. of' W.
we get the top of the Powerscourt Waterfall between Maulin (L863/f ), right,

and Douce (2,384/r.), left. Oyer the dip, between these, peers War Hill (2,260 ./ir.),

S.S.W. is the dull, cultivated, upland valley of the Yartrey and a part of the
Dublin Waterworks reservoir. The richly wooded defile S.E. is the Glen of the

Downs. Down the coast is Wicklow Head*with its Lighthouses, and Greystones
is close at hand, while Bray Head, N.E.. completes the panorama.

In case neither mountain is climbed we ascend the pass between
them, and in 5 m.from Bray reach the N. end of the Glen of the
Sowns with Glen View on the right and the park of Bellevue on
the left. For the latter, Monday is the public day, but permission

is seldom, if ever, refused on any weekday. Whether or not we



visit the grounds, we must crosg the little bridge to the cottage and
ascend to the Pavilion or Temple for the sake of the view. The
glen itself is a wooded defile about a mile long, and at its S. end
we turn to the left to Delg-any (Hotel), a pleasantly-placed little

village with a conspicuous church on the hill to the east of it.

From here it is about 2 m. to Grcystones Station by the road on
the right of the church. The direct road back to Bray, 5J m.,

leaves the village at its N. end, and in 1^ m. joins the Wicklow
road, and in view of the sea gradually ascends to Windgate, and
skirting the inland or W. side of the Bray Head promontory, and
passing Kilruddery (p. 21) on the left, reaches Bray through
Newton Vevay.

If from the S. end of the Glen of the Do\vns, instead of turning to the left

we keep straight on, we arrive in 3 m. nt tlie agreeably situated village of
Jfewto-n-ii Mount Kenned^-, from which it is a pleasant 6^ W7. S. to Anh-
fo?d, and a rather dull one of 13 m. S.W. by Mounduvod (6 m,) to Seven Churches.

6. To Glencree Reformatory, 9v^ 7;^., Iio-wer ?3ray Xiougb,
10^ m., Sally Gap, 15 m., Iiougrh Tay (XiUg-grelaw), 17^ m.,
Xtoundwood, 22^- m. (map p. 26).

From Bray to Roundwood (p. 25), 14 m.

Remarks. The full round of 36 m. out and home is, in spite of its

length, a rather popular one from Bray. Those who limit their

excursion to Glencree and the Bray Loughs can vary the return
journey by taking the rough road on the S. side of the Glencree
valley and through the Powerscourt demesne, but should obtain a
card (Enniskerry, p. 21) on the outward route. We advise visitors

to reserve this excursion in whole or in part till they have visited

the more accessible and more beautiful scenes already given. The
pedestrian who appreciates a breezy mountain-Avalk, and is bound
for Eoundwood and the Seven Churches, will enjoy it and find very
fair quarters at Roundwood.
We proceed direct to Enniskerry (p. 21), breast the long steep hill

beyond it and soon get a good view, looking back. When the road
forks, abt. 1 rn. from the village, we turn to the left, and 1| m.
further gain the col between Prince William's Seat {1,825 ft.) on
the right and Knockree (1,127 ft.) left. Hence we ascend the
Glencree valley, high up its N. side, to the conspicuous Reforma-
tory (abt. 1,400 /f. above sea-level) on the main " Military Road"
constructed after the troubles of '98 in order to open out the
recesses of the Wicklow Mountains. The Reformatory (shown
to luaitors) was originally a barrack, but was converted to its present
purpose in 1859. From it we look right down the Glencree valley
to the sea, and can imagine the utter desolation and bleakness of
the spot in winter.

Turning S. along the main road, a slight ascent brings us in about
1 m. to Iiower l^ouffb Bray (Ref. Cott.), a deep-set lake abt.

h ni. long with "Lough Bray Cottage" on its N. shore. This lake
and its smaller neighbour, Ujyper Lough Bray which we shall see
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on the right, a short distance from the road about a mile furthef

on, both discharge their waters to the Glencree, and are almost
on the watershed between its basin and that of the Liflfey. The
rounded summit about a mile due W. of the " Upper" lough is

Kippure (2,475 /f.).

The road now winds around the W. flank of the mountains
which constitute the watershed of the Liffey and Dargle to Sally

Gap, a col, about 1,500 /f., between the Liffey and the Annamoe
tributary of the Avonmore. Here we join the road from Naas and
Blessington to Roundwood and turn to the left at the cross-roads

[the road straight leads, in 13 m. from here, via Laragh, to the

Seven Churches, see helow.'\ Descending the pass, with War Hill

{2,250 ft.) and Douce Mountain (2,384 /f.) on our left-front, we see

XiOug*!! Tay, at the head of which, amid pleasant woods, is

Luggelaw Lodge. The lake is nearly an oval, and about ^ 7?i. long,

with really fine escarpments on its W. side. Our road keeps well

above the E. side and, just beyond the lake, turns left through
the hills and down to Anna Carter Bridge, where, turning to the

right, we are on the direct road from Bray to Roundwood, and
about 2J m. from the latter.

Roundivood or Toglier (Inns : Royal, c.t.. Prince of Wales, both
fair little houses), a little village in a prettily wooded valley on
the W. side of the great (Dublin Waterworks) Reservoir, which is

1^ m. long and ^ m. in average width. The village is centrally

placed for visiting Seven Churches (6^ m.), Devil's Glen (6 7?i.) and
Iiougli Ban (3 m.; Ref. Cott.). This lake, which is more than

1^ m. long with a nearly uniform width of ^ m., is most readily

reached by taking the by-road which runs W. from the village to-

wards the hills. In about a mile it joins another, and we turn to

the left, and passing below Lake View, right, descend to Old
Bridge (Doyle's Tea Rooms), 2^ m. from Roundwood and about

^ VI. from the foot of the lake.

Roundwood to Seven Churches, 6| m. We descend the

valley 3 m. and turn to the right across the stream to Annamoe and
there turn to the left. Approaching Laragh, 5^/h., we have a fine

view of the two glens that converge at the Seven Churches, the

bare one on the right being Glendassan, and the left one Glen-

dalough. The Round Tower is at the junction of the two and a

few yards beyond the Hotel, see p. 30.

7. To the Seven Churches (Glendaloug-h) and back by
the Devil's Glen (map p. 26). The two -days' round indicated

at the head of " Bray," p. 19, as far as the Deer Park of Powers-
court and the Great Sugarloaf , is sufficiently given in the foregoing

excursions. The roads on to Roundwood : the one from the Deer
Park—the high road—and that from Great Sugarloaf, a hill-road,

are both rather dull, see p. 30. For the Devil's Glen, see p. 2d.
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Dublin (Harcourt St. Station) to Wicklow, Wexford, and
Waterford.

From Dublin to Bray the liue from Westlaud Eow affords tlie better views
see p. 18), but necessitates changing trains at Bray.

Distances: Bmy, 12 ««., Greystones, 17 m., WMlou; 28 m., liaf/inew (tor

Newrath Bridge, Ashford and Devil's Glen) 29^ m., Rdthdnan (for Glendalough
or Seven Churches) 38 m., Ovoca 43 ?>/., Wooden Bridge (Junction for Shillelagh,

61;h.)45 m., Arklow 49 m.. Ferns (for Newtown Barry), 70 7«., Enniscorthy,

78 /«., Mncmine Junction, 83 m., Wexford, 9d ni., Neir Ross, 102 7U., Water/on/,
116 m. Fares : 1st, 2d. ; 2nd, l^d. ; 3rd., Id. per mile. Keturn tickets abt. §
more than single.

•.:;;' For many excursions to the famous scenes of co. Wicklow, and for rail and
liotel combineil tickets, see Z>. 11^ <£: Jr. Co.'s Tourist programme.

Remarl{s. The scenery on this line is picturesque almost
throughout, and for a considerable part of the distance very
beautiful. From the point where it reaches the coast, about
2 miles N. of Bray, the sea is close by, on the left, all the way to

Wicklow, while on the right we get, now and again, pleasant
landscapes in the direction of the Wicklow Mountains. Beyond
Wicklow, past Kathdrum and Wooden Bridge to Arklow, we
thread a lovely silvan valley, the charm of which can only be
imperfectly appreciated from the train. Between Arklow and
Enniscorthy the country is commonplace, but again becomes
pretty as we descend the right bank of the Slaney towards
Wexford. Onward to Waterford, New Eoss, on its steep hillside,

is well seen.

Route. From Harcourt St. Station the line traverses the suburb
of Kathmines, crosses the Dodder at Milltown {1 m.) to Dundrum
(3 m.), a pleasant residential neighbourhood at the foot of the
Dublin Mountains.

Dundrum (rt/jore) and Stillorgan (5 m.), tlie next station, are about equally
convenient for the ascent of Tltree Rock mtn. (1479/^), a good view-point.
From either station Utepaside is the point to make for : from Dundrum 3 m. S.

along the Scalp road ; from Stillorgan 2^ m. S.E. by a devious road passing close
to KUgobbin Castle, a tower in ruinsi From Stepaside the ascent can be easily
accomplished in less than | hr.

Diuidnim hytJie fkalp (6 in.,p. 24), to Enniskerry (8 m.
; p. 22) or Bray (lOm.

;

p. 20).

From Dundrum the line turns S.E., and passing Stillorpan
(see above) we have Three Rock Mountain on our right. The
line, via Kingstown, is joined about 2 m. N. of Bray (^7. 20).

South of Bray the railway is carried round the sea-face of Bray
Head. It passes through heavy cuttings and three short tunnels,
but admits of fine peeps of the wild ravines and cliffs. A short
distance beyond the last tunnel we get a good coast view, in-

cluding Greystones (17 m. ; Grand Hotel) a watering-place that
has greatly increased in favour with Dublin people, but with no
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special attractions for the traveller from a distance. It is the
nearest station to Delgrany {Lawless's Hotel) {p. 25), and
the GUn of the Downs {p. 24).

The line continues to hug the shore, and we see, on the right,

Delgany, and a landscape, prettily wooded, towards the Great
Sugarloaf . Kilcool (20 m.), and Newcastle (22 m.), are stations each
about a mile E. of the hamlets whose names they bear, and
about 4 m. and 3^ vu respectively from ITewtown Mt. Ken-
nedy- {p. 25).

Wicklow Head with its lighthouses now becomes prominent on
the left-front, and the railway, approaching that town, is for some
2 miles carried along the Murragh, a spit (used as an artillery

range) between the sea and a lagoon. This lagoon is crossed as

we turn inland to Wickloic Station (28 m.).

Wlck-low (Hotels: Grand, iu the town, abt. ^ m. from Sta.; Btidge,
ratlier further, next tlie bridge and near the shore), the county town (pop. 3,272)
and a small port with some trade in timber, &c. From the down side of the
station a footpath, up the hill, leads into the road past the Church (with a cop-
per cupola) to the town. The main road from the station enters the town at

the W. end, passing, right, the H. C. church and, left, the ruins of a Franciscan
Friary, founded temp. Henry III. Tlie town itself is dull and featureless, but
attracts a good many summer visitors for sea-bathing. The harbour is crossed
bj' a bridge which gives access to the sliore (poor), near the old station, now
used only for merchandise. By continuing E. along the main street (I'ost-office,

on left, a short distance beyond the Green Tree Hotel : del. 7 and 10a.m. ; des^>.

7 and 9.40 p.m.), we reach the old and squalid part of the town, above the
entrance of the harbour, and, on the verge of the headland beyond, find the
few fragments, 14th cent., of Black Cod'e.

The walk may be pleasantly extended along the cliffs, S.E., to Brides Head
and the lighthouses on "%Vicl4.1o'»v Head, abt. "2^ i)i. or 1 hr. from Black
Castle. The cliffs there arc tine, and the view up tlie coast extends to Howth
Head.

Bathnew (29^ ;;i.), a poor village, is the nearest station for

Xewrath Bridge, Ashford, the Devil's Glen and Eoundwood, and
a good starting place, via the Glen, for Seven Churches (Glen-

dalough). Cars meet trains in summer.

To ^ewr'atli Bridge Hotel (abt. 1 m.). Where tlie bit of road from
the up-3ide of Rathnew Station joins the main-road turn to the right, and on
reaching (\ m.) the middle of the village, to the left, and once more to the right

^ m. furtlier. From the latter turn it is a straight ^ w. to Nfninth Bridge, over
the Yartry, ami the Hotel {"s.Qd. to 10*-. a day. according to season) is just

boj-ond. It is a favourite summer resort, and has a pleasant garden on the
bank of tlie stream.

To A<4liford {2 m. direct; 2\in. rid Newrath Bridge.) The direct ro.ad,

beautifully wooded, keeps straiglit on where, beyond Rathnew village, we
turned to the right {see above) for Xewrath Bridge. Beyond liosaimn House it

turns to the right through Ballinalea village. [From Xewrath Bridge Hotel
{(ihove) the road (1.^ m.) ascends the left bank of the Yartrj'. but at some dis-

tance from the stream, across which are seen the woods of Rosanna House. It

bears to the right from the entrance gate, left, about a mile onward, and then
keeps alongside the stream to Ashford bridge]. At Ashford {Tele^ajdi

Office), another tourist focus, there are tAVO hotels (^Ashford. close to the bridge,
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a roomy old-fashioned house ; Glen, across the bridge), and apart from the
Devil's G-len, which is the great attraction iu this neighbourhood, it is a pleasant
spot

.

Diitatices : Ashford to Rouiidwood, 7 m. ; to Seven Churches, V2 in. ; to Ratlj-

drum, by road through Glenealy, a pretty drive, 9 /«.

Ratlineiv to the Devil's Cilen : (3^ m. to entrance-lodge ; free ; week-
days only).

From Rathnew Station proaecd to Ashford by either route described p. 28.
Tlience it is about a mile to the entrance-lodge at the lower end. Those who
drive can enter at the lodge and walk up (abt. 2^ m.), ordering the car to meet
them at the liead of the glen. This is the obvious plan if proceeding either
to Roundwood or Seven Churches. Those wlio are returning to Ashford will

find it less fatiguing to drive to the head of the glen, where the car can be
dismissed, an<l the walk taken down tlie glen, which c.in only be visited on foot.

At Asliford do not cross the bridge but turn to the left abt. 100 yards beyond
the Ashford Hotel, and then keep straight on, />.. do not turn "to the right
when a road diverges on that side. [Just short of the Parish Church the road
to tlie head of the glen descends steeply to the stream at Xitn's Cross Bridgp,
and then about '^ in. up the hill beyond, at a fork, we take the right hand road,
wliich. passing through a gaj) in the hills, leads pretty direct to the head of the
glen at AniuKjolan Bridge. 2\ m. from the fork just named, or 4 m. from Ash-
ford.] Opposite the Parish Church we enter the drive of BaUycuriy House, and
at once have a lovely view of the riclily wooded valley leading to the glen
proper. High up on the oi)posite side of the stream is Gleumore Castle, a large
private residence, arcliitecturally unworthy of its fine site. It is nearly a mile
through the grounds of Eallycurry House before the defile itself is entered.
This is finely flanked by rocky heights, between which the stream (ai)t to lie

i'.npoundiid by the Roundwood Reservoir, p. 26) dashes down. There is enougli
wood to add beauty without robbing the glen of its wilder features, and when
the path mounts considerably above tlie stream we get a good view of the
broken waterfall. From the head of the glen to liounduood, p. 2Q, (choice of
roails, nee map) is G m. ; to Seven Chu/rhes, p. 30, is 12^ m.

From Eathnewthe line turns S.W. and the bold ridge of Carrick
Mountain (1252 ft.) is well seen on the right as we approach
Glenealy (33 m.), a prettily placed village. Then nothing calls for

remark till we reach Ratndrum (38 m. ; Hotel : Grand Central,
with Ref.-Rm. at station; cars) the nearest station to the Seven
Churches {heloiv).

For continuation of railway, see p. 85, and for road to Wooden
Bridge, etc., p. 34.

Ratlidi'uiii iiitation to Seven Cliurclies {Glendalou(ih). 8^m.
Car for 5 or more passeiiyen, 2s. 6d. each. The road ascends sliaridy, winding
])ack above the hotel, and at a junction of roa<ls about ^ /w. up the hill we
turn to the right. [Left, leads, nearly due S., to Acondale. 1^ m. from
the turn; it is seen from the railway, W ;). 34]. Rathdruni village
(Inn) is finely situated but of no interest. We leave it at its X. end, where the
road, bending to the left, commands a lovely view, on tlie right, of the deep
silvan glen of the Avonmore witli its bridge and mills. On the left of the read
is a R. C. Church and Convent. V*'e continue up the right bank of the river,
which is well wooded almost throughout. Clara Bridge, a pretty spot, is on
our right, about 3 m. from Rathdrum. and then in another mile or so we have
the river clo.se by. At 6^/n.fromthe station our road joins the ''military
road," which comes down a steepisli hill on our left.

[Here the pedestrian can with advantage take the footpath (the old road) to
Seven Churches. It starts on the right a few paces up the military road ; three
tr«e« we noted as marking the place. The saving in distance is about i m ., and
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passing Dertybaun House, ^ m. from the point of divergence, we follow the right
bank of the stream, and about J m. short of Glendalough pass near the ruins of
St. Saviour, one of the Seven Churches. The Round Tower will serve as an
index to tiic whereabouts of the Hotel at Crlendalough .]

The road crosses the CMendasau Iliver at Dernjhaicn Bridge and then, at l.arag]i
(Pub. Ho.), we turn to the left. The main valley now ahead is Glendastxn,
which is bare ; tlie smaller valley, on its left, is G^lendalough and tlie Round
Tower is only tlie most conspicuous feature on the thresliold of perhaps the
most intorosting, as it is one of the most beautiful, spots in Co.Wicklow.

%ht ^ebcn Cljualjes of Oiicnbalouglj.

Hotel : Royal, good, close to the principal ruins ; Temperance Hotel, smnll
and clean.

Post Office: {\ m. E.of the Hotel, on the Laragh road) del. 8.30 ff.w.,

desp., 4.30 /)./«. ; PoH 7(9M7i, Rathdrum ; nearest Telegraph Office, Annamoe, por-
terage, l.v. No Sunday post.

For the road from Bray, see j^. 26.

Glendalough ("glen of the two lakes") has the double attraction

of really grand scenery and numerous interesting ruins. It is one
of the last places to be worthily appreciated by those who only
pay it a hurried visit. To enjoy it, at least one evening should be
spent on and about the Upper Lake, and one need not be a dry-

as- dust antiquarian to love to linger over its many relics of early

Christian times. In the following description we take the several

objects of interest in the order they may conveniently be visited,

if needs be, in an hour or two.

The History of Oleiidalougli, one of the sacred spots of Ireland,

begins in tlie 6th cent., when Caoimhghen, or, as we now spell his name
Kevin, of royal lineage, fled from the monastery of St. Eoghan at Kllna-
inanagh, near Arklow, and took up his abode at St. Kevin's Bed, where he
dwelt as a liermit from 545—549. In the latter year he removed a little lower
down tlie glen and founded a monastery and school where tlie ruins of Reefert
Church stand. Later in life he transferred his establishment to the spot now
marked by the group of ruins at Glendalough, where he died in extreme old

age, some say at 120, in 618. From the 9tli to the 12th cent, tlie "city" and
abbey were repeatedly ravaged by the Danes and fire, and St. Kevin's House is

named as burnt in 1163. In 1393 the English destroyed the place. The story of

St. Kevin and Kathleen, with "eyes of most unholy bhxe," how she found him
out in his "Bed," whither he had fled from her inconvenient a<loration, and how
he flung her into the lough, is not histor}'. We need not quote Moore's well-

known version of the legend.

. It may be well to enumerate the " Seven " Churches, though we
are not sure that our list is the orthodox one :—1. Cathedral.

2. Our Lady's. .3. St. Kevin's Cell or Kitchen. 4. Keefert.

5. Teampul-na-Skellig. 6. Trinity. 7. St. Saviour's.

A few yards from the hotel we pass through the remains of

what was once a fine Gateway, and had an outer and inner arch

supporting a tower. This formed part of the precinct wall. On the

right is the Round Tower, 110 ft. high and j^erfect. It is built of

gpawled rubble work with a granite, round-headed, doorway, and is

often assigned to the 7th cent., though the late Earl of Duoraven in
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his Notes on Irish Architecture doubts whether any existing Round
Tower is earlier than the end of the 9th cent, (see Introd.). The
Cathedral, so styled probably on account of its being the largest

building, is, as regards its main portion, considered to date from
early in the 7th cent., but the chancel and side chapel (or

sacristy ?) are later additions. The original doorway is square-

headed and has above it a relieving arch. Notice the chevron
ornament on either side of the original east elid. This ornament
is held to have been earlier used in Ireland than in England. In
a recess beyond the side chapel is a piscina or stouj). A fuchsia

flourishes within the shelter of this ancient sanctuary.

• To the W. of the Cathedral is Our DLady's Cburcli, believed

to be as old as St. Kevin's time, and his burial place. " The noble
doorway . . . exhibits in a striking degree that early Greek form
which is so commonly found in the doorways and in other
openings of our most ancient Churches and Round Towers";
Wakeman's Irish Antiquities. To the S. of the Cathedral is St.
Kevin's Kitchen, or Church. The portion still standing, with
the exception of the bell-turret on the W. gable, which is later,

though the earliest of its kind, was St. Kevin's Cell. It still

preserves the steep-pitched stone roof, but the round-headed
doorway was made in the E. wall about 807, when the, now
destroyed, chancel was added. The small building that adjoined
the chancel is su}Dposed to have been the sacristy.

[Before proceeding to the other side of the stream, those who
wish to complete the round of the churches will find what is left

of Trinity Church, on the right hand of the road to Laragh,
about J m. from the Hotel.]

We now cross the stream and ascend it by the cart-track through
the woodland, the view of the glen ahead increasing in grandeur.
About 200 yds. from where we strike this track, on the left, is the
Deer Stone, " into which the deer milked themselves, in the
famine-time."

The Lower Lake, which is soon reached, is a rather featureless

pool about 400 yds. long by 200 yds. wide. Beyond it, some
300 yds., is the Giant's Cut, a cleft in the wooded steep on our left.

Approaching the Upper Lake we observe 3 stone crosses on the
strath at its foot. When a small stream is reached it is worth
while ascending to the Pollanass Waterfall, pretty though small.
Returning from it and crossing the stream we arrive at the Inn,
which is in great request with excursionists. Following the lane
beyond it, a few yards bring us to Reefert Church or Boya I

Cemetery Church, the remains of which are well kept, as marking
not only King O'Toole's burial place but the site of St. Kevin's
first monastery (see History, jj. 30). Beyond this the lane soon
comes to an end, but a more or less perilous path above the lake
can be followed some distance further. Teampul-na-Skellig^
is on the edge of the cliff, about a third of the way up the lake.
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Eeturning to the Inn and descending to the mouth of the stream
we find that competition reduces the charge for a boat to a very
moderate figure. The view of the Upper Ziake (nearly a mile
long but less than J m. wide) from this point is exceedingly fine,

the mountains rising abruptly on both sides and at its head, where
the Gleneolo stream is seen tumbling over rocky debris into it.

As we have already intimated, a summer's evening is the time to

appreciate this scene. Owing to the lake being shut in on all

sides but the E. it owes much of its grandeur to the deep shadow
in which it then lies, whereas in the morning the sun shines right

up it. At any time, however, the beauty of the spot is un-
questionable. The great point with tourists is St. Kevin's Bed,
a tiny cave, rather awkward to reach, in the cliff overhanging the
S. side of the lake about J mile from the strand. This, as we
have said, was the saint's retreat invaded by Kathleen, and the
boatman after helping the visitor to enter it, will point out the
memento of "Sir" Walter Scott's visit to the cave in 1825, in

company with Lockhart, his son-in-law and biographer.

Eeturning as we came and following the path down stream, the
map will guide us to St. Kevin^s Well and on to St. Saviour's
Ctaurcb, also known as the monastery. This has been almost
rebuilt by the Board of Works.

Ascent of Tlionelagee (2634 /r.). Tliis mountain, second only to

Lngnaquillia in the Wicklow group, is on the N. side of the col, known as

Wicklow Gap, at the head of Glendasan. From Glendalongh we take the road
up this glen, past the Lugganamon lead mines (abt, 2 m.), and then see Thonelagee
right aliead. the road for the next mile making straight for it. Lough Naha-
naghan, which feeds the Glendasan stream, is under the rocky escarpment on
the left a mile or so above the mine, but is not seen from the road. About
4^ m. from Glemialough, a little short of the Gap, we strike up the mountain
side, N.E.. and the top is within J hr. The ascent is in places wet, but presents
no difficulty. The view is a wide one but rather desolate. The conical peak
due S. is Mullacoe (2176 ft.), Ijing between the upper lake of Glendalongh and
Glenmalure. both of which are too deep-set to be seen. To the right of Mul-
lacoe, and further off, the less pronounced summit, overtopping intervening
hills, is Lugnaquillia (3039./?.) Lough Nahanaghan, already mentioned, is now
commanded, while under the rocky escarpment on the N. of our standpoint is

the little Lough Ouler. N.N.W. winds the " military road," and N.W. is the
round summit of Douce Mountain (2384/?.), with Kippure (2473 ft.) further

off, nearly due N. above nearer heights of almost equal altitude. To the E. is

the range of hills in which the Devil's Glen is a distinct cleft.

There is no satisfactory alternative route back to Glendalongh, but by de-

scending S. we can strike the road somewhat lower down the valley than where
we quitted it.

The road over Wicklow Gap leads -pstst Hoh/uood (14 /n, from Glendalough)
to Ballymore Exstace, 17^ m. direct ; or abt. 19 ;«. by Pollapliuca, Falls

of the Liffey. In this case the rail can be joined at Harristown Sta., on the

Baltinglass Branch , 2^ m. E. of Ballymore Eustiice . This route is described the

reverse way, j^ 50. Another route via Blessington is given p. 15.

Glendalougrh to Glenmalure (Drumgoff Bridge 7 m., fair

Inn) and ascent of IiugrnaqullUa.

This excursion into Glenmalure, a fine wild glen too little

known to tourists, is to be recommended. The ascent of Lugna-
quillia {see p, 33) is, we venture to think, hardly worth the grind.
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The view it commands is of course very wide, because it is the

apex of Ireland, outside Co. Kerry, but the surroundings of the

mountain are distinctly dull in colour and outline ; moreover a

clear distant view in summer is comparatively rare. The interest

of the mountain centres in its corries, especially the one on the S.

in which the Eiver Ow rises.

The road from Glendalough to Drumgoft' diverges from the
Rathdrum road about J m. beyond Derrybawn Bridge, i.e. about
2 m. from Glendalough (1| m. to point of divergence by footpath

on the S. side of the stream via Derrybawn House). Turning to

the right up the hill we have only to follow the road—the "military
road "—as it winds round the hill-sides. Mistake is impossible,

and the views are sufficient reward for a good deal of collar work.
As we descend from the summit-level, 5 )ii. from Glendalough, the
Ballyboy stream keeps us company, and on the right at f;he head
of the main stream is Mullacor (2,176 /f.), the conical summit
noted from Thonelagee (jj. 32).

Sruxngoff (Inn), on the Avonbeg River, is at the foot of Glen-
malure, a straight glen 4 m. long and about ^ m. wide. At the
close of the glacial period one of the Lugnaquillia glaciers,

descending by the Clohernagh valley appears to have blocked the
end of the glen with moraine matter, and so formed a lake of

which the terraced sides of the glen are an indication. The river

at length cut through the barrier and the lake was drained. It was
in Glenmalure that Grey's forces suffered a serious check in 1580.

riUg:iiaq.itillia (3,039 //.). "The ascent direct from GleiKlalougli over

Lngduff , round tlie head of Glcumalure and up by Kelly's Lough, is perhaps the

finest walk in Wicklow." This ascent is the best ; if Drumgoflf be the starting-

point substituting Clohernagh ( 1,601 ft. ), due W. of the Inn, for Lugduflf

.

"The prisms," the granite corries under Lugnaquillia, are well seen as the

summit is attacked from the E. this way. The rtesceiit, S., by the E. flank

of the great corrie, in which the Ow River rises, ti) the Baltinglass-Drumgoff road

at Aghavannagh Barracks is simple.

Drumg-oif to Rathdrum, 7 m. The road descends the east

bank of the Avonbeg to (3J m.) Greenan (map), beyond which
we ascend the hill and keep to the road, which leads to the
centre of the village (Inn), 2). 29.

Drumg-off to " IVIeeting- of the "Waters," 7f m. ; "Wooden
Brldg-e, 12 in. This is a good route. Take the Rathdrum road
(abore) to Greenan Bridge, and thence continue down stream by
the road on the right bank to BdUinaclash Bridge, 5| ?,'.'.; cross it

and follow the road down the left bank which joins that from
Rathdrum about ^ m. short of Meeting's Bridge, see'p. 34.

Srumgoif to Baltinglass Station, 20 m. We do not
recommend this as a tourist route. The first 8 miles are wild and
mountainous, and from Aghavannagh Barracks (5 m.) where the

Ireland II. D
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Ow River is crossed, the great southern combe descending from
Lugnaquillia is fine, but once out of the mountains the road is

monotonous. There is a small hotel at Aghavannagh. Keep to the
road which in the main has a W. direction, through Eathdangan
(11 m., Pub. Ho.) to cross-roads (13-| m.) at the entrance lodge of

Humewood. Here you have a choice of routes. Taking the road
on the left of the lodge and skirting Humewood you reach, in l^iu.

from the turn, the trim little village of Kiltegan (small Inn). The
road in front of the inn leads, by Fortgranite Bridge, direct to

Baltingiass, 5^ m.
If, however, you take the road on the right of the lodge you will

save a long mile, but have no chance of passing refreshment.

In this case the road bears down to the right at Talbotstown, and
just below it you take the left-hand road, and at a fork, | in.

onward, turn to the left to the junction, 500 yards, with the Kil-

tegan road described above. At the junction you keep to the
right, and about ^ m. beyond the Workhouse turn sharply to the

left, and then in 300 yards to the right, entering Baltingiass

{p. 50), past a new R. C. Church. The station is a long ^ m.
further, turning to the right beyond the bridge over the Slaney.

Ratlidrniu to tlie "Meeting: oftlie \%''aters," 8^111., and «loM'ii
tlie Vale ot* Ovoca» (Hotel p. 35) to Wooden Bi'idge, 7^ in. toy
road.

Remarks. This is a delightful drive or walk, and an easy cycling course. The
traveller who is pressed for time can get the fine view down the Vale from the
^•op of the road a little beyond Avondale—say 2;^ from Eathdrum Station. The
cUtour to Castle Howard and Connary Hill (Motto Stone), which we recommend,
should not be attempteil by cyclists, wlio can leave their machines at the point

of divergence from the through route as indicated below. The " Meeting of the
Waters" is usually fixed at tlie confluence of the Avonmore and Avonbeg, at

Meeting's Bridge, and is locally known as " 1st Meeting," but the junction of

their united streams, that is of the Ovoca River, with the Aughrim River at

Wooden Bridge is a rival " 2nd Meeting." Moore tells us that his melody, which
has given a somewhat factitious importance to tlie actual confiuences, in them-
selves of no particular beauty, was written " at neither place, though I believe

the scene under Castle Howard was the one that suggested it to me." Most
persons will, we think, agree that the Wooden Bridge scene, which is a meeting
of valleys,—the streams form an inconsiderable part of the picture—is the more
beautiful of tlie two.

Route. Wlieu up the hill from K-atlidruni Station (Grand Central

Hotel ; p. 29) we turn to the left, and in \\ ni. pass Aco)ulaIe (the home of the

late 0. S. Parnell, M.P. ), and \ m. onward bear to tlie left and in lUU yards to the

right. The brow of the hill just beyond this commands the Vale, a lovely vista,

with Castle Howard, " beautiful for situation," on its left under Connary Hill, at

once recognisable by the huge boulder, the Motto Stone, on its suuunit. As we
descend, Kingstown House is passed, left, and about a mile further, near the foot

of tlie hill a road joins ours, coming in on the left.

I>etonr to Castle Howai*<l and Connary Hill (Motto
Stone). Castle Howard, the fine seat of Colonel Howard Brooke, can
only be visited by favour, but we have never heard of the courteoiis

traveller being denied. The shortest way to Connary Hill is up the

demesne, past the house, but the Hill can also be reached by a public road

as described p. 35.

* We adopt tne spelling of the Ordnance, Postal, and Railway authorities.

Moore used Avoca.
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On reaching the junction of roads above mentioned we turn to the left,

cross the Avonmore by Lion's Bridge, and follow the road to the entrance
to Castle Ho-ward. A steep avenue leads up to the House, from
which there is a superb view of the Meeting of tlie Waters, with Glen-
malure and Lugnaquillia in the distance. Beyond the house a lane leads

up to the public road.

If Castle Howard is not visited then the public way to Coiiiiary Hill
- 816 //. and the apex of the Cronbane ridge is as follows : Prom Lion's
Bridge continue past the entrance of Castle Howard and follow tlie steep

rough road round the back of the demesne, and thence to the top about
half-an-liour. On the summit is the Motto Stone, as it is named on the
6-inch oi-dnance map. It is a grey granite boulder, about 14.//. by 9/7. by
10 ft. high, ice-borne to its resting-place on this Lower Silurian ridge
during the glacial period when Lugnaquillia and its fellows were snow-
clad and a great glacier filled tlie Vale and overspi-ead this Cronbaue
riilge. The VioAV is the best possible of the Wicklow summits

:

N. the cone of the Sugarloaf, Douce, and Kippure ; N.W., Table
Mountain, and nearer the great cleft of Grlenmalure ani to left of it

Lugnaquillia. Away to S.W. is Mount Leinster. The Vale of Ovoca can
be traced to AVooden Bridge, but little of it is actually seen except the
Meeting of tlie Waters, with Castle Howard on its verge. To the E. is the
sea, but in this direction the view is tame. The return route is by the
outward one.

For Meeting:'* Bridge, at the confluence, we keep to the right down
hill. Prom this point the I'oad descends (Vale View Hotel, abt. J m. from the
bridge) tlie Tf^/f' o/ (>('(>(•«, a paradise of woodland, but with the stream spoilt

by the copper-mines' refuse. In 1 J m. from Meeting's Bridge the Bulhj-
murtagh Mines are on the right and no eyesore. Abt. f m. beyond them at
Ovoca Station a fine bridge spans the river and gives its name, Netchiidge, to
the village. Our road, however, keeps to the W. bank and only touches the
stream at intervals. On the left across the valley is seen one church, and we
pass another on this side. Hereabouts, at Ovoca, the valley is not, perhaps,
quite as fine as higher up, but the last mile before reaching Wooden Bridge
is as good as can be. Hunter's Hotel (/>. 35) is just round the bend of the road,
on the I'ight,

Railway contirmed from p. 29. After passing through a short
tunnel beyond Eathdrum we get pretty jaeeps of the valley,

which is very beautiful, on the right, as we pass Avondale (late C.

S. Parnell, 'M,P.). Beyond the next tunnel a mine rope, over
the hill on the left, tells of the Cronbane Mines (copper) which,
when in active working, mar the beauty of the stream lower
down. Then we get a lovely glen and the Lioii's Bridge, on the
right. The actual " Meeting of the Waters," which is only ^ m.
below the bridge, is not seen from the train. We next pass, on
the right, the ugly Mines of Balhjmnrtafjh (copper). At Ovoca
(43 m.) the valley, though still beautiful, is less rich than N.
and S. of it. Here the river is crossed by a fine (road) bridge,

whence the name of the village, Newbridge. On the left we see

a church and, beyond, another over the trees on the right. Then
the glen becomes once more a perfect silvan picture as you near
Wooden Bridge {rail continued p. 36).

"Wooden Bridg-e (45 w., junction for the Shillelagh branch;
Hunter's Hotel, 100 yds, W, of the station ; supper, bed, breakfast,

and attend,, 8s, Qd. to lO.s,).

From the road opposite the hotel a good general view is obtained
of this justly admired spot. In front is the bridge, no longer of

wood, which gives it its name. Across this rises the richly clad
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height of Kilcarra, On our left is the equally well-wooded OvoOa
valley, and beyond it the demesne of Ballyarthur. To the right

of Kilcarra hill is the junction of the Gold Mines glen with the
valley of the Aughrim river. There is only a small hamlet, with
a little shop or two, on our right a few hundred yards off. Shel-

tered as Wooden Bridge is, it puts on its spring livery compara-
tively early, and is then delightful, though the time to see it in

full array is late in the autumn when it is aglow with tints. To
call it " the Balmoral of Ireland, " as some have done, is utterly

to mislead the expectant traveller. The two scenes have no
resemblance, and it is no comjiliment to Wooden Bridge.

Of -ivalks or rtrives in the imnieiliate neighbourliood it mififlit almost
sutRce to say, go where 3011 will you cannot go wrong or fail to fin<l fresh scenes
of quiet loveliness, (i) One of tlie pleasantest is up (he Ovoca to Newbridge and,
grossing the river there, into Z>V(Z/i/a/-f//j/7'y'a/->t (hitherto open to visitors) which
is very beautiful and borders the left bank for a long distance.

(ii) Anotlier pleasant one is up the Anghfini valley, for which the branch line

is a/ailable. Tlie road follows the stream and is prettily wooded. At Coats
Bridge (3 m.) it crosses to the right bank, and 1^ m. further at Aughrim Station

we can re-cross to Augliriin {see Branch line, below).

(iii) UptheOold Mines valley. Cro3S the bridge opposite tlie hotel, turn
to the riglit and then to tlie loft up the right (east) bank of the stream and ascend
by it at discretion. The road in abt. 1^ ;« turns S. uj) a tributary glen and is

still well wooded. In this way we might keep on till abt. 4 m. from Wooden
Bridge the open ground is reached and then make for tlie summit of Croghan
Kinshela (1987 /f.), retnirning thence by the old Gold AHiwh. In 1796 native
S:ol<l was discovered aocidentollf in the Btiilinvalley streams at Croghan
Kinshela, and the counrtry peopie, neglecting the land, were occupied in col-

lecting it for nearly six weeks, vrhen operations irefe oorameneed under direc-

tion of the GrovenMiwi**. Worli^, tiiWi establifliaeQ^ itnna in ujjoratioii until

destroyed iluring the Rebellion of 1798. In 1801 the working was resumed, but
as no gold was found in the solid strata, and the alluvial deposits did not afford

a return sufficient to defray expenses, the undertaking was abandoned. The gold
occurred in grains from tlie smallest size, and in lumps of considerable weight

;

one piece weighed 22 oz., another 18 oz., a third 9 oz., and a fourth 7 oz. Total
value of gold (native and ingot) £3,675.

(iv) Wooden Bridge to Drwngoff and ^'ven Churches described the reverse

way, pp. 33, 34.

'Wooden Bridgre to Augrhrim, 4J /«., Tinahely, 12 w.,

Sliillelag°li, 16J»/. by rail. This branch line runs through pretty

scenery and ascends the Aughrim valley to iLugrhrim {Meath
Arms; Latcless's), a small town |^ //<. below the junction of the

River Ow with the Deny Water, which, united, form the Aughrim
River. From the station we cross the river, and on reaching

the town if we turn left, J m. will bring us to Eoddemigh Bridge,

on the Ow, here beautifullj' wooded.

Aughrim is a good starting point for Drumgofl" and Seven Churches. There is

a choice of roails, (botli interesting), as far as Drumgoff ; (a) up the Ow valley

to Aghuviiiuiagh Bridge (7 m. ; p. 34), under Lugnaquillia, and then turning
to the right to Drumgoff {\2 m ; p. 33), or (&) by Macreddin (2| m.) to Greenan
Bridge (6 m.

; p. 33) on the Avonbeg. This way it is 9j m. to Drwncjoff'.

The line onward is particularly pretty at the junction, right, of

the Ow and Derry Water, and it continues up the valley of the

latter to Ballinglen (9 m.), thence crossing the watershed to the
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Greenisland tributary of the Slaney. Tinahely (12 m. ; small hotel)

a mile north of its station, is a pleasantly situated little town
but devoid of objects of interest. The railway descends the

Greenisland valley and soon becomes wooded as it skirts, left,

tjoolattin Park (Earl FitzwilHam) to Shillelagrh (16J m.), the

terminus of the branch, whose only claim to notice is that its once
famous oak forest gave its name to Paddy's stick.

By road from Shillelagh to Tullo-*v (p. 51), 9^ m. : to CarloAV (p. 51)

19 m.

Mnin-Une, continued from p. 29. Road, rail, and river keep
company to Arklow. Just beyond the railway bridge, over the

Aughrim River, the confluence with the Ovoca is on the left. The
silvan character of the valley continues, and from the road look-

ing back is Cushbawn (1318 /it.). Then, on the left we see the fine

mansion and park (open to visitors) of Shelton Abbey (Countess of

Wicklow), and on the right, but not seen, is Glenart Castle
(Lord Carysfort), another beautiful demesne, ilrklow (44 vi.

;

Hotels: Railway, Hoyne^s) is a rather poor town of about
5,000 inhab., near the mouth of the Ovoca, which forms a
small port. It and the coast on either hand are infested with
sand-dunes.
The railway again strikes inland, through commonpiace country,

and passes three small stations to Perns (70 m.), an episcopal

village of about 500 inhab., with the ruins of a castle (seen on
the hill, right of the line), some fragments of an Augustiuian
monastery (in the R.C. bishop's grounds, which are open to the
public) and a modern cathedral, quite uninteresting. The only
importance of the place for the tourist is that it is the nearest
station for Newtown Barry.

Ferns to Weivtowii Barry, 9 m. by rofi'l. Thence abt. 14^ m., by moun-
tain road, to Borris S(<(. This route, compai'atively little known to tourists, is

well worth taking as, apart from the ascent of Mt. Leinstcr for wliich Newtown
is the only good starting point, the road to Newtown affords a good view of the
mountains, and onward to Borris lies througli the heart of them. [The usual
driving road from Newtown, by Kiltealy and SaiUogve Oap to Borris, is 17 m.
and affords fine views.] From Ferns village we proceed N.W. to Tomb?-(ick,

2 VI. , cross the tributary valley beyond and then the hill between it and the
Slaney valley, getting a good view of the mountains to the W. About 4 J in.

from Ferns we join the road up tlie Slaney, from Enniscorthy to Newtown,
and at Cfohnmon (7 m.) cross tlie Itridge and ascend by the right bank, 2 m.
on to Newto'ivii Barry (Hotel : Kiiu/.s Arms). Tlie neat little town, pop.
aljt. 900, is finely situated above the Slaney, that is here joined l)y the Clody
which descends; from Mt. Leinster. Immediately West rises Mt. iirrimoge

(1399/^) v\-orth ascending for the fine view of the Slaney valley and the Mt.
Leinster group. The Slaney is crossed by a bridge of 7 arches, and on the E.
bank is Netrioicn Barry House (R. W. Hall-Dare, Esq.).

5fe-wto-*vi» Barry to Borris {a) best drivijig road {via Kiltealy, l\m ;

Scullogue Gap, 8| m. ; Ballymurpliy 13 m.), 17^ m. (b) best pedestrian road (vid
Corrabut Gap, 5^ ??; ; Ninestones, 7^ »>,), abt. 14^ ni. The latter route is also
tlie one for best A»«ceiit of Mt. I-einster. Road (a) is interesting, and at
tSculloijue Gap passes between Kn> ckroe (174Gyir.), a S. buttress of Mt. Leinster
on the right, and a spur (1804 ft.) of Black Stairs (2409 /ir.) on the left. Road
(b) is a fine walk, whether or not Mt. Leinster be ascended. Cross the bridge



over the Glody, and at a diyergence of roads beyond it turn to the left. Keep
to that road, liaving Greenoge (1399/<.) on N. and Black Rock (1972 /<.) on S.,

past Kelly's Quarter, 4 m., to Corrabiit Gap, 5| m., between Kilbrannish (1499/^.)
on N. and Mt. Leiuster on S. [One might drive that far and economise time
and energy for Mt. Leinster.] Here take mountain road on left, just short of
the summit of tlie pass and follow it for 2 m. to Mne/stoiies.

[lit. Ijeiiistei' (2610 /^). At Ninestones a track on the left of the road
may be used for about a mile in attacking the ridge and, when this is done
with, the direction is nearly due S. There is no difficulty, but it is a stiff

climb, and will take about 1^ hr.s. from Ninestones. The view from the
summit is fine and very extensive. N. E. we look riglit down the Clody
valley to Newtown Barry between the flanking heights already mentioned.
To tlie S. rises the rival heiglit, Black Stairs (2409 ./ir.). To the W. we com-
mand the valley of tlie Barrow. The descent may be made nearly due S. to

road (a) W. of ScuUogue Gap, see aboce, in abt. 1^ hrs. About J /ir. South
from the summit wc reach the head of the Aughnabrisky valley. Leaving
that on our left, a track, descending S., will enable us to strike the road at
8 m. from Borris. ]

From Ninestones we descend in l.| m. past Mount Leinster Lodge, left, and
avoiding turns on either hand join the Enniscorthy and Kilkenny road in 2 in.

further. Following it W. for about ^ ?«. we turn to the left for Boi'x*i!^,

another 2 m. (^). 39). Besides tlie afternoon train in eacli direction there has
hitherto been an evening mail-car to Kilkenny (17 m., 2is. Qd.).

From Ferns the line continues down the valley of the Bann for

abt. 4 m., to its Junction with the main valley of the Slaney which
is followed all the way to Wexford.

Enniscorthy (78 m. ; Hotel : ForUmouth Arms), a pleasantly

situated and busy town of 5,648 inhabitants, on the Slaney. Its

chief objects of interest are all in sight from the railway. These
are the Castle, an Anglo-Norman keep with round towers ; the

K.C. Church, a large cruciform building with a good spire ; and
the bridge over the river which is navigable hence to Wexford.
Close to the town, S.E., is Vinegar Hill {3Sd ft.), surmounted
by a tower, also seen from the line on the left, beyond the

station. It is famous for the overthrow of the rebels by General
Lake, June 21, 1798. The large building on the left bank of the

river is the Lunatic Asylum.

Kiiiii^eortliy to iSfe/wto^vii Barry, 13^ m. by road on either bank of

the Slaney. The two roads are connected by Scai-awalsh Bridge, 4 m., Bully-
carney Bridge 6^m., and Clohamoii Bridge, 11 J /u. For Newtown Barry see 2). 37.

The rail now keeps close to the Slaney on its right bank and,
after crossing the Boro, we see across the former river the single

tower, known as Black Castle, the relic of a Franciscan monastery
whose estates were leased to Spenser, the poet. Edermine (Sir J.

T. Power, Bart.) is on the same side near Edermine Ferry Station

(81 )ji.), and then comes Macmine Junction (83 m. ; Ref. Em.),
where the Waterford line diverges westward—for continuation to

Wexford see p. 39. Falace East (93f) is only a junction with

G.S. & W. E., heloio. The chief feature onward is Wew Ross
(102 ; jj. 47), well seen across the Barrow. For "Waterford
(116 m.), see p. 41.

Palace East to Borris, 12§ ; Bag-nalstown, 20f ;

Kilkenny, S5h m. Onward from BaUywilVuun, fine views,

right, of BlacksM^airs (2,409 /«.) and Mt. Leinster (2,610 /«.).
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Sorrls ((Commercial Hotel; evening mail-car for Kilkenny 6.30; 17m.,
2^ hrs., 2s.) is a delightful village on the E. bank of the Barrow, adjoin-
ing Borris House (W. M. Kavanagli, Esq.). It is the W. end of the fine
roMte (p. 37) through the Mt. Leinster group to Newtown Barr\-.

Ascending the valley of the Barrow the only object calling for notice is, on
the left, the ruin of Ballyloughan Castle, a square keep with round towers. At
Bag-nalstotvn (WnnVs Hot"!, a good inn, 7 min. from station ; lm.% or ca?)
there is nothing to see except the elegant church spire, but the non-fitting of
trains to Kilkenny may afford time for refreshment. For Kilk.eniiy, see p. 52.

The line from Macmine Junction to Wexford follows the left

bank of the tidal Slaney, passes the village of KiUurin
(86 m.), and alongside the estuary reaches "Wexford (93 m.

;

Hotel: White's; 'bus; pop. abt. 11,000), on a hill overlooking
the Harbour, abt. 5 m. from the open sea. The place is old
fashioned, and as a port is inconsiderable {weekly steamers to and
from Bristol, single fare 15s.; to and from Liverpool, 12s. 6c?., 6.s.

;

return cabin 18s.). A branch line, 8J ?»., connects it with Bosslare
Harbour, formed by a breakwater, on St. George's Channel. The
objects of interest for the tourist are the remains of the forti-

fications, consisting of portions of wall and some towers ; the ruins
of Selskar Priory, founded in the 12th cent, at the W. end of the
town, adjoining the Protestant Church. The B.C. Church (by
Pugin), a fine building connected with St. Peter's College on
Summer Hill above the town. Lemuel Cox's bridge is now re-

presented only by its stone part. A new bridge has been built less

than ^ m. higher up the river.

Wexford was founded by the Danes in the 9th cent., and was held by them
down to 1169, when it was taken by united forces of Eobert Fitzsteplieu and
Dermot M'Murrogh, king of Leinster. The latter had been expelled from his
dominions and sought help from Henry II. to recover them, see Waferford,
p. 41. This, the beginning of the English rule in Ireland, lends its interest
to Bannow, p. 46. The inhabitants of Bargy and Forth, the two l)aronies be-
tween Wexford and the S. coast, are the descendants of Pembrokeshire settlers
who then came over.

"Wexford to I^arty's Islaii«l X<ake (Broadway). Choice of routes,
(i) by direct road (via Killinick, 6 /».) to Broadway, 10 m.; (ii) by
mail-car road (eid Killinick and Tagoat, 9 m.) to Broadway, 11^ m. The
mail-car leaves Wexford P.O. abt. 6 am. and goes on to Churchtown, a village
3 m. beyond Broadway on the coast. It starts back from Cliurchtown about
4.20 p.m. Wc leave Fortli Mountain (776 /if,, some way to the W., and at Killi-
nick (5 m.) are at the head of a large tract of Wexfonl Haven reclaimed
from the sea. Passing to the loft of KilHnick Clinrch, the Tagoat road diverges
on tlic left. For the direct road we keep to the right, and avoiding roads right
and left further on, proceed nearly due S.E. to Bionduay (9 m.) which is only
a trifling distance from the Iiead of Lady's Island Lake, Avhich is salt and con-
nected with the sea abt 2 m. W. of Carnsore Point. Its length is nearly 3 miles,
and besides the promontory, known as Laily's Island, there are one or two
islets. The ruins consist of a keep, 13th cent. ; a tower ; and the remains of a
monastery, all close together on the isthmus.

IrVexford to Rosslare Harbour, 9 m. in about 40 min. by train.
This line has little interest for the tourist, but sliortly, wlien Fishguard (or
rather Croodwick) Harbour is completed it will be a link in the new O.W.R.
and G.S. & W.R. through route.
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LONDON TO NEW MILFORD AND WATERFORD.
(By the Great Western Bailway.)

Express train from Paddington on weekdaj's at 4.30 p.m. in connection wiih
steamer from Neiv Milford {South Wales Hotel near station). Average
passage 6^ hrs. (4 hrs. on open sea). Keturn Tourist Tickets between London
and Waterford, 765., 52*., 335. 6(Z. ; the last is by fore cabin on steamer. Saloon
55. extra each way, paj'able on board. At New Milford a covered way leads to

the steamer. At Waterford the landing place (Adelphi Wharf) is abt. 3 min.
walk from tlie principal hotels, but on the return voyage the steamer starts

from North Wharf, close by the Joint Station, at 8.30 p.m. Omnibuses and cars

meet the steamers—st'e opiwsite page.

Eemarks. This is an admirable route. The steamers belong

to the G.W.R. and are comfortable sea-boats, while for qualmish
people the open-sea transit, though 2 hrs, longer than on the

Holyhead route, is often less trying, since the run down the

landlocked waters of Milford Haven may find them asleep, to

awake only on entering the calm reaches of Waterford Harbour.
Milford Haven, except on moonlight nights, will only show its

many fishing-boat lights and the light-houses on Great Castle

Head and St. Ann's Head, both on the right hand. Then after

passing the Smalls L.H., left, the Tuscar L.H. soon appears on
the right-front.

The first land sighted is probably the Saltee Islands, on the right

of our course ; then, as we near the mainland, appears Hook Tower
(lighthouse) on Hook Head, the end of a long promontory, forming
the E. boundary of the entrance to Waterford Harbour. After

passing it, the village of Churchtown is on the right, while in a

break in the cliffs on the W. side is Dunmore (;j. 44). Beyond
this Creadan Head runs out from that shore. Beyond it, on the

E. side, we pass in succession Duncannon (i-?.45) with its little fort

and lighthouses perched on a projecting cliff, Dunbrody Park
(Lord Templemore), the villages of ArthurstoAvn and Ballyhack

(l). 45), while opposite is Passage (j). 45). Here the Harbour proper

ends, and we ascend the river. Buttermilk Castle, a small ruin,

appears on the E. shore, and then Dunbrody Abbey (p. 45) is con-

spicuous on the low ground, nearly a mile back from the river, on
that side. Next we reach the confluence of the Barrow and Sulr,

and our course turns S.E. up the latter, which all the way to

Waterford is very beautiful, especially on a summer's morning.
On the right is Snow Hill, one of the many seats of the Power
family ; on the left the wooded steep of Cheek Point. Then,
left, Faithlegg House and, right, Bellevue (both Power seats). Here
we take the channel on the N. of Little Island soon after passing

which Waterford appears. The steamer ends its voyage at the

quay on the left hand, just beyond and nearly opposite Cromwell's
Rock (p. 42).
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Approaclics : by sea from New Milford (p. 40) ; Bristol, Glasgow, Lirer-
pool, Pljmouth, Southampton, and London ; see j^. 2.

Railway ^tatioit8 : Wafet-ford (G.S. & W.R. and D.W. & W. joint), on
the N. bank of river, close to the bridge ; Tramoie—from Reginald's Tower go
up the Mall and its continuation, Parnell Street, and take the second turn to
the left, beyond St. John's Church.

Motels : Imperial and Adelphi, in the Mall, close to the Quay.
Gmnville, by the Clock Tower; Breen's, opposite the S. end of the l)ridge—

both 0)1 the Quay.

Post Office (on the Quay, a little to the left coming from the Mall) :

English mails del. 7 and 11.10 a.m. ; desp. 3.5, 6.15, and 9.20 p.m.

Car-fares : within the borough and not crossing the bridge. M. each
passenger. If the bridge is crossed then 6d. extja per car, which includes toll.

By time, I*. 6(7. first hour, and 6(/. each half-hour afterwards. Double fares be-
tween 10 p.m. and 8 a.m. Between hotels and Tramore Sta., Gd. ; W. & L. Sta.

(including. bridge), 1*. ; Dungarvan Sta., Is. ; inclusive of 42 lbs. of luggage.

Omnibuses from steamers or hotels to railway stations, 6(7.

Mail-cars, Pul>lic-cars or Steamers to and from Ballyhack, Dun-
cannon, Dunmore, Fetliard and New Ross.

I>is<aiice»^ : New Ross, 14; Glenmore, 8| ; Dunmore, 11^; Tramore, 7|

;

Kilmacthomas, 15| ; Oarrick-on-Suir, 17.

Waterford (pop. 27,947) presents its best face to the traveller

arriving by rail or river. Its noble waterway, the Suir, along
whose S. bank the city is built, and the lofty spire of the Protestant
Cathedral, conspicuous in all views, make up a pretty picture. On
nearer acquaintance it will be found that with the exception of the
Quay, a mile long, and the Mall, the street leaving the Quay at

Reginald's Tower, the place is composed of narrow dingy streets

showing everywhere manifold traces of departed prosperity. Even
on the Quay are only too many evidences of diminished trade,

though it is still one of the princiiDal out-ports for stock and pigs

and dairy produce, and business has improved of late years. The
objects of interest for the tourist are both few and unimportant,
a fact the more surprising seeing that the city has a history of at

least 1000 years.

Waterford was foumled by the Danes about 853, wlio fortified it, enclosing
a triangular area of about 15 acres, having its base on the Quay, its N.E. augle
being at ReginaWs Tower (;). 42). When Dermot M'iiurrogh, king of
Leiuster, was driven from his kingdom in 1167, he went to Henry II., under
whom he promise<l to hold his dominions if he would help him to regain them.
Under letters from Henry, M'Murrogh came to terms Avith Richard de Clare,
better known as "Strongbow," the main point in their agreement being that
Strongbow, now an impecunious widower above 50 years of age. should have
Eva, M'Murrogh's daughter to wife and be declared heir of Leinster. The com-
pact was kept. The earliest of the Anglo-Normans crossed to Wexford iu 1169.

Strongbow lauded at Waterford in 1170, took it, married Eva, and a few months
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later, on the death of M'Mvirrogh, succeeded to his principality and to a good
deal more which by Anglo-Norman prowess had been added to it. Henry II.,

jealous of his great subject, landed at Waterford, October 18, 1171, Strongbow
made his peace with him, and tlie king, after receiving tlie submission of the
Irish chiefs, left the island in 1172. The walls of Waterford were after this
extended. Owing to the preponderance of English adherents witliin the city

it never afterwards joined in rebellion, and Perkin Warbeck (1492) in vain be-
sieged it. A shot fired from his ships is embedded in Reginald's tower. The
town adhered to Charles I., and Cromwell, in 1649, failed to reduce it, but it had
to yield to Ireton in 1660. William III. occupied the place without serious re-

sistance July 21, 1690. Since then no great event has marked its history. Its

loj^alty to the Crown is said, however, to be no longer " intacta," thanks to
Nationalist propaganda.

At the corner of the Mall on the Quay is Ring or Reginald's

Tower, which was restored in 1819, but dates back to 1003,

when it formed the N.E. angle of the city walls (see small print

I?. 41), Other remains of the fortifications will be found close to

the Tramore Station. The (Church of Ireland) Cathedral behind
the Town Hall, in the Mall, occupies the site of the Danish
Cathedral built in 1096. It has a lofty spire was re-built in 1773,

and has (1891) been partially restored. The Church of St. Olaf, of

Danish foundation, is a.few yards N.W. of the Cathedral—both
hideous. The modern K.C. Cathedral in Baronstrand Street

(which leaves the Quay at the Clock Tower) is worth seeing.

From Beresford Street, follow John Street across the bridge.

There is a small PeopWs Park on the E. of the city, across

John's Pill, but being on low ground it commands no views.

"Walks and View-points. The short walk up the Quay and
across the Bridge, originally built by Lemuel Cox in 1793 and
745 ft. long, should be taken by everyone. For a good general

view of the city and its surroundings there are three view-points,

(i) Mount Misery. Cross the bridge to the Kilkenny side of the

river, turn left and proceed past the passenger station to the goods
station. Opposite the entrance cross the stile, ascend the rough
lane and turn to the right. It is hardly worth while going to the

top of the hill, as the view thence is no better than from the

hill-side, (ii) Cr'omwelVs Rock, on the Kilkenny shore nearly

opposite the landing place from the G. W. R. steamers. This can
be reached either by turning to the right when across the bridge

or by crossing the ferry from Tower Stairs close to the Adelphi
Hotel. The view is, perhaps, more pleasing than from Mount
Misery, (iii) GauVs Rock {p. 43).

(f^'tursion^ front i^ntcrforb.

Remarks. As Waterford is the point of arrival and departure of

many English tourists we here give one or two excursions which
would be equally or perhaps more easily made from New Ross.

When any of the following excursions can be readily combined we
indicate the way to effect this at the end of the separate de-

scriptions. For the best of the excursions, proper to Waterford,

two days would suffice.
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1. To Tramoreby rail, 7Jm. (Is. ; 8d. Ret. Is. 6rf. ; Is. No 2nd
class). The railway journey has no special features. The little

town {Grand Hotel, 5 min. from Sta. ; Marine, at the Sta.) is

much visited by Waterfordians for golf. The bathing is safe

just below the town, the sands are firm, and there is a con-

siderable choice of unpretentious lodgings. The E.G. Church
{the loftier of the two spires) is worth a visit. The town (pop.

abt. 1,850) occupies rising ground at the N.W. corner of Tramore
Bay, over which the view is very pleasing ; the country inland is

devoid of interest.

The best walk from Tramore (car abt. Is.M.) is to Great Newtou Head, 4 m.
there ami back. Ascend from the station towards the Church (Drumcannon)
on the S. outskirts. In the Churchyard, close to the road, is a monument to
the crew of the Seahorse (see below.) We need not, however, go as far as the
church, but take the cliff path, Doneraile Walk, which begins at a handgate on
the left just short of it. Tliis leads along the verge of the cliffs to the Cliff

Road which, at about 1^ m. from station, brings us to Newtown Cove, down
whicli the road descends steeply to the beach. If instead of descending we
keep on across the dip it is only a few minutes' ramble over the turf to
Ctreat ISfc^vto^vii Hea<l, crowned by three beacons, one of which is sur-
mounted by an iron figure 14 ft. high, known as the Metal Man, a beacon to
warn mariners not to mistake the bay for the entrance to Waterford harbour.
Under the headland is a large cave, and a path down the cliff enables one of its

mouths to be seen, but a boat is required to visit it. From the beacons the
point E. across the bay is Brownstown Head with two beacons. Westward is

Helvick Head and in the distance beyond it Mine Head and Ardmore Head.

In this direction it is a pleasant stroll of 1^ m. to Gurryrisk Strand and 1 m.
more to Ikane Strand with its offlying islet. A full 2 tn. W. of this is the little

village of An neaton- n. (Along the cliff's to Bnnmafion is about 5 ?«. and thence
to Kilniactliouiaa Station. 6 77i. more by road. ) Thence tlie return to Tramore may
be miide\>y JJnnfiill Castle (abt. 1 w.>, a ruin perclied on a rock witli the ruin of a
church hard by it. About 2^ m. N.E. from here is BaUiisanilan Lough, over-
looked by a fir-clad hill on tlie E. Tlie lake is abt. i m. long. Hence by lane
and cart-track, abt. l^m., and tlien 1^ m. by a dull road we re-enter Tramore
past the R. C. Church.

Eastward from Tramore is its strand, and above the beach we can ramble
along in view of the sea to the Bm-ro^vs. On the way we pass first the Life
Boat Station, and then a tomb (restored in 1881), commemorating the wreck of
the Seahorse, 30th January, 1816. On the fiat to the left is tlie racecourse. The
Burrows or Sandhills, abt. 100 ft. above high water-mark, divide the bay from
the Back Strand, a salt lagoon that lias been in part reclaimed from the sea.

Bathing from the beach along this part of the .coast is apt to be risky.

Traiuore to BroAviisto^vii Heatl aii«l Duiiiiiore, 11 m. Proceed
to the end of tlie Burrows and hail the ferry-boat. From the landing-place,
Lissolty, it is about 2 ni. to Brounstonn Head, with its two Beacons. It com-
mands a good coast view, the limit eastward being Hook Head (Lighthouse)
on the far side of the mouth of Waterford Harl)our. From Brownstown Head
to Dunmore is 5^ m. through the village of Ballymacaw. For Dunmore and
the cliff-walk from it westward, see p. 44.

2. To Dunmore, 11| m. byroad (car abt. 5.45 a.m. and 4 p.m.,
returning at 9 a.m and 5.45 p.m. Additional conveyances in

summer. Fare each way from Is.). Leaving the city by the
Passage road we pass, right, the Protestant Orphanage with GauVs
Rock, a good view-point, rising behind it. About 2^ m. further

we quit the Passage road and turn to the right. At 6|^ m. from
Waterford is the point of divergence of the old and new roads to
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Dunmore. The former crosses Carrickfadda Hill and should be
taken by the j)edestrian, who will save something in distance and
get a view of Waterford Harbour and of his destination. Driving,

we take the right hand or new road, and almost immediately have
on our right Belle Lake (Bally Lough), abt. ^ m. long. Just

before entering Dunmore a lower road leads direct to the shore
;

an upper one, which we follow, passes the church, right, and a

small Public Garden, left, on the way to the Hotel. Below this is

the harbour and pier (200 yds. long, with a lighthouse). Before
the days of steam, Dunmore was the packet-port from Milford, and
it is still a rendezvous for yachts. It is a pleasant, scattered,

little bathing-place of about 350 inhab., with villas and lodgings,

the latter in some request during the summer. S. of the Pier is

Black Knob with Merliii's Cave easily accessible. Kellifs Island^

joined to the mainland, helps to shelter the harbour.

I>uiiiiiore to Traiiiore, 11 ???. , by the coast. Ascend the cliff aufl follow
the path. In about f m. is IiUhop''s Hole, a funnel formed by the falling in of

tlie head of a sea-cave. It is aliout 100 ft. deep and protected by a wall. Fol-

lowing the clifll: top we reach, f ;«. further, the little harbour of PortnUy, and
1 m. more brings us to the i)romontory of iSwme Head and the off-lying Falskirt
Rock. Tlicnce it is IJ 7n. to the village of Bnllytnaanr. For the rest of the
route to Tramorc, see " Tramore to Dunmore," p. 43.

Diiiiiitorc to Creadaii Head, abt. 3 in. from the Hotel, hy the cliffs.

The Head is a promontory, nearly a mile long, projecting into Waterford
Harbour. At its extremity, on the N. side, some steps lead down to the
entrance of a cave, which can only be entered by boat. The rond from Dun-
more goes through Killea.

3. To Checkpoint Hill (434 ft.), abt. G^ m. This good view-

point is on the Waterford side of the river, near the confluence of

the Suir and Barrow. Follow the road to Passage for abt. 4 m.,

then take the old road— f.t\, turn down, right, and go under new
road—which ascends steeply, and (5 m. from Waterford) passes,

left, the entrance to Faithlegg Park. About a mile beyond,
when the river comes into view, leave the road on the left-

hand side, and ascend the hill, 10 min. walk to summit, marked
by blocks of conglomerate. View: W., Waterford Cathedral
spire, and in the distance the Comeragh range. To the right of

the latter SUevenaman ; to the N.W. is Tory Hill; N.E. Slieve

Coiltia (double topped), and in distance Mt. Leinster and Black-

stairs. To the E. is Forth Mtn., near Wexford ; S.E. Dun-
cannon, and more to the S. Creadan Head and Hook Lighthouse.

At our feet is the steeply bounded Suir, but the Barrow is not

seen from the summit. It comes into view from the N. end of

the hill, and on the low ground is seen Dunbrody Abbey (below).

The village of Gheekpoint is without attractions, but from it a

boat might be taken to the Abbey if the tide served. From
Gheekpoint to Passagre (below) by the rough clifi' road is abt. 2 vi.

The driving road makes a detour inland.

4. To Bunbrody Abbey ; abt. Sm. from Ballyhack, 9J m. from
New Ross, by road. The Abbey being situated on a tidal pill, with

muddy banks, the trip by boat from Waterford is best made as
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follows : leave Waterford a little before low water, enter the Pill

with the tide, and land about | m. from the Abbey. The 3 p.m.
Duncannon steamer, from Waterford to Ballyhack, for the out-

ward journey, and the 6.10 p.m. mail-car back from Passage

(7 m., 9d.), alford opportunity for a tiyiug visit, if a car, to the
ruins and back, be taken at Ballyhack (see below).

By land Dunbrody is easily reached from Waterford as follows.

Take car (7 m.) to Passage (2 Inns), a small town of about
GOO inhab., on the Waterford side of the river, at the head of the
Harbour. Here a spit, bare at low water, has at its E. end a spider-

legged lighthouse. From Passage take the Ferry (l|d.) to Bally-
hack (Inn), a fishing village, on the Wexford side, and proceed
N. by the New Eoss road to the Abbey, which is on the left, just

short of the Pill ; abt. 5J m. there and back from Ballyhack.

Dunbrody Abbey was founded in the 12th cent, for Cistercians.

Its situation is rather desolate, but the ruins are among the finest

of their kind, not only in Wexford, but Ireland. The church is

cruciform, with a central tower, and the E. window is a lancet
triplet of grand proportions. A considerable portion at the W.
end fell about 1855, but more recently some care has been taken
to arrest further decay. The chevron mouldings of the pointed
nave arcades should be noticed. Stairs at N.Y/. of crossing lead
to the central turret—fair view. Buttermilk Castle, a tower on a
rock overlooking the river, and already noticed in arriving at

Waterford, by sea, is supposed " to have been used by the monks
for the protection of the fishery, which they enjoyed in this

portion of the estuary."

—

W. F. W.
The retmn to Waterford might be made by Ballinlaui Ferry,

4 m., the road from which in 3 m. joins the New Ross road, abt.

IJ m. short of the Adelphi ferry at Waterford.
The traveller bound for Duncannon, &g., see next excursion,

can proceed from the Abbey, 5 m. direct, by the left hand road,

^ m. S. of the ruins.

5. To Ballyhack (for Tintern Abbey, dl/n., or Clonmines,9 w.),

Duncannon and Pethard (for Bannow, 2 m. and then by ferry-

boat).

9I<'anM of access : Steamer (weekdays), Waterford to Duucauuou, 3 p.m.),
returiiiiig at 8.30 a.m. A Fetliard car meets both steamers. Mail-car from
Waterford morning and afternoon to Passage, 9^/, ; tlience ferry to Ballyliack,
and on by mail-car through Duncannon to Fethard. Return cars leave Fethard
morning and afternoon (Waterford and Fethard, each way, l.v.)

For Passage and BallyhacJx, seeExc. 4. From Ballyhack to
Duncannon is 3 ?«. ; the road passes through Arthurstoicn, 1 m.,
and, turning to the right beyond the village, skirts Dunbrody Park
(Lord Templemore), which can be visited—apply to the agent in
Arthurstown. Buncannon (Inn) is a village on the Wexford
side of the haven, and on the projecting clilf is a small fort.

The place was seized on by Raymond le (iros, who landed a
little in advance of Strongbow and fortified it. Since then it



46 RIVER BARROW.

has of course been reconstructed, but it still forms one of the

defences of Waterford as its guns command the deep water

channel close below. A good many excursionists and a few

summer visitors consider it a watering-place. From Duncannon
to Fetliard (Inn) is 5J m. This healthy spot is nearly a mile

from the sea, but attracts summer visitors. The apocryphal
" buried city" of Bannow can be visited by walking 2 m. to the

end of the spit projecting into Bannow Bay and thence crossing

by boat. The old church and graveyard are all that is left, but

these do not favour the popular tradition. Another walk from
Fethard is to Baginhun Head, 1| m. to the S. It shows remains of

entrenchments on the rock. Hereabouts the Normans first landed,

1169. From Fethard to Slade or Churchtown, little fishing villages

on the E. & W. sides of the Hook Head promontory, is about 5| m.
;

from the latter it is another mile to Hook Toiver (Lighthouse

:

fixed, white, visible 16 m.).

Ballyliack to Tiitterii Al>bey, 6}j m. (4 m. from Fetliaivl). Follow
the Wexforii road for 2J m. from Artharstowu, and then take tlie right-hand

road. Tiiiterii Al>l»ey, the site now partly occupied by a private residence,

was founded early in tlie 13th cent, by William Marshall, Earl of Pembroke
((/. 1219), who was shipwrecked on this coast in 1200. It was furnished with
monks from the famous abbey on the Wye, hence its name. The remains are

slight and in private grounds, but no courteous visitor is refused admission.

An interesting group of antiquities will be found at Cloniiiiiies C4 m.
from Tiutern ; 9 m. direct from Ballyhack), at the mouth of the Corrock, at

the head of Bannow Bay. They consist of the ruins of a Dominican Priory,

Black Castle and Cow-boy's Chapel.

Waterford to NTew Ross, hij rail, 14 m. ; &?/ road, 15 m.
;

'bij steamer (weekdays) at 3.80 p.m. The return steamer leaves

New Ross at 9.15 a.m.

By road. This is dull at first, the only feature passed being

Carriganore Rock (446 /«.), on the left. About 7 m. from Water-
ford the scenery improves as we reach and follow the valley of

Glenmore, descending to the bank of the Barrow (11 m.), which is

ascended for about a mile. Then the road leaves the water and,

presently crossing a tributary brook, joins it again at Eoshercon,

now the railway quarter of New Ross, with the ruins of an old

church. A good bridge, replacing the wooden one built by
Lemuel Cox, destroyed by ice in Jan. 1867, connects it with

TTew Ross, p. 47.

By steamer. This route is sufficiently described, p. 40, as far

as the confluence of the Suir and Barrow. There turning left

round Snow Hill and in view of Dunbrody Abbey, right, we
ascend the latter river past White Horse Rock to Ballinlaw Ferry.

Here the river turns sharply to the right, and its banks are

featureless, with much mud at low water. The round top seen

from time to time, on the right, is Slieve Coiltia, 888 ft.

Approaching our destination, the iron bridge (above) comes
into view.
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ITew Ross {rail via Palace East; Hotel: Royal) is a rather

important business town of 5,000 inhabitants. It was founded
by Isabella, Strongbow's daughter, and its name distinguishes

it from Ross, now Old Ross, a village 5 »t. to the E. Of its

fortifications, the principal relic is the N. or Bishop's gate.

The town, on a steep hill-side (good view atop), is a convenient

base for exploring the beautiful scenery of the Nore and Barrow,

'

which unite their waters about 3 m. above the town. Steamers
run between New Ross and Waterford.

'Sew Ross to I>uiil»rocly Al>l>ey (p. 45), 9| m. by road, dowu the left

bank of the BaiTow. The abbej- is on the riglit, just beyond a creek.

New Ross to Znistlog-e (for Woodstock), 11m. (12 m. by
water), and Thomastown (for Jerpoint Abbey), 5^ m. more,
by road. This is a delightful route up the Nore valley. By boat

(taking advantage of the tide) is the pleasantest way to Inistioge,

the Nore being the left-hand stream at its confluence with the
Barrow, 3 m. above New Ross bridge. In this way you pass under
Woodstock (below), just short of Inistioge.

By road you at once ascend above the left bank of the
Barrow, and passing in about a mile, the keep of Mountgarrett
Castle, in a held on the right, have a good view of the meeting
of the Nore and Barrow. Then you descend to the latter

and cross it, the road turning to the left, in a N.W. direction,

beyond the bridge. At 4 m. from New Ross, the road to

Gralg-ue (Anchor ; some interesting remains of a Cistercian,

13th cent.. Abbey) diverges on the right, but we keep straight

on, passing, left, at a pretty wooded dip, Ballinabarney, and
then crossing a tributary stream, 7 m. Approaching the Nore,
Woodstock (Col. Tighe) is on the opposite bank, and we cross the
river by a picturesque bridge to Znistiog-e (11 m.

;
pron. : Imiis-

teey. Hotel: Cody's), a delightfully situated village. Here was
founded, in 1210, an Augustinian monastery, of which two
towers, one incorporated with the Parish Church, the other
the " Priory Tower," remain. The latter has been adapted as
the mausoleum of Lieut. -Col. Tighe (d, 1878). In the churchyard
is the mausoleum of Mrs. Mary Tighe (d. 1810), the author of
" Psyche." Her effigy is by Flaxman. There is a tablet to Lieut.

Hamilton, V.C., a native of Inistioge, in the church. He was one
of Sir L. Cavagnari's mission, massacred by the Afghans in 1879.
Into the wall of the yard of the R. C. chapel, adjoining the church-
yard, are built portions of tracery from the old church.

^Voo<lstock {enter by the gate of the Lower Avenue, close by the river, to the
S.o/ the I ifluge), the seat of the Tighe family is, as regards the beautiful park,
freely ojien to visitors The timl)er is very fine, and charming walks make it a
jjerfeet jilace for picnic folk, for whose use there is a round room at the "Red
House," an ivied cottage, at the far end of tlie Lower Avenue. About half way
to it is i)assed Teddington Cottage, overlooking the river. Another rendezvous
is the Swiss Cottage, 2 miles from the village, where a " Visitors' Book " is kept.
The mansion (not shown) is a large substantial house, of no architectural pre-
tensions. Ou the wooded hill behind it is a tower.
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Another walk from Inistioge is to the summit of Brandon Hill (1694 /^,
abt. 5 7n.). For this cross the bridge and turn to the left, the G-raigiie road, and
in abt. 3 m. turn to the right and ask for the path leading towards the hill.

The view is delightful of the Nore and Barrow valleys, the hill rising sharply
from tlie latter. N.E. lies Graigueuamanagh, S.E. St. MuUins, while beyond
the Barrow, between these points, tower Mt, Leinster and Blackstairs.

It is a picturesque 5J miles from Inistioge, by road crossing the

Nore at Broiomharn Bridge, to Thomastown (Keefe's Hotel),

now a village of about 1,000 inhabitants, with a station (11 m. from
Kilkenny) on Waterford and Central Ireland Railway. Formerly
(before the silting up of the Nore which is now only navigable to

Inistioge) it was a walled town of some importance, and there are

still flour-mills and a tannery. The Protestant Church, in the

main street, is said to occupy part of the site of a Dominican
Priory, to which the fragment of a church (seen from Pipe Street)

is assigned, but the existence of such a priory is doubtful. In the

R.C. Church is the high-altar from Jerpoint.

Jerpoiiit Al>l>ey (IJ m. S.E. from Thomastown by the road over the
bridge) is among the most interesting ruins in Ireland. It was founded in

1180 for Cistercians by Donogh, Prince of Ossory (d. 1185), and a great part is

of that date, the style being transitional Norman. The east window of the
choir, which retains some tracery is Decorated, and the superstructure of the
fine tower, with «urious battlements and corner turrets, is assigned to the 15th
eentury. The tom)}, commonly said to be that of the founder, wlio was buried
here, is really some 300 years later. It has two effigies, and by the man's side is

his harp. The destruction of the abbey is traditionally ascribed to " Silken
Thomas," son of the Earl of Kildare, who, on the reported murder of his father

in Loudon, rebelled but was afterwards taken and executed, 1537. Dr. Ferguson
comments on "the foreign look" of this abljey, and compares the battlements to

those found in Italy.

Waterford to Mallow by rail.

I>i«9tancef!i : Dungarvan, 28^ tn ; Cappoquin, 39 m ; Lismore,43 m ; Fermoy
58 m ; Mallow Junction, 75 m.

Leaving Waterford, from the Joint Station, the line ascends

the left bank of the Suir, and then crosses it. The line

intervenes between Mount Congreve, left, and the river, as we
quit the latter at a pretty spot, with a ruined tower, right,

just short of Kilmeadan, 6 m.

Mount Congreve demesne is very pretty and open to the public. It is about
6 7)1. by road, or boat, from "Waterford.

Portlaw, 4i m. N. W., was till recent years a flourishing seat of cotton

mills, but is now sadly decayed and with a population under 1400, a thinl of its

numbers in 18C1. Close to the town is the main entrance to Curi-ag-limove
(Marq. of Waterford ; order from Estate Office in Waterford), wliere the policy

of tlie Nationalist party led to tlie suppression of the famous hunting stable,

whicli commonly numbered 70—80 horses in condition, and, with the 30—50

gentlemen Avho hunted with the hounds, was a source of great profit to the

district.

The country is uninteresting as far as Kilmacthomas (15 m. ;
Inn

;

station for Bunmahon, 6m., where the mines, which were abandoned
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in 1882, represent the wreck of copper-mining industry in South
Ireland), a village on the Mahon stream. Hence it is 7 m. by road to

the Ire stream (car there and back, 6.s. ; or, allowing time to visit

the lough, and through to Carrick-on-Suir Station, 14^ m., 10s.),

the point of divergence for Coumshingaun Lough (j). 145).

The hills now approach nearer, the summit N. from the station

being Croghaun, while more to the W. rise the bulky Comeragh
Mts. (2,597 ft.), whose southern spurs are on our right for some
miles. The small river Mahon is also on that side. Crossing the

Toy we reach Burrow and StradbaUy, 22 m.—the latter village is

abt. 3 m. olf near the coast (lodgings). Then passing through a short

tunnel and crossing the Dalligan we see the viaduct carrying the

road, left, and come in sight of the sea and follow the low cliff on
which, left, is the tower of Clonea Castle. Next there is a ruined
church, right, and an earthwork, showing the fosse, left. Nearing
Dungarvan we see, left, Abbeyside, prettily timbered, and, in view
of Dungarvan Castle, cross the river to (28^ m.) Sung^arvan
(Station 7 ?»/». from the town, up the river; hotel: iJevonsJiire

Ar)iis), an important market town of 5263 inhab., on Dungarvan
Harbour at the mouth of the Colligan. The ruined keep of King
John's Castle is a mere shell. At Abbeyside on the opposite side

of the harbour are the remains of an Augustinian monastery, now
part of the K. C. Church, and the keep of a castle.

Eesuming our journey, beyond Cappagh (35 m.) we cross the

river Finisk and the Knockmealdown range comes into view, right.

Then nothing requires mention till we reach Cappoquin (39 m.
;

p. 78). The Station is | in. from steamer-landing. Cross the

road bridge and go under the railway bridge.

For continuation of rail to Malloiv, see p. 80
; for steavier route

down the Blackioater, to Youyhal, see p. 76, where it is described in
the reverse direction.

Irelaud II.
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Dublin to Baltinglass. 42 m., and TuUow, 52| m.

As far as Sallins, 18 m., see 2). 55. For another route to Polla-

phuca see 2^- 15.

There is no striking scenery on this branch, and its chief im-
J)ortance for the tourist is, that two or three of its stations afford

starting points for approaching the Wicklow Mountains from the

west.

We turn sharp to the left from the main-line just beyond
Sallins, and see Oldtown House, right, as we near ITaas (2 m.

;

Royal Hotel), a garrison town (pop. 3,735) on the Herbertstown
branch of the Grand Canal. The lofty tower and spire of the

church are conspicuous from the railway, but except for visitors to

the Punchestown Steeplechases of the Kildare Hunt (about the

middle of April) the place has few attractions. The remains of Naas
Abbey and of the rath of the kings of Leinster may be seen. The
Union Workhouse is on the right as we start again. Harris-

toton (8 111.) is the nearest station for Pollaphuca Falls (Liffey).

Harristowii (Station (l>y tlie Falli^ of flie I,iffey) to Seven
Cliuvclies, 21 m. This is an excellent approach to the Seven Churches and
easy to follow. Proceed E. from the station to the village of Ballymore Eustace

(3j m. ; Inn : Byrne's), in a pretty neighbourhood on the north bank of the
Liffey. G-o up the village past the church, and keep straight on for 1^ ??;. till

you join the Blessington road. There turn to the right and follow the road and
tram line to the bridge over the Palls of the Liffey at Pollapliuca (Hotel)
which gets its name from the pool at the foot of the principal fall (Puck's pool,

Ponl-a Phooku). The scene here, really grand after rain, is always beautifiil.

Beyond the bridge you can either continue along the main road for about 2

miles, and then turn, left, through IIoUiiicooil village or (slightly shorter) turn
to the left 200 yards from the bridge and, ^ m. further on to the right. At Holly-
wood take the road, left, up past the Parish Church. It at once enters the
hills, and after crossing a minor col to the bridge over the Kings River (3 m.
from Hollywood) steadily ascends the right bank of that stream for 7 m., to its

source at Wicklow Gap, above which col, left, rises Thonelagee (2684 ft. ; for its

ascent, from Seven Churches, see ^j. 32). From the Gap it is a steady descent
of about 4f m. down Glendamn to the Seven CliiU'clies {p. 30).

Beyond Harristown the line crosses the Lift'ey at a pretty spot,

and soon enters a wooded glen adjoining Kennycourt House. On
issuing from the glen the lofty church-tower of Gilltown is con-

spicuous far away on the right, and county Wicklow is entered

just short of Dunlavin (32 m.), where the station is i m. from the

little town, which boasts a dome-topped market-house and a

picturesque, octagonal and pinnacled, church-tower. The earth-

work, Tornant Moat, is seen on a hill, left, a mile S. of the town
and then through a pleasantly wooded country, past Kathsallagh
House, right, Colbinstown (35 m.) is reached. Immediately
beyond this a small earthwork is close to the line, left, which
traverses the picturesque demesne of Grangecon — the house
seen on the right—alongside a brook to Grangecon (37f m.).

From here a low watershed is crossed, and a peep is obtained,

left, of the Wicklow Mountains. Descending into the Slaney

Valley to Baltlng-lats (42 wt»
;

pop. 1,097 ; small Inns

:



BALTINGLASS. 51

Commercial in Market Place, J m. from station ; Leonard's, small

but clean), the ruins of Baltinglass Abbey—Cistercian, founded
about 1150—consisting of a part of the W. end and a Pointed
arcade (12th cent.) of the abbey-church, are on the left as you near
the station. Besides these ruins and a large and new E. C. church,

in the Pointed style, there is nothing to see at Baltinglass, though
it is rather prettily situated, at the foot of a semicircle of consider-

able hills.

Baltiiig:la<«!i$ fetation to Drumg^off (20 m.) and Seven Cliurclies,
27 m. Bear round to the right at the E. end of tlie Market Place, and ^ m.
beyond E. C. Church (left) turn to the left and then to the right in \ in. more.
Keep on past the Workhouse and, f m. beyond it, you reach a fork [cyclists may
keep to the right, straight on to Kiltegaii (fair village Inn), and there turn to
the left to cross-roads next mentioned—this adds 1 m. and skirts the E. side of
Humewood] and go to the left and, \ m. fl^rther, turn to the right. As you
a^end a straight road, Keadeen (2145 ft. ; cairn) is the round summit on your
left-front. At the top of the rise turn to the right and almost at once to the
left, past Talbotstown School and Church. Just beyond this thei-e is a good
view of the mountains ahead as the road drops to Humewood ("W. W. F. Dick,
Esq.), the tower of which is seen above the trees. After a mile of shaded road,
at the further lodge, turn to the left and take the right-hand road a trifling

distance onward. You are now on the direct road for Drumgoff, and have only
to avoid diverging roads and to keep straiglit on at cross-roads. Rathdangan
(Pub. Hos. ; 8J m. from Baltinglass Station), Mullan Cross-roads (9J m.), the
Bridge over the Ow River (12| w.) are successively reached. The last-named is

3 m. south of Lugnaquillia (p. 33), which on this side rises finely at the head of
the huge wild corrieiu which the Ow has its source. Aghavannagh Barracks, a
relic of the troubled times at the close of the last century, are on the left just
beyond the bridge and, lialf-a-mile further, Aghavannagh Bridge. Thence
onward after crossing the minor watershed, tlie road follows the north bank of
the Drumgoff brook into the Avonbeg valley at the foot of Glenmalure. For
l>rii.iiig:o<f and the road to Seven Churches, see p. 33.

The branch is continued past Rathvilly (47 m.) to Tullow
(52|7;i. ; Bridge Hotel, J m. from Station), an agricultural town of

about 1,100 inhabitants. This is not tourist country, but it is

only 9i m. S.E. to Shillelagh {p. 36), and the same distance E.N.E.
to Carlow (below).

Dublin to Carlow, 56 m., and Kilkenny, 81 m.

As far as Kildare, 30 m., see p. 55. This line descends the
Barrow valley. It is a dreary bog district to Athy (45 m.

;

SlneVa, Leinster Arms), a neat town of 4,800 inhabitants, on the
right, at the junction of the Grand Canal with the Kiver Barrow,
which here becomes navigable. Adjoining the bridge over
the latter is the ruin of White's Castle (14th cent.), and on the
river above the town, that of Woodstock Castle (13th cent.), both
built by the Earls of Kildare. IVIagreney (51 m.) is about 4^ m.
W. of Castledermot, where there are the interesting ruins of a
Franciscan Monastery, a Bound Tower, and a fine Cross. These can
be visited (7 m.) from Carlow. Carlow (Hotels : Clubhouse; Royal
Arms ; Oyle's) is a pleasant country toAvn (pop. 5,591) on the Barrow,
on the bank of which is a fragment of a Castle attributed to King
John. The most noteworthy building is the K. C. Cathedral which
has a lofty tower, and contains a monument to Bp. Doyle by
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Hogan, The Parish Church has a fine spire and the Doric Court
House is imposing.

Besides Castledermot (//. 51) the antiquary will be interested in tlic ancient
church of Killeshin, 4 m. N.W. of Carlow.

Beyond Milford (60 m.) the Mount Leinster range is seen on the

left-front. At Bagnahtoivn (36 m. ; see p. 38) the junction for

Wexford, our line turns W. past Gowran (74 m.). The village,

1 m., has the ruins of a Franciscan Abbey, and those of Ballyshaivn-

more Castle are just within Lord Clifden's demesne.

pm^ttmi.

Railway Stations: (adjoining one another on the E. side of the town)
G.S. ci- W.R., from Dublin vid Kildare and Carlow ; W. d- C.I.R. from Waterford
also from Dublin, vid Mai'yhoroucjh.

Hotels : Clnb House, Victoria, Imperial. All close together in the centre of

the town, about 7 min. walk from the station. Follow the street from the
stations, westward, over St. John's Bridge.

Post Office, in High Street. English mails del. 8 and 11.35 a.m. ; desp.
3.25 and 10 p.m.

Kilkenny (pop. 12,924), Gill Gliainnigh = church of St. Canice,

is one of the most interesting places in Ireland, and the hotels

are reasonably comfortable. There is a fine new R. C. Church
near the Sta.

History. The town formed part of the territory which Strongbow ac-

quired by his marriage (j). 41). His daughter and heiress married William,
Earl of Pembroke, who built the original castle. Ifis daugliter and heiress

married Gilbert de Clare, Earl of Gloucester, from whose family the property
passed by marriage to Hugh le Spencer, who sold it to the Butlers in 1391. Of
the several parliaments held at Kilkenny that of 1367 is noteworthy for the
Statute of Kilkenny, which among other provisions made it a capital offence

for an Englishman to marry an Irishwoman.
In 1642 assembled a " rebel " or Catholic Parliament, from which the name

'• City of the Confederation" took its rise. The Lord Lieutenant, Ormonde, was
about to conclude a treaty on the King's behalf, when the Papal Legate arrived

with money and arms, and the issue was the siege and capture of the city by
Cromwell, in 1650.

A narrow street leads westward direct from the stations to

St. John's Bridge (over the Nore) whence the finest view is

obtained of the imposing seat of the Butlers, Kilkenny Castle
(Marq. of Ormonde. Picture Gallery, Tucs., Thurs., Sat.) The
present structure retains three of the old round towers and two of

the walls, but the rest is comparatively modern. The entrance is

reached by turning to the left from the Market Place.

In the Hall, notice the decorations, of old Spanish leather. On the Staircase

leading from it, is tapestry, 16th cent., made at Kilkenny by Flemings. From
the first landing you enter the Di>dng Room, a fine chamber, with deep window
tecesses. Over the sideboard, and elsewhere, arc displayed some of the old

family plafce. iucludiug many royal and other gifts.



KILKENNY. 53

The next apartment sliowu is the noble Fid H?'e Gallery (catalogues provided),
which besides pictures (including Correggio's " Marriage of St. Catharine,"
Murillo's " St. John," Giordano's " Assimiption of the B.V.M.") has a rare col-

lection of interesting furniture, cabinets, &c., as well as busts. The marble
fireplace is decorated with sculptures representing events in the family history.

Outside the door of tlie Picture Gallery, a staircase leads to a room prepared
for the Empress of Austria, but never used by her. The view from the windov.-

is delightful, of the River and City. The corridor leading from the chamber
has tapestries and other objects on the \valls. Returning down tlie staii-case

to the principal floor you are introduced to the Drawing-room, hung with gold-
colour Irish poplin ; the Library ; and the Aute-room, containing a fine collection

of china. Descending to the ground-floor you are there shown the well-

appointed billiard-room.

From St. John's Bridge there is a i^leasant walk alongside the
water beneath the Castle wall. If you follow it and bear round
to the right you will make the circuit of the Castle and re-enter

the market place.

The other great feature of Kilkenny is the Ch. of Ireland
Cathedral. From the Market-place go, right, down High Street
into Parliament St. (Irish-town) where, left, is Rothe House (the

bishop's family), and keep straight on, up a short lane, to an
arch and steps. Here note the carvings in the wall of the house,
left. The key is kept here.

St. Canice's Cathedral, Early Pointed, was founded at the
close of the 12th century, and the choir dates from about 1200.

The rest of the church was built in the course of the next
century. Externally the most striking features are the stepped
battlements and the Round Tower (100 ft.), which stands close

to the S. transept. You enter by the fine W. door, and the full

length (22G,/"^.) view is pdeasing, though the E. end seems to need
raising. Notice the curious shrine of two trefoil-headed arches
at the foot of the W. window, which is reached by a stair from the
S.W. angle of the Nave. In the second bay from the W., and on
the N. side, is a tomb dated 1281 and, just beyond, in the N. aisle,

a door has a curious round-arch moulding. Immediately E. of

this is a line tomb with "apostles"; the back of the tomb has
been removed and placed against the adjoining wall.

Proceeding up the nave, which is divided from the aisles by
pointed arcades of five arches, you reach the Central Tower, of

which the groined roof, springing from the four piers, is exceedingly
beautiful. The pulpit is commonplace, and the lectern of no
great merit. Entering the Clioir, the E. window, of three lights

(tilled with Munich glass, representing scenes from Gospel history),

together with the somewhat lower triplets in the N. and S. walls
of the Sacristy, are very graceful and have good mouldings. The
latter lights are round-headed externally. The pavement is com-
posed of Irish marbles.
Under a canopy on the N. side of the choir is a tomb assigned

to Bp. de Ledrede (c. 1332), and in the N. Transept, against the
N. wall, is the chair of St. Kieran, by some supposed to have
begun the evangelization of Ireland before the arrival of St. Patrick,
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East of the N. transept is a small chapel, the Parish Church,
with a curious step-moulded recess under a round-headed arch.

The glass here commemorates Lieut. Hamilton (see p. 47).

In the S. transept, notice the monument of the Marquis of

Ormonde (d. 1854), who died of apoplexy whilst bathing, with his

six children represented at the head and feet. Beyond this, the
middle of three, is the fine tomb of Peter, Earl of Ormonde, and
Lady Margaret, 1539. The two-light S. window commemorates
Bp. O'Brien (d. 1876), the author of well-known lectures on
"Justification." From the S. transept, eastward, is the Lady
Chapel, now the Chapter House, with three triplets on the S.,

and three doublets on the E., all graceful lights.

In returning from the Cathedral, by turning up Barrack Lane,
at the N.E. end of High Street (or Parliament Street) you will find

the ruins of the Franciscan Triary, of which the tower and the

fine 7 -light east window are the chief features. The choir has
been rescued from further injury, but a brewery occupies the rest

of the site, and sundry tablets are to be seen in the walls around.
From Parliament Street, Abbey Street leads through the second

city arch (plain) to the Black Abbey, a Dominican foundation
of the 13th cent, and now restored to that Order. The Prior's

house is on the right of the gate, and the visitor has only to ask
permission to be allowed to visit the church, which, besides a fine

East window, has a curious Holy Trinity, dated 1264.

St. Mary's Cliiircli (Prot.) is reached by a lane on the E., a little S. of

the Mai'ket House (in High Street). The present church contains little of

interest to the general tourist unless it be the restored monument to Bishop
Rothe, 1637. Outside, the blocked arcades of the original nave appear. Tlie

ground l)ehhid the chui'ch contains a good many old tombs, notably the (VShen
Moi\wnent, 1551, with figures of Faith, Hope, and Charity, and representations,
duly named, of the Twelve Apostles. Tliere is also an elaborate monument to

James Ilotlie (brother of the Bishop), which he is said to have prepared for

himself, but never occupied ; at least, the date is left blank. IsTotice the
emblems of the Crucifixion along tlie base. Malchus is represented with one
great ear, and the other ear may be detected at the other end of the tomb.

St. IVIary's Cathedral (R. C.) is in James Street to the W.
of the city. It was consecrated in 1857, and is at once rich and
in good taste, though the shortness of the nave is to be regretted.

The total length is 175 ft., and the breadth including aisles 90 ft.

or 120 ft. at the transept. The central tower is 200 ft. high.

There is a colossal statue (by Benzoni) of the Virgin, to the left of

the Lady Chapel. In the chapel of St. Joseph (right of the chancel)

the relics of St. Victoria, martyr 250, presented by Pius IX., are

beneath the altar.

Excni'sioiis. Gowran, p. 52. Jerpoint, p. 48. Cave of l>iiiiinoi>e, a
stalactite cavern, abt. 7 in. N.E. ; light required. Drive to Moitthill old church-
yard, close by. At Callaii (A(Mphi ; pop. 1,973) 12 w. S.W., tlie ruins of a 15th

cent. Austin Friary are at the entrance from Kilkenny. The old Parish Church
(Green St.) is in ruins, except the chancel. On the river (West St.) are the
remains of the Castle. At ICells, 5 m. E. of Callan and 10^ m. from Kilkenny,
are tlie large and interesting ruins of a fortified 12th cent. Priory. It is some-
tiRies called the Castle. For Thomastowu, 8 m., see p. 48,
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DUBLIN TO LIMERICK, CORK AND KILLARNEY,

(Great Southern and Western Eailway.)

To liiiiiericlc (via Limerick June.) 129 m., in 3^ to 4 hrs. (mail, 26.?. 3(?.,

19.s\ 6r7., ll.s>. 9^/. : ordinarj', 23.s. M., 17s. 8d., 10.5. 9d.).

To Corlc (rici Mallow) 165^ m. in 4 to 4^ ^?'.?. (mail, 325., 245.. 14.s. 7d. ',

orrlinary, 29.s'. 6(/., 22.s. M., Us. 9(L).

To Killavney (vid Mallow) 185 ??j., in 4^ to 6J hi^s. (e:^press, 35,?., 36.?. 6^.,

16s. ; ordinarj', 32.s. Qd., 24s. 9d., 15?. 5d.

*iH* These are single fares the j'ear round. This Company's combination
tickets (rail and hotel ) are noteworthy. Travellers conterqplating sojourn ^t
Killarney or on the Waterville rouqd should obtain the Company's Tourist
Programme. It is often a saving to travel first-class in order to obtain hotel
tickets.

Uef. Urns, at Kingshridge, Portarlington, Ballyhrophy (up -side), Limerick
June, Limei-ick, Mallow (down-side), and Cork. The down express mail train has
breakfast and drawing-room car, aiid the up express mail dining and drawing-:
room car.

The scenery on this route is unremarkable till we approach
Limerick Junction (107 m.). Some bog there is, but the prevailing
character of the scenery is that of a pastoral country—in spring
golden with furze—with an horizon of distant hills on one side

or the other for most of the way. The Dublin and Wicklow
Mountains are on the left during the first part of the Journey.

Uoute. King-sbridg-e Terminus (plan C 3) is on the West
side of the city, and on leaving it the Wellington Testimonial

{p. 14) is conspicuous on the right. At Clondalkiu (4J 7h.), on the
left, the Round Tower, 84 ft., is well seen. " Though nearly
perfect, it cannot be considered a very fine example." W. F. W.
The station at Iiucan (7 m.

; p. 200) is 1^ m. S. of the Hydro'
and Spa Hotel. Tram from Dublin, Entering county Kildare,
Hazlehatcli (10 in.) is about IJ m. south of Celbridfje, the home
of Swift's " Vanessa" (Esther Vanhomrigh). Beyond this station
Lyons Hill (630 ft.), dominating Lyons, a seat of Lord Cloncurry,
is on the left, and then presently crossing the Grand Canal
(which connects the Liffey Avith the Shannon) we reach Sallins
(18 m.), the junction of the Tullow branch {p. 50).

Again crossing the Grand Canal, and then the Liffey, the Hill
of Allen (676 ft. ; tower) is conspicuous on the right, but the bog of

that name is not seen. ITewbridg-e (26 m. ; Prince of Wales;
Crown) is the station for the Curragh of Kildare, the Alder-
shot of Ireland, and equally famed for its steeplechases and races.

The camp is about equally distant (3J to 4 m.) from the little town
of Kildare (30 m. ; Commercial, ^ m. from Station).

Kildare ('at]ie<lral and Round Tower are both in sight, left, from
the railway. The former (recently restored) is cruciform with a central tower.
The restoration of the fabric was designed by G. E. Street, ll.A., and by 1882
the work on the shell of the Early ElngUsh building was completed except "in the
chancel. That has since been finished. The exteyior of the nave, with arches in
front of thQ wintlo^YS, is curions.
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Under the S . transept is the vault of the Earls of Kildare. Of St. Bridget's
fire-house " nothing is left ; but the fine Round Tower (103 ft.J in the grave-

yard is perfect, except that the cap is replaced by a battlement. Adjoining the
grave-yard on the S.E., what remains of the Castle (13th cent.) is converted
into a tenement with modern windows.

For the line from Kildare to Carloiv and Kilkenny see p. 51.

Excej)t a new church, left, there is nothing to mention on the

way to Monasterevan (37 ?».), beyond which the Barrow and Grand
Canal are crossed, and the line soon enters Queen's County.
Portarling-ton (42 m.; Portarlington Arms) a town (pop. 2,021) on
the Barrow about a mile N. of the station. About 4 m. S. from
the station is Emo Park, the seat of the Earl of Portarlington.

Portarlingtoti to Tullaiiioro aii<l AtUloiie, 39 in. This brancli»

which traverses the full breadth of King's County and crosses the heart of the
Bog of Allen, offers an alternative route from Dublin to Athlone, which is only
21 m. further this way from Dublin than by the M.G.W.li. via Mullingar. It is

not. however, available for tlirough passengers to Connemara who do not wish
to break tlie journey at Athlone, because tliere the rival stations are some
distance apart. Tiillaniore (16 m.; Chnrle rille Anns; llnihiay—clean) is

a rather well-built, agricultural county-town of 5,522 inhab. Charleville
Park, the picturesque seat of the Earl of that name, is a little to the south
of the town and on tlie bank of the Grand Canal, 6 m. W., are the ruins of

Rahan Abbey. At Clara (23w.)on the Brosua, a branch line diverges N.
to Streamstown (7 m.) on the M.G.W.R., and another to Bana(/fhr (p. 227).

St, Columba's Darroic is near Clara, )>ut there is nothing to see. For Atliloiit'
(39 w.) see ;>. 201.

The Slieve Bloom Mountains come into view, right, on the way
to nXaryboroug-h (51 w.

;
pop., 2809; Hibernian), which is the

junction for the Central Ireland line to Waterford. [3Iount-

mellick (7 m.) is the northern terminus of that line.]

The Rock of I>iiiiaiiia!$e (4 m. E. on the Sti'adbally road) is a mass of
carboniferous limestone rising (200 ft.) abruptly from the plain and occupied by
the extensive ruins of a castle said to have been founded by William de Braose
(r/. 1211).

lIaryl>oroiig-li to "Waterford, 59i m. by the " Waterford and Central
Ireland " railway. This line descends the valley of the Nore, and the scenery
for some miles is quite uninteresting. BalUiragget, 18 w., is the nearest station
for Castlecomer (6 m. hy road), the centre of the Kilkenny coal-field. For Kil-
kenny, 28.^ w?.., see p. 52. Tiience onto Thomastovn.AOm., pleasant views are
obtained of the Nore. For Thomastown and the road thence (rid Inistioge) to
New Ross, see p. 47; for Jerpoiiit Abbey, 2^. 48. Tlie line passes close to the last-

named object, and then the scenerj' is dull till you reacli Waterfor«l, p. 41.

The river Nore is crossed about midway between Maryborough
and Ballybropliy (67 m.), the junction for Roscrea and Nenagh,
2). 155.

Passing, left, the wooded Knockahan Hill we enter Co. Tippe-
rary and soon cross the river Suir. Templemore (79 m.

;

Queen''s Arms) is a small town (pop. 2,433), a mile W, of the station,

which takes its name from the Knights Templars. In the grounds
of the Priory (Sir J. Carden, Bt,) are the remains of the Abbey
Church and of the Templars' Castle. Left of the line, 2^ m.
further is Loughmore Castle, and on the right are the Devil's Bit
Mountains, showing plainly the notch made by the devil's teeth
when he bit out what he afterwards dropped on the plain to form
the Rock of Cashel {p. 58).
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Thurles {pron. Thur-lez ; 87 m.; Hayes' Hotel, 10 min. from
station) is an uninteresting town of 4,511 inhab. on the Suir, with

the remains of a castle-keep adjoining the bridge. The only

building of any note is the large (classical) R. C. cathedral, which
is on the left beyond the bridge.

Tliurles to Holy f^ross Al>l>ey, 3J w. from Thurles Station, 4 w. from
the liotel.

Holy Cross and Cashel (j]. 58) can with advantage be included in one ex-

cursion. The latter is on the same road and 9 m. bej'ond the AbbeJ^ The Cashel
road is the one we take. It crosses the railway by the station and again 2 m,
further on. Then it follows the Suir to the little village of Holy Cross
(Pub. JIoX

Holy Cross Abbey, founded in 1182 for Cistercians by Donnell O'Brien
king of Munster, is a beautiful and interesting 14th century ruin, of which a

great part including window tracery and groining, is well preserved. It is on
the bank of the Suir, which flows past the E. end. The plan of the Abbey
churcli is cruciform witli a central tower. The western limb has N. and S.

aisles, and on the east rdde of each arm of the transept are chapels.

Externally the most striking features are the W. window of the Nave, of six

lights, and filled above with tracery formed of elongated hexagons ; and the
E. window of the Choir, which has six lights and honeycomb tracery whicli
will remind the Somersetshire traveller of the windows of the Lady Chapel at
Wells.

Internally the church consists of a Nave (60J./?. long and 51^ ft. wide, includ-
ing the aisles, which extend the whole length of the E. limb) of four bays, with
a round arcade on one side and a pointed one on the other. The Choir (which
included a third of the Nave, the space below the tower and the E. limb)
measures 76 ft. The Toirer rests on four pointed arches and has a groined
vault. It can bo ascended by a turret-stair (still soiiud) in the N.E. pier. On
the S. of the Choir, near the high altar is the Decor.-Perpend. monument of

(it is supposed) the Countess of the fourth Earl of Ormonde (abt. 1450) who was
possibly the rebuilder of the Abbey church. East of this, on the same side, is a
piscina. The E. wmdovr has been already described. There is also a tomb on
the N. side near the stair-tnrret.

Entering the N. Transepi the flowing (flamboyant) character of the windows
will be noticed and particularly the curious tracery in the window of the
northernmost of the two side chapels. Here, too, tlie piscinas remain.

Tlie .S'. Transept has also two eastex-n chapels with flamboyant windows, but
tlie most interesting feature is the narrow little compartment between the
chapels, with throe puinted arches, supported by twisted columns on each side,

and an elaliorately groined root. The use of this compartment is uncertain liut it

may have been a mortuary for monks awaiting burial. The piscina remains in
tlie S. chapel and adjoining this transept is a vaulted space which formed part
of the monastery. At the W. end of the S. aisle, a staircase led to the Dormitory
and here again there is vaulting.

The road on to Cashel (9 m.) is nearly straight, and about half way passes
through the hamlet of Boerlaha)i. For CasM, see p. 58.

After passing (2 ?/i.) the divergence, left, of the branch-line {p.
147) to Clomnel, the Rock of Cashel comes in sight, far away on
that side, before reaching Gooldl's Cross (95 m.) the station for

Cashel.

Cnoold's Cross to Casl»«'l, branch line (17 min.) The road passes (1^ m.)
Loiigfield House, left, the residence of Mr. Charles Bianconi (d. 1875) who,
beginjiing with a long-car from Clonmel to Caher in 1815, establislied the
sj'stem of public convej-auces long known as Bianconi's ears. At 2^ »«, we
cross the Suir and see, left, the ruins of a castle of the Ormonds and pass,
right, Ardmayle House. Ahead rises the ruin-crowned acropolis of Cashel,
6 771 . by road from Goold's Cross Sta.
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Cashel (Stewart's Hotel) is a town of about 2,900 inhabitants, on the S. and
E. of the Rock of Cashel. a mass of carboniferous limestone rising some 170 ft.

above the plain, with a small cliff on the town side (see Devil's Bit Mountains,

p. 56). Though a titular cit.v it is a miserable town, with only one fair street

and, except for the ruins, has no attraction for the tourist. Theti are excep-

tionally interesting.

On the Bocl-^a fine viewpoint, especially S., towards the G-altees.

(i.) The Catliertral (13th cent.) consists of a short JVave entered by a S*

Porch, and containing some interesting monuments ; N. and S. Transepts witJi

Pointed Windows—in the N. transept, notice the carvings representing
Apostles, etc. ; Toirer resting on Pointed arches ; Four Chapels, one of which
contains the tomb of Cormac, king and abp of Cashel, who died in 908 ; and
the Choir with a large E. window and side lancets with small openings between
them. The Cathedral was burnt by the Earl of Kildare in 1495. who hoped his

enemy Abp. Creagh Avas within it. In 1647 Lord Inchiquin who had besieged
and stormed Cashel, massacred the women and children as Avell as twenty
priests who had taken refvige in the Cathedral. It was last used for worship in

1752. From the transept you can ascend to the fortified portions of the struc-

ture, which was of considerable strength.

(ii.; Coi'inac's Cliapel (Cormac McCarthy, king of Munster) on the S
of the Cathedral was begun in 1127, and consecrated in 1134. It is good and
rich Norman work, somewhat more advanced in style than contemporary work
in England. The plan comprises Nave, square transeptal Towers, Chancel, and
a small Eastward extension for the Altar. Externally, the roofs are steep stone

ones, diminishing in height eastward. Internally they are groined with ribs

springing from short attached columns, and along the walls runs an enriched
round-headed arcade. The most elaborate portions are the N. and S. doorways of

the nave and the curious chancel arch. Between the vault and the stone roof

there is a chamber over both nave and chancel.

(iii.) The Kouinl ToAver, at the N.E. corner of the Cathedral transept,

and communicating therewith by a passage, is about 90 feet high. It not
improbably served as a campanile to Cormac's chapel, and may be assigned to

the same period. Unlike the other buildings, this is of sandstone.

To tho S W. of the Cathedral, in the burial-ground, is the Ci'oss of
Casliel (perhaps 12th cent.) with a figure representing St. Patrick.

At the foot of the Rock are the ruins of Hore A.tol>ey, founded in 1272 by the
Abp of Cashel for Cistercians. The church, which is cruciform with a central

tower, is singularly plain, and the style Early Pointed. The Nave^ of five bays,

with square pillars between it and the aisles, was, as at Holy Cross, shortened
by its eastern part being shut off and included in the ritual Choir. The Choir
proper has a triplet of lancets, but the centre one alone is in its original state.

Of the side chapels here, only the shell of the N. one remains, and beyond tliat

another with a plain pointed vault. The Chapter House, a rectangular shell, was
originally vaulted, but later on had an intermediate floor inserted, the upper
chamber being ligiited by the top window at the E. end.

In the town, near the Hotel, are the scanty ruins of a Dominican Priory, of

which a fine window is the only noticeable feature remaining.

After passing Dmidnim (99J m.) the Galtee Mountains are on the

left front. Iiimerick Junction (107 m. ; Ref. Ems. ; Hotel at

station) is the junction for the Waterford and Limerick Hne. To
Limerick see p. 150. To Waterford {described the reverse way)

2)p. 144-9. Passengers for Tipperary, if they prefer road (2J 7?i.) to

rail, will find cars at the junction.

Continuing our journey towards Cork, at Emly (114 m.) the

village, with the elegant spire of the Protestant church and
the modern B. C. church, is seen on the hill, right, On the left.
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the noble range of the Galtees is well seen as, entering Co. Lim-
erick, we approach KnocMong (117 m ; Eailway Hotel, a fair inn.)

From KUmaUock (124 m.) the Ballyhoura Hills are a shapely out-

line on the same side.

Kilmallock (Railiray Hotel) is now an utterly decayed little town of

about 1.100 inhab. Under the Desmonds it was a place of strength, and a part
of its walls and two of its four gates are still left. It also retains a good many
indications of its importance under the Stuarts, notably two old mansions of

that period, one of which belonged to the Dukes of Buckingham. Of ecclesias-

tical remains there are, the Abbey Church, in the town, and those of a Domin-
ican Priory on the Loobagh to t\\e E. of it. The Abbey Chvrch, of which the
nave (monuments) and transept are in ruins, and the choir is now the Parish
Church, is plain Pointed in style, and chiefly remarkable for its Tower, which
consists, below, of an old Round Tower, with a later superstructure. The
Dominican Priory, founded at the end of the 13tli cent., is an extensive ruin.
The church, cruciform, has a lofty central tower, and the choir retains its fine

Pointed E. window, of 5 lights. Here is the mutilated tomb of the White
Knights (G-eraldinesj. The remains of the cloisters and of the domestic build-
ings are considerable, but of no particular importance.
The antiquarian interested in Early remains should visit I.oiig:]i Criir (9j7n.

N. via Bruff , 5^ m. ; on the high road to Limerick, 21 m.). Tlie best guide to the
sundry old forts, etc., is the 1-inch Ordnance map {sheets. 153, 154 ; Is. each).
The lake itself is a pretty sheet of water of irregular outline, about 5 m. round,
and on its E. side there is another and smaller pool, which once formed part of it.

On the quondam island, between the two, are the remains of two castles, one
with a square tower, in fair preservation.

The direct line from Limerick to Cork joins om^s a little short of

Gliarleville (129 m., Imperial), where we enter Co. Cork. Buttevant
(137 m. ; Military Hotel at Banock Gate, | m. from the station)

now chiefly important as a garrison town (civil pop. 1,580) is

Spenser's
auncient Cittie

Which Kilnemullah cleped is of old
;

Whose ragged ruins breed great ruth and pittie

To travailers, which it from far behold.

on the Awbeg (his Mulla). Of the " ragged ruins " the chief is

that of a Franciscan, Monastery, founded, it is said, by David de
Barry, tenq). Edward I., whose war-cry, Boutez en avant, is the

accepted derivation of the name of the town. The abbey church
is still more ragged than in the poet's day, for the central tower
fell in 1818. The most interesting portion is the chapel on the S.

of the Nave, which contains tombs of the Barrys, etc. The
remains of a tower, now part of the adjoining B.C. church,
belonged to the defences of the abbey. In the middle of the
town is the tower of a castle of the Lombards and Buttevant
Castle (Viscount Doneraile), now incorporated in the modern
mansion, was part of the enceinte of the town. From the bridge

at the S. end of the town are seen the ruins of Ballybeg Abbey.
Buttevant is a good starting point for a visit to Kilcolman
{p. 88).

The Lismore branch joins the main line on the left as we enter
Mallow {p. 88) where passengers for Killarney (direct) and those
via Cork jiart company. For remarks on the several routes to KiU
larney see p. 90 and for the rail to that station, p. 60.
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A little beyond Mallow Station, the Blackwater is crossed and the
Killarney line diverges, right. We ascend the tributary valley of
the Clyda, and presently see, right, the ruins of Mourne Abbey.
The line then crosses the desolate watershed to Rathdujf (155 m.),

and with the exception of a church (right) with a curious-looking
tower there is nothing to remark till we reach Blarney (160 m.

;

see J). 69) ; the village is IJ m. from the station.

On quitting Blarney, the castle appears on the right, above
the trees. A long tunnel occurs immediately before reaching
Cork (Glanmire Terminus) jj. 68.

Mallow to Killarney, 4i ?»., and Tralee, 62 m., by rail.

For Dublin to Mallow, 144r|- m., see 2)- 55; for Mallow, p. 88.

The scenery on this line is of minor interest until the Killarney

mountains come into view beyond Millstreet. Then the pros-

pect, left, is very fine.

On leaving Mallow the line crosses the Blackwater and about
half-a-miie further diverges westward from the main-line (to

Cork) and shortly afterwards crosses the river Clyda. Beyond
Lombardstown, 151 m. from Dublin, on the left of the line, rises

Mount Hilary, 1387 ft., but the district is dreary on to Banteer,

156 m. A branch line runs to Kanturk and Newmarket.

Kaiitni'k (3 /«. N. across the Blackwater ; Egmont Arms) at the
conflueuce of the Oicenkeal autl Allow, is a prettily situated town, of about
1700 iuhab. Ou the right of the road, f m, south of the town is

the extensive ruin (16th cent.) of a Castle of the M'Carth3"3, which was never
completed owing to tlie opposition of Elizabeth's government. Barry Yel-
verton (1762-1814), afterwards Visct. Avonmore, was born at Kautui-k.

At Weivmarltet (5J m. N.W. from Kanturk), a village of 700 iuhab.

Curran (1750-1817), the orator, lived at his residence the Priory, and the
brilliant and festive society he gathered about him, furnished Lever with the
original of his " Monks of the Screw."

The Finnow is crossed (a little short of Millstreet, 164 m.) and,

on the left, is Drishane Castle, a 15th cent, stronghold of the

M'Carthys incorporated with a modern residence.

Millstreet (1 m. S. ; Vanstans) is an uninteresting town of 1,200 inliab.,

in a pretty neighbourhood, with an ampliitheatre of heights (1500 to 2000/1'.)

rising to tlie south of it, while to the north lies the open valley of tlie Black-
water. A road crosses the range southward between the Boggera-gli Mountains
on E., and tlie Derrynasaggart Mountains, on tlie W., to Macroom (14 ra.

; ^>. 98).

Beyond Millstreet, Caherbarnagh (2239 /i.) is the fine mountain
on the left-front, and at its foot the line crosses the Aivnaskirtaun

and enters Co. Kerry. From Rathmore, 171 /»., the mountain view

on the left becomes interesting, and the Paps (2268/^.)—two
rounded summits, divided by a dip—are conspicuous. The Mac-
gillicuddy's Reeks are seen above Tomies Mountain as the train

nears Ileadford Junction, 177f m., while to the left of them and
nearer is Mangerton, 215(ift.
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Headfbi'd to Keiiiiiai'e, 20 m. This branch is chiefly remarkable for

the evidences the rocks everywlicre afford of glacial rounding. The sceuei-y for

the most part is sterile, but some wood relieves it now and again. Tlie inter-

mediate stations

—

Loo Bridije, Morley's Bridge—suggest unfrequented troutings,

but we liave no experience of their merits. Kilgarcan {p. 101) is a village of no
interest. Kenmare via Water ville to Killarney, seep. 124, reverse route.

The rest of the way to Killarney is fine. Presently we descend
the valley of the Flesk, and Flesk Castle, not beautiful, is seen on
the hill across the river. For Killarney, 185 ?»., see jj. 109.

Good views, left, of the Killarney Mountains, especially of

Tomies, are obtained on the way to Farranfore Junction, 196 m.

Farraiifore to Killorg^liii, 13 m. by rail. The Keeks are in sight
left, all the way. The intermetliate stations, Molahiffe, 2 ni., Castlemaine, 7 ;«.

( p. 14.3) and Mill/own, 8j m., are of no importance to the tourist. The head of

Dingle Bay is a sandy waste, except when the tide is in. The handsome (road)
bridge, over the Lanne, is seen on the left, as. crossing that river the train
arrives at ]£illorj»^liii {p. 124), whence the Reeks, but not Carrantuohill, are
finely seen. For rail on to Cahirciveen, nee p. 125.

The Broivn Flesk and the Maine are crossed on the dull run to

Gortatlea, 200 m., the junction for Castleisland {5 m., Commercial,
Crown), a small town of 1500 inhab., of evil repute for agrarian

outrages in modern Irish history. Only a ruined tower, left,

breaks the monotony of the run to Tralee, 207 m.

Tralee (Hotels: Central, Denny St., 5 min. from Sta. ; Blen-
nerhasset Arms—where the road from the Sta. divides, keep to the
right, and cross Main St. for Central, but to the left, into Main
St. for Blennerhassct Arms) is the starting-point for the Dingle
Promontory, p. 138, its only importance from the tourist's stand-
point. Commercially it is the chief town (pop. abt. 9000) in co.

Kerry, but it is not much to look at. The Courthouse has an
Ionic fagade, the R. C. Church (poor interior) a lofty spire, and
there is a Dominican Church. At the end of Denny St. is the
Park. A branch line runs down to Fenit, the port of the town.
Killarney and Limerick trains—the journey is described, the
reverse way, p. 156—necessitate a halt at Tralee.



62

LONDON, BY NEW MILFORD TO CORK.

South of Ireland Express (p. 40) leaves Paddington at 4.30 p.m. The City of
Cork Co's. steamers leave New Milford at 11.25 p.m. on Tu., Thur., Sat.)

Fai'es : Loudou and Cork, tourist return, 80.?., 555., 37«. lOd.

The I'etiu'ii-steamers leave Cork at 7 p.m. on Mon., Wed. and Fri.

The run down Milford Haven and that from Roche's Point (at

the entrance of Cork Harbour) up to Passage reduce the open-sea
voyage to about 10 hours.

Milford Haven is not remarkable for scenery, but the run
down it is pretty on a moonlight night. At starting, the long

sheds seen on the south shore are the covered slips of the

Government dockyard at Pembroke Dock. The steamer's course

is, however, nearer the north shore, and after rounding a point,

about 20 min. from starting, you come in sight of Imogen's
"blessed Milford," whence, too, "colder tidings" reached Rich-
ard HI. "that the Earl of Richmond is with a mighty power
landed " (1485). Milford was for centuries the principal port of

embarcation for Ireland.

Looking back, the tower of Pembroke Castle may be seen at the

head of an inlet. On Great Castle Head, right, you pass two of the

principal lighthouses of the Haven and on the left, far away, may
detect the little Thorn Island (fortified). Crossing the mouth
of Dale Bay, right, the fishing village of Dale is at its head,

and then, approaching the mouth of the Haven the East Block
House crowns the south point and, somewhat further on, two
lighthouses mark the northern promontory, St. Ann's Head. On
clearing the latter the Bishop light may be detected far away to

the north, and then you pass within a moderate distance of the

Smalls Lighthouse.

The Irish coast is not distinguished by bold features, and in the

summer half of the year the lights on Ballycottin Island and
Poor (or Power) Head will be extinguished before you arrive off it.

The entrance to Cork Harbour is about a mile wide, and is bounded
on the east by Roche's Point (2 lights), well-known in connec-

tion with the signalling of homeward-bound vessels. The channel,

after contracting to little more than half-a-mile, with Camden Fort,

left, and Carlisle Fort, right, suddenly widens out into the noble

expanse of Cork Harbour. To the left-rear, runs in an inlet under
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Currabinny Wood, and Crosshaven {p. 72) is just within the

entrance. On the right is the nearly insulated promontory of

Corkabeg and in front Spike Island, now known as Fort West-
moreland, one of the principal defences of the Harbour. After

passing that, Queenstown (^j. 71) appears to advantage on the

north shore, and the steamer's course is laid directly in front of it,

the most conspicuous buildings being the new B. C. Cathedral and
the Queen's Hotel. Left, you see the docks between Sjnke and
Haulboivline Islands and, as the course is once more laid north-

ward, enter the estuary of the river Lee.

On the left is the pretty village of Monkstown {p. 71) and its

ruined castle, and next, on the same side, the Baths of Gleiibrooh

{p. 71), beyond which, amid hanging woods, is the busy little port
of Passag-e 'West. The rest of the voyage to Cork is described
in the opposite direction, p. 70.

(U «j f fe.

Itail^vay Stafions (see plan) : Glanmire (entrance in Lower Glanmire
Road), for Dublin, Limerick, Killarnej', Queenstown, and Youghal ; Albert
Qmuj for Btindon, Kinsale, Skibbereen and Bantry, whence coach (" Prince of
Wales' Route ") to GrlengarrifJ and Killarney ; Capwell, for Macroom , whence
road to Glengarriff and Killarney ; Albert Street, for Passage and Crosshaven.
Western. Road (Dl. ; near west end of Great George's Street) for Blarney and
Coachford (" Muskerry Ry.").

Hotels (see plan) : Imperial, Bed and Attend., 4.s. M. ; B'fast, 35. ; Table
d'hote, f>s. ; Moore's, Morrison's Quay. Turner's, George St. ; Metropole (Tem-
perance), King St., 105. a day ; Victoria, Patrick St.

Restaurants, Thomson's, Patrick St.

Corlc Hai'bour Si^teamers, see p. 70.

Steamers : City of Cork Co., Penrose Quay ; Clyile Shipping Co., St. Patrick's
Quay.

Post OJUce (entrance in Pembroke St., letter boxes in George's St.) : English
mails del. 8 a.m., 1 p.m. ; desp. 2.10, 9.20 p. 7n.

Satliing' of fair quality can be had at Ballycottin and Crosshaven.

Telegrapli Office, always open.

Population : 99,963.

Gorh, the third city in Ireland, both in respect of population
and commerce, occupies an island in the channel of the river Lee,
and the rising ground overlooking it. Its history goes back to the
beginning of the 7th cent., when St. Finbar founded his church



64 CORK.

on the south bank, above what was then and long afterwards, the
Gorcach-m6r oi Mimster, the " marshy place," whence the name of

the city. Before the arrival of the Normans, temp. Henry II., the
town was repeatedly burnt and harried by the Danes, and its later

experiences were hardly less disastrous, so that it preserves no
traces of antiquity save the narrowness and intricacy of some of

the older parts.

Macaulay's description still holds good, and with one or two
additions is a sufficient indication of the chief points calling for

the attention of the passing visitor.

" At present Cork, though deformed by many miserable reUcs of a former
age, holds no mean place among the ports of the Empire. The shipping is more
than half what the shipping of London was at tlie time of the Kevolution

[1688]. The Customs exceed the whole revenue which the whole kingdom of

Ireland, in the most peaceful and prosperous times, yielded to the Stuarts. The
town is adorned by broad and well-built streets ^Patrick Street, Grand Parade,

Great George's Street], by fair gardens, by a Corinthian portico [^Court House'],

which would do honour to Palladio, and by a Gothic college [Qxeen's CoUeye],

worthy to stand in the High Street of Oxford. In 1689 tlic city extended over

about one-tenth part of the space which it now covers, and was intersected by
muddy streams, which have long been concealed by arches and buildings. A
desolate marsh, in which the sportsman who pursued the waterfowl sank deep

in water and mire at every step, covered the area [South Mall] now occupied by
stately buildings, the palaces of great commercial societies."

To the above-mentioned objects of interest we may add the

Cathedral of St. Finbar (Ch. of Ireland), the Royal Cork Institu-

tion (Nelson Place), the Church of St. Anne Shandon, and the

R. C. Cathedral (St. Mary's).

Of greater account than any of these, to the seeker after the

picturesque, is the general view of Cork and the Lee Valley from
the high ground to the North of the city, and the beautiful voyage
down Cork Harbour.
The chief objects within the city need not involve a walk or

drive of more than -I miles and 2h hours would sutHce. To visit

St. Anne Shandon and the R. C. Cathedral requires an additional

f hour, while the minimum time for the steamboat excursion

down the harbour (to Queenstown, Aghada or Crosshaven) and
back—a trip not to be omitted in fine weather—is about 3 hours.

To the Castle and Groves of Blarney would take about 4 to 5 hours
there and back, if the Muskerry Railway be used

; p. 68.

In writing the above we have had in mind the passing traveller

who arrives by rail or steamer and wishes to see as much as

possible, before going on the same day to Bantry, Glengarriff, or

Killarney. If a night be spent at Cork then a good deal more of

the city, the view from the higher ground North of it, and both

the excursions named may easily be included in the programme,
while a week might be eujoyably spent in visiting points accessible

from the steamer calling-places on the harbour, and in a run by
rail to Kinsale.
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In the following itinerary the paragraphs within square brackets

may be skipped by those who make a rapid survey. As a point

common to those who arrive by G. S. & W. R., or by steamer
from Great Britain, we start from St. Patrick's Bridge, which we
cross into St. Patrick's Street, and at once turn to the right along

LavitVs Quay, and then left, at the Theatre, into Nelson Place. ,

Here is the Royal Cork Institution and Crawford Municipal
School of Art, the new buildings of which were inaugurated by the

Prince and Princess of Wales, in 1885. The library is a good one
and there is a small museum, but the collections so far are of no
great importance.

We return to St. Patrick's Street, This important thorough'^'

fare is not of any architectural pretension, but being wide and
curved is picturesque. In it, the place of honour is assigned to

-

Foley's fine bronze Statue of Fatber Matbew.

Theobald Mathew, a Capuchin friar, the " Apostle of Temperance," was born
.

at Thomastown House, near Cashel, in 1790. Already of great influence in Cork,
owing to his devotion to the poor, he inaugurated his Temperance Societj',

Apr. 10, 1838, and the liitherto obscure efforts of a few philanthropists, chiefly

;

Quakers, developed into a national crusade against the abuse of alcohol. The
Irish whisky trade was for a time wrecked. Not only throughout Ireland, but
in England and the United States he administered the " pledge " to tens of
thousixuds. • Unhappily the cost of mere tokens of membership, which thousands
were too poor to buy, involved him in debt, and the consequent anxiety, added
to his unremitting labours, finally broke him down in Feb. 1852. The enthu-:
siasm, too, which had been at its height in 1845, was, as regards the greater"
part of Ireland, well nigh killed by the sufferings of the people during the
terrible famine of the following years. The solace of drink then proved irre-,.

sistible. Father Mathew died at Queenstown, Dec. 8, 1856.

After passing, right, Academy Street we come, on that side, to

the Church of SS. Peter and Paul (Welby Pugin, archit.), the
best worth seeing of the R.C. churches. A few yards onward we -

turn, left, into the wide street. Grand Parade, and out of that, •

right, along Great Georgre's Street, past the Augustinian
Church, light, and across South Main Street to the Court House, •

praised by Macaulay (p. 64). It is surmounted by Justice between
Law and Mercy, and the fire in 1891 happily did not injure the

'

facade.

[By keeping on along Great George's Street (past the bridge,

left, leading to the Blarney Railway Station) we should
reach its continuation. Western Koad, parallel with which runs the
mile-long avenue of elms, the Mardyke. Beyond the Cricket
Ground, right of this, a turn to the right leads to a ferry across
the Lee to Sundays Well Boad, In Western Road, on the left, and
just opposite the turning to the Mardyke, right, is the new gateway
of Queen's Collegre ( p. 67)]

.

Returning from the Court House to Grand Parade we follow
it and at the end reach South Mall, which contains some of,

the principal nierchahts' offices. At the corner of Pembroke
Str. is the Imperial Hotel, adjoining the Commercial Buildings..

Ireland II,
'

If
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In Pembroke Street, at the corner of George's Street, is the
Post Office

; p. 63.

[South Mall is continued along the South Channel of the Lee
by Lapps Quay, at the end of which, at the junction of the two
channels of the river, is the Custom House. On the opposite side

of South Channel, reached from Lapps Quay by Parnell Bridge,
is Albert Quay Station (for Bantry, &c.). Following the quay
past that, we see a few yards to the right, Albert Street
Station (for Blackrock and Passage West), and soon reach the
Marina, a riverside walk with a pretty view across the water.

To the right is the Race Course and the City Park, which is still

too untimbered to be very attractive, at any rate to the stranger.

This way it is IJ miles from Parnell Bridge to Blackrock, and
i mile more to Blackrock Castle

; p, 70.]

We now proceed to St. Finbar's Cathedral by crossing Parnell
Bridge and turning to the right along the quays. On reaching
George's Quay, Holy Trinity, church and monastery, of which
Father Mathew was the superior, is across the river, and we turn,

left, up Dunbar Street, to the (K.C.) Church of St. Finharre, where
the altar is noteworthy for Hogan's noble sculpture of Christ in

the Sepulchre. From the far end of Dunbar Street turn to the
right, and keep on past St. Nicholas Church to Barrack Street, and
there turn to the left and then, right, along Fort Street. Here is

Elizabeth Fort, which we follow round, right, into Bishop Street.

The Catbedral of St. Flnbar (Ch. of Ireland) thus ap-

proached from the eastward is, both in style (French Early
Pointed) and in its proportions and the grouping of its parts (to

compare small with great), very like Bayeux. The architect was
Wm. Burges, A.R.A. (d. 1881), and the whole design, utterly un-
English in character, is, considering the intercourse between
France and the S. of Ireland in days gone by, as appropriate here,

as it would be inappropriate for an English Cathedral. The
central tower-and-spire is 240 ft. high, those at the west end
180 ft., the total external length of the building from W. to E.
being about 175 ft.

The first church on this site was founded by St. Finbar early in the 7th

cent. (A.D. 606 ?) in connection with a college or abbey, which soon rose to fame
and attracted many scholars. About it population gathered and thus began
the city of Cork, but both abbey and city sutfered terribly and repeatedly from
the Danes in the 9th, 10th, and 11th "centuries. In 1134 tlie abbey was re-

founded for Canons Regular (Augustines), and the church then built was not

wholly removed till about 1735. In it (probably) Spenser, the poet, was
married, June 11, 1594, and in 1688, its steeple being garrisoned by the Enghsh,
it was much injured by the Irish guns of the fort hard by. In 1735 it was re-

placed by a Doric church, which in its turn made way for the present building

begun in 1862, consecrated in 1870, and completed, exclusive of internal

decorations, in 1879.

The West Front is at once dignified and rich, and is flanked by

lofty towers with spires. The carvings of the central (double)

portal have the Bridegroom in the centre, and on either side the
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Wise and Foolish Virgins. Above is the West rose-window. The
N. and S. Portal have statues of apostles and evangeHsts.

The plan of the cathedral includes nave, with aisles, transept,

and apsidal chancel. The ritual choir occupies the space beneath

the central lantern and terminates eastward in a semi-circular

apse, around which runs an ambulatory, a continuation of the

nave aisles.

The principal internal dimensions are : total length, 162^ ft. ;

width, 56^ /«. ; transept, from N. to S., 81^ /f.; height of roof,

68J ft. ; height of lantern, 101 ft.

In so new a building the objects of interest are necessarily few.

Of the stained glass windows, fairly satisfactory as a whole, two
commemorate heroes of the Zulu War, 1879. The second in the

N. aisle is to Lieut. Melville, and the second in the S. transept to

his friend and comrade Lieut. Coghill. The subjects of the
windows of the aisles and transepts are from the Old Testament,
beginning with the West rose-window, the Creation. Those of

the ambulatory are from the New Testament, the series beginning
at the N. end. In the S. transept, on a bracket is a cannon ball,

found imbedded in the steeple of the old church (see small type

p. 66, A.D. 1688).

Of the internal fittings, the most noticeable are the Font and
the Puljyit, the latter with figures of the Four Evangelists and
St. Paul. The Bishop's Throne has on its panels representations

of bishops of the see, beginning with St. Finbar, the founder,

and ending with Bp. John Gregg, in whose episcopate the present
church was erected, and of whose piety and munificence it is in

great part a memorial.

The Mosaic Pavement of the Apse is intended to portray
St. Matt, xiii., 47, " the kingdom of heaven is like unto a net
that was cast into the sea and gathered of every kind."

On the outermost border, between the pillars, are the corks ; next is a border
representing the waves of the sea, while the meshes of the net which form the
main pattern of the pavement are filled with marine creatures and figures
emblematic of the several classes to be enclosed in the Gospel net : king,
doctor, woodman, husbandman, fisherman, slave, &c. Tlie work was executed
in Paris bj- artists-in-mosaic from Udiue, in N. Italy. The marbles used were
from the Pyrenees.

On quitting the Cathedral turn to the left into Gill Abbey
Street, and there to the right past the Bishop's Palace. Beyond
this do not take the road on the right (that leads below the college

grounds) but follow College Road. In a few minutes you will

reach Queen's Collegre, established in 1849, and occupying the
site of Gill Abbey, the monastery which grew out of St. Finbar's
foundation. The college buildings are of limestone, and form
three sides of a handsome quadrangle in the Tudor style. Being
one of the " godless " colleges it has never found favour with the
B.C. authorities, and the total number of students entering the
three foundations—Galway (very few students) and Belfast being
the others—has only once, in 1881-2, exceeded 400, and since then
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has dropped to less than 300. At Cork the average of late years
has been about 100.

The pleasantest way back to the centre of the city from Queen's
College is to go round the Gaol, right, and across the South
Channel to the Western Koad and the Mardyke (jy. 65).

[If St. Anne Shandon is now to be visited, then from the east

end of the Mardyke you can follow the quays to Northgate Bridge-

at the end of North Main Street. Cross the bridge, bear a little

to the right and go up Shandon Street as far as Church Sireei,'

right. This leads to St. Anne Shandon, rendered famous by
Father Prout's lyric in praise of

. . . the bells of Shandon,

That sound so grand on

The pleasant waters

Of the river Lee.

The church (built in 1722) itself is only remarkable for its

steeple. The tower is of limestone on the S. and W. and of redstone
on the N. and E. The white steeple above is of three stages and
carries a lantern also of three stages, the total height being 170
feet. The vieiv from it is well worth the trouble of ascending it.

The eight bells (one recast) are by the celebrated bell-founder,

Abel Eudhall of Gloucester, and are dated 1750. " Father Prout

"

(Rev. Francis Mahony, 1805-66) is buried in the family vault

close to the tower.

The R. C. Cathedral (St. Mary's) in New Eoad, is only a short

distance from St. Anne's, Go up the street from that church and
at the top turn to the left. The Cathedral was built in 1808 and'

has a lofty tower, but architecturally is of no account, and the

interior is more ornate than beautiful. A few steps west of the

Cathedral we re-enter Shandon St., and the quickest way back

is to proceed down it.

For a view of the city and dow^n the harbour it is worth while

going down Neto Road (from the E.C. Cathedral), then sharp to

the left by Roman St. and then square to the right, along Old

Youghal Road. This leads past the Barracks, and the Military

Eoad, opposite them, may be taken in returning.]

Cork to Blarney. Cork and Muskerry Railway, 8f m.;

fares : Is. 2J., Id. ; ret., Is. Sd., lOd.

This little line, which starts near the west end of Great George's

Street (D 1), ascends first the main valley of the Lee and then

that of a tributary, the Shournagh. It passes through some
very pretty scenery, and is the popular excursion from Cork.

Leaving the spires of St. Finbar's Cathedral behind us, and
passing, left, just below Queen's College and the Male Prison,

we see on the other side the Convent of the Good Shepherd

and the Female Prison. Then, on the right, the City Waterworks
and the handsome District Lunatic Asylum. On the left is a

Model Farm for training pui^ils in scientific husbandry. The
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bottom of the valley here is flat, but bordered by wooded slopes.

At Carrigrohane Station, 3^ i/t.,close to which is a large disused

mill, the valley widens and, crossing the Lee, we enter the Shour-

nagh valley. From this point the line, which thus far has been
along one side of the high road, leaves it and follows the narrow
silvan valley to Healifs Bridge, whence the main-line goes on to

Coachford (Burke's), 15J m. from Cork. The country now opens
out and, crossing a wide flat pasture we come to St. Ann's Station

for St. Ann's Hill, Hydro', which will be seen, pleasantly placed on
the hill-side, left from just beyond the station. [St. Ann's is

the junction for Dononghmore, a bleak uninteresting neighbour-
hood.] Blarney Castle next appears on the right and we reach
the terminus at Blarney Village (small hotel near the station).

Tickets for the Castle {6d. each) may be had at the station,

whence crossing the line we reach the Castle by a foot-path in 3

or 4 minutes.

Blarney (small hotel at the Bridge) is only a village of 800 iuhab. on the
Blarney river, a tributary of the Shournagh, which is itself a tributary of the
river Lee. Blarney tweeds are in some repute. Tlie Castle (6rf.) is little more
than a square tower, abt. 120 ft., with machicolated battlements, amidst fine

timber. It was a stronghold of the McCarthys. The celebrated Blarney stone,
sung by Father Prout (who added a verse to Milliken's " Groves of Blarney "),

is fixed to the parapet by irons some feet from the top, and to kiss it you
have to lie on your back over the machicolation. The Rockclose is small laut

rather pretty, a garden laid out with walks and arbours. The small Lake is

pretty, and holds " a famous red-trout." The modern Blarney Castle was built
by Sir Geo. Colthurst, Bt., whose seat it is.

St. Ann's Hill, hydropathic estab., is pleasantly situated 2\ m, from
Blarney. A car should be written for beforehand.
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The map facing p. 69 illustrates the choice of routes to Queens-
town : (a) Eail all the way from Glanmire, llf m. in about 25
to 35 min. (b) By rail from Albert Street to Passage, 6^ in. in 12 to

18 min., thence steamer (in connection) in 20 to 30 min. (c) By
steamer from St. Patrick's Bridge (plan C 4).

Steamers.—In summer there is at least one " Harbour Ex-
cursion " on weekdays from St. Patrick's Bridge to Aghada and
back calling at intermediate piers. The steamers from Passage
nearly all call at Queenstown but from there to Aghada and
Crpsshaven is by different vessels. For times and fares see Guy's
Time Tables (Id. monthly), which also gives the Public Cars in

connection with steamers to Cloyne, p. 12.; Ballycottin {Sea View),
a small bathing-place on the bay of that name ; and Trabolgan, the
demesne of Lord Fermoy, a favourite resort for picnics. It is

well wooded and has a good strand within easy reach of Roches
Point Lighthouse.

If time permit and the weather be favourable we recommend
the Cork Harbour steamers to be used at least in one direction.

The rail from Cork to Queenstown affords some tine views. Unless
the tourist has a reason for wishing to go to Crosshaven, it is a
more picturesque course to Aghada, and thence Cloyne {p. 72) can
be visited.

After leaving St. Patrick's Quay you soon pass, right, the
Custom House, where the two channels of the Lee unite. Then
the high, wooded, north bank of the river is thickly dotted with
the villas of Tivoli (associated with Sir Walter Balegh), Monte

-

notte and Lota ; the last so highly praised by Arthur Young for

its silvan beauty. The south shore is flat and along it is the
Marina and the still rather poor City Park. The Glanmire stream
runs in on the north bank just as the channel turns southward
off the picturesque Blackrock Castle, right, a modern lighthouse

on the site of a 17th cent, castle of the Mountjoy family. The view
of Cork, looking back, is fine from here. The wide expanse now
reached is Lough Mahon, and high on the north shore is the
Mathew Tower, a memorial to Father Mathew [p. 65). Little

Island is now for 2 miles on the left, and in a bay on the right is

the little Hop Island, so named, says the local guide, from having
been owned by a family who taught dancing, in Cork. Ahead
appears Foaty and presently a Martello tower and the keep of

Belvelly Castle. Turning southward the steamer passes Passage,

right, prettily wooded, with a forest of masts at its quay.

The town of Passage is both large and spacious,
And situated upon the say ;

'Tis it<i/e and (bto'nt and quite adjacent.

To conic from Cork ou a summer's day.
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there you may slip in aud take a dippiii'

Forenent the shippin' that at anchor ride ;

Or in a wherry cross over the ferry,

To Carrigaloe on the other side.

Father Prout.

\Ve then enter the narrow channel between Great Island, left,

and the mainland. Glenbrook, half-a-mile further on, is the

first calling-place. Adjoining the hotel is the Cork Harbour
Rowing Club club-house. The shore beyond this, known as the
GianVs Stairs, consists of ledges of sandstone rock. Monks-
town, ^ w. beyond Glenbrook, is a favourite and pretty watering-

place with the ruins of a 17th cent. Castle, and adjoining that a
small ruined chapel. The Castle Grounds command a fine view
of the harbour. There is a ferry across the river to Rushbrook.

After leaving Monkstown the steamer calls at Ri7ig (or Ringa-
skiddy) and then enters Cork Harbour proper, and heads eastward
past Haidbowline, right, to Queenstown.

Cork to Queenstown, llf in., by rail.

The line runs eastward alongside the estuary of the Lee, and
Blackrock Castle {p. 70) is seen on the right. At Queenstoion
June. (6 m.) it turns southward and, after passing Foafy {or Porta)
Station, affords a fine view, right, up Lough Mahon. Then it

follows the W. shore of Great Island, in view of Passage and
Glenbrook on the opposite shore. Beyond Rushbrook, 10^^ vi,,

there is another good view, right, of Monkstown and of the arm
of the harbour between that and Ringaskiddy.

Hotels : Qiteen's, a large first-class house overlooking the Quay and Harbour,
about 3 min. walk from the Railway Station. Kilmurray's Royal ; Rob Roy ;

and Beach. For steamsas to Cork, see j>. 70.

For rail from Cork see above. Queenstown, on the south
shore of Great Island (pop. 9,082), received its present name on the
occasion of the Queen's visit to it in 1849. Before that it was
known as Cove, or the Cove of Cork. It is a pleasant bright place,
enjoys a singularly mild climate, and commands a fine view of
the harbour, which is always interesting on account of the shipping.
The business portion, including the best shops, is along the quay,
above and behind which the town rises in a series of terraces along
the face of a steep hill. The chief building is the modern and
exceedingly elaborate R. C. Cathedral. It is perhaps the most
richly decorated and most costly building of its kind in this
country. Notice the peculiar wall-screens of the nave and the
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ornate apse. The Royal Cork Yacht Club has its headquarters at

Queenstown. Rushhrook is the residential suburb of Queenstown
and a promenade connects them.
From Queenstown you have the choice of steamers to Aghada

or Crosshaven, and in either case get a full view of the noble

expanse of the harbour. (This part is briefly described p. 63.)

There is nothing of interest in Crosshaven {Crosshaven, good)

itself, which is shut in on a creek, but a walk of a mile or so

leads to Church Bay, so named from a church on the hill above
it. This is on the open sea opposite Roche's Point, and is

a favourite for bathing and picnics. The hill commands a fine

view up the harbour. It is 15 m. by road (uninteresting) from
Kinsale.

Supposing the Aghada steamer to be taken, then you land at

Lower Aghada, and will find conveyances (6rf.) for the drive

past RosteUan (1^ m ;
grounds open on Thurs.—very charming) and

Castlemary (4 m.) to the village of Cloyne (5^ m. Dunne's). This
is famous for its Round Tower, 102 ft. including modern parapet,

which adjoins the Cathedral, now the Prot, church. The see is

merged in that of Cork. It was once held by Bp. Berkeley

{d. 1753) the metaphysician, to whom a tomb with effigy, by Mr.

Bruce Joy, was placed in 1889. The building dates from the 13th

cent, and has a good E. window of 5 lights. Within are pre-

served the remains of St. Colman's house, the founder of the

abbey in 707. The return to Cork may be made from Midleton

Station (5 m.) or Castleviartyr Station (6 m.) on the Youghal line
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*,* Hie plying of the Blackwater depends upon the tide and other circum-
stances. It is well to write beforehand to the Agent, Blackwater Steamer,
Youghal.

"THE BLACKWATER TOUR.

Cork to Youghal, by rail, 27 m.

This line forms part of the " Blackwater Tour " from Cork, and during the
season circular tickets (permitting break of journey) are issued for the
round : Cork to Youghal (rail), Cappoquin (steamer) and back to Cork vid

Mallow (rail) or vice vers<t (First, 10s. 6d. ; Second 8*.).

The trains start from Glanmire Terminus, and the route is

the same as for Queenstown {p. 71) as far as Queenstoicn Junction

(6 m,), a Httle beyond which the hne strikes inland through a
pastoral country past Carrigtohill (9 ni.) and over the Owenacarra
River to Midhton (12^ m.).

Midleton (Inns : Midleton Arms, D'Alton's), a. small agricultural town on
tlio Owenacarra. There is a large whisky distillery and a scliool, Midleton
College, where Curran was educated. Close to the distillery is tlie ford which
Ralegh held single-handed against the "wild Irish rebels" till his own men
came up ; c/. Scott's Kenilworth chap. xv.

Ballynacorra {Inn) is IJ m. S. from Midleton Station, and 3^ m, further
ie Cloyne {p. 72).

The next station is Mogreeley (17^ m.) from which a road, due
S., leads in IJ w. to Castlemartyr, a village situated just outside

the park.

Castlemartyi^ (Earl of Shannon ; house not shown). Ask leave at the
lodge to walk round the Park. The best view-point is the bridge over the Lake,
but the whole of the grounds are picturesque. Of the two old churches which
formerly existed here there are no remains, but the site of one is now a burial-
ground. The fine ruin of Imokilly Castle of which a large square tower
is the cliief feature, is worth seeing. It was the seneschal of Imokilly whose
men Ralegh held at bay {above).

; From Castlemartyr to Cloyne (p. 71) is 6 m., either by Lady's Bridge
(1 m. S.), where turn to the right; or by the road skirting the N. side of
the Park.

At Xllleag-h (20 m.) the village (Inn) is on the left at the foot

of the beautiful glen of tlie Dissour which runs through the
grounds of Aghadoe (Sir A. E. de C. Brooke, Bt.). Two miles
further the ruin of Inchiquin Castle is half-a-mile to the right.

The station at Touflrtaal (27 m.) is close to the sea.
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Approaclie* : rail from Cork/). 73 ; steamer (in summer) from Cappoquin
(p. 76).

- Sotels : Green Park, if m. from station, overlooking the bay ; Devonshire
Arms (old town, 50*-. a week, good) ; Atlantic, near station, 3'js. a week.

Post Office in North Main Street. English mails Del. 8 a.m., 5.20 p.m. Desp.

12.10, 7.50 p.m.

Omnibuses, from hotels, meet the trains : fare 6d.

Cars : for 3 persons, to hotels or steamers, 1*.

Steanier-qitay, 1| m. from station. Ferry (^d. ; for Ardmore, etc.)

from the same point, every half-hour.

•ft* The station is close to the sea, and the way to hotels and steamer-quay is

bj the coast-road, northwards. When tlie road divides (in about 1 ;«.) turn to

the left for Main Street, but keep almost straight on for the steamer-quay. The
latter can, howevsr, be reached from Main Street in a few yards.

%* Visitors making a stay of some length at Youglial may find Canon
Hayman's "Memorials of Youghal" interesting.

Youghal {pron. Yawl; pop. about 4,000) consists of two
distinct portions: "The Strand," most frequented by summer
visitors, is close to the station, overlooking the picturesque

Youghal Baj% which is bounded on the East by hilly ground
(239 ft.) at the mouth of the Blackwater, and South, has a low
shore with fine sands extending to Knockadoon Head (135 ft.

;

4 miles off) and its islet, Capel Island. This, the modern seaside

part of the place, consists of a row of villas and lodging-houses
along the shore, and the Green Park Hotel may be said to belong

to it. As a bathing-place, it is about the pleasantest spot in the

S. of Ireland.

Youghal, proper, is an old and fairly picturesque town of one
long street. Main Street, and a parallel river frontage. It is a
mile north from the station, and occupies the foot of a hill which
rises rather steeply from the shore of the Blackwater, whose
estuary widens out above the town, and but for the bar across its

mouth would form a commodious harbour. At present Youghal
is a sleepy place, but many of the houses show signs of former
wealth and prosperity, and it was once a post of some strength

under the Geraldines. It has an important salmon-fishery but no
sea-going trade. Of its Walls, more than half are standing on
the West and North of the town, and can be viewed from a lane

on the outside, along the face of the hill above Main Street and
adjoining the church-yard {p. 75). The Water Gate, through
which Cromwell entered, is still perfect.
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Proceeding up Main Street and under the Clock Gate (four

stories, and a feature of the town) we pass, on the right, an ancient

tower known as Tynte's Castle. About 30 yards beyond this, by-

taking a side street on the left, we ascend to St. Mary's Cbureb
(key at cottage by the iron gates) which is the chief object of

interest. Crossing the quiet grave-yard past the massive tower of

the church, "Cromwell's Tower," we reach the W. door which is

Early English but much weathered. The interior of the building

is both beautiful and striking. The wooden roof is said to be of the

13th century. Before the coming of the Normans there was a church
on this site, and some of the pillars of the nave rest on old tomb-
stones. The church was rebuilt by the 8th Earl of Desmond, who
founded a college in connection with it in 1464. It was restored

at the beginning of the 17th cent, by the "great" Earl of Cork,
but was soon permitted to fall into dilapidation, and the really

noble building is probably now handsomer than at any previous
period.

On the N. wall of the nave hangs the curious Cradle of the
Corporation Sword—the sword itself being at Lismore, In the S.

transept, on the E. side, is the tomb of Earl Desmond and his

countess, and opposite is a Cork (Boyle) Monument, similar to the
one in St. Patrick's {p. 11). At the N.W. corner of the N.
transept, a round-headed arch is pointed out as a Norman tomb-
recess.

The chancel has a fine East window of six lights, unfortunately
filled with gaudy heraldic glass. On the S. side, towards the W.,
note the Sedilia.

Adjoining the church-yard is Myrtle Grove (the caretaker of

the church will show the way to it), famous as having belonged
to Sir Walter Kalegh, who had large estates granted to him as

one of the Undertakers in the Plantation of Munster. The house
is substantially unaltered, and is an unpretending gabled house
of the 16th century. Under a group of four yews, a few yards
past the front of the house, Kalegh perhaps smoked his new-
found tobacco, and in the garden planted potatoes for the first

time in Ireland. In regard to the yews, whose girth is insig-

nificant, it is difficult to believe that they are 300 years old.

Youghal, if it means the "yew wood," as Mr. Joyce tells us it

does, might be expected to be at least ordinarily favourable to

the growth of the tree, yet many specimens considerably less

than 100 years old have stouter trunks.

Of the two monastic foundations, STortb Abbey and South
Abbey which once existed here, only some fragments of the
former (the W. gable of the church with a triplet of lancets and
a pier between the choir and S. transept) are in the cemetery left

at the N. end of Main Street, just outside the walls. The Collegre
(in Nelson St. close to the Church) already mentioned, passed
through Ralegh to the Earl of Cork, and William Congreve, the
dramatist, lived there for some years with his father, who was the
Earl's agent.
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The R. C. Church (in a lane parallel to Main Street on the
side of the hill) is only noticeable for the elaborate altar, a
memorial of Canon Murphy {d. 1885).

Youg:lial to Ardniore, 6 m. Including Earn Head, the distance there
and back would be about 12^ m. From Youghal, vid Ardmore, to Dungarvan
(p. 49) is 19 m.

. Cross the Ferry (every ^ hr., fare ^d.), and at a fork about J m. from the land-
ing-place, take the right-hand road and keep straight forward at successive
cross-roads, you pass through the hamlet of Springfield, and along the head of
"Whiting Bay, and then by an inland course due east.

Ardmore (small Hotel) can hardly claim to be considered a watering-place,
biit is rather a village by the sea. Its interest for the traveller consists in its

antiquities, and two of these, the Oratory of St. Declan and the Cathedral, we
find at the entrance to the village, by tlie road we have taken. The Oratory
measures about 13 ft. by 9 ft., and is of tlie rude masonry commonly found in
such structures. It is said to mark the burial-place of St. Declan, Bishop of

Ardmore, whom legend makes one of St. Patrick's predecessors in the conver-
sion of Ireland. His real date was, probably, 6-7th cent. Tlie Cuthedral is

chiefly noticeable externally for the curious carvings, in two groups of niches,
on the W. wall of the entrance, whilst inside, the one feature is the beautiful
pointed chancel-arcli. The Nave is in style Romanesque, but the chancel is

older and in part apparently of the same date as the Oratory, 7 th cent.

Just inside the chancel arcli are two Ogham stones. Ardmore ceased to be a
bishop's see in 1150. Down to 1838 the chancel was used for worship.

The Round Toxier (97 ft.) is of four stories, marked by projecting rings. The
door, 13 feet from the bottom, is accessible by a ladder, and there is a stair

within. The cap is a modern and disfiguring restoration.

Proceeding eastward for about ^ m. towards Ardmore Head, we find, a little

beyond Rock House, the remains of Teampull-Deiscart, " Church of the South,"
of the 13th century, and close to it is .SY. Declan''s Well— note the quaint
crucifixes—which, together with St. Declaii's Stone, on the beach, is an object of

pilgrimage on St. Declan's Day (July 24).

There is an alternative road (8 m.) back to Youghal, by Orossford Bridge and
Youghal Bridge, but no scenery of sufficient account to compensate for the
extra distance.

Youghal to Cappoquin (River Blackwater), 16 m. In

If hrs. by steamer.

The Steamer Quay at Youghal is 1| m. from the Station, and is

reached by Main Street.

The steamer plies during the summer season only, and is dependent oh the
tide. Fares: Between Youghal and Camphire or Cdppoquin, 2s., Is. Ad.i
return, 35., 2s.— YoHghal dnd Villiei'stown, Is. Brf., \s.; return, 2i. Zd., \i. Od.-^

VilUerstotrn and Cappoquin, each way, Is. Qd.

On certain days excursion return tickets, 1st class, between Youghal and
Cappoquin, 2s. ; also circular tickets, rail and steamer, see p. 73.

The Blackwater is not like the Bhine ! The estuary and
town will recall to the traveller in Cornwall the Fal and
Falmouth.

Route. A little above our starting point the estuary expands,

and is fully a mile wide. Soon, on the hillside N. of the town,





EriockadoowV'^

TOTTGHALTO USMORE
BLACKWATER RIVER

O 1 2 3 4 B Miles

fiHiD Baj^iolaiiieiv A (

i



BLACKWATER TOUR. 77

the Barracks and above them the Poorhouse are conspicuous.
In something less than 2 m. we pass through the iron Bridge.

It has five spans of 100 ft. and a swing section to allow vessels-

to pass through it and, reckoning the causeway (pierced by twenty
arches) which connects it with the W. bank, has a total length of

abt. J m. Just above the bridge, left, is the confluence of the
Tourig River with, on its N. bank, Rhincrew (j)- 79). Our course
lies round this point, and the scenery as the river narrows
becomes delightful. On the N. bank opposite Rhincrew is

Ardsallagh House, and a mile or so beyond this on the W. bank
and S. of the mouth of the Glendine, the ivied keep of Temple
Michael {p. 79), wrecked by Cromwell, and the Church. On the
same side of the Blackwater but N. of the Glendine is the
demesne of Ballynatray, and on an islet (joined to the shore)
are the ruins of Molana Abbey (p. 79). At Ballynatray
House, left, the river bends E. and expands. On the E. bank is

lyLoughtane House, and just beyond it the wide bay into which
the Licky River empties. This charming portion of the Black-
water is known as the Broad of Clashmore (Clashmore House and
village up the next valley on the E.). The E. bank is now dull

lor a time, but the Knockmealdown Mtns. grow on the view
ahead. As the river banks again approach one another we soon
come in sight of the ruins of {old) Strancally Castle, on a'

rocky point projecting from the E. bank.

" The foundations spring from within a dozen feet of the water's edge

;

beneath are tlie traces of a rude landing-place, scooped out of the hard, black
cliff ; and as you pass you look back upon open arches tlirougli which there must-
have been access to the basement of the castle. Lower still is a cave or natural
oubliette communicating with the river (the ' Murdering Hole '), through which,

,

according to tradition, the Desmonds of Strancally used to throw the bodies of.

their unfortunate victims."

On the same side, abt. 3 m. further (passing half-way Coneen
Ferry) is {new) Strancally Castle, a large modern castellated

mansion with a finely timbered park, occupying the angle formed
by the confluence of the Bride River. Opposite the castle is

Bunmore Ferry. Yet a mile or so above the mouth of the Bride
and on the W. bank is Campbire {Bromana Ferry ; abt.

5 m. by road to Lismore), and on the opposite bank the village

of Villierstoicn. Next, passing an island, both banks become
richly wooded: on the E. Dromana Forest, on the W., Killahaly,

which extends to the mouth of the Owbeg. Bromana House, in a
superb situation well up above the E. bank, opposite the con-
fluence, is a plain substantial mansion and distinct from Dromana
Castle, the birthplace of the famous centenarian, the Countess of

Desmond {temp. Henry VII.—James I.). The ruins of the latter

building are in the grounds, to which the public are allowed
access. A mile above Dromana, but on the W. bank, is Tourin,^

just beyond which the Finish flows in on the E. [In the grounds-
of Affane House, a short distance up the Finisk, Ralegh planted
the first cherry-tree] . Affane Church, and then Mount liiyeri are
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now on the right, and opposite the latter Drumroe CastU. The
channel of the river is here divided by osier islets, and the view
ahead is one of the most beautiful in the course of the voyage, the
wooded N. bank of the stream above Cappoquin being backed by
the Knockmealdown range rising behind Mount Melleray Mon-
astery [heloic). At Cappoquin the landing-place is close to the
railway bridge, about ^ w. W. of the station.

Cappoquin (Hotels : EarringtoTi's, Is. Qd. day ; MorrUei/s.
Walsh's Cars to Lismore and to Mt. Melleray, Is. each way), on
the Blackwater, where that river after its long eastward course
turns due south. This unattractive village occupies a lovely spot,

beautifully wooded, and is fairly seen from the railway bridge
beyond the station, but everyone who can afford the time should
break the journey here. By road (4 m.) to Lismore is charming,
see p. 81. For rail to Mallow, see p. 80.

Xoant Melleray aiona^tery, 3| m. direct ; 4^ m. by the Caher road.
The two roads converge a few yar<ls short of Boola Br., the direct one ascending
steeply past Cappoquin Ho. (Sir R. F. Keane, Bt.), left ; the longer (taken by
cars), going E. tor a mile and then wp the wooded Gleushelane for f ?/»., when it

tarns N.W, and still ascends. At lioola Bridge turn to the right, descend to
the Monanigga stream, cross it, and take the middle road ; the spire and build-
ings of the^Monastery will be seen above the trees. Passing left, a. Guest-house tor
ladies, who cannot enter the abbey, and a National School, we reach a walled-in
avenue and the buildings devoted to the higher-class boys, who are educated
free by the monks, but pay for their board. Mount Melleray Monastery
is on the S. slope of the Knockmealdown Mountains, at about 650 ft. above the
sea. It was founded in 1830 for Trappists expelled from France, some 500 acres,
of what was then a bleak bare hill-side, being given to the brethren by SirR.
Keane. Now, besides flourishing plantings tTiere is a good farm, worked, as it

was, indeed, created, by the monks. The buildings, too, are their work, and if

not altogether handsome are certainly substantial. The principal part consists
of a large quadrangle, and everything is courteously and intelligently shown
by the porter. No charge whatever is made, and visitors, for whom there are
two comfortable guest-houses, with hospitable entertainment and good beds,

need not even make an offering, though few would willingly miss that pleasure.

The inmates consist of Fathers, who wear white, and Lay Brothers, whose dress
seems to be of brown liomespun. The numbers vary, and some have been
draft 3d off to the recently-founded House of the Order at Roscrea. At the
time of our visit the community numbered about 100, of whom one-third were
Fathers. The two most interesting apartments are the Chapel, a striking

interior, and the Dormitory, with its cramped stall-like cubicles, bare of all

but a hard bed and a crucifix. The life of the inmates is very severe. They
usually rise at 2 a.m., and are engaged in devotions chiefly till 10 or 11,

when they have their first meal of coarse bread, porridge, and vegetables.

Work and'prayer fill up the day till 6 p.m., when another similar meal is taken,
water in each case being the only beverage. Then more devotions, and at

8 p.m. they go to bed. Even in the case of the aged and infirm the diet is very
slightly improved, and, for all except the porter and teachers silence is the
standing rule, its necessary breach being reduced to a minimum. Notice the
boys' school with its birds and plants.

Youghal to Cappoquin (or Lismore), by road.

Distances: Youghal (town) to Rhincrew Bridge, l^/n ; Templemichael. 4m;
Bridge over the Glendine, 4| m ; Molana Abbey, 5^ m ; Bridge over the Bride,

12i m ; Killahaly Bridge, 14| wj ; Cappoquin Bridge, 17^ m. (Station, 17| m.).
— Killahaly Bridge to Lismore, 3 m. (station, 3f ;«.).

— Bridge over the Bride {rid Dromana Ferry) to Cappoquin, abt. 7 m.
— Youghal (town) to Tallow, 14 m ; Tallow Bridge, 15 m ; Lismore, 19j m.
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Remarks. The road to Cappoquin is not equal in beauty to the

voyage by steamer, because it misses the part of the river lying

between Molana Abbey and Camphire. On the other hand it

permits of Rhincrew Castle, Templemichael Castle, and Molana
Abbey being examined, and by crossing the river at Dromana
Ferry the pedestrian will also include the lovely demesne of

Dromana.

The road to Lismore vid Tallow, misses all the Blackwater

scenery, as it strikes away from that river after crossing Rhincrew
Bridge. It is quite unmistakable, and calls for no description.

For Tallow and Tallow Bridge see p. 81.

Cappoquin Road. Proceed up Main Street, and keep straight on
past the turn, right, to Youghal Bridge {p. 77). At Rhincrew
Bridge (If m.) cross the Tourig, where, with the tide in, the view
is pretty. Turn at once to the right, and if you wish to visit the
ruins on the hill above, to the left, in a few yards, and take the path
up the hill, ithlncrew Castle was a preceptory of the Knights
Templars founded by Raymond le Gros in 1183. The remains are

not of much interest, but the view from the hill is worth the

slight detour. Return to the road and proceed to the left. When
round the point, Ardsallagh House is across the river. At a junc-

tion of four roads (4 m.) turn to the right for a glance at the keep
of Temple Mlcbael Castle, which, with a small church, occupies

the point at the mouth of the Glendine. Return to the junction

of roads and turn to the right, that is along the continuation of

the road from which you diverged. Over the brow you will reach
the bridge across the Glendine.

For Molana Abbey (abt. 1^ m. there and back from the bridge) turn at
once to the riglit and follow the patli by the waterside. The ruins are on the
bank of the Blackwater, on the beautiful demesne of, and a little below, Ballij-

natray House (Hon. C. W. More Smyth). The name Molana is said to be
derived from the reputed founder of the Abbey, St. Molanfide, about whom
almost the only thing known is that he was " abbot of Dairin'is at Lis-mor-
Mochuda " and of royal lineage. His date is not recorded in the Martyr. Doneg.
which supplies this information. That he lived before the end of the 6th cent.,

and may have founded the abbey (the ruins are, of course, mediaeval) is ren-
dered possible because the abbey was then in existence, and had, as one of its

abbots, Fachtna, first Bp. of Boss (Carbery) who died, according to the Annals of
Innis/allen, A.D., 600.

Round the centre court, in which is a Statue of St. Molanfide (the inscription
must be read subject to the caveat above ; the " habit " is, of course, an
anachronism), runs an open Cloister, off which are the Dormitories. On one side

is a small Chapel with an Urn in memory of RajTnond le Gros (see Rhincrew
above). On the other side of the court is the Refectory, and near it the Kitchen,
with the Well (which was very deep) outside, but now filled up. The large
Chapel consisting of nave and choir, contains two tombstones to ecclesiastic!

(note the crosier). There are also remains of the Belfry {novf called the Wishing
Tower) and, about 20 yards from the main building, the gable of what is sup-
posed to have been the Abbot's House. The abbey was much injured temp.
Elizabeth, and still more so in Cromwell's time. Outside the abbey is an in*

Bcription. " This abbey, anciently called Darinis, on the island of St. Molan-
fide, since Molana, was united to the mainland of Ballynatray by Gricc
Smyth, Esq., A.D. 1806."
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From the bridge over the Glendine follow the road (avoid turns
off from it) vsrhich goes over the hill past a chapel and school (abt.

7^ m. from Youghal inclusive of the detour to Molana Abbey), and
at 9 m. forks. There go to the right, and about 1^ m. onward turn

to the right out of the main road, along one that passes a short

distance to the left of a chapel. This leads past New Strancally

Castle (10| m. ; for old Strancally Castle, see p. 77), which is finely"-

placed above the Blackwater.

Just beyond the castle a road leads down to Dunmore Ferry (for the village

of Aijlish).

About ^ m. beyond Strancally you cross a small stream and
rejoin the main road, and there, turning right, pass round the

grounds of Headborough House, and by a sharp turn, right, to the

bridge over the Bride. Cross the bridge and you then have a
choice of routes. If time permits, choose {h).

(a) The main road straight on at first, and then bending to the

right, strikes the Blackwater in a long mile, and follows it up past
Dromana (see h) to Killahaly Bridge over the Owbeg. Thence,
after skirting the Tourin demesne, right, it turns right, left, and
right in quick succession, and once more joins the Blackwater \m.
short of the railway, under which you go to Cappoquin Bridge, a

sweet spot. Turn to the right, when across that, for Cappoquin
[p. 78) and the station (^ m.).

(6) From the N. side of the bridge over the Bride, turn off to the

right to Caxnpblre (Dromana Ferry), a calling-place for the

summer steamer, in connection with which a public car runs to

and from Lismore. Cross the ferry, and ascend to Villierstown,

J m. From the church follow the road northward, and in ^ m. turn

left towards the river, and follow the road up it through Dromaha

:

Forest, past Dromana House (p. 17). Keeping straight on,

Tourin Castle is seen on the far side of the river, and then you
cross the Finisk and join a main road and follow it past Mount
Rivers to Cappoquin (p. 78).

Aflfane House, where the cherry was first introduced by Ralegh, is on
the Finisk, ^ m. up-stream from where you cross it.

Cappoquin to Mallow by rail, 36 m.

N.B.—The railway between Cappoquin and Fermoy, though
it affords some sweet views, misses much of the best of the

scenery of this lovely section of the Blackwater, notably at

Lismore, perhaps the most beautiful spot of all. The road,

(p. 81) on the contrary, is delightful throughout and should

at least be taken as far as Ballyduff Station.

The line, ^ m. W. of Cappoquin Station, crosses the mouth of

ike Gkmhelane and immediately afterwards the Blackwater, in

each case with a lovely view on the right, including the finely^
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placed Cappoquin House (Sir R. F. Keane, Bart.) ovferlooking the

bend of the river. For the next 2 m. we wind along the vale, but

then turn away from the river, and only get a peep of the spire of

the Cathedral as we approach Iilsmore (4 m. ; p. 82) whose
station is to the S. of the town and a mile from the river and
castle. From Lismore to Tallow Road {6| in.) trees hinder the

view.

TaIlo^vbridg:e on the Bride is 3 rn. south, and about J m. up that stream
is Listinny Castle, a ruined tower, in which for some weeks during tlie latter

part of 1887 a Nationalist M.P. defied the police. Talloiw (Inn : Deronsbire
Arms) is 1 /«. soutli from Tallowbridge.

Approaching Ballydujf Station (10^ m.) we again see the Black-
water, here flowing through a pastoral valley. Over a nearer
range, right, rises the bare range of the Knockmealdown Moun-
tains. A mile beyond the station the valley is very pretty, and
across the river, adjoining the modern residence, is the ruin of

Mocollop Castle. The poor church of Clondnlane {16| m.) is oil

the left as we enter that station, beyond which through a well
wooded country, and passing Moore Park, right, beyond the river, we
cross the Blackwater at a lovely spot close to the ruin of Carrigabrick
Castle. A range of barracks is on the left as we enter Ferznoy
(19J m.

; p. 83). The stump of a square tower, Cregg Castle, is

next seen, left, but the country is commonplace to Ballyhoohj

(24^ m.). [Convenient for the ascent of the Nagles Mtn.^-fine
views.] The river Aivbep, Spenser's Mulla, is crossed and on
its far side, left, is seen the fine ivied ruin of Bridgetown Abbey,
about half-way to Castletoicnroche (29 m. ; village and inn IJ in.

N. of station). Onward there is nothing to remark except Mallow
Castle, left, as we reach Mallow (36 m.

; p. 88).

Cappoqnln to Iilsmore, 4 rn. hy road.

For silvan riverside scenery of the softer kind there is no more beautiful 2^
niilcs in all Ireland than from Cappoquin to Fermoy, of which this short walk
is tlic beginning. As far as Lismore there is a road on each bank of the
Blackwater, and there is little to clioose between them. Those who stay either
at Lismore or Cappoquin will of course make the round of 9 miles and traverse
both of them. The main difference between them is that the road ©n the N

.

or left bank, skirts a succession of charmingly wooded demesnes, and aj)-

proaches Lismore over the bridge close to the Castle ; the S., or right-bank
road is less wooded, but affords exquisite views of the opposite side of the
valley. In either case we start from Cappoquin Bridge, at the W. end of the
village, under Cappoquin House.

(a.) y. side : For the first mile the river is close on the left ; then meads
intervene as we pass in succession, right, Salterhridge House, Bellevue, and
Ballyrafter. We again approach the stream just short of the bridge over the
Otce/iTuuhad, which enters the Blackwater at tliis point close to Lismore Bridge,
a most delightful view-point not only of the river but of the noble Castle,
towering above the glorious beeches which clothe the cliff ou which it is built.
More to the left, the spire of the Cathedral is seen above the trees. The road
ascending from the S. side of the bridge leads to the town.

(ft.) S. side : Cross Cappoquin Briiige and turn to the right. In a mile the
river is struck, opposite Salterhridge House, and is alongeide for the next
1^ m. .lust as the channel is interrupted by a wooded islet, the road tarns to
the left close to " the Round Hill," right, on which are the remains of tht
double fosse of the earthwork, which gave its name, Lis-more, i.e. " great fort,"
to the town. About \ m. beyond this, 3 in. from Cappoquin. our road joins
another, and we hear to the right and liave a straight mile or so to Lismore.

Ireland, II. Q
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Hotels : Devonshire Arms, Blackirater Vale, smaller ; both in the main street,

\ m. from Station. Both hotels have some fishing.

I>i«ttanceN : (by road) Cappoquin, 4 m.; Tallow Bridge, 4 /», : Youghal,
17 m. ; Caher, 21 m. ; Mitchelstown Caves, 20 m. (7^ m. thence to Mitchelstown
or 10^ m. to Caher).

Post : English mails del. 7.50 a.m. and 4.30 p.m. ; desp. 11.15 a.m. and
5.30 p.m.

Lismore is a market-town of 1,600 inhabitants and the seat of

a bishopric, now Unked with Waterford and Cashel. Besides the

exquisite scenery of the Blackwater and its first-rate fishing, a

great attraction for tourists is Iilsmore Castle (Duke of Devon-
shire. The Castle and grounds can be visited on week-days ; from
the Devonshire Hotel turn to the right by the side of the hotel,

the entrance is straight ahead), a splendid pile " not as large, but

as noble and picturesque as Warwick" (Thackeray), superbly placed

on a wooded cliff above the river.

The Castle was founded in 1185 bj- Prince, afterwards King, John but was
almost entirely destroyed by tlie Irisli in 1189. By wliom it was rebuilt does

not ai)pear, but for some considerable period the bishops of Lismore made it

their residence. In 1587 the Castle and Manor with oth^r lands were demised,

subject to a rent of £13 6s. 8d. to Sir Walter Ralegh, who in 1602 sold liis Irish

estates to Richard Boyle, afterwards created Earl of Cork and known as the
" great " Earl. He rebuilt the castle wherein, on January 25th, 1627, his youngest
son, Robert Boyle tlie philosopher was born, " not for an age but for all time."

During the Civil War in 1642, it successfully withstood the attack of the Irish

adlierents of tlie Parliamentary party, but was reduced hi 1645 and burnt.

Ten years later it was once more rebuilt and in it James II. spent a night, in

1689, on his flight from the Boyne to Waterford. Then it was that he is said

to have started back, in surprise or alarm, on suddenly coming upon the deep
view down to the river, from the window of the drawing room. In 1753 the

last Earl of Cork and Burlington died, and his estates passed to the 4th Duke
of Devonshire who had married his dangliter. The 6th Duke early in the

present century began extensive improvements, and before his death practically

rebuilt the Castle ; hence its comparatively new appearance.

Of the exterior, the principal features are the Flag Tower and
Carlisle tower on the W. of the river-front. King John's to^yer,

of which the lower portion is the oldest part, is on the town side.

" llalegh's " tower (upper yard) is the oldest of the towers.

Of the interior, the chief apartments calling for mention are

:

the HaU, where observe the crozier of Bishop Macgetigan (1113),

found in 1811 during alterations at the castle, together with the

MS. since known as the book of Lismore. Here too is a family

group by Vanloo, including the last Earl of Cork mentioned above.

In the Dining Room most of the pictures are copies of old

masters. Of originals there is a "storm at sea" by Backhuysen,
" Paul preaching at Athens" by Tiepolo, and a Portrait of the
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famous Robert Boyle. In the Drawing Room may be seen another

portrait of the last Earl of Cork with his wife and child, by an
unknown artist. Here, however, it is not the fiiie apartment that

is the attraction, but the exquisite view from the great bay. From
the upper rooms a yet wider view can be had, but not a more
beautiful one. In each case the Knockmealdown .range forms a

line background to the wealth of foliage in which the river is deep

set.

The river-terrace and the gardem will of course be included in

the tour of inspection.

liisntore Catlieclral (Ch. of Ireland) and indeed Lismore itself are said

to trace their origin back to the 6tli century. An- abbot' of Lismore occurs
about 540, and from tliat time a monastic establishment undoubtedly existed
liere, and became famous in connection with the "university" founded by
St. Carthagli in 6.35, whicli lasted on till it was finally destroyed by the Danish
•rovers about 833. Its ecclesiastical status, however, survived, and its episcopal
history is fairly continuous, tliough comparatively uninteresting.
The existing fabric, of which tlie graceful si)ire is modern, has 13th cent.

J^illars in tlie nave, but chiefly dates from the 17th cent., when the "great"
•Earl of Cork spent mucli upon it. There are a good many inscribed old slabs,

of interest to the archaeologist : Colgan (d. 850), an ecclesiastic, " a blessing on
the soul of Colgan"; Sweeney, abbot of Lismore (d. 854), " Sweeney, son of
Cuodliir," ; Martin, abbot (d. 878) "a ble.ssing upon tlie soul of Martin" ; Cor-
mac, Bp. of Lismore (d. 918), "a prayer for Cormac P..," upon the head of a
small cross ; Dounchad (assassinated in the cathedral, 1034), " a prayer for
Dounchad." For an admirable paper " Tlie Annals of Lismore," from which we
borrow the translation of these inscriptions, see lieUquary, Jan. 1864.

•
' Iiisznore to Fermoy by road, 16 m. {For roads from Cap-
poquin see p. 81.)

From the town proceed to the bridge over the Blackwater, cross

it and turn to the left. Here Ballyin House, right, occupies the
angle between the main valley and the Clogheen glen. In abt.

J m. we again touch the Blackwater at a charming spot and then
the road, ^ in. further, turns a little away from the river, but only
to return to its former direction. Crossing streamlets at Glen-

natore Bridge and BaUyvena Bridge we skirt, right, the demesne
of Ballysaggartmore. Across the vale is Glencairn Abbey, just

as we reach Balhjsaggartmore Bridge (3J m. from Lismore Br.).

About a mile beyond this we again approach the river and then,

as it once more bends away from the road, the ruin of Ballyduft'

Castle is seen ahead on its further bank. At Ballyduff, 4J m.,

we cross the Blackwater (close to the ruined castle, left) and turn
to the right. Ballydnff Station is a long mile from the turn, and
the ruin of Mocollop Castle, on the N. of the river, a mile beyond
that. Then we shortly afterwards pass under the railway, which
runs between the road and the river for 3J m. After again going
under the line, Kilmurry House is on the N. bank. Passing
through the village of Clondalane and crossing the line beyond
the station we soon see, on the bank of the river, the ruin of

Carrigabrick Castle and shortly afterwards reach Fermoy.
Fermoy (Hotel: Eoyal) is a modern town chiefly on the

S. side of the river and of about 6,500 inhabitants, exclusive
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of the troops. It was the creation of a Scotch merchant, Mr.
John Anderson, of Cork, who at the close of the last century

invested his fortune in laying out the place and erecting

churches, an hotel, etc. The government then secured the

success of his venture by building the large barracks on the N.

bank of the river. The town itself has no particular claims on
the tourist's attention, but for the angler on the Blackwater, and
its good trouting tributary, the Funshion, it offers good quarters,

and there are some interesting and picturesque excursions to

be made from it. By rail to Mallow, p. 81 ; by road, p. 87.

The Aragrlln Crlen. This is a delightful little excursion about 13 miles
there and back from Fermoy, if it be made no further than Castle Cooke, but
with time at command the glen is worth exploring above that. At the N. end
of Fermoy bridge turn E. (i.e. left coming from the station). The road crosses

the railway and (2 m.) the Funshion. Then passing Moore Park, left, a short
mile brings us to cross roads and we turn to the right, and in a few hundred
yards reach the convergence of roads at the bridge over the Aragliu. Ours is

the left hand one, which ascends the glen along the left (East) bank of the
stream and about 3 m. up it, a mile or so beyond Glenfinish Bridge, we arrive

opposite Castle Cooke.

Fermoy to Mltchelstown, ll^m. by rail ; 11 m. by direct road.

The road crosses the Kilworth Mountain at an elevation of 750
feet. The view W. and N.W. is very wide over the plain of county
Cork and extends in clear weather to the Killarney mountains.
At 7 VI. (Pub. Ho.) the lofty strip of the tower of Caherdrinny
Castle is | m. left.

The raii passes Glanworth (4| m.) where at the S. end there are

the ruins of a Castle, with square keep, a tower and remains of

domestic buildings of later date, the whole enclosed in an enceinte

with round towers. Just outside the town at the other end is the

ruined church of a Dominican Priory. Both ruins are fairly seen,

right, from the train. Except a ruined tower here and there and
the conspicuous fragment of Caherdrinny Castle on Kilworth

Mountain there is nothing calling for mention on the rest of this

journey.

Mltcbelstown {Fitzgerald's Hotel, tolerable, in Newmarket
Square, 10 min. walk direct from the Station, which is on the S. side

of the town) is a pleasantly situated town {jwp. 2,000) in a park-like

country some 350 feet above the sea. On its notoriety in connec-

tion with Home Rule proceedings we need not dwell, except to say

that as you enter New (or Market) Square from the Station, the

Police Barrack is on the right in Upper Cork Street. Thence were
fired the shots which killed three of the mob. Two stone crosses in-

serted in the footway, on the opposite side near the corner of the

square, commemorate two of the victims whilst a third cross nearly

opposite Fitzgerald's Hotel marks the spot where the other fell. The
Po.^t Office is up a side street which diverges left from Lower Cork
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Street on the far side of the square, and this last also leads to

College Square where are the long defunct Kington Arms
Hotel and the entrance gates of Mitchelstown Castle, one of the

finest mansions in Ireland and situated in a large and beautiful

park to which local people are admitted by an order from the agent,

though strangers usually find a visiting card a sufficient passport.

We ought to have said that of the two spires, seen as we enter the

town from the station, that on the left is the Church of Ireland,

and the one on the right the R. C. Church. The road past the

former leads into another main street and to College Square
adjoining the Park.

About ^ m. from the S. end of the town by the road to the left of

the station-road are Brigowne Round Tower and an old church, both

in fair preservation.

For the ascent of the Galtees see p. 87.

Mltclielstown Caves ; 9J w. from Mitchelstown, 10|?«. from
Caher, jj. 149. The road is dull walking.

The visitor should eschew fine raiment and supply himself with magnesium
ribbon, or, perhaps better, half-a-dozen blue-lights.

Tlie gratuity to the guide according to time taken and the number of the
party.

Tea, &c., at cottage.

Remarks. These caves, described by Arthur Young, in 1776,

occur in a low, round hill of limestone. They are smaller

and less impressive than the Peak Cavern, at Castleton,

and less beautiful than Cox's Cavern, in the Cheddar Cliffs, but
they are far richer in stalactites than the former, and much more
extensive than the latter.

To see the best parts, which are also the most accessible, an
hour may suffice. A full exploration of the ramifications, little

short of a mile in all, will require 6 or 7 hours.

Ronte. Going left out of the square at Mitchelstown, our road,

at (^ m.) the top of the hill is, by the second turn to the right,

to the village of KUheheny (4 m. ; Kilheheny Castle, half of a lofty

tower, is abt. IJ m. N.W.). About 2i miles further, turn to the
right, just beyond Skaheenarinky School, 180 yards short of the
spirit store. Turn left in a quarter-of-a-mile and then keep on
till you reach a cottage with zinc and thatch roof, near a stone
stile, then to the right. Just behind this, at the bottom of a disused
quarry, is the entrance to the Caves. Entering by a door and squeez-
ing through a low and narrow passage, we come to steps from which
a lofty passage, about 150 yds. long, leads to the " House of Com-
mons,'' which is approximately circular and 50 feet in diameter,

and 20 feet high. Opposite the entrance to this chamber, another
passage, 20 yards long, leads, past the " Organ,'' a series of fluted

columns, which are well named, on account of the musical notes
produced by striking the columns. This passage ends at the

''House of Lords," which is about 80 feet in diameter and 20 feet
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high, and with plenty of light is very beautiful. On every side

giant pillars of stalactite and stalagmite, the junction generally

being about two-thirds down. Marble-like masses hang in graceful

festoons from every available spot. The endless fantastic shapes

have been named :
" the Golden Fleece," *' Indian Corn," " Tur-

kish Tent," etc. The columns are very fine, and one, the "Tower of

Babel," has the stalagmite 15 feet round, with the stalactite about

half that. On the roof is jjointed out the "Railroad," with

"points," as if laid off by an engineer. These are really the

beginning of a curtain, which in far off ages may reach the floor.

After taking a peep at the glittering crystals of the Diamond
Eock we may return to the House of Commons, and from it pro-

ceed to the Kingston Hall through the long passage, Sadleir's Cave,

in which is a huge stalactite and stalagmite known as " Lot's

wife." The Hall is a very remarkable cave like a tent, 20 yards

long. In places the tent-cloth forms an actual curtain through

which openings have been made. The bands of colour, too, are

noteworthy. Parallel with the Hall is Sand Cave, of which open
sundry small chambers or " closets."

From the Diamond Rock (nbov^) is readied tlie CutJiedml (120 /^ by 30//. and
30 /y. liigli), and at its south end are cross-passages. That to the south is short,

and as well as the west passage (80 j-ards) is without interest. The short east

passage leads to the Ballroom (40 ft. long) and the Four Courts with, among
other curious forms, one called tlie " Giraffe." Thus far there is no difficult}-.

A tortuous passage leads to O'Leari/s Cave, which is larger but uninteresting,

and from it is reached a low cave (10 ft. square), from which depends the

deep-toned " Bell." Hence with some difficulty the " chimney " is reached. This

is a hole from 2 to 3 feet across, and about 6 feet long, giving access to an ex-

ceedingly cramped passage which leads to the Scotchmau'x Cnve (40 ft. long),

ornamented with transparent quill-like stalactites. Here is tlie " t'oK''.« Skin"

which tlie guide will sliow off with his candle. From this, (fCulhighnn's Cave

(featureless) is entered, and from it a narrow rift and passage lead to another

(nameless) cave with fine stalactite. Returning to the "Chimney" and taking

another passage, a cul de sac is passed in which, on a ledge, dwell tinj' white
Wiirm-like creatures, ' syiringtails.' A long passage leads to '•'CusVs Cave''

which is square and has good stalactites. About 20 yards north of it is a

junction of four passages, N., S,, E. and ^V. The first of these leads in 80 yards

to a cave without any stalactites ; the second is the one by which you approached
the junction ; the third is without interest ; and the fourth after becoming
cramped lands you in the "House of Commons" with which you began. From
the fact that there was no natural entrance to the caves, they liave necessarily

furnished no remains of past races of men or animals.

There is a very fine view from the hill above the Caves.

For Clogheen and Clonmel, see p. 147.

In returning to Mitchelstown, the route may be agreeably

varied by crossing the main road at the point where you regain it

(7 m. from Mitchelstown) and proceeding nearly 2 miles to Galtee

Castle (called on the Ordnance map " Mountain Lodge ") at the

foot of the Galtees. Crossing the stream here and turning south

again you re-enter the main road a mile east of Kilbehenny

(5 m. from Mitchelstown).
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Tlie Oaltees. This grand mass of mountaius rises on the north of the
road from Mitchelstown to Caher. Its liighest point is Galtyniore (or Dauson''s
Table) 3,015 feet. Galtymore is at once the best point to aim for and as easy
as any of tlie principal summits to reach. We advise driving to 'Mountain
Lodge' (car from Mitchelstown, 7s.; from Caher, 8s.', ret. ll,s.). Thence follaw
the lane up by the wood and in about f »i. j'ou cross the stream and turn
up to the right. Some f m. further you will get on the southern spur of
GaltjTiiore, and ascend (say £ /*/-.) by it, bearing somewhat to the left, to the
ridge a little W . of the highest point. Graltj'more itself is a conical summit,
but Galtybeg, ]ust E. of it is still more of a cone. To the W. of Galt3inore is

Loiuih Ciirra', between it and Galtybeg, the smaller Xo;?fr7< i)j7/(»<'«, and beyond-
Galtj'beg another, Louih Borhepn. Of these tarns, Curra has cliffs of some
1000 feet descending almost from the summit of the range, which belongs to the
old red sanu-stohe formation. Lough Afitskry, also on the N. side of the ridge,
about 3 w. E. from Galtymore, has yet loftier cliffs. The view in every direction
is, in clear weather (a rather rare condition in summer) superb, and extends
from sea to sea. Northward " the famous golden vale of Limerick and Tipperary
spreads a rich level to the eye, bounded by the Mountains of Clare, King's and
Queen's Counties, with the course of the Shannon, for many miles below
Limerick. To the South you look over alternate ridges of Mountains, which
rise beyond one another, till in a clear day the eye meets the ocean near
Dungarvan. The Mountains of Waterford and KnocKmealdown fill up the
space to the South-East. The Western is the most extensive view ; for nothing
stops the eye till Mangerton and Macgillicuddy Reeks point out Killarney. The
prospect extends into eight Counties : Cork, Kerrj', Waterford, Limerick, Clare,
Queen's, Tipperary, King's."

—

Arthur Young. To these may be added Galway,
Kilkenny, Wexford, and Wicklow, but except that the mountains may define
the last-named, these counties must be taken for gi-anted as on the horizon.
Except the ascent above given, there is no very convenient route for descend-

iiig unless yoii are bound for Tipperary. In that case it is easy enough to find
your way down northward from Galtybeg, when you will find a track above the
E. bank of the stream which issues from Lough Diheen. This leads down into
the valley of the Aherlow, over which a bridge leads direct to Ballynacourty
House, belonging to the Dawson family (whence the local name of Galtymore).
The road for Tipperary turns to the right about \ m. beyond the bridge' and is

briefly described i?. 15l>.

Fermoy to Mallow, by road, 18§ in. This road is distinctly

pretty in parts, but cannot compare with the road west from Cap-
poquin. We start westward from the north part of Fermoy, and
passing Castle Hyde and Cregg Castle, both on the left, approach
the Blackwater. At a junction of three roads (4f m. from Fermoy)
take the left-hand one past the ruin of BaUyhoohj Castle. [Bally-

booly Station is abt. | m. from here, through the village] . Crossing
the bridge over the Blackwater we turn to the right at cross-roads
beyond it. Convamore (Earl of Listowel) is on the North side of the
river and, about 2 m. from Ballyhooly Bridge, the glen of Awbeg
converges on the right at the head of a river-bend which the
road cuts across. Bridgetoion Abbey is on the left bank on the west
of the bend. About 1^ m. beyond Carriyacunna Castle, right, at a
junction of roads (5J in. from Ballyhooly Bridge) we take the right-

hand one to Killavullen (Killawillin on map) in order to get the view
from the bridge, which includes the ruins of Monanimy Castle and
Church. Eeturning from the bridge and now, of course, turning
to the right at the junction of roads, we enter Mallow ^crpss itg

bridge,
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Palloiv.

Hotel : Royal, well situated and close to the Station ; Moran's Central.

IPost omce: in High Street. English mails del. 8 a.m.* and 12.30 jj.wj.

desp. 8.15 a.m. and 9.15 p.m.* [*Sundays.]

Distances (by rail) : Blarney, 15 wj, ; Buttevant, 7 m. ; Cappoquin, 36 m.

;

Cork, 21 m. ; Fermoy, 17 m. ; Killarney, 41 m. ; Limerick (direct), 40 m. ; Lismore,
32 m. ; Tipperary, 40 m. ; Waterford, 75 m.

Mallow (pop. abt. 4,500, including the suburb of Ballydaheen),
is an important railway junction, 1-44^ m. from Dublin. From it

lines diverge N. to Limerick and Dublin, S. to Cork, E. to Water-
ford, and W. to Killarney. It is situated on the Blackwater, a
famous salmon river, which here flows as a broad stream through
a wide, richly timbered valley. The town (which gets its name
" the plain of the Allow," from the main feeder, the Allow Eiver)

is particularly comely and, except for the names over the shops,

very English-looking. It consists mainly of one street. High
Street, with the station at the higher and western end and the old

castle and bridge at the lower end.

Of things to be seen close at hand we may mention the Castle,

the view from the Bridge, and above all the view from the Eock.
From the station go down the High Street, past the Post Office,

to the Clock Tower. Here a turn to the left leads to the Spa,
with a spring (70° Fahr.) highly charged with nitrogen. A hundred
years ago bathers and drinkers were many, and the Spa House and
Baths were built by the Sir Denham Norreys of that day. Now
the spring is deserted. Turning to the right at the Clock Tower,
a few yards bring you to the Bridge connecting the town with
Ballydaheen, where the road straight on leads to Cork, 21 m., and
that to the left, down the Blackwater valley, to Fermoy, 18 m.

Eeturning from the bridge to the Clock Tower, turn to the right

to the Lodge of Mallow Castle (Sir D. Norreys Bt.). The ivied

ruin of the old Castle of the Desmonds, wrecked in 1641, is on the

right, just inside the gate. The present mansion was begun by the

Sir Denham who built the Spa-house, but was never completed.

R is seen on the left on the way to the Rock (key at the lodge—
gratuity to cicerone), about a mile through the pleasant park. The
Eock rises abruptly from the Blackwater, and its summit com-
mands an exquisite view of the river, all the more beautiful

perhaps because somewhat limited by a bend of the richly tim-

bered banks. Where the rock drops quite sheer to the water it is

called the ''Lover's Leap."

Mallow to Doneralle, Im., and Kllcolman Castle, 10 m.
Car, to the Castle and back, abt. 10.<?.

Another route is via Buttevant Station, 5\ m. from Doneraile.

The distance given above is by the shortest road, which leaves

the High Street, on the left, a little short of the Clock Tower. If

the Buttevant road be taken at starting, the distance is 7^ m.
Boneraile {Imperial Hotel) is prettily situated on the Awbeg,
just outside the finely timbered Doneraile Park, the seat of Visct.

DoQerftile, whose predecessor the 4th yisQQunt, it mil be re-
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membered, was the victim of a rabid pet fox (1887). For ILllcol-

man Castle, take the road which crosses the Awbeg and turn to

the left, not at the cross-roads ^ m. onward, but at a junction of

by-roads, l?rt.from the bridge. Crossing theBregoge River, a small

tributary of the Awbeg, it is 2 m. from the main road to the ruined

tower (on the N. side of a small lake), which was the home of

Spenser, the poet. In his day, however, what is now a bare and
uninteresting district was apparently wooded. Of streams in the

neighbourhood, the Awbeg is his "Mulla," and the Blackicater

into which it flows, the " Awniduff." The Bregoge (above), is still

known by the name he gives it, and so is the Allow. " Arlo hill

(who knows not Arlo hill ?), that is the highest head (in all men's
sights) of my old father Mole" is Galtymore and "my old

father Mole" is the whole range, including the Ballyhoura
hills in which the "Mulla" rises, though only a poet perhaps
would speak of them as " that mountain gray that walls the

North side of Armulla dale."

Edmund Spenser (155i?— 1599), as Secretary to the Lord-deput}-, Lord Grey of

Wilton, first landecl in Irelanil (since it is i)rol)able he accompanied his em-
ployer) August 15, 1580, and may liave witnessed tlie disaster of (llenmalure

( p. 32), three weeks later, as well as the terrible inassacre at Smerwick (p. 142),

and other scarcely less bloody scenes of tlie Munster War. In 1581, he receiyed
the additional appointment of "Clerk of Decrees" in Chancery, and was
granted a lease (which he quickly sold) of the estates of Enniscorthy Abbey
(p. 38). Lord (jrey w^as recalled in 1585, but Spenser remained in Ireland, anil

in November, 1583, was made dei)nty-secretary to the Council of Munster,
which was charged with the " plantation " of that province, after the Desmond
rebellion. He shortly afterwards- became its secretary, and eventually one of

tlie " undertakers," among whom the forfeited estates of Desmond were to be
divideil. To his share fell the manor of Kilcolman. about 3,000 acres, and
thenceforward (1586-98) the castle, never more than a mere tower, became his
home. Here he wrote the Fiierie Queene, and showed the opening books of it

to Ralegh, who was liis guest in 1589. That led to his introduction at Court,
and "Colin Clouts come home againe"is his present to Sir Walter " from ray
house of Kilcolman, the 27th of December, 1591.'' Here, too, he brought his
bride in 1594, and, not to mention other i)oems. wrote liis Epithalamion
(wedding ode) "the finest comi)osition of its kind in any language." He paid
another visit to London in 1596, but otherwise resided at Kilcolman. till on the
Tyrone rebellion reaching Munster in 1598, lie and his wife were driven from
it, when it was sacked and burnt. He died in London, January 16, 1599, a
ruined, heart-broken man, and was buried close to Chaucer, in Westminster
Abbey. His " View of the Present State of Ireland " is valuable but painful
reading for all who do not sympathise with Tamerlane methods of ruling.

The tourist can vary his return from Doneraile by taking the
road down the right bank of the Awbeg valley to Castletown-
roche (7^ m. ; Fitzpatrick'.s), so called from a castle of the
Roches, of which the keep now forms part of Castle Widenham,
overlooking the stream. The railway station, IJ m. S. of the
village, is 7 vi. from Mallow and 10 from Fermoy ; see p. 81.

Antiquarians will find the Euins of Kilmaclenine, 6 m. N.W. of

Mallow on the Liscarrol road, of some interest. They represent

an early settlement of the English which was destroyed about 1280.

The little knoll on which they stand appears to have been sur-

rounded by a wall 6 or 7 feet high, pierced in one part for the dis-

charge of missiles on enemies approaching the entrance, which wai
^t the steepest part of th? rock.
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THE LAKES OF KILLARNEY.

Approaches to XlUarney :

—

(a) rail all the way to Killarney Station.

(i) from Cork (^j. 58-61).

(ii) from Dublin (i;. 55).

(iii) from Limerick via Limerick Junction {p. 150 and 60)

»

or via Tralee {p. 61).

(iv) from Waterford (p. 48 and 60).

(b) rail to Bantry (beloic), thence coach via Glengarriff

and Kenmare to Killarney. " Prince of Wales' Koute."

(c) rail to Macroom {p. 98), coach to Glengarriff, and thence

by coach to Killarney.

From a picturesque point of view, there cannot be two opinions

as to the respective merits of " rail all the way" and " via Glen-

gamff ." The former is somewhat cheaper and quicker, the latter

may fairly claim to offer a choice between two of the most
beautiful drives in the United Kingdom. Our advice to all

travellers, not cramped by a minimum of time or shillings, is to

go via Glengarriff", and after a surfeit of beautiful scenes at

Killarney to make the fine tour of the Waterville promontory

(2>. 124), and return from Kenmare or Killarney by rail. This

is far better than to reverse the route because it is in approaching

from Bantry that both Glengarriff" and Killarney are seen in front

to the best advantage.

Between routes (b) and (c) there is fairly room for hesitation.

The former (b) is slightly cheaper and some 3 hrs. quicker as

between Cork and Glengarriff. The latter (c) misses nothing of

the first rank as compared with (b), and adds the fine scenes

of Gouganebarra {p. 99) and the Pass of Keimaneigh—a fine

coach drive of abt. 8 hrs., including halts at Inchigeelagh and
Gouganebarra.

Cork to Bandon, 20 w., and Bantry, 57^ w. by rail—a good
line with comfortable First and Second, but with no Ref . Rms.

Kinsale (via Kinsale Junction), 24 m. ; Clonakilty (vid Clonakilty Junction),

33 m. ; Skibbereen (via Drimoleague Junction), H m.

The trains start from Albert Quay Terminus (plan D 5) and
a fine view, right, of Cork is soon obtained, and another after

crossing the Chetwynd Viaduct. The first station is Waterfall,

6^ w., why so named we have failed to discover. A little further

on, the insignificant ruin of Ballymacadane Abbey, founded in

1450 for Augustines, is seen, on the right, and then the train,
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crossing the summit-level, descends by a cutting and tunnel to

BaUinhassio, 10 m., and a wide but unremarkable view opens on
the left. Kinsale Jumtion, 13^ in. For continuation of main
line, see p. 92.

Branch line (10^ m.) to Kinsale (Sea View, Kinsale Arms). This
is a quaint and picturesque town of about 4,500 inhab. It is chiefly

engaged in the Fisheries, of which it is the head-quarters in the

S. of Ireland, and presents a curious combination of old and
new. The inns are " Irish." From the station, which is on high
ground to the E. you turn to the right and pass the Barracks.
The general view, before you descend into the town, will enable

you to grasp the main features of what, owing to the winding of

the fiord-like Harbour, is rather a puzzling piece of topography.
Away southward you can see the Harbour almost to its mouth.
At your feet is the town, over which to the W. rises the tower and
spire of the Church. The wooded hill to the left of that, along
whose foot the houses rise in terraces, is Compass Hill, which like'

your stand-point is on the true left-bank of the Harbour* The
villages of Scillij and Cove (or Summercoi'e), where summer visitors

find quarters, are also on the left bank, and are reached by
turning to left (on the way from the station) below the Barracks.'

Scilly is opposite Kinsale; Cove about a mile further down the
Harbour. It is a pleasant walk along the coast to Oyster Haven,
off which are the Sovereign Islands.

If your visit is only a flying one then it is, perhaps, your best
plan to descend into the town, get a peep at the church, which
ddtes from the 14th cent., and then to take the road round Com-
pass Hill. This is a good view-point, and commands the Harbour
upwards, to the inflow of the Bandon River ; the ruins of an old-

fortalice of the De Courcy family,* and the ruined Old Fort, both
across the water on the right bank. On the left-bank, but also
seen across the water from Compass Hill, are Scilly and Cove,
with diaries Fort to the right of the latter village.

If you were to follow the dilapidated old main- street of the
town westward under Compass Hill you would reach the cottages
known as the WorUrs End, still " inhabited by a colony of pure
Spaniards, descended from the Spanish garrisons who temporarily
established a footing here." In Sept. 1601, Don Juan's flotilla

landed 3,000 men at Kinsale in order to co-operate with the
O'Neill confederacy. The expedition was too late and too small^

* The baronies of De Courcy anil Ringrone date from 1181. They were
merged in that of Kingsale—the " g " is de (rop—m 1223, and the present Lord
Kingsale is the premier baron in the Irish Peerage. It was King Jolm who con-
ferred on the De Courcy of his day the curioiis privilege of remaining covered
in the royal presence, which is still preserved. The occasion was De Courcy'a
acting as "champion" of the king in a dispute with the King of France about
the duchy of Normandy. The family had grants of large estates in this district,-
and Bingrone, from which one of their titles wfts taken, is between Kinsale and
the Old Head,
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and the English fleet and the army under Carew hemmed them in.

On Jan. 2, 1602, the Irish, who had marched south to join the

Spaniards, having been defeated, the place capitulated.

On March 12, 1689, James II. landed at Kinsale, and from it he
sailed in July, 1690, after his defeat at the Battle of the Boyne.
The house where he spent at least one night was only demolished
in 1884. In the autumn of 1690 Marlborough took the town after

an inconsiderable resistance. " Of all the Irish ports Kinsale was
the best situated for intercourse with France. Here, therefore,

was plenty unknown in any other part of Munster... In the New
Fort [Charles Fort] of Kinsale, Marlborough found a thousand
barrels of wheat and eighty pipes of claret."

—

Macaulay.

Old Head, of Kinsale. The nearest waj', (abt. 5 m.) is by ferry acros?

the Harbour to the Old Fort promontory. The driving road (11 m.) crosses the
Bandon about 2 miles above Kinsale, and goes through BaUinspittle (half-a-mile

to W. of which, across the valley, is a fine circular earthwork). From that
village the road descends the E. side of the valley to the coast, where it enters
the Lispatrick peninsula and runs along it southward. A narrow neck connects
the latter with the Head, whose summit is 256/7. above sea-level. The Light-

house shows a fixed, white, light seaward, visible 21 miles,

Kinsale to Innisliannon Imitation, or Bandon. Choice of

routes :

—

(a) Boat to Innishannon, abt, 10 m. Thence by road up-stream along the
right bank of the River Bandon to Innishannon Station, 2 m., and Bandon, 4^ m.

(b) Road all the way by Dunderrow, 4 m., Shippool, 6^ m., Innishannon, 8^ m.,

Innishannon Station, 10^ m., Bandon, 13 m.

Both routes are identical in regard to scenery beyond Shippool, from about
^ m, short of which the road follows the left bank to Innishannon (/*«6, Ho.).

Beyond tliat you cross the bridge to tlie right bank and follow the river closely,

past the confluence of the Brinny, all the way to Bandon. The valley is beau-
tifully wooded, and the confluence just named is a charming spot. If you can
take advantage of the tide then we recommend («).

Main-line cant, from p. 91. Soon after passing Upton, 15^ w.,

you cross the Brinny, a tributary of the Bandon, and then by a
short tunnel reach the valley of the latter river, which is followed

past Innishannon, 18 w. (see small type above), to Bandon (20 w.

;

Devonshire Arms, Railway), an important agricultural centre, but
without any claims on the sightseer. The wooded valley to the W.
of the town is occupied by the well timbered park (open to the

public) of Castle Bernard (Earl of Bandon), which gives its name
to the next station, 21^ m. Xllbrlttala {Atlantic Golf Linlcs

Hotel), coach from Bandon, is a favourite Cork rendezvous.

Bandon to Timoleasne, 15 m. and Courtmacslierry, 18 m. by
rail. At Tinioleagne (Pub. Ho. ottlti} on tlie shore of a sandy bay are the

considerable ruins (14th and 15tli cent.) of a Franciscan Abbey. This preserves

the name of abbot Molaga (d. abt, 660). The keep of an old castle and a poor

Prot. Oh. are close by. Courtmacsherry {Esplanade Hotel, at far end of

village, good, with pretty grounds) is a little fishing village, which attracts

many summer visitors for sea-bathing. . It stands on the S, shore near the

mouth of Timoleague Bay. From the hill above the hotel grounds tliere is a

view of the Old Head of Kinsale.

Bandon to Clonakilty, 13 m. by rail. The branch is that for Tourt-

macsherry as far as Ballinascarthy .Junction. Clonakilty (Donovan's) and
the Island aands may well be made a summer day's pilgrimage. The view i%
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6harming. It also offers an approach to Glandore (p. 95) 12 m., through
Rosscarbery {Carhery Arms and Commercial, both in the Square), 7^ m.,

where the Cathedral (Parish Church) is Perpend, with a few fragments of

Norman. A rudely carved head of St. Fachtnan, is pointed out inside, under the

tower arch, and the stone on which it is carved is assigned to his 6th cent,

church, of which the crumbling walls of the choir are to the S. of the Catheflral.

The rest of the way to Bantry is of little interest or beauty, past

Desert, 28 w; Enniskeane, 29^ w; Ballineen, SO^m; Manch, Mm.\
Sunmanway (38 m.; Railway), Thus far the river Bandon is

followed more or less closely. From the last-named station onward
the country is generally ragged, with intervals of woodland. At

Drinwleague Junction, 45A w., the line to Sklbbereen (see below)

diverges, and after passing Durrus Road, 52 m., you arrive at

Bantry, 57^ m. ; p. 99.

MMmm.

Approach : rail vid Drimolcague Junction, 8J m. across a featureless dis=

trict.

Hotels : lien Valley about 3 minutes from station, straight on across the

bridge over the Hen ; Eldon, close by, on same side of street.

Distances : Baltimore, 7J m. ; Ballydehob, 10 m., and Skull, 15 m., see

J). 97.

Sklbbereen to Bantry (direct), 17 m.

Coaebes : (summer) to Loch Hyue and Baltimore and to Union Hall and
Glandore at 11.45 a.m.

Population : abt. 3,000.

Skibbereen, a name which recalls the most terrible scenes

of the famine of 1846-47, is a dull, clean town, quite devoid of

objects of interest for the sightseer. The famine and subsequent

emigration have reduced the population of this district and that

of Skull, a rival in suffering, more than 30 per cent. At present

there are no indications of any great prosperity, but there is no
visible poverty of an extreme kind' The fisheries at Baltimore

have done a good deal for the district.

The recommendation of Skibbereen is the little Hen Valley

hotel, and a few days may be pleasantly spent in making ex

cursions from it to the sea-indented coast-line.

€?cnrsians from ^lubbcrccn.

1. To Baltimore, 8 m. by rail. By road back by ILotiffh

Byne, about 8^ m. If you drive, then the usual road is by a
street diverging^on the right from the main-street, a short distance

to the left from the hotel. At cross-roads, a few hundted yards

further on, turn to the right and then keep straight on. A sterile,
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tocky. ridge is on your left, and you join the riverside road at Old
Court Bridge, S m.

Riverside road. From the hotel, start as for the station, but

Instead of crossing the bridge keep straight on. In about ^ vu

you come to Abbey Bridge but do not cross it, unless you wish to

visit Ahhestroicry Graveyard, where hundreds were buried in great

pits during the famine time, ^ere was a Cistercian house, an off-

shoot of Myross Abbfey (destroyed). At Old Court Bridrfe, 3 //i.,

yoti cross an inlet of the Hen estuary, and the ruins of Old Court

are close by on the right. The I'oad is now prettily Wooded, and
at cross-roads, a little beyond the bridge, you turn to the right

and skirt Creagh (Sir H. W. Becher^ Bai't.). Do not turn to the

left when over a brow but keep straight on, in view of the church

and inlet on the right. A bridge is seen, connecting the island,

Inishbeg, with the mainland. The country now becomes rugged,

and at a fork you turn to the right. At cross-roads beyond

keep straight on, that is in the direction of the Martello tower.

The rocky islets in the lough or inlet are pretty, as you get

a view right down it, and note the ice stores, &c., and catch

sight of Baltimore Beacon over an intervening hill. As you
skirt the waterside, a ruined church is seen in a graveyard on the

far side. The telegraph wire now shows the way. The well-

situated yellow house, right, is the Ch. of Ireland parsonage.

Mount Gabriel is the bulky hill seen in the distance, right. The
Post Office, right, is at the entrance to Baltimore, (pop. 1,000;

Railway), to which the rOad drops sharply. On the right, as you

reach the sea-front, rises the ruined castle of the O'DriscoU's, the

.septihat till the end of the 16th cent, possessed this district. It

commands a good view of the harbour. The Piscatorial School

should be visited.

Baltimore Harbour is a triangular sea-lough, bounded on the

E. by the mainland, on the W. by Sherkin Island, and on the N.

by the islands in the mouth of the Hen estuary. Since 1880 it

has been the headquarters of a prosperous tishing fleet of over 50

boats (each with a crew of eight), worth complete about £650
each. Lady Burdett Coutts advanced the capital, under the wise

superintendence of Father Davis {d. 1892), and repayment has been

punctually made, so that a majority of the boats are now owned
by the crews.

,.v-.t.\^, *»,

Sherkin Island is accessible by Feriy (2f^/3f?. ret.), and there

is a mail boat to Clear or Ctel-e Island three times a week. By
hooker on other days the cost to Clare Island and back is^bt. 20s.

In the following half-hour's stroll you will get a distinct

view of the ruins on Sherkin-.-'Proceed along" the sea-front, south-

ward, and at the end leave the shore by a gate, oji-the l^ft^jind

folloW fe fri'ack, which dwindles to-a footpath and leads on io the

open doSyn, above the cliffs, t'ou will soon reach the white

Beacon;';Which stands oil tlie E. side of the entrance to the

harbour, opposite Sherkin Island whose cliffs are bold.
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Slierkin Abbey, and Dunalong Castle adjoiuing, were built about 1460,

the former for Franciscans. The tower (staircase), aisles, transept, and some
of the offices are fairly preserved. The ruins are close to the shore, and from
them a rough road goes over the island to Cooney Harbour (2 m.) on Gascananc
Sound, whence Clear Island is well seen across the water.

From the Beacon, still keep the cliffs on your right hand, and
you will presently rejoin the road you started by.

History. Baltimore and Sherkin Castle were almost destroyed by the men
of Waterford in 1537, in revenge for the seizure of some wine-ships, which had
come ashore in the neighbourhood. The O'Driscolls forfeited their territory

I)y the insurrection of 1601, and in 1613 James I. granted the town a charter,
and it returned two members to parliament. In 1631 the town was plundered
by Algerine pirates, and 200 of the inhabitants, chiefly English settlers, carried
into captivity. It is this event which is commemorated in the well-known
lines of Thomas Davis " The Sack of Baltimore." The place never recovered
till tlie fisliing trade was revived {p. 94) in 1880. Baltimore, U.S.A., was
iiamed after Lord Baltimore, wlio took his title from this little Irish town.

From Baltimore to Louph Hyne, about 3^ m. Leave the town as

though bound for Skibbereen, but turn off to the right alongside the
telegraph wire. A small fragment of a ruined tower is seen on
the left, and from the top of the road there is a good view looking

back, while N. of the road is the rugged ridge, passed on the
outward journey. Suddenly liougrh Hyne comes into view with a
curious embossed hill on its far side. On the shore near its N. end
is a private residence of the Becher family, prettily set in wood-
land with lawns sloping to the water. The hill down to the lough
is very steep but picturesque [a road diverges on the right through
the trees to the W. side of the lough ; there are the remains of an
ancient chapel close to the rapids, on the outlet] , and at the foot

you see almost to the outlet of the lough. Turn inland up a fine

little glen, with the bold wooded steep of Knockomagh above on
your left. At the top is a small pool, left, and, over a bit of deso-

late country, you soon join the road to Skibbereen.

2. To Glandore, by road {via Iieap 6 m.), 8 m. This little

nook is as charming as the road to it, until you reach Leap, is

dull. From the hotel go down the street to the centre of the town,
and turn to the left. Just outside the town the road forks. Keep to

the right, and avoid branch roads. Approaching £eap (decent
" Hotel," ?.€. village Inn) you descend a wooded valley, between
two considerable hills. When over the bridge [this stream divides
the baronies of E. and W. Carberry ; the latter was formerly
"beyond the Leap, beyond the law"] turn to the right, and you
have a charming 2 miles alongside the inlet, Glandore Harbour. The
upper part of this beautiful arm of the sea is dry at low tide, but,

about f m. below Leap, it contracts suddenly, and seaward of the
narrow gut there is deep water always. As it widens out again
Unionhall is seen up an inlet on the far side, and then as
you round the point Glandore (small Hotel, good ; Postal address
"Glandore, Leap, Co. Cork") is seen in all its beauty. It is as
pretty a spot as any on the coast of these islands, and at once
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airy, sheltered, bright, and green. There is nothing worth calling

a village. Two or three private residences and the hotel, all set

in foliage and overlooking the islet-dotted inlet with the sea at

its mouth, compose the picture. Kiljinnan Castle is on the bank,
about 500 yards beyond the hotel. The only curiosity, as far as

we are aware, is the little " Church-in-the-rock," a short distance
from the head of the bay. The exploration of the coast eastward
offers pleasant rambles, and Kosscarbery is 4^ m. distant by road.

3. To Castletownshend, 5 m.', Vnlonball, 8 m.; Glandore,

8J m. Castletownshend is a pretty spot on a wooded arm of the
sea. The road is dull, and even pedestrians would do well to hire

for four miles, and reserve themselves for exploring further on.

The distances above given are exclusive of the water-crossing at

the ferry. From the hotel at Skibbereen turn to the left and
take the right-hand street a little way on. At two cross-roads,

500 yards and 3 miles onward respectively, keep straight on. The
last mile is steep and wooded, as you drop to Castletownshend
(" Hotel"), which consists of the Church, two residences (Castle-

townshend House and Glenbarrahane House), a few cottages and
a Coast Guard Station.

The remains of the old castle arc on the Castletownshend demesne. In 1601
part of the Spanish expedition intended for Kinsale put in here, and on Dec. 6th
an indecisive naval engagement took place between it and an English
squadron under Levison.

If from the top of the village you take the road on the left, as you ascend
from the Haven, it is about a mile to tlie rectory at the liead of a beautiful glen,
at the foot of which are the remains of Glenbarrahane Castle and St. Barrahanes
Chapel.

You will best appreciate the beauty of the spot as you cross the

Ferry. In caste it is rough, get the Coast Guard to put you across.

On landing on the far side it is worth while walking a few hundred
yards southward for the sake of the view. The road direct to

Unionhall 3 m. from the Ferry turns to the right near Rahiue
Castle, and passes to the W. of Lough Cluhir, a triangular sheet

of water with an islet in it. After that it winds a good deal, but in

a direction, in the main, northwards. A fragment of Castle Eyre,

built 1251 by the O'Donovans, is conspicuous, left, as you approach
Vnlonliall (Pub. Ho.), another of the nooks on the inland seas of

this coast. In itself it has nothing to boast of, but Rock Cottape,

about Jm. W. of the church, was for 6 months, in 1723, the resi-

dence of Dean Swift, and during that time he wrote his favourite

poem '• Carberiffi Rupes." About 1838, Unionhall was brought into

notice on account of a sick labouring man, named Harrington,

whose body emitted phosphorescent light— " Harrington's lights"

—a rare but not unique case.

Unionhall is connected with the Glandore side of the Harbour
by a long bridge, a little N. of the village.
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Skibbereen to f^kull (or SchuU), 15 m. by Itght railway or road. Tlience

road to Ooleen, 9^ ; Dnrrus, 24| ; Bamtry, 31^. Goleen to C. G. Sfa., If;
thence fevrii to Crookhaven ; or Goleen to Crookhaven by road, 4^ m. Mail
car (same Voute) : Skibbereen, dep. abt. 6.30 a.m. Goleen dep. abt. 2 i).m. (4 hrs.

and 4.S. each way). Mail car : Durrus to Bantrv, abt. 5 p.m. (Is.). The main
attractions of tMs route are the fine coast about Mizen Head and Tliree Castle

Head, and the fine view of Dunmanus Bay on either side of Dunmanus Harbour.
By leaving Skibbereen by the mail car or by the Thurs. morning special train,

Mount Gabriel could be ascendeil from Skull, and Goleen reached for the night.

Next day might be given to Mizen Head, etc., and a visit to Crookhaven, returning

for a second'night to Goleen. Cyclists. Telegraph wires from Skibbereen to

Goleen. As far as Kilcoe (7 m.) easy. Tlien some sharp ups and downs to

Ballydehob (10) and Skull (15). The "descent to Toormore Bay, some 3 miles

onward, is very steep, but beyond that there is nothing serious, and the last three

miles are easy, tliough the road from Skull westward is exposed and arduous
against the prevalent S.W. wind.

Road and rail keep close company, for the most part alongside. They descend
the right bank of the Hen to Newcourt (3). At 6J, Roaringwater River is

crossed, and a mile onward the Leamawaddra. Ballydetioh (10) is a village of

500 inhab. overlooking a tidal arm of Roaringwater Bay, and the road-bridge
over the mouth of its river (white trout, after a spate) "is seen, right, from the
raih On the way to Skull we get a full view of Mount Gabriel, and passing the
workhouse, right, skirt Skull Harbour. ISiknll (pop. 500 ; Commercial, small
and good) is uninteresting, but Mount Gabriel (over 1300 /if. ; abt. 4 hrs. there
and back) is worth ascending for the fine view of this bay -indented district.

To the E. of Skull harbour the coast offers a pleasant walk of 10 or 12 m. out
and home. It will include the remains of Ardintenant Castle (2) and Rosshrin
Castle (a), the former near tlie horn of the harbour, the latter on the W. of

Rossbrin Bay. These are relics of the O'Mahony sept, which once held all the
promontory westward. Another of these fortalices is on Castle Island.

About 5 m. W. of Skull the road reaches Toormore Bay and makes a sweep
round it, affording beautiful seascapes, and then passes Ballyrisode House.
Ooleen (^Commercial, small and good ; with a comfortable beach cottage, 203.

a week) is a hamlet on a tiny bay enclosed by hills, and pleasant strolls are to be
had all around. The two miles to Rockisland are along the coast, and the light-

house at the N.side of the haven-mouth, and Crookbaven, with its sheltered
and deepwater anchorage, should be visited.

To Mizen Head and Three Castle Hear!. From Goleen the whole
round would be about 15 m., but a car can be taken with advantage for 6 m. to
the signal-house on Mizen Head (765 ft.). Thence, keeping well up the seaslopes,

it is another 3 m. to Three Castle Head, which ends in a hill (378 ft.) at the foot
of which is Dun Lough, with the three so-called castles of the O'Mahony sept
from which it gets its name. The return to Goleen should be made over the hill

(684 ft.) to the E. of tlie lough. On its far side you will join the Dunmanus
road, and by it, to the right, rejoin the outward route abt. 2^ m. short of Goleen.

Ooleen to I>arra8 (or Carrigboy), 18^ ; and Bantry, 25 m. There is a
choice of roads to begin with, but the one we describe has the easier gradients
and affords the better views. [The alternative, shorter by about 2 m., diverges,
left, from the Skull road, a mile E. from Goleen.] From Goleen Church take the
road S.W. and follow it, past the divergence, left, of the Crookhaven road, for about

2J m. Then take a road to the right and keep to it—mistake impossible. It
presently runs along the seaslopes of Dunmanus Bay to Dunmanus Harbour, 9^,
and thence runs inland and joins (| m.) the main road, along which, left, still

with good views, it is SJ m. to Durrus (alias Carrigboy). Following the telegraph
wire, the 6^ 7«. to Bantry is uphill, steep at first, for three miles. Then a descent
of a mile to the junction with main road, where, left, into Bantry.

Ireland II.
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Cork to Macroom, Gleng-arriff and Killarney.

I>istanees : ruil to Macroora, 24^ m. Road from Macroom tolncliigeelagh,

9 m ; Bealanageary, 15 m. ; divergence, right, to Gouganebarra Lake, 18 m. ;

junction with Bantry-and-Glengarriff road, 30 /«. ; Glengarriff, 37 m. (or

Bantry, 33^ m.).

Coacli, a fine drive, Macroom to Glengarriff, see Pink sheet.

Accoiiiiuodjitioii.—Besides the hotels at Macroom and Incliigeelagli there
are (besides the Tourist Rest at Gouganebarra) one or two wayside public-houses
beyond the latter.

The Macroom trains start from Capwell Station (plan E 4).

Close to BalliiicoUif/, 6J m., is the ruined tower of a Castle of the

Barretts of Ballincollig. On the right, a little short of Kilcrea,

13 VI., are the extensive, but not very interesting ruins of Kilcrea

Abbey, founded in 1465 for Franciscans. To the W. of it is the

keep of Kilcrea Castle.

The remains of the keep of Castlemore are seen (right) on
the way to Crookstown Road, 17 w., and Lissarda, another keep, is

further on, on the same side. Beyond Booniskey, 20 m., the line

crosses first the Lee, and then the Sullane, one of its principal

head-waters, on which is XWacroom (24^ m; Dennehy\^ Hotel),

a poor town, but good angling headquarters, of 2,900 inhab., with

an old Castle converted into a residence (Lord Ardilaun).

Cork to Macroom, by road. Choice of roads: (a) Cork to Coacliford

(or that far l\v rail ), 16J ; Macroom, 25 ;«., or (b) Cork to Leemount (or rail tliat

far), 4S; Ballincollig .^a
; Macroom, 25. There is not much to choose between

tliese roads, but on tlie whole we prefer (a) wliich we here briefly describe. Tlie

other (h) is in the main identical as to scenery with the railway to Macroom.

Road to Conchford and Macroom. Leave Cork by Western road (plan D 1) and
follow road and rail to Leemount Sta., 4^. [Hence 1 m. to Ballincollig on S. side

of the Lee.] Turn to the left and follo^\- road up N. bank of the Lee to Jniscarra,

7 J, a sweet spot. Do not cross the bridge, but continue up past Iniscarra Church
and so still along N. bank of the Lee and of its tributary the Dripsey, dropping
sliarply down to Dripsey village, 14 w. [The castle is 1^ m. right.] Turn left

down to the bridge, cross it, keep to left uphill and so forward to Coacliford
(16i

; Inn at Sta.).

Keep straight on, descend to Glashagarriff Br., 18^, cross it, and, bearing up
left, continue to Carrigadrohid, 20, wliere on a rock in the Lee is the picturesque

sliell of Carrigadrohid Castle. The road, left, over tlie bridge leads to Crookstown
on road (h), but for Macroom you bear np to the right and at (1^) Cauni cross-

roads keep to the right. Glen'eaum, wliicli the road now threads, is fine. About
3 m. onward, after descending, turn left, cross tlie bridge over the Sullane, and
beyonil it the railway. Then to the riglit into llacrooiii.

Macroom to Gleng-arriff, Coach route. There is nothing to

remark, except the morass, left, through which the Lee flows, and,

right, on a hill, the tower of Dundareike Castle, on the way to Toon
Bridge, 3^ m. Over a rise you pass from the valley of the Toon
to that of the Lee, reaching the latter opposite the finely placed Castle

Masters (or Carriynacurra). The road then follows the river to

the village of Znchig-eelagrh (9 m. ; Lake Hotel), an anglers' resort,

about a mile below Lough Allua (" Inchigeelagh Lakes"), the

name given to the chain of " broads " into which the Lee expands

for 4 miles of its course. There is a good supply of boats to be

liad and trout are plentiful.
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The road runs at the foot of the hills along the N. side of the

lakes, which afford a picturesque foreground to the hills on the

far side. At Bealanagearj/, 15 m., you cross the BnusheeUn stream
(whence a road ascends the glen to Kilgarvan, 14 m

; p. 101) and
over a brow reach the Lee and ci'oss it at Inchinossifi Bridge

(15^ m.). The mountains now close in, and at 18 m. you reach
the point of divergence to (1^) Gouganebarra Lake {Tourist Best).

Crougaiiebarra I-alce (= St. Finbai-'s rock-cleft. JouC'^) is a really fine

tarn, about J m. long, and \ m. broad, deep set amidst craggy mountains, Avhich
on the W. and N. rise abrujrtly, to a height of 1800 ft. from the margin. It was
the retreat of St. Finbarre, whose chapel is on the islet (approached
by a causeway from the S. shore). The remains of this and of the huts of the
recluses whicli his fame attracted are insignificant. From 1700 to 1728 one
Father O'Mahouy made the islet his abode, and his grave is pointed out on the
mainland. Anglers sometimes visit the lake for the trout fishing, and a boat
can be had. From the E. end of the lake issues the Lee, here a mere brook.

On returning to the mam road, you at once enter on the finest

part of the route—the Pass of Xelmanelg'b, pron. Kame-an-ee,
'* the pass of the deer." This defile is seen at its best as you
approach from this, the northern end, and has no need of

the thrilling story of the escape of Lord Bantry and his men from
the hands of the Rockites in 1822, to make it impressive.

Lord Bantry luid been tlirough the pass to Grouganebarra and Incliigeelagh
in pursuit of " Capt. Rock " and his outlaws, and was returning after a fruitless
search. " Rock " had posted his men amongst the crags, and liad arranged to
block the pass ahead, after Lord Bantry's party had got fairly within it. The
outlaws showed themselves prematurely, and their intended victims cleared
the spot where a rock was awaiting dislodgment, just before the mass was
precipitated and effectually closed the roail behind them.

The summit of the pass is also the highest point of the route,

about 700 feet, and as the road turns south-west down the Owvane
valley, you get a fine view over Bantry Bay. At 26 m, you pass
close to the ruins of Carriganaas Castle and cross the Owvane,
which is recrossed at Lisheen Bridge. The Bantry-and-Glengarriff
road is entered at BaUylichj, p. 101.

iautrj!.

Hotel : Videru'.i, halting place for trippers, in the main street. Ref.-rm. at
Station.

Post : English mails del. 8.10 a.m., S.l.'S p.m. ; dpsp. ll.S.'i a.m. and C.35 p.m.

Tourist Cars : to G-lengarriflF, Kenmare, and Killarney, see Pink Sheet.

Mail Cars (everyday): to Dnrnts at 7 a.m. (1 hr., 1.?.); tlie return car
leaves Duitus abt. 4.45 i).m. To Castletown-Rpurhawn, via Gflengariff, at 7 a.m.
(C hrs.. bs.) ; return car leaves Castletown-Bearliaven abt. 11.30 a.m.

iliteainer : to Castletown-Bearhaven at 2.30 p.m. on Tucs. Tlmrs. and Sat.
(abt. 2 hrs., 4s. 6d., 3^. 6d. ; ret., 7s., 6s.) ; from Castletown at noon on Mon. Wed.
and Fri.

Distances : (by road) Castletown (lid Grlengan-iff) 32J wj. ; Crookhaven, 26
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{spe p. 97) ; Durrus, 6^ m.', Glengarriff, 10^ m.; Inchigeelagh, 23^ m, ; Kenmare,
28^ m. ; Killaruey AB\ m. ; Macroom, S^ m. ; Skibbereen (direct) 18 m. ; Skull,

18 m.

Bantry is an improving market town, of about 3,000 inhab., and
is situated near the head of Bantry Bay on a rather featureless

inlet. For those who break their journey here, we indicate the

best short strolls.

Bantry House (late Earl of Bantry). The grounds {no cycling)

are open to visitors, who enter at the gate-house, which is reached

by proceeding down the main street {i.e. seaward from the hotel)

and following the road on the left of the harbour for a few hundred
yards. The House itself is of little beauty, but the view from the

terraces, rising above it, is delightful. Having gone up and down
again, go through the grounds to the further gate {i.e., to the left

after descending from the terraces). The public road is re-entered

close to a Reservoir and you turn to the right for the town.

By turning left it is only about J hour's walk to a line view-
point for Bantry Bay. Go through an iron gate on the right,

about 50 yards beyond the far end of the Beservoir. This leads to

the Cemetery whence there is a good view, but you get a better one

by turning up, to the left, just short of the cemetery gate, into a

field. Go up this and make for some farm-buildings and then
on to a gateway, seen 200 yds. ahead, on the sky-line. View :

South-west is the open sea beyond Bear Island, on the right

hand. Somewhat nearer is the Lighthouse on Roanharrick
Island. Hungry Hill (2,251 /f.), with its fine escarpment is the

highest point next on the right of the lighthouse, and about

W.N.W. rises the (Glengarriff) Sugarloaf (1,887/^.), both part of the

stern Caha Mountains. Near at hand, across a narrow channel,

lies the featureless Whiddy Island with its forts, one at the S. and
two towards the N. end, between which are the insignificant ivied

ruins of a castle of the O'Sullivans. Whiddy hides Glengarriff.

Looking northward up the coast you see Gurteenroe House, and to

the left of it, amid trees on the edge of the water, is Ardnagashel
House. The " Priest's Leap " road {p. 101) to Kenmare is seen

on the far hill, which rises above the hill at the back of the last-

named House.

Bantry to Gleng-arrlff and Killarney.

Tourist Cars, see Pink Sheet.

Distances : Bantry to Glengarriff (Roche's, 9J m.) Ecdes\ 10^ m.; Kenmare,
28^ m. ; and Killarney {Great Southern), 48J m., English.

Bantry to Glengarriff. The road winds more or less closely

around the indented shore at the head of Bantry Bay, and the

general view is dominated throughout on the far side by the

shapely cone of the Sugarloaf (1,887 ft.) and the stern-looking

range extending from it down the peninsula to Hungry Hill

(2,251 /t.).
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The mouth of the Mealagh River is crossed at Bunnamark Bridge

(IJ 111.), and the view of the inlet with the grounds of Dunnamark
House on its N. shore is very pretty. The small cascade Dunna-
mark (or Mealagh) Falls is chiefly noticeable for the erosion of

the rock on the left-hand as you face the fall.

Passing the head of Reenydonagan Lough (2^ m.) we have
another charming water vista. The mouth of the Oivvane River

(3J m.) is crossed by an ivied bridge just under Ballylicky House,
right.

Bej'ond the bridge, the road up-stream leads through the Pass of Kei-
manelgli to Macroom. This route is described tlie reverse way, p 98.

Turning left we get a fuller view of Whiddy, with its small
ruined castle. At Snave Bridge (5J m.) we cross the estuary of

the Coomhola River. [Kenmare, 14J m. from here by Priesfs
Leap road—not specially interesting. It is a mere stream-bed for

^ m. beyond the divergence to Bunane Bridge.]

Bantry or Glengarriff (Eccle^') to Snave Bridg:e, 5| m ; K.il-
garvan,24m; Kenmare, 31 m. Tliis route between 8nave Bridge and
Kilgarvan cannot compare in beauty witli the high road from trlengarrift" direct
to Kenmare. It is, however, a good, solitary, mountain road for those who are
already familiar witli the car rov;te. For about a mile the road ascends the riglit

bank of the Coomhola liiver, and then crosses to the left bank and follows it

closely for 5 miles more. After that it gradually ascends along the W. flank of
Conigar (188G/V.). Left, across tlie valley, is Kinkeen (IGGGJt.), and the clift-

hoUow of Lough Nambrackderg.
Tlie road makes a circuit westward, and reaches the waterslied (10^ i7i. from

Snave Briflge), j List after having turned sharply to the right. I.oug:K Nam-
brackderg (not to be confounded with its 'eastern namesake under the N.
side of Shelly Mtn.) is a small lough almost environed by the broken scarp of
Kiukeen. To reach its foot leave the road near the sharp turn just mentioned.
It is about J 7n. south from tliere.

The watershed forms the boundary of Cos. Cork and Kerry, and from it

the road makes a great loop to the eastward. The rocky escarpment of
Knockboy {22SQ ft.) is above, on the left, aliout 2 m. from the watershed, and
then the road rapidly descends the valley of the Slalieny River with the Man-
gerton group of mountains aliead and blocking the view. ' We cross the blalieny
at Slaheny Bridge, wliere tlie stream is prettily wooded, and in less tlian a mile
further cross the Romihtii Hirer to Mil{>;arvnii (Pub. Ho.), from wliich village
it is 7 milts down tJie bi'oad valley to Keinnare, /;. 107 : or Kilgarvan (by
Morley's Br., 2^ : and Loo Br., 7J) to Killarney, 10 ;».— this route into
killaniey is picturesque.

The road now leaves the coast-line, but at 1 m. (2 m. beyond
Snave Bridge) commands the best view, thus far, of the Sugarloaf
and of the range westward. Gradually, the charming nook in
which (xlengarritf nestles reveals itself. At 9 m. the woods of

Glengarrift" Castle are left of the road, and just beyond you turn in,

left, through a drive-gate to Roche's (9Jm.), where the car stops
to deposit passengers and then goes on past the- Belle Vue to
Eccles' (lOi ///.).

For continuation of route to KiUarney,p. 105.
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Motels : tccies\ RocMs, Belle Vue, oil theif respectivfe claiins se6 beloic,

Post and Telegrapli Office, a few hundred j-ards W. of £ccles\

Letters del., abt. 9 a.m. ; desp., 3.30 p.m. Post Toirn, Bantry.

Distances : by road in Eng. miles (figures in brackets from Roche's, the

others from Ecdes') Adrigole, 12 (13) ; Bantry, 10^ (9^) ; Castletown-Bearhaven,
22 (23) ; Inchigcelagh, 27J (26^) ; Kemnare, 18 (19) ; Killarney, 38 (39)

;

Macroom, 36^ (35^).

Tourist Cars : For service to Bantry, Kenmare, Killarney, and Macroom
see Pink Sheet.

Choice of Hotels. The tariffAt the first two is almost the same ; bed, 3#.,

table d'hote 5»'. {As. fid. at Roche's) ; attend, 1*. M. In situation both are highly
favoured in the views they command. The mountain-view from Roclte's is

superb, and there are deliglitful grounds running down to the bay, Glengariff
Harbour. Eccles' is on the shore at the head of the bay, from which it

is only divided by the road, and the view, though less striking, is very sweet.

The latter hotel has also large delightful grounds and, wliat is a great boon to

the sojourner, an excellent library. For a night, EccIps' is perhaps the more
convenient. For. longer sojourn, the more airy situation of Roche's is a recom-
mendation. The capacity of both houses is apt to be taxed in the height of

the tourist season. The Belle "Vne, between the other two, is a fair second-

class house.

Gleng'arrlff (=" the rough glen ") so completely combines all

the beauties of a sheltered silvan nook and a charming islet-dotted

sea-lough, dominated by finely shaped and stern mountains, that it

is quite impossible to do justice to its scenery within the limits of a

guide-book paragraph. In forming expectations of what he is

going to see the stranger has only to bear in mind that Glengarritf

is a nook and he will not be disappointed. Dignity and atmos-

phere, due to breadth and distance, he will find at Killarney, but

of its kind Glengarriff is the most charming spot in the United
Kingdom. We write chiefly for summer travellers, but the doctors

are agreed on the merits of the spot as a winter resort, for patients

to whom a mild and humid climate is suitable. AH the year

round the vegetation, including arbutus, tells its own tale. If the

tourist arrives by the afternoon car from Bantry, he will find the

following walk within easy compass of the interval before dinner.

VTalk. Follow the road W. from Eccles' through the village,

and at a fork (^ m. from the hotel) take the left-hand (Bearhaven)

road [the right-hand one goes to Kenmare and Killarney] . A few

yards onward is the bridge ov«r the Glengarriff Eiver, and from it,

down stream, we see the two arches of the picturesque ruined

Cromwell's Brldg-e. The story is that Cromwell passing west-

ward made the passage of the river with difficulty and threatened

all sorts of evil things if he did not find a bridge against his

return. A few yards beyond where the river course quits the

wood, go down the right bank, and you will come to a lovely pool

and glade.
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Then return to the road, and go through door-gates, right, a few
yards further on, and follow the lane as it winds and deteriorates.

When gates across it are reached, climb up the bit of crag, left,

and you reach a charming View-point. The bay (Glengarriff

Harbour) lies below in all its beauty. In the distance is Whiddy.
Glengarrili' Lodge and the silvan grounds along the Glen-
garriif River are at your feet, while some distance olf the rather
bald looking Roche's Hotel is conspicuous. Notice the abundant
traces of glacial action on the rockmasses which form curious
ridges, and are everywhere rounded into great convex surfaces.

An obvious path leads down through the woodland (Glengarriff

Lodge seen below), and presently runs into another wider track,

where you double back and descend to a wooden bridge, and so

out into the public road by the entrance-lodge, when you turn to

the right. From the view-point to Eccles', this way, is a short
mile and a quarter.

Ascent of Cobduff, 1244 ft. (1| hr. there and back from
Backers, 2^ hrs. from Ecclea^). This is the green hill nearly due
E. of and behind Roche\s. The only interest is the view. That
is very fine of the bay and mountains, best perhaps two-thirds of the
way up. The landward view from the top is dull and limited by
higher summits. The ascent is perfectly simple though fairly

steep. The best starting-point is about half-a-mile from Roche'^
along the by-road, which runs past the little homesteads at ihe
foot of the hill, a few hundred yards E. of the main-road.

gisccnt of tijc ^ugai'laaf; 1,887 /f.

Distance 6-7 m. from Eccles' Hotel ; 7-8 from Roche's.

Time 5 to G hrs. up ami down . No inn of any kind on the way.

This is far the most profitable ascent within easy access of

Glengarriff, and a fine day may be most enjoyably devoted to it.

In returning, a pleasant variation may be made by joining the main
(Castletown-Eearhaven) road about (i miles from Glengarrift" ; see

small print j)- 104, where the easiest ascent for strangers is given.

Route.—Take the left turn a little beyond the Post Office, and
300 yards or so, after crossing the river (Cromwell's Bridge is seen
a little way down stream), turn abruptly to the right along a winding
cart-track which skirts Shrone Hill {919 ft.). A short mile further
what is marked on the Ordnance survey as the old road comes
in on the right.

This point may also ]»e roiclicd by koei»iMf,'alont,' the Kenmare road for §mile
beyond tlie Post Utlice, and tlien crossing the stream by the rickety ruined
bridge just within the grounds of Grlcngarriff Lodge.

The track continues now for some distance through pleasant
woods. At a fork, in about half a mile, keep up to the left.

[The right branch crosses a small bridge and strikes back to the
Lodge and towards the Eagles' Nest. J The track now falls off in
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quality and presently reaches a small farm, from which you take

a rough path up the hill- side and through walls leading into

what is evidently the course of an old road, the object being to

cross the lowest ground (abt. QOO ft.) between Shrone Hill (919 ft.)

on the left, and another hill (1,255 /«.) on the right. From the col

you look down into a wild valley headed by the Sugarloaf and
Gowlbeg Mountain. The route (the old road) is seen in front

ascending to the gap between them. Descending to and crossing

the Magannagan Stream at a height of about 200 feet, you have
another climb to the gap ^abt. 800 ft.). This is the rough side of

the Sugarloaf, and the steep slope, strewn with huge purple slabs

of rock lying at sharp angles, is almost impracticable. The way
is (after admiring the view that bursts suddenly on the eye as you
reach the gap—the plain, the sea. Hungry Hill and Bear
Island in front), to continue along the road for about 10 minutes
and then begin the ascent slantwise, so as to gain the ridge from

J to ! mile west of the summit. The ascent from the road will

occupy 45 to 50 minutes. Pick your way carefully, avoid the

larger crags on the right, and do not get into a considerable

hollow, which you may notice when you have got about half way,

in front and on the left. The grassy ridge once gained the walking

and the view are delightful. The latter includes the whole extent

of Bantry Bay, with the town of Bantry snugly ensconced at its

upper end, and the Glengarriff inlet, which from this point is not

unlike a part of Windermere as viewed from the fells N.W. of that

lake. Dunmanus Bay is seen, and beyond it the country almost to

Cape Clear and Mizen Head. Bear Island lies south-west and, to the

right of it, Hungry Hill (2251 /^), continued northwards by the

Caha range, closes the prospect, which, however, spreads again due

north to the Macgillycuddy's Beeks, and, right of them, to the

Killarney mountains. The Kenmare road can be traced up to the

tunnel at its highest point.

In returning you may cross the old road, and descending through

small enclosures and past some rude cottages, enter the main road

about an hour after leaving the top.

Altenmtice route np the Sng-arloaf. Follow Ailrigole roal to Devrycoimcry
School House (2 in.), a little beyond the bend of the road \V. of Coolieragh
Harbour. There turn up to the right and ascend the mountain on its S.E,

side, overlooking Bantry Bay. A descent can be made on the opposite side (in

the direction of the Barley Lake), to the liead of the Magannagan stream, and
the outward route of the ascent (p. 103) be taken in returning.

Glengrarriff to Adrig-ole, 12^ m. and Castletown-Bear-
haven, 22 vi. The mail-car from Bantry to Ca-tletown leaves

Glengarriff about 9 a.m. The return car leaves Castletown abt.

11.30 and Adrigole abt. 1.30. Fare Is. {)(l. to Adrigole ; 3.s. Gr/. to

Castletown. Foi' steamer to and from Bautnj, see jj. 99. Cyclists
will enjoy the route (i). 107) between Glengarriff and Kenmare.

In beauty of views this route is far behind that from Bantry to

Glengarrilf because the mountains, such an important element

of the scene from the E. side of Bantry Bay, are too close at
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hand to show off their proportions. The first two miles are

beautiful. Beyond Magannagan Bridge you leave the shore but,

2^ m. further on, overlook the lake-like Coolieragh Harbour.
After that the views of the Sugarloaf and Hungry Hill are fine.

Low heights intervene between the road and the bay as far as

Trafrosk Bridge, 8^ m. Thence onward the coast is followed

pretty closely, but the road makes a great bend inland in order to

pass the head of Adrigole Harbour. About a mile beyond Adrigole

Bridge (12 m.) the road crosses Been Bridge, and it is the tributary

flowing from Coomadavallig Lake which falls as a threadwater
700 ft. from the cliffs of Hungry Hill—a rare hunting ground for

botanists. The waterfall becomes insignificant after continued
dry weather.

The light-house on Roancarrig Island is conspicuous as, follow-

ing the coast, we approach the haven. Mount Grabriel {p. 97) is

the principal summit on the horizon across the bay eastward.

Castleto-virn-Bearliaven * (Berehaven) is a dull little place
of about 2,000 inhab., which wakes up on the arrival of the fleet.

The magnificent harbour is almost unused at other times. Some
years ago the Bearhaven copper mines (10^) brought it some
prosperity. They are on the N. side of the peninsula, by the
coast-road to Dunboy (1^), a lovely spot, and then to the right

through the hills. Bearhaven, by Derreen, to Kenviare, see

reverse route, p. 107.

Gleng-arriff [Eccles'') to ICenniare, 18 w., and Ktllarney,
38 m. From Roche's, 1^ m. additional. For Tourist Cars, see Pink
Sheet.

*#* If you wish, during the mid-day halt, to see the Convent and Church at
Keumarc tlioroughly, provide yourself with hmcheon before starting. A wrap is

scarcely ever unwelcome wliilst crossing the liills even in warm weather.

The traveller may be reminded of the route p. 124. This should certainly be
taken in going to or returning from Killarney.

In the course of this fine drive, the traveller will not care to

have his eyes constantly on a book. Our description is, therefore,

made as brief as possible, and where we indicate a fine view-point
it is rather to call attention to the best, in our opinion, than to

imply that unnoted scenes are commonplace.

Starting west from Eccles' the road goes through the. village.

At the K. C, Chapel {-h vi.) the Castletown-Bearhaven road (j). 105)
diverges, left. We keep to the right-hand road and pass, ^ m.
further, the entrance-lodge, left, of Glengarriff Lodge (late Earl of

Bantry). Another half-mile up the wooded glen—note the glacier-

rounded rocks—-and we reach the open hill -side, our onward road
being seen high up on the left.

* Bear- or Berehaven. Ha/cn indicates tliat the Norsemen here settled on
the coast. Bear, prou. Beara, the Spanish queeu of King Owen More {Joyce).
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The Canrooska stream is crossed at Crosterry Bridge (2^ 7n.), and

J m. further the coach-road intersects the old-road from Glengarriff

to Kenmare.

Old Road. The actite pedestrian couM witliout difficulty cross the moun-
tain by this road (unmistakable and very fair) and rejoin the coach in 2£ m., half-

a-mile on this side of Releagh Bridge (a sweet spot to wait a few minutes for the

coach) ; or in 3^ m. at the R. C. Chapel near Bunane Bridge. The coach takes

fully an hour to reach Releagh Bridge, the distance being 6 m., half of which
is up-hill.

An ascent (abt. 500 ft.) of a mile, which affords fine views, looking back, of

Glengarriff and the Caha Mountains, lands you on the shallow col, between Esk
Mountain (1,273/?.), left, and Barraboy Mountain (1,519 /V.), right, on the boun-
dai-y between Cos. Cork and Kerry. About 1^ m. down the further side j'ou turn
off, left, just beyond the cottages of Garryletter, and cross the valley to the
coach-road wliich is \ m. from the turn.

If, instead of turning left at Garryletter you keep straight on for another
niUe, you %\ill reach Bunane Bridge, a,m\ the R. C. Chapel on the coach-road is

\ m. beyond it.

As the road winds up the hillside the views are particularly

charming between the 4th and 5th miles from Glengarriff, of which
that at 4^ m. is perhaps the best, including Glengarriff Lodge, the

glen itself, and Barley Lake in a corrie.

Unless summer visitors' pence make life tolerable the year round,

it would seem a kindness to evict the inhabitants of the wretched
cottage by the roadside at the S. entrance of the Tunnel (1200 ft.

above the sea ; 6 m.) through which the road crosses the water-

shed and passes from Co. Cork into Kerry. Later, we pass through
shorter tunnels, and completely command the valley down which
our route lies for the rest of the way to Kenmare.
At 8 m. (2 m. from summit-level) the R. C. priest's house is on the

left of the road. Just beyond Releagh Bridge (9 m.), where we cross

the Sheen (or Bauraragh) River, the view up and down the valley

is very pleasing. At the R. C. Chapel (see small type above), served

by the priest whose house we have noted, we are 10 miles from
Glengarriff, and only 315 feet above sea-level. Nothing calls for

mention till we reach Kenmare Sound, which is crossed by a Sus-

pension Bridge (17^ m.) at a pretty spot. It is only ^ m. further

to Kenmare. For continuation of road to Killarney, see p. 107.

g^ttitt^r^.

Railway from Headford (/). Gl).

HotelN : Southern ; Lanndowne Arms.

Post and T«'l«»g:rai»li OiHco : Letters del. 7 a.m. ; desp. 5.30 p.m.

Postal address : Kenmare, Co, KeiTy.

Coacltes to Glengarriff, Killarney, Parknasilla, and Waterville, see Pink
sheet.

Kenmare is a pleasant little town of 1200 inhab. in a pretty

ueighbourliood. The passing visitor should see the handsome
modern R. C. Church, and the adjoining Convent of Four Claren
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(lasting monuments of the devoted work of Father 0' Sullivan).

The latter {free adm. and no begging) is famous for the exquisite

lace which the shockheaded daughters of Wild Kerry are taught
by the Sisters to make. This lace won the first place for the
Kenmare School in the South Kensington competition of 1886
and some of it is so line as to be almost worth its weight in gold.

Ask the Sister, who takes you round, to be allowed to hear the

children sing. In this, as in lacemaking, the refinement is a
wonderful testimony to the skill of the devoted ladies who have
to deal with such untutored material.

Across the road above the Lansdowne Arms are the ruins of the old

R.C. Church, and behind them the Soutbern Hotel, beautifully

situated on the brow overlooking Kenmare Sound. You can
descend to the waterside and follow it to the right to the

Suspension Bridge. From that three Short Strolls are worth
taking :—1. Cross the bridge and take the third turning to the
right, and then at the first farm quit the road for Mucksna
Mtn.—fine view. 2. From the Kenmare end of the bridge follow

the waterside westward past the quay till your progress in that
direction is arrested by a creek. Then follow the creek back to

the town. The first part of the creekside-walk is rocky and
thick with gorse, but it soon improves. 3. The tour of the

Sound, about 4^ miles.

Keiniiare was founded by Sir WilliaiH Petty in 1670, in what was then a wild
region remote from civilisation. It prospered for a while, but the natives of
the neighbourhood, always hostile and troublesome, at the close of 1688, compelled
tlie colonists " 75 fighting men, uith al^out KJO women and cliildren," to fortify
tliemselves within tiie precincts of tlie agent's house, whex-e they held their own
and effected reprisals, until a few montlis later they were attacked by Tyrcon-
nel's troops, 3(KJL» strong, and liad to make their escape bj- sea to Bristol.

Kenmare to ParknaHilla, 14^ m. ; ISneeiu, 16i} ; %i''aterville, 37 ;

Calilrcivoen, 46^ ; and (rail) Killarney, 71. This fine coach drive is

described the reverse way,^>. 121.

Kenmare to KiImakilIo8:e (Derreen), IG ; Kyeries, 28 ; Castle-
toi^n-Bearliaven, 33 ; Olengarriff, 54^ m.

N.B.—Sojourners at Kenmare sliould not omit to visit l>erreen (Marq.
of Lansdowne), which they can do in the absence of the family. It is one of
the loveliest spots in Kerry, and if combined with a visit to Glanmnre Lake
and glen makes a clioice excursion. Anotlier and shorter excursion worth
making by tliis roail is to the Oloonee Loughs, see heloic. There is a roughish
J'lih. Ho. at Kilmakillogo, quite tolerable for a night.

Tlie above mileage to Kilraakilloge is by the best road as to gradients and
scenery, though it misses the general view of Kilmakilloge obtained from the
summit of the main road. It is easy for cyclists tliroughout, as is the whole
route to Glengarrirt'. lieyond the ClfHtiicc Louglis tlie main rojxd goes over
Knockatoe to Kilmakilloge, 2 miles shorter, but hilly.

From Kenmore cross the Suspension Bridge and turn to the riglit. Tiie road'
hugs the coast to the Middle Cloonee Lough, 9 »/.

U[>per Clooive Loiiyh is lovely, and Iiichiqiiin //OwyA, aboyc it, very fine. A
track to both of them leaves tlic main road about

.J
m. short of the Middle

Lloouee Lough—say 5 miles to Inchiquin and back.
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The Oloonee River is crossed at Ardea Br., 9J, at the foot of Lower Clooneel
Lough, and a full i m. onward at a Police Barrack is the divergence of our route!

from the main road. There we turn to the right, and at {\ m.) cross-roads to the!

left, and again at (\ m.) cross-roads to the right. We then pass above the prettily 1

wooded Lehid Harbour, follow the coast to the entrance of Kilmakilloge Harbour,!
and there turning sharply to the left skirt it to Lansdowne Gate, 16, one of the

|

entrances to Derreen.

I>erreeii, "the little.oak grove," still deserves it name. It was spared
when Sir Wm. Petty (p. 107) cut down the great forest, which clothed the
mountain sides, to feed his smelting furnaces on the harbour shore. The
gardens and a bit of meadow have scarcely encroached upon the venerable
oak grove, which paths and vistas make deliehtful to ramble through. What
is said of Parknasilla and Garinish (pp. 135-6) might almost be repeated, but
here nature has been less improved. The visitor who enters at Lansdowne
Gate and is bound further afield may leave by the gate on the main road at

Mourlin Bridge.

For €rlanntore I^ake cross the bridge, turn to the left and in a furlong
or so to the right. In abt. 2 miles you reach it, but for a fine view you need
not go all the waj', though with time at command you should certainly follow
the road along its margin into the lovely Glanmore glen at its head. A
correspondent tells us to ascend Hungry Hill from tlie head of the glen and
descend to Adrigole or Bearhaven. We have not done this, and shall be

glad of directions.

If Derreen is not visited, then past Lansdowne Gate we continue to the main
road and turn to the right. The Glanmore divergence can, of course, be made
without permission.

The road onward to Castletown-Bearliaven cannot well be missed. It touches
Ardgroom Harbour and thence is almost straight to Eyeries, bej'ond which it

is rougli but mainly downwards. For Castletown-Bearliaven, seep. 105.

Rood continued from p. lOG. Kenmare to Xillarney, 20 w.
On leaving Kenmare we cross the Finnihy lliver and see, in

right rear, Lansdowne Lodge, the long-time residence of Mr. J.

Townsend Trench, agent of the Marquess of Lansdowne. The
conspicuous building on the hill, right, is the Kenmare Workhouse.

. Leaving Kenmare on foot at same time as coach, you can easilj^ go up the
old road past the Workhouse and catch tlie coach just on the Killarney side of

Mulgrave Police Barrack, but the views from the coach road are finer.

. At Sahaleen Bridge (2 /«.) we recross the Finnihy, and the

ascent through the mountains begins. When the summit of the

pass, Windy Gap (abt. 1,000 ft. ; 5^ m.), is reached, the Reeks are

well seen oyer the intervening range which rises on the opposite

side of the valley. Carrantuohill (3,414 ,/Y.), the highest mountain
in Ireland, is about N.W. from the pass, just beyond which the

npper road from Sneem (13 m. from here) joins ours, left.

A few hundred yards W. along this Sneem road a road diverges N., down into

the Owenrcagli valley road, which is very beautiful and leads to the Gap of

Dunloe.

A steady descent leads to the mile-long Looscaunaph Lough
{Pub. Ho., halfway along it) which is in nowise remarkable, but

^t a turn of the road, | vi. or so beyond its far end, the Killarney

valley suddenly reveals itself. The lake below, left, is the Upper
Lake which is extended down the valley by the half-river, half-

lake, called the Long Range to the Middle or Muckross Lake. The
break in the mountain range across the valley, and somewhat
higher up than the Upper Lake, is the Gap of Dunloe. It is
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difficult to exaggerate the charm of the prospect from this point,

and onward to the castellated Mulgrave Police Barracks (10 w.).

It is the finest view of this part of the Killarney district,

and, in the writer's opinion, one of the most perfectly beautiful

views in the United Kingdom ; mountain, water, woodland in

exquisite combination, and bathed in an atmosphere of fairy-

land. It is certainly viewed at its best late in the afternoon of a

fine September day, and to least advantage in the forenoon, earlier

in the summer.
The rest of the drive affords pretty views, but nothing to com-

pare with that just described. The tiny "Queen's Cottage" is

seen below on the left, and then we reach Galway's Bridge, above

which is a pretty little church. The first arbutus will be pointed

out in due course, and when we reach the level road at the bottom
of the valley, it will be a loss if a bugler does not await us. The
'ecboes of the notes of the octave are repeated several times, and
artfully set going again before they die away. In its way this echo

is as beautiful as the view we have left behind, and the "hat " is

not likely to go round in vain. The road skirts the foot of the

steep of Tore Mountain right, and is wooded the rest of the way.
The Miickross and O'Siillivan's Hotels are passed, right, and then,

on the left, the entrance (17 w.) to the Muckross Abbey demesne.

For the points of divergence to the Lake and Metropole Hotels, see

map facing p. 109. The river Flesk is crossed at Flesk Bridge

(19 m.), a pretty spot, and the coach reaches its destination at

Killarney (20 m.) stopping at the Railway Hotel, opposite the

station, whence to the Victoria Hotel, if that be our destination, it

is only 10 minutes' drive.

^itt^rn^M*

Approaclies, see p. 90.

BEotels (see map opposite) :

—

Great Southern, centrally situated, opposite the Station, There are well

shaded grounds for lawn tennis, &c.

Royal Victoria, finelv placed on the N. shore of Lower Lake, IJ m. from
Station.

Lake, on Castlelough Bay, 1 J m. S. of the station. Mitropole {temp.), about

1| m. on Muckross road, with good view.

Graham's Glebe (4 on map), with garden—8x. 6(f. day.

Muckross (good), O'Sullivan's (inexpensive). These are about 3 m. in the
Kenmare direction, at Muckross,

In the town (numbers refer to figures on map facing this page)

:

Innisfallen, 2 (Bed and Breakfast, from 3*. 6d. ; Dinner, from 2s. &d.) ; Palace,

3 ; Slaltery's, 1. M'Cowen's {temp.) 6, New-st,, small, clean.

Motel Prices : Killarney is not ruinous, though it used to have that
reputation. We do not desire to favour one hotel more than another, but taking
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the Great Southern ami Grnham'x Glehe as examples, we may say that the

10,«. a-day of the former (the price inchuled in rail ami hotel combination
tickets) is clieap for palatial accommodation. Graham's costs (^omethinj? less,

and is a ^ell-managed house. The Victoria, and the Lake are beautifully

situated on the Lower Lake. Uf the minor hotels in tlie town we have hail

no experience. The hotels at Muckross are deservedly popular.

KxcnrMioiiH : The four recognised rounds : (i.) to Gap of Dunloe and down
the lakes ; (ii.) Aghadoe, O'Sullivan's Cascade, Lower Lake ; (iii.) the tour of the

Lower and Middle Lakes ; and (iv.) Muckross and Tore Waterfall, are arranged

for by most of the hotels. The Great Southern fees are Is. each, except (iv.),

which is 4.?. 6(/., with Is. " Estate Tolls " additional in each case. On the first

of these a pony over the Gap summit costs, if bespoke, 3*-. From Ross Castle to

Innisiallen and back, \s. Gd. ; Dinish, 3s.

"Watervill*' RouimI : Eail, coach, and hotel tickets combined include

hotel accommodation at the Southern Hotels at Waterville, Parknasilla, and
Kenmare.

OiHtaiicoH (see n\^o pp. 124 & 102) : By road—Hantry, 48^ ; Cahirciveen (by
Glencar, 19 ; and Lissatiiniig Br„ 28), 39 ; Cork (direct to Macroom, 25), o7

;
(by

GlengarifF, 38^ ; and Macroom, 75) 100 ; Dingle (by Milltown, 11 ; and Inch, 25),

41 ; I>ubllii see Introduction ; Kenmare (by Loo Br., 11^; and Kilgarvan, 19),

25.1 ; Waterville (by Glen-car, 19), 39.

Pofiit and Teleg:i*apli Olflce in New Street, but post-boxes at all the
principal hotels, and Telegraph Office at Jioyal Victoria and at Railway
Station, oppos. Great Southern. English mails, del., 8 a.m,, 1.30 p.m. ; desp.,

2.5 and 8.15 p.m. P.O. at Muckross.

ArbutuH : The older accounts of Killarney might lead the stranger to

expect to find this growth as marked a feature of the vegetation here as the

olive is in Southern Europe. It may once have been so, but at the present day
it is comimratively scarce, and quite inconspicuous. If we remember rightly,

the arbutus is only found on one island in the Lower Lake, and its chief habitat

is the Muckross grounds. It grows on islands in the Upper Lake and on the

hillsides adjoining the Kenmare road. It is much prettier as a small shrub than
when grown into a large bush with bare stems.

Touriiiit Cars to Kenmare, Glengarriif, and Bantry, see Pink Sheet.

Killarney (pop. 5,510) is a dull, uninteresting town about 1^
miles from the N.E. shore of the Lower Lake (Lough Leane), be-

tween which and it interposes the Kenmare demesne. The visitor

must not look to be able to supply himself here with any forgotten

impedimenta of travel, and almost the only shops he will be dis-

posed to patronize will be those of the dealers in articles made of

arbutus-wood and bog-oak. It is strange that a place which every

summer is the principal focus of visitors to the South of Ireland

should manifest so little care to render itself attractive. The
hotel-interest alone appears to be on the qui-vive, and a consider-

able part of the population consists of car-drivers, boatmen, and
guides. Beggars, once a great nuisance, are now not more
prominent than elsewhere.

The only public building of any importance is the B.C. Cathe-
dral of St. Patrick, built from the designs of the late A. W. N.

Pugin, and situated to the West of the town, close to King's

Bridge. It presents a large and lofty, but somewhat cold-looking

interior, and there are no details calling for special notice. In the

N. transept is a brass to Bp. David Moriarty, and the 3-light East
window was a thank-offering from the Earl of Kenmare for the
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recovery of his only daughter, Lady Margaret Browne (now
Douglas), July, 1876/
The Protestant Church (bear round to the left from the Great

Southern) was, till the spring of 1888^ a rather over-decorated build-

ing. It was then burnt out, but has been restored. The School

of Arts and Crafts deserves notice.

€;k'tursions from |iillaritcg.

*;;;* We do not attempt to fit our descriptions to any particular ''Excursion"
arrangements, as tliese are motfified by their different starting-points.

The finest view-poliits are, we think,

(i.) From tlie Kenmare road a little beyond tlie Mulgrave Police Barracks—
for the Upper Lake and Long Range, &c., see p. 109.

(ii.) From Tore Waterfall path—for the Middle (or Muckross) Lake, the Long
Kauge, Purple Mountain and the Macgillicuddy's Reeks, including Carran-
tuohill,

(iii.) From the grave-yard of the old church of Aghadoe—for the Lower Lake
(Lough Leane) and the Tomies group of mountains, N.B. This is an enlarged
and improved edition of the fine view from the West Park and the Royal Vic-
toria Hotel.

(iv.) On the way up Mangerton, about half-way between where cars set down
and the summit of the mountain. This view is wider and includes Tomies
Mountain, but is not finer than (ii.). From the summit of Mangerton are two
fine but distinct views.

(v.) From the summit of Carrantuohill—for the fine precipitous edges and
escarpments of the Reeks and of the baj--indented west coast of Co. Kerry.

(vi.) From the summit of Purple Moiintain—see ^*;j. 114 and 119.
(vii.) From the upper terrace of the gardens of Kenmare Koni^esee p. 112.

The foregoing are all comprehensive views. To enumerate the charming
views from the bosom of the lakes themselves, or from the shore would be an
endless task. The Tore Mountain (1,764 ft.) is a superb belvedere, but un-
fortunately is part of the deer forest and inaccessible to the general public.

The greater number of visitors to the, as far as the United
Kingdom is concerned, unrivalled scenery of the Lakes of Kil-

larney appear to allow themselves but a day or two, perhaps three,

in which to obtain a hurried survey of a district that might well
detain them for a week or two at least.

Nowhere else in these islands are woodland, lake, and mountain
scenery, all of the utmost beauty, so exquisitely combined. It is,

moreover, natural scenery quite unimpaired by man's handiwork,
and the few ruins that there are around the lakes, are picturesque
adjuncts rather than noteworthy historical monuments. The one
thing wanting at Killarney is verdant valley scenery, such as by
contrast gives to the English Lake District its peculiar charm.
What will probably most impress the visitor with a sense of

beauty is the marvellous colouring, due, we imagine, to the sun-
shine passing through an atmosphere which, in ordinary seasons,
is constantly being purified by passing showers.

VThat to see. We here contemplate the traveller whose time
is very short. With three clear days at disposal, the three
Sxcurslons, indicated on p. 110, cannot be bettered. With only
two days take (i) certainly, and (ii) or (iii). With only one day
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(i) should be taken. The view from Kenmare House upper terrace

should, if possible, be added. The sojourner at Muckross would
easily skim the cream of (ii) and (iii) in one day.

Kenmare Demesne (admission 6^., including cycle, at each

of the three entrances)— (i) Deenofih Gate, opp. K. C. Cathedral.

This is the one for the Gardens (7 a.m. to 7 p.m.
;
gardener

guides)
;

(ii) South Gate, a little beyond cross-roads near Prot.

Church
;

(iii) Victoria (or TT>sf) Gate, beyond the Victoria Hotel.

We give some account of the Demesne in the course of the

Aghadoe walk {p. 117). Kenmare House (Earl of Kenmare) is a

modern mansion in the Tudor style in a lovely situation over-

looking the Lower Lake, but the view-point is the upper front

terrace of the private garden, which affords a prospect almost

without a rival in Ireland. Tomies and Purple Mountain are

the most striking mountains round Killarney, and seen from here

their stately outlines, rising purple above the shimmering lake,

with a foreground of rich western foliage, form an exceedingly

impressive picture.

Gap of Dunloe Bxcurslon, returning- down the Ziakes.

Slstances : road to Arbutus Cottage, 9J ??i. ; on pony or foot to " Lord
Brandon's Cottage," 4^ m. more. Thence by boat 3 to 4 hrs. down the lakes.

For cost of hotel excursion see p. 110,

N.B.—As a central point we suppose the traveller to start from and return to

the railway station at Killarney. From the Royal Victoria the land distances

would be 1^ m. less ; from the hotels at Muckross from 2 to 3 m. more and the dis-

tances by boat altered accordingly.

Cyclists. A superb round (map, jo. 122) is through the Gap of Dunloe, as

described helow, and then up the Owenreagh (Glen Reagh) for abt. 4 m. Then,

left, up to tlie Sneem and Killarney road, and again left and up to Windy Gap
(p. 108) on the Kenmare and 'Killarney road. Serious upward gradients are

throughout among fine scener.v, and the run down from Windy Gap is so

beautiful tliat it will be taken' slowly.

This is a delightful excursion, but we recommend pedestrians,

for once at least, to drive as far as the Gap, because the road is

not interesting until you are fairly among the mountains. Super-

fluous energy may find outlet by ascending Purple Mountain from

the Gap, or, as suggested above, Carrantuohill {p. 120) may be

substituted for the Gap—a choice of good things.

It may prevent disappointment to say at once that the Gap is a

fine wild pass, but in some respects inferior to Gleneoe, Honister,

or Llanberis. Comparison is unfair between scenes so distinct.

The finest thing on the land part of the excursion is the view

obtained after passing the head of the Gap. The return journey,

by boat down the lakes, is of surpassing beauty, and if you are

fortunate enough to secure a crew that can sing—^some of the

men do so exceedingly well—you will be sorry to quit the water.

Cyclists will not find the Gap pleasant, but in some parts possible,

find over the worst there is ordinary trundling.
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You leave Killarney past the R. C. Cathedral (j). Ill) and cross

Kifig''s Bridge. On the right we note the R.C. Bishop's Palace
and the Presentation Monastery. Presently we pass the entrance,

left, of the Royal Victoria Hotel.

A little further on you get a good view, left, across the Lower
Lake, of Tomies, the Irish Skiddaw. At 3 m. is the entrance,

left, of West Park, with fine view of Lower Lake, and just

beyond that the road divides and you keep to the left. Aghadoe
House (Lord Headley) occupies the angle between the roads.

When the bridge comes into sight, notice the striking view {!.)

of the Gap, and the steep crags of The Reeks to the right of it.

At 4^ w., you turn to the left and cross the River Laune,
here a fine wide stream, at Ferry Bridge (5|-). Hence the road
trends W. for a mile and then runs due S. to the Gap. After

crossing the Loe at Kate Kearney\^ Cottage, 7^ m., " milk and
whiskey" troubles are in full force!

Kate Kearney is reputed to have been strikingly beautiful, to have sold
potheen to tourists, and to have died about the beginning of the I9th century
Her house, levelled long ago, was near " Kate Kearney's cottage."

The scenery of the Gap begins with a cross barrier of rock,

with larch plantings and a pretty cascade. The road mounts the

left bank of the stream, and after passing the little Coosaun Lough,
descends and crosses to the right bank at the foot of Black Lake

(8J m.; 334 ft. above sea-level). The next mile is the finest part

of the Gap, and you pass successively CushvaUij Lake (337 ft.),

and Auger Lake (397 ft.). Opposite the latter are Gap House
and a Police Barrack. Just beyond the head of the last-named
lake is the Pike Rock, and looking back down the pass, the view is

very wild. Here at Arbutus Cottage the car usually stops.

At 10| m., after an ascent, you reach the first of the tarns

formed by the Loe, a second and quite small Black Lake (587 ft.),

above which, on the east, Purple Mountain rises abruptly. At Ga2>

Cottage walking or riding must begin, and thence it is about 3^ m.
over the Kead of the ©ap and down to the boat-place; ponies, 5s.

each—but see p. 110.

Purple Mountain i27'iQ/f.) can be ascended in a N.E. direction from near
the sunindt of the Crap, and a descent made to the boat-place, in about 2 hours.
Our only experience made us regret we had not accepted the services of one of
the many volunteer guides. The ascent is not difficult but steep, and it is only
too easy, especially in descending to the boat-place to flounder in wet places.

[Anotlier good ascent or descent can be made from or to O'Sullivan's cascade,
t>. 118.] The view from the summit is magnificent and incluiles not only the
Upper and Middle Lakes, but a great part of the Lower Lake as well as the
Reeks, the desolate Ounmieenduffi valley and, of course, the Gap. To the S.E.,

dominating tlie Middle Lake, is Tore Mountain, and to the right of it Manger-
ton. iN'orthward is the Slieve Mish range witli the head of Dingle Bay at its

foot.

From the head of the Gap you obtain a superb view of the

Upper Lake and westward command the desolate Cummeendulf

J n laud II. 1
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Valley, popularly called the Black Valley, a misguiding transla-

tion of Duff's valley. In spite of much tine writing about it, we
advise the tourist not to waste time upon it. It is part of a
descent of Carrantuohill {p. 122).

The track down from the head of the Gap makes a great loop

to the westward, dangerous to cyclists, but it is better to keep to it

and so enjoy the view. It presently becomes a rough road (passing

a school and cottage, left, where tea may be had) and when it

reaches the valley follows pretty closely the Gearhameen Kiver. At
a gate, where you enter on the Muckross property, a charge of Is.

each person is made for the privilege of using the road to "Lord
Brandon's Cottage" {refreshments) where the boat lies in the river

a short distance above the Upper Lake.

A bog-track skirts the south side of the Upper Lake for about lialf-a-mile

and then gradually bends to the right througli the woods to the glen of the
Gahvay's River, on wliich is the I>errycuiiil»y ^Waterfall (6rf. each

;

often included in the Muckross excursion) just above which it joins the main-
road at Galway's Bridge, 9 m. from Killarney. But it is impassable for cyclists,

and should not be attempted by any who would keep dry-sliod.

Doum the Lakes. The Upper Iiake where the river enters

it is about ^ m. wide and dotted with islets, but its great charm is

the wooded heights amidst which it lies. About a mile down it

you pass Arbutus Island, on which, as well as in the woods, the

arbutus attains a great size. The lake here narrows, but only to

expand again as you turn suddenly to the left out of it, and enter

the wide river-like extension known as the Long Range. When
this expands into a lake, the Eagles^ Nest (1,100 /«.), a noble cliff

richly wooded below, towers high above the left bank. It is this

cliff and the glen behind it that yield the exquisite echoes men-
tioned on p. 108.

After another mile of winding river you see ahead Old Weir
Bridge, and there it is that the chief part of the drop of 4 feet

between the Upper and Lower Lake occurs. The boatmen shorten

in their oars and tell you to sit still as the boat shoots the

Rapids. The water boils on both sides but there is no danger,

and the tenderest nerves are tried but for a moment.
The "Meeting of the Waters" is the name given to the sweet

spot below the Rapids, because there the channels around Dinish
meet, the left from the Lower Lake, the right, under another
picturesque bridge, from the Middle (or 3IuckrOf;.s) Lake. The
latter channel should be taken (whether bound for Muckross or

not) if only to view from the water the gem of all the Killarney

heights, the Tore Mountain (1,764 ft.), the perfection of an
abrupt and rocky steep, clad with a wealth of wood remarkable
even hereabouts. Under Brickeen Bridge you enter Glena Bay, as

this lovely corner of the Iiower laake is called, and if the

Lake Hotel be your destination you have a delightful row,

along the Muckross peninsula into Casthlough Bay. Should Kil-

larney town or the Victoria Hotel be your object, then you strike
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across the lake to the wooded peninsula of Ros$ Island, passing

left Znnlsfallen (p. 116), and then either enter Boss Bay (very

lovely) and land at Ross Castle {p. 118 ; admission to island, M. ;

tea at Ross Cottage), or keep northward from Innisfalien to the

landing-place of the Victoria.

The Muckross Demesne and the Tore IVaterfall.

By road the Demesne is entered from the Kenmare road, about 2 m. from
Killarney Station ; also from near the hotels at Muckross. By boat the only

landing-place, where visitors are allowed to disembark, is Diuish Island Quay,
except in case of visitors at the Muckross hotels.

A<linis8ion : to the Demesne, Is. (persons staying at the Muckross Hotel,

or at (fSulliians, free) ; to the Tore Waterfall, M. {see below). Down to 1899

this demesne remained in the possession of the Herbert family ; in that year
Lord Ardilaun purchased it.

Distftnceis : (from Killarney Station) nearest Entrance about 2 m. ',
Abbey

Iluins, 2f m. ; Brickeen Bridge, t>\ m. ; Dinish Quay, 6 m.

Prom Ditmh to Tore Waterfall, 2 m., and thence to Killarney, 4 J m. more.

Killarney to Tore Waterfall (direct), 4^ m. In the interest of safe traffic all

cars and cycles are compelled to enter at the near, or Muckross, end of the
demesne, and can on no account obtain admittance for the reverse journey.

The usual drive (about 10^ w. in all) is first to the Kuins, then
down the Peninsula to Dinish and back by the Tore Waterfall.

The Demesne is exceedingly beautiful, but the mere drive is, we
think, apt to disappoint high expectations. The only way to

appreciate the beauty of the grounds is to devote the greater part

of a day to them, and to ramble near the waterside.

Supposing the Demesne to be entered at the nearest entrance from
Killarney, then a pleasant road, a short distance from the head of

Castlelough Bay, brings you in about | m. to the ruins of XVIuck-
ross Abbey {Muckross = muc-ros, "the peninsula of the pigs";
the old name of the monastery was Irrelagh, " the building on the
lough ") which was founded, according to Archdall, in 1440
by Donald McCarthy, as a Friary for Conventual Franciscans.
The buildings were re-edified in 1002, and are still in a fair state

of preservation. The Church is chietiy noticeable for its tower,

recessed west doorway, and well-known east window. From the
north transept you enter the solemn little Cloistei's, which have round
arches on two sides and pointed on the other two. In the centre

of the garth is a venerable yew-tree which completely overshadows
the court. From an angle of the walk you reach the Refectory^,

&G., but these domestic buildings are not of much interest, except

for the fact that the great fireplace of the Refectory was adopted
as his abode by an eccentric person in the last century.

The mansion, Muckross Abbey (Lord Ardilaun), a plain

substantial house of little beauty, is about a mile south of the



116 MtCKBOSS.

ruins, and you would pass close to it on the way from tliem to the

Tore Waterfall.

Leaving the mansion to the left the road runs the length of the

3Iuckross Peninsula, which is wooded throughout and has many
old arbutus trees, gaunt, many stemmed specimens more venerable

than beautiful. Passing Doo (dubh) Iiougrh, right, the road

skirts the shore of Middle Lake, left, and goes through Camillan

Wood and along a narrow neck to Brlckeen Brldgre, over the

channel connecting the Middle Lake with Gleena Bay (the head
of the Lower lake). A little further on a " fiagway " or embankment
leads on to Dlnish, where (good view of the old Weir Bridge) at a

Cottdfie tea, &c., can be had. From Dinish the liustic Bridge

crosses the channel connecting the Meeting- of tlie VTaters,
right, and the Middle Lake, left. Turning eastward, the road

skirts the latter and runs into the high road (from Kenmare
to Killarney), and following that (to left) for a mile, you reach

the gate, right, of the Tore "Waterfall {9d.). This famous
spot is deservedly one of the most visited in the district.

The cascade itself is of little volume, and though an exceed-

ingly pretty broken fall, is only one element in a marvellously

beautiful scene. A steep footpath ascends the left-hand side of

the ravine, and affords more than one delightful view-point.

From near the limit of the walk is perhaps the best. Hence
not only is there a comprehensive view of the exquisitely

wooded ravine and sparkling cascade, but of the Middle Lake and
the mountains beyond it, as well as of part of the Lower Lake.

For richness and, in favourable weather, for colour, there is no
more lovely prospect anywhere in the kingdom, and as already

intimated {p. Ill), this is one of the choicest views in the district.

For the road back to Killarney, see p. 108.

Znnlsfallen {about a mile from Boss Castle) is at once the

largest and most interesting of the islands in the Lower Lake.

Its area is under 30 acres, but it is richly fringed with quaint and
luxuriant wood, and from it glorious viev/s are obtained (charm-

ingly framed) of the S.W. shore, including the beautiful Tomies
Mountain. It is also of much interest to the antiquarian on
account of the very early monastic remains, which are still to be

found upon it. They are, of course, roofless and architecturally

of no beauty.

The abbey was either founded by St. Finiaii (or Finan) Lobhar
{i.e., the leper) at the end of the 6th cent., or very soon after his

death, when it was dedicated to him. Mr. M. H. Bloxam, of

Kugby {d. Apr. 24, 1888) was inclined to regard the existing

remains as in part at least belonging to St. Finian's monastery.

His detailed account—abridged and slightly amended—of the ruins

is as follows :

—

The Church (66 ft. by 16 ft.) consists of a nave and cliancel otily, but tlic

fragments above ground are insutJicieni to show tlie junction of the partf^.

The E. end has been hitely restored. Tlierc is one window in tlie S. wall of the

nave : a simple light, covered horizontally with a liutel-stoue ; the jambs,
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straight-sided and !?liglitly splayed. Tlie wall appears to have been plastered

internally ; and the only remnants of mouldings are outside the E. lancet lights,

very rough and of doubtful date.

On the N. of the cliurch is the Court (27 ft. N. to 8. ; 36 ft. E. to W.), A single

wall bounds the W. side, in which side there is no appearance of buildings.

The foundations of a wall, forming, as it were, a passage 5ft. lOin. wde, appear
on the S. and W. sides of the court. On the N. side is a plain doorway with
a horizontal lintel over, leading into one long room, apparently the Refectory ;

the walling here is 2 ft. 8 in. thick, and the room 5U ft. by 15 ft. At the E. end
is a small window, the jambs partly splayetl, the head horizontal. On tlie E.

side of the Court are 3 doorways i-udely constructed. Of these, the northern-
most has a plain horizontal lintel ; the other two have semicircular-headed
arches of rude construction, formed of thin stones. Two of these doors open
into a roofless apartment, 40 ft. by 16 ft. The masonry is of irregular pieces of

rock and very n^de. Little mortar appears to have been used, and interspersed
in the walls, here and there, are blocks of squared stones. At the S. end of this

building, high up, the only indication left of an upper story, except the pug-
holes in the roof gable, is a narrow light, looking into the Church. This may
have been the original Camera (lodging) of the Abbot. There are no apparent
remains in these apartments of any fire-placo. Tlie walls of the Court are

2^ ft. thick. The entrance into it is on the S.W., close to the church, where in-

dications exist of a mile archway.

Separated from, and about 30 ft. N.E. of the main buildings, is a building
probablj' the Kitchen., 33 ft. by 15 ft., with the remains of an oven at the S.W
corner.

About 42 ft. W. of the church are the remains of a building (36 ft. by 16 ft.)

of block masonrj-, superior in construction to the original buihiings, and ap-
parently of later date. This may have been the Hoxpitium or Infirmary.

On a headland some little distance N.E. of the main buildings of the abbey,
is a small domestic building of the 12th century, standing "due E. and W.,
probably the Abbot's Camera or lodging. The sole apartment is, internally,
18 ft. by" 11 ft. 3 in. On the W. is a semicircular-headed doorway—the best feature
extant—with weather-worn chevron and other mouldings and Norman shafts at
the sides. At the E. end is a small semicircular-headed window, also of hewn
stone ; and in the N.E. angle a fire-place. The walls of this building are 3 ft. 8 in.

thick ; the doorway 2 ft. 3 in. wide ; the internal splay of the window 2 ft. 3 in.

To Affbadoe Cburch {riiim) 2^ m. and back by West Park,
BLenmare Demesne and Ross Castle to Killarney, a de-

lightful walk of about 9 m., hut the lane is 7iury except after drought.

Leave the town by one of the roads [Killarney map] which
meet at the bridge over the Deenagh stream near the Workhouse.
About ^ v\. onward turn to the right up a lane, and follow it—

a

beautiful lane ending in a steep ascent to Ag-badoe Old
Cburcb.

I

From the Victoria Hotel it can be reached by a field

path.] Having entered the grave-yard, even Mr. Dry-as-dust will

for a time ignore the ruins and be absorbed in the magnificent
vle\ir, of which the great feature is the noble mass of Tomies
and Purple Mountains, seen across the full expanse of the Lower
Lake.

The ruins are not of much importance. The Old Church con-
sists of an Early Pointed chancel and a Romanesque nave. The
latter style is in Ireland no proof of Anglo-Norman workmanship
and occurs in buildings known to date before the Conquest. This
nave which still has a rich W. doorway, in fair preservation, is

assigned by Petrie to the 8th century. The Bound Toiver, just

west of the church and in the line of the graveyard wall, is a
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mere stump, and its masonry has been repaired. The Bound
Castle is also only a stump, and is too covered with ivy to be
seen properly. Archdall speaks of an abbey here, and possibly

this was the Abbot's fortitied house.

From the graveyard you may (by a venial trespass) descend
through the tields, keeping along under a wood, right, and so

reach the main road again a little short of the entrance of the West
Park. If you prefer the road you bear to the left about ^ m. be-

yond the ruins, and descend past the modern Aghadoe Church
(Prot.) to the Milltown road, down which you turn, left, to its

junction with the road from Killorglin. A few yards from the

junction, towards Killarney, you reach the entrance-gate, right,

of the "West Park (6d.) and have but to follow the drive. This
keeps fairly near the shore of the lake over which the view
is charming. About a mile from the entrance-gate you pass
through a gate on to the grounds of the admirably situated

Royal Victoria Hotel, which has a landing-place on the lake

at the foot of the lawn or rather pasture.

After passing through a lodge-gate (Xenmare Demesne), at.

the fork just beyond take the right-hand road and straight on
at cross-roads. This presently runs into another, second, cross-

roads. [The road left leads in | m. to Killarney (Kings Bridge),

passing below Kenmare House.] Take the right-hand road for

Boss Castle. Tomies Mountain and the islands in the lake are

beautiful from here. Soon, however, woods hide the view and
you cross a bridge over the Deenarjh River and turn to the right.

Immediately, a meadow opens to the lake, and Tomies is once
more very beautiful. As you approach the next bit of woodland,
the mansion, Flesk Priory, is seen on rising ground, left, with the

spires of Killarney at the head of the glade. Yet another glade,

opens towards Tomies and then, about a mile from the Victoria

Hotel, you obtain the most picturesque of all views of Eoss Castle.

The grey and ivied tower, the fringe of trees along the water in

the foreground, the bare bulk of Mangerton behind, and Tore Mt.
somewhat to the right, have all the elements of beauty due to

contrasted details. A little way further you get a less perfect

picture of the castle and reach cross-roads, whence, turning to

the right, it is only a short distance to Ross Castle {^hus to and
from Killarney Station, Qd., several times a day during the season.

Admission : Eoss Island, Qd. Tea at Ross Cottage). The castle

is a square tower, and, except as a view-point, of little interest.

It was built about 1500, was held for Charles I. by Lord
Muskerry, but was obliged to yield to the Parliamentary army
of General Ludlow. Here is a landing-place, well-supplied

with boats, including the excellent craft belonging to the Great

Southern. The woodland of the " island " is intersected by
narrow paths, but is not particularly good rambling ground.

Ross Castle is the nearest boat-place for Innisfallen (jo. 116) and Ross
Bay itself, with its many islets, is very charming. The row across the lake to

O'iSnlllvan's Cascade, a fine broken fall in a wooded glen, at tlie foot of



MANGERTON. 119

Tomies Mtn., is also a favourite one. Considerert as a waterfall it is, perhaps
to be preferred to the Tore Waterfall (p. 116), but the latter has the advantage
of affording one of the most beautiful views of tlie district, so that visitors
with limited time should give Tore the preference. O'Sullivan's can be made
the starting-point for the ascent of Purple Mtn.—a superb view-point—see j?. 113.

Tliere is a beautiful walk from Boss Castle across the island to the old
Copper-mine pool (S. end) ; it leads amidst luxuriant foliage of flowering shrubs,
amongst which the arbutus is abundant.

From Ross Castle to Killayney direct is about 2 m., and the
road is straight and dull.

Ascent of IVKangrerton (2756 ft.). For car and pony, see

pp. 109, 110.

Remarks. This is the popular mountain-climb from Killarney.
We are not disposed to rank it amongst the best of the excursions,
and the grim hilarities suggested by the name "Devil's Punch
Bowl," are greatly discounted when we discover that the " Bowl "

has been fitted with a brass cock to turn on the water-supply for
Killarney.

Good views are obtained on the way up, and the view N. and
W. from theN. side of the summit-plateau (covered with long bog-
grass) is wide and beautiful. From the S. side of the plateau
there is also a good view eastward of the Paps, and S.W. to Ken-
mare Bay and the Caha Mountains, but there is no one point
which affords an all-round view, and on the whole we think this
mountain has been overpraised as a belvedere.

The walk may be increased in interest by returning from the col
at the head of the Punch Bowl, either by, or along the verge of,

the Horses' Glen ; see Descent (iii).

Route. Turn to the left just beyond O'Sullivan's Hotel (see
mapjp. 122), which is about 2^ m. along the Kenmare road from
Killarney. About ^ m. from the main-road, the by-road thus
entered on turns sharply to the left, and <} ?«. further, after two
more sharp turns close together, we leave it for a road on the
right. This gradually ascends, and in about 1^ w. from the last

turn (i.e., 2^ m. from the main-road) fords the little stream of the
Finonkigh. The Ordnance map marks this spot as "Toreen-
cormick Battle Field," butwe have failed to discover even the date
of the battle. Here the cars usually deposit their passengers, but
ponies can go on to the summit.

It is tempting presently to strike off, left, from the cart-track and breast the
hill, but the ground is- boggy in places, and we suggest returning from that
direotion, see (iii), p. 120.

The track is unmistakable and, after affording good views
of the Long Range, Upper Lake and, beyond them, of the shapely
Purple Mountain and Tomies Mountain group, lands you at the
foot of the Devil's Punch Bowl, where there is a keeper's hut.
Red deer can generally be seen from this spot.

The Bevil's Punch Bowl is a deep-set mountain tarn about
^00 yards long, and the scarped sides rise more or less " abruptly
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from the water's edge, though not to such an extent as to make a
rough scramble along the margin impossible. The Bowl is one of

the feeders of the Tore Cascade, but as already intimated, is some-
times made to contribute to the Killarney water-supply—a per-

fectly legitimate use of a tarn that has little to lose by the process.

The path to the summit ascends above the S.W. edge of the

Bowl. The Macgillicuddy's Keeks, including Carrantuohill, are

the chief addition to the view over and above what you saw whilst

ascending. The large lough to the N.E., with an islet in it, is

Lough Guitane. To get the view towards Kenmare you must go
well over the summit.

Bescents. (i) By the upward route, just described.

(ii) To Kenmare ; not recommended. Go nearly due S. by the

spur extending in that direction from a little below the E. end
of the summit-plateau. This spur runs down to the Owhefi, a

tributary of the Roughty, and a cart-track on the W. bank leads

into the Kilgarvan and Kenmare road, nearly 6 m. E. of the latter

place. It is quite 5 hrs. walk from the summit to Kenmare.

(iii) From the summit descend the steep pitch to the col at the

head of the Bowl, or descend to the foot of the Bowl and skirt its

N.E. side to the same col. It is the steep and really wild Horses'
O-len which lies below on the other side, and it is possible for

experts to descend into it, but great care is required, and the

ordinary tourist should not attempt it. In the bottom of the glen

are three tarns, Louphft Frhoph, Manogh, and Garaffarnj.

Those who keep to the top should view the glen from the col,

and there is no difficulty in following the hill-tops on its W.
side. In that case a short mile across the moor, IS.W. from the

foot of Lough Garagarry, will bring you to the track, near the

car stopping-place.

Ascent of Carrantuohill (3,414//.). [See p. 125 /or another

ascent and de.-icent to L. Acoose, 3^ m. by road from the Glencar

Hotel, p. 126.] This peak is the highest of the Macgillycuddy's

Reeks, and the apex of Ireland, But few tourists ascend it,

as the usual round through the Gap of Dunloe and down
the Lakes is too long to permit of being combined with the

ascent of the mountain. To active persons we strongly recom-

mend the substitution of the Mountain for the Gap, because

the latter is really nothing very remarkable, and the approach to

Carrantuohill up the Hag's glen is bold and interesting. The view

from the summit is ample reward for the toil. The return route,

down the Lakes, is the same as from the Gap.

Those who have some experience of mountains will not require

a guide. In 1885 we made our first ascent in company with ladies

without one. For a party of four or tive the total expense need

not exceed 10.^. Or?, each. Clear and fairly settled weather is the

great desideratum. The best plan if you are stopping, say, at the
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Gt. Southern Hotel, or one of the other large hotels, is to tell the

manager over-night that you contemplate making the excursion,

and he will generally be able to make up a pleasant party, and
will see to all the needful arrangements, e.(j., car to take you to

the foot of the ascent and a boat to bring you back down the

lakes. Luncheon will be taken, and it is a convenience to have

a " guide" to carry it. From Killarney to the summit and back

is a stiff 12 hrs. walk. If you are without a guide be sure and
carry a compass. It is between 11 and 12 miles to the point
" cars stop " on the map.

Start not later than 9.30 a.m., and leave wraps with the man-
ager to be sent in the boat as they will probably be welcome for

the evening row-back, and you are never certain at Killarney that

a passing squall will not bring a down-pour.

There is, as the map shows, a choice of routes as far as the

Owenacullin stream. At the Gaddagh River—a stream choked
with glacier moraine—walking begins, and you cross the stream by
the stones and follow up a rough lane into a copse and over a

stone barrier. Then take the path, across a field, which bears up
towards the entrance of the Hag's Glen. The ruins of a cottage

showing uprights {gable walls seen edgewise) indicate the right

direction. Then straight up a stony heathery hill still towards
the glen. Cross a wall (easy) and you will find a good track

which keeps the Gaddaqh on the left all the way to the junction of

the two streams from Loughs Callee, left, and Gouragh, right.

The track comes to an end at the confluence. Just above you
here, right, is the bit of crag called the Little Hag's Teeth. The
noble cliffs of Carrantuohill sheer from the summit, and more to

the right the Large Hag's Teeth crags are very fine, as seen a
short way onward. You pass between the two loughs, and the

central moraine is rather rough travelling, but presents no
difHculty.

On arriving at the head of the glen the real climb begins, and
the way is up the DeriVs Ladder, a green steep, broken by bits of

rock, among which a rivulet finds its way. There is a little

bluff' at the foot of this steep. It is best to pass to the le^ft of it.

It will take nearly 1 hr. to gain the ad (No. 1) above. There is

no real dilHculty because the broken character of ground gives

good foothold, but it is a steep pitch. The col has an equally steep

descent on the far side and the top is from 4 to 5 yards wide. From
it, bearing up to the right, it is from ^ to | hr. steady ascent over

short herbage to the summit.

The View. The- striking features are the edges and sheer

escarpments of the Reeks themselves. Endless lakes are in view,

but nothing worth mention in the Killarney direction, i.e., east-

ward. Of the sea-coast you can trace miles, and Brandon Hill

{p. 142) is conspicuous to the North-west. The three islets, Cow,
Calf, and Bull, mark the limit in a S.E. direction, and the pinnacled
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Skelligs, some distance to the right of them, are unmistakable.

KillorgHn {p. 124) is not seen, being hidden by Beenkeragh

3,314 /f.; p. 125), whose sheer cliff faces you northward.

Bescents. Eeturn to col (No. 1), go over the summit on its far

side and down to the col beyond it, which we may call No. 2. You
then have a choice of routes.

(i) Wot recommended, though from experience we know it to

be safe enough. We once took a lady down this way, but then

she was to the manner born. The descent (quite 2,500 /i.) into

the valley (on the S. side of col No. 2) is exceedingly steep, and
though heather and rocks give good foothold you have to zigzag

repeatedly to avoid considerable bits of crag. It will take quite 1^
hrs. to reach the bottom, and the glen thus reached {Cummeenduff
or Black Valley, as it is miscalled) is monotonous—an hour down
it to the junction with the Gap road, see map.

(ii) Tbe best way. From col No. 2 do not climb the hill (East)

beyond it, but bear to the right and keep well up along the flank

of the range till you are about abreast of the interval between the

two largest loughs in the valley. Then you can steadily descend

as you go, and without dropping to the bottom of the valley

will presently (1^ kr. from col 2) strike the Gap of Dunloe road,

see J). 114.

(iii.) To Iioug^li Acoose and Glencar, see p. 125.

Killarney to ILenmare, 20; Gleng-arrl£f, 38 ; and Bantry,

48^ m. This famous drive is described reverse way pp. 100, 105,

108. [Cyclists can improve on the coach road by going through

the Muckross grounds.] To start with, the road is more walled in

than any road we know, and this part is only tolerable to the pedes-

trian because it is shaded. About | m. from Killarney the Flesk is

crossed and 1^ onward is the entrance to Muckross, right, and, on

the hillside, left, a huge Zona Cross to the memory of the late Mr.

Herbert. The Muckross hotels passed, we have more wall, the en-

trance to the Tore Waterfall, and for a while views across the Muck-

ross. (or Middle) Lake, including the curious Devil's Island. Further

on is a magnificent show of hollies, and holm-oak is a feature.

The "White Stag" opposite is a coachman's fraud. A good-

extent of the Long Range (connecting the Middle and Upper

Lakes) is commanded, with the Eagle's Nest crag on its far side.

Exquisite yiews of the Upper Lake succeed, especially as we
approach the tunnel (map). Purple Mountain is a fine object qn

the far side, and the Reeks are well seen (but not Carrantuohill).

Above Galwaifs Bridge is a pretty little church, and, as we ascend,

the Queen's' Cottage is seen below on the right. Passing the

Mulgrave Police Barrack (10 m.), the next half mile commands
tAc view of the route {seep. 108).

Next comes the ascent to the Pass of Cummeenduff (or Windy
Qap)^—the rise broken by the run along Looscaunagh Loufjh
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(Pub. Ho.). On both sides of the Pass (about 1,000 ft.) the view
is wild and striking, and, as we descend, the mountains of the
Waterville promontory, notably Mullaghanattin (2,589) and Beoun
(2,468 /Y.), contribute to the general effect. Kenmare (j). 106)
appears in front, and the last few miles to it are commonplace.
Beyond Kenmare there is a rich river-scene for several miles,

followed by a long Avinding ascent to the Tunnels at the summit
of the route (1,200 ,/^). In the last tunnel we pass from Kerry
into Co. Cork. The sudden and then gradually developing view
of Glengarriff , the Sugarloaf to the right—the depths of the glen
filled with woodland as rich as that left behind at Killarney

—

and the full expanse of Bantry Bay is magnificent. The lough
just visible in a corrie, right, is Barley Xiake. The late Lord
Bantry's Cottage is a large edition of the Queen's Cottage. For
Clengarrlff, see j^. 102. The road on to Bantry is given, reverse
way, p. 101.
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She ^MeviiUe WummUxM.

The tour of this promontory, both as regards scenery and
amenities of travel, is so enjoyable that no visitor to the South-
West should willingly omit it. When we add that it may be taken
after the tour of the Killarney Lakes without any sense of an
anticlimax, our opinion of the route will be obvious. A superb
coast on the one hand, lovely lakes and bold mountain-outlines on
the other, and withal good hotels at convenient intervals, combine
to render the journey one of the best in Ireland.

The train and coach services are arranged so as to allow of the
trip being accomplished in two days—one night at Parknasilla ; but
four days and, better still, a week may with advantage be allotted

to it. As will be seen from the details we give, the leisurely

traveller, who already knows Killarney, may find enough to occupy
an ordinary holiday fully, especially if he includes the fine Dingle
promontory (2?. 138) in his programme.

The cycling in the Waterville promontory, especially the route

round it, is generally good.

Killarney to Caragh Lake, 31 ; Cahirciveen, 48 by rail.

Thence road to Waterville, 10; Caherdaniel, I8; Sneem,

30J ; Parknasilla, 32^ ; Kenmare, 47. Thence rail to Head-
ford June, 20 ; and Killarney, 27 m.

— Cahirciveen to Valentia Harbour, 3 m. by rail. Thence

ferry to Knight's Town, Valentia Island.

Tickets for tlie round, wliicli may be taken in either direction, 22s. Gil., 20*.,

17x. 6d. Break of journey permitted at Caragrh Lake, Caliirciveen, Valentia
Harbour, Kenmare, and at any coacli station en route. Coach fare between
Cahirciveen and Kenmare, 12.<. For many combinations of rail, coach, and
hotel tickets see fKS. i- W.R. tourist programme.

For Hotels on tlie route see heloic under Caragh Lake, Glenbeigh,
Caliirciveen, Valentia Island, Waterville, Derrynane, Parknasilla, Kenmare.
At each of tlie jilaces here printed in italics, the Southern Hotels Co. has a

Sovtherii, and at Parknasilla a second and cheaper hotel.

Ptoute. For the rail, r/a Farmnfore Junction (10; Puh. Ho.
just N, of station) to Killorglin (24) see y. 61. The Reeks are a

tine group, left, but Carrantuohill is hidden by the highest peak in

sight from Killorglin.

Killorglin (Rail tray opp. Station) is a dull town of about 1,600 inliab.

For the town, go to the left from the station, and then turn to the right.

The junction of streets forms tlie market-place, and from it the steep main
street leads down to the bridge over the fishful lliver Laune, which issues from
the Lower Lake of Killarney. The Poxt Office is on the left as you begin the

descent, and a little below tliat, just left of the street, is a fragment of a Castle

of the Knights-Temi>lars.

To Olencar Hotel, 11 m., p. 126 ; op ^Vaterville, direct, 28 m. We
recommend the tourist to drive at any rate as far as Lough Acoose, 7J, as the

route that far is more breezy than picturesque. You leave Killorglin by a road

on the right just sljort of t](e Bridge, and ^ m. onward bear up to the right.
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T^he ascent is then iilor'e oi* less continuous ; the GoltonerB River keeps coiiip<in.v

for some distance, and the otherwise rather featureless landscape is redeemed
by the isolated Reeks. The scenery improves when the steep ascent into the
mountains is entered on, and you reach the summit level (about 7W ft.) of the
route—a col on the watershed between the Laune and the Caragh—immediately
before arriving at the head of Loiujh Acoose (or Coose).

Ascent of tl»e Reeks from L. Acoose, abt. G75/if. ; 3^ m. by road
from Glencar Hotel (/». 126). The three liigliest peaks in Ireland,
Beenkeragli (3,314), C'arrautuoliill (3,414 ;/>. 121), and CaIici*
(3,200 /Y.), make a grand tour from Glencar—say y hrn., including 1^ fir.

for halts, from Acoose and back—but the edge between the tirst two
sunmiits is not for the inexperienced, or those' subject to vertigo. Tlie
ascent of Beenkeragh, and the direct ascent of Oarrantuohill, over Calier,

are void of difficulty.

Start from E. side of Acoose—abt. tlie " e " of name on map, ^;. 122. Some
way up tlie Beenkeragh shoulder, two (Colteners) waterfalls are seen from
below. Make for their N. side (to avoid ravine further up), and then keep
in tlie main eastward and upward, high above L. Eigliter, to tlie top of
Beenk.ei*as:lt (2} hi:s. from waterfalls)—view similar, but finer, to that
p. 121. Oarrantuohill is now due S.—not 1,000 yils. off, but IJ- /ir. The
edge on the Kilhiriiey (E.) side is sheer ; on tlie W., a steep slope with deep
gullies. Keep as near the top as is safe. To get round the rocks of two or
three gullies involves scrambling flat, but, this accomplished, difficulties

are over. Eroui Carraiitnoltill, descend a little S. of W. to a col and
ascend beyond it. Calier is beyond the next sliarii dip— a narrow col
but quite safe. From Gaher you descend direct to Acoose along S. flank
of "1581 " of map—2^ hrs. from Carrantuohill to tlie lougli.

The road skirts the lough, and then descends by the Caraghbeg. Beyond a
bridge (9), about a mile from the loughside you turn to tlie riglit^for Glencar.
This road is rather steep, and at the bottom joins anotlier, up wliich, left, it is

a short g m. to the entrance-gate, right, of the Glencar Hotel, p. 126.

For Wateri-ille you keep straiglit on beyond tlie bridge just mentioned.
The road crosses the Upper Caragh (or Blackstones) River at Bealalaw Bridge
(11), and then ascends steeply to the pass Ballngha.iheen (15). As you descend
steeply, Colly (2234/?.) is the mountain on the far side of tlie corrie. Just short
of Lissatinnig Bridge (18) the Caliirciveen road bears round to the right. You
turn to the left and cross the bridge, and about. | to. onward have Ji choice of
routes : («) straight on down tlie Inny valley. Tliis road, usually taken by cars
as the easier, joins the Caliirciveen and Waterville road about i^ N. of Water-
ville, but the better way, if driving, is to cross that road and, presentlv, to turn
to left. You enter Al'aterville (p. 131) by tlie Butler Arms ; the Baij View
is about \ in. furtlier on ; for the Southern you keep straight on along the sea-
front, cross the bridge, and \m. onward turn to the left.

(b) Cross Lissatinnig Bridge, and about | mile onward, bear up to the left.

The road crosses the low ridge, and as it descends into the Cwnm<ragh inlleu
you have a fine view of Derriana Lougli. Approaching Waterville, Lougii
Ourranc is seen from i to ^ m. to the left. The village is entered at the Butler
Arms, see («).

Nothing calls for mention on the way to Caragrb 3Lake (31

;

Southern Hotel, ^ m. S., on the lough). This is a charming spot,
and the hotel, opened in 1895, is a boon to travellers. Lough
Caragh, nearly 4 711. long and varying in breadth from J at its foot
to i m. towards it mountain-girdled head, is very beautiful. It
and the Caragh River below it—very early for salmon—are well
known to sportsmen, and the lough contains many trout of good
size. The hotel has boats for the use of visitors, and the row up
the lough makes a delightful outing if it be extended to Black

-

stones Bridge, about 1^ up the Upper Caragh River, and the river-

side track be then taken, about 1^ more, to Glencar Hotel {p, 126).
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circular I>rlve, or walk, about 16 m., by the E. side of Lough Oaragh to
Blackstones Bridge and back bj' Wiiidy Gaf) aiid Gtfenbeigli. If tM "Grleiicar

Hotel (lunclieon) be included, the driving distance will be increased byS^.-to 3 m.

;

but tlie car can be sent from the hotel to meet the traveller at Blackstones Bridge,
to which from the hotel it is a beautiful riverside walk of about 1^ m. A halt
will also be enjoyed at Glenbeigh. rTl>« round should certainly be made in the
direction we describe it in order to h'ave ffie view, from Windy Gap downwards,
in front.

From the Southern Hotel we follow the road eastward. The Reeks are seen to
cut the skyline about S.E. About J m. from the hotel our road turns sharp to
the right and then becomes wooded, with peeps of the lough. On again reach-
ing the open the ascent begins in earnest, and there is a specially beautiful view
from a corner where tlie road zigzags to the left. Immediately below are the
woods of Caragh Lodge, and looking across the lough and Dingle Bay we note
on the N.W. liorizon the peak of Brandon Hill (/). 142). It is still ^ >». to the top
of the hill, where we join anotlier road, go to the right, pass Lough Cunnnerna-
muck and ascend again. Between two featureless little tarns. Loughs Owen and
Nakirka, a road diverges to the right, but we keep straiglit on over the liill to a
fork of the road. Here, for Glencar, we have to keej) to |the Icft-liand branch,
which descends to an uninteresting boggy valley and makes direct for tlie

hamlet. The entrance-gate of the hotel is on the right, a short ^ rn. beyond
Caraghbeg Bridge.

Omitting Glencar, we go to the right at the above-mentioned fork and
descend to Blackstones Bridge—lovely view of the wooded glen.

The Cwlencar Hotel, an unconventional hostelry, is situated in a little

grove, a trifle above the Upper Caragh River. It is a sportsman's liaunt—spring
to autumn, salmon and trout ; the rest of the year rough shooting. The fishing
(free to guests and with inexpensive etceteras) includes Lough Caragli—tlie
road from the hotel to the lough leaves the Windj; Gap road about a mile
beyond Licken House —the Upper Caragh, and its tributaries.

Whether angler or not, the sojourner here who provides liimself with slieets

183, 184 of the inch Ordnance Map (Is. each) will not easily exluiust the many
grand rambles tliat the mountains and their recesses offer. It is a delightful
riverside walk of about 1^ ;». down the Caragh to Slackstones Briclg^e
(the boat-place for Lough Caragh).
From Blackstones Bridge, on the far side of which is Lickeen House, we

ascend the road westward. It is beautiful witli birch and other wood, and
descends to and crosses the Meelagli River, and then one of the channels of
the Owbeg. A two-mile climb—fine views—follows to Windy Gap, the con-
spicuous gap in the mountains, and then the expanse of Dingle Bay with tlie

full length of the Dingle Promontory to its off-lier,the Great Blasket, is revealed.
Sweet little Glenbeigh lies at our feet and we descend direct to it, passing the
castellated " Wiini's Folly." On reaching the main road the Oleiibeig^li Hotel
(beloir) is 3 nnn. to the right. The road back to the iSonl/iri-n at Lake Caragh,
crosses the Caragh River and a mile onward returns to the riverside. As it

quits it again we take the road on the right, direct to the hotel.

Crleiicar to Parknai^illa, 22 ; or Keiiinare, 24 m. This fine route
vid Ballaghbeama Gap, 7, and Blackwater Bridge, 15^, is t-'iven reverse way,
p. 137.

The short run by rail to Glenbelg-h (o5 ; Glcnhciph Hotel, good)
affords a peep, left, of Lough Caragh and crosses the Caragh lliver.

Glenbeigh is a charming spot. About 5 furlongs W. of the hotel

is the glen of the Behy from which it gets its name. This moun-
tain stream yields good sport in autumn and is always pretty here-

abouts. It is crossed by a bridge—straight down, where the main
road bends to the left. From its far end is a road, which goes to

the right through the wood and leads to the shore—excellent

bathing from a long stretch of sand. Glenbeigh (or Kossbeigh)
has for some years been a practice station of the Royal Artillery,

and golf also finds here one of its many habitats.
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For wild aud stem corries there is notliiug in this promontory more severe

than the c'rag-guiirded loughs tluit arc the sources of the Behj'

—

Coomasaharn,
Cooniafilaslaw, and Coomnacro)iia. The first of these is over a mile long and tl|e

great crags are magnificent. A road leads direct to its foot. There is a boat on
it which perhaps might be borrowed. The finest scenery is at the far end of the
Lough. It is worth while scrambling up from the S.E. corner to the little

L. Coomaculleu.

For the next 6 miles the views are on the right hand. At
Mountain Stagre (37^), which is named after the stage-house

where the long cars changed horses, we have already begun the

ascent along the flank of Drung Hill, and what follows is a piece

of genuine mountain railway. The line keeps above the road, and
now and again we look down into a precipitous gorge. Dingle
Bay and Dingle Promontory—Brandon Hill, a slight peak seen

above a nearer range—constitute a superb prospect, and the

cautious pace of the train enables it to be enjoyed. The gradients

up and down reach one in fifty, and the highest point of the
line is 420 feet above the sea, to which the drop in places is almost
sheer. On the winding descent there is a fine peep into the

wooded ravine of the Gleensk brook and the Great Blasket is now
prominent to the westward. The pretty little Kells Bay, with a
sprinkling of trees and a coastguard station, is seen below as the
line trends inland to Sells (•43). It is a somewhat featureless

run down a broad valley to Cahirciveen (48), approaching which
the ruins of Carhan House (birthplace of O'Connell) are seen
across the estuary. The conspicuous white building in " Scotch
baronial" style is the K.I.C. Barrack. For coach route seep. 130.

The line goes on to Valentia Harbour (51), the most westerly

railway station in Europe, but Dingle [p. 140) is not a mile behind
it.

tfalurctoeett.

Railii'ay Station, N. of the town, 3 to 5 min. from the hotels.

Hotels : Leslie's, good. FitzgernhVs. From the station, go to the left, ami
turn up to the right to Ledie's. A little further you reach the main street, and
FUzaeratd''s.

I»ost Office next door to Fitzgerald's Hotel.

Telograplt Office at Railway Stution.

CJoacli to and from Watcrvillo in connection with trains.

Cahirciveen {pop. 1,700) is an uninteresting town, principally

of one street along the main road, but a good halting-place for

some interesting excursions. It sprang up after the making of

that road early in the nineteenth century. The only building of

note is the B.C. 0''Connell Memorial Church—to the left on reach*
ing the main stl'eet from the station—one of the many costly
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fetructures that jwor Ireland has, in recent years, ma,nage(l to

afford. It is still unfinished; meanwhile some fifty licensed

houses compete for Paddy's custom in the same thoroughfare

!

Carhan House (in ruins), already mentioned as the birthplace

(1775) of Daniel O'Connell, the "Liberator," is a mile E. from the
town on the left of the main road, just beyond Carhan Bridge.
The woods of Hill Grove on the opposite side of the stream are

quite an oasis in a bare district.

The lamllonl of Leslie's arranges fur inexpensive excursions in tbe
neiglibourhood :—1. Carhan House, Councroum and Coonana on Uingle Bay,
Ballycarbery Castle. 2. Derriana Lough (p. 125). 3. Boat-trip to Valentia
Harbour, Doulus Head, &,c. 4. Car to and from Portmagee, 9^ each way. Sail
to the Skelligs (/». 129) and back. Tliis interesting excursion costs 30o\ for four
persons, and is only possible in calm weather.

The excursion to Valentia Island (beloic) is sufficient induce-
ment for break of journey at Cahirciveen. If the tourist has an
hour or two in hand, he can visit Balhjcarhery Castle and the
eathair a short distance from it. The latter is one of the ancient
circular forts common on the W. , and S. coasts of Ireland.

Staigue Fort {p. 132) is the finest example. Both castle and fort

are in sight from the bridge, and can be reached by boat when the
tide is in.

m\mm island,

Ai>i>i*oaclie8 : mil to Valentia Harbour, tlience ferry (Gd.; cycle dd, extra.

It is well to have a clear understanding about these fees before crossing). By
road to the ferry is dm. from Cahirciveen, turning to the riglit about lialf-way.

The direct way from Cahirciveen to Bray Head (grand cliffs), at tlie S.W.
extremity of tlie island, is by foad to ]'<n*tmagec ferry, 9^, thence walk 3 ni.

Hotel : Valentia, at Knighfs Tow n, close to tlie landing place of the Har-
bour ferry—sound and reasonable with good excursions.

Valentia Island, about 7 m. long by 2 wi. broad, has three

principal attractions for the traveller : the lovely views from its

N. end, the great cliffs at Bray Head at the S.W. extremity, and
the interesting apparatus of the Anglo-American Telegraph. The
office is a short distance to the left of the hotel, and visitors are

admitted before 11 a.m.—most interesting. All instruments work
automatically and almost unceasingly. Five cables here converge.

Hhc first Atlantic cable was begun to be laid August 5, 1857, but on the
llth it snapped, after 3UU miles had been paid out. A second attempt failed

through a violent storm, 20th June, 1858. The third attempt was successful, aud
on August 5th the first messages passed between the Queen and the President
(Buchanan) of the United States. On September 4, this cable failed, and it was
not till 1865 that another was ujidertaken. That failed whilst being laid, and
was cut in mid-ocean, but another was successfully laid, July 13-27, 1806, and
tbe cue of the previous year niitfed and complete*!.
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The views above mentioned can be fully seen in a walk or drive

of 3 m. out and home from the hotel. The island belongs in great

part to the Knight of Kerry, and his pretty seat, Glanleam, can

be included (a pass for the grounds, gratis, at hotel or estate office)

without increase of distance for the pedestrian, but on wheels the

detour adds about 1| miles, because return has to be made to the

point of divergence from the main road.

To Bray Head, 7 m. direct from Knight's Town, is a better

drive than walk. The route we now describe includes it, and is

about 16 miles in all.

From the hotel we ascend the village, and at the top keep
straight on by the right-hand road—left direct to Bray Head. The
view over Valentia Harbour and Beginish to Doulus Head soon
opens and it steadily improves as we advance.

Alioiit ^ m. from the top of tlie village a road descends on the right to (|-»«.)

Glanleain (above). Tlie grounds are rich in acclimatised shrubs and trees. The
road passes Ijelow a cross-crowned knoll and follows the cliff to (|m.) tlie Light-
house on Fort Point, opposite Beginish and in full view of the bold Doulus Head.
The pedestrian can ascend by footpath from Glanleara to the road, but the ear
or cycle must return as it came

.

A short distance further is the ruin of the old Church, the

burial-place of the FitzGeralds. Onward, the view, at its best

perhaps about \ m. beyond the Church, is one that may fairly

claim to be among the loveliest around our shores. When we
have passed above Glanleam, Brandon {p. 142) and the Dingle pro-

montory are opened, and presently the footpath above iiientioned

comes up. The road -then ascends and the conspicuous hill ahead
is worth ascending—an easy climb from the Slate Quarries on its

E. flank. From the summit (888 /"«.) the island and its immediate
surroundings are fully seen. The panorama includes : N. the
Dingle Mountains—note the Great Blasket off Slea Head ; S.W.
the Skelligs, and S. Bolus Head. Returning from the Quarries

bear to the right up the main road, and continue by it westward,
or iDerhaps better, at once leave it, left, by a steep road which
descends to the direct road to Bray Head (which it joins about

2| m. from Knight's Town). Proceeding westward it is 2^ m. to

Foilhomorrum Bay, where originally was the Atlantic Cable Office.

Then a steep and rough road ascends If m. to the Signal Tower
on Bray Head, 588 ft. above sea-level, but the loftiest of the

superb cliffs is about ^ in. N. of this—a hill, 792 /^, whose seaward
face is a precipice. The return to Knight's Town direct is 7 m.

Tlie ss^kellig^s (^mapj!>. 12')). The usual starting-places are Cahirciveen (or
Portmagee) see p. 128, and Valentia; less often Waterville. The Little Skelliy

docs not come within an ordinary programme. A landing on the Great Skellig

(«a'i7tV;=rock) can be made only when the sea is fairly calm. With a big ground
sea on, however fine the weather overhead, no prudent skipper would make the
attempt.
The Skelligs ai*e 8 //(. AV. from tlic mainland at Bolus Head, and something more

than a mile apart. The Little HkeUig, a stern peak (445 ft.) is well seen in ap-
proaching from the N. It is a great breeding-place of bii'ds, inciuduig the solan-

goose (or gannet), and is uuiuhabited.

Ireland II. K
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Oreat Skcllig: is a yet finer object. Its precipitous mass is cleft near the
summit into two peaks: Lower Peak, N.E., 611 /T.; Upper Peak (or the Spit),

S.W., 7U./7. But the human interest of this remote rock is tlie monastery, a relic

of the earliest days of Christianity in Ireland, which is perched upon a notch of
the Lower Peak a little below its summit.

The landing-place (as we now see it) in a little nook at the N.E. of the rock,

and at the foot of the Lower Peak, was made by the Trinity Board, but the spot
was the ancient approach, and the old steps—620 says Dunraven—up the steep
gully to the monastery still remain, though destroyed at the lower end.
A road, with parapet, winds upward along tlie cliff to the two lighthouses, of

which only the Lower (fixed, white, visible 18 ;/*.) is now used. From the road,

about 5 m. from the landing-place, tlie present (originally mediasval) ascent to the
monastery begins, and the stairway is ancient except at the foot, and where, here
and there, it has been repaired. It winds steeply up to the grassy cul between the
peaks, known as Christ's Saddle (422.rif.), whence, by a difficult and somewhat
perilous pilgrim's way, the summit of the Upper Peak can be won ; but this is

seldom done.

For the Monastery the stairway bears up to the right, and, though steep, is per-

fectly safe, and the enclosure, or cashel, is entered by a breach in the wall about
30 yds. S. of the original entrance direct from the Lamling-place. A primitive
Celtic monastery consisted of one or more Oratories, and a larger or smaller
number of beehive cells for the monks, encloseil in a cnshel. Here these features

are well seen. Tlie extreme length of the caxhel from N. to S. is about 300 /V., and
at tlie widest part about 100 /^, but it is of irregular contour, and on different

levels, owing to tlie nature of the site. Tiie remains of buildings, however, occupy
only a space of about 160/7. by 50//., and are i^\-yft. above the sea.

" The remains," we quote from an article in The Builder of Sejit. 12, 1891, which
reports a visit of "The Royal Society of Antiquaries of Ireland," "consists of six

beehive cells, two oratories, two wells, five ancient burial grounds, and several

rude crosses, all belonging to the early period, and the later Ciiurch of

St. Michael. . . . The whole of the structures arc built of dry rubble masonry,
except the church of St. Michael " [in which mortar is euiployeil]. "The cells

are rectangular in plan inside, and round or oval outside, except in one case [the

northernmost of the row of five cells], where the outside is rectangular at the
bottom. The roofs are domed, and formed with horizontal overlapping courses,

as in the pagan clochnuns. The only openings are the door, whicli has inclined

jambs and a flat head, and a small rectangular hole to allow tlie smoke to escape.

The oratories are constructed like the cells, but they have a window opposite the
door, and are rectangular in plan both inside and out. Over the doorway of one
of the cells, and also of one of the oratories, is a cross formed in ^^hite quartz
pebbles. . . . Tlie dour of the largest cell has a double lintel, like the entrance to

Staigue Fort [p. 132J. The masonry of the surrounding wall is also very similar

in character to that of Staigue Fort. Tlie'position of the oratory at the X. end of

the enclosure is most perilous, on a spit of rock, so as literally to overhang the
sea."

The Danes, who first appeared off the West Coast about 792 or 793, in 823
attacked the Skellig : " Eitgall, of Scelig, was carried away by the strangers, an<i

soon died of hunger and thirst," is the entry that year hi the annals of Ulster.

At some time undetermined tlie monks abandoned the rock for the mainland, but
there is no history of the Skelligs, and not even experts can definitely date the
remains, or distinguish witli certainty what of the remains belong to times
of mediaeval or later pilgrimage.

Cablrdveen to "Waterville, 10 m. This the first stage of

the coach journey is comparatively dull, and the road itself, being

for considerable stretches laid on bog, has a surface unbeloved of

cyclists and one or two rough hills as well. The roads to Valentia

Ferry and Portmagee are given off, right, at 1^ and 2^ miles

respectively and at 4 m. one to St. Finan's Bay. At 8 m. the Inny
Eiver is crossed, and at the head of the valley appears the graceful

peak of Colly (2,234 ft.). At cross-roads ^ m. onwards the better
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road is that to the right, and Waterville is entered by the Butler

Arms Hotel.

Caliirciveeii to ^Vaterville^ abt. 12 in. on foot. This route is itlentical

Avith the foregoing for the last 5 miles. Leave the town by the Killorglin road
and \ m. short of Garhan Bridge ( p. 128) turn up to tlie right and follow the
cabiu-dotted hill-road to tlie top of an eastern spur of Bentee. Then bear to the
right and presently to the left up the N. si)ur of Follclonh (1,(j39 ft.)—fine

panorama. Descend westward by Afjhntnhrbl (1,425 ft.) ami tlie ridge running
down to the coach road. There is nothing better than a sheep-track, but tlie

way cannot be missed. You strike the coach-road 5 /«. from Waterville.

Caliirciveoii to St. finau'^t Bay, 14^: Waterville, 27 m. The
fine views of St. l^inan's Bay ami Balliuskelligs Bay on this detour have to be
set against the, for cyclists, unrideable hills on each side of the former. For the
first 10 miles, till Portmasree is left liehind, the road is fair. Then come a
long steep ascent and a zigzag descent to 8t. Finau's Ba.V, which is skirted. It

is again a steep ascent to the col in the Bolus Head range, with a sliarp, but
riileable descent to Balliuskelligs Bay. Thence it is easy running to Emlaghmore
Bridge, beyoml whicli turn to the right. The coach road is ioine<l just short of
Inuy Bridge, whence it is 2 miles into Waterville.

Itratwjjitte.

Ai>i>roaclies : rail to Cahirciveen or Keumare, thence coach— 5^e Pink Sheet.

Hotel)*: Bntlrr Anns,9,t N. end of village; Southern, on L. Currane ; Bav
View, on sea-front. Anglers shouhl inquire as to hotel waters, tlie best not
necessarily attached to the best accommodation.

Pofit and TelegrapU Office. English mails del. 10.30 a.m. ; desp .

2.30 ^AWi. Sundays, (Ze/. 11.50 «.w. ; t/e^/i. 12.20.

*.;k* The hotels ai-range for excursion drives at 3 to 4.v. each passenger for not
less than iowv—e.g. to Darrynane, Ballinskelligs, Derriana Lake.

Waterville is a village of little more than a single street along
the shore on the N.E. of Ballinskelligs Bay. At the back of it is

Lough Currane and the intervening land is about half a mile wide.
There are few more pleasant holiday quarters for the angler. The
sport is as sure as it ever is, and the hotels are comfortable.
Within a day's outing are lake, mountain, and coast scenery of a
high order, and rough shooting comes on as tourist-travel fails off.

At the S. end of the village is the short bit of river by which
Lough Currane discharges its waters. " Waterville," the resi-

dence of the owner of the salmon-weir, is to the right of the bridge.

Iioug-b Currane, in shape an irregular triangle, is about 3 in.

along its base from E. to W. and about 2 m. from this to its N.
end. On the W. side the ground is of small altitude, but on the
E. and S. the mountains rise from the shore to a height of from
1,500 to 2,200 feet. There are many islets, chiefly in the eastern
part. Church Island alone calls for mention. It is in the
northern part of the lough and of about 3 acres. On its N.E.
shore is St. Finan Cam's house—a beehive structure (rectangular

within) which is assigned to the 6th cent. On the E. point of the
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island are the remains of the saint's church or oratory, with
inscriptions in Ogham and Irish characters.

Fulling. Lougli Ourrane and Lough Isknagabiny (or Coppul) are free. The
former yieUls sahiioii in the spring and plenty of trout to the close of tlie season
in October. Iskuagaliiny is a late wliite-trout lough. The bit of river at Water-
ville, the Cummeragli -which comes down from Derriana Lough and enters

Currane at its N. end, and the Inny are preserved, but have hitherto been
accessible. With the increase of visitors restrictions may become nee<lful, and
inquiry should be made beforehand of the hotel keepers.

The roads from Waterville to Glencar, Lake Caragh (hotel or

station), and Killorglin are described the reverse way, pp. 125-6.

'Waterville to Staigrue Port, 10^ ; and back by "Windy
Gap and ]Lougta Coomroanig:, about 11^—total, 22 m. This
walk can be reduced to 16 m. by driving to Glenmore schoolhouse,

about 6^ w., by the road along the S. side of Lough Currane. At
the schoolhouse turn up the little hilly road to the right, for

100 yds. or so, to two cottages, then strike straight across the

fields, aiming for the ridge well to the left of "Windy Gap. From
the summit you will see the Fort—looking like a small circle—in

the valley below, distant perhaps 1^ m. From the schoolhouse to

the Fort, allowing for windings, &c., to get over the ridge, the

distance is under 4 m. The ascent involved is about 1,200 and
the descent 750 feet. Stalg-ue Port (another approach p. 133)

is the finest example of the ancient caf/<a/r,. or round stone fort.

Its date is unknown, and it may be 2,000 years old, yet its state

of preservation is excellent. Around it is a fosse that has become
filled up. The wall is built of stones without mortar, and the

interstices of the larger stones are filled with smaller ones and
stone chips. It is about 360 feet in circumference, the wall is

about 17 feet high, 13 feet thick at the bottom, and batters exter-

nally and internally to 5 feet at the top. The only doorway is on
the SlW,', and of this, like so many ancient examples, the jambs
incline together. The interior of the Fort is 88 feet in diameter.

On the N. and W. sides are small chambers in the thickness of the

wall ; but the most interesting feature is the elaborate arrange-

ment of stairs leading to platforms just below the top of the wall.

There are two series of steps, so placed that they form a lattice

^pattern around the walls.

Besides the route helow back to Waterville, there is an easier one.

Descend the valley and follow down t)ie mountain roatl to (2 m.) Castle Cove,

on the main road. There the coach might be caught for the 12 m. lieautifnl

drive. If from the Fort you aim for Sueem or Parknasilla, you can either strike

over the hill on the E. to a mountain-road which descends N.W., and in about
2 m. joins the main road at a point 3^ m. short of Sneem ; or, easier, you can
descend the valley from the Fort to (J in.) this mountain-road, and tlieu follow

it to tlie left for 3 m. to the main road.

In returning we reascend, but keep somewhat to the left of our

previous course, and on regaining the ridge go along it westward
above a bit of clilf, known as the Eagle's Nest, to "Windy Gap
There we follow the road (or above it) northward for about | m.

,

and then crossthe ridge westward to tough Coomroanigr. This
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is about J m. long and in a rugged come, the cliffs rising from 500
to 700 feet above the lough, which is itself about 750 feet above sea-

level. The echoes are fine. We descend N. to our outward road,

IVaterville to Kenmare, 37 w. by coach, in 6f hrs., including

5 lir. at Parknasilla (cycling to Sneem good). This fine drive be-

comes interesting almost at once. After crossing the Finglas
River—note the round earthworks—about a mile from the Southern
Hotel, it ascends the Hank of the mountains by a cliff -road that

completely commands Ballinskelligs Bay. At one spot on the
way up there is a tine echo. The Skelligs are prominent to the
left of Bolus Head. At the top of the ascent, on Coomakesta,
some 700 feet above sea-level, we get a very lovely view. The
shapely promontory that bounds it is the one that is so fine an
object in the drive from Bantry to Glengarriff, and Hungry Hill

(2,251 /^.), its apex, can be made out distinctly. Dursey Island
is the seaward continuation of the promontory, and off it are the
bulky-shaped rocks. Bull and Cow with a tiny calf. Nearer is

Lamb's Head, which we completely command. Below us lies

Darrynane, the valley j)retty with plantations and such timber
as the sou' -westers will allow, and the whole spot very charming.
The small but comfortable Derrynane Hotel (direction post at the
divergence) is charmingly situated—golf, bathing, boating, and
capital sea-fishing (boat '2s. 6d. a day).

Darrynaite [or Derrynane = DoUv (Fh)ionain, the oak-grove of St. Finaii]
was the liume of Daniel O'Oonnell (1775-1847), the "Liberator," as it is still of
his descendants.

The ruins of Darrynane Abbey are seen on the W. of the bay,
on what at high water is an island. The islands out at sea are
Scarriff and Deenish. A bit of quietly pretty scenery succeeds,
and then on the right, close to the road, we pass a small round
stone fort, and stop at Gaherdaniel, a hamlet, with a humble
public-house. In about a mile we descend to the coast again and
soon pass a charming little sandy bay—" St. Croaghan's Sand"
or " the White Strand." Onward for a mile there is nothing special

to note as we pass West Cove and a lane, left, leading to Staigue
Fort, ji- 132.

At the first fiiclisia liedge bear to the right, and continue 2 miles to a fork l)y

a bridge, wlicre turn left. iStaig;iie Fort is in sight above in its liill-hoUow.

Castle Cove (12) is next reached. Hence, up the valley on the
left, we see Staigue Fort. After rounding the next headland we
get a very finely outlined view ahead and then bear away inland
up a dull hill to a small pass—one of many " Windy Gaps " in
these parts. Here the mountain-view becomes striking. Great
bulky masses, with abrupt, crater-like corries, each holding in

its depths a tarn, are on our left, and one or two graceful peaks
break the skyline ahead. The campanile of the B.C. church
gives quite a foreign look to the distant view of Sneem (Shee-
han'x, a clean inn). The Prot. Church is in a little grove on the
left as we enter the village and cross the River Sneem at a spot
^hat may remind the tourist of the Wye at Rhayader. Sneeni
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has an estuarine harbour, which serves for local supplies, but,

the fishing hereabouts being quite out of reach of the public, the

place has few claims upon the tourist. Tempted by the moun-
tains, we essayed to explore them, but must confess that they are

better to look at than to climb. The two conspicuous summits to

the N.E. are Beoun (2,468 ft.) and Midlaphauattin (2,539/?.). They
are better approached by the road up the Blackwater {p. 137).

A gooil route (about 20 in.; onlnancc sheet 183), iuvolving nothing worse than
some stifl: clinibri and some bits of not flifficiilt bog, is to take a car from Snceni
or Parkuasilla up the road that ascends the valley of the Sneem. About 2^ //(.

from Sneeui, near a few scattered cottages, the walking must begin. Aliead

1^ m. as the bird flies, is the deep corrie in wliicli, out of sight, lies the crag-girt

Eagles Lake—a mere tarn with moraine at its foot. i)n quitting tlie car make
for tlie corrie up the eastern slope, and as the lake involves a detour over rougli

ground it is, perhaps, as well to keep direct up tlie steei) eastern flank of tlie

corrie. Buttcrwort {Finquicula nilgaris) is common on the bogland, and the
fine P. grandiflora is fairly plentiful. At the top of the climb you are on a
nameless summit, 2,085 ^?., and have a fine view down the X.E.glen in which
are Loughs Reagh and Cloon—reservoirs of the Caragh River. Immediately
below yoii, W., is tlie glacier-scooped L. Coomn/wsxig, and the onward route is

across the dip above it and then W. along the ridge for about a mile. A string of

tarns is seen in the right-hand valley ; to tlie left the view extends over 8neem
and Kenmare River to the ojiposito coast. Then as you again reach a
summit. 2,066/7., you look down tlie full length of Da liaiia Lough. Turn S.W.
along tlie broken ridge for something over 3 miles. This part of the walk is

toilsome, if you keep to the highest ground. In that way you first pass above
the little L.* Coomaranie, right, and then, if you still keep to the ridge, look

down, left, upon L. Slievenashaska, and, on the riglit, down the valley at the

liead of L. Cloonaglilin. In this upper valley is a considerable tarn, and a very

small one liigherup. Above the latter cross the valley westward—wont to be
goft—and then climb to tlie ridge and keep westward along it. It commands
L. Cloonaglilin and Xamona, right, an<l L. Nambrackdan-ig and Uknamacteero,

left, an<l a driving-road leads past the foot of the last-nameil into the Cummeragh
valley, down which you reach Waterville. This road from UknamaLtcfru is one
of the excursion-drives from Waterville.

From Bneem to Parknasilla is 2 ;«., and the entrance to the

Southern Hotel is on the right about \ m. beyond a bridge over a

stream. The woodland gives promise of the beautiful oasis we are

about to explore,



135

^avkttasiUla.

Approaches : Coaches in connection with trains at Kanmare and Cahir-
civeen

—

see Pink Sheet.

Hotel^i : Southern and Bishop's House (inoxpcnsive).

Post arr. abt. 10.30 a.m., desp. abt. 2.ZQ p.m. Post-town : Kenmare.

Telegrapli Oflice : at Sneeni, 2 m.

Distances : Waterville, 22^ ; Cahirciveen, 32^ ; .Keuraare, 14^ ; Eillarney
(direct), 27 ; Glcncar Hotel, 22 {p. 137).

Parknasilla is neither town nor village, but one of a little group
of marine paradises on an inlet of the great sea-lough known
as Kenmare Eiver. Formerly it was the retreat of Dr. Graves,
bishop of Limerick. He sold the property to the Southern Hotels
Co., and in May 1895, his house was opened as an hotel, a block
of some twenty bedrooms having been added. This is now
Bitshop^a Houae. A large hotel has since been built a few
hundred yards distant on a line site overlooking the sea. This
is the Southern.

To describe the beauty of the spot is beyond us. About a mile-
and-a-half inland, to the north, is the shapely hill, Knock-
anamadane, 895 feet, its lower slopes clothed with the woods of

Askive and Hollywood. These slopes, broken as they descend
towards the sea into wooded glades and ridges, constitute the ex-

quisite grounds of Parknasilla, and of the adjoining property,
Derryquin Castle. But the Parknasilla grounds are not confined
to the mainland. Two islands, one lUaunnahilla, of 7 acres, and
another of 2 acres, are reached successively by rustic bridges ; and
yet a third (not the property of the hotel, but open to visitors) of

18 acres, lUaumlea. The gardens and walks below the hotel and
these islands do not exhaust the ground for rambling. To the W.
of the hotel is a large extent of rocky, broken ridges—heather and
furze—from which, in our opinion, the views of the archipelago
equal, if they do not exceed, in loveliness any to be had from the
other parts of the domain.

The bathing for swimmers is quite perfect. When the open sea
is too rough there are plenty of sheltered channels with pure deep
water. The sea-fishing is excellent, and boating trips—the hotel
has stout boats—are among the choice pleasures of Parknasilla.
Among the more ambitious of these is the voyage across
Kenmare River to Derreen (Marq. of Lansdowne), a lovely spot
at the head of Kilmakilloge Harbour {p. 107) ; of short ones
those to Garinish, Rossdohan, and Reenaferara (or Eeennafurtra).
Of short strolls in the immediate neighbourhood, the grounds of
Hollywood and Askive afford them in perfection. But here we
must premise that at the time we write the hotel enterprise has
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not as yet brought, as it certainly will do, any large number of

tourists. All the places just named are private, but the liberality

of the resident gentry has thus far allowed their beautiful places

to be visited. It is, we fear, inevitable that in the near future

admission will have to be limited, and in any case the manager of

the hotel should be consulted. The lovely grounds of Derryquin
Castle, foi*inerly accessible to any visitor asking permission, have
been closed against the public since the property was bought by
the present owner.

There is a public road at the back of Hollywood by which the
open hillside of Knockanamadane can be reached, and the ascent

is well worth making. From the hotel entrance-gate go to the

right, and in about half-a-mile turn to the left. If you go no
further than Askive, half-a-mile from the turn, the walk is a
charming one.

Garlnlsh—as its name tells us, an island—is less than half-an-

hour's row across the bay westward. It is certainly the gem of the

neighbourhood ; but, as it is let by the Earl of Dunraven to a resident

tenant, permission to land upon it is necessary. Failing that, the

excursion is still worth making, because the island is a beautiful

object from the water. If permission be had, the landing-place is

at the head of the bay formed by two peninsulas on the North.
The island is 58 acres, the N. and W. of it richly clothed vWth all

manner of growths that love warmth and moisture ; the higher,

S.E. portion, open ground. Everywhere paths (said to be 7m.
•long) wind about in a perplexing labyrinth, now by cool ferny

glades, then along the coast and then again through dark
thickets of giant rhododendrons. The unaccompanied stranger

is certain to lose his way delightfully, but he must not fail to attain

the higher open ground we have mentioned. Thence from an
elevation of about 100 .f^. the landscape and seascape from N. to E.
is superb. On the left of the picture are the fine summits of

Beoun and Mullaghanattin, with Carrantuohill and the Reeks
further off and to the right. On the far shore of the bay,

in the direction of Beoun, is Reenaferara, while away to the

right is Derryquin Castle. Between these are the islet-broken

coast and groves of Parknasilla, with Hollywood and Askive
on the slope of the hill, backed by graceful peaks. To the

E. is Rossdohan Island, not beautiful, but a fine example of a

moraine. In Kerry the work of the glaciers of a remote age

cannot be unrecognised by the least attentive observer. In this

particular district it is specially manifest. On the road to

Kenmare we shall see conspicuous examples of its rock- shaping.

aoaadolian, though it appears so unpicturesque from this

side, is on the far side, where sheltered from the S.W. gales,

adorned with flourishing plantations about the modern mansion
of its proprietor. As on Garinish, the variety and luxuriance

of shrubs, ferns, and plants is remarkable.
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The visitor interested in the round earthworks so frequent in this part of
Ireland will find two examples witliin 2 m. of the liotel towards Kenmare—DunkiUa Fort and BdllynahaciUsh. On leaving the hotel, go to the right, and
be3ond the entrance to Derryquin turn to the right and shortly afterwards to
tlie left, the old road. About a mile onward a small knoll is seen on the left,

and on the top of this is Dnnkilla, Returning to the old road, follow it to the
first cross-road, and turn left, crossing the new road. Ballynahaalish, which
lias lost its distinctive featxires, is then about 500 yards onward. It has long
been a graveyard.

ParknaslUa to Xenmare, 14^ m. by coach. About 2^ m.
from the hotel the road passes the head of Coongar Harbour "and
the rocks by the roadside are strikingly glaciated, the finest

example being the huge rounded mass on the N. side of Lough
Fadda, a little further on. A mile beyond this the road begins to

skirt the coast and the views are delightful; but the scenery
reaches its climax on this section of the tour when we descend to

the richly wooded glen of the Blackwater and cross it at Black-
water Bridg-e (6J)—the combination of rich woods, rushing
stream, and deep pool is perfect.

JBlaokwater Bridg^e, toy Ballaghbeaina Oap, to Oleiicar,
15i m. From Parknasilla to Glencar Hotel is 22 : from Kenmare, 24 m.

The road, in part new since the original Ordnance Survey, has been put
on our maps from a tracing founded on the resurvey now in'in'ogress. Tlie
exact distance from the Southern Hotel at Parknasilla to the Glencar Hotel
is 2\m. Tfitr. Tlie vaguest ideas, up to 30 tw., are current among car-
drivers.

. Tills route tlirougli the mountains is as fine as anything of its kind in Ireland,
and the road, fonntrly almost perilous, is now good. From the W. side of Black-
water Bridge we take the road up the glen, and in something under 3 m. join
the main road from Sneem to Killaruey. The great corrie, which gives birth to
the main stream of the Blackwater, is now finely seen with Beoun (2,468 /V.)

and Mnllaghanattin (2,539 ft.) at its head.

, Turning to the right over tlie Blackwater, we ascend the Killarney road for %
mile and tlien turn sliarp to the left, and at 4^ m. cross the Kealduff stream.
The road then ascends along the hillside. Lough Brin, which the old track
used to pass, is the small lake at the foot of tlie pass on the E. side of the glen
we are ascending.

We are now at the font of Ballaglibeaina ("the Pass of the stroke
or blow "), a really fine wild pass, but not " a gorge between momitains rising
almost precipitously over 2,0UU feet on either side." The summit (8^) of the
road througli it is 8.^2 feet and the heights on either side respectively 1,532
and 1,505 above sea-level. From it we wind down into the valley of the Upper
Caragh, at the head of which is Carrantuohill (3,414//.), the highest mountain
in Ireland. By a sharp turn to tlie left we join the" Waterville and Killorglin
road close to {\^) BmlaUm Bridge (/a 125) anil turn to the right and a' mile
onward to the left to Glencar. Tlie hotel-entrance is on the left as we descend
to the liamlet.

Turning to the right beyond the bridge, the road for a short
distance is very beautiful with timber. Then we reach one of the
entrances to Dromore Castle, but to drive through the grounds is

no longer permitted, and instead we have some two miles of road,
with scarcely a glimpse through the trees. When once more in
the open, the islet-broken head of Kenmare Eiver, really pretty,
is apt to seem tame after the scenes left behind. The last three
miles into Kenmare (p. 107) are dull.
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r.lg;ltt Railway. Tralee to Blennerville, 3 »i. ; Derrymore, 7^ m. ; Cattle-
gregory Junction, 10; (Castlegregory 16); Anascaid, 20; LispoIe,2b; Dingle, 32.
Two traius each way on weekdays. Return Fares (no 2ncl class) : Castlegregory,
3.V. 'id., 2s. 2d ; Dingle, 6s. bd., 4s. -id. The terminus at Tralee (j>. 61) is about
300 jards from the other station

.

Road over Connor Hill (fine views) from Castlegregory to Dingle, 15^ ;«.

Car for 1 to 4 persons, 9*., plus driver.

y.B.—The cautious traveller will go by rail to Castlegregory, and thence
drive, or walk, over Connor Hill (p. 139) to Dingle. He will in this way improve
on the route and avoid a none too safe bit of railway.

This peninsula has much to show the tourist. The view from
Caherconree is, under favourable conditions, as beautiful as it is

comprehensive. The bold and lofty cliffs about Slea Head and
Sybil Head are the finest on the mainland of Kerry, whilst

Brandon Hill is second in altitude only to the highest peaks of

the Macgillicuddy's Eeeks. The antiquarian will be interested

in the Oratory at Gallerus, to mention only the best known object.

Irish history at the time of the Desmond rebellion connects
Smerwick with the great names of Spenser and Ralegh.
The Light Railway was opened for passenger traffic on March 31,

1891. The gauge is 3 feet, and the carriages have the seats

arranged lengthwise. The line for a large part of the distance is

on the road and unfenced from it. Where, in order to ease the

curves and gradients, it quits the road for the open country it

is fenced in. The gradients are very steep ; 1 in 30 is maintained
continuously from Castlegregory Junct. up to the summit-level,

about 800 feet in 3f miles. The descent from the summit to

Anascaul is taken at twice on the same gradient, with an interval

less steep. West of Anascaul the line undulates but attains to the

maximum gradient in places. It is much to be regretted that the

line was not made of full gauge and on safer inclines.

Route. Very soon after quitting Tralee we get, on the right, a

pretty view including a good looking hill. After passing Blennerville

we see across the water Spa, and Fenit Pier {p. 61), which joins

Samphire Island to the mainland. To the W. is Little Samphire
Island with its lighthouse, and far away you may detect, on the

shore of the mainland, the ruin of a castle built to defend Barrow
Harbour, the port of Ardfert, p. 147. The islet rising from the sea

to the left of Little Samphire, but further off, is Mucklagmore,

a Bass Rock in miniature. From Dernjmore, 7^ (trains stop on

request; car from Tralee, abt. 5s.), there is a good ascent of the

Slieve Mish range.

Up Baurtreg^aun (2,796 ft.) and over Calierconree do^^•n to

Castlegregory Junction, abt, 7 m.; 3.^ to 4 /*/•?. The two summits are about a

mile apart, and the dip presents no difficulty. Omitting Baurtregaun—the
otlier is the finer view-point—3 firs, might suffice.

Ascend the Derrymore glen. When, in something over a mile, it forks, attack

the spur between the streams, if bqun^ for Baurtregaun. Otherwise, ascend to

the right of tlie spur to the cqI, and then turn up to the right to Calierr
(<oiipee, for a glorious view. This extends N. to the Aran Islands and Conne-

mara, N.p:. over the great Central Elain, E. to the Galtees, and S.S.W. to Dursey
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Island. But the Atlantic on the one side ; Dingle Bay as a foreground to the

Reeks, and the mountains of the Waterville promontory on the other; the

whole stretcli of the rng-ged Dingle promontory on which we stand—these are

tlie great featnres. Descend W. into tlic Finglas glen and follow the road

down it.

From Castlegrerfory Junction (10 ;
public house in Camp village)

the Castlegregory branch diverges.

C'astlegrreffory {/'iih. Jlnu.fes, possible) is about half-a-mile from Lough
(rill, a considuralile'lake of fresh water afEordiiig fair angling. It is separated

from the sea by a strip of beacli whicli broadens out nortliward into a low-lying

])eninsula having off its extremity tlie Magharee Islands ("The Seven Hogs"),

on the largest of wliich, Jllaunln'iniiu (t) m. by boat from Castlegregory
>

_ is an
early Cliristian cdshcl enclosing the remains of a church and of hut circles.

Brandon Bay, of which the peidnsula forms the eastern horn has a beautiful

strand quite'o miles long. For nxid to Dingle, see heloic.

From Castlegregory June, the ascent to the col in the Slieve Mish
range begins and except just at starting is on a gradient of 1 in 30

all the way up. The shapely hill-crests ahead show to advantage, and
then making a sharp zigzag we cross the Eiver Finglas close to

Camp Bridge and get as we mount a fine view, on the right, across

Brandon Bay. From the top of the ascent Knockbeg, 1,251 ft.,

shows a bit of its cliif-face and may tempt us to explore the lonely

recess in which, out of sight from the line, lies Glan Lough.
As we descend from the col we j)resently get, on the left, a

charming peep between the hills and across Dingle Bay to Glenbeigh

(p. 12()) and the mountains behind it. A little later, on the right,

is the clilf-bounded gap in which (out of sight) lies Loughanscaul.
AiHiM-aul (20; Pub. Ho.) is a prettily situated village, on the

Owenascaul. It is in a broadish valley, which below it narrows as

it runs down to Dingle Bay, about a mile distant.

Though the main descent has now been made, we have yet some
more stiff gradients, and about l^m. W. of Anascaul the line

overlooks, left, the road, just where it forms a perfect horse-

shoe with an arch over a streamlet in the middle to complete the

resemblance.
The view is delightful across Dingle Bay to Kells Bay {p. 127),

Doulus Head, and Bray Head (the W. extremity of Valentia Island).

Minard Castle—a stronghold of the Knights of Kerry wrecked by
the Cromwelhans in IGoO—is seen on the left as we approach
Ijixpole (25), where the line crosses the valley by a long bridge.

Northward, Croagskearda (2,001 ft.) rises in a very sharp edge.

Nearing Dingle we get a full view of its sheltered basin-like har-

bour, with the Coast Guard Station on its near shore, and the

beacons indicating the narrow entrance from the Bay. The house
seen at the head of the Harbour is Burnham (Lord Ventry). For
Dingrle see p. 140.

Castle^reiTory (above) over Connor Kill, to Blngrle, 15^//;.

A very fine drive. At Stradbally (2^) is a poor public-house,

the only one on this road. At Kilcummin (ih) we turn inland

and get more amongst the hills. On the left are several deep
green gullies, and the heights are finely outlined. The sweep
of Brandon Bay on the right is very graceful, and Brandou

/
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Hill asserts its supremacy in front. At Kilmore (71 ?«.),

a bridge and a house or two, the three-mile ascent to the Connor
Pass begins. The slope is steep but uniform, and the road,

though not much used, is admirably engineered along the side of

the left-hand hills. Below, on the right, the Owenmore Kiver
flows through a swamp, at the head of which are Clogharee Lough
and Lough Gal, besides smaller ones. The finest sight, however,
is Lvuplt Crttttia, deep set in the folds of the Brandon heights.

Beyond it, and still higher, is the smaller Lou(/h Nalackcn, and the

scene brings to mind the " llyns " in the " cwms " of Snowdon.
About two-thirds of the way up, where our road winds to the

left round a recess and there is a little bridge, it is quite worth
while to scramble a few yards up the rocks to the little Iiougrh
Doon ("Pedlar's Pool"—fine echoes), a round tarn shadowed
by an amphitheatre of frowning hills 1,000 feet above it, the

hill immediately south of it being Slieveanea (2,026 ft. above
the sea). Onward we wind up, with the rocks in places

overhanging the road, which has been cut out of them, to

the toj) of the Pax.s (1,300 ft.), and a fine view is suddenly dis-

closed over Dingle Bay, with the town apparently at our feet,

though in fact nearly six miles distant. Across the bay is the

mountainous Waterville promontory, continued by Valentia

Island, while out to sea are the Great and Little Skelligs, the

former rising sheer (714 _/Y,) from the waves like a pinnacled

castle ; the latter to the left of it.

The new road, ours, crosses the old one on the top of the pass,

and makes a long steep descent, which only ends a little short of

Dingle.

§xn^lt.
Hotels : Bf'Hn^f'.i and Zi«A- (Mr. Loo knows tho antiquities well); nearly

o])]), each other in main street. Post and Teleft-rapli Ollice at /.w^'s

Past TOAvn : Tralee. Pop. 1,764.

Cars (driver extra—ho rf/aiii) : Ventry and back, 4.?. ; Slea Head and back,
7.V. ; Slea Head round (p. 141), 9s. ; to Castlegregory, over Connor Pass, 9,v.

The hotel accommodation at Dingle is racy of the soil. The
traveller who makes use of it for three nights may have two really

fine excursions. The drive round Slea Head to Ferriter's Cove
(for Sybil Point) and back by Smerwick and Kilmalkedar, is

alike interesting for its magnificent cliff scenery, its old-world

remains, and its historical associations. The Brandon group
of mountains should have at least one day given to it by the

active pedestrian.

The picturesque appearance of Dingle from a distance is hardly
sustained on an examination of the town itself, which is not only
devoid of interest but somewhat slovenly. Its main street has a
steep gradient, the rest of the town is only a few feet above sea-

level. The tower of the K. C. church and the Workhouse are the

most conspicuous buildings.
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A Short Stroll—from the Station and back about 3 miles—

^

which will give the passing visitor a good idea of the district.

Ascend the main street and just beyond the Workhouse strike otf

up the hill on the right. This is a spur of Ballysitteragh (2,050//.),

and by it that mountain, finely scarped on the northern side, can
be ascended without difficulty in 1^ /;/>•. from the Workhouse ; but

for the present we are only concerned with the spur, which we
ascend for about 15 min.—that is, till it begins to dip again. The
view from our knoll is very comprehensive. N.N.W. is a bit of

Ballydavid Head, but not the actual head, which is a little to the

W. and hidden. From N.W. to W.N.W. is the knobbed profile of

Sybil Head (the Three Sisters). W., over an intervening ridge, is

the sharp cone of Croaghmarhin and W.S.W. the great mass of

Mount Eagle, with the end of Great Blasket Island to the left of it.

Nearer is Ventry Harbour, and just below us Dingle Harbour, with
Burnham (Lord Ventry) at its W. end, and, further E., marking
the narrow entrance from the Bay, two daymarks. The seaward
prospect is very beautiful. S.W. are the Skelligs, and to the

left of them Bray Head, the extremity of Valentia Island. The
Waterville promontory presents a fine range of peaks ending east-

ward in the Reeks, whilst on our side of the Bay the nearer
mountains are equally bold. N.N.E. is Brandon Hill, the apex

(3,127 /^) of the Dingle mountains. Only a piece of it is seen, to

the left of the bold and lofty mass of Brandon Peak (2,764 ft.).

The return to Dingle is by the way we came.
To Slea Head and Sybil Point, returning: by Kilmal-

kedar, about 30 m. drive, plus 3 in. on foot from Ferriter's Cove
to Sybil Point and back. Car ^>. 140. Including sightseeing, about
9 Iirs. will be required. It is important to ascertain the state of

the tide, as the sands have to be crossed at Smerwick Harbour. It

may be necessary to make the round in the opposite direction to

that described. . .

lloute. Quitting Dingle' by the road past the workhouse
(above) and keeping straight on we look across Dingle Harbour
to the peninsula which protects it from the south. At the west
end of the harbour stands Burnliam Ilou^e, the seat of Lord
Ventry,—a plain white mansion. As we proceed, Brandon Hill

comes into view on the right, and we reach (4J m.) Ventry
ViJhuje and Harbour, beyond which there is nothing of special

interest till in another two miles or so the cliff is gained, and we
skirt it at a height of from 150 to 300 feet above the sea, with the
slopes of Mount Eafile (l,()y5 ft.) on the right. Soon Great Blasket
Island comes into view in front, a long undulating strip of pasture
attaining a height of D37 feet in the cliff which rises from its far

western side. It is nearly 4 miles long, but only half-a-mile wide.
Beyond it, but unseen, is Tearaght Island (()02/«.), on which is a
lighthouse. South-west of Great Blasket and in a line with it, are
two smaller islands, Inishnabro and Inishvickillane.

At Slea Head (abt. 500 ,/Y.), a grand, wild headland, the road
is cut along the face of the cliff and affords a fine view of Bray
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Head, Valentia Island, the Skelligs and the Blaskets. Notice the
primitive little settlement on the Great Blasket. More than a mile
away from us is Diinmore Head, a long, low, peninsula, more
westerly than Slea Head, which, however, is the general name
for this whole promontory. The two form the horns of a pretty

bay, at the head of which is the collection of cabins called

Coumeenoole, some ancient examples probably.

The road, completed in 1894, follows the cliffs round Clogher

Head and on to Ferriter's Cove (Inn— notice-board and land-

lord Long a pair). There the car should be detained and the

walk be taken up to Sybil Point (489 ft. sheer), a tine view-

point : S.W., the Blaskets, Valentia Island and the Skelligs

;

N.W., Sybil Head, the Three Sisters, Smerwick Harbour, Bally-

david Head, and the mountains culminating in Brandon Hill.

Returning to the car, the drive is continued to Smerwick
Harbour, and across the sands to the Kilmalkedar road.

Smerwick Harbour wituesseil one of the bloodiest scenes in tlie Munster M-ar.

A force of >S00 Spaniards and Italians landed here in 1580, and occupied a small
fort, of which some traces remain on theW . Sliortly ;> fterwards they surrendered
at discretion to Lord-Deputy Grey, whose private secretary was the poet Spenser
Six hundred of tliem were put to the sword.
From the head of Smerwick Harbour by road it is 2^ m. to F.^ohana^h at tlie

foot of Bally<lavl(l Head, the cliffs of which approach 800 feet, but there
is nothing sheer of that height.

At Kilmalkedar (10 m. from Dingle) there are two objects of

great interest to the antiquary. The Church (in ruins) is " one of

the most remarkable specimens of Irish Romanesque architecture,

and probably belongs to the 11th or 12th century." The Oratory

(a furlong from the Church) is specially interesting when com-
pared with that at Gallerus (below). Both are apparently of the

same period, oth to 7th cent., but whereas the curve of the side

walls of the latter resembles an ordinary pointed arch, in the Kil-

malkedar Oratory the form is distinctly ogee.

Again rejoining the car we drive a few hundred yards, and
then either cross two fields or take " the Saint's Walk " to the

Gallerus Oratory, the most perfect specimen of its kind. It

measures 22 by 18 ft. externally, and is 16 ft. to the ridge. The
drive back to Dingle calls for no remark.

Ascent of Brandon Kill, 3,127 ft., 9 m. A car may be
taken to Ballybrack, 3^ miles short of the summit.

There is nothing calling for note on the route to Ballybrack, the

low inland country hereabouts being dull and monotonous. The
shortest way is to go up the main street of the town and turn

north beyond the Union Workhouse. In about a mile the main
(lower) road, which goes through Milltown, is entered. This keeps
straight for 2 miles and, 1^ miles further, where it diverges to the

left, the Ballybrack road goes straight on to Ballybrack Bridge

(J m.). Thence, by turning to the right, you will reach Ballybrack
Farm in J mile.

Brandon Hill is the highest point of a lofty range of hills that
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stretches northward from Dingle to Brandon Head, and from its

commanding position, with the sea on every side except one, is an
attractive mountain to cHmb. The ascent from Ballybrack is not
difficult, and a succession of large boulders affords guidance almost
to the top—" an ancient stone-paved causeway leading to the

oratory on the summit " (Joyce). The ground-plan of the oratory

can still be traced. If preferred, the main ridge may be ascended
almost direct from Dingle and kept to all the way—a delightful

ascent with splendid views—in 5 hrg. comfortably. Some years

ago the two ascents were the subject of a wager, and the ridge-

follower won with something to spare.

The view from Brandon Hill extends over the mouth of the
Shannon to Loop Head ; across Dingle Bay to the Macgillycuddy's
Reeks and the range extending thence to Cahirciveen and east-

ward beyond Tralee.

In returning by the main ridge we look down upon a chain of

loughs lying in a deep hollow. The largest, § m. long, is Lough.
Cruttia, just below Brandon Peak (2,764 ft.), nearly 2 m. from
Brandon Hill. Here the ridge turns south-west to (IJ m.) Gear-
hane (2,050 /<.), between which and the next peak, Balhjsitteraifh

(1| m. ; 2,050 ft.), an old road leading to Brandon Bay is crossed.

From Ballysitteragh it is about 3^ miles to Dingle, and 1^ m. short
of it are some very perfect and ancient beehive huts.

[Northward of Brandon Hill the ridge is continued for nearly
2 miles to Knocknahreestee (2,509 ft.), hardly more than half-a-

mile from the top of the cliff at Brandon Head, which, nearly
2 miles south-west of this, after a break, attains a height of 1,238
feet but is not sheer. Brandon Head is nearly miles from
Ballybrack.]

Dlngrle to Castlemalne Station, 28 m., by road.

Road and rail {p. 139) are identical as far as Anascaul (10^).
Thence the main road from Anascaul ascends to a considerable
height and then falls to Inch. It is usual to take the coast route.
This threads the narrow defile by which the Owenascaul River de-
scends to the sea, and then for several miles forms a terrace-road
from 100 to 200 feet above the bay, affording a beautiful view of the
opposite side including the Macgilhcuddy's Reeks. At Inch (5 m.
from Anascaul) Dingle Bay is abruptly terminated by a sand-
bank stretching southward i'or 3 miles, and nowhere 100 feet high.
It has a fine firm strand. Inch is a pitiful little hamlet, and then
for many miles the road continues nearly straight, and utterly
void of interest to (25 m.) the considerable hamlet of BooJteem
{xmall jnib. ho.), whence it is a short 3 miles (through Castlemaine)
to Castlemaine Station. Castlemaine {jiuh. ho.) is an insignificant
village on the Maine, which is here crossed by a bridge formerly
defended by a castle, whence the name of the place.
The railway to Killarney or Tralee is described jy- 61. The last

train for the former place has hitherto left Castlemaine about
7.30 j).w.
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WATERFORD TO LIMERICK.

1>istauce.><i : Carrick-ou-Suir, 14 m ; Clonmel, 28 in ; CaUer, 39 m ; Tipperary

52^ m ; Limerick Juuctiou, 55^ m\; Limerick, 77 m.

Refresliment Rooms : Clonmel, Limerick Junction, Limerick.

As far as Limerick Junction this is a very picturesque route,

the Suir Valley being well wooded and set off by its background
of mountains. The leisurely traveller may have an exceedingly

pleasant week or more by breaking his railway journey at

Carrick (for Lough Coumsldngaiin), Clonmel (for Fetliard and
Anljinane Castle), Caher (for Mitchehtown Caves, the Galtees,

and Cashel), Tipperary, or Limerick Junction (for Athassel

Priory and CasJiel). The towns on the route, except Carrick, all

offer something of interest, and the hotel accommodation is very

fair at all of them. And there is also an hotel at Limerick

Junction.

For Waterford, see p. 41. The station is on the north side of

the river, a little above the bridge [see Car-fares, p. 41).

For a minute or two we follow the bank of the Suir and cross

a tidal arm of it. In about 2 miles we part company with the

Kilkenny line and turn westward, entering Co. Kilkenny. Beyond
Grange, 7 m., the line again approaches the Suir and we reach

Fiddoion and Portlaw, 10 m.

Portla-iv (3^ tn.), and Curraghmore, the fine seat of tlie Marquess of

Waterford, adjoining it, are on the south side of the Suir, which is here
crossed by a long bridge.

Pilto-wn (2 m. K W.) is a picturesque village of 400 inhab.,on the Clonmel
and Waterford road, adjoining the finely timbered liennborough Park (Earl of

Bessborough).

We get pretty views, left, beyond the Suir and cross the River

Lingaun into Co. Tipperary. On the left, as we near Carrick-ou-

Suir, is the ruin of Carrick Castle, a 14th cent, stronghold with

an Elizabethan mansion built on to it by the Butlers. The R. C.

Church, with campanile, is modern. The long bridge over the

divided channel of the river is seen on the left.

Carrick-on-Suir (14 m. Hotel : Bessborough Arms, Main
Street) is a quiet town of 5,000 inhabs.,in a pretty neighbourhood.
Two bridges connect it with its suburb, Carrick-beg.

IiOiig^li Couiiisliingraitii, 9^ m. Car, for two, there and back including

drivtr, lU.y. This finely set tarn lies in the heart of the Comeragh mountains,
and may be taken in the ascent of their highest point Kiioclcanalfrin,
2,i7H jt. The lough is worth a visit, and the angler may try his luck with the

trout, a markedly thick-set variety.
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From Carrick you cross the bridge and follow the Dungarvan road for 8
miles. [A mile may be saved if, instead of easing the hill from Carrickbeg by
the angle eastward, you take the direct steep one. N.B. Do not in this case
take the right-hand turn, as that goes to Rathgormuck.] At the distance just
given, the road crosses the stream tiuwiug from the lough, and there you
diverge, right, and in about 1^ m. by a rough path up the combe reach the foot
of l>ous:li Conintiliiiiifaun, a third of a mile long, flanked by steep
slopes and with a precipitous cliff at its head. To Avalk round it involves some
climbing.

On its N. side Jacob's Ladder, a dirty scree, something like the Foxes Patli of
Cader Idris, marks tlie point where tlie ascent of the mountain may be begun

.

After climbing about 800 or 900 feet yoix reach comparatively level ground,
and the view eastward is wide. Tlien bearing somewhat to the left, roun(l
the combe in which the lough lies, a tiresome mile and a quarter of boggy
ground interspersed with heather brings you to the summit, and you get the
view westward.

For Kilmacthomas on the Waterford and Dungarvan line, see p. 48.

Beyond Carrick the valley of the Suir contracts. On the left

are the wooded Reeks backed by the Comeragh Mountains ; on
the right, the bulky mass of Slievenaman (2,364 /^) due N. of

Kilsheelan, 22 m. Gurteen is on the left when past this station,

but a piece of a tower is all that is seen of it, and then the
line leaves the Suir, and the Knockmealdown Mountains are on
the left front as we near Clonmel, 28 w. Rail continued to

Limerick, p. 148.

Ireland II.
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Hotels : Heam's, in Pamell Street, about J ?»• from station ; M*\gwr\ 26
Pavia Street, clean amd cheap.

Poi^t Office, on the S. side, and near E. end of O'Connell Street. English
mails dd. 8 a.m. ami 11.40 p.m. ; desp. 3.15 and 9.45 pm.
Population : 8,427.

Clonmel is the capital of Co. Tipperary and, though of late

years it has fallen off considerably in population, it is still an im-
portant centre of local trade and a clean and pleasant town. The
chief part is on the north bank of the Suir, but it also includes

Moore and Long Islands in the river, and there is a suburb on the
south bank.

Tlie place was of importance as early as the 9th or 10th century, and its walls
defied Cromwell for, a time, though he stormed it in 1650. The West Gate
(below) and some portions of the Avails are still standing.

Lawrence Sterne, author of " Tristram Shandy," was born here in 1713, and
in 1817 the first of Bianconi's Cars, which revolutionised Irish traffic, or rather
created it, was put on the road from Clonmel to Caher.

Two or three hours will suffice to see all that the town itself

has to show, but it is a good place to stay the night, and there are

pleasant strolls near at hand.
The station is outside the town, on the N.,and quite half-a-mile

from O'Connell Street and Parnell Street, the principal thorough-
fare. Follow the station road and its continuation, Glachtone

Street. In the latter, right-hand side, is a handsome new E.G.
church, a classical basilica of a type becoming common in this

country.
Gladstone Street runs into O'Connell Street at right angles, and

at the cross-streets thus formed the street to the right (W.) is Main
Street and leads to the West Ga^e, that to the left (E.) and narrow,
in a few yards widens out as Parnell Street. The hotel is on the
left, a few yards along this. The continuation of Gladstone Street

leads (S.) to the river, which is crossed by a bridge both above
and below the point where you reach it. The opposite bank is

prettily wooded.

To reach St. Mary's Church (Protestant) take the narrow
Mary St., which leaves O'Connell Street on the right-hand side as

you go towards the West Gate. The pleasantly timbered church-
yard is bounded by a part of the town walls. The church has an
octagonal belfry springing from one of its square towers. The
interior is still handsome, but ruthless restoration has robbed it of

interest, and the good East window has been filled with gaudy
quarries and made an eyesore.
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It is a pleasant walk to cross the bridge on the right, from the
E. end of Parnell Street, and go alongside the river down stream,

Cloniiiel to Fetliard, 9 m., and. Tliurles, 25 m. by rail. This line is

a link in the direct route {W2m.) between Clonmel and Dublin, and is shorter
by 23 m. tlian that via Limerick Junction, the 3rd-class fare being 2*. less.

Tlie direct 7-ofid to Fetliard (9??i.) leaves Clonmel past the station, and is

never far from tlie course of tlie railway. On the way to Fethard there is a
good deal of pretty wooded country dotted with demesnes. On the right, and
cultivated to the foot of the steep, is the big heathery hill, Slieveuaman
(2,364/?.).

Fetliard (Pop. 1,598 ; Stakes' Hotel) is a curious old town, with con-
siderable remains of its walls, which were originally built under a charter
granted by Edward III. The Protestant Church, 14th century, is the nave of
the original building. It has been restored, and has a fine pinnacled tower.
A monastery of Austin Friars was founded here about 1306, but never rose to
mucli importance. Tlie chapel has been restored, and is still used by the
friars of tlie Order. The Cavalry Barracks occupy the converted town-house
of the Everards. Fethard to Casliel {p. 58) is 10 miles by road.

The district traversed is uninteresting from Fethard to Thurles. A ruined
tower, right, another, just before Famniahtn, W\m., and the square toM'er and
other fragments of Mortlestown Castle, right, near Laffaus Bridge and KiUenaitle,
16 m. , are all we have to note short of the bog country which is crossed beyond
the last named station. Then more towers, left, and a bit of wood, right, as
we near Horse and Jockey, 20 m. The Silver Mine Mountains now appear on tlie

left front. Calvagh Castle, is the ivied ruin, near the line on the right. Holy
Cross Abbey (p. 57) is about 2 w., left. The Suir is crossed just as we join the
main-line of the G.S. & W.R. For Tlturles, see p. 57.

Clonmel to Ardftnane, 8 m. ; ClogfUeen, 14^ m. ; Ballyporeen,
19 m. ; Mitclielstown, 27-J-

in.

— Clogheen. to Lismore, 14 m.

— ,, to Mitchelstoini Caie<i,7^7n. ; Mitcfielstoirn,l5 7n.

*.,* The drawback to these picturesque routes is the lack of anything more
than public-house accommodation on the wa}-. Even at Mitchelstown only
tolerable quarters are to be had. If the journey is to be broken at Clogheen,
then it would be well to consult the courteous Catholic priest there, as to a
lodging.

For niail-car between Clogheen and Lismore, see Caher to Llsmore,/».149

;

rail between Mitchelstown and Fermoy,^. 84.

Route. Leave Clonmel by the West (rate and keep straight on through
Abliey, 2 )n. , and jiast Mailfield. This is the main-road from Clonmel to Cork.
At 4^ m. you turn right, and in a few hundred jards left and, leaving the Suir
valley for awhile, have a straight road to Ardflnane (8 m.), where by a long
bridge you cross the Suir, dominated by the ruins of Ardfinane Castfe, finely
situated on a bold rock. Tliis important strongliold, in form a rectangle with
square angle towers, was built about 1184 by Prince, afterwards King, John.
It was reduced to ruins by Cromwell, 1649-50.
The road now winds up from the Suir and the Knockmealdown, left, and the

noble Galtee Mountains, right, bound the wide and fertile valley Ijing between
them, and watered by the Tar and its affluents, itself a tributarj" of the Suir.
At 14 miles from Clonmel we join the main-road from Caher, 8:^ miles S. of the
latter. Then crossing the Slianbally stream, which runs into the Tar half a
mile lower down, we reach Cloglieen (14^/n.), a large village at the foot .'of

the Knockmealdown range, which rises immediately south of it to over 2,000 ft.

€log:lieen to I.ismore, 14 m. , or 12 m. if the old road (i^eep. 148) be taken.
This is a fine route for views, but the Knockmealdown Moulitains over which
it passes are not in themselves interesting. — -• '
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Leave Clogheen by the bridge over the Tax, a good trout stream, and passing
the Workhouse, riglit, keep straiglit on up the liill. About ^ m. from the
bridge is the point where tlie ohl (straight on) and the new (left) roads diverge.
They are for more than a mile nearly paiiillel, the one above the other. Then
the old roail mounts direct along the W. side of the combe, and past the small
Ua<j LoiKjh, to the col. The new road crosses the combe, and doubles back, to
case the gradient by niaking a long zigzag eastward, before it ascends the
opposite side of tlie combe. The two roads unite on tiie col which is between
Su(jarloaf Hill (2144 ft.) on the east, and a nameless summit (2069 ft.) on the
west. Here wo pass from Co. Tii)i)ei'ary into Co. Waterford, and the descent
is more gradual. Abuut 1^ m. down, tlie road to Cappoquin (16 ;«. from
Clogheen) diverges, left, and reaches that place past Mount Melleray ( p. 78).

"We keep straighton down and (5 w.^ from the col) reach the wooded glen of
the Glenakeeffe, which we cross close tu its confluence with the Owennashad..
The road then follows their united stream all the w.iy to Lismore, a charming
bit of wood and water. For Lismore {p. 82) cross the bridge over the
Blackwater.

Clogflieeu to Mitc1iels>to^%'n Cavei^, 7^m., and Mitcliels-
town, 15 JH. This is a very pleasant way of reaching the caves because
for a considerable part of the distance you traverse the beautiful demesne
of Shanbally Castle (Visct. Lismore). [There is, we understood, a shorter
route than the one here described, which comes out at a Lodge close

to the Caves. We missed it.] Leave the village by the western
road (the direct one to Mitchelstown), and in a short mile turn to the
right. Another short mile and that road turns to the left, after which
keep straight on across the park. At the far side (3 m. from starting)

turn to the right and you have a delightful 2^ m. to the little village of

Jinrncourt. Tliere, turn left through the village and follow the road
which leads jn-etty direct (2m.) to the cottage of the guide to the Caves.
This is about f m. beyond Coolagarranroe Bridge, where you cross the
Shdnballu stream. For the Caves and the road to Mitchelstown,
see p. 85.

The direct road from Clogrlieen to Mltcliel8to^%'n, 13 m. , continues up
the valley of the Tar (or Duag as it is called above the confluence of the Shan-
bally) through Ballyporeen {A^m.) and Z\m. beyond that, crosses the low water-
shed between it and the Funshion basin. Except the fine view of the Galtees,

all the way, there is nothing calling for mention, and the road is unmistakable.
For Mitchelstot%'n, see p. 84. Thence to Ferinoy is given the reverse

way, p. 84.

On leaving Clonmel, the rounded Knockmealdown Mountains
are on the left, and then through pleasant fertile country we reach
Caher (39 m. : Hotel: Glengall Arms. Post: English mails del.

7 and 1.35 a.m.; desp. 2.5 and 10.5 p.m. Pop., 2,046), a trim little

town on the Suir, in a very pretty neighbourhood. The things to see

are the Castle and the Park. From the station it is about 5 min.
walk to the square which forms the centre of the place. At the

far side turn to the right to the bridge. The Castle (Saturday

only), dating from 1142, occupies an island in the Suir, and from
its broken outline of towers and ramparts and square keep is

rather striking. Being used as a military depot it is kept in such
repair that its age is disguised and most of the existing works are

far later than its foundation. The lower part of the keep is prob-

ably the oldest part.

The Park (Lady Margt. Charteris) occupies both banks of the

river below the town, and is very charming.

On the river, a little above the railway bridge, are the remains
of Caher Priory, founded in the reign of King John for Canons
Regular.
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To 3fItcliel^tdwn Caves 10^ m. This is a beautiful drive along the
flank of the G-altees. and the Caves (p. 85) are well worth seeing. For Mitcheh-
toten, see p. 84. Car to the Caves or tlie Mountain Lodge {p. 87) for Galtymorc,
about 8.*., or retiil-n 11*., including driver.

To AiMlfluiiiie Castle, !) m. Another pleasant drive, down the Suiir

Valley. For the Castle, see p. 147,

To tisiiiore {?nnil car : 2.45 a.m. ; S^krs. ; 4>'.) 23 m. The road to Clogheen,
9 m., skirts Caher Park for nearly 2 m. passing, right, the Cavalry Barracks;
It then turns S.E. and goes through Ballylooby village (5| m.) where it turns
S. to dlogheeu. Tlie Craltdes are well seen throughout. From Clogheen onward,
see p. 148,

To Casliel, 11 w. This drive itself is not specially interesting. Half way
you go through tlie village of Newinn. For Cashel, see p. 58.

Just beyond Cahir Station the line crosses the Suir and we get

a delightful view, left. Then we skirt the foot of the Galtees, left,

and cross the Aherlow and then the Ara, a. small stream close to

Bansha, 48 ;m., Avhence the Galtees are very line—hill behind hill

in gentle cones. The country is a rich pastoral vale onward to

Tipperary, 52J m., where the large Military Barracks are close to

the station.

lipiJ^r^rj}.

Hotel: Dohbtinx (notclieap), at E. end of Main Street, about 7 miu. walk
from the station. 'Bus.

Post : English mails, del. 7 and 10.5 a.m. ; desp. 4 and 10.40 p.m.

Population : 6,368.

Distances : by road, Glen of Aherlow, 4^ m ; Athassel Priory, »^ in ;

Cashel, 12^ m ; Limerick Junction Station, 2^ in.

-v.* The Alierlow and Galtjmore Excursion (p. 150) is worth making. This
is perhaps the un)st convenient ascent of the mountain.

Tipperary consists chiefly of a mile-long main street upon a
ridge which is reached direct from the station—large Barracks
to the S. of it—in about J mile. There is next to nothing in th«
town itself to tempt the sightseer to break his journey. The
gateway of the Au.<!thi Friary, for Canons Eegular, founded in
the reign of Henry III,, is the only relic of antiquity, and the
Garrison Church the only modern building much worth seeing.
,S'^ Mary\ Church has a lofty tower and spire, and internally
has been made the most of. In the town is a monument to
C. J. Kickham (d. 1882), a "patriot" penman.

Titlen of Alierlow. From Tipperary it is a beautiful circular tour of
19 miles to PTarhally 0^, by tlie road over "Slievenanuick and up tlie glen (or
Vide), retuniin;.' by tlie road north of the range. EitJier of tliese roails can be
taken as part of a picturesque ruutf to Buttrnant and :Mallow see heloiv.

Cyclists wlio dislike truniUing sliould avoid the roal over Slievenamuck,
whicli approaches 1,000.//. of altitude and is very steep on the S. side. The vieM'
of the N. side of the Galtees and of tlie glen is, however, worth the toil.

Roiit^. Leave Tipperary as for the station, but keep straight forward over the
railway and turn to tlie right just beyond the Barracks and to the left a furlong
onward. The road undulates but is chiefly uphill. Brookville, If, is a prettv



150 ATHASSEL PRlOHY

dell, and beyond the next brow and dip we pass Ballyglass, and, keeping to right
at a fork, ascend through Garryduff "Wood to the summit of tlie road. Tlie view
of the G-altees—Galtymore, 3,U15 ft., due S.—with the Aherlow valley as fore-

ground, is superb. On foot the descent into valley can be made direct'in a mile,
but the road makes a great loop to the eastward before descending through the
next wood. On reaching the valley Ave turn to the right. Half-a-mile onward,
a little left of the road and on the bank of the Aherlow, is the rebuilt Clonbeg
church. The demesne, right, Avhich is now skirted is Ballytiacourty, the seat of

the Dawson famih% which has lent its name to the great rock on the summit of

Galtymore, "Dawson's Table." The great Castlereagh Woods, which clothe the
S. flank of Slievenamuck above Ballynacourty are beautiful. [A road on the
left which crosses the Aherlow at New Bridge is the beginning of the ascent of

Oaltymore {p. 87)~a fine climb on this side.] Our road crosses the Aherlow
at >Stfigdale Bridffe—between lliversdale, left, and Stagdale—where the beeches
are fine. It continues up the vale and recrosses the stream at GaJbally
Bridge, a few hundred yards below which on the N. bank are the
remains of Moor Abbey, with a lofty church tower—a 13th cent. Franciscan
monastery. Oalbally is a poor little place prettily situated in the vale, which
is here more open. The road back to Tipperary turns sharply to the right in the
village, and at cross-roads at Ballywire House (2^) ours is the road straight
ahead, which undulates down the Ai-a valley into Tipperary.

Tipperary to Bnttevaiit, 34 ; ami Mallo^v, 41 m. To Galbally 9^ as

above. Thence by Ballylcmders, 12^ ; Kilfiuiuuie, 1 8 (fine rath just S. of village) ;

Ardpatrick R.C. Cfi., 21; junction with Charleville and Buttevant road, 28,

where turn to the left—a level road to Bnttevant (p. 59), and an easy one on
to Mallow (p. 88), with one sharp descent 5 m. beyond Buttevant.

Tipperary to Casliel, 12 tn. ; or, including detour to Atliassel
Priory, 14 «?. The Oashel road (good cycling) is the continuation eastward
of the main street. From the 5th to the 6th mile it is alongside the Park of

Thomastown Oaitle, the birthplace in 1790 of Father Mathew (p. 65), but more
famous for the eccentric hospitality of the Mr. Mathew who built it early in

18th century and kept open house, only requiring his guests to treat him as a
fellow guest, and to give their onlers and disport themselves with the freedom
of an hotel. For Atliassel Priory j'ou can either turn to the right at cross-roads,

6 m., or at 7f (just short of Goldenbridge). In the former case you turn to the

left a mile from the high road an<l reach the river Suir in 1^ m. more. The
ruins are then a short ^ m. higher up the river bank, and the main road is

rejoined after a detour of 3^ m., close to Goldenbridge.

Atliassel Priory was founded for Canons Regular at the end of the 12th

cent, by William de Burgo, and as the ruins attest was a great house. The most
important remains are those of the churcli, of which the choir, 44/?. by 26.//.,

still pi-eserves some of its lancet windows. The Nave with aisles, 117 ft. by 58//,,

and the square tower, oi'iginally higher, are not specially interesting in detail,

the best being a doorway with a pointed arch above it, and the whole enclosed

by a triangular-headed arch. A tomb with effigy is said to be that of the founder.

To the west of the Church are the considerable remains of more than one building,

and others on the S. of the Nave, but in the absence of a plavi, which we have not

come across, it is difficult to say what they were. The cloisters were on the_ S.

side. As a whole the ruins are not particularly picturesque, though some ivy

and a tree or two contribute.

At Golden Bridge the Suir is crossed, and during the last few miles into

C'asliel {p. 58) its Rock is a conspicuous object.

From Tipperary to ]Limerick Junction, 55^ m. (see _/>. 58)

there is nothing which calls for mention and little beyond it on

the way to Limerick. Passing Oola, 59 m., and Fallas (for

Pallas Green), 63^ m., the Slievefelin range is seen on the right.

Dromheen, 66 m., Bohei , 69 m., and KiUouayi, 73 m. At this, the

last of the intermediate stations, the line to Castleconnel, Killaloe

and Dublin {via Nenagh) diverges to the right; those to Ennis,

etc., and Cork, direct, right and left, respectively, as we enter

Xiimerick, 77 w.
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fimewfei >

Maiitvay $4tatiori : (liiau D 3) all trains arrive at aud depart from this

station.

Hotels: (see plan) Cruise's Royol, in George's Street ; Glentirorth, family

and commercial, in tTleutwortli Street. Near the station and quietly situated.

George, principal commercial house, in George's Street.

Railicay, opposite the Station.

Prosser's, Temperance, George's Street.

The weak point of Limerick is its hotels. Clean quarters at Mrs. McCarthy's,
Catlierine Street.

Restaurant : Prosser's, George's St.

Cars : first hour l*. Gd. , each hour after is. Set-doWn Within borough
boundary M.

Distances (road) : DubHn, 119^ ; Tipperary, 25 : Abbeyfeale, 3g^ ; Killar'

ney, 65 ; Cork, 65 ; Emiis, 22 ; Adare, 11 ; Oaetleconnell, 8.

Post Office (plan D 3) in Cecil Street. English mails, det. 8 and 11.40 a. ill.}

de.q). 3.35 and 10 p.m.

S^teainers : to Kilruali (for Kilkee), tidal service,^). 15^. Shannon steameri^

see Pink Sheet.

Population: 37,155,

I^Uort Excursions l>y Hall : to Adate (11?/J.
; p. l56) ; Castleconnel

mm. ; p. 154) ; Killaloe (17| m.
; p. 154).

Limerick, in the contrast it presents of an old city, side by sidd

with a new one, may be compared with Edltiburgh. The moderil
part, Neictoicn Pery (founded in 1769 by Mr. Sexton Pery, who
was created Lord Glentworth, a title iiow mefged in that of thd
Earl of Limerick), with its broad streets ttnd symmetrical plarij

answers longo intervallo, to the Edinburgh of Pritices Street and
Great George Street, while in KutjUsh- flnd IrhhjTown we havd
no bad representatives of the squalors of the " Coo-gate " and 01(J

Edinburgh, as they survived until the middle of the nineteenth
century. Which of the two, English- or Irish-Town, it is that

occupies the site of the town founded by the Danes is not quite

clear, but the former certainly dates back to the time of King
John, It is, however, as the City of the Violated Treaty that

Limerick is chiefly interesting, for none of its sights are at all

striking, if we except the extraordinary wretchedness of English*
Town whose streets look as though many of the houses had been
purposely grouted with filth.

The modern town has the recommendation of being well-built

and furnished with good shops—as good as in any city in Ireland.

Limerick trade is now chiefly in flour and bacon. Some lace

is made in the Good Shepherd convent, but the glove trade is

extinct.'

Siejfe of I^inierick. and tlic Violated Treaty. The following
brief outline may suffice to recall Macaulay's narrative. If the traveller buy?
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Sullivan's Story of Ireland (l*.)lie will find in chapters 67, 68,72 and 73 A
sufficiently sensational version of the story.

William' III. sat down before Limerick early in August 1690 with about
35,000 men. The French allies of the Irish, under Tyrconnel and Lauzun,
abandoned it as indefensible. The Irish under Sarsiield—he was not in chief

command but the soul of the defence—determined to abide the event. William
ordered up heavy puns from Waterford. Tliese arrived wthin 10 miles of the

city when Sarsfield, having crosseil the Shannon near Killaloe, surprised and
utterly destroyed the train. Another was, liowever, brought safely into camp,
and on August 27 the assault was delivered. The English troops carried the
works but were worsted in street fighting (iji which the Irish women bore
themselves as valiantly as the men), and wore eventually driven out of the
city. William raised the siege, fearing the effect of the swampy nature of his

position on the health of his army.

In 1691 Ginckle, after lie had won Athlone and defeated St. Ruth on the
bloody field of Aghrim (July 12), prepared to attack Limerick, then the last

place of importance in Irish hands, and invested it towards the end of August,
while a naval squadron held the river. By September 23 the defence had
become hopeless, and Sarsfield agreed to treat. On October 3, the famous Treaty
was signed on the Treaty Stone (see p. 153). By it those of the Irish

soldiers who chose to expatriate themselves were permitted to do so, and
only about a thousand elected to take service under William. The civil articles

of the treaty were framed to protect the Roman Catholics in their religious

convictions and in their property. It was the disgraceful non-observance of

these promises to the Catholics on the part of the dominant Protestant interest,

that gave rise to the deserved reproach expressed by the name, " The City of the
Violated Treaty."

" The City of the Violated Teapot " refers to the dispersion of a tea-drinking
party of Smith O'Brien's, by the O'Connellite mob, Apr. 29th, 1848.

IITalk tbrouerli the City (about 2 to S hrs.). From the

Station cross the road and follow Queen Street to the Clock Tower,

a memorial to Sir Peter Tait, the army clothier and a great em-
ployer of labour. Just beyond this are St. Savioufs Church and
Havergall Hall.

Passing Havergall Hall, loft, you would enter Glentworth Street, and then
keeping straight on past the Glentworth Hotel (plan D 3), right, and across

Catherine Street reach George's Street (below).

Turning to the left from the Clock Tower, Pery St. leads to Perij

Square (People's Park), with a column and statue to Mr. Spring

Rice. Leaving the Square at the W. corner by Barrington St.,

you reach the Military Road, left, and turn, right, along Richmond
Place, past the CComiell Statue. The street straight on is

Georgre's Street, wide and handsome, and the principal

thoroughfare in the city.

If you wish to reach the quays on the Shannon, any of the streets, left, lead

direct there.

Proceeding along George's Street you presently come to Lower
Cecil Street, left, and the Post Office (plan D 3) is only a few

yards from the corner. Just beyond Cecil Street is the George

Hotel (C 3), and further on in the same direction, but on the

opposite side, is the Cluh, and close to it Cruisers Eoyal Hotel (C 3).

Bv Sar.'^fiehl Street, left, just sliort of Cruise's you reach the Shannon at

HarMfleld (late Wellesley) Bridge. Here is a Stati/e of Lord Fitz<nhhoti,

wlio fell at Balaclava in the Crimea, October 25, 1854. The view up-stream

from the bridge is the best obtainable of English-Town. St. Mary's Cathedral
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(to^ver), the Castle, and Thomond Bridge are the most important objects. Down
stream, the little-frequented quays are another instance of a great opportunity
missed, for ^vttli enterprise Limerick might be the head-granary of half

Ireland.

A good way of reaching English-Town is to cross Sarsfield Bridge and follow

the yorth Strand, alongside the Shannon to Thomond Bridge, see below.

Beyond Cruise's, George's Street is continued by Patrick Street,

and in it, right, is the Toivn Hall, and to the left a little further

on the Custom House. Over New or Mathew Bridge (B 3), which
crosses the Abbey River, the channel of the Shannon that forms

King's Island, you enter Engrlista-Town, and turning to the left

and at once to the right reach the gates of the precinct of St.

Marifs Cathedral.

St. Mary's Cathedral (Ch. of Ireland. Services : choral on Sundays,
11 and 3.30 ; week-days, 11 and 3) is so hemmed in, that no comprehensive view
of its exterior is obtainable. Tlie principal feature is the fine W. tower (120/?.),

with corner turrets having stepped battlements. Part of the W. (Romanesque

)

door is ancient. The interior, entered by the S. porch (good niche with dog-
tooth), is of little beauty. The oldest work is plain Norman. The E. window is

Early English, and a window in the S. aisle is remarkable. The church consists

of central and side aisles with chapels, and has been restored. On the left of

tJie entrance is the Fery Chapel with monuments of the Limerick family,

including one to Lord Glentworth (d. 1844). Of other monuments, the most
noticeable are : Bp. Jebb (1775-1833) in N. Transept ; and the elaborate Thomond
monument in the chancel. In the S. transept are sedilia and an ancient tomb.
The vle-iv from the tower well repays the trouble of the ascent.

The Cathedral was founded in the 12th century, but the fabric has been re-

peatedly altered and ad<le<l to.

From the Cathedral go up Bow Lane into Nicholas Street and
turn left. In a minute or two you reach the Castle and turn,

left, round it. This was erected in the time of King John, and its

exterior wall and towers are impressively massive. Within, there

is nothing to see as it has long been occupied as a barrack.

The Shannon is here crossed by Tbomond Brldgre, rebuilt in

1839, and the scene of a terrible massacre when Ginckle was be-

sieging the city. At the far end of the bridge is the famous
Treaty Stone {p 152).

Returning across the bridge to Nicholas Street, and keeping

straight on past the east end of the Cathedral, right, and down
Manj Street you reach Balls Bridge and, crossing it, enter Zrisb-
To'wn.. Keep straight on along Broad Street and John Street, and
at the end of the latter, right, is St. JoluVs Church (Prot.). A
little further on is a Fountain, and just beyond that St. John's

Cathedral (R.C.), with a lofty and graceful spire, 280 /f. Within
is a fine Reredos, and an interesting statue by Benzoni. Near by
is the bronze Statue of General Sars^field (j). 152). Returning to the

Fountain and turning left, you are in John Square. Hereabouts
are some remains of the City Walls. From the west side of the

Square, Cornirallis Street leads direct into Nelson Street and, left,

along that is the Station.
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6*tursions from l^imcmk.

Caistleconnel and the Rapids of the Shannon.

Ximerick to Castlcconnel by rail, 9f m. ; Eet. fares, 2^. 8(1., 2s. Id., Is. 3(7.

The river-scenery at Castleconnel is very charming, but the

'tourist who visits it with anticipations of seeing a miniature

Rapids of the St. Lawrence is doomed to disappointment. For
about half-a-mile the ordinarily tranquil course of the Shannon
is interrupted by a swifter flow caused by the rocky character of

its bed and its comparative shallowness. The stream, however,
retains its width and the banks are low.

The first 4 miles of the route are over the Limerick and Water-
ford main line to KillonanJunc, where we branch off northwards.

The prospect to the right is bounded by the hills of North Tip-

perary, the chief of which is the lumpy Keeper's Hill (2,278/^.),

and another of the range is surmounted by a tower.

Castleconnel (Hotel : Shannon, a comfortable anglers' resort

;

one or two smaller ones. Post. arr. abt. *7 a.m., i.SOp.m. ; dep.

abt. 8.30 a.m., * 8 p.m. ;
* Sundays also) is very pleasantly situated

on the east bank of the Shannon, to reach which descend from
the station, leaving the village on the right and turning to the left

in a few hundred yards alongside a wall, behind which, from a

green mound, rise the ivy-smothered fragments of the Castle of

the O'Briens, kings of Munster.

By a stone step-stile beyond this {5 min. from station) a path is

entered which leads in a few yards to the river-side, and keeps

along or near it all the way to the far end of the Rapids (1| m.).

On both sides of the river are more or less fine mansions :

—

Summer
Hill and Doonas.^ House on the far side ; on this side, the Her-
mitage (Lord Massy), the last named to the left of the footpath,

beyond the crossing of a lane that comes from the main road.

We now come to a bend of the stream at which the Raj) ids (called

also the " Falls of Doonass ") begin. For half-a-mile the water

pursues a troubled course, twisting its way through reefs and
boulders, but nowhere compressed into a narrow channel except at

the lower end close to a mill, where an island intercepts its flow,

and beyond which it resumes its peaceful career.

Before quitting the village the visitor should walk through it,

past the Shannon Hotel, to the point at which the wood ceases on
the left. Thence there is a pretty vista up-stream, with an eel-weir

in the foreground and the mountains near the foot of Lough Derg
jn the rear. Directly opposite is Waterpark House.

Killaloe and Iiough Derg'.

Limerick to Killaloe by rail, 17^ m. ; Ket. fares, 5s. 4d., is. Id., 2s. 3d.

This line is described above, as far as Castleconnel, 9| m. The
next station is Birdhill Junction, 14| m.
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Bir«lUill to Nenag;!!, 12| m. ; Roscrea, 32 m. ; Parisonstowit,
43f m. ; and Ballybropliy Jnnct., 42J m., bj^ rail, Tliis liHe offers ail

alternative route between Dublin and Limerick, and the distance is about 6

miles shorter than vid Limerick Junction, but the time an hour more." The in-

ducements to take this route are the antiquities at Eoscrea, and the opportunity
of diverging therefrom to Birr Castle (see below).

The railway from Birdliill (as well as the direct road, 12 in., from Killaloe
to Xenagh skirts the foot of the Silvermine range (right), of which Keepei*
Hill attains 2,278 ft. It was by threading the passes of these mountains that
Sarsfield surprised William's siege-train (see p. 152). Neiiag;]i (i/Meara's^
O'Brien's) is an important agricultural town (pop. 4,942), but the only sight is

" Xenagh Iloxmd," a fine Xorman keep. There is commonly a short interval
between tlie trains here, because it is the junction of branches of the W. & L. R.
and the G. S. & W. R. Tlie Devil's Bit Mountains are seen, on the right, on the
\va.y to Roscrea (pop. 2,.568 ; Hotels : Berry's, Qiiinn's). Here about the end
of the 6th cent. St. Cronan built his great churcli, where he had one of tlie

most famous schools in Ireland. The Prot. Church represents this foundation,
and retains the (11th cent.) doorway with niclies of the Augustinian Monastery.
X.W. of the church is a Round Towei-, abovxt 80 ft. The R. C. Church consists
in part of the church of a Franciscan Friaiy, founded in 1490.

• Of military remains there are a round tower of Prince J olm's Castle, and a
square tower of an Ormonde Castle.

A branch-line (11^- m.) runs from Roscrea to ParsonstOAvn, or Birr (pop.
4,000; Dooley's Hotelin Cumberland Square, abt. ^ w'. from Sta.; '6/«), a well-
built town. Between tlie station and the hotel is Foley's bronze Statue of the
Earl of Rosse (d. 1867), the astronomer. Opposite the hotel is a column,
commemorating Cumberland's victory at Culloden, 1746. Birr Castle
(abt. I m. from the hotel ; park open from 3 to 6 p.m.), the seat of the Earl of
Rosse, is famous for its Telescopes, which are in the park, and can be visited
at anj^ reasonable hour. Tlie larger one is 52 ft. long, and has a speculum 6ft.

in diameter ; the smaller is 27 ft. with a 3 ft. aperture.

For Ballyhrophij, the junction with main-line, see p. 56.

Beyond Bird Hill we soon run alongside the Shannon, and
see, on an island in it, the ancient Church of St. Moliia, who
was the first bishop of Killaloe. Killaloc Station is on* the E.
side of the river, in the hamlet ot Ballina, which is connected
by a long bridge with Killaloe. {SJkudwii View; Lake I iew :

Hoya I). The situation of this episcopal village (pop. 1,000)
is eminently beautiful, being at the foot of Lough Derg, which
on its western side is dominated by the Slieve Bernagh range.
The fishing both for trout and salmon is excellent, and though
the latter is preserved the owners are exceedingly liberal.

The Cathedral (re-opened after restoration. May 1887) is an
interesting 12th cent, cruciform church. Notice externally
the fine E. window of 3 lights. Inside, at the S.W. of the nave,
is a fine Romanesque doorway. The old Font is also preserved.
The ancient church of St. Flannan, 2nd bishop, a.d. 639, is in the
graveyard to the N. of the cathedral, and has a remarkable steep
stone roof. This building, and that of St. Molua's, above, are
apparently contemporary with the bishops whose names they bear.

I^onsrli I>erg (for Shannon Steamers see Pink Sheet) is about 24 m. long
from the inflow of the Shannon at Portumua to its outflow at Killaloe. The
scenery at the S. end, and of the W. arm (ScarriflE Bay) is very beautiful, and
a boat can be had at Killaloe for IQs. a day, including men,
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Holy island (Inlshcaltra') contains tlie ruins otSf. Cahniii's Church, \v\\\ch

Dr. Petrie considered to represent in plan tlie original fabric, and to consist
of St. Cairrlin's nave (he died in 653) and Brian Boroimhe's {p. 6) chancel, the
latter on the site of ail earlier olle. There is alsd a Round Tower, biJt thfe lippei:

part has fdllen;

The village of Mount ^liannon is cliarriiingly placed on the shore df
the lough opposite Holy Island, and about 1^ m. from the head of the bay is

fecarrifir. The road (iD m.) betweein Scariiff and Killaloe affords bteaiitiful

views of Lougli Derg.

Zcimerick to Tralee, 70 m. by G. S. & W. E.

This branch quits the main line soon after starting, and a
little beyond Patrick's IVell, 7f ;»., the direct " Cork and Limerick "

line diverges on the left. The next station is Adare, 11 m.

Adare (Dmimvpn Arms, 10 niin. from sta.), a village on the Maigue, owes
much in recent years to the Earls of Dunraven, whose beautiful seat, Adare
Mniior (tickets at tlie estate office at Limerick (George St.), or the inn—
gratis), adjoins the village. Before the rebellion of 1537, this district

belonged to the Earls of Kildare, and three religious houses and a castle still

witness to their wealth and power. Tlie Protestant Church, near the bridge,

was the church of an AiioHMiniun Abbey, founded in 1306. The Cloisters

(restored), and the Refectory (used as a school) still remain. The B.C. Church,
near the entrance to the park, belonged to a Triintarinn Abbei/, founded in
tlie 13th cent. It has been well restored, and adjoining are a fine modem cross
and well.

Desmond Castle, in the park and on the bank of the Maigne, is a large and
imposing ruin comprising an outer and iiinor wanl witli a lofty keep. The view
from tlie latter is wortli the trouble of ascending it.

The beautiful ruins of the FrancUcnn Abbeij, founded in 1465, are in tlie park,
aci'oss the river. Notice especially tlie E. window of the choir, and the three

chapels adjoining the transept ; also the cloisters on the N. side of the cliurch.

At BalliHfjrane Junction, 17 ni., the branch of Foynes, 9 m.,

diverges. It passes Ash-eaton, 3^ m., where there are a ruined

Castle of the Desmonds overlooking the Deel, and well seen from
the far end of the bridge, and the considerable ruins of a Francis-

can Abbey, founded in 1420. The Frot. Church originally belonged

to the Knights Templars, and is partly 13th cent. On the left as

seen from the train is Shanid Castle. Foynes (Foynes) has
afternoon steamer connection with Tarbert and Kilrush.

Enthkeale (19 m.; Moylan's), the next station towards Tralee, is

an agricultural town on the Deel, of 2,000 inhab., but of no
interest to the tourist. Passing Ardayh, 2^7} m., you reach New-
castle {21m.', Conrtenay Arms), where the ruins of a castle of the

Knights Templars are still to be seen, but the town (pop. 2,200) has

no other attraction.

The country becomes hilly about Barnayh, 33^' m., and there

is on the left a fine wide view, not unworthy to compare with that

from Malvern. The line runs through an unkempt tract to Abbey-

feale, 41 m., at the foot of the Mullaghareirk Mountains, and
entering Co. Kerry, continues down the valley of Feale to

Listoivcl (51).
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liistowel (Listou-el Arms, very fair, 10 mi/i. from sta. Bhx.) is a featureless

town (pop. 3,566). In the middle of the Square is the Prot. Church ; the R.C.
Church at the S.W., both with spires, but quite uninteresting. The hotel is at
the S.W. corner and a few yards from it, and overlooking the Feale, is the ivied
shell of the Castle, the last to yield in the Munster wa,r. For a pretty walk,
leave the Square by the S. road, and, just short of the bridge over tlie Feale,
bear to the left and take the path up stream . Opposite are the grounds of the
Kniglit of Kerr}-. In about 20 min. from the bridge, you will see the ruiued
tower of a small castle on the opposite bank.

IiistOM'el and Ballybunion. (The station at Listowel adjoins that
of the W. (fe L.R.) This little line of 9^ 7n. (with an intermediate station at
LUelton 4^ /«.), is unique in the British Isles. The engines and cars (1st and
3rd, to Ballybunion l.v. 4(/. and !()</.) run on an elevated central rail, supported
on trestles 3^ ft. high, and with a guide wheel on each side. Ballybunion
(Castle; Central: Railimij) is a fine-weather spot, with good b-ands. The
cottage-lodgings are very homely. On a projecting cliff near the hotel and
Prot. Church is a fragment of the Castle. Below is a fine sandy ba}-, over
which the view extends S. to Kerry Head and the Dingle Promoiitor.v'. N. is

a richly coloured cliff and far away the long undulating promontory ending in
Loop Head. Follow the cVift?. J^ . ad libitnvi . In each successive bay you will
find fresh delights— caves, arches, etc., all rich in colour from black "to gold,
make the one you first reach superb.

On the right, just short of Ahheydorney (62) is the ruin of a
Cistercian Abbey of which the graveyard is still used. Left,

about 1^ m. from Ardfert (65^) are the ruins of the Cathedral
(partly converted into a Protestant Church but no longer used) of
which the choir, with a fine E. window of 3 lancets, and a row of

9 narrow trefoil-headed lights on the S. side, is the most note-
worthy part. In a niche on the S, side of the E. window is the
figure of St. Brendan, to whom the cathedral is dedicated. The
see dates from the 6th cent., and is now joined with Aghadoe to
Limerick. In the grounds of Ardfert Abbey are the picturesque
and extensive ruins of a Franciscan Abbey, founded in 1253, but
supposed to occupy the site of a monastery established by St.

Brendan.

As the line approaches Tralee, you get a view on the right of
Tralee Bay and Caherconree, the apex of the Slieve Mish range.
For Tralee, see j;. 61.

lilmerick to 2Cilrusb and Xllkee.
The Lower Shannon Steamship Co\t. boats run between Limerick and Kilrush

on weekdays. For times, which depend on the tide, see local bills. Fares : to
Kilrush As., 2s. 6d. ; ret. (available for a week, exclusive of Sunday), 6s., 3s. 6d.
The boats call at Glin and Tarbert, and on certain days at Kildysart and Red-
gap, and there is a tariff of intermediate fares. (Cycles, 1*. Refr'ts ou board.)

For Limerick vid Fotines to KiUee, see pp. 156 ami 158.

This voyage is dependent on sunshine. It is confessedly
dull. At about 4 m., Coreen Castle is on the right, and the light
front of Tervoe (Lord Emly), and Cooperhill are on the left.

Inland the rock perched Carrigogunnel Castle is also seen on
the left. On the right, are the towers of Castle Donnell
(near the river), and fuHhei- off Cratloekeel Castle and Cratloe
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Castle with the wooded hills of Cratloe behind them and
on the horizon the Slieve Bernagh group of mountains. At

10 miles from Limerick the inlet into which the River Mague
empties is on the left and on the opposite side that of the

Bunratty River and Bnnratty Castle, erected at the end of the

13th cent, by Thomas de Clare, son of the Earl of Gloucester,

but now a constabulary depot. Inland, left, notice the modern
mansion of Bromore (Earl of Limerick).

The river now widens out, but the navigation is made intricate

by sand banks. Left is Bingmoylan Pier and on the same side

CasJetoini Manor. Beyond are the picturesque ruins of Beaph
Castle adjoining the little quay of Beagh, and then in mid-channel

the Beeves Lighthouse, which marks a dangerous rock. On the

far side is the estuary of the Fergus, in which is seen the tower

on Canon Island, If the steamer is to call at Xildysart [Com-

mercial) we head across the broad estuary ; otherwise we keep

on to Redg-ap pier. Foynes, 24 m. by water, is served by a

branch line from Limerick. Off the little harbour is Foynes

Island, and on the N. side of the Shannon the rocks of Cahircon

and the white Cahircon House, a line seat.

On the left, beyond Foynes, we note the square mansion of

Mount Trenchard (Lord Monteagle) and, 6 miles further, on the

same side reach Glin, adjoining Glin Cf/.s^/e" (Knight of Glin),

and next Tarbert (between which pier and Kilrush a Board of

Works steamer runs daily, connecting the Tarbert coaches with

the trains on the West Clare Railway). Opposite is the grave of

Eily O'Connor. Here there is a lighthouse and battery, and the

landing-place is about a mile from the little town (Hotel),

which is reached by a long footbridge and then past the grounds
of Tarbert House. [Tarbert to Glin, 4 w. ; to Listowel Station,

12J m., by road in each case.]

On leaving Tarbert the steamer makes direct across the wide

estuary of the Shannon, and the only prominent feature is the

Round Tower on Scattery Island, whose ruins are also seen in

passing.

Scattery Island (boat or canoe from Kilrush about Ss.) is a mile long and
half-a-mile wide. There is a small hamlet on its east side and a lighthouse

near its south jjoint. Its interest arises from the fact of its having been a sacred

spot from the earliest times of Irish Christianity. St. Senan, avIio is said to

liave died in 544, made it his retreat, and founded a monastery. Moore's melody
of "St. Senanus and the Lady" is based on tlio legend of the saint's objection

to the presence of the gentler sex. The existing ruins, besides the well-

preserved Round Totrer (125 /^), with its doorway on the ground-level, are some-
times called tlie " Seven Churclies," but it is not easy to make out that immber.
1. The Cathedral, 68 ft. by 27 wide, of rough masonry, and divided into nave
and chancel, with a small chamber oft" the N. of the chancel ; 2. a smaller
ruin, with a little graveyard ; 3. a small ruin close to No. 1 ; 4. tlie remains on
the top of the island ; 5. St. Senan's oratory ; and 6. a small building near the

oratory. '
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Silrush to Xilkee, 9 m. by rail, KiU'Usli Pier {Pub. Ho.) is

1 m. from the town {Williams^' Vandeleitr Arms, clean); station

'6 mill, from the hotels; seep. 165. A train awaits the steamers.

Limerick to Ennis, 2U m.
; Athenry, 60| m., and Tuam,

76* m.

— Ennis to Ennistymon, 18J {whence car to Lisdoonvarna)
;

Milton Malbay, 27 : Killcee, 48 ; or Kilrnsh, 47 m. by West Clare

and South Clare Railways.

— Athenry to Gahvay, 13 w.

From its connections at Limerick, Ennis, and Athenry, this

hne is among the most important for tom'ist traffic, and there

are many ruins within reach of wayside stations which may
tempt the antiquary to break the journey. North of Ennis the
country vividly illustrates the enormous amount of labour expended
in turning a barren stony waste into a network of tiny fields of

sweet pasture.

On quitting Limerick Station the spire of the E. C. Cathedral is

conspicuous, left, and St. Mary's Cathedral and the Castle are seen
on the same side as the line sweeps round east of the city. The
Shannon is crossed by a long wooden bridge, and we enter Co. Clare.
The Slieve Bernagh mountains are on the sky-line, right, and
Cratloekeel Castle is seen on the left. Then we cross theBunratty
Biver to Sixmile Bridge, 13 m. The next station, BaUycarand New-
market, 16 m., is about a mile east of the village of Newmarket-on-
Fergus. Dromoland Castle (Lord Inchiquin) is seen, left, before
we cross the Ardsollus River to ArdsoUus, \^hm.

Quill Abbey is 1^ m. from the station by tlie road to the riglit. In Quiii
village the first turn to the right leads to the ruins, but it is wortli while keeping
straight on to tlie second turn, whence we get the best general view—tlie ivied
tower of tlieclmrcli rising above the monastic buildings suggests a combination
of monastery and castle. The solitary tower to tlie N. of tlie Abbey is

Danganbrack Castle. Returning to the first turn, the keys are at a cottage, left,

at the foot of the street. The ruins are approached by a stile (or gate) opposite
the Ahheu Tavern. Quin was founded for Franciscans in 1402, tlie buildings
date from 1433, when Macon Dall Macnamara settled Observantines (refomieil
Franciscans) here. Tlie precincts and the Abbey itself are still used for R. C.
burials. On the S. and W. tlie buildings are henimcd in hv a jumble of tombs
and vegetation, picturesque as a setting if not in detail. Tlie monastic church
consists of nave with S. chapel, central tower, and chancel with a N. chapel
(or sacristy V). Tlie projecting piers of the tower make the E. and "W. arches
very narrow, and tlie space beneath tlie tower thus forms a kiml of transejit.
Under the W. arch is an ancient stone inscribed "Donoo.!' The chancel retains
its altar, and N. of tliis is a Macnamara tomb. The monastic buildings are IS^.

of the church, and comprise cloisters (arcades of twin columns : oruximental
buttresses), dormitory, refectory, and a large.chamber E. of the cloisters. Below
tliese are vaulted chambers that liave long been used for interments. At tlte

N.W. corner of tlie cloisters is the mortuary of the Butlers (Lord Dunboyne).
Several staircases give access to the upper floor. What the projecting building
on N, may have been we cannot make out. Close by the Abbey is the Early
Gothic ruin of tlie parish church, and next it the "ugly modern one. The
R. C. church and schools are on the right as you approach the Abbey.
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Clare Castle, 23 m., taxes its name from the Castle, left, on
an island in the river Fergus, which the line crosses beyond the
station. Ckwe Abbey, with a lofty tower, is well seen on the
right, a little further on. It was founded for Canons Regular,
about 1100, by Donall O'Brien, king of Thomond. On the
right (J m.) from Ennis Station is the ivied ruin of another
church.

Ennls (24^ w. ; Ref.Rm. Hotels: Old Ground; QueerVs) is a
quaint but cheerful town of abt. 5,000 inhab. and is situated on
the Fergus, which is crossed by four bridges. The objects of

interest for the passing visitor are :—the handsome Court House
(cost £12,000), containing a statue of Sir Michael O'Loghlen, Bart.

;

a column (on the site of the old court-house) to the memory of

Daniel O'Connell ; the large R. C. Cathedral, and the handsome
Prot. Church attached to the old church, which was originally part

of the Franciscan Friary , ionnded in the 13th cent, by the O'Brien.

Outside the town the " Manchester Martyrs " have a memorial,
or rather the members of the committee who erected the monument
commemorate themselves on three panels, while the " martyrs "

(Allen, O'Brien, Larkin—Nov. 23, 1867) have but one assigned

to them. For the West Clare Railway, see p. 164.

Knnl«> to Killone Abbey, 3 m. south. At first the flat road is dull,

but the scenery soon becomes pretty, and is particularly so at Edenvale. Killone
Abbey, a nunnery of Augustines, was founded about 1190 by Donald O'Brien,
King of Limerick. The ruins are unimportant but prettily placed on the shore
of Lough Killone.

A little beyond Ennis we see, left, the Lunatic Asylum and
then, right, Drumcliff Abbey. The country now becomes very

stony and is dotted with rushy pools. On an island in one of

the largest, Lough Inchicronan, right, are the ruins of O'Brien
Abbey, and on the opposite shore a small ruin. Between Crusheen,

32^ w., and Tubber, 36^ m., there is nothing to remark, except

that in crossing the River Moyree we enter Co. Galway. Beyond
Tubber we enter on a small tract of bog, see right and left small

ruined towers, and on the right also the woods of Loughcutra
Castle.

liOUgrlicutra Castle, Z^m. S. from Gort and on the shore of Lough Cutra,
is now the seat of Visct. Gough. It formerly belonged to the Vereker family,

and was built by Nash for the 2nd Visct. Gort at a cost of £70,000. Its sale

under the Encumbered Estates Act was one of the terrible sacrifices con-
summated by the famine of 1846-7. "The lake covers an area of nearly eight

square miles, and is studded with wooded islands. One of the these has been
for years the home of innumerable herons and cormorants ;

perhaps the only
instance on record of an island in a fresh-water lake being inhabited by the
latter birds. The Gort river flows out of the lake and, at a romantic glen

known as 'the Punchbowl,' distant about a mile, falls into a deep rocky abyss,

totally disappearing underground till it reaches Cannohoun. Here it rushes

out of a rocky cavern and thence flows through Gort."— New Ireland, by
A. M. Sullivan.

The rocky fields—walls high and thick, and cairns piled every-

Where—are a curious feature of this part of the country. Oort
(42 m. \ Hotel : Laity's) is a neat little town of 1,500 in-
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habitants, and as seen from the Hne has quite an oasis-like

character from its stream and trees.

KilniacduafirU Cliurcli and Round To^wer are between 3 and 4
miles S.W. of Ciort. Tlie former retains tlie cj'clopean doorway (built up) of
the 7tU century chvircli of St. Colman. Tlie Round Tower leans some feet out
of tlie perpendicular. Kilmacduagli was once a distinct bishopric, but it has for
centuries been so only in name, and now is not even represented by a Prot.
church, though titularly joined to Killaloe.

Nothing, except a group of ruins, left, calls for remark till we
reach Ardrahan, 49^ m., the station for Ballyvaghan; railcont.

p. 162.

.ardraban to Ballyvag-ban, 17J m. Mail-car, Ss. ; Private
Car, abt. 15s. (including driver's fee) for 2 passengers.

The chief object of interest on this route is Corcomroe Abbey,
which, however, is not passed by the mail-car. The road is

throughout over so stony a tract of country, that even where the
stones have been piled up in every direction to make the smallest

of enclosures, the ground is still almost paved with them, or with
solid limestone rock. For the first half of the way the country is

flat, then we enter the low hill-country of Clare, and lastly skirt

the sea. In places the crevices of the walls are almost filled with
such ferns as delight in a limestone soil.

Except a square tower or two in ruins, there is nothing to be
noticed till we come to (6 m.) Xinvara {Pah. Ho.) a fair-sized,

untidy village, on a small arm of Galway Bay. About 4 m. further
we reach the hills, and our road ascends sharply for some distance
and then drops again to a lonely shut-in area in which, a field or
two to the right of the road, stand the interesting ruins of

Corcomroe Abbey. The remains of this monastery, founded
for Cistercians in 1194 by Donald, King of Limerick, are con-
siderable, and are under the care of the Board of Works. They
consist of nave and chancel extending together to a length of

about 120 feet, side aisles, the stump of a central tower and a
gateway some distance away. The chancel, which is the finest

part, has three narrow pointed windows at its east end with one
above, and a groined roof with herring-bone and other mouldings.
On both sides are sedilia, those on the left cinquefoil.

North of the choir is the huge recumbent efiigy of Donogh
O'Brien, King of Thomond, killed in battle, 1267. The head was
maliciously injured in 1893. Hard by, too, is "the tomb of

O'Loughlin, King of Burren," and on the north wall the brass of

a bishop.
The rest of the building is somewhat plain, and marred by the

blocking of the nave as at Holy Cross, for instance, by the west.
ward extension of the ritual choir. The west end has two round-
headed deep-splayed windows, very lofty and narrow and, beneath
them, a small pointed doorway set in a square-headed frame.

This abbey, called the Abbey of the Fruitful Rock, was made
subject to Furness in Lancashire.

Ireland II. M
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Higli up on the stony hill-side south of the road, but unseen from it, are the
remains of two small and primitive churches, which may tempt the antiquary
to halt for another half-hour. One of them is remarkable for the huge stones
used in its construction.

Walking down a lane we may rejoin our car about half-a-mile
beyond where we left it, and a few steps further we come to a neat
little public-house (Bell Harbour) on the right. Beyond this

our road rejoins the mail-car route (2 vi. from the village of

Burreji), and approaches another arm of Galway Bay, passing on
the right the fragment of Muckinish Castle. The rest of the
route affords fine views over Galway Bay to the Connemara
Mountains, while to the left are thick- strewn limestone slopes.

For Ballyvagrlian, etc., see j^' 165.

Beyond Ardrahan station we see a small ruin, right, a large one
left, and then another small one, right. From CrauyhweU, 55| m.,

where tickets are examined, it is a featureless run to Athenry
{p. 174), the junction with the main-line of the M.G.W.R,
Passengers for that line change trains.

With a view of Athenry, right, we follow the M.G.W.R. east-

ward for a short distance, and then strike northward over a dull

country to Ballyglunin, 69^ m.

A.l>toey Knoekinoy, 2^»j. by road to the eastward, is famous for its 14th
century frescoes, probably renovated in 17th century, which, however, are
almost destroyed. The abbey was founde<i for Cistercians by Cathol O'Conor,
King of Connaught, in 1189 or 1190. The founder's tomb is still pointed out.

He died in 1221. The monastery was dissolved in 1542.

Tuam (76§ m. ; Imperial Hotel, is a poor city of about
3,000 inhabitants. There is a handsome new Sessions House in

the Market Square. The ancient Cross (a.d. 1123) bears a remark-
able figure and inscriptions, some ancient, but the chief object of

interest is the Cathedral of St. Mary (Ch. of Ireland), which
is the Parish Church. It has been almost rebuilt in recent years,

but retains the old chancel with its magnificent Norman arch,

which belonged to the church erected by Abbot O'Hoisin before

1150. To the East of this chancel is the Synod House with fine

18th cent. Italian stalls beautifully inlaid. The R. C. Cathedral

is a costly but unsatisfactory modern building. In front are the

statues of Abp, McHale and William Burke, and adjoining it is

the College of St. Jarlath.

The line is continued northward to Claremorris (p. 206), and
through Swineford and Charlestown to Collooney on the Sligo Une
{Ireland I.),
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General Remarks. All the western counties of Ireland have
strong attractions for the tourist, and County Clare, while it lacks

the wild and beautiful inland scenery of Donegal, Mayo, Galway,
and Kerry, has a coast line of sheer cliffs, unlike those of any
other part of Ireland and, of their kind, only equalled in Great
Britain by those of the island of Hoy and the mainland of Orkney
south and north of Stromness respectively. The similarity

between these distant scenes is explained by the fact that in both
cases the cliffs are of red sandstone or mill- stone grit, a formation
which has the peculiarity of sinking to the sea in absolutely sheer

cliffs without any footing of loose scree. The cliffs of Moher,
reached in 7 miles from the favourite Spa of Lisdoonvarna, are

the most perfect cliffs in Ireland—far inferior in height to Slieve

League in Donegal or Croaghaun in Achill, but unlike those so-

called cliffs, )yhich in reality drop to the sea at an angle of 45 to

50 degrees, absolutely sheer. Further south, from Doonbeg 6 miles
or so north of Kilkee to Loop Head, twice as far south of that

place, the coast is of the highest interest. There is no finer place
for bathing in the British Isles than Kilkee—it is even superior

to Portrush ; while Lisdoonvarna, whatever may be thought of the
surrounding district, is certainly a healthy and very popular spa.

The only part of inland Clare with much claim upon the seeker

after the picturesque is on the borders of Lough Derg, but this is

hardly good enough to tempt people from afar.

The startlngr places for an exploration of Clare are Galway,
Ennis, and Limerick. From Galway a steamer (p. 174) crosses

Galway Bay to Ballyvaghan in connection with cars to the hotels

at Lisdoonvarna, the whole distance from Galway to Lisdoonvarna
being 22 miles. From Limerick a tidal steamer {p. 157) descends
the Shannon estuary to Kilrush, whence there is connection by
railway with Kilkee, about 10 miles distant ; or, during the
season, tourists may proceed by rail from Limerick to Listowel,

thence by car to Tarbert, and cross the Shannon by Board of

Works steamer to Kilrush.

A narrow-gauge railway runs from Ennis to Miltown Malbay,
Kilrush, and Kilkee. At Ennistimon this passes within 9 miles
of Lisdoonvarna. There is also communication by mail-car
between Ennis and Kilkee while those who wish to appreciate
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to the full the barren and stony limestone desert, of which the
northern half of Clare mainly consists, may quit the train at

Ardrahan, on the Ennis and Athenry line, and take a car to

Ballyvaghan and Lisdoonvarna. So doing they will pass the
interesting ruin of Corcomroe Abbey (jj. 161). From Ballyvaghan
to Lisdoonvarna there is an alternative route, double the direct

distance, following the coast round the south shore of Galway
Bay and Black Head. This forms part of a favourite circular

day-excursion from Lisdoonvarna. The coast scenery along it is

interesting but neither grand nor abrupt. Tourists coming from
the south will do best to make for Kilkee from Limerick, give two
full days to cliff excursions south and north of Kilkee, train to

Miltown Malbay and Lehinch (golf and cliffs of Moher), and on
to Ennistimon, car to Lisdoonvarna. Then on to Galway by
Ballyvaghan. Those who enter Clare from the north will simply
reverse the route. Hotels on English lines are scarce, but the

Golf Links at Lehinch is comfortable.

Ennls to Snolstymon, 18^ (for Lisdoonvarna) ; Miltown
Malbay, 27; Kilkee, 48; or Xilrush, 47 m. by the West
Clare and South Clare Railways. For Ennis, see p. 160.

This well-equipped narrow-gauge line (1st and 3rd) passes

through some tangled rocky "bush" short of Corofin. Its

merit is that it brings the magnificent cliff scenery of Co. Clare

within 9 krs. of Dublin or Waterford, and 19 hrs. of London.
Moreover it opens up a district that affords opportunities for the

angler in trouting waters that are either free or accessible by
the liberality of proprietors.

As the line turns westward the Co. Clare Lunatic Asylum is the

large building on the right. Soon comes the "bush " which we
have not explored, and then Corofin, 8|.

Corofin (small inn), nearly a mile from the station, is entered by a bridge
over the River Fergus. It is a decayed market-town of less than 500 inhab.
situated on the mile-wide peninsula bounded on the north by Lough Inchiquin,
and W. and S. by the Fergus, which half-a-mile below the town enters Lough
Atedaun. Lough Inchiquin is picturesque and holds good trout, but to fish it

satisfactorilj' a boat is required. Inchiquin Castle (1^) is a ruin of no special

interest, but from it the lough is seen to advantage, the background being the
wooded hills on its W. shore. From the top of the street take the right-hand
road and in a mile turn to the left. About a mile beyond this turn on the main
road is a ruined Church and the stump of a Round Tower.

From the bottom of the street the road on the right, coming from the station,

leads to Ballyportrii Castle, a good example of the fortalices so common in

Co. Clare. If about ^ m. from Corofin you turn up to the right you will get a
full view of Lough Atedaun. This by-road rejoins the mainroad, and Ballyportry
is I m. straight on at the cross-roads.

There is a group of antiquities about 2 m. S. from the Station. At the first

fork of the road go to the left and Iheu to the right and keep straight on.

Lough Ballycullinan is seen on the left, and when the road descends to the
Druminshin stream, you turn left across the bridge. Here are the ruins of

Dysert Church (with fine Romanesque doorway) and half of a Round Tower. The
ruin ou the opposite side of the road is O'Dea's Castle.
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Leaving Corofin we see, right, the wooded hills on the W. of

Lough Inchiquin and then past Willbrook, 12, cross featureless

country. Glen Castle is close to the line, right, just short of

Ennistymon (18^), the station for Lisdoonvarna (p. 167) distant

9 m.

Knnlstymon (pop, 1,200. Commercial: Dali/s) ^ ;«., left, from the station

is a prettily situated town on the Inagh, here crossed by a bridge. Below this

tlie river forms a cascade which is really grand in a Hood. The park of Ennisty-
mon House on the right bank below the bridge is picturesque, and can be visited.

The line crosses the Inagh just W. of the station and Liscannor
Bay comes in sight as we approach Lehinch, 20f

.

I^pltiucli {Golf Links close to Sta. and on the cliff), a breezy little village

w)t)i sands and golf-links, is witliin a drive of (7 m.) Hag's Head, the S. end
of the ClilTs of Holier. Yon take the road N. past the golf-links and
the ruin of Dough Castle (1^) where the estuary of the Inagh and Deelagh
is crossed. At 3m. is Liscannor (Pub. Ho.) wliere the road trends inland. A
mile onward keep to the left, and thence sti-aight on for two miles down to

tlie sea again, whence a road on the right leads up to Hag's Toner (p. 160)
in another mile.

On leaving Lehinch, Mutton Island is seen on the right front,

and then by an inland course we reach Mlltown Malbay (pop.

1,200), an unattractive town-village.

About two miles W. is l^paiiiMli Point (Athnitic Hotel, large, well-placedi
but barrack-like), a little bathing-place witli villas and lodging-houses dotted
about. The situation is open and the neiglibourhood nearly flat. The sands
are good.

The line returns to the coast and in the right rear the Aran
Islands {p. 177) break the horizon. From Qitilty, 31|, past
Kilmurry,'62^, and Cragfiaknock, M^, to Doonhey, 37|, there is

nothing to remark upon. On the right of the last-named station

the Doonbeg widens into a small lough. Across a peat-bog the
line reaches Moyasta Junction, 43|, where it divides, right to

Kilkee, 48, p. 170, and left to Xllrusli, 47 m., p. 159. The
latter branch skirts the head of Poulnasherry Bay, which, with
the tide out, is a waste.

Galway to Ballyvag-han, 12 vi ; Iiisdoonvarna, 22 m.

steamer to Ballyvaghan, p. Hi ; coach in connection to Lisdoonvarna
and Einiistymon, see Pink .Sheet.

The pier from which the steamer starts is 10 minutes' walk
S. from the station. The sail across the bay presents little that
is noteworthy, the shore north and south having a more or less

gentle slope, while at the head of the bay the land is low and flat.

If the afternoon be clear, we may discern the low-lying Aran
Isles, forming a natural breakwater to the bay and, as we approach
Ballyvaghan, the Connemara mountains far away in the rear.

Ballyvag-han {McNamara\s, Kerin^s) is a fair-sized village

in the southernmost recess of Galway Bay. The surrounding
country affords one of the most striking examples of the limestone
formation in the kingdom. The low hills around are not only
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terraced but almost paved with blocks of limestone, and though
what vegetation there is, is accounted sweet and nutritious for the
sheep, which are its chief consumers, the general aspect is barren
to a degree.

For the drive between Ballyvaglian and Ardralian, including
Corcomroe Abbey, seep. 161. Mail-car at 4.30 p.m. ; 3*.

Ballyvag-han to ]Llsdoonvarna by Black Head, 16 m.
This route follows the coast more or less closely till we are within

three miles of Lisdoonvarna. It affords fine views of the Con-
nemara mountains—especially the Twelve Pins—across Galway
Bay, and a broadside one of the three Aran Isles, which, as seen
from a distance present no special features. The chief gap in the

Connemara range marks the valley in which lies Lough Inagh, the

hills to the east of which constitute the Mamturk range. Black
Read (6 m.), the north-western corner of Co. Clare, is a low-lying

promontory with limestone hills sloping up from it. Five miles

further we pass a poor public-house on the left, and shortly after-

wards come in view of the north end of the Cliffs of Moher,
marked by a tower. Then our road turns inland and ascends a

long hill, at the top of which, finely situated on a crag, stands

Ballynalackan Castle, in situation not unlike Blarney Castle.

Crossing another road, the first opportunity of going wrong since

we left Ballyvaghan, we keep as straight on as may be and soon
enter Lisdoonvarna.

Ballyvagrhan to Iiisdoonvarna, direct 10 m.

Public cars on arrival of Galway steamer, 2s. 6f/.

The distinguishing feature of this route is the " Corkscrew
Road," 4 m. on the way, by which we ascend from near the sea-

level to the high ground, more than 500 feet above it, in a

slight depression of which Lisdoonvarna is situated. As we wind
up this cleverly constructed road we get, looking back, a fine view

across Galway Bay, with Galway town and Lough Corrib beyond

it. Eastward rise the limestone uplands of Clare. There is nothing

else noteworthy until we enter Lisdoonvarna.
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Hotels: Qiteen'x, Imperial, Eagle, Atlantic View. AH within easy distance

of the sulphur spring.

Post : Del., abt. 8.30 a.m., and 3.30 p.m. ; desp. 10 a.m., and 4 p.m. Sun-
days : Del., 8.30 a.m. ; ileip. 4 p.m. Postal Address: Co. Clare.

Telegrapli Office : open, -weekdays, 8 to 8 ; Sundays^Q to 10 a.m.

Population : under 200, out of the season.

Distances : Ba!lyvaghan,10 w. ; Ennist3'mon, 9 mr, Molier Cliffs (O'Brien's

Tower), 7^ ;«.

Cars meet morning trains at Ennistymon (6i/. or l^.), and the steamer at Bally*

vaglian (2*-. M).

Iblsdoonvarna is the most frequented spa in Ireland and, d8

the recent opening of the narrow-gauge railway from Ennis to

Miltown Milbay has brought it within 9 miles of a railway station

(Ennistimon), its popularity is likely to increase. The hotels are

large—we have enumerated them in order of size—and fair in

accommodation. The usual dinner-hour, 5.0, cuts up the after-

noon.
Of the Sjn-infis, one the Gowlaun, is sulphurous, like in kind

but inferior in strength to those of Harrogate, the others chaly-

beate and of no great account. At the Growlaun Spa, which stands
in a bare little hollow half-way between the Queen's and Imperial
hotels on one side, and the Eagle and Atlantic View on the
other, there are baths and a doctor's shanty, the consulting fee

being 5s.

The situation of Lisdoonvarna (about 500 ft. above sea-level) is

bleak, and almost on the dividing line, between the limestone of

the north, and the millstone grit of the south of the county.

In the shallow defiles where the springs occur there are a few
trees, but elsewhere the surface is bare, nor have the inhabitants

as yet acquired the tasteful art of floriculture.

Of antiquities in the neighbourhood of Lisdoonvarna by far the most inter-

esting is the 6th or 7th cent. Cliurcli of St. Cronan (Teumpull Chronnain)
about 8 m. E., in the parish of Carran. It is beautifully placed amid a grove of
fine ash trees in a dell of the limestone. The church measures about 22 by 13 ft.,

and lias walls 2^ ft. thick. The E. window is very curious, being externally a
round-headed light 6 in. wide below and 5 above, and 21 in. long. Internally it

is square-headed, and has inclined sides, and is so widely splayed that the
opening measures 29 in. at the bottom, and is nearly 5 feet in height. A tree,

has grown up inside.

At Kilfenora, 4^ miles S.E.from Lisdoonvarna, on the road to Corofin, is a
remarkable Cross about 100 yards west of the old churchyard. It is about 13 /^
high, and bears a crucified figure clothed in a long garment.

Of excursions, the most interesting are those to the Cliffs of

Moher, and round by Black Head to Ballyvaghan, returning by
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the " Corkscrew Koad." The former should on no account be
omitted, as it introduces the tourist to some of the finest cHffs in

the kingdom. Pedestrians proceeding south should quit the road
opposite O'Brien's Tower, which is reached by a path ; thence
walk along the edge of the cliffs to Hag's Tower near their

southern extremity, when a road will be found leading by Lis-

cannor (jmb. ho.) to Lehinch (i). 165), where there is a station

on the Ennis and Kilkee railway. By this line they can pro-

ceed for the night to Miltown Malbay, Ennistimon, or Kilkee.

To Black Head, 11 in. ; Ballyvag-han, 16 m. ; and back by the

Corkscrew Road, 29 m. ; Car, 12s. This route is described the

reverse way on p. 166. After descending to the shore beyond
the cross-roads at Ballynalackan Castle, there is no chance of

losing the way. The only refreshment to be had short of Bally-

vaghan is at a poor little road-side house 8^ m. on the way.

To O'Brien's Tower (Cliffs of Moher), 7^ m. Either

turn right after crossing the bridge at the Spa, or go south

from the centre of the village and take the first turn to

the left, which will bring you into the direct road from the

spa, after crossing a singular bridge consisting of one arch with a
circular opening above it, and called the Spectacle Bridge. Hence
the road continues over high ground pretty straight for the north

end of the cliff's, on reaching which {h^ m.) at cross-roads we leave

our road on the left, and bend up hill in the same direction. In

I w. onward, after passing more than one crumbling gateway on the

right, we come to the one which forms the entrance to O'Brien's
Toiler, a building close at hand on the edge of the cliff. This
castle, or observatory, was raised by Corny O'Brien in 1835.

Before reaching it we pass a shelter for carriages erected at the

same time, and are taken in tow by the inevitable guide, who
expects a small gratuity. From the top of the tower, besides a

fine view, north, of the Aran Isles and Connemara there is a full-

length one of the

Cliffs of Moher. This range of cliff is 4 miles long, and at

its north end 660 feet high, dropping to 440 at Hag's Head near

its southern end. Its impressiveness is mainly due to the con-

tinuous line of absolutely sheer rock forming a succession of

sharp promontories, against which in rough weather the Atlantic

waves break with grand effect. Like that of most really sheer

cliffs in Britain, the rock is sandstone or millstone grit, in hori-

zontal layers, which, taken piecemeal, crumble in the hand, and
yet in the mass are able to repel the full force of the waves. We
have already noticed the similarity of these cliffs to those of

Western Orkney ; it is hard to say which are the finer. One or

two small stacks stand a few yards out to sea, and a very singular

ridge, rocky precipice all round, with a top surface of grass, is very

notewortliy almost just below O'Brien's Castle. It is called
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Goat^s Island, but is joined to the mainland. There is a stor

of a goat having existed on it for a considerable time.

Below the castle is a refreshing spring and, hard by, a perfectly

flat slab of rock which, furnished with a round table of rock, is

the favourite resting-place for visitors.

By returning to the road and continuing down it for about 1| miles we reach
a small and clean Inn, just beyond which are the O^Brien nionn-
ment,—the tomb of tlie O'Brien family—and St. Bridg^et^s "%%'ell, much
resorted to by the faithful, who leave the customary simple and tawdry tokens
of their piety. From the inn the cliffs may be again reached, some distance
south of their central point, in 20 or 25 minutes, or the road may be followed
onwards to Liscannor (p. 165) and Lehinch.

Hence we may follow the cliff-line all the way to its southern
end at Hag's Tower, nearly three miles and quite an hour's walk,

over almost level ground with a surface of soft, dry turf, charac-
teristic of this formation of rock. The walk is very delightful,

and as we proceed we may see, if the weather be calm, the native

fishermen plying their trade at the very foot of the cliffs in frail

canoes, which for ease of conveyance are fashioned of the same
light materials as the Welsh coracle. There is no one special view,

but the strangely artificial shapes, due to the horizontal lamina-
tion of the cliffs, are noteworthy all the way. The tabular form
is naturally the most frequent.

About Kagr's Tower the cliff is considerably lower than further

north, but going a few paces west of the tower, or ascending the
steps by the side of it, we get a splendid view of almost the whole
line, the Aran Isles, and, if the weather be clear, the Connemara
mountains, far away in the north ; while eastward spreads the
pleasant expanse of Liscannor Bay, with Lehinch lining its

farthest shore, Ennistimon beyond and, across it southward,
Spanish Point and Miltown Malbay. The square tower on the
north side of the bay and near at hand marks Liscannor.

Below Hag's Tower the cliff is a good deal broken away, and there is a small
bay which ends in an abyss. It is worth while to cross a field and look down
into the depths of this chasm, which, however, are hardly visible, owing to its

narrowness.

From Hag's Tower a good road descends eastward to the sea
level and, entering another, turns to the right (do not attempt to
cut off the corner), then left again, straight for Zdscannor (int.,

pub. ho.), where is a consjiicuous square tower, once held by the
O'Connors. Thence, a dull level road, turning square in 1^ miles,
and crossing the estuary of the Cullenagh river, close to the ruins
of Dough Castle, brings us to (3 m. from Liscannor) Xiebincb,
p. 165.
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Approaches : from Limerick, ^j. 156-7 ; from Ennis,^. 164.

Hotels : Moore's, a little back from the bay ; West End, on Esplanade

;

Marine. None of them too good.

Kilkee is by nature perhaps the finest hathing resort of all the

watering-places round the coast of the British Isles, superior even
to Portrush. In accommodation for visitors it is still unequal
to its opportunities. For the general run of bathers there

is a horseshoe bay of lirm sand on a gradual slope, but not so"

gradual as to involve a long wade at any state of the tide, while

for divers and swimmers there are on the south side of the bay
and close at hand ledges of sandstone rock with ladders attached

to their sides, whence a plunge may be made into deep water from
almost any height or from no height at all. Those who take their

plunge before breakfast have a very little way to go, but later in

the day they must proceed somewhat further. The water, rolling

in from the Atlantic, is beautifully clear and pure.

The town {pop. 1,600) consists of a semicircle of low houses

corresponding in its curve with that of the bay, which is to some
extent protected by a long reef called the Duggerna Rocks. Not-

withstanding this protection, on the 8th Dec, 1886, a tremendous
tidal wave broke into the bay and swept away a large portion of

the strong wall which edges the line of low cliff separating the road-

way from the sands. On a reef called Edviuud Rocks an emigrant

ship was wrecked in Nov. 1850, and among the victims were

persons who had only left Kilkee to embark at Queenstown a few

days before.

A little way from the shore and reached by a path just north of

Moore's Hotel, is St. Synan's Holy Well, covered in and supplied

by a spring of delightfully cold water.

The only building in Kilkee requiring mention is the Convent,

which also stands some way back from the shore.

Next to its bathing facilities the great attraction of Kilkee is the

grand line of clififs. These on both sides, though inferior both in

height and impressiveness to the Cliffs of Moher are of a high

order of beauty and even more varied in the picturesque combina-

tions which they present. The tourist should devote a day to

them in each direction, but if he has only one day to spare he
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should take the southward excursion to Loop Head. There are

very remarkable sea-caves towards Bishop's Island and even finer

ones on the other side. They can be visited in a " coragh."

The most Interesting- stroll from Kilkee is along the coast,

southward, in which direction a very fine view may be obtained in

about 20 minutes from a green swelling height (217 ft.) beyond
which, entering the coast road, we may continue to Doonlicha
Castle, 4 m.—as fine a cliff walk as could be wished for.

Starting from the far end of the town and keeping to the shore
we have a fine view over the sea and along the cliff-line northwards.
Below us are the Dnpfierna Rocks. A nook further on was some
years ago the scene of a sad accident, wherein a j'oung lady sitting

in apparent safety some distance above the sea was suddenly
swept away by an exceptionally large roller. A little way further

a cross, rudely cut, close to the cliff', marks the spot where another
lady committed suicide by leaping over the cliff. Then, near the
first point, we come to the Puffing Hole, so-called from the action
of the waves, which in rough Aveather dash in underneath and
then spring up through it—a similar scene to that called McSwyne's
Gun at Horn Head in Donegal. Hence a gentle ascent takes us to

the eminence already named (217 f^) and we have a fine all-round
view. Rocky islets lie almost close beneath us, and about | m.
away, with a surface of almost level greensward, is the rock-bound
Bishop's Island. Upon it are the ruins of a building or two,
one of which, we are told by Mr. Wakeman, is a beehive oratory
ascribed to St. Synan, whose well we have already noticed at
Kilkee. The same authority gives as the Celtic name of the
island ^^ OUean-an-E>ipoi(t-<j()rtai(ih'" ("the island of the hungry
bishop ") and the frowning cliffy that wall the island all round
make it easy to believe that in bad weather any inhabitant

—

bishop or not— might get very hungry indeed before relief

reached him. At present sheep are hauled up on to it to pasture
in the sumnter.

Contiiming our walk, we enter the road, which either skirts or
keeps very near to the cliffs for some miles. Pedestrians should
keep actually to tlie edge, and on reaching the far side of the
next promontory they will be rewarded by a very tine bit of
rscenery, the chief feature of which is the Crean Rock, a graceful
isolated stack of the same character as the " Old Man " of Hoy and
the so-called " Castles " on the west coast of Orkney, This one
leans slightly sea\yards. The view generally is striking from here,
the sea rushing into deep voes or bays and caverns, and pro-
montory overlapping promontory as far as Loop Head. Hard by,
the cliff has in places succumbed to the forces of the ocean, as is
testified by accumulations of boulder and scree at the foot.

The extreme point, on which we now stand, is called Foohaph
Point, and is 185 feet above the sea. Castle Point (131 ft.), on
which stand the fragments of Doonlicha Castle, is nearly 2 miles
further, and the road keeps near the cliff all the way.
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In returning, the visitor may notice, a few yards on the right of

the road, just opposite Foohagh Point, a rough Httle heap of stones

with a cross upon it. This is Tober-cueed Holy Well, visited by
those afflicted with sore eyes. It is merely a dirty Httle puddle
around which on the stones are deposited the votive offerings of

the healed—a miscellaneous assortment of odds and ends, from
headless images to fragments of porter bottles ; the favourite

offering is pins.

Turning to the right a mile further, opposite the eminence
from which we obtained our first view, we come in a short dis-

tance to the Foohagh Iron Spa—a covered-in spring with drinkable

and not very strongly impregnated water.

To Zioop Head, 16 m. As far as Castle Point (4 m.)

this route is described in the above stroll. Then, after

noticing the cliff-bound islet of Illaunoncaraun, we turn
inland and do not again touch the coast till towards the end
of the journey. At 6 miles, a little beyond the turn inland, the

ruin of Knocknaciarhoon Castle, occupying the highest point

(410 ft.) between Doonbeg and Loop Head, may be seen a mile to

the right of the road, which in another mile joins the older high-

way from Kilkee. About 1^ m. further the road from Carrigaholt

(1^ m. dist.) comes in, and at 9^ m. we arrive at the village of

Cross {pub. ho.). Then, after touching the shore of the Shannon
Mouth at Kilbaha Bay, the road reaches (14^ m.) Kilbaha, the

last village, 2^ m. short of Loop Head.

Looj) Head Liffhthouse (white, flashing, visible 23 miles)

is 500 yards short of the end of the promontory, which
seaward presents fine cliffs. The view from the lighthouse is

very fine, and extends N. to Slyne Head, with the Connemara
Mountains to the right of it and the Aran Islands midway.
Southward the prospect includes Kerry Head and the whole of

the Dingle promontory culminating westward in the fine summit
of Brandon Hill, while to the left on the far horizon are the

Reeks including Carrantuohill.

Off the Head, separated from it by a narrow channel called the

Lover's Leap, is an insulated bit of cliff, known as Dennot and
Grania's Bock. The pedestrian is recommended to follow the

cliffs for 3 or 4 miles northward from the Head, in order to see

the magnificent natural bridges formed by the destruction of the

lower part of the shaley cliff. The two finest measure re-

spectively 70 and 45 feet in span, the former being 30 feet

wide and the latter about 9 feet. The inner bridge exhibits

clearly the contortions of the strata. A little further up the

coast is another Puffing Hole (see^^. 171) and then a mile or so

inland across the fields we reach the road and rejoin our car.
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DUBLIN TO GALWAY.

(By Midland Great Western Railway.)

4

distances: Mullingar, 50 ; Athlone, 78 ; Athenry, 113J ; Gahvay, 126^ ;

Oughterard, 143^ ; Recess, 163 ; Clifden, 175^.

There is throu^li-carriage service between Broadstone (Dublin) and Kingston
Pier in connection witli Night Mail, steamer each way. Also between Broadstone
and Westland Row in connection with the Night Express steamer each way.

For TouriHt Tickets for Connemara Tour, &c., with rail and hotel
combined, see M.G.\V.R. Tourist Programme.

Ref. Rooms: Dublin, MuUingar, Athlone, Galwaj'. Breakfast at Dublin,
7 to 9 a.m. , 2a-.

As far as Athlone see p. 200. Nothing calls for remark on
the way to Ballinasloe (91^ m. ; Hotel : Imperial, passable,

1^ 7)1. from station), a market-town of 4,500 inhab. on the

River Suck, which divides Co. Roscommon from Co, Galway. It

is not a place to attract the tom-ist except on the occasion of the
Great Fair (1st Tuesday in Oct. and 4 following days). Then it

presents one of the sights of Ireland, and the sales commonly
reach 60,000 sheep and 6,000 horned cattle, besides a large

number of horses. Adjoining the town on the west is Garhally
Park (Earl of Clancarty), which is open to the public.

Ballinasloe to A8;Iiriin, 5 ?»., and Kilcoiinell Abltey, 9 m.
The Ahhfu ix Am. from Woodlairn StntioJi. Leave the town by the Loughr« a
road, which skirts Garhally Park, right, and i)assesa Doric monument to " Hon.
Ven. Carolo le Poer, D.D." Aglirim is famous as the scene (July 12, 1691)
of the crushing defeat of the Irish under Saint Ruth (who was killed) by
Ginckle. The Irish jwsition was on the E. sloi)e of Kilcommedan Hill, the ridge
to the S. of the village. William's army lay at Ballinasloe the night before.

At Aghrim we leave the Loughrea road and take a direct one on the right to
Kilcoiinell (note the village Cross), close to which is the Abbey. It was
founded for Franciscan Friars, in 1400, by William O'Kelly, and became Obser
vantine in 1460. The ruins of the Decorated church, which is cruciform and
has a central tower, and the small cloisters are well preserved.

About 6 m. beyond Ballinasloe the ruins of Kilconnell Abbey are

on the left of the line. Woodlawn, 101^ m., takes its name from
the adjoining seat of Lord Ashtown, whose family mausoleum,
" French's Monument," is on the right, above the station. Atty-

mon, 107 w., is the junction for Loughrea, 116| m.

liOUgrlirea (Hotel : Railuau) is a nicely situated town of 2,500 inhab., on
the N. shore of the small Lough Rea, beyond which rises the Slieve Aughty
range. There are some remains of a Carmelite monastery and of a castle,

both founded by Richard de Burgh, Earl of Ulster, about 1300. On Monument
Hill is a cromlech.
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Over a featureless district of no interest, the line runs to

ilthenry (113| m.
;
pron. Athen-rye ; Railway Hotel tolerable,

opposite station), where the Waterford and Limerick line {p. 162)

intersects the M.G.W.E. It is a squalid town of 900 inhabitants,

and only interesting to the antiquarian.

It was a post of importance at tlie time of the Norman conquest of Ireland,

and the Gateicnu, by which it is enterfd from tlie station, is part of the defences
which, together witli the Castle, left, dates from that time. Of the latter the
oblong keep with gable ends is the cliief feature. The clmrch of the Domini-
can Friary, founded in 1241 b)- Meyler de Bermingliam, is now represented by
the ruins" of its nave and transept—the central tower fell long ago. Note the

Clanrickarde, and the Bermingliam tombs ; the central floor-slab of a local black-

smith ; and some very beautiful arcading in the S. transept of the " Early
English " type. In the centre of the town a slender tower and spire still mark
the ancient church of the Frauciican Friary. A modern church (protestant)

occupies its chancel. An old cross nn stei)s, near the gate of latter church,

showing traces of a crucitixiou, is the only other object we need mention.

In a bare country about 4 m. beyond Athenry, close to the line

on the left, is Derrydonnell Castle. Oranmore, 121 ?«., is ^ m.
from the village, left, --vheve there is another fortalice, Oran
Castle, at the head of an inlet of (ialway Bay. This last soon
comes in sight, and in tine weather, the view, extending to the

Aran Islands, is delightful. Lough Alalia, another inlet, is

crossed just short of Gahcay Station^ 120^ /«.

iS^lwmf.

Railway iSitation {Ref.-Rms.) : On S.E. side of Eyre Square.

Hotels : liailnay, a large house, at the statit)n.

Mack's (late BlacFs),smaller, S.W.side of Eyre Square, 3 min. from station. 'Bus

graliSi between hotel and trains, steamers, &c. (Bed, breakfast, and attendance,

VoHt Office : in Eglinton Street. English mails del. 8 a.m., and
12.30 p.m. ; desp. 2.40 and 11.25 p.m.

Telegrrapli Office: Open, weekdays, 8 a.m. to 9 p.m.; Smulays, 8 to

10 a.m., 5 to G p.m.

Tramc«.r«i : to Salthill (fare 2d.) at frequent intervals, from E. side of

Eyre Square.

Steamei't^ to Ballyvaghan ; tidal service, Mon., "Wed., Fri.—July to Sept.

Apply to Secretary, Galway Bay Steamboat Co., New Dock, Galway ; to Aran
Islands, p. 177.

DislanceM :, by road. Ballyvaghan, 30 m. ; rail to Clifden, 49 m.

Galway (pop. in 1901, 16,245) is 126^ miles, by rail, west of

Dublin. It is built on both sides and near the mouth of the River

Corrib, which flows from the lough of that name. Eyre Square
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(in which are the railway station, hotels, &c., see p. 174), and the

greater part of the town are on the east side of the river. The
fishing suburb is known as the Claddagh.

On arrival by rail you get, perhaps, a too favourable impression
of the prosperity and importance of the place, because the rather

picturesque Eyre Square is the only comely part on the east of

the river. In fact Galway now-a-days is far from flourishing, and
industrial enterprise seems nearly banished.

History. In the middle of tlie 13th ccnturj^ the Anglo-Norman invaders
mider Walter de Burgh (Biirke), Earl of Ulster, conquered the district, and
what had previously been little more than a fortified post of the turbulent
natives, soon rose to be a prosperous colony, with an important foreign trade,
chiefly with Spain. Among the settlers, the principal families bore the names of

Blake, Bodkin, D'Arcy, Ffrench, Lynch, Martin, &c., and their descendants in

the 17tli century were dubbed by the Puritan party, always fond of biblical

appellations, the "tribes" of Galway, on account of their clannishness ; lience

the jiame still sometimes heard, " the City of the Tribes." Duruxg the 15th
century the Lynch family was prominent in Galway itself, ami besides the
sternly just mayor (see p. 176) of that name, one is said to have built the original
West Bridge.

During the troubles between Charles I. and the Parliament, a Catholic rising,

with wliich the king played fast and loose, involved Galway, and when Crom-
well crushed the insurrection, lumdreds fled and joined tlie armies of Spain,
Poland, &c. The place thenceforward declined in prosperity. In 1691 it sidecl

with tlie Jacobite party, but capitulated to Ginckle, after the bloody defeat at
Aghrim had made the Irish cause liopeless.

Tlie most noteworthy event in the recent history of tlie town was the attempt
to make it a port for the American traffic. Some years ago now, Mr. Orrell

Lever, then M.P. for Galway, started a line of AtLmtic steamers, but the wreck
of one steamer and the burning of another quickly followed, and tlie enterprise
went into liquidation. It was then that the Railway Hotel was built.

It is a melancholy task to wander along the streets of old Galway,
Poor shops and mean tenements occupy what once were the homes
of the rich merchants. Good doorways and windows, or jDerhaps

a coat-of-arms, relics of former opulence, only emphasize the
wretchedness of to-day.

Within the enclosure in Eyre Square is a statue of Lord
Dunkellin, formerly M.P. for County Galway. The tower seen

at the N. angle of the Square is that of the old St. Patrick's

Church (Jesuit). The new church is at Salthill. St. N'lcbolas
Cburcta, often called the Cathedral, is reached from Eyre
Square by William's Gate Street. It is a large cruciform
building dating from the 14th cent. Externally, the most note-

worthy features are the W. doorway, and the dripstones of the
aisle windows ; the S. porch, vaulted, with parvise over ; the S.

aisle windows and gargoyles, and the curious-looking steeple. The
interior, 152 ft. long, and 126 ft. wide at the transepts, is compara-
tively uninteresting. There are some memorials of the Lynch
family in the S. transept, where is Mayor Lynch's grave. In the
N. aisle is an ancient Confessional, the only other example in the
United Kingdom being at Tanfield, in Yorkshire. It should be
added however, that neither instance is beyond controversy, and
this one is not in situ. ^ _ • - - --• ^
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Let into the graveyard wall, a bit of the old prison, facing Lom-
bard Street, on the N. side of the church, is the Ibyncb Stone
bearing a skull and cross-bones ; and above it is a tablet bearing
the following inscription :

—

Tliis ancient memorial of the stern and nnbendinpr justice of the chief magis-

trate of this city, James Lynch Fitzstephen, elected mayor A.D. 1493, who con-

demned and executed liis own guilty son, Walter, on this spot, has been restored

to its ancient site A.D. 1854, &c.

The son's crime was the murder of a young Spaniard, Its

motive is variously related. Some allege that young Lynch's sweet-
heart too much favoured the foreigner, others that Lynch junior
wished to hide a fraudulent transaction of his own. When the
time of execution arrived the convict's mother raised the town to

save her son, but in vain. The father, finding the usual place of

execution unattainable, hanged him from a projecting window of

the prison. Strange to say, the father's high repute saved him
from being himself " lynched " in the Yankee sense.

In Francis Street is a thick, square hastioti, which formed part
of the walls of the town, also the Franciscan Abbey, where
three interesting memorials may be seen : 1. On the E. of the
entrance porch, a monument in two rows, consisting of a cruci-

fixion with apostles and saints ; 2. On the S. side of the same
porch (inserted in the wall), " Sir Piter Frenich " and " Mary
Brown." On the right St. Nicholas, on the left St. Patrick, and
a child beside each saint, one being baptised, the other blessed (?).

3. Inside the abbey, set irrthe wall, a DeBurgo tomb-slab, bearing

shield, sword, and date, 1645, with an inscription round the
border. The Town and County Courthouses face one another at

the far end of the street.

Xiyneb's Castle (or Mansion), at the corner of Shop Street

and Abbeygate Street, is the most interesting old house in Galway.
It retains original enriched windows, and is ornamented with coats

of arms, &c. When the house was once burnt, a pet monkey saved
the life of a child, and their figures commemorate the event.

Tbe Claddagrb and Salt Hill, the former the fisherman's,

the latter the marine suburb of Galway, are on the W. side of the

river, and the Salthill tramcars {p. 174) can be used. On the way
you cross the Corrib by West Bridge and see, left, the Wooden
Bridge and, right, the Upper Bridge, where the salmon waiting for

a freshet are a wonderful sight. The river is not navigable, but a

canal connects Lough Corrib with the harbour. Tbe Claddagrb,
(a little left from tram-line) from time immemorial the home of

the men engaged in the saltwater fisheries of Galway Bay,

is a curious net-work of little streets of whitewashed and
thatched cottages. The inhabitants used to live under an
elective "king," but the dynasty is extinct and the peculiarity

of the race, commonly said to be of Spanish blood, but in

names and appearance more like English, now chiefly consists in
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hn inveterate conservatism, which will not allow improvements in

the mode of lishing. The trade, moreover, does not seem to be

vigorously pursued, and a good catch is held to warrant a spell on
shore.

SalthiU, {Eylinton Hotel, a large pub. ho.) is Galway-on-sea.

It has some good houses, but has passed the zenith of wealth and
fashion. The bathing is fair and for swimmers good.

Queen's Collegre (founded in 1849), also on the W. side of the

river, is a handsome Gothic building about a quadrangle, and on
application to the porter you can see the library, museum, &c.

The total number of students has in recent years been about

100. The session extends from October to June.

Cral^vay to Sipiddlo, 11 ; and Costello, 23 m. by road. Tlui is a

beautiful drive along the N. shore of Galway Bay, but it is off the ordinary
tourist beat, and will scarcely be taken by those who are not among the liappV

few who have access to the rivers and loughs that make Spiddle and Costello

among the very best angling qv;arters in Ireland.

%\xt %xm %%\mi\i.

Mteainei* on Tues., Thurs., and Sat. The Tuesday boat usually goes to
Kilkerrin an<l calls at Kilronan (Inishmore) both wajs, giving about 4 hrs. on
the island, a quite insufficient time, of course, for seeing the famous antiquities.
For time table apply to Secretary, Galway Bay Steamboat Co., Gahvay.
Fares: to Aran-, 3.?., S.*. ; ret., 4s. 6</., 3i-. 6(/. ; "tourist " ret. same day, single
fare. To Kilkerriii, 5s., 2s-. 6f/.; ret., 7s. 6(/., 3s. 9J.

Aceoiuinodation. At Kilronan the Afhtntic Hotel may (with the help
of some extras from Galway) suffice the traveller who is interested in the
antiquities which invite him to the Islands. Those on Aranmore might occupy
a week at least, even with liberal use of a car and local assistance, very
necess^ary in an island intricate' with walls ev(;rywhere. The other islands,
weather permitting, might be visited in one day each. We only notice the
pruicipal objects. •

, ,

Post and Teleg^rapli at Kilronali. Post Town : Galway.

The run down Galway Bay is pleasant on a bright morning.
Black Head, on the S. shore, appears bolder than its actual form,
a low. point, rising gradually to hills of 1000 feet, would lead one
to expect. The summits of the Twelve Pins are the principal

feature on the N. horizon. Southward, as you approach the
Arans, appears O'Brien's Tower, on the N. end of the Cliffs of

Moher. Passing to the right of the little Straw Island (lighthouse,

tixed, red, visible <i m.) you enter Killeany Bay on the S.E. shore,

of Inishmore, and land at Kilronan Pier.

Ireland II. N
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The Aran Islands are three in number : Inishmore (Great Island),

about 10 m. by 2^ m. at the widest part ; Iiiishmaan (Middle Island),

3 m. hy 1^ m. ; Inisheer (S.E. island), 2 m. by 1| m. They form
a natural breakway to Galway Bay and extend in the above
order from N.W. to S.E., with the little Brannock Islands ofiE

the W. end of Inishmore. Besides the port lighthouse, on
Straw Island, there is one on the S. point of Inisheer and
another on Eeragh Island (white, revolving), the westernmost of

the Brannocks.

As scenery the Arans have few attractions. They consist of

mountain limestone and are extremely bare and desolate, the only
trees being in a sheltered nook here and there. The surface,

where it is not covered with slabs of limestone, furnishes, like the

corresponding district of Co. Clare, sweet herbage, and the in-

habitants, about 2500, eke out, by fishing, a pastoral subsistence,

which leaves no margin for bad seasons, The highest ground of

Inishmore attains 460 ft., and along its W. side is a range of grand
cliffs to which the horizontal strata and vertical fissures give the

appearance of titanic masonry.

It is for their ancient forts and very early Christian ruins that

the Arans are interesting. Enna or Enda, chief of the Oriels,

abandoned his secular rule when he was converted by his sister St.

Fanchea to Christianity. Some years later he received from
Aengus, king of Cashel (or Munster), who had married another

sister, a grant of the Arans. As Aengus was killed in battle in -189,

we get an approximate date, and Enna lived on till about 542. He
established a great monastic school at Killeany (i.e., Gill Enna),
and nine others in different parts of the island, and Inishmore
became Ara-na-naomh, Aran of the Saints. Till the time of Crom-
well the shell at least of the church at Killeany survived, but the

stones were then used to repair the adjoining (16th cent.) castle of

Ardkyn, now itself an insignificant ruin.

The date of the stone-forts cannot be fixed, but tradition assigns

Dun Aengus and Dun Conor, the two largest, to the 1st cent. a.i>.

At Killeany (1 m. from Kilronan—the "street of tombs" will be

noticed on the way), besides Ardkyn CajjfZc already mentioned, may
be seen the outline of St. Enna's Church, behind the village. It

is a rectangle about 19^ by 9^ ft. On the hill is the stump of a

Round Tower. A little to the W., on the top of a hill, is the

striking Gth cent, ruin of S'i. Seunen's Church (Tcamjmll

Bcmicn). The gable v/alls, now 15 ft., originally 17 ft. high, and
the side-walls, G^ ft. high, are all 2^ ft. thick. The N. doorway
(the building stands N. and B.), straight headed and with inclined

posts, is of the most ancient type. Adjoining, are the remains of

the saint's cell, partly excavated in the rock, and of stone-roofed

huts.

Near the E. end of Inishmore, facing the Atlantic, is Black
Tort, pronounced the most ancient in the islands, and a little

N.W., Black City, another fort, nearly destroyed. The Black
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Fort Wall IB ^20 ft-, long, 20 high, and 16 to 18 thick. Inside are

tl'aces of stone hotises ; outside chevaux de /rise (forhled by setting

stones at an angle in the soil). It is about 2 m. direct to Kilronan.
From Kilronan a road runs N.W. direct to Kilmurvy, and from

the road you can visit a large number of antiquities. At about
1 m., on the right, is St. Kieran's Church, which is 37J by
18i ft. At the W. end is a built-up square headed doorway. At
the E. end a deeply-splayed and narrow-headed window. Observe
the string course.

On the left of the road, 1^ m., is Dun Ogrhil, a stone fort of

two enclosures of which the outer seems to have had no doorway.
The inner work still shows on the inside some of the steps lead-

ing up to the top of the wall. At Kilmurvy, 4 m., a village at the
head of the bay, is Teampull Mac Buach, Gtli cent., " the
most curious church to be seen in Aran." It consists of nave
(18^ by U^ ft.) and chancel (lo-|- by 11 ft.), and has a deeply-
splayed, round-headed, E. window. The walls have been added
to and raised. The original masonry includes stones 9 and 10 ft.

long, and one 17 ft.

About § m. N.W. of Kilmnrvy, and ou tli3 left of the road, is Dun
OnagrUt (or L'oi/kaiiachta), a nearly circular fort, about 30 yds. in diameter,
on prround which rises precipitously ou the N. from the plain of limestone
flags.

At the N.W. end of the island, about 2 m. from Kilmurvy, two of the Seven
Churches, Teampull a Fhoill and Ti^umpidl lirecan are still to be seen, but
neither has any remarkable feature. There, too, are the ruins of a siuare
tower »S'i?«/* Caislean = " old castle."

Of far greater interest and, indeed, the finest thing in Inishmore
is Sun Aeng-us, on the Atlantic, about | m. across the island
from Kilmurvy. This is a vast cliff-fort or castle, occupying an
obtuse angled projection of the cliff, here fully 250 ft. sheer. The
ground-plan is approximately a rectangle (perhaps 30 acres),

of which the cliffs form the S. and E. sides ; and the outmost line

of defence the N. and W., the two ends terminated by the two
cliffs. Part of this area, along the N. side of the second line, was
rendered impracticable to the enemy by a chevaux de /rise (see

above). The second and third (or inmost) lines, are of more or
less horse -shoe shape, and both begin and end on the verge of
the S. cliff. Alike for the gigantic walls and the grand cliffs, the
expanse of ocean and the sterile inland scene, this is one of the
most impressive spots in all Ireland. To the S.W. you look away
to the long cliff-line of Co. Clare.

Taking a boat or a "corragh" you will find on Inishmaan
(Middle Island) two antiquities :

—

Ban Conor (or Conchobhair), "the noblest in the islands."
It stands a little back from the cliff and is oval (abt. 80 yds. by
40 yds.) in form. The land side has a large half-moon work
completely embracing it, and this again is strengthened by an
outwork. The doorway of this outwork, as well as that of the
oval, opens into the half-moon. For gigantic walls this fort mav
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perhaps outdo Dun Aengus, but its situation is far less striking.

Within the oval work two or three of the stairs leading up to the
top of the wall still remain.

cm Cananech is a small church (13 by 8^ ft.). Facing the
W. door, the low cliff appears to have been rounded by a glacier.

The granite boulders found on the islands show that ice descended
from the mountains of Connemara in this direction. An elder

tree grows inside the church.

OnLiishsheer are also a Dun, a ruined Tower and a ruined Church,
but none of these are worth the trouble of visiting them. There
is, however, a tine view of the Cliffs of Moher, about 7 m. distant,

from the S. side of the island.

(if^wtt^m^j*;^ ^uimh

Tourist Tickets (2 months).

Dublin to Gralwaj-, Clifden, "Westport, Ballina, or Sligo and back from anj' of

these stations (including one journey bj' car between Clifden and Westport),

ils. Gd., 42s,, 30s.

Same as above, substituting Achill Sound for Sligo, 53.s-. Gd., 40*\ Gd., 335.

These tickets do 7iot include Car between Achill Sound and Dugort (2*-. Gd. each

way).

Prom stations in Great Bi'itain Tourist Tickets do not include Car fares.

For the several combinations of the " Connemara Tour " with routes in the

North, "West, and Soutli of Ireland see "Tourist Programme" to be had of the

Secretary, Broa'' Mwe Terminus, Dublin. Tliere is a considerable reduction on

the above p. . ^^ vhen two or more tickets are taken.

Mail Cars : Galway for Clifden, 1 a.tn. and 12 noon. Clifden to Galway,

6 a.))i. and 4.10 p.»i.

Connemara* is that part of Co. Galway extending from the
Twelve Pins on the north to the Atlantic on the "south and west.

Between it and the town of Galway is the district of lar-Con-
naught, while from Lough Mask, on the east, to the south side

of Killary Harbour lies Joyces' Country. In tourist parlance,

however, the whole of the district west of the great loughs, Corrib

and Mask, is spoken of as "Connemara," and that name is often

made to include the barony of Murrisk, which occupies the

corner of Co. Mayo between Killary Harbom' and Clew Bay. The
actual coast-line, though for many miles rocky and bold, is little

visited, owing to lack of sleeping (or indeed in most parts any)

accommodation.

* The descendants of Conmac (a son of Maev, queen of Connaught in the
time of Conor mac NessaJ were called Conmacne (ne, a progenyj. One of tlie

districts where tliey were settled was ca.lled Connuicite-inam (i.e. of the scaj.
—Joijcc. Conor mac Nessa, a legendary personage, was kinjr of Ulster at tlic

beginning of tlie Christian era.
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The scenery of the several portions of this great area, round
which runs the popular " Connemara Tour," is very varied,

though nearly everywhere wild and sterile. There are few hand-
somer groups of mountains in these islands than the Twelve Pins,

while literally hundreds of loughs are scattered over the curious

plateau they dominate. The Killaries are only two out of many
fiords running deeply into the land.

Zar^Connaug-ht is for the most part a desolate-looking country
of slight elevation, broken by hills ranging from 300 to 850 feet,

among' which lie a good many small and featureless loughs, Con-
nemara presents the opposite extremes of an undulated plateau
with innumerable loughs, some of considerable size, and a great

group of bold and finelyrshaped mountains, with many summits
exceeding 2000 feet. The lough region extends inland for several

miles from the much-indented coast, the mountains form the

northern inland portion. Joyces' Country, with the exception of

the broad valley of the Bealanabrack (or Maam) river, is wholly
mountainous and includes the Mamturk range, averaging 2000 feet,

which bounds it on the west, and the southern heights of the Partry
range, above LoUgh Mask, on the east. The barony of IMCurrisk
along tho north side of Killary Harbour is also a grand mass of

mountains which includes Mweelrea (2,688 /^) and many summits
little inferior in elevation. Nearer Westport is the imposing peak
of Croagh Patrick, rising abruptly from the shore of Clew Bay
but dominating inland a bare featureless plateau.

Creology. The district between Galway Bay on tlie S. and tlie mountains

—

Twelve Pins and Mamturk— is of porphyritic reddisli gneiss, belonging to the
Ai"cha?an (or Laurentian) group, the ol<lest known aqueous formation. In otlier

words the bed-rock of S. Galway belongs to tlie same formation as W. Sutherland-
shire, but here the peculiar shapes which that formation exhibits in the N. of
Scotland are missed. Tlie gneissose rocks of Galway are largely hidden by peat
and bog, and nowhere rise into mountains. Mucli more conspicuous is the
intrusive granite which, between Oughterard and Maam Cross, is largely
developed, and again on the coast between Casliel Bay and Clifden.
The mountain groups. Twelve Pins and Mamturk, ai'e composed of beds of

quartzite rising in great arches, or folds, from the margin of the Arehiean tract,
and are traversed by many faults, or fractures, hewing (as it were) the masses of
quartzito into rude blocks. The Connemara marble, chiefly quarried on the W.
of Lissoughter, near Ilecess, is a kind of serpentine.

The district W. from Lough Mask to the coast, along both siiles of Killary
Harbour, and including the Mweelrea group, belongs to the Upper Silurian
formation, ami thence extend N. to Clew Bay. metamorphosed gneiss and schists,

•with a patch of Upper Silurian about Louisburgli and to the E. the clear-cut
quartzijte cone of Croagh Patrick, Clare Island and Inishturk are outliers of
Upper Silurian. Tlie mass of the country N. of Clew Bay (W. Mayo) is again of
quartziteKir metamorphosed gneiss.

Tlie eifects of local glaciation, radiating from the Twelve Pins, are often very
prominent. Notably on the coast between Kilkerrin and Carna, and on the
promontory \V. of Cle'ggan Bay—the latter an interesting 10 in. loop excursion
from Glifden.

The rail and car route, taken by most tourists, is rail from
Galway, via Oughterard and Recess, to Clifden. Thence car,

via Letterfrack, Kylemore and Leenane to Westport. Except
for a few miles at either end, this round, of (49 + 55) 104 miles,

is interesting throughout, but the trfvyeller who can afford the
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inside of a week and does not mind hiring, should not fail to

take the Lough Inagh road between Recess and Leenane. A
fine route at present little known to tourists is between Ballinrobe
and Westport rid Clonbur, Lough Nafooey, and Tourmakeady.
Delphi is now taken on the coach journey from Leenane to West-
port (see Pink Sheet). From Letterfrack, Renvyle, or Leenane the
Salruck excursion should be made.

Of XMEountaln- ascents, the only ones in the Connemara
Tour of which we have personal knowledge— for even a
guide-book man cannot find time to "do" everything—are:

LissoiKjhter near Recess and Benhaun ; Urrishep, from Round-
stone ; Diamond Hill and Renvyle Hill, from Letterfrack ; Leenane
Mountain, and the Miceelrea group, from Leenane ; and Croagh
Patrich, from Westport. All these are perfectly simple ascents

and all are worth making, as is the little climb to the hill above
Cashel {p. 18.5). The curious and, under favourable skies, beau-

tiful view from Urrisbeg is worth the detour it involves.

A correspondent sends us tlie following contribution :— "Tempted by
the bold corries of MaumtraxtKf [2,207 /C], tlie mother of a hundred
streams, I essayed to take that bold plateau - like summit on the way from
Derrypark [on Lough Mask] to Leenane, my intention l^eing to include
y>i'j7A/«oCA(?r [2,131//.], which commands the full length of the Great Killary,

and thence drop down on Aasleagli. Tlie ascent of Binnaw [1,846 //.], the
eastern spur, was rewarded by a glorious view of Lough Mask, but tlie steady
plod up tlie ridge was barely accomplished when the tiood-gates were opened,
the mountain, never I imagine too dry, became a swamp, and all view was
blotted out so effectually tliat it was at times ditYicult to use a compass except
to steer vaguely in a N.W. direction, trusting to tlie ordnance map that I could
thus get down into tlie Westport road. This I managed to do in about two
hours, for, as the fates decreed, when the rain ceased a tliick fog took its place.

So far as I can make out, I must have descended by the Ben Garve [1,963//.]

spur, as I struck the road a little N. of Glenacally Bridge. Moral ! Climb
Devilsmother if you list from Aasleagh, but leave Maumtrasna severely

alone."

HOTSlbS on the tourist route from Galway to Sligo in order

of their occurrence, with those off the direct route in smaller

print.

Galway: Ilailwaij, large, adjoining Sta.; Mack\<i, small but

sound—Mr. Mack retired in 1898-9, but his name lingers—both

in Eyre Square, the best part of the town.

Ougrhterard : Murplnfs, a good roomy house frequented by
anglers on Lough Corrib. liailway and Anglefs, both small.

Recess : liaihcay, M.G.W.R. Co.'s, opened in 1899, first-class,

beautifully situated at the head of Lough Glendalough—head-

quarters for the Ballynahinch Fishery. It has its own station,

" Recess Hotel," which is about a mile E. of Recess Station.

Deradda (close to Toombeola Br.), 2 m. from Ballynahinch Sta., good,

reopened 1901, formerly Blaekadder's.

CaHliel Bay : Zetland Arms, A\ m. from Recess Station—a capital sports-

man's rendezvous, with fisliing and sliooting. It is also within easy reacli of »

good many " stands " of the Ballynaliinch Fishery,
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C'ariia : Afongnn's, a sound improteiitious sporting hotel, witli good sea-trout

fishing end of July onwards and good golf-links—12 m. from lleeess Sta.

Rouiidstone : Jtoundstonf, small and of small account—5 m. from Bally

nahinch Sta.

Clifden : Eaihrai/ (formerly Mullarkey's), Lyden's, McDonnelVs.
The train and coach connections during the summer do not
necessitate a sojourn at Clifden, and neither the place nor the
accommodation specially invites break of journey.

jLetterfrack : Casso7i\^, a favourite old-established house near
Kyiemore, 9J m. from Clifden and 12 m. from Leenane.

Keiixyle : Rentylc House, r> /«. from Letterfrack—a happy combination, of

liotel and country-house in an attractive situation on the coast—some fishing

and shooting ; golf. As a hostess, Mrs. Blake is unique in Connemara.

Xieenane : Leenane, in point of sleeping accommodation the
largest hotel in Connemara. M'Keown, the landlord, who runs
the coaches, is indefatigable in providing for his guests, but rooms
should be engaged in advance. At the height of the season,

August, Leenane is a thronged hive, and the improvident traveller

who arrives unannounced will probably have to sleep out or go
further afield. There are two small inns in the village.

Iiouisburg-b : The principal inn, at which the coach, from
Leenane to Westport, calls, is little more than a spirit store.

"Westport : Eailwaij, a large house with large possibilities that

have yet to be profited by. West in the Mall, opposite side to

Railway, quite small.

XTewport (Mayo) : DeverelVs, sulfteient but modest.

Mallaranny : liailway (M. G.W. R. Co.'s), first-class, large

house, in delightful surroundings adjoining the station.

Achill Sound : The Sound, a bungalow with decent accommo-
dation at an equal price.

Dugort : SUevemore— Sheridan the landlord is not easily

forgotten.

Ballina: Imperial, with lioyal opposite as an annexe; Moy.
Ballina offers sound "family and commercial" quarters. Lotiyh
Conn on W. of the lough, and Gortnorahhey at Crossmolina are
convenient for anglers.

Sllg-o : Victoria, a large house, one of the best in Ireland
;

Imperial, large, facing the river.

On Alternative Route to Leenane :—~Ra,\\i.nrnl»e: Valkenhiirgh'.i mnX Kailuay.

Cong:: Carlisle Arms, racy oii\\e?,oi\. Clonbur : Mount Gable, fis\\u\g and
^Ijooting. Maaiii Bri«lg-e : Maam, for passing refx-eshment, quite small.

f^eenano, as above.

Cyclists vnW. find no difficulty between Gahvay and Clifden on the
main-road, but beyond that on to Letterfrack is hilly. Then it is easy-going
^lirough the Pass of Kyiemore, after which there is a Idngish ascent followed
|>y a sharj) drop towards Leenane. From Leenane to Aasleagh is easy, then a
long steady ascent of tlie Erriflf glen, but once fairly up from Erriff Bridge
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there is notliing to complain of on tlie way to Weptport, into which the (le=cent

is steep and needs care. On the Leenane-Louisburgh route to Westport there is

a steep ascent be3^ond Dhu Lough.

Cong, vid Maam to Leenane has two steep hills, one approaching Cleggan,
the other 2^ ni. beyond Maam ; Recess, by Lougli luagh, to Kylemore ; and
Ballynahinch, vid Roundstoue, to Clifden offer no difficulty.

Galway to MoycuUen, 8 ; Ross, 12| ; Oughterard, i6f

Maam Cross, 27; Recess, 36^; Ballynahinch, 4if; Clifden,

49 m. by rail.

For Galway, 9,ee p. ll\. This line (opened July 1, 1895),

except at the beginning and end of the journey, closely follows

the main road. It begins by crossing Lough Attalia and then the

River Corrib. Across the latter is seen Menlough Castle, and
still keeping near the river we have a good view of Lough Corrib,

and then of Rallycuirke Lough, left. MoycuUen (8) is | m. E. of

the village {Pub. Ho.) and l\m. W. of Lough Corrib. Two miles

onward we reach Ross Lake and skirt it to Rons (12J). Beyond
this, we see, 30 w. away on the left front, the Twelve Pins.

Aughananure Castle is seen on the right as we near Oughterard

(161)..

Ougliterard {Miirphu'ii and Railway), ^ m. N. from the station past

the Workhouse, is a i)leasant little place of 800 inhab. on the Qwenriff, a pretty
stream, which flows from Lough Bofiu (bt^lon) 9,\\d enters Lough Corrib f /«.

below tlie village. Above the bridge, at the top of the village, the stream is for

a short distance prettily wooded, but the gorge by which it descends from the

moor is in private groiinds. From Oughterard "are reached tlie best casts on
Upper Corrib, about the islands and under Ashford . The Owenriff river (at

the door) is worth attention in a strong autumn spate, or after one, in a storm
which would make the lake unpleasant."— //<-/;^<7ff«.

The line ascends the Owenriff—a pretty bit—then suddenly

enters on the great lough-dotted moorland of lar-Connaught, and
follows the S. side of Lough Bofin. Then it crosses the road,

passes between Lough Aunierin, left, and Lough Tawnaghbeg, right,

and by Lough Ardderry, left, reaches Maam Cross (27)—^13f w.

from Leenane, j;. 192.

The road to the N. leads to Maam (abt. 4^ w.) passing on this side of the

watershed Loughs Anillaiin and Maamuee, and at the foot of the descent from
the gap crosses the Failinore Ricei- at Teeniakill Bridge.

The Mamturk Mountains now rise in bulky-ribbed masses on
the right to a height of 2000 feet, and on the left we see Lough
Shindella and Lough Oorid. The Twelve Pins, beautiful in

shape and colour, are now prominent ahead as in company with

the Recess River we reach Recess, 36|. Rail continued p. 187.
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Railvray Stations : Rpcpxs Hotel (for hotel), and lifCfiXM Cfor Casliel Bay
and Carna). Travellers bound for the hotels at Cashel Bay and Carna should
bespeak therefrom a conveyance.

IfotelM : Recfus (first-class) adjoining the maiu-road, at the head of Glenda-
lough Lougli. Hazel Lodge, sound lodgings.

Merndda, near Toombeola Br., p. 186 ; Zetland Arms at Cashel Bay, p. 186;
J/o«</«h'a- at Carna,/?. 186 all good.

-

Post and Telegrapli Oilice, adjoining Recess Hotel grounds.

DiHtancen hy road: Clifden, 14 m. G-alway, 35. Kylemore-, hy Lough lawih,
Vl\. Leeuane, hy Loiujh Inagh, 17 ; Jklaam,.13. Letterfrack, 23^. Reiivyle, 27^.
We^ijiort, hu Lough I/ia(jh,'^. ...
The above distances to Letterfrack and Renvyle are rid Clifdeu. By-KvLe-

more they wonlil be IG and IHJ, respeotiveLy. '
' '

Sport :
" Hi-regan " says : "To my taste, the ririe (for an idle

man) at Recess would be woodcocks and wild shooting from the
opening day to loth March, varied by fishing for large salmon to

loth April. Sea trout, brown trout and flappers, July and early
August. A few grouse, many white and brown trout, grilse, snipe,

and running fish to close of season."

Ballynataincb Fishery.—Ballynahinch River, the loughs
Ballynahinch, Derryclare, Glendalough and Inagh, and smaller
ones. From 12 to 20 " stands " are available throughout the season,

Feb. 1—Oct. 31. Terms from the Lessee for salmon and sea-

trout—brown trout free.

The last two paragraphs will suffice on the sport of the district.

The attractions for the lover of the picturesque are certainly not
inferior. While the quartzite summits of the Twelve Pins
(Benbaun, p. 192b), the most striking group of mountains, are
exceeded in elevation by the mountains of other parts of Ireland,
there is no group which shows itself to greater advantage, owing
to the fact that it rises abruptly, without the intervention of foot-

hills, from a plateau very few feet above sea-level. In form and
colour the group is perfect, but it offers very qualified climbs. As
is almost always the case the best view-points are not the summits
of the central knot, but the outlying heights.

From this, south, side there is no more satisfactory view-point than
Ziissousrhter (1,314/^; 1 hr. easy) immediately behind the Recess
Hotel. Ascend by a foot-track, a little W. of the P.O., to the
Marble Quarries road, and in about ten minutes make for the
S.E. spur. The height is sufficient fully to command the
strange lough -strewn plateau to the equally curiously indented
coast, while from east round by north to west is as tine an
ejivironment of summits as you could desire. The view of the
Pins is perfect, and at your feet lie the four principal loughs :

S., Glendalough ; S.W., Derryclare and Ballynahinch ; N., Inagh,
dominated on the W. by Derryclare {2,220 fi.), Bencorr (2,336 ft:),

and Bencorrbeg (1,908 /^), and on the E.by the Mamturk chain,
of not inferior elevation. It is an easy descent on the W. side to
the Kylemore road and 2 to 3 hrs. will suffice for the ramble. A
yisit ma^' be paid to the Connemar^ M^jble (Quarries,
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ReeeHS to Kyleinore (by Lougli Inagh), 12^ m. Tliis route sliould cer-
tainly be taken either as part of the circuit of tlie Twelve Pins, or on the way
to Leenane.
The road diverges from tlie main-road to Clifden at Recess Station, and is

unmistakable. Of the mountains immediately bordering it the three already
mentioned (see Lissoughter, above) as overlooking Loiigh Inagh, are passed in
the order named. On the east, tlie highest is Letterbreckaun (2.193 /^) towards
the upper end of Lough Inagh. Beyond that the range recedes on that side,
and the low watershed (260 ft.) is crossed about a mile short of the main
road, left, through the Kylemore Pass {p. 190). The api)roach by the private
drive—open to i)rivate cars but not to the public cars—is charming.

Recess (Sta.) to Casliel Bay {Zetland Arms ; fisliing^, IQj. a day on
tlic Crowla and L. Anilaun ; Gov.iabeg and several loug'r.s free. The hotel is

within easy roach of some of the Ballynahinch Fisliery "stands" and a pleasant
sportsman's rendezvous), 4^ m.\ ")^ from Recess Hotel. Follow the Clifden
road for 2^m. fhere turn to tlie leftiacross the channel between the two parts
of Lough Naeoogarrow. After passing two little tarns, right, you go througli
a gap in the hills and the sea comes in sight. At a fork of the road, about lialf-

a-mile be.yond a bridge, go to the right and it is about a mile to the Hotel.
There is a beautiful view from the hill (\,()2\ft.) above Cashel.

Another Route to Cas?iel Bay: by steamer from Galway to Kilkerrin (5«.,

2.?. 6d.), thence car, abt. \Z\ ?«., 10.<. Kilkerrin and Carna (4 m. on the road ;

12 from Recess Sta.) are both devoid of interest, but the latter is a fisherman's
haunt and has a souml hotel. About a mile short of Cashel you turn to the left

for the Zetland Arms.

Rece»«i to Roundi^tone and Clifden, 28^ m. by the coast-road.

From Ballynahinch Station the distances are 6 m. less. Roundstone to Clifden,
direct, 11^ m.
The chief item of interest on this excursion is the view fi*om Urrisbeg, the

ascent of which either from Roundstone and back, or up from Roundstone and
down to the road at the western foot will tixke about lJ-2 hr.^. Pedestrians will

naturally descend it on the west if they are going by the coast to Clifden, and
those wiio drive may order the car to meet them at the School, about 3 miles
from Roundstone.
From the Recess Hotel you proceed to Canal Bridge (4) and turn left on the

near side of it. Onward to Ballynahinch road and rail keep company. You
strike the Ballynahinch River just short of the Castle, and the road* follows
down its east bank to Deradda (9 m. from Recess) at the head of Round-
stone Bay. Cross the bridge ( Toomheola).
[A track on the lelt, imme<iiately beyond the bridge, leads in § m. to the

scanty ami uninteresting remains of Toonibeola Abbey, a Dominican
Friary founded about 1427 by O'Flaherty, chief of lar Connaught.]
In about a mile you join the direct road to Roiin<lstone from Clifden and turn

to the left and keep along the coast to Roundsitone (Inn). This is a fishing

village locally famous for its lobsters. From the rising ground where the
" Hotel " is the seascape ir- pleasant, but the place is of small account for the
traveller. Some lough fishing is to be liad.

Immediately W. of it is Urrisbeg (987 ft.), and the ascent is easy. Take
the road inland from the pier, and in about f m- turn to the left along the old

hill-road. Quit this when j'ou like and you will gain the heathery summit in

f hr. from Roundstone. The view is very striking looking northward over the
most watery plateau even of Connemara. Nearly 300 featureless loughs lie all

in a cluster, and cultivation and habitation are conspicuous by their absence.
Westward stretches Shiite Head with two lighthouses on the island at its ex-

tremity. In the same direction but about half way, you see the ruin of Bnnonen
Castle,'on a knoll at the head of Bunowen Bay. South-west j'ou command Inish-

lackan with its Coast Guard station, and the strangely indented coast-line, whose
fiords might be mistaken for lakes. Looking due south the most conspicuous
of the islands is Deer Island, which changed its name from Croaghnakeela.
when it was made a deer park by the Martins. The next island further oflr and
to the left of it is St. Macdara, once and perhaps still a pilgrims' rendezvous.
^'The church" on it, says Mr. Wakeman, "is one of the most ancient and
curious remaining in Western Europe. XX still retaios a portion of its original
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stone roof." The flora of Urrisbeg is noted for the hixuriaut growth of Erica
Mediterranea on the western slope of the liill. Tliisrare heath has flesh-colonred

flowers, and may be recognised by the furrow downtlie centre of the nnder-side
of tlie leaves, which are arranged in whorls of four. Mackay's Heatli, yet
rarer, is reported to grow in this nciglibourhood. It is very like tlie common
l)iuk heath, Eriai tetnilir, but is distinguished by broad egg-shaped leaves, with
their upper surface and midrib smooth. Several saxifrages and the autumn
gentian are pretty abundant on Urrisbeg

.

Descending the western slope to the road, there is not much calling for

mention, anci the walk or drive on to Clifdcn is iminteresting. though close to

the sea for a great i)art of the way. At Balhiktiifriti (8^ m. from Roundstoiie
by road) you turn to the right, and at Balhnnhoti Bridge {12 w.). wlicre you join
the direct road from Clifden to Ronndstonc, to the loft. For Vlifden, arV p. 188.

Iteooss to C'lifilfii, 14 m. by direct road [tlie road by Ballj-iiahirch
an;l Toombenia Br. is 19 /«.]. If high expectations have been formed
of the Glendalough scenery, tlie first view of it on leaving Recess is, jior-

haps, a little disajipointing. Viewed from this end the lough is pretty but
not striking, and tlie Twelve Pins have been so long in sight that" they
]n-osent no novelty. At Recess Sta., tlie road to Kyleniore (p. 186) diverges
on the right, and across the water, left, we see (xlendalougli House Then, at
Weir Rridfii we cross the limlnacarra and still skirt the lough. Next, Louflh
Nacoognrrow is on that side, and its narrow mid-channel is crossed by a road
leading to Cash el Bay (^.186). Athry Louoh is just beyond, and leaving that
we get a fine view, right, up Derryclare Lough, and cross Canal Bridge.
( For ro.'fd to Roiindxtonc, spc p. 186). Here we are just tinder the Twelve Pins,
with a bold valley running \\\^ into them on the right, from which the climber,
witli more or less stilt" Avork, might take his choice of half-a-ilozen ascents.
Ahead, we look right down Ballynahinch Lake, but for the present had better
lie noting the view behind us. From no i»oint on tiie road do the stern moun-
tains sliow more sternly, and Lough Glendalough and its surroundings sujiply

sufticient softness and l)eauty.

The islets in B.allynahinch Lake are wooded, and across it lies the famous
demesne, once the home of the almost princely Martins, while in front, on an
islan<l, we note the prison-castle. The first group of buildings seen on the
(iemesne is the stables, and then the mansion, Ballynaltinclii Castlo, comes
into view.

TUe Martinet of C'onneinara. From " time immemorial " this family
"reigned" over the greater i)artof the country lying between Ballynahinch. the
sea, and the town of Galway . The rent-roll of tiie projjerty. 200,000 acres or more,
was of course always insignificant, considering its vast extent, and Col. Martin,
the last male heir but one, gave the coup dc grace to the family fortunes by
lavish expenditure on county elections ("Charles O'Malley" sufficiently indicates
the nature of that luxury) an<l gambling. The Law Life Assurance" Company
advanced, it is said, nearly a quarter of a million ujjou mortgage, and when his
so)i, the well-known M.P. " Dick" Martin, might have cleared off the incum-
brances by an alliance with the heiress of a wealthy merchant, the Colonel was
obdiirate and the son presently married a lady of no fortune. He. too, speiit

much on elections and when he died, the victim of his own devotion to his
])Oor tonanti-y during the Famine of 1846—7, his only child and heiress, married
to a cousin poorer tlian herself, was soon forced into the Encumbered Estates'
Court. The projjcrty, bought in by tlie Assurance Company, realised some
£60,000 less than their charges upon it, so that nothing was left to the unfor-
tunate lady, who witli her husband emigrated, Init only to die at New York in

1850. In 1870 the late Mr. Berridge, a London brewer, bought 160,000 acres
from the Company, but he did not reside.

For the Finking see jy. 185.

The road beyond B illynahinch is comparatively ilull. The Owenglin River,
which rises in the Twelve Pins, is crossed at Waterloo Bridge, and 1^ miles
further we reach ClilVleii, p. 188.

Rail continued from p. 184. The line skirts the N, shore of
Lough Glendalough, and then approaches the foot of Lough
Derryclare, of which and the Twelve Pins the view is very beauti-
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ful. Quitting the road and passing between Lough Athry, left,

and Lough Nabrucka, right, the route passes to the S. of Ballyna-
hinch Lake, touches the httle Balhnafad Lough, and arrives at
Ballynahinch (41J), the Station being a trifle E. of the Castle
(above). Thence to Clifden (49) there is nothing calling for

mention.

(inutM

Kaflway Station, 4 7nin.E. of tlie hotels.

Hotels: Railuau ; Ludfn'.i : AfcDonnpJVs,

Post ami Telegrapli Oflfloe. Letters dfl. a.m.; dpi^p. 3.50 p.m.
Sundays included.

Clifden (pop. 911), the terminus of the railway and the starting

point of the tourist cars via Leenane to Westport, is itself of no
particular interest, but the situation on an inlet of Ardbear Bay
at the mouth of the Owenglin does much to recommend it. The
place owed its origin to Mr. John D'Arcy, who in 1815 purchased
a large property here and resided at Clifden Castle. Between
then and 1835 some 300 houses and the hotel were built, and the

broad main street shows the hopes that were entertained. But
.the D'Arcy property, like the Martins', was sold under the En-
cumbered Estates Act, and it remains to be seen what the railway

will do for the town.

The Owenglin forms a bold cascade at its mouth. To see this

go down the wide street opposite the Eailway Hotel and turn to

the right, 4 min. A pleasant short stroll is to cross the bridge

below the cascade. From the col beyond there is a very pretty

view of Clifden Bay, and when over the col the Twelve Pins are

well seen looking up Ardbear Bay.

Clifden CaMle, a modern mansion, is about IJ m. W. from the

town overlooking Ardbear Bay. The best way to it is along the

bay, and there is a pleasant walk through the grounds.

C'legg^au Say. Tliis is a favourite drive from Clifden, 19 »i. out and home,
making a loop beyond Streamstown. It is not a good cj'clist round. In addition
to out-of-tke-\vorld country, there are very obvious and remarkable evidences

of- glaeier-carving in the district between Aughrus Point and Cleggan Bay—tlie

latter, the 20*. boat-place for a visit to Inishbofin—weather permitting. We
khowTio reason why Inishbofin should be visited.

Clifden to Letterfrack, 9^ m- ; Kylemore, 12 m. ; Leenane,
22 m.; Aasleagh Bridge, 24^ m.; Westport, 55 m., via Delphi

and Louisburgh—48 m. by Erriff Bridge-

Coaclt Sei'vlce :—from June 1 to September 30—see Pink Sheet.

For the first few miles this road is not particularly interesting.

A. little out of Clifden it crosses the end of the old race-course,
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and through a gap in the hills reaches the small Lough Breen-

bannia, right, whence it descends to Streamstowu Bay, a pretty

inlet but without marked features. At its head is the hamlet
Streainstoivn (2 7n.), beyond which we bear first to the right, and
then left, up a small valley, to the pool, Lough Nagann. From the

higher ground beyond that, the view improves. Left, we note

Cleggan Point (tower upon it) and passing Lough Tanny, right, the

horizon northward is broken by the mountains of Achill Island.

As we drop to the stream and hamlet of Moyard (6 7h.) Bally-

nakill Harbour is very picturesque. Again crossing hilly ground
we reach the shore of Barnaderg Bay, beyond which a short

asc3nt brings us to letterfrack, 9 in. For continuation of route,

see p. 190.

WttUxitmk

ApproafUes : From Gahvaj-,^, 184 ; from Westport, p. 210.

Hotel : Caiison''s, 200 yards from the maiu-road, up a road on the left. For
Renvijle Hotel, sec 2>- 190.

Post anrt TelegrrapH Office in the village. Letters del. abt. 9 a.m.;
dcsp. 4 p.m., iiichiding Sundays.

distances : Kylemore Castle, 2^ m. ; Salruck, 9^ m. ; Leenanc (Ilotet),

10 m. ; Reuvyle (Hotel), 5 m. ; Westport, 32^ m.

Coaclies ; see Pink Sheet.

This pleasant Httle modern village (founded abt. 1850 by Mr. Ellis,

a Quaker) has a good deal to recommend it as a place of sojourn.

The Hotel is the nearest to the Pass of Kylemore, the western
portal of which, guarded by Diamond Hill, it faces. Barnaderg
Bay, a landlocked inlet of Ballynakill Harbour, is close by, for

a dip in the sea, for boating or sea-fishing. There is free trout

fishing in sundry loughs within easy distance, while for fine views
Diamond Hill and Renvyle Hill are respectively about 2 hrs.

and 3 hrs. there and back. The drive, abt. 20 m., via Dawros
Bridge and Tully, along the coast road to Salruck and back by
Kylemore is delightful, and should have a day given to it.

1. To the PaH!!i of Kylemore and Kylemore Castle, seep. 190.

2. ]>iamoncl Hill (lienr/ob, 1,460 ft.). This finely shaped hill is well seon
from the hotel. The ascent presents no difficulty and is only steep towards the
summit

; perhaps the easiest way is by the shoulder which runs up gradually
from the S.E. corner of Barnaderg Bay. The distance is about 2 miles or about
an hour. The rieir is superb, not only of tlue Twelve Tins, of which this is

perhai)s reckoned as one, l)ut of the coast. Immediately below we command the
Pass of Kylemore and the Castle. The Killaries and the great mountain group
including Mweelrea, the islands Inishshark, IrJshbofin, Inishturk and Clare
Island are among a few of the principal objects. It is a pleasant walk to
descend "the E. shoulder ("diamonds" here chiefly) to the Dawros stream,
between our hill and KnockbraL-k ( HtiU//.), and then down it to and across a
bridge, continuing by a footpath past a farm into tlie maiu-road, opposite
K\lemore.
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3. Renvyle mil (1,172 ft.). This is a perfectly simple climb. Take the
road N. from the hotel. Beyond Dawros Br. (IJ) turn to the left, and about 1 j
ouward you cau ascend by the S.E. shoulder. The ih'W is especially fine north-
ward, and includes the lofty Clare Island and the cliffs of Achill in ordinarily
clear weather. Mweelrea is also a noble mass at the mouth of Killary Harbour,
while the Pass of Kylemore (end-on view) and the Twelve Pius are nowhere
better seen. Immediately below, on the S. , Ballynakill Harbour is a delightful
contrast to the rugged mountains.

-1. To Renvjle Hotel 5;«. direct rid Da^^Tos Br. an<l TuUy R. C. Chapel.

Renville Iloiixe Hotel, formerlj- the home of the Blakes, was opened as an
hotel in 1883 by Mrs. Blake. It is attractively situated, on a small lake within
a few yards of the ocean, and offers some fisliing and rough shooting. About
1^7«. W. is the ruined tower oi lienr life Castle, and on the hill behind it the
romains of an ol<l cluirch. It is a fine drive in the <)i)posite direction to Sdlrudc,

9, and back by Loufjh Fee and Ktilemore, a round of abt. 22 in.

5. To fSialrnck, 9^ pid Tnlly, returning by Lough Fee and Kylemore, 21 m.
This tine drive cm be improved on by tlie pedestrian on botli sides of Salruck
witliont increase of distance. We start by tlie road ilue N. an<l at TuUy (2:^ ;

B.C. chapel) turn to t!ie right. The vievv includes Mweelrea, Croagh Patrick
and the Twelve Pins. Then along the coast we reach the Culfin stream, (5 tn.

The road ascends the right bank, skirts Lough Muck (/H«c=pig), and then
at its head we diverge up to the left. A short ascent brings us to the top of

Salrnclc !*»'»»«, and a lovely view is revealed.

Hence you cau trend across the slopes in a N.E. direction to, abt. 20 min.,

a suumiit affording a grand panorama. Thence it is an easy and direct

descent to the head of Little Killary.

At the bottom of the hill, at the head of Little Killary Bay, is the romantically
situated residence Salruck, and a small Prot. Churcli. Tlie pe<lestrian

should follow the road along the head of Little Killary and then climl>

a I'ough track to the right. In from 10 to 15 niin. another delightful

view is obtained u]) Killary Harbour and in tlie opposite direction (less

interesting) of the coast as far a,s Renvyle. Following the track ^eastward

—

Mweelrea, 2,688/7., in full grandeur—in about 4^ from Salruck, after a rough
Avalk, we join the main road 3^ w. short of Leenane, J /«. in which direction

the possibly thirsty pedestrian will find the Derrynnclotiyh P.O. Hicensed). If

returning to Letterfrack, it is about |?h. to the right to the junction of the
Lough Fee road, by Axhich the car has had to come. For the main road sec

y. 191, and for the Lough Fee road, p. 192.

Between Letterfrack and Kylemore the rocky height of Renvyle
is to the left, and a little to our right is the fine peak Diamond
Hill (seep. 189). Soon we enter the Pass of Kylemore. This
does not deserve the epithet stupendous, but it is a noble ravine

flanked, right, by bold bare glossy mountains, and, left, by deep-

toned crags, which are set off by a hanging wood. In a short

distance, noting the fuchsia hedges, we reach Kylemore
Castle (Duke oi Manchester) and the old road now forms the

carriage drive, which private cars may use. The public cars take

the new road which runs outside the grounds.

Kylemore Castle (grounds open to visitors, castle in absence of

the family) occupies the site of a cottage of Canon Wilberforce.

About 1864 Mr. Mitchell Henry bought some 14,000 acres of the

Blakes, of Renvyle (see p. 190), built the castle and set on foot

improvements on the property which made him the benefactor
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of the neighbourhood. From 1871 to 1885 he was M.P. for

Co. Galway.

The Castle, a handsome pile of granite with limestone facings,

was erected almost entirely by native skill and labour, including

the elaborate internal tittings, not the least beautiful of which are

the chimney-pieces of Connemara marble. The gardens are also

delightful.

Beyond the Castle is an elegant little church, or rather private

chapel, with a spire. A little further on is a small mausoleum.
The road then skirts the north side of the upper and larger

Kylemore Lough, above which, left, the hillside is well wooded,
while on the far shore is seen Kylemore House, a shooting-box
belonging to Lord Ardilaun, whose Ashford estate {p. 197) extends
to the lough.

Just beyond the lough the road (described the reverse way,
2). 185) to Recess, via Lough Inagh, diverges on the right, and the
Mamturk range appears as a huge rocky wedge ahead. In another
mile the Salruck road, via Lough Fee, diverges left, and we get a
view of that lough, though not to advantage. Looking back, as
we approach the summit-level, the Twelve Pins are well seen,

—eight of them, if we remember rightly—and then we get a full-

length view of Killary Harbour (or Bay) with Mweelrea towering
above it on the far side, left, as a huge half-dome. The Killary

inlet as seen from here is certainly line, but it is too bare to be
termed beautiful, though the verdure does to a great extent atone
for the comparative lack of trees. The nearer hills rise steeply

from its margin, and are broken by the narrow combe up which,
out of sight, hes Delphi (j^. 192).

For a time our road keeps high above the bay and then, with
the light-coloured Devilamother (2131 ft.) ahead, drops sharply
to the shore, which it follows to the Leenane Hotel, lioad on to

Westport, p. 193.
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Approaclies : from Galwaj^ ami Clifden, p.lSZ; frum Westport, />. 210 ; from
Recess, ^>. 185.

Hotels : Leenane , close to the shore aud ou the maiu-road, about ^ m. west
of the junctiou with the road from Maam ; Mmlrea, small.

Post and Telegrapli at Leenane Hotel. Letters del. abt. 8 a.m. ; desp.
4.30 p.m. : S'.indays included. Address " Leenane, Co. Gahvay."

Distances : By road (from the Leenane Hotel) Westport, 21 ni. ; Maam
Cross, 13J m. ; Cong, 24 m. ; Recess (via Lough Inagh), 17 m.; Kylemore Castle,

10m.; Salmck, 8 w. ; Renvyle Hotel, 15 m. ; Letterfrack, 12 ;«. ; Clifdeu, 21 /n.

By miter, (Bundorra) Bundorragha, for Delphi, 2^ m. ; Saln;ck, 7 m. to Coast
Guard Station.

For Public Cars, see i). 188.

This is another of the delightful tourist resorts of '• Connemara,"
and whether for sport or scenery is equally attractive. It is com-
pletely environed by the lofty mountains of Joyces' Country and
Murrisk, while the curious water defile, Killary Harbour, is a
fiord with perfect bathing for swimmers, and admirable for

boating in line weather.

The Fishing: accessible to hotel guests should be ascertained in advance.
There is sometinie'9 little of any value available.

To Salruck, 8 vi. by road, returning partly by footpath, a

beautiful excursion. The main road is followed westward. At
3 m. is I)errijdough P.O. (licensed). In another 1|;»., opposite

Lough Nambrackeagh, we turn to the right and follow the road

along the N. shore of Xioug'h Tee—a lovely foreground to Geraun
(1,973 /«.), the comely mountain to the S.W. The only habitations

are a lodge on a peninsula that only just escapes being an island,

and, on the far side of the lough, a farm amid trees in a green

clough. At the foot of it is Lough Muck, and our road ascends,

right, to the Salruck Pass, p. 190, where a track along the

Killary is given as a possible return route. It is, however, not

recommended, as a great part of it is rough and wet.

From Salruck to Renvyle or Letterfrack, see p. 190, reverse

routes.

To Delphi, 9 m. by road, round head of Killary.

Delphi is a plain little mansion embowered in timber—fir,

birch, oak. ash, etc.—on the shore of the little Lough Fin, with

fine mountain slopes on either side. About ^ m. N. of Delphi is

Lough Dhu, with Dhulough House Hotel, charmingly placed among
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trees on its E. bank. This lough is about 124 ft. above sea-level,

and is flanked W. by Benbury (2,610 ft.) and Benlugmore (2,618 ft.)

and E. by Cashcame (2,474 ft.). It is in fact a great trough, and
with storm-clouds on the mountains is entitled to its name Doo
{dubh = h\eick, hh silent).

^eenane XMountain which commands the full length of

Killary Harbour is ascended direct from the hotel—tea picnics.

The Lough Inagh road to Eecess is described p. 186.

Ascent of* Mweelrea (2,688 ft, in 2^ firs, from "Scotland"—some 5 m.
down the Killary and jnst short of Bunnaglass. Returning (4^ fD's.) over
Benbury (2,610 /?.) and Benlugmore (2,618 fL) to Bnndorrha Quay. Boat and
men for double journey about 10«. for 2 persons. A compass and provisions
should be taken. The Ordnance Map (sheet 84, 1,?.) is desirable. If the weatlier
is unsettled tell the boatmen to be at the mouth of the Killary sliould the
mountains become cloud-capped 2 to 3 //n-. after landing you at Scotland.
Mweelrea is so remote that we give directions for safe retreat in case of fog.
The times given in the course of the ascent are those of the writer. He was
3 hrs. in reaching the summit, but then he was note-taking.

" Scotland" is a mere name. Landing on the rocks, a trifling climb leads up
to a small path, which you follow to the left to (8 min.) Creggaunranny, a
solitary cottage. Behind this go up a rocky path, or stair, to (15 min.) a marshy
hollow. Cross this to a rocky knob and ascend, a little to tlie left, to a green
terrace, and from that climb an obvious green couloir, rocky atop, to a second
terrace and go up tliat to (20 /ni/i.) a bog-plateau. Cross this to (15 min.) the
foot of Funshoge (1,623 ft.). Ascend this ridge-knob by its left, i.e. S., side, and
in 20 min., or less, you will get perhaps the most beautiful mountain prospect in

the W. of Ireland. To the left rear is Lough Inagh, and carrying the eye W.
are the Twelve Pins and Kylemore Mountain. Below, beyond the Great Killary,

are Salruck and the Little Killary. The coast is enfiladed as far as Renvyle, to

the left of which glistens Balljnakill Harbour. Crump Island is prominent
seaward.

It is only a minute or two to the top of Punshoge, whence Mweelrea is fully

revealed, its E. face a great terraced cliff, 1,400 ft. in height from the little

Lugaloughan Lough at its foot. A rocky descent of about 250 ft. leads to the
foot of the final climb, 1,300 /V., which is a fair hour's work, arduous throughout
—heather at first, then grass and rock, then bare ground. From the cliff-verge,

on the near side of the main cliff, a steep gully descends to the combe, and is

sometimes used by shepherds.

On the top of Mweelrea are some relics of the Ordnance Survey. The
view is all-embracing but less beautiful than that from the flank of Punshoge.
The additional features are Croagh Patrick, N-E. ; Clew Bay, N. ; and towards
the N.W., the mountains of Achill.

Safe Descent. The W. side of Mweelrea is a steep slope without crag. If,

after about 20 min. down it due W., you bear to the left, it is a perfectly simple
matter to descend to the mouth of the Killary. To reverse this route would be
very monotonous.

Anotlier Descent, only to be taken under compulsion. Descend the
N.E. shoulder for a short distance, and then bear to the right along the ridge

for 10 min. It is then merely a rougli descent—with some big scree--quite safe,

if taken slowly, even in fog, to Lugaloughan Lough—a pool in a setting of bog.

Thence follow down the riglit-hand flank of the valley, an execrable 3 hrs. of

fatiguing bog, to the Delphi-Bundorrha road.

The tour of the Mweelrea group is very fine and quite simple. The only
drawback is the final trudge to gain the Bundorrha road. From Mweelrea
descend N.E., and, avoiding the ridge to the right, you will reach in about
12 min. the col—L. BellaWauu is the tarn below on the right—under Benbury
(alias GlenculUn, 2,610 ft.). A stiff climb, 10 to 12 min., lauds you on the easier

slope leading to the summit of Benbury, which is not specially worth attaining.

Ireland II.
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If you decide to omit it, bear to the riglit and presently follow tlie ridge to the
S.E., whieli affords a grand view, left, of the stern corrie—climbable, see p, 193—
above L. GlencuUin, and leads up to B<>iilus:inore (alias Crock Glan Ciillin,

2,618 ft.)—say l.J hrs. from Mweelrea. Tlie distinctive features of the view
from it are tlie cliffs between it and Benbury, already noticed, an<l to the E.
the XJmmeragh glen, with its portal guarded N. by Cashcame (2,474 /V.) and
S. by Bencreggan (2,283 ft.). We are not confident as to the best way off

Beuiugmore, but experience suggests a N.E. course down the ridge for about
12 mill.., and then a zigzag down almost due S. The thing to lemember is that
the main stream in the valley, the Owennnglogh, has to be crossed. After rain
this must be done well above its confliience with the Bundori-ha River, and that
means a good deal of heavy bog before you reach the road. If Dhulough House
Hotel is your destination, you might descend by the ridge and get put across
Dhu Lough by boat.

Ascent of Benbaun (2,395 ft.\ the liighest of the Twelve Pins.
Tempted by fine weatlier, the writer, in Oct., 1895, made this ascent. It has not
much to recommend it. The interior of the Pins group is utterly sterile, and
Benbaun and its neighbours to the S. command Avide but uninteresting views.

The only satisfactory starting-point (9 m. from Leenane) is from the road
between Kylemore and Recess, about 1^ m. above the head of Lough Inagh.
There Knockpasheemore (1,362 /^ ; map p. 181) sends down a spur to the road,
and by this you can make direct to Benbaun. We only know this as a descent
1^ hrs.to the road), and in ascending took the following route.

From the road we made along the S. flank of the spur, and soon reached
some small farmsteads. Passing above these we kept on well np above the
valley—a really wild gorge, with the bold quartzite cliff between Bencorrbeg
and Bencollaghduff prominent on its far side. The going was bad, but when
about at its worst a path was detected ahead ascending our flank of tlie gorge
athwart the white streaks of outcropping rock-seams. To reach this patli we
bore up to the right and struck it beyond a small brook. The path ends some
little way below tlie head of the gorge, but then is no longer needed. The col,

Maumina (1\ hrs. from the road), is comparatively narrow, and of grass with
rock-masses. It is the watershed between the Inagh (which through the
Ballynahinch Lakes roaches the sea at Cashel Bay) and the Owenglin (or

Clifiien') river. The valley of the latter is seen for a long distance, but is too
uninviting to suggest a through route.

To the N. of the col is Beiiltauii, and it is a stiff half-hour of zigzagging
up the rocky steep to the summit. Perhaps its W. side is least arduous. There
is no real difificulty.

From Benbaun, down over Knockpasheemore, to the road also involves
picking the way to begin with.

To the S. of tlie col, Maumina, a rocky scramble lands us on the depression
between Bencollaghduff (2,290/^), left, and Benbreen (2,276/^), right. Hence
it is merely a matter of grind and bog—a dull 3 hrs.—to descend along the
W. side of the Glencoaghan valley to the main road aboi;t half-way along Bally-

nahinch Lake.

lieenane to Delphi, 9 ; Dhulougrli House Hotel, 10

;

Xiouisburgh, 20 ; XMEurrlsk, 28 ; "Westport, 34 m. by road.

This is the coach road to Westport. It winds round the head
of the Killary and affords lovely views. Just after passing

Aasleagh the waterfall on the Erriff is seen, and then the N. bank
of the Killary is skirted to Bundorrha, 7 m. The road then

ascends along the Bundorrha Biver to Fin Lough, and passes

behind Delphi to the foot of Dhu Lough. Following the N.W.
shore of Dhu Lough to Glencullin Lough, the stern recess under

Benbury (Glencullin) is specially noteworthy.
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"A stream runs into the S.W. corner of GrlenculUn Lough, startinj? from a
series of black sunless precipices, seamed with gorges and well-nigh 2,000 feet

lush. These can be climbed by two gorges at least from base to summit. The
name of these cliffs is Askokeeran (' Ridge of the Mountain Ash '), and when
the crest is gained a fine walk is the reward, over Benbury (2.610/^) to the
highest point. Mweelroa (2,tj88 ft.')"—sec 7). 192a. From ('limbing in the

British Ides : Ireland, by H. C. Hart.

Thus far the journey has been both beautiful and interesting.

Onward to Xioulsburgrh it is dreary, and although along
Clew Bay thenceforward, in full view of Croagh Patrick, it is un-
attractive until Murrlsk {p. 210) is reached. The last six miles
are the best after leaving Dhu Lough. We-stport Quay, with its

derelict warehouses, is passed, and then through Lord Sligo^s

demesne we reach the Mall at VTestport, p. 209.

Direct road from Leenane to Westport, 21m. This skirts the

head of the bay through Leenane Village, at the junction of the

Maam road, right. Turning left and looking down the Harbour
we see it blocked by Mweelrea, and then at the top of a rise

have, left, the drive leading to the Aasleagh—pretty view, looking

back, of the islet-dotted mouth of the Erriff. .

Devilsmother (2,131 ft.) and another hill (1,983 ft.) rise boldly

on the right as we begin the steady ascent of the lonesome Erriff

valley. From time to time Maumtrasna (2,207 ft.) on the right

presents finely scarped and cup-like recesses, but the road is rather

monotonous, and the little grove of trees about Srrlff Bridge
{Pub. Ho.; abt. 8 m. from Leenane) is a pleasant relief. From the

rise beyond the bridge the view looking back of the mountains is

really fine. Croagh Patrick (2,510 ft.) now gradually becomes the

dominant feature, a huge cone springing from a desolate plateau.

For some miles the road is monotonous. Of the Vieic of Cleio Bay,
as you near IVestport {p. 209), Thackeray shall tell. We have
never been fortunate enough to see it as he did. The descent from
the workhouse into the town is very steep.

" Presently, from an eminence, I caught sight not only of a fine view, but of

the most beautiful view I ever saw in the world, I tliink ; and to enjoy the
splendour of which I would travel a hundred miles in that car with that very
horse and driver. The sun was just about to set, and the country round about
and to the east was almost in twiliglit. The mountains were tumbled about in

a thousand fantastic ways Trees, cornfields, cottages, made the scene
indescribably cheerful ; noble woods stretched towards the sea, and abutting on
them, between two highlands, lay the smoking town. Hard by was a large

Gothic building—it is but a poor-house : but it looked like a grand castle in the
grey evening. But the Bay—and the Reek which sweeps down to the sea—and
a hundred islands in it, were dressed up in gold and purple and c rimson, with
the whole cloudy West in a flarae. Wonderful, wonderful

! "

—

Irish Sketch Book,
chap. xix.
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Galway to Cong, Maam and Leenane.

Galway to Cong-, up Lough Corrib.

Steamers on weekdays in summer : Cong, dep. 8 a.m. ; Galway,
3 ji.m. Voyage about 3 hrs. Fares: 4s., 2s.; ret. 6s., 3s. In
summer there are also excursion trips from Galway.

Cars from Coug village to Cong Pier ; Is. each passenger.

Xiougrlt Corrib, like so many of the lakes of Ireland, is a
shallow depression which has been formed by the solution of the
limestone by the carbonic acid in the water. It is about 20 miles
long, and, S. of Knockferry nowhere over 20 feet deep and in many
places not 4. Between Inchagoil and Cong, and in the west arm,
the deepest pits are 152 feet. In breadth it varies from ^ to 7
miles, and except up the western arm, towards Maam, the shores
are generally low and much indented. On the whole the scenery is

distinctly tame, though in clear, bright weather the mountains of

Eastern Connemara relieve it on the west. The lower end for about
4 miles is a broad and unbroken expanse ; then it narrows and is

dotted with many islands

—

not, however, " with one for each day in

the year," unless you count the little rocks which appear when
the water is very low.

The steamer starts from Wood Quay and ascends the Garrive
Biver, and in about 3 miles we see, right, Menlough Castle (Sir V.
Blake, Bt.). Then we pass through the Eglinton Canal or Friar's

Cut, which was part of a scheme to connect Galway Bay with
Killala Bay along the great chain of lakes. Entering the lough,

the devious navigable channel is marked by a double line of cairns,

some with red beacons and gridirons. On the right, a mile away,
are seen the black-marble quarries of Anglihan, and then nothing
calls for mention, till, at the head of a little bay on the left,

appears the ruined tower. Hag's Castle. At Annag-hdown, right,

where the steamer calls, was a whole group of religious founda-
tions, according to Archdall.

An Abbey " Lough Orbsen," the old name of Corrib, dating from before the

7th cent. ; a Nunnery, in which St. Brendan, of Clonfert, died, in 577. His sister

was the abbess. He is famous for his 7 years" voyage in search of the Fortunate

Isles ; a Premonstratensian Abbey ; a Franciscan Friary ; and the College of

St. Brendan.

Soon, Ballindnff Castle appears on the right, and the lough
narrows to half-a-mile at the second stopping-place, JLillabeg*,

on the direct road, between Moycullen {p. 183) and Headford

[p. 195). Passing, right, the beautifully placed Clydagh House,
the lough widens and then we see, right, Annaghkeen Castle and,

left, Aughnanure Castle. The mountains on the Maam arm now
show to advantage, and our course winds among the islands^

passing, left, Inchshamhoe, "Isle of the White Cow," with its

charming villai On Inchagoill (see m&p) " Stranger's Isle," about



ROSS ABBEY. 195

4 miles short of Cong Pier, are the ruins of two small churches,

one, St. Patrick's, is supposed to be the actual building founded by

him, and there is also an inscribed stone, said to commemorate
his nephew. Ashford {p. 197), Lord Ardilaun's seat, is on the left

as we reach Congr Pier.

Oalway to Clare-€»alway, 6 m. ; Headford, 21 m. ; Cong, 31 m.

;

or Ballinrobe, 33 w. by road. This is au interesting route, anil besides the

important ruins of Clare-Uahvay and Ross Abbey, which, to the antiquarian,

are themselves wortli the trouble of the journey, fine views of Lough Corrib

and Lough Mask witli the mountains beyond them are obtained between
Headford and Cong. The direct route to Hea<lford, 17 ;«., is not recommended.

The hotel at Headford may suffice for the night, or if Tuam is to be visited,

then the evening mail-car (2»'.)is available. Headford is 12 m. from Ballinrobe
V. 206.

Leaving Eyre Square on the X., the road soon affords a fine view, looking
back, of Gralway and its Bay, and presently Menlough Castle is seen on the left.

Through the hamlet of Kilieen, noting its ruined tower—one of many fortalices

in this district—and passing Kilieen House, left (house not seen), we next note
the tower of Kiltullagh Castle on the right, and another near Rocklawn, left.

Clare-Gralvvay (Pub. Ho.) is a village on the river Clare-Galwaj*. Besides
the massive square tower of the Cattle, close to the road, there are across the
river the interesting ruins of a Franciscan Friary (or Ahhetj), founded about
1290 by John de Cogan. Its church, cruciform, has a fine arcade of pointed
arches springing from round pillars on the N. side of the Nave, and the arches
of the graceful central tower are beautiful. Note also the chancel with its empty
east window and plain lancets on each side.

At Laghtgeorge (8 m. ) the road forks (right to Tuam), and we take that to the
left, which, 2 in. onward, skirts the grounds of Vregg Castle, and bearing left,

passes the hamlet of Cregg and the Currabeg Monastery. The view up and
down stream from the bridge over the little River Cregg, close to Cregg
Mill is pretty. Presently (about 17 m.) Annaghdown Castle and church,
some distance apart, are seen left on tlie shore of Lough Corrib, and a road
diverges towards them. Tlie small Cloneen Castle, left, is seen about 1^ ?«;

further on.

Headford (Hotel : Macormack\s) is a rather bright town-village of 600
inhabitants adjoining the park of Headford Castle. Tlie nearest railway
stations are Ballinrobe, 12, and Tuam, 12^ ;«. , which is also its Post Town,
wlience there is an larly morning mail-car (2$.). The car starts back in the

evening.

Tlie town is featureless. ,lmt abt. 1^ m. N.W. on the S. bank of the little Rirer
Black is the fine ruin of Ros8 Abbey. A good general view is obtained of

it when over the river on the road to Cong, but it should by all means be
visited. Leave the town westward, and about a mile from the Market Place
turn to tiie right for

jf
ni. Its immtdiate surroiindings are rather pretty, but

the neiglibourhood is dreary enough. Originally founded abt. 13tK for Fran-
ciscan Friars, it adopteil the reformed rule and became Observantine in 1470.

The ruins comprise the great church, cloisters, and a very complete group of

d( mestic buildings. The church has a good W . iloorway. In the wall of tlie

cl.apel, E. of E. Transept, there is an O'Donnell tombstone, 1646, bearing their

ajnis. Another in the Nave to a priest is dated 1687. The abbey was long a
favourite burial-place, and of uiiburied skulls and bones there are any number,
bc.th inside and outside the building. A memorLal to tlie right of the Higli
Altar prays lor Ullick Burke ai.d his wife Kate Lynch, son of John Burke of

Castle Hacket. This is dated 1711 [Castle Hacket, the old tower and the
modern residence, respectively S. and N. of the Tuam road, about 7 m. from
Headford]. Ross Abbey was n( t finally deserted until 1753. The ruin has iu

modern times been repaired.
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The Nave is dividcil from the chancel by a depressed round arch, and the
latter has a beautiful E. window which, in style, appears to have belonged to
the earliest part of the buildings. The Cloisters, which are small, resemble
those at Kilconnell (p. 173), passage-like, foreign-looking, and heavy. The
Domestic Buildings (kitchen, guest-hall, &c.) are to tlie north of the cloister.

From Headford to Cong (10 m.) the road crosses high ground, and commands
L. Corrib and L. Mask with the mountains on their far shore. When across the
River Black, look back at tlie niins of Ross Abbey. Presently tlie tower of

Moyne Castle is seen on the right, ami about half-way we pass through the
hamlet of Glencorrib, and 2 m. further the hamlet of Cross, where we turn left

for Cong:. The right-hand road goes to Ballinrobe {p. 2U6).

Conr (B.S.O., Co. Mayo ; Pop., 227 ; Carlisle Arms, indifferent;

nearest station: Ballinrobe, 8 m.; p. 206) is a poor-looking little

village, with many tumble-down, tenantless houses, that are all the

more noticeable from their proximity to the magnificent dem.esne of

Ashford, which occupies the whole region between the village and
Lough Corrib. This demesne, the old abbey and the vagaries of

the river that worms its way through the limestone wilderness

separating Lough Mask from Lough Corrib, are the attractions for

tourists, who, by driving from Cong to Leenane, will approach
Connemara in perhaps the most effective way, though the popular

route is from Galway or Westport.

On entering Cong, either from Lough Corrib or Ballinrobe

{p. 207), the traveller will notice the ruins of the Camd or the
' Grieat Blunder " as it has been well called. The works, on a

very large scale, were undertaken during the famine of 1846-7, for

the double purpose of saving the starving people and opening a

channel between Lough Corrib and Lough Mask. The engineer,

however, forgot the permeable character of the limestone, though
the subterranean propensities of the streams all around were

sufl&ciently obvious. The canal, it turned out, would not hold

water.

In the middle of the village is a plain stone cross with the re-

mains of an Irish inscription, no longer decipherable, but

commemorating two abbots of Cong.

Coner Abbey [key at cottage by the gate ; gratuity) is within a
stones-throw of the hotel, and on the east side of the river, which
has just above bubbled up into the open air after a long under-

ground course. The cloisters (all the arcading clever modern work
done by a local mason in Sir B. Guinness' employ) are entered

from the w^est.

The abbey was founded in the 7th cent, by St. Fechin, but the existing ruins

date from the end of the 12th cent., when the Romanesque style was giviiig jilace

to Early Pointed. Tlie latter pro<iominates here. Of the history of the Abbey little

is known, except that Rory (Roderic) O'Conor (d. 1198), the last native king of

Ireland, spent the last fifteen years of his life in it. After suffering the usual

indignities in the days of Henry VIII. and Cnmiwell, the "place and all around

it" was allowed to fall to rack and ruin until Sir Benj. Guinness, father of the

present Lord Ardilaun. took it in charge and prevented further desecration.

Even now the interior is none too tidy.

As a whole, the Church {entered from road) is rather apt to dis-

appoint expectations founded on photographs. It is entered by a
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doorway with fine moulding, in the north wall of the chancel, the

chief remaining part of which is the East Window of three Pointed

lights, lofty and naiTow. The floor is strewn with flat tombstones,

one of which is pointed out as covering the bones of Kory, though
he was buried at Clonmacnoise. The west end is so covered with

ivy, that it is difficult to distinguish its features from within, and
to see it from without, one has to enter by a gateway on the south

side of the abbey. From the chancel we pass through the belfry

tower to the Befectonj, beyond which is a collection of bones in a

railed-off charnel-house with an empty coffin. The west side of

the refectory has a Transition doorvs-ay with zigzag moulding,
and four members on the outside, the shafts having finely

carved capitals. West of this, and adjoining to the nave, are the

Cloisters (above), which, as at Sligo, are the gem of the building.

Pieces of beautiful trefoil-headed arcade at each corner were put
up about ihe middle of 19th century. For the Cross of Cong-,
see Royal Irish Academy, p. d.

Ashford. The grounds of this princely demesne extend to the

south of Cong, from the pier a mJle east of the village to about
the same distance west of it, lying entirely between the high road
and Lough Corrib and intersected north and south by the river.

The part east of the river, which was formerly a separate property,

called ,S7/Y/«d/<j7/, is connected with the opposite side by a hand-
some bridge, close to the mansion, but is not open to visitors.

The gardens, exterior of the mansion, and the jDheasantry and
deer park may be visited by order obtainable from the agent in

the village. To reach the entrance lodge go north out of the vil-

lage over an embankment, to the right of which the clear stream
bubbles up out of the limestone. On the left it forms the mill-

pond, and on the same side you pass the deserted mill. A little

further, 5 min. from the village, avoid a fork of the road to the

right and you come at once to the lodge, the keeper of which
conducts visitors as far as the House, a splendid baronial mansion
with a courtyard hardly yet finished, and approached through
grandly timbered grounds. One of the gardeners will then show
the Gardens, which extend to the shores of Lough Corrib. The
wooded shores and islands of the lake add to the luxuriant beauty
of the scene, which is in striking contrast with the untutored
wildness of the surrounding country. Many plants requiring a

sjDecially mild climate—the tobacco and castor-oil, for instance,

flourish. The hothouses, of no special note, are also shown.

Quitting the gardens we may j^roceed to the pheasantry— a

circular building in which a variety of kinds of the Phasian bird

may be seen strutting about in large wire cages. The breeding

pens are in an adjacent field. Hard by is a Tower, by ascending
which we get a fine view of the neighbourhood. Then we generally

return to the Abbey Gate, where the guide will be waiting, and
Cong.
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Other curiosities of Cong are the deep holes, at the bottom of

which the streams connecting Lough Mask and Lough Corrib
show themselves for a few yards—shafts in a long water tunnel.

The whole of the neck (cunga, whence Cong) between the two
lakes is a rough and permeable plateau of limestone. These shafts
have fanciful names. The ^'Ladies' Buttery,'''' *^ Horse Discovery, ^^

—from a story that the ground gave way while a team of horses
were ploughing above it

—" Webb's Hole,'' etc. Several of them
are in the private grounds of Ashford, but the one best worth
visiting is the Plgreon Hole, 20 minutes walk from the village.*

To reach it proceed to the right of the mill as on the way
to the Ashford Lodge, and at the fork beyond take the right

branch. A little further on, after clearing the wood, the rough
ground is dotted with small cairns raised by funeral parties—
" simple annals of the poor." The chief one bears the in-

scription

—

I H S
PEAY FOR Y S
OVLES OF JO
HN JOYCE &
jyiARY JOYCE
HIS WIFE WHO
DYED Y 6 OF
AGVST 1717

Beyond this a lane goes oif to the left between two cottages.

At the nearer one lives the woman who, provided with a bundle of

straw, shows the way to the hole. It lies a little to the left of the

lane in a planting some 300 yards from the cottage. A descent is

made by about 60 steps, at the bottom of which the stream is dis-

covered making its way through a channel of boulders. The guide

lights the straw and waves it about, but the effect is nothing very

wonderful.
It was in a bay near this end of Lough Mask, on the W. side

that the bailiffs Huddy were murdered (drowned) a few years ago.

Returning to the cottage, we may turn to the left—along the road
from Cong, and avoiding a lane to the right we ascend across a

field to a slight eminence [Blake Hill) marked by a built-up cairn,

from which there is a good view over Lough Corrib, south, and
Lough Mask, with the mountainous Joyces' country, crowned by
Maamtrasna (2,207 ft,), north. The sterile limestone plateau

stretches nearly all the way round, except where it is broken by a

green oasis and a farmstead or two.

All about this country there is a profusion of ferns that love

the limestone.

Congr to Maam, 15 m. ; and Iieenane, 23 7;^. The small

hotel at Maam, where a car may be had, is the only inn on the

road. The journey from Cong to Maam may also be made by
boat with two men for about 12s.

* A candle or two, or a flare-up of some sort will be useful.
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The road skirts the Ashford demesne (see p. 197), passing the

entrance Lodge, and with Benlevy (1,370 ft.) in front, and in 3^
miles makes a slight descent to the shore of Lough Corrib, passing

between it and Benlevy. To the right is Ebor Hall. Then we
ascend a small valley to a gap, whence a steeper hill winds down
to the narrow western arm of the lough, the only part of it dis-

playing mountain scenery. On an island close beneath us are the

fragments of Castle Kirke or the Hen's Castle, the story being that,

after having been built in a single night by a witch and her hen,

it was presented, together with the hen, to the O'Flaherty with
the assurance, that if he was at any time besieged, the hen would
lay eggs enough to enable him to hold out. In an evil moment
O'Flaherty killed the hen and of course paid the penalty. We
have now the Mamturk range, one of the finest in Connemara,
directly in front of us, while across the bay, on the left, is

Leckavrea. Soon after, the lake dwindles to a wide sluggish

stream, and we reach Maam, which consists in the main of a
humble hotel and a Post Office. The river (which is crossed just

opposite the hotel by the branch road to Maavi Cross (4^ ; p. 184)

traverses a wide, slightly cultivated valley in a deep sluggish stream.

Behind the hotel, Lugnabricka rises to a height of 1,628 ft. ; in

front we look across to the Mamturk range.

Beyond Maam the road to Leenane ascends very gradually the

wide valley, from the middle of which rises a minor hill called

Knocknagur (971 ft.). Behind it the bold outline and rocky corries

of the Mamturk range are very fine. Trees are rare, but at Kil-

minkin (3 m. from Maam) there is a fair sprinking. as well as a
school, a few cottages and a K. C. Chapel. A mile further at

Griggin's, a road strikes off to the right for the mountain-girdled
Lough Nafooey, p. 207.

The hills on both sides now become greener and less bold. The
gap in front is filled up by Bengorm (2,303 ft.), which rises from
the north shore of Killary Harbour. From the watershed, about
250 ft. above the sea, the steep descent upon Killary Harbour is

one of the finest "bits" in this delightful region. You oin the

main road ^ m. E. of Leenane Hotel {p. 192).
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DUBLIN TO WESTPORT AND ACHILL.
(By Midland Great Western Railway.)

I>i8tance»( : MuUingar, 50 m. ; Atlilonc, 78 in. ; Manulla Junction, 146 m.
Westport, 161 m.
The eiirly down trains anri most of the up trains connect with North Wall.

The Limited Mail in each direction connects with Kingstown.

For Tourist Tickets with rail and hotel combined, see M.G.W.R. Touinst
Programme.

Refresltment Rooms : Dublin, MuUingar, Athlone. Breakfast (2s.) at
Dublin from 7 to 9 a.m.

The routes to Ballina and Westport are identical as far as
Manulla Junction, 146 m.

On leaving Broadstone Terminus (plan B, 4) we see, right,

O'Connell's Monument at Glasnevin and, left, the Wellington
Testimonial, in Phoenix Park. The line on to Mullingar follows

closely the Royal Canal which connects the Upper Shannon with
Dublin. Passing Blanchardstou'n, 4^ m., the Dublin Observatory
is on Dunsirk Hill, right. At ClonsiUa, 7 m., is the junction for

Trim and Navan; see Ireland, Part I. Onward to Lucan,
9 m., we obtain pretty views, left, across the Liffey valley to the

Dublin Mountains.

K.ucan (Hydro' and Spa Hotel), about 1^ m. S., prettily situated on the Liffey,

is servetl from Dublin by tram from Parkgate (/). 13) to Leixlip (hclow). Its

fame as a si>a has revived, and it is a favourite resiilential neighbourhood.
Tliere is a public entrance througli the hotel grounds into Colonel Vesey's
demesne, and the ilelightful river-side walk to Leixlip {no cijcling).

Next, right, is seen the ruined tower of Confey Castle, and
we cross the Rye Water to Leixlip, 11 m.

T])e station is |m. N.Vv'. of I.eixlip (also steam-tram from Dublin, Park
Gate), and about a mile from the picturesque Salmon-leap on the Liffey,

whose waters there form a broken fall. Leixlip Castle, an Anglo-Xorman
foundation, is on the river bank. It has been converted into a private resi-

dence.

Pleasant "Walk. From Leixlip station Avalk to the Salmon-leap and
back, tlien inside the demesne (pedestrians allowed, not cyclists) along the Liffey

to (2 m.) Lucan.

C'ell»ri«lg:e, the home of Swift's " Vanessa " (Esther Yanhomrigh), is 3^ /«.

S.W. from Leixlip and 1^ ?n. N. from Hazlehatch (p. 55) on the G.S.&W.E.

XMFaynooth (15?;/,; Hotel: Lcimtcr Arvis, 3min. from Station)

is a town of about 900 inhab. Near the station are the ruins of

the castle of the Geraldincs of Kildare, which was founded in

1176, and much strei-gthcned in 1426. The Keep is the principal

part remaining, but there are sundry other towers and works.
The Collepe, seen on the right from the line, enclosed by a wall, is

for the education of candidates for the R. C. priesthood. It Avas

established in 1795, and from that date down to 1869 received a

much-debated parliamentary grant, which was then commuted.
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The present large and handsome buildings were erected in 1846 by
Pugin. The Parish Cliurch, close by, has an unusually massive
W. tower, which is supposed to have been erected partly with a

view to defence. At the east of the town is the main entrance to

Carton (Duke of Leinster), and the fine park is open to the public

on weekdays. The mansion, classical in style, was built in the

last century.

After passing Kilcock, 17 m., we enter on a flat district, which
beyond Moy Valley becomes bog with slight interruptions till we
approach Mullingar. There are stations at Ferns Lock (21),

Enfield (26^. Branch to Edenderry, 37^), Moyvalley (30|), Hill

of Down (3o|) and Killucan (41J).

MullJngar (50 m. ; Hotel: Greville Arms, 10 min. from Sta.

in the main street), an important military centre and market town
of 5,300 inhabitants. In itself it is uninteresting, but it is a good
headquarters for the angler who would fish the famous "Went-
meatli lakes.

Of tliese tlie chief are Belvedere Lake (or Lough Ennel), 2^ m. S.W. ; Louffh
Owel 3 in. N.W, ; and Loitgh Derravaragh, the nearest point for which, Taghmon
Bridge, is 7 m. N. The nearest inn to this lake (3 /«.) is, at Castlepollard,
13 m. N. bj- road. The green-drake (natural fiy), whicli appears first on Belvedere
towards the end of May, is used witli a blow-line of silk, and the fish are both
large and singularly handsome. They run largest in Lough Owel, 10 to 12 lbs.

eacli being not very uncommon. From April to October trout, pike, and perch
are taken in large numbers by spinning.

From Mullingar the Sligo line {Ireland, Part I.) diverges to the

North whilst ours bends South-West. Lough Belvedere is well

seen on the left. The stations passed are Castletoivn, 58 m.,

Streamstoicn, G2 ?». (branch left, to Clara, 7 m.) and Moate, 68^ m.
Then past Moydrum Castle (Lord Castlemaine), right, we soon
get a tine view, as we cross the Shannon, of the Bridge and
Castle of Athlone, 78 m. For continuation of rail to Ballina
and Westjwrt, see p. 205 ; to Galway, p. 173.

:^tMonr,

Railway ^tationN : M.G.}y.R. across the Bridge, \V. of tlic Shannon
G'.-S'. d- W.N. (for Porta rlington,/). .56) at the "W. end of the town but E. of the
Sliannon. The stations are nearly ^ m. apai-t.

Hotels: Prince of Wales; Ramsay's Victorui, cXq^lw.

Post : English mails, del. 8 and 11.40 a.m. ; desp. 3.30 and 10.20 p.m.

RoatM : at the strand near tlie bri<lgc ; l.«. an hour, 2.<. dd. a day ; to
Ch>nmaciioiso ami back, iiichnling man, lo.>-. ; nj) Lough Ilee, visiting islands, to
Knockcroghery, including man, 5a-.

iSliannon HteainerH, see Pink Sheet.

Atblone [pop. 6,742) on the Shannon, about 2 miles from the
foot of Lough Ree, is an important trade and military centre but
has little to show the traveller. From the M.G.W.R. station we



m ATHLONE.

proceed past the Castle (the original castle is attributed to Prince
John ; the only old part is the keep), whose massive towers are
comparatively modern. It is now used as a barrack. It overlooks
the Shannon, here crossed by a handsome bridge, opened in 1844,
from which there is a good view of the iron railway bridge, with
two river-spans of 175 feet.

The old bridge was in June 1691 the scene of as stubborn a fight as is to be
found in history. Ginckell, WiUiam's general, hail already made himself master
of the town on the E. bank, and tlie Irish on the W. bank, awaiting the arrival
of St. Ruth, were but few. They determined to hold the bridge wliich was
narroAV and also cumbered by mills, so that the numerical superiority of the
English was of little avail. Step by step the handful of Irish under Colonel
Fitzgerald were forced to give ground, but at length the bridge was broken
down behind tliem, and the few who were left plunged into the river and swam
to the W. bank.

The Castle having been bombarded for more than a week and the bridge
repaired, it was determined to carry the works by assault, but again the
bridge was destroyed by the Irisli, and their foes had to pass the river by a ford

a short distance lower down. Tins time tlie resistance was feeble, as St. Ruth
had drawn off his forces. For the battle of Aghrim, see^. 173.

Of excursions from Athlone three only call for description : to

the Seven Churches of Clonmacnois
',

to "^wftjovi"; and up
Lough Bee. Of these, the second does not readily combine with
any through route, but Clonmacnois may be taken on the way to

Galway, rejoining the rail at Ballinasloe, and Lough Eee will be

fairly seen if a boat be hired to Knockcroghery (^. 206) on the line

to Ballina and Westport.

1. To tbe Seven Churches of Clonmacnois, about 12| m.

(10 Irish), from the hotels. Car (2 passengers) there and back,

including driver, \2s. M. ; Athlone via Clonmacnois and Shannon
Bridge (16^ ?»., 14 Irish) to Ballinasloe (26 ???., 21 Irish) including

driver, 18.5. For boat-ami-man to Clonmacnois (abt. 8 m.) and
back, see p. 201. The ruins are well seen from the steamer,

p. 226. ,

In fine weather, the row or sail down the Shannon is to be

preferred, unless the traveller is going by road on to Ballinasloe,

in which case he would have to walk the 4 miles to Shannon-
bridge, because no cars are to be had at Clonmacnois.

By river. Starting from the Strand, in about 4 miles we reach

Long Island, with a cairn at the far end. The islet of Inchinalee

is about 2 miles further down. There is nothing on either bank
to call for notice, and the low land on each side is often under
water so that the channel is marked by posts.

By road. Take the right-hand street at the fork just beyond
Haire's Hotel. On quitting the town the road is well wooded,

particularly at Glemcood House, 2 m. further, where it forks and we
go to the right. Crossing a hilly country a glimpse of the Shannon
is obtained, right, and then skirting the demesne of Ballynahoicn

Court we bend round it, right, through the village (6J m.) of that

name. Onward the road is nearly straight, but crosses such a





IL. Sluuinon

SEVEN CHURCHES OF CLONMACNOISE.

A.—O'Rourke's Round Tower.
B.—The Great Cross.

C.—Cathedral (Teampull McDermot).
D.—Sacristy, with octagonal belfry.

E.—Teampull-harpan,
F.—Cross.
G.—O'Melaghlin's Chapel.

H.—Teampull Kieran.

I.—Cross (shaft only).

K.—Teampull O'Kelly.

L.— „ Conor (Parish Church).

M.— „ Fineen and Round Tower.

N.B.—The E. gate leads past the "Carn of the Three Crosses" to

"Relick Calliagh."

The Stile leads to cottages said to be on the site of the residences

of the Dean and Chapter.

The S.W. gate leads to the "Castle" or "Palace" and St.

Kieran's Well.

QapyripA. Jclin.Bartlioilaniaw& Co.,Edm?



CLONMACNOIS. 203

number of little gravel-ridges that it is not what a cyclist would
appreciate. The country traversed is also desolate, and the several

hamlets passed wretched to match. When two towers are close

at hand oh the hill in front, just beyond a hamlet, a lane, on the

right, leads to the few cottages constituting the hamlet of Clon-

macnois, and the car will go that way and wait, but we recommend
the traveller to leave it and Avalk the few yards over the hill so as

to enter the graveyard of the churches from the west.

Cloniuacnois ("the meadow of the sons of Nos") has been holy ground
ever since St. Kieran (or Kyran) founded his abbey here in 548. The place
soon became famous and was so richly endowed *' tliat almost half of Ireland
was said to be within the bounds of Clonmacnois ; and what was a strong in-

ducement and contributed much towards enricliing this house, it was believed,
that all persons who were interred in the Holy Ground belonging to it, had
insured to themselves a sure and immediate ascent to Heaven ... it was the
lona of Ireland

;
yet notwithstanding the reputed sanctity of this monastery...

the abbey and town were frequently plundered, burnt and destroyed 'by
despoilers' of every kind, from the unpohshed Irish desperado, to the empurpled
king." ArchdaU.

On the bank of the Shannon, about a furlong below the grave-

yard are the massive fragments of the "Bishop's Palace" or

rather Castle, founded in 1214 by the Anglo-Normans, who three
years before had pillaged the Abbey.

About 300 yds. S.W. of the Castle, about 20 yds. from the road,

in a field between the road and the river, is St. Kieran's Well.

Proceeding now to the graveyard, the accompanying sketch-plan
indicates the existing ruins. O'Bourke's Round Tower (A), now
62 feet high, has the top of the doorway 11 ft. from the ground.
It is 18 ft. in diameter externally, and 10 ft. inside—a safe refuge

;

see Introduction, p. xiv.

The Great Cross (B) which for many centuries has been
known as "the cross of the Scriptures," bears remains of Irish

inscriptions : on the W. "A prayer for Flann, son of Maelsechlinn "
;

on the E. "A prayer for Colman, who made this cross on the
king Flann. " It is 15 feet high, and covered with sculpture
now scarcely decipherable. Flann {d. 915) was king of Meath

;

Colman (d. 924) was abbot of Clonmacnois, and by them the so-

called Cathedral (C) was founded, though the existing build-

ing, also called Teampull McDermot, from its rebuilders, is

of the 14th cent. Petrie was inclined to assign the capitals

of the great W. doorway to the original church, built in 904.
On the N. side, towards the W. is a fine Perpend, doorway,
with sculptures above it representing St. Patrick between St.

Francis (head gone) and St. Dominick. The doorway was wilfully

mutilated in 1864. In 1865 the ruins were partially repaired by
the Kilkenny Archaeological Society. On the S. side is the
Sacristy (D), with a small octagonal belfry. The Cross (I) has
lost its head but is richly sculptured. Teampull O^Kelly (K)
is now represented by ruined foundations about 2 ft. high.
The Cross (F) is a fine example, though not so large as (B).
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Of TeampnU-hurpan (E) no details of interest are left, -but the
O'Melaghlbi Chapel (G), also known as Teampull Bee {12th cent.)

has a lancet light at the E, end of the S. wall and two round-
headed lights at the E. end. Teampull Kieraii (H) is very small
and featureless, and was probably only an oratory. Of Teampull
Conor (L), founded in the 10th cent., there is an original round-
headed doorway. This building still serves as the Protestant
Church. Teampull Fineen (M) is said to have been built by Fineen
M'Carthy in the 13th cent. It has an interesting chancel arch and
the remains of a piscina. At the S.E. angle of the nave, and
attached to it is M'Carthifs Round Tower, 55 tt., with the door
level with the ground. This points to its use merely as a belfry,

and it is obvious that O'Eourke's great tower would suffice as a
place of shelter.

The cottages in the lane over the stile (see plan) are supposed
to occupy the site of the residences of the Dean and Chapter.

The E. gate (see plan) leads, by the Pilgrims' Way, past the
" Cam of the Three Crosses," where a hollow stone (about 180 yds.

from the grave-yard) may have been the base of a cross, to Relick

CalUagh (about 300 yds. further), which was the chapel of a
Nunnery founded or rebuilt by Devorgilla, daughter of O'Melaglin

(see G) king of Meath, in 1168. It is an interesting ruin, and has
a beautiful chancel arch. The rest of the Nunnery has dis-

appeared.

In 1886 St. Kieran's Day (Sept. 9) was, for the first time for

many years, celebrated by a great gathering of Koman Catholics.

The graveyard is as full as it can hold with tombstones, amid
which, however, we failed to discover memorials of 9th and 10th

century abbots, which are said to exist.

Clonmacnois to Hliannonbridgre, 4^ m., Ballinasloe. 13^ m.
The road follows the left' bank of the Shannon at a short distance from the
river all the way to Sliannonbridge (Pub. Ho.), a village of no interest

to the tourist. The road crosses the Sliannon by a long bridge and is thence as

straight as may be, and as dull, all the way to Ballinasloe {p. 173).

2. To Auburn, 8 m. This is a pleasant drive, but its interest

arises from the popular identification of the hamlet of Lissoy

with the " Sweet Auburn" of Goldsmith's Deserted Village.

About 3 miles from Athlone we reach Ballykeeran village, and
then for more than a mile skirt Lough Killinure, an offset of

Lough Eee. Then, turning eastward, our road turns to the left at

the cross-roads at Glasson, 5 m., and is then direct, 3 miles more,
to Auburn {Inn). The traveller, "Goldsmith" in hand, will

have no lack of cicerones to point out the several local allusions,

but he will not fail to agree with Macaulay that the poet

"had assuredly never seen in his native island such a rural

paradise, such a seat of plenty, content, and tranquility as his
*Auburn.' "
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Oliver GoWsmith was born (Nov. 29, 1728) at Pallas, near Abbeyshrule. We
have not visited the spot, but Macaulay says of it *• Even at this day those en-

tliusiasts who venture to make a pilgrimage to [it] are forced to perform the

latter part of their journey on foot. The hamlet lies far from any high road,

on a dreary plain, wliich in wet weather is often a lake. Tiie lanes would break

any jaunting car to pieces." While the poet was still a child his father, "the
village i)reacher," " passing rich with forty pounds a year," removed to Lissoy.

The type of "Sweet Auburn" has with more reason been assigned to some
Kentish village. The other side of the picture, whether true of Auburn or not,

might be identified with too many places in Ireland.

3. Xiougrli Ree. For boats see p. 201 ; for steamer Pink Sheet.

The scenery of this great " broad," as it would be termed in

Norfolk, is exceedingly pretty when set off by bright weather. At
other times, the shores being nowhere more than a few feet above
the water, the non-angling tourist need not devote much time to it.

A good plan for those going west to Ballina or Westport is, to

make an early start and visit some of the principal islands and
Rindown Castle, catching the train about 12.45 p.m. at Knock-
croghery {pron. Knock-cro-ree) station, which is a short mile from
the landing place.

The south or main portion of the lough is about 6 miles long
by 4 broad. North of that it sends out a great arm eastward,

to the mouth of the Inny, while the north arm is from 10 to 11

miles long to the inflow of the Shannon. The bed of the lake is lime-

stone, and the shore is everywhere exceedingly indented and in parts

beautifully wooded. Except to visit the islands the most pic-

turesque route is to keep fairly near the shore. At the S.E.
corner the lough is connected with Lough Killinure {p. 204), which
forms indeed a land-locked bay of it.

Starting from the Strand it is about 2 miles up the Shannon to

the lough, and then another 2 miles N.E. to the charmingly
wooded Hare Island, on which Lord Castlemaine has a resi-

dence. Thence a course nearly due N. brings us in 2 to 3 miles
to Inchmore, which as its name implies is the largest island,

though of inconsiderable, size. This forms the beginning of an
archipelago in the middle of the lough, and leaving it to our
right we stretch across N.W., 4 miles, for Safe Harbour on the
Roscommon shore. This bay is formed by the narrow cape on
which are the picturesque ruins of Rindown Castle, dating from
the 11th cent. The principal part left is the keep and a long
bit of wall with remains of towers. Proceeding up the lough
which here contracts to something over a mile in width, the west
shore is charmingly wooded. Approaching Inchcleraun our course
is westward up the bay to Knockcroghery {p. 206).

Rail continued from p. 201. On leaving Athlone we get a view
of it in the right rear, and then in a minute or two have charming
peeps, right, over Lough Ree, including Hare Island and another
islet to the left of it, and then after crossing a bit of bog, see, right,
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the ruin of a small tower on a hillock at the head of a featureless

bay of the lough. Just before reaching Kiltoom, 84 m., there is a
good view again, including the wooded Inchmore. Beyond Kil-

toom the limestone shows on the surface, and we run through a
stony country to Knockcroghery, 90 m. The church is seen on the
left. The village {Puh. Ho.) is engaged in the manufacture of

tobacco pipes which are made from clay imported from Cornwall.

Onward to BaUymurry, 93 m., there is nothing to observe unless
it be a heron or two and the Royston crows, light breast and back,

which seem to be common hereabouts. The hill on the right,

some distance away, is Slieve Baun (857 ft.). On the left, we
pass the well-wooded Mote Park (Lord Crofton) and then reach
Roscommon, 96 m.

RoHcommon (Rotial Hotel ; MitchelVst ; botli small) is the chief town (pop.
1.994) in tlie county, but except for the antiquary offers nothing of interest.
The Cd.^tle (10 min. from station), fairly seen from the railway, was founded in
1269 by Robert de UflEord, Jsisticiary of Ireland. It consists of a great quad-
rangle, with a round tower at each angle and a gate-house. The residential
buildings in the inner court remain but are of no particular interest.

The Abbey, originally founded by St. Coeman, in tlie 6th cent., afterwards
belonged to Canons Regular (Augustines). The considerable ruins of the
abbey church appear to date chiefly from 12—1.3th cent. In the chancel is an
eflSgy said to be Felin O'Connor, King of Connaught, who founded a Dominican
Priory at Roscommon, in 1257, and djing in 1265 was bi^ried in the abbey.

The remains of Derrane Abheij, 2 m. N.E., are insignificant.

The fine woods of Donamon Castle are on the left, as we near
Bonamon, 102 m. Besides the station, Ballymoe, 107^ m,, there is

nothing to remark on the way to Castlerea (113 ?».). [Loughglinn
Ho. (abt. 6 m. N.W.) is now a Franciscan nunnery.] Then the

line enters on a boggy district, at first reclaimed and then in

its original dreariness. At Ballinlough, 119 ?»., Lough O'Flyn,
with an islet but otherwise featureless, is on the right. Nephin
(2,646/^.), round topped, now comes into view on the right, and
the infant river Suck is crossed. Ballyhaunis (124 m. Railway)
is rather an oasis after much dreariness. The land hereabouts
was part of Lord Dillon's very poor property. There is nothing
to record on the way to Claremorris, 135 w., the junction for

Ballinrobe. Claremorris (Imperial, small with shop attached
;

Ref. Rms. at station) is of no interest for the tourist. Rail on
to'Westport, p. 208.

The branch to Ballinrobe, 12 m., has an intermediate station, HoUymount, a
long mile E. from the neat village and well-timbered Park of that name.

Ballinrobe {Valkenburgli's Hotel, very fair) is a neat and rather

sombre town of 1,800 inhab., on the Robe which flows into Lough
Mask, about 4 m. W. To the W. of the main street there is a

pleasant riverside walk. As the recognised headquarters of Mask
anglers, Ballinrobe is well known, but the tourist has scarcely

found it out. The fine ruins of Ballintober Abbey (10 m. ; j?. 208)
should be seen. The route " Ballinrobe to Leenane," p. 207, may
fairly compete with that from Westport*
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Ballinrobe to Cong (8) by road is over a flat plain with the Partry

Moimtaiiis visible to the right, across Lough Mask. The highest of them (2,207 ft.)

is Maumtrasna, a name ouly too familiar in the records of agrarian crime.

To the right, further awiy, rises the graceful cone of Croagh Patrick. Capt.

Boycott's "house (whence "Boycotting") is near at hand on the right, but not

seen. At the hamlet of Neele (4 in. from Ballinrobe), there is a pyramidal
monument on the left of tlie road, and a little further we come broadside on to

tlij wall that encloses the extensive demesne of Lord Ardilaun (Guinness).

The road to the left and then right again round the wall leads to the pier ; that

to the right takes us direct into Cong. Just before entering the village we see on
tlie right the Titanic ruins of the canal by which an abortive attempt was
made to effect a navigable channel between Lough Corrib and Lough Mask
(see p. 196).

For Cong see^. 196.

Ballinrobe to Clonbur, 9 ; and Xieenane, 28 m.

Clo)ibiir to Maam Bridge, 14 ; and Maam Cross, 18^ m. About IJ »i S. from
Clonbur this road joins the road from Cong to Maam, which is described />. 198.

Leaving Ballinrobe as for Cong, the Clonbur road diverges to

the right, as you leave the town, in the direction of Lough Mask,
across which the view extends to the Partry Mountains. After
passing the ruin of Mask Castle on the shore of the lough, you
cross the course of the maladroit Canal (p. 196) and 2 m. onward
join the road from Cong to Clonbur, where you go to the right and
pass from Co. Mayo into Co. Galway.

Clonbur (Mowit Gable Hotel, very fair), 4 ?;i. W. from Cong
(p. 196), is as we have said an angler's rendezvous, being close to

Lough Mask, on which to the W. of the village are Eosshill (Earl
of Leitrim), Benlevy Lodge and Petersburgh House. Eosshill
takes its name from the ruins of the Franciscan monastery, Ross
Abbey, on the lake shore.

The road from Clonbur to Leenane (19 m.) is at first only
separated from Lough Mask by the properties just named. About
3 m. from Clonbur it is carried by a bridge—fine view— over the
narrow channel which forms the entrance to the western arm of

the lough. Then it runs parallel with this arm and the river

Finney to the hamlet of Finney, 6, and still following the river

reaches the foot of Iiougrb Wafooey, 7^.

Here a road, very steep to begin with, diverges to the right through the hills

down to the head of the Derrypark inlet of Lough Mask. It is a beautiful drive
along Lough Mask by Tourmakeady to Partry and Ballinrobe—the tour of Mask
thus being about 40 miles.

The road to Leenane runs the full length of Lough Nafooey,
and passing round its head discloses a fine view of the picturesque
gorge down which the Fooey tumbles into the lough. It then
rises by a great loop to a considerable altitude, and then descends
to Griggins (map) and joins the road (p. 199) from Maam to
Leenane, 5 m. short of the latter.

Ireland II,
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From Claremorns, across the Plains of Mayo, past Balla (142 m.

;

Commercial) is utterly dull, but the country becomes a little

wooded approaching Manulla Junction, 146 wi., and Croagh
Patrick shows its cone, left.

Just beyond the junction we cross the Manulla River, and then
have nothing to note until we reach Castlebar, 150 m., of which
the Lunatic Asylum as well as the town are seen on the right

from the line.

Castlebar (Hotel: Imperial) is the capital of Co. Mayo,au(l rather a well-to-

do town of 3,500 inhabitants, on a small river connecting Castlebar Lough just W.
of it with Lough Culliu. The Mall is a pleasant spot and a fine avenue leads to
the entrance of The Lawn (Karl of Lucan). There is no fishing of much moment
near at hand except for pike and perch (Lough Saleen, close to the station),

and the only importance of the place for the tourist is that it offers tolerable
accommodation within reach of Ballintober Abbey, about 9 miles to the south.
This might be taken on the way to Ballinrobe (18 m.) and Cong (25 m.) by
making a short detour. If the Alibey be taken on the way to Westport, then a
drive of about 20 jn. might include the curious Ai/e Cavern—the sul)terranean
course of the Aile—Aghaffoicer Round Tower &i\i\ ancient chapel. The cavern
can only be examined when the stream is low, and a flare-up is required. Get
a guide in the village.

BaIlinto1>er Al>bey, founded in 1216 by Cathol, king of Connaught, for

Canons Regular, is a beautiful and extensive ruin. To reach it take the
Ballinrobe road, which crosses the railway close to the station. Avoid diverging
roads until through Balljhean (5 ;«.). About 2\ m. beyond that take the road
on the left, and in something over a mile you will reach the abbey. The ruins
consist of the great cruciform church, which has a Pointed nave and a Tran-
sitional Norman choir. The central tower has fallen but its noble arches
eniain. Observe the groined roof of the choir and the beautiful mouldings of

the blocked-up E. windows. On the S. of the choir is a chapel with an inter-

esting altar-tomb and a fine doorway. On the S. of the nave are the domestic
buildings.

Returning to the main-road, we there turn to the left if bound for Ballinrobe
or Cong. The road passes between Lough Cloon, right, and Lough Carra, left,

and then through Partry and along the peninsula dividing Lough Carra from
Lough Mask, crossing the connecting river at Keel Bridge, 15 7n. from Castle-

bar and 3 from Ballinrobe (j}. 206), on the way to which we get a fine view
across Lough Mask, with its many islets, to the Partry range.

Castlebar to the Pontoon, 12 m. and Foxforrt Station, 14 m.
or Lough Conn Hotel, 18 7n. Leave the town on the north i)ast the workhouse,
left, and a short distance beyond that, take the right-hand rotwl and keep to it.

About 9 miles from the town you strike Lough Cullin, anil have only to foUow
the road round its head, where you cross the Pontoon. Keep that lough
on your right all the way to Foxford Station. The road for Lough Conn Hotel
(Crossmolina, /). 217 & 220) is for some miles along the W. side of Lough Conn.

The line crosses a bog with a distant view, right, of the Nephin
Beg range, and presently Croagh Patrick appears on the left-front.

The valley on the right is well wooded as we approach VTestport,
161 w.
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Railway Citation is S.E. of the towu, entering which you go under tJic

Achill line and for the hotel keep straiglit on.

Hotel : Rniliray,'a large liouse pleasantly situated in the Mall, a full half-

mile from the station. West, quite small, also in tlie Mall.

Post. Office : English Mails Bel. 8 a.m., 2.20 p.m. Besp. 12.10, 9.10 p.m.
Telegrapli Office, open 8 to 8 ; Sundays, 9 to 10 a.m.

Coacli f^ervlce, to Leenane and Clifdcn see Tiiik Sheet.

I>lstance«( : (road) Murrisk Abbey (for Croagh Patrick), 6 m. ; Ballintobar
Abbey, 9 m. ; Balliurobe, 18 m.

For other distances, see routesfrom Westport,pp, 211-2.

Westport (pop. abt. 4,000) like Ballina does not show to advantage
(except for the peep of the wooded valley already noticed) on
arriving by rail. The business portion is unattractive. The
pleasantest part is the Mall, planted with trees on either side of

a small stream, and it is here the hotel is, which is the almost
necessary resting-place at this end of the " Connemara Tour."

Adjoining the town, and entered by gates from the end of the

Mall, is the Demesne of the Marquess of Sligo. Close to the
entrance is the modern Protestant church with a graceful spire.

The road runs through the Park to Westport Quay, and passes

close to the mansion, left, an uninteresting square block at the
head of a small lake. The grounds are silvan but not specially

beautiful. When nearly clear of the trees, take the road on the
left, which leads across the foot of the lake to "Westport Quay
(small "hotel;" 2m. from the Mall), as remarkable an instance
of blighted enterprise as is to be found even in Ireland.

Huge tenantless warehouses and scarcely used quays line the
shore, " dismal mausoleums as vast as pyramids—places where
the dead trade of Westport lies buried—a trade that, in its life-

time, probably was about as big as a mouse." [If returning on
foot, take a path on the right that begins at a gate on right, on the

Quay side of the lake. It passes the mansion and the ruin of the
old Protestant church. After crossing the bridge you can follow

up the bank of the stream and so rejoin the road.]

Further on, the road skirts the head of several little inlets from
Clew Bay. There are a good many little villas, &c., and the place
attracts a certain number of summer visitors. An extension of

the railway runs to the Quay, but is chiefly used for merchandise.
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Ascent of Croagrb Patrick (2,510 ft.) abt. 2 hrs., from
Murrisk Abbey, which is Qm. from Westport along the road
through Westport Quay, just described. Just beyond Murrisk
Nat. School is a Pub. Ho., and the track up Croagh Patrick (the

Beek) begins on its far side. That to the Abbey is opposite it.

Murrisk Al>bey was an Austin Friary founded by the O'Malleys, early
in the 14tli century. Its princii)al feature is a good, 5-light, Decorated, East-
window. It is still used for burials.

You attack the ridge at once ; cross it at the E. foot of the
cone, and on the far side take a winding path up to the
summit. The view is both wide and beautiful. Immediately
below is the islet-dotted head of Clew Bay, with Westport among
the trees. Nephin is clearly seen to the N.E., and to the N.W.
is Achill with Slievemore, and, left of that, Croaghaun. At the
mouth of Clew Bay is Clare Island. To the S. E. are Mweelrea
(2,685 /^) andBenbury (2,610 /«.), and, to the left, many summits
almost as high.

The S. face of the cone is precipitous, and it was there St.

Patrick rung his bell and flung it from him, only to have it re-

turned to him by invisible hands, whilst at each sound of it the
toads and adders fled from the Island of the Saints. The legend
variously related is not older than the 12th cent, and Solinus in

the 3rd cent. a.d. records the absence of sueh reptiles in Ireland.

St. Patrick's bed in the rock, where he slept, is still pointed out,

and his day (Mch. 17) is still, we believe, observed as a " pattern "

on the summit, though the devotees are not as numerous as once
they were.

Westport to Leenane (direct), 18 ; Kylemore, 28 ; Letter-

frack, 30; and Clifden, B9 m. by road. Thence rail to

Galway, 49 m.

For Public Cars see p. 188. This route beyond Leenane is

given in detail the reverse way j^P- 183-93. Here it will suffice

to indicate the chief features in the course of the drive to Clifden.

The first 7 or 8 miles are dull, the one object of note being the

shapely cone of Croagh Patrick (2,510 ft.), on the right. Then,
as we descend by the Errilf , the mountain view ahead becomes
interesting and is very fine just as we drop to Erriff Bridgre

(10) and its little grove. The great escarped, bowl-like corries,

left, in the flank of Maumtrasna are striking as we descend
the lonely glen, and Devilsmother (2,131 ft.) is the fine peak on
the same side, as we near Aasleagh, right. From the next brow
the islet-dotted mouth of the Erriff is pretty, and then we look

down Killary Harbour, which from this point is blocked by the

mass of Mweelrea. At Leenane village, the Maam road diverges

to the left, and we shortly afterwards pull up at the Iieenane
Hotel (luncheon),^. 192.

The dozen miles from Leenane to Letterfrack are beyond ques-

tion the finest part of the drive. Skirting the waterside for a while
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and then steadily climbing past Derryclough P.O. (licensed),

we have the great fiord fully revealed. On the opposite shore the
hills, steeply rising from the water's edge, are pierced by the
narrow combe up which, out of sight, is Delphi (p. 192). But
the dominant feature is the grand half-dome of Mweelrea
(2,688 ft.), the monarch of the N.W. In the middle of the
day the great corrie between him and Cullin (2,616 ft.), with Ben
Bury (2,610 ft.) at its head, is lit up. It is when the sun is

sinking towards the west that deep shadow brings out the true
proportions of the group. The great Killary is, strictly speaking,
neither beautiful nor grand. Its steep flanks are too bare to

justify the former epithet, and the absence of mural precipice, in

our opinion,, makes the latter inappropriate. Mr. Joyce tells us
that its full name in Irish means "the reddish, narrow sea-inlet,"

and that is precisely true. The colouring, the grassy, bracken-
clad, and rocky steeps of the mountains about Leenane will

remind the traveller of the fells of English Lakeland, and that is

praise enough.
The foot-track to Salruck, I'ight, is then passed on the way up,

and from the top of the ascent the centre piece of the forward view
is the group of the Twelve Pins. On the right, the Lough Fee road
to Salruck diverges, and that lough is seen, but to small advantage.
Approaching Kylemore Lough, the Recess road {p. 185) goes off on
the left, and, looking back, the end of the Mamturk range presents
itself as a huge rocky wedge.
Lough Kylemore is wooded along the N. shore, which the

road follows. Across it is Kylemore House, a shooting-box
belonging to Lord Ardilaun. The second of the Kylemore loughs,
named Pollacappul, is small. An elegant little church and then
the handsome Kylemore Castle {p. 191) are passed on the right,

and we enter the Pass of Kylemore, a noble ravine, beautiful
on the right with a clinging wood and rich-toned crags, and
guarded on the left by bold, bare, glossy mountains—Diamond
Mountain (1,460 /^) being at the western portal. From Letter-
frack onwards the views are still picturesque, but less striking
than those left behind. After passing the hamlet of Moyard,
3 m. beyond Letterfrack, the backward view of Bally nakill
Harbour is charming. On the N. horizon we see the mountains
of Achill Island. Then there is not much to remark, as passing
the head of Streamstown Bay we soon arrive in Clifden, p. 188.

^ 1%'estport to I>liii X^ongrli, 18 ?«. ; BniKlorrlia, 21^ m. ; I,eenaue,
28 w.—A fair road to Slieeffry Br., 12, tlieu rougli and steep to Dhu Lougli.

The coach road to Leenane (p. 210) is followed for the first 5^ miles, at wliich
distance, a little short of Loug'ii Mohor, we turn up a narrower and rougher
road to the right. The mountains at the liead of Killary Harbour become
conspicnous during the ascent— chief amongst them iJerilxmother, to the
left of wliich a flat-topped range just liides the higher diWding line between
Mayo and Galway. Tlien our road leads to the little hamlet of Drumnn, where
amid trees is a R.C. chapel. Behind it rise the Sheeffry Hills, passing between
which and a low-lying pastoral moorland on the left, we reach (12 m.) Sheeffru
Bridge, a charming spot where the stream, fringed with shrubs, issues from a
deep conjbe on the right- On either sicle is a herdsman's cottage. JBej-ojic] this
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our road, turning abruptly to the left, steeplj' slants up the side of an opposing
ridge, forming a kind of terrace. Half-way up we see traces of a silver-lead

mine that was once worked here. From tlie col Cabout 700./?.) there is a good
view northward to Nephiu, and southward, of the fine deep valley' that runs
east and west from tlie Westport and Leenaue road to Delphi and Deo
Lough. Just beneatli us is Lough Tawnyard, a favourite with anglers, and
diversified by a well wooded island.

Hence, our road turns westward and drops abruptly to the bottom of the
valley, joining at the foot another track, by wliich cars might proceed into the
main Leenane road. As we proceed, the valley narrows and the hills become
steeper on both sides. A ridge on the left may remind the Westmorland tourist

of tlie famous Striding Edge of Helvellyn, while the approach to Dhu Lough
is much like that to tlie Cumberland lake of Buttermero. A huge gable-
emled stone on the hill-side to the left might appropriately be cliristcned

the Kirkstone. The towering peak^, right and left are respectively 2,474 and
2,283 feet. In front is Benlugmore, 2,G18 feet.

The valley, though apparently feil by one stream, has a low waterslied a little

west of Lough Tawnyard, whose waters flow east into the ErrifT, while another
stream falls west into Dim Lough.

We now debouch on to the open space between Dhu Lough and Delphi, and
turn left for Leenaue.

Westport to Achill Island, hy mil to Achill Sound, 26^ w.;

thence road, S^m., to Dugort. Cars meet trains, 2^. 217.

The opening of the railway (May 13, 1895) has brought the very

striking scenery of Achill within 7 hrs. of Dublin, and the traveller

can now dine one night in London and the next at Dugort.

The line, part of the Midland Great Western, and on the same
gauge, takes pretty much the same course as the road, except that

between Newport and Mallaranny it keeps to the N. of it.

Leaving Westport we look down the main thoroughfare from a

viaduct, and then on the way to Newport, Croagh Patrick now and
again shows, left, its grand cone and spreading shoulders. The
steep rock on the W. horizon is Clare Island. There is a pretty

view in both directions as we emerge from a tunnel and arrive at

Ifewport (8 ;
pop. 598 ; DererelVs Hotel, fair) a little port that

will only detain the fisherman who has leave for Lough Beltra

(6w. N.E.), which, from July to September, affords rare sport with

white trout.

Beyond Newport, the pyramid of Nevin, by Lough Conn, may
be seen on the right, on which side also is Louqh Furnace. Close

to the line are the tower of Garrighooley Castle and the ruins of

Burrishoole Abbey, a Dominican friary, of the 15th cent. The
latter was founded by the Burkes, one of whom, Sir Richard Burke
(" Richard-in-iron "), was the second husband of Grace O'Malley,

the sea-queen of the West, temj). Elizabeth. The marriage was
" for a year, certain," and the story goes that she used the time to

get possession of the family strongholds, one of which was
Garrighooley. There is a lovely view of Clew Bay as the train

slackens for Mallaranny, 18^ m. Rail cont, p. 216,
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Hotel : Railirau (excellent ; it belongs to the M.G.W.R.) is beautfully
situated in extensive and picturesque grounds which are entered from the statiou-

platform.

Post ancl Telegraph in village. Post Town : Westport.

Bathing fair, but rather inaccessible.

Fieliing:. The hotel reserves for its guests the little River Oivengarve, which
is reached in 4 miles b.v the Newport road. It yields salmon, sea-trout, and trout.

The lakelets in the heart of tlie Curraun Peninsula also yield trout. These lie

between two and three miles W. of the Achill Sound road, and can be reached
direct by a mountain walk. There is no boat on any of them.

Mallaranny (or Mulrany—so Post Office) is a hamlet straggling

along the Achill road. The hotel has made its reputation. The
situation is delightful—on a narrow isthmus of broken ground
between Clew Bay and Bellacragher Bay, an arm of Achill

Sound.
From the Hotel grounds a conspicuous little peak is seen a short

distance North, on the far side of the railway. It is only 675 feet

in height, but is a capital view-point easily reached. Cross the

line a little E. of the station and by a gate you get access to the

ridge, by which you gradually ascend. This climb can be extended
on to Claggan Mountain (1,256 feet) and thence the descent made
to the road.

At Mallaranny, Mediterranean Heatli grows to its full size. This Erica is in

tlie British Isles confined to Cos. Majo and Galway. It })looms in April and May,
that is nearly three montlis in advance of the heather,

1. A 3>ay-trip to Achill. The August train-service allows 7
hours ill Achill, and this is sufficient for a sight of some of the best

and most characteristic scenery of the Island. Cyclists who start,

say, at 9 a.m. and return for 7 p.m. dinner will be able to take

matters more leisurely. The trip we here outline from Achill

Sound Station and back to it is best made by car (for two passengers
about 15.s\) Drive by Chapel Cross to Dookinelly. Walk to the
Cathedral Rocks (no lack of child-guidance) and back, but do not

loiter. The rocks can only be properly seen at low-tide. Rejoin
car and drive along Keel Strand to Keel and on to Dooagh.
and up the cliff-road, until you command Keem Bay. You will

not have time to descend to it. For description of this route see

excursion 2, p. 219. Drive back direct via Chapel Cross to the

Sound Station.

2. Around tlie Curraun Peninsula.

Mallaranny (Hotel) to croA.'^-roadu at Gurraun-AcJiill, 7f ; Achill

Sound Station, 14^ m., whence, rail or road, back to Mallaranny,
8 7/1. Those who decide to make the complete round bv road can
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(omitting Achill Sound Station) reduce the total distance to 19^ m.
because the road up the East side of Achill Sound joins the niain

road, from Mallaranny to Achill, 1| m. E. of the Sound Station

and 6J vi. from Mallaranny.

Car-fares should be arranged before starting. The charge (2 passengers)

from Mallarannj' (hotel) by Ciirraun-AchlU to Achill Sound Station is 10.?. plus

2x. M. driver. The charge for tlie complete round (2 passengers), omitting the

Sound Station, should be 10.*. 7>?«s 3.s. M. driver—that is, reckoning as for a

journey to and from the most distant point, 10 miles, on the usual basis of half-

fare for tlie return. Tliis would not be driving a hard bargain. The latter half

of the round would naturally be taken, as tlie easier road back, by a car dis-

charged at the 10-mile point.

To Cyclists, Tlie worst experience is during the first few miles. After the

initial dip and climb the road is more or less littered with loose stones, but is

fairly level, and m most parts a clear track may be found. Approaching Curraun-

Achill it improves and becomes reasonably good when you reach Achill Sound.

Against a stifE breeze from the West the first half of the journey would be very

toilsome, becan e for some miles the road is fully exposed.

This Curraun round should certainly be made in the direction

we describe it, so as to have the best view in front along Clew Bay.
There is no inn short of the little hotel near the Sound Station,

nor any opportunity of obtaining refreshment, unless it be a possible

cup of milk.

From the hotel-entrance we follow the road to the right

for a few yards and take the first road to the left. This
descends and quickly rises again and passes a few cabins and a
tiny pool, L. Doo. Soon after this it approaches the cliff-top and
winds with moderate undulations along the coast for three or four

miles. Clare Island is a very fine object and a field glass enables

us to make out the tower of Grace O'Malley's Castle on its nearest

shore. Passing, right, the insignificant Lough-beg, the road is for a
while inside the coast-ridge and the country is seen dotted with the

cottages of Curraun-Achill. Then ahead we note the two hills,

with low ground between them, which constitute the island Achill-

beg. When we again approach the coast and, at cross-roads, 7f

,

a short bit of road descends, left, to the shore, the road to the

right, through a gate, is the way to Achill Sound Station.

Tiie road straight forward leads almost to the south end of Achill Sound, but
ends in a cid-rie-sic. If yon follow it you will have eitlier to return to the cross-

roads or make a cut across the enclosed grouiid up to the Acliill Sound road,

Pedestrians bound for Achill might cross the Sound—eitiier by favour of the
Estate factor whose house is on this side of tlie cliannel, or by the assistance of

the Goartl Guard wliose station is on the far side. We do not recommend the
roatl up the West side of the Sound to tlie Sound Station, as the views from it

are no improvement on those from tlie road on this side. From it, however, you
can diverge to Camport and tlience along the Menawn range down to Dookinelly,

and so to Dugort.

When the road, about half-a-mile from the turn, commands the

Sound we see across the water the solitary tower of Kildavnet Castle,

and if we reach this point about midday we shall find an illustration
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of primitive postal arrangements. The postman from the Sound
Station stops here by a ruined cottage and waits, if we remember
rightly, till 2 p.m. to deliver to callers any missives they may be
expecting and to collect despatches. There is no other delivery

or collection for Curraun Achill ! The road now keeps along the

flank of Curraun Mountain, 1,715 ft., and when the N.W. spur is

attained, we get a very fine view of the Sound at its widest, with
the Achill Bridge and Causeway crossing it where it again con-

tracts. Looking back, the chief summit of Clare Island shows on
a perfect cone. The road makes a great bend to the right in order

to join the main-road between Achill Sound and Mallaranny,
turning presently sharply back

—

i.e., you do not there keep straight

on towards a hamlet, but turn down to the left and cross the dip.

On reaching the main road continue left 1 J m. for the station, or

6^ m. in the opposite direction for Mallaranny.

3. To Rosturk Castle, nearly 3| m. by the Newport road.

Return car for two passengers, 4.S., plus Is. to driver. This beauti-

fully situated seat of E. Vesey-Stoney, Esq., is on the north shore
of Clew Bay, opposite Croagh Patrick, and in view of the islet-

dotted head of the Bay. Resident visitors at the hotel are allowed to

walk through the grounds one day a week, and the privilege should
be taken advantage of. The road is dull, but on approaching the
lodge-entrance the luxuriant fuchsias give promise of what is to

follow. Should the admission-day not be available we advise

visitors to drive about a quarter of a mile further, to the rise of

the road at Rossgalive School. Thence the view is superb and the
castle is plainly seen.

4. To Rock House, 7| m. by the Ballycroy road. Return-
car for two passengers, 7>'. 6f/., pins Is, 6f?. to driver. This is one
of the lions of the Mallaranny district, and by the liberality of

Mrs. Clive visitors are admitted to the grounds on Wednesdays
when the family is in residence (abt. July 25 to September 25)
and any week-day at other times. To begin with, the road is that

suggested for a short walk along the shore of Bellacragher Bay.
The first two miles are pictnre?qae. Then it enters on the dreary
expanse of Erris flats and at 5;^ vi. crosses a stream and turns
fquare to the left. A short mile further, where it bends to the
right, you quit it for a lane stra'gbt ahead, and in a long mile
further turn to the left.

Roch House is a small and indeed not beautiful house, perched
on the summit of Carrig-na-Sheogh ("rock of the fairies") whence
its name.
The view-point 2)ar excellence is the Utile platform or terrace

adjoining. Hence you completely command the gardens and
grounds, and the prospect is as great a surprise as it is rarely

beautiful. When you descend to the main walk you will see
close at hand the choice trees and shrubs that here luxuriate, a
large number of them quite foreign to any but the most favoured
spots in these islands, At thp end pf this walk you vea^b another
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noteworthy object, a track bordered by giant hedges of rhododen-
dron, and you should follow this, left, till it reaches the open
ground and commands the intricate waterway of this part of the

Sound, with its fine environment of shapely mountains.

The pedestrian—Eock Lodge is not, liowever, an excursion best made on foot,

as for miles the road is dull—miglit cross the channel at its narro^^est by the
ferry-boat, and so return to Mallaranny by the Achill Sound road.

Eail continned from p. 212. The line crosses the isthmus of the

Curraun peninsula, skirts Bellacragher Bay and follows pretty

closely the N. coast of Curraun. The landlocked sea is picturesque

in fine weather and the sharp cone of Slievemore is conspicuous
to the N.W. as we near the terminus of the branch at Achill
Sound (26^), where a small hotel close to the station, and a
police barrack and a few cottages, old and new, on the island

opposite, constitute the hamlet. [The Station-Master keeps a
clean Kefreshment-Room and has one or two comfortable beds.l

The Sound, not specially picturesque in its setting, is crossed by a
causeway with a narrow waterway spanned by a swing-bridge under
which the tide races.

Of excursions from Acliill Sound the only ones calling for mention are down
tlie Sound. On the mainland side a road (Exc. 2, /». 213) leaves the Westport
main road about 1^ miles from the Sound and more or less follows tlie coast to

tlie entrance of the Sound opposite Achill-beg. Thence it is continued round
tlie S. coast of mountainous Curraun to Mallaranny. The total distance is about
14^ miles and the latter half affords fine views of Clare Island and across Clew
Bay to Croagli Patrick,

The road down the Sound on the Achill side turns to the left, | m. from the
Bridge along the Dugort road. It runs a little back from the coast but about
2 /«. onward reaches a sandy inlet where it divides. If you wish to follow tlie

Sound to its moutli (about 6 m. from starting) you take the left-hand road.

Tills hugs the coast and is of poor quality. Then 1^ ni. onward you pass
Kildnviiet ('((stlf, a fortalice of Grace O'Malley's, temp. Elizabeth, and about
10 min. furtlier reach a Coastguard Station opposite the hilly islet AchiU-bec/

(pop. 113 in 1891). The road is continued round the S. corner of Achill for a
mile or two but leads nowhere !

The right-hand road at tlie above-mentioned fork leads to the characteristic

coast hamlet of Comport (5 m. from Achill Bridge), a few minutes beyond whicli

is another, Dnoi'f/n. Hence the grand headland I>ooeg;a Head (818 ft.) can
be ascended. The pedestrian can follow the coast ridge northward. It culminates
in Mciinwii (1,.')3U ft.), a very comprehensive view- point. A sharp descent can
then be made to the S. end of Keel Strand, reached in 1.^ to 2 /</<. from Dooega.
The C'atliedral Rocks {p. 218) require low tide for a thorough exploration.

From the hamlet Dookinelly, the road, 4 m. (lue N., leads to I>ng;ort {p. 217).
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The Railway Co.'s Long-Cars meet the trains at Acliill Sound from June to
September, and tlie drive to Dugort costs (including driver's fee) 2*. 6</. Out of

tlie seas )n a car for two passengers costs 7.v. 6(/. Dugort {hflow) is the only
place on tlie island with hotel accommodation.

To C'.vcllsts. Achill roads are erenerally l)ad. For thie scenery, Dugort is

on the wrong side of the island. There is a little clean accommodation at
Dooagh—Patton's lodgings.

Achill is perhaps disappointing on the drive to Dugort. Its

inland scenery, which is all that this route reveals, is of no special

quality. The well-deserved reputation of the island rests on its

cliff scenery, and in a minor degree on the primitive and curious

villages it contains. If the reader draws a line on tne map across

the summit of Slievemore from the bridge at Achill Sound he
will have the main factor of geologic Achill. The line will

indicate a great fault. To the East of this, metamorphosed
schists constitute the mass of the island, but those on the N.E.
are obscured by blown sand. To the W. of the fault schist areas
alternate with quartzite, and unimproved Achill is treeless and
barren throughout— a great moorland of hiUy ground rising on the
N. and W. to summits exceeding 2,000 feet. Heather is the
principal vegetation, but here and there bright green tells of morass.
Happily for the 4,677 inhabitants (census 189.1) there is no lack of

peat-fuel.

Achill Sound to Dugrort, 8| m. by road. This breezy drive

affords a comprehensive view of inland Achill. About a mile from
the bridge we pass the flourishing plantations, chiefly pines, about
the residence of the late Major Pike. As we ascend there is a
mde view over the island-broken bay between N. Achill and the
mainland. At Canlul, 4 m., we are probably regaled with a tale of

a criminal hiding from justice and may make acquaintance with
an Achill public-house. Slievemore is the conical mountain to

the N.W., and to the W. the dome and shoulders of Croaghaun
cut the sky-line. About 6 m. from the Sound our road turns
sharp to the right—a kind of causeway for a while—and presently
from the higher ground we get a fine view, to the rear, of the
mountains of the mainland. It is a steep descent into Dugort.

Bu^ort [Hotels : Slievemore and Sea View. Post and Tele-

graph Office between the hotels] is about 8^ m. from Achill
Sound. It3 principal part forms two sides of a rectangle on the
W, side of a small valley between Slievemore on the W- and a
steep hill of some 700 feet on the East. It is a bright little place,

fully sheltered from the prevalent W. and S.W. winds. Besides
the hotels there are a few primitive lodgings. Just across the
valley is the Protestant Church, built in 1854-5, and hard by is the
parsonage, its lawn protected by a miniature grove. The valley
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where it opens on the shore has good sands from which in

ordinary weather safe bathing can be had. On a bluff above the
sands is the group of cabins constituting the original Dugort.

The walk along the foot of Slievemore, westward, is rough and
in places boggy.

Moflorn Dugort owed its creation to the devoted labours of the Eev. Edw.
Nangle who in 1831 visited the island then stricken with famine. Impressed by
the spiritual needs of the people lie at once took steps to start a Protestant
mission, which quickly grew into the " Achill Mission " and became the subject
of bitterest controversy for many years. Mr. Nangle resided at " the Settle-

ment," as it was called, and personally superintended the work from 1833 to
1852. His first church was the building (now a scliool) next the Slievemore
Hotel. By 1851 the mission had bought three-fifths of the island, but the rents
under the Land Act of 1881 were reducal from £C2U to £3G0, and this threatened
to extinguish the already waning effort.. The Irish Society for Promoting
Scriptural Education has since then come to the rescue. In 1895 the Protestant
population of Lower Achill—including ?".''. the Sound and Dugort—was estimated
at 160. Mr. Nangle died in 1883 in his 84th year.

(&xtvitBiom from ^wgorl.

The recognised sights and trips in Achill are :—

1. Cathedral Rocks and Menawn Cliffs.

2. The villages of Keel and Dooagh and the fishing-place

Keem Bay.
3. Ascent of Croaghaun.
4. Ascent of Slievemore.

5. Seal Caves.

Of these the Cathedral Eocks and the places named under No. 2

can be included in a walk or drive of about 20 miles out and
home. Croaghaun, with its sea-cliffs of nearly 2,000 feet, can also

be combined with No. 2. Slievemore and the Seal Caves are

separate short excursions. For non-climbers Nos. 1 and 2 are

very interesting and every one should include them in his pro-

gramme. Nos. 3 and 4 both yield their reward, but Slievemore

may be omitted by the visitor whose time is limited. The active

pedestrian, who has only one clear day (2 nights at Dugort) to

give to Achill, should certainly attack Croaghaun and return by
No. 2. By making use of a car from Dooagh he could include the

Cathedral Eocks. We describe the trips in the order given above.

1. Catbedral Rocks and Menawn Cliffs. If this be made,
as it well may be, a distinct expedition, the best plan is to drive

to Mweelin, 8 m. and then ascend the cliff range and follow it

northward over Menawn (1,530 ft.)—a fine view-point. From
Menawn a steep but easy descent will be made to the S. end of

Keel Strand, a two-mile stretch of sand that would make the

fortune of an English watering-place. The walk from Mweelin is

about 3 m., say 1^ hrs. The Cathedral Rocks (low tide is

required for a complete exploration) adjoin the end of the Strand

and are worth a long journey to visit. They are, of their kind,
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as impressive as anything in Achill. The car will have been
ordered to Dookinelly and thence the drive back to Dugort is

direct, about 4 miles.

2. To Keel, 4 ; Dooag-h, 6 ; ILeem Bay, 9 m. There are
primitive public-houses at Keel and Dooagh which offer a choice
of liquors of quite unusual variety and quality. Before leaving
Dugort enquiry should be made as to where at Dooagh a simple
meal—tea, &c.—can be obtained, for it is worth while to make
acquaintance with an Achill interior. Quaintness and cleanliness

are, as we know by experience, to be found in combination.
Once we are up out of the Dugort valley the road to Keel is

across the fiat. It matters little which sides of the quadrilateral,

enclosing featureless Keel Lough, be taken, unless we are intend-
ing to take the Cathedral Rocks (above) on our way. In that case
we take the E. side.

Keel is at the N. end of Keel Strand. As we enter it it presents
itself as a scattered roomy village with a Police Barrack and a
Post Office. A little further on, however, left of the road, native
Keel is a characteristic huddle of cabins. Just outside the village

on the Dooagh road is the Coastguard Station and beyond this we
soon get a very fine view of the Menawn cliffs. Then, in full view
of Croaghaun ahead, we descend, past a school, to Dooagrb, which
is primitive Achill little touched by modern innovations. Here
amethysts—the real thing, i.e. mauve-coloured quartz ; not the
precious stone, which is Oriental and a purple variety of sapphire
—are freely offered for a few pence. From Dooagh the road
ascends rapidly and soon gives off on the right a boreen leading
to a house formerly occupied by Capt. Boycott. At the top of

the ascent we obtain a beautiful seascape. The descent on Xeem
Bay is as steep as the ascent. Near its foot on the hillside, right,

is the little quarry where the amethysts are found. Keem Bay is

a very lovely spot seen perhaps at its best as we descend to it.

The steep and sodden S. flank of Croaghaun bounds it landward
;

its western horn is the yet steeper slope that on the seaward
western face is a range of noble cliffs extending from Moyteoge
Head to Achill Head. The bay is the scene of a minor salmon
fishery and the few habitations are only used whilst this lasts

—

early summer. In returning to Dugort the only variation is by
taking the sides of the Keel Lough quadrilateral not taken on the
outward journey, unless the pedestrian determines to strike from
Dooagh across to Slievemore village. A road, we are informed,
is in contemplation between these points.

3. Ascent of Croaerhaun (2,192 ft.), about /«., but 3^ hrs.

An easy way is to drive to Dooagh (above), and then to ascend by
the boreen already mentioned and so, above Lough Acorrymore, to
the N. shoulder.

It is far better (a pony can be taken to the foot of the peak) to
take the road through Slievemore village, a collection of wigwams,
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to which the d^vellers on the shore were wont to migrate in the

spring—we are told this migration is less than formerly. Then
we aim for the Martello Tower on the ridge and, making the best

of ground wont to be boggy, plod steadily upward, reaching the

summit. of Croafbaun by the N. shoulder. The ascent is dull.

The reward is the sudden attainment of a summit whose seaward
side is a range of cliffs approaching 2,000 feet.

The cliffs are not perpendicular, but a shattered, more or

less terraced, incline of perhaps 50 degrees on the whole. The
really grand thing is the commanding view of the ocean so

suddenly revealed. Of distant objects you can see S., Clare

Island, Croagh Patrick, and further off the peaks and islands of

Connemara; to the E., the sterile mountains of Erris ; to the

N.W., the lighthouse on Black Rock. Achill Head, the W. ex-

tremity of the island, consists of a double range of cliffs back to

back, and surmounted by an edge which, near its end, is 378 ft.

above the sea.

From the summit the unpleasant descent to Keem Bay is merely
a trial of patience and boots on boggy slopes. Far preferable is

the descent along the ridge overlooking the N. coast of the Island.

This way you could rejoin the upward route near the Martello

Tower.

4. Ascent of Sllevemore (2,204 /^). This is merely a grind,

and is made direct from Dugort. From the Slievemore Hotel follov;

the road seaward and turn up the lane just short of the Coastguard
Station. After a bit of rough, more or less boggy, ground you
reach the heather and the going is dry but steep. By keeping a
little to the right you gain the crest of the corrie on the seaward
face of the mountain and can ascend by it. The prospect, when
you have attained an altitude of 700 feet, so as to overtop the hill

opposite Dugort, is line, over Blacksod Bay to the Mullet. No
directions are needed for the topmost part of the climb. Heather
gives place to stones and rocks, and it is merely a question of

vigour whether the final steep requires to be eased by working
round to the westward more or less. Slievemore does not present

any grand features, but you could draw a map of the island from
the summit and, indeed, of its greater part from half-way up its

S. flank. The walk back can be advantageously varied by descend-

ing towards Slievemore village.

5. The Seal Caves. Measured along the sea-margin from

the sands at Dugort these are under 2 miles distant. A boat (5s.)

is the only means of approach as they are in the cliffs at the N.

foot of Slievemore. Calm weather is an obvious requirement.

Seals are not (ilways at the service of the visitor, but that must be

chanced. In any case the short row is very enjoyable, and the

principal cave is worth a visit.

Clare Island. There is no regular service, but frequent connection witli

Westport is kept up by hookers. A boat might also be had at Louisbiirgh
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. The landinp-place is in a sheltered hay at tlio E. end of tlie ishiiid.

> this is Urania Waels (Grace O'Mallcy's) Ca.tth', a KJth cent. towiT. About
. of this, on the siile of tlie hill, are the ruins of a ('arinelitc Abbey of the
riod. Tlie most interestinj,' thin^r alumt (llare Island is the experiment
oe tried by the application of the Aslibournc Act. The tenure of farms
I has been co-operative, several tenants holding and working a farm as

), but this lias not worked well.

"~Acl»IIl to Belmullet. In fine weather a boat from Dugort to Termon
Pier at llie S. end of the Mullet. 1-' in. from Belmullet, is the plcasantcst route.

Another tine-Vi-. *''er route would bo by boat from Bull's Mouth to Tullaghan
Cor Ballycroy) Fcrr.v u d thence 13 m. by road. By road all the way (better for

cyclists than tlie road—11 in.—wliich involves BalIy(-roy Ferry

—

V)d. inclmling
cycle) is as follows : Dugort to Acliill Sound, KJ ; Mallaranny, iHj ; Ballycroy
lim, 23^; Ballycroy R.O. Oliap., 26 J ; Bangor, 3«i ; Belmullet, IKj?/*.

DUBLIN TO BALLINA.

(By Midland Great Western llailway.)

—

—

OiNtauceH : MuUingar, 50 m. ; Atliloue, 78 m. ; Maiuilla Junction, 140 m.;
Ballina, l(i6 m.

The morning down trains, and most of the uj) trains connect by short trains
with North Wall. For C(jnnemara Tourist Tickets, see^A 181.

RefreMliineiit RooiitM : Broadstone, Mullingar, Athlonc. Breakfast (25.)

at Dublin from 7 to 'J a.m.

The railway to Ballina is the same as to Westport, as far as

Manulla Junction, 2>p- 200-8. Changing into the branch train for

Ballina we strike northward alongside the Manulla Kiver. Nfephin

(2,646 ft.) is in view, left, most of the way onward. Passing Bally

-

vary, 150^, beyond which (on the left, we notice Turlough round
tower) we soon reach Lough Cullin, the southern extension
of Lough Conn, and cross the stream which connects it with the
River Moy. A short distance from the lough is Foxford, 157 m.,

whence by road it is about 1^ m. to the Pontoon and 6 m. (boat) on
to Lough Conn Hotel.

Foxford ("('(Mjhlan's Hotel," anglers') on tlie Moy, is a village about J m. E.
of the station. The country around is quite unattractive, but for anglers it is a
good minor station. Tickets for tlie Sliraheen Water on the Upper Moy arc to
be had gratis at Broadstone Station. About 3 miles E. are the Callow Loughs,
which abound with trout of good size and (luality— cniiuire at tlie hotel.

It is 8 miles S.F. to Siviiu'/ord Sta. on tlie Waterford and Limerick line.

Inward to liallina, (166 ; p. 222) the country is featureless, and
< the run to Killala (174 w. ; p. 223).
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inllua,

Hotels : I/nperiul and Moif ; a few yards apart iu Kuox street about
6 juin, walk from the station. Royal opposite the Imperial is a dependence ui

tliat liotel. 'Buses meet trains.

Hotels ill tlie neis:lLboitr]ioo(l : Lomjh Conn and d/rtnorahhey {see

p. 183, under liallina). .•
•

Post Office, in Knox street near the hotels. English mails del. 8 a.m. and
2.35 p.m. ; desp. 12.15 and 9 p.m.

Distances, by road : Bangor, 28 m. ; Ballycastle, 18^ m. ; BelmuUet, direct,

40^ ;«., via Ballycastle, 49^ m. ; Corick, 19 ni. ; Crossmoliua (Lough Conn), 8 m.

;

Sligo, 37 in.; Xillala, 8^ m.

Public Car : to Beliiiullet (6a-. ; 6^ hrs.) vid Crossmolina (Is.) Corick
Bridge (36-.), Bangor (45.), at 2 p.m. Mail car, 3.5 a.m.

To $$lig:o (5a-. ; 5^ hrs.) via Culleens, Droraore West, Dromard and Bally-
sadare. Balliua, dep. 6.30 a.m. and 2.50 p.m. Sligo, dep. 6.30 a.m. and 2.30 p.m.

BalUna (pop. 4,846) is the chief town in Co. Mayo. It is situated

on the Moy, here a broad tidal stream crossed by two bridges which
connect the main part of the town with the suburb of Ardndree on
the east bank. The E.G. Cathedral and Protestant Church are on
that side, in what till 1898 was part of Co. Sligo.

Entering the town from the station it shows to small advantage,

and it must be confessed that the place has little to attract the

tourist who is not a fisherman. To reach the river turn to the

right beyond the Imperial Hotel. The weirs should be visited.

Cross the bridge and 100 yards beyond turn to the right.

Flshlngr* " The Moy " says Dr. Peard " is in my opinion the

best open water in the three kingdoms, and as a station Ballina

seems built expressly for the purpose." For the spring fishing,

March 15 to May 15 is the best time. During June and July the

lakes are at their best. The rod season ends Sep. 15. Except of

course the usual licence there is no charge made for the fishing.

The proprietors, Messrs. Little (solicitors, Knox-st.), grant orders

on condition the fish be given up—very liberal terms indeed for

such splendid sport as is commonly to be had. One fish is given

to the angler, and he can buy at market price what more he
requires. The fish (salmon and grilse with some white trout) are

taken from a boat in the tideway below the falls and weir, as well

as on the long stretch to Pontoon. The loughs Cullin and Conn
are free, but the fisherman of course has to pay for his boat and
attendants. Ten shillings a day will cover everything in most
cases. Fishing tackle can be obtained in the town.

Visitors at the Imperial Hotel are allowed free fishing on the

Upper Moy Kiver.

The Bunree River which joins the Moy on the E. bank just

below Ballina is a good spring river. It is included in Messrs.

Little's permit.
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^xlbtn mxb (^xtxxxBiow^ from §aIHna.

The most interesting objects near at hand are the ruins of

Bosserk Abbey and Moyne Abbey, both of which may be taken
on the way to Killala and Ballycastle. From the last place Down-
patrick Head may be visited. Crossmollna (Gortnorabhey ; Deel
Vieio) is at the head of Lough Conn, and Nephin, a fine view-point,

is easy of access from the road between it and Newport.

The Xiougrh Conn Hotel on the W. shore of the lough is a
large house frequented by anglers ; see p. 222.

The direct road to Belmullet affords fine views of the wild
mountains of West Mayo, and at Carrick Bridge and Bangor are
anglers' inns. The road to Sligo is monotonous until we reach
Sligo Bay and come in sight of the cliffs on the far side of Donegal
Bay.

To Rosserk Abbey, 5m.; Moyne Abbey, 8m.; Killala,
10 m. by road ; Ballycastle, 10 m. more. Rail to Killala, 8 m.
The line follows the direct road and misses Eosserk, but the
station at Killala is within a half-hour stroll of Moyne.

Leaving the N. end of the main street on the left hand, the road,
pleasantly wooded by Belleek Manor, about 4 m. from Ballina
crosses a small stream, and thence is about 15 min. walk to

Rosserk Abbey, situated on the bank of the Moy (a waste when
the tide is out) a little to the N. of the mouth of the stream.
This house was founded by the Joyces early in the 15th century
for Franciscan Friars of the Third Order. The church, cruciform
and Decorated, has a lofty tower. The cloisters are interesting.

Returning to the road it is 2J m. on to Moyne Abbey {1| m.
from Killala Sta.), which is on the right, on a small bay sepa-
rated from Killala Bay by the long low island of Bartragh. It

was founded in 1460 for Franciscan Observantines and is Deco-
rated in style. The ruins have been judiciously repaired by
the Board of Works. The church, cruciform in plan, has a lofty

tower (90 ft.) which can be ascended. The windows retain

some good tracery, and the cloisters—plain pillars in pairs-
are nearly entire.

Our road joins the direct road from Ballina, a trifle short
of Killala {Lindsaifs, at the P.O., but with little or no sleeping
accommodation) a town -village on Killala Bay, but formerly the
seat of a bishopric founded by St. Patrick. The see is now united
to Tnam and the Cathedral, now the Parish Church, is 17th cent,

and devoid of interest. The fine Ptound Tower close by is of

style III., p. xiv. The bathing at Ross C.G-. station is good.

On Aug. 22. 1798, the French Directory sent three frigates from Rochelle
with 1100 men under the command of General Humbert, to aid the United
Irishmen. They effected a landing at Kilcummin, on the W. coast of Killala
Bay, but arrived too late to co-operate with the rebels, whose rising had been

Ireland. II. Q
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crushed. A further force of 6,000, in sivpport was promised but never reached
them, and Humbert, though victorious at Castlebar over Gen. Hutchinson,
whose Irish levies bolted almost before they were attacked, was forced to
surrender (Sept. 8) to Gen. Lake at Ballynamuck in Co. Longford.

Passing the head of tsvo sea-inlets the road skirts the picturesque

grounds of Castlereagh, and in 3 miles reaches Palmerstown,
by a long bridge over the River Owenmore.

For Ratliran Al>l»ey, turn to the right beyond the bridge. The remains
of this Dominican house founded in 1274, are unimportant. They are close to

t he shore, a little beyond the point where the road turns away from the
water. At Summerhill, a short distance further, are the remains of the French
earthworks (see small print, above).

Beyond the bridge the road to Ballycastle goes to the left and
then to the right. In a mile it ascends, and turns sharp to the

right and then runs pretty direct to Ballycastle {May's Hotel

;

very fair), rather a favourite summer resort, on account of its

proximity to Downpatrick Head. It is a short distance inland

from a small bay with a rocky shore and some blown sand.

The Coast Guard Station is abt. 2 m. further on.

To Do^vnpatrieU Head is abt. 5 ?n., and a car can be taken to within
a short stroll of the actual Head, which is a fine bold cliff of sandstone
with a remarkable insulated rock, Dunbristy, off its extremity. Another
interesting feature is the great " funnel " formed by the falling in of the head
of a sea-cave.

Balllna to Belmullet.

Direct road ^ars, ^. 217) : Ci'ossmolina {Gortnorahheu; DppI Vieic) 8 m. ; Corick
i^Ptih. Ho.), 19 m. (Bellacorick Bridge) ; Bangor (Inn), 28 m. ; Belmullet, 40^ jn.

Return cars at 2 p.m. (public) and 2.40 p.m. (mail).

Via BaUiicastle : As far as Ballycastle. 18i ?«., see ahoiv. Thence to Belderg
cross-road, 10 in.', Glcnamoy Bridge, 17 ?». ; Belmullet, 31 m. (41 m. from
Killala Station),

Vi(% Ballycastle. Beyond Ballycastle the road now and again

touches the cliffs, and about 4 m. on the way, near Benaderreen, there

is a very fine funnel in the cliffs. From Belderg cross-road, the

road to Belmullet is for the most part over a wild desolate district.

It descends by the Glenamoy to Glenamoy Bridge, 17, and some two
miles onward crosses Bellanaby Bridge, beyond which it overlooks

Carrowmore Lake and then descends to an inlet at the head of

Broad Haven, which is skirted at a short distance for the rest of

way to Belmullet, the direct road being joined about 3 miles from
that place.

Belmullet {Royal, Errin) has a pop. of 650. It is situated

on the canal-cut isthmus of the Mullet and has little to interest

the ordinary tourist.

ClilTs of Jfortli Mayo. Tlie whole range from Bunatratir Bay to Ben-
wee Head is very fine and chiefly sheer into the ocean. The section as far as
Belderg- (Inn : Kelly's ; bed and car) is a comparatively easy and short day's

walk, and the road {11 m.) might be used in one direction. The grandest cliffs are
to the W. of Belderg—at Glinsk (see map), Doonmara (a little W. of Pig Island)

fti;4 Beuwee Head. To see th§se paeans a stiff walk of 8 hrs. fyprn ?eld§rg t<j
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Portacloy and then about 2 ^rs. from Portacloy to Benwee and back. A shake-
down might perhaps be had by favour |0f the manager of the fish-curing

establishment at Portacloy, or at Porturlin (the nameless inlet on map just E. of

Pig Island), but the traveller must be liis own caterer. A car might be ordered
from Belderg to be at Portacloy—it and Porturlin are 9 and 8 miles respectively
from Glenamoy Bridge, 8 m. from Belderg, and 14 from Belmullet by road.

No guidance is needed for the cliff walk. The cliffs W. of Belderg form the
N. flank of a narrow ridge wliich rises in Glinsk to a heiglit of 1,002 ft., and
about Doonmara to 761 ft. There are no serious ravines to be crossed, but the
pathless walk is more or less rougli. Inland of the ridge the ground is a low
bog which drains into Broad Haven. Tlie cliffs throughout are superb, genuine
precipices of ever-varying shape and colour, and those between Porturlin and
Portacloy will perhaps be considered finest of all. The bold rocks seen out at
sea to the N.W. are the Stags of Broadhaven. Portacloy is a deep-set haven
from wliich it is a sharp little climb to the cliff's beyond it. These—another
coast-ridge—should be followed to Ben^^'ee Head, a magnificent headland
(829 ft.) with cliffs descending almost from the summit.

N.B. From Portacloy it is 18 m. to Bangor (Inn). From Glenamoy Bridge,
9, go W.to (2 m.) Bellanabo3^ Bridge, and there turn to left. This road keeps E.
of Carrowmore Lake and joins the main road at its S. end. Thence it is about
2^ S.E. to Bangor.

Iiii!!ili]cea Soiitli. This island, interesting for antiquities, an<l the primitive
conditions of the life of its inliabitants is usually approached by tlio northern
route dotted on the map.

Balllna to Culleens, 10 m. ; Bromore IVest, 14 m.

;

Dromard,267?t. ; Ballysadare, 32 7h.; Sllgro, 377?i. Cars, p. 219.

This road to Dromore crosses a dull moorland, bounded
on the right by the Slieve Gamp and Ox Mountains. About
Dromore you get in clear weather a good view of the Slieve

League cliffs, 30?«. N., across Donegal Bay. Between Dromard
and Ballysadare you skirt Ballysadare Bay, which is pretty
with the tide in. Ballysadare gets its name {Baile-easadara
= town of the cataract of the oak) from a beautiful fall on the
Owenmore. For particulars of Slig-o {Victoria, good; Imperial;
Post office in Castle St.) see Ireland, Fart I. The Abbey ruins
(in Abbey Street) and the R.C. Cathedral (between the hotels and
the station) are the principal features of the town. The bathing-
place is near Rosse's Point, with which there is steamer connection.
Lough Gill and Knocknarea are the best of the nearer excursions

;

of more distant ones, the Glencar waterfalls.

Balliiia to IiiiwlnToiie, 8 m. Tliis village, on the E. side of Killala Bay,
is growing in favour for sea-bathing, ami a lodge has to be bespoke.

Ballina to Slig'o, 84 m. by rail, via Claremorris. The only
section of this route of any interest is between Collooney and Sligo,

and that is briefly described in Ireland, Part I,
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For Steamers see Pink sheet. Fares : between Athlone and Killaloe,

5s. M., o^et. 85. 9rf. ; Athlone and Roosky 35. Zd., ret. 5.s\ 3i/. ; Athlone and Carrick-
on-Shannon 4s. Zd., ret. 7s.; Carrick-on-Shaunon and Killaloe 9.s., ret. ISs, Killaloe

and Scarriflf, Mountshannon, Dromineer, or Williamstown, each l.«, 6(/., ret.

2s. M.; Killaloe and Rossmore or Kilgarvan, 2s., ret. 3s, 3(/. Banagher to Killaloe,

3s. 6^., ret. 5s. M. ; to Athlone 2s. 6rf., r(tt. 4s.

Distances (approximate) : Atlilone to Lanesborough (at head of Lough
Ree), 18 ; Termonbarry, 26 ; Roosky (coach connection with trains at
Dromod), 34 ; Cax>rick.-oii-Slianiion, 50 m.

Atliloue to Shannonbridge, 15 ; Banagher, 22 ; Portumna, 37 ; Williams-
town, 48 ; Killaloe, 61 m.

For Toni'ist Tickets combining a " Shaimon Lakes " voj'age with one or

more of the touring-districts of the West and South of Ireland see The
Shining Shannon (Tourist Development, Ltd., 118 Grafton-st., Dublin ; 3c?.),

an illustrated pamphlet describing the Shannon from Carrick-on-Shannon
to Killaloe. Special I>ay Trip on week-days from June 1 to Sept. 30

from Dublin, Kiugsbridge Sta., to Banagher, thence steamer to Killaloe,

and back by rail—10s. including luncheon and tea.

The Shannon voyage between Carrick-on-Shannon and Killaloe

takes two days, sleeping at Athlone. With the northern half of

the journey we are not concerned in this volume, except to say

that the steamer's course up and down Iiough Ree (which can
be made from Athlone in the day) does not do justice to that fine

lake. The boat trip described p. 205 and, for the traveller staying

at Athlone, the trip given in the M.G.W.R. Co.'s "Tourist Guide"
(6rf. at the bookstalls) are much to be preferred.

Athlone to Killaloe, abt. 61 »*., 8 hrs. by steamer (refresh-

ments). This river and lough voyage is much to be preferred to

the devious railway journey between these places. On the down
voyage the steamer route is a trilie shorter in time than the train.

In the reverse direction it saves about four hours.

It may prevent disappointment if we say at once that the

voyage we are about to describe affords very little in the way of

scenery until we near Killaloe. Athlone shows to advantage

from the river. The chief object not mentioned in our account

of the place {p. 201) is the fine Weir. We may add that the spire

the church is very effective so long as it continues in sight.

There is nothing to be seen but the ruins of Clonmacnois

p. 202) on the way to Shannonbridge. Indeed, between Athlone

and Portumna there is little enough of interest visible from the

steamer. The river, which winds perpetually, drags its slow

length along between bog and rushes, with peat-stacks and hay-

cocks peering above them, which presently give placQ to corn-

fields,
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At Shannonbrldg-e {Luker's, tea and bed 3s., obliging but

poor, large rooms and sound bed), the road from Tullamore to

Ballinasloe crosses the river by a bridge of 16 arches and a

steamer-way. The village, of one long straight, tumbledown
street, is of no interest. On the W. side of the river the bridge

was defended by a tete du pont (tower and battery), but the artillery

barrack has long been disused. Shannon Harbour, f kr. below
Shannonbridge, was before railways of some importance, being at

the junction of the Grand Canal (which extends W. to Ballinasloe)

with the [Shannon. It figures in Jack Hinton, but the quondam
hotel is now a Constabulary Barrack.

At Banag-her {Miller's, clean. Railway Sta., Pier, and
Hotel within 5 min. of each other) the only thing of note is the

handsome bridge of six arches, but by breaking the journey here

two objects of interest may easily be visited— Parsonstoivn
(p. 155), where the famous telescope of Lord Rosse can be seen
ijetween 3 and 6 p.m. (or by special pass at other hours), is 7J w.
S.E. by road, and if the traveller sleep there he should next
morning return to Banagher in time to get in a visit to Clonfert
Cathedral, 4 m. N.W., before the steamer departs. Canon
McLarney, the rector, lives at Banagher, and he will pardon our
saying that he is a delightful cicerone of the very ancient church
he is engaged in restoring. Verb. sap.

!

" Clonfert Catliedral, foumled by St. Brendan in 558, is one 'of the
smallest, and j-et one of the most beautiful and ancient historical cathedrals in
the three kingdoms. It is celebrated amongst other- things for its Hiberno-
Romanesque doorway, one of the finest specimens in existence, and for its E.
window nearly 1000 years old. A small sacristy on the N. side is roofed with
Danish wattles, a hurdle-roofing of great antiquity." Of the transepts, one has
disappeared and the other is in ruins Tlie chancel has been restored, the nave
and transepts will be taken in hand as funds come in. Clonfert, once a seat of

monastic learning, was proposed as the site of the University which was presently
set up at Dublin.

Meelick (Victoria Lock), about 5 in. below Banagher, is

approached by a mile of canal.

At Portumna [Kellifs in the town, abt. IJ W. from the river)

is a very long bridge with a swivel at the W. end to allow vessels

to pass. There is not much to suggest a break of journey. The
modern Castle (Marq. of Clanricarde) is imposing. Of a 13th cent.

Dominican Abbey, a Decor. E. window is the principal feature.

We now enter Zioug-h Derg-, a fine sheet of water, but, if the

truth must be told, somewhat monotonous until we approach its

foot, where the shores are well wooded and the Slieve Bernagh
heights on the Clare side afford a mountain sky-line.

The map sufficiently indicates the shore topography.

For Killaloe, see p. 155. There is train connection with the
steamer for Iiimerick, p. 151.
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N.B.—Where more than one page is referred to, that on which a locality is

described is given first.

Telegraph Offices are indicated by an asterisk. The names enclosed in

[square] brackets are required to complete the postal address.

A.

Aasleagh, 193
*Abbeyfeale [Co. Limericlc] 156

Abbeyshrule, 205

Abbeyside, 49
Acliill Island, 217

-beg, 214
« „ Sound [Westport], 216

*Adare [Co. Limerick], 156

^Adrigole [Bantry], lOo

Affane, 80
Aghada, 72
Aghadoe, 117
Aghavannagh, 51

*Aghrim [Galway], 173

Aglish, 80
Aherlow, Glen of, 150
Allen, Bog of, 56

*Allihies, 105

Allow, 60, 89

-Anascaul [Go. Kerry], 139

Anglihan Quarries, 194
Anna Carter Bridge, 26
Annaghdown, 194
Annaglikeen Castle, 194
*Annestown [Waterford], 43

Araglin, 84
*Araii Islaiicls, 177
Arbutus, 110

„ Island, 114

*Ardagh [Co. Limerick], 156

*Ardfert [Co. Kerry], 157

Ardfinane Castle, 147

*Ardmore [Youghal], 76

*Ardrahau [Co. Galway], 161

Ardsollus [Co. Clare], 159
*Arklow, 37

Arlo Hill, 89
*Arthurstown [Waterford], 45
»AshtV)rd [Co. Wicklow], 28

„ (see Cong.)
Atliassel Priory, 150
*Athenrv, 174, 162
*AtHlone, 201, 56
»Athy, 51

Atlantic Cables, 128
Attymon, 173
Auburn, 204
Aughnanure Castle, 183

*Aughrim [Co. Wicklow], 36

Avondale, 35

Awbeg 81, 87

B.
Bagibun Head, 46
*Bagnalstown, 38, 52
Bailey, L. H., 16

*Balla [Co. Mayo], 208
Ballaghasheeu, 125
Ballaghbeama, 137
^Bailina, 222
»Ballinasloe, 173
*Ballincollis- [Cork], 98
Ballinduff Castle, 194
Ballinglen [Eathdrum], 36
•'Ballingrane [Limerick], 156
Ballinlaw Ferry, 45
*Ballinlough [Co. Roscommon], 206
*Ballinrobe [Co. Mayo], 206
Ballinskelligs Bay, 130, 131
*Ballinspittle [Kinsale], 92
Ballintober Abbev, 208
*Ballybrack, 142

'

*Ballybrophy, 56

*Ballybunion [Co. Kerry], 157
Ballvcarbery Castle, 128
*Ballycastle [Ballina], 224
*Ballycottin, 70
-Ballvcrov Ferrv, 221
Ballydavid Head, 142

*Ballvdohob [Skibberecn], 97

*Ballyduff [Lismore, Co. Waterford]
81, 83

*Ballyglunin [Co. Galway], 162
Ballyhack, 45
*Bailvhaunis,206
*Ballyhooly [Mallow], 81, 87
Ballykeneely, 186
Ballylickj', iOO
Ballylooby [Caher], 149
Ballymacadane Abbey, 91

BallymacaAV, 43
*Bailymoe [Co. Galway], 206
*Ballymore Eustace [Naas], 50

Ballymurry [Co. Roscommon], 206

Balljanurtagh, 34

Ballynacorra, 73
'Ballynaliincli, 185-7

Ballynakill, 189
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Ballynalackau Castle, 166

Ballynatray, 79

*BallyiTOreeu [Caber], 148
Ballyportry Gas., lU
»Bailyragget [Co. Kilkenny], 56

*BaUysadare, 221
«Ballyvaglian [Co. Clare], 1G5
«Ballyvary, 221
*Bally\villiam [New Ross], 38

*Baltimore [Skibbereen], 94

»Baltlnglass [Co. Wicklow], 50,

Banagher, 227
*Bandon, 92

*Bangor [Co. Mayo], 221
Bann, 37
*Bannow, 46
*Bansha [Tipperary], 149
»Bantry, 99
Bargy, 39
Barnaderg Bay, 189
Barnagh, 156
Bari-ow, 46
Beagh Castle, 158
Bealanageary, 98
Bearhaven (see Castletown B.)

Beaufort Bridge, 113, 121
Beeves L. H., 158
*Belderg [Ballycastle, Co. Mayo], 224
Belderig (see Belderg),
Bell Harbour [Oranmore], 162
Bellacorick ,221

*Belmullet [Co. Mayo], 224
Benwee Head, 225
«-Birdhill [Limerick], 155
Birr Castle, 155
Bishop's Island, 171
Black Head, 166
*Blackrock [Cork], 70
Black Valley, 122, 114
BlacIcAvater, 73

,, Bridge, 137
*Blancliardstown [Dublin], 200
-Blarney [Co. Cork], 69, 60
Blaskets, 141
Blenncrville [Tmlce], 138
*Blessington [Co. Wicklow], 15

Bolier, 150
*Boninahon [Kilmacthonias], 43
Boolteens, 143
*Borris [Co. Carlow], 37, 38
Boycott, Capt., 207, 216
Brandon Head, 143
*Bray, 20

„ Head, 21
Bregoge, 89
Brickeen Bridge, 115, 116
*Bridgetown [Wexford], 81, 87
Brigowne, 85
Brinny, 92
»Broadway [Wexford], 39
Brownstone Head, 43
Bunane Bridge, 106
Bundorra, 193 211
Bunratty Castle^ 158

Bunree Riv., 222
Burncourt [Caher], 148
Burrishoole Abbey, 212
*Buttevant, 59

c.
»Caher, 148
Caherbarnagh, 60
*Caherdaniel [Waterville], 133
Caherdrinny Castle, 84
*Cahirciveen [Co, Kerry], 127
Cahircon, 158
*Callan, 54
Calvagh Castle, 147
Camillan Wood, 116
Camp [Co. Kerry], 138
Camphire, 77, 80
Camport, 216
Canal Bridge, 186
Cape Clear, 94
Cappaduff, 207
Cappagli [Co. Waterford], 49
«Cappoquin [Co. Waterford], 78, 49, 80
*Cara8;li l.ake [Co. Kerry], 125
Carhan House, 128
*Carlow, 51

*Carna, 186, 183
Carnsore Point, 39
*Carrick-on-Suir, 144
Carrigabrick Castle, 81, S3
Carrigadroliid Castle, 98
Carriganass Castle, 99
Carrighooley Castle, 212
Carriguacunna Castle, 87
Carrigogunnel Castle, 157
Carton, 201
-Casliel, 58, 57

Bay [Co. Galway], 186
*Castlebar, 208
Castle Bernard, 92
*Castlecomer [Co. Kilkenny], 56
*Castleconnel [Co. Limerick], 154
*Castlederuiot [Co. Carlow], 51
Castle Donnell, 157

„ Eyre, 96
* „ Gregory [Co. Kerry], 139

,, Hacfcct, 195

„ Howard, 34
*Castleisland [Co. Kerry], 61
Castle Kirke, 199
*Castlemaine [Co. Kerrv], 61, 143
*Castlemartyr [Co. Cork], 73
Castle Masters, 98
Castlemore, 98
*Castlepollard [Co. Westmeath], 201
*Castlerea (or reagli), 206
Castletown, 201 [107
*Castletown-Bearhaven [Bantry], 105,
»Castletownroche [Co. Cork], 89, 81, 87
*Castletownshend [Skibbereen], 96
Cathedral Rocks, 218
*Celbridge [Co. Kildare], 55, 200
*Charleville, 59

Checkpoint, 44
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Clmrclitown [Wexford], 46

Claddagh, 176

Clahamon, 37
*Clara [Kiug's Co.], 56

*Clare-Castle [Co. Clare], 160

„ County, 163

„ -Galway [Galway], 195
'., Island, 214

*Clareinorris, 206
Clear Island, 94

•Cleggan, 188
Clew Bay, 193, 177
*Clif<len [Co. Galway], 188

Clody, 37
*Clogheen [Caber], 147
Clogher Head, 142
*Clonakiltv [Co. Cork], 92

*Clonbur [Co. Galway], 207
*Clondalkin [Co. Dublin], 56

Clondulane, 81, 83

Clonea Castle, 49
Cloninaciiois, 202
*Clonmel, 146, 57

Clonmines, 46
*Clonsilla [Co. Dublin], 200
*Cloyne [Midleton], 72

Clyda, 60
*Coachford [Cork], 98
Colbinstown [Co. Wicklow], 50
Confey Castle, 200
-Cong: [Co. Mayo], 196
Coiiiieiiiara, 181
Connor Pass, 140
Convamore, 87
Coolattin, 36
Coolieragh Harb., 104, 105

Coongar Harb., 137
Corcomroe Abbey, 161

Coreen Castle, 157
Cores' Cascade, 122
Corick, 224
«Corlt, 63, 60

„ Harbour, 69

Corkscrew Road, 166
*Corofin [Co. Clare], 164

Corrabut Gap, 37

*Costello [Galway], 177
Coumeenoole, 142
*Courtmacslierry [Co. Cork], 92

Cove, 91

Craggaknock, 165

Cratloe Castle, 157
Cratloekeel Castle, 157

»Craughwell [Co. Galway], 162

Creadan Head, 44
Gregg Castle, 81, 87, 195
Croaghaim, 215
Cromwell's Bridge, 103
*Crookhaven [Skibbereen], 97
*Crosshaven [Cork], 72
*Crossmolina [Co, Mayo], 223
*Cruslieen [Co. Clare], 160
Culleens [Co. Sligo], 221
Cumnicendufif Yalley, 122, 114

Currabeg Monastery, 195
*Curragli, 55

Curraghmore, 48, 144
Currauu-Acliill, 213 .
Cushbawn, 36

D.

*Dalkey [Co. Dublin], 19
I>ai>g:le, 21

Darrynane, 133
*Delgany [Co. Wicklow], 24, 25
]>elp]ti, 192, 192b
Derrane Abbey, 206
Derreen, 108
Derrycunihy W'fall, 114
Derrydonnell Castle, 174
Derrynane, 133
Devil's Glen 29
*I>ingle [Co. Kerry], 140, 61

„ promontory, 138
Dinish, 116
*Donamon [Roscommon], 206
»Doneraile [Buttevant], 88
Dooagh, 219
Dooega, 216
Doonbeg, 165
Dooniskey, 98
Doonlicha Castle, 171
Dough Castle, 169
Downpatrick Head, 224
*Drimoleague [Co. Cork], 93
Dromana, 80
Dromkeen [Pallasgreen], 150
*Dromore, West [Co. Sligo], 225

„ Castle, 137
Drunicliff, 160
Drumgoff, 33, 51

Drumroe, 78
Drung Hill, 124
*I>ul>lin

„ Bank of Ireland, 7

„ Castle, 9

„ Christ's Church Cathedral, 10 •

„ College Green, 7

„ Custom House, 13

„ Four Courts, 13

„ Glasnevin Cemeteiy, 14

„ Grafton Street, 7

„ Guinness' Brewery, 12

„ Hibernian School, 14

„ National Gallery, 8

„ O'Connell Bridge, 5

„ Phrenix Park, 13

„ R. C. Cathedral, 12

„ Rotunda, 13

„ Royal Botanic Gardens, 15

„ „ College of Surgeons, 8

„ ,, Hibernian Academy, 9

„ „ Irish Academy, 9

„ Rutland Square, 13

„ Sackville Street, 12, 5

„ St. Ann's Church, 9

„ St. Catherine's Church, 11
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«]>nbllu
„ St. Michau's Church, 13

„ St. Patrick's Cathedral, 11

„ St. Werburgh's Church, 12

„ Science and Art Museum, 8

„ Stephen's Green, 7

„ Trinity College, 5

„ Vice-regal Lodge, 14
„ Zoological Gardens, 14

Duggerna Eocks, 170
*I>ug-ort [Westport], 217
Duu Aengus, 179
Dunaloug Castle, 95
Dunamase, 56
Dunbristy, 224
Dunbrody Abbey, 47, 44
Dundareike Castle, 98
*Dundrum [Co. Tipperary], 58
*Dungarvan, 49
*Dunlavin [Co. Wicklow], 50
Dunloe Gaj^, 112
Dunmanus, 97
*Dunmanway [Co. Cork], 93
*Duumore [Waterford], 43

„ Cave, 54

„ Head, 142
Dunnamark W'fall, 101
*Durrow, 49, 56
Durrus [Bantry], 97
Dysert, 164

E.
Eagles' Nest, 114
*Easky [Co, Sligo], 221
Echoes, 1U8, 114, 132, 133
Edermine, 38
*Emly [Tipperary], 58
"^'Giiitis, 160
*Enniscorthy, 37
*Enniskerry [Co. Wicklow], 22
*Ennistymon [Co. Clare], 165
Errifl: Bridge, 193, 210
Esknamucky Glen, 122
*Eyeries [Bantry], 107

F.
Faithlegg, 44
*Farranfore [Co. Kerry], 61
Peohanagli, 142
*Eermoy, 84, 81
-Terns, 36
Ferriter s Cove, 142
Ferrv Bridge, 113
*Fethard, 147, 46
*FiddoAvn, 144
Fooliagh Point, 171

Spa, 172
Forth, 39
«Foxford [Co. Mayo], 221
*Fo}'nes [Co. Limerick], 156, 158

G.
Gaddagh, 121
*Galbally [Tipperary], 160

Gallerus' Oratory, 142
Galtees, 87
*Oal^vay, 174
Gahvay's Ford, 122
Gap Cottage, 113
Garinisli, 136
Gearhameen, 114
"^Olaudore [Leap, Co. Cork], 95, 93
-Glauworth [Castletowuroche], 84
*GIasnevin [Dublin], 15

„ Cemetery, 14
Glen of tlie Downs, 24, 28
Glena Bay, 115
Glenbarrahane Castle, 96
Glenart Castle, 36
-Olenbeigli [Co, Kerry], 126
Glenbrook, 71
Glencairn Abbey, 83
Olencar Hotel [Caragli, Co. Kerry],

126
-^

Glencree Keform. , 25
Olen<laloitg:]t, 185
*

., [Rathdrum], 30
Glendasan, 50
Glenealy [Co. Wicklow], 29
*C}len8:arriff [Bantry], 102
Glenmalure, 22, 33
•*Glin [Co. Limerick], 158
Goldenbridge [Dundrum, Co. Tin!3e-

rary], 150
^^

Gold Mines, 35
Goldsmith, Oliver, 205
*Goleen [Skibbereen], 97
*Goold's Cross [Co. Tipperary], 57
-Gort [Co. Galway], 160
*Gortatlea [Co. Kerry], 61
€roitg:anebarra, 99
*Graigue, 47
Graiguenamauagh, 48
Grange, 144
*Grangecon, 50
Greenan Bridge, 33
*Greystones, 27

H.
Hag's Castle, 194

„ Teeth, 121

„ Tower, 169
Hare Island, 205
Harristown, 50
Haiilbowline, 63
Hazelliatch. [Dublin], 55
Headborough, 80
Headford [Killarney], 60
* „ [Tuam], 195
Hen's Castle, 199
*Hollymount [Co. Mayo], 206
*Hollywood [Naas], 50
Holy €^vosH [Thurles], 57

„ Island, 156
Hook Tower, 40
Horses' Glen, 120
»Howth [Co. Dublin], 16
Humewood, 34, 51
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I.

lar-Comiaught, 181
lUauntaimig, 139
Imokilly Castle, 73
Inch, 143
Incliagoill, 194
Iiichigeelagh [Cork], 98

Inchiquin Castle, 73, 164
Inchmore, 205
Inchshamboe, 194
Inishcaltra, 156

Inisheroiie, 225
Inishmaan, 179
Inishmore, 177
Inishsheer, 180
*Inistioge [Co. Kilkenny], 47
Innisfallen, 116
»Innissliannon [Co. Cork], 92

Ireland's Eye, 1

J.

Jerpoint Abbey, 48, 56

Joyces' Country, 181

K.
»Kanturk [Co. Cork], 60
JKate Kearney, 113
*Keel,219
Keem,219
Keimaneigh, Pass of, 99, 101

Kells [Co. Kerry], 127

„ [Thomastown], 54

sitenmare [Co. Kerry], 107

„ Demesne, 112
*Kilcock, 201
Kilcolman, 88, 59

Kilconnell Abbey, 173

Kilcrea, 98

Kilcunimin, 219
»Kiiaare, 55

Kiblavnet Cas., 214
*Kilclysart [Ennis], 158

Kilfinnan Castle, 96

Kilgarvan [Kenmare, Co. Kerry], 61,

101
SKilKee [Co. Clare], 170
*Killteiiiiy, 52, 56

Kilkerrin [Cariia], 186

*Killala [Ballina], 223
*«.illaloe [Co. Clare], 155

*Itillarney, 109, 61

„ approaches, 90

Killary Harbour, 191, 192, 210

„ „ Little, 190
Killavullen [Mallow], 87

*Killeagh [Co. Cork], 73

Killcshin, 52

»Killiney [Dalkey, Co. Dublin], 19

Killinick [Wexford], 39
Killonan, 150
Killone Abbey, 160
*Killorglin [Co. Kerry], 124, 61

Kilmacduagh, 161
Kilmacleniue, 89
»Kilmacthomas [Co. Waterford], 48
Kilmakilloge, 107
Kilmalkedar, 142
*Kilniallock, 59
*Kilmeadan [Waterford], 48
Kilmore, 139
Kilmurry, 165
Kilmurvy, 179
*Kilronan [Gahvay], 177
Kilruddery, 21
*Kilrush, 159, 165
*Kilsheelan [Clonmel], 145
Kiltealy [Euniscorthy], 37
*Kiltegan [Co. Wicklow], 34, 51
Kiltoom [Athlone], 206
-Ki]ig:$itowii, 18
'i'K inhale, 91

Old Head of, 92
*Kinvara [Co. G-alway], 161
Kish Light, 1

*Knight's Town [Valeutia Island,
Co. Kerry], 128

Knockcrogheiy, 206
Knocknioy Abbey, l62
*lCylemore [Co. Gahvay], 191

„ Pass of, 190

Lady's Island, 39

Lakes (see Loughs)
Lambav, 1

Lamb's Head, 133
Laragh, 30
*Leap [Co. Cork], 95
*I.eenaiie [Co. Galway], 192, 210
*Lehinch [Co. Clare], 165
»Leixlip [Dublin], 200
*Iietterfraclt [Co. Galwav], 189
Liffey, Falls of, 50, 32
*I.iinericlc, 151
* „ Junction [Tipperary], 58
Lion's Bridge, 34, 35
Liscannor [Co. Clare], 163
^'I^iMdooitvarita [Co. Clare], 167

Lisclton [Co. Kerrv], 157
«]iii!«more [Co. Waterford], 82, 81

Lissatinnig Bridge, 125
Lissarda, 98
Lissoy, 205
*Listowel, 167

^Lombardstown [Mallow], 60
Longfield, 57

Loop Head, 172
Lough Acoose, 125

„ Ahalia, 183

„ Annilaun, 183

„ Ardderry, 184

„ Aroolagli, 183

„ Athry, 186

„ Attalia, 183

„ Aunierin, 184



Lough Ballycuirke, 183
„ Ballynahinch, 186
„ Ballyscanlaii, 43
„ Beltra, 212
„ Belvedere, 201
„ Bofin, 184
„ Bray, Lower, 25
V „ Upper, 25
„ Callee, 121
„ Callow, 221
„ Caragh, 125
„ Carra, 208
„ Carrowmore, 225
„ Castlebar, 208
„ Clogharee, 140
„ Cloon, 208
„ Cluhir, 96
„ Coim, 208, 217
„ Coomasaharii, 126
„ Coomroaiiig, 132
„ Goose, 125
„ Coppul, 131
,, Corrib, 194
,, Coumshingaun, 145 49
„ Cruttia, 140
,, Cullin, 208, 217
„ Currane, 131
„ Cutra, 160
„ Dan, 26
„ Derg, 155, 227
„ Derravaragli, 201
„ Derriana, 125
„ Derryclare, 187
„ Dha, 192
,, Doon, 140
„ Eimel, 201
,, Erhogli, 120
„ Fee, 192, 190
„ Fin, 192

„ Furnace, 212
„ Gal, 140

„ Garagarry, 120
„ Glanuiore, 107
„ Glencullin, 192b
„ Gleiulalougli (Galway), 1,S5

" ^, » (Wicklow), 31
„ (aouganebarra, 99
„ GonragJi, 121
„ Guitauc, 120
„ Gur, 59

„ Hyne, 95

„ Inagh, 186
„ lucliicronau, 160
„ Inchiquin, 107, 164
„ Isknagahiny, 131
„ Isknamacteerv. 134
„ Killarney, 114
,, Killinure, 204, 205
„ Killone, 160
,, Kyleniore, 191
„ Lady's Island, 39
„ Leane, 110
,, Looscaunagh, 108
» Maamwee, 183
,, Managh, 120

INDEX.

Lough Mask, 207
„ Muck, 192, 190
„ Muckross, 114
,, Nacoogarrow, 186
„ Nafooej^, 207
„ Nalacken, 140
„ Nambrackderg, 101
„ Nambrackeagh, 192 •
„ Nankeeroge, 215
„ O'Flyn, 206
„ Oorid, 184
„ " Orbsen," 194
„ Owel, 201
„ Eea, 173
,, Eee, 205, 226
„ Ross, 184
,, Saleen, 208
,, Shindilla, 184
„ Tawnyard,212
„ Tay, 26
„ Tully, 190

Lougli Conn Hotel, 223
Longlicutra Castle, 160
Loughmore Castle, 56
"•^"Loughrea, 173
*Liican [Co. Dublin], 55, 200
Lyons, 55

M.
llaam [Co. Galway], 199

„ Cross [Co. Galway], 184
Macmine, 38
Macreddin, 36
*Macroom [Cork], 98
Mageney [Co. Kildare], 51
Magharee Is., 139
*M"allow, 88
*MaUaranii.v [Westport], 213Manulla [Castlebar], 208
Martins of Connemara, 187
-Maryborougli, 56
;^Maynootli [Co. KiMarc], 200
Mayo, Plains of, 208
Meeting of the Waters, 34 114
Meeting's Bridge, 34
Mcnawn, Cliffs, 214, 216
Menlougli Castle, 194, 183
-Merrion [Dublin], IS
Metal Man, 43
*Midleton, 73
Milford Haven, 62
* ., New, 40
*Milistrcct [Co. Cork], 60
-Milltown [Co. Kerry], 61

*^-I*'?"',";'^''^''''y
fC"- Clare], 165

Mitchelstown [Co. Cork], 84
,,. '' , Caves, 85, 149
Mizen Head, 97
Mocollop Castle, 81, 83
Mogeeley [Co. Cork], 73
Molier, Cliffs of, 1G8, 165
Molana Abbey, 79
Molahiffe, 61
Mouauimy Castle, 87
"^Mouasterevau, 56

233
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*Monkstowii [Cork], 71

Mount Melleray, 78

„ Rivers, 77

„ Shannon [Limerick], 156

„ Trencliard, 158
*Mountmellick [Portarliugton], 56

Mountains :

—

Ballysitteragh, 143
Barraboy, 106
Baurtregaum, 138
Beenkeragli, 125
Benbauu,' 192B
Bencorr, 185
Bengorm, 199
Beoun, 137
Black Stairs, 37
Brandon Hill, 142, 48

„ Head, 143
Peak, 132

Caller, 125
Calierconree, 138
Carntoul, see Carrantuohill
Carrantnoliill, 120, 107, 125
Carrawaystick, 33
Carrick, 29
Cobduff, 103
Commeragh, 145

Croaghaun, 219
Croaghmarhin, 141
Croagli Patriclc, 210
Croagliskearda, 139
Derryclare, 185

Devil's Bit, 56

Devilsmother, 193, 210
Diamond, 189
Drung, 127
Eagle, 141
Esk, 106
Forth, 39

G-abriel, 97
Galtees, 86
Oaltyiuove, 86
Gearhane, 143
Creenoge, 37
Hungry, 104
Kilworth, 84
Kippure, 26
Knockmealdown, 147
Knockanaffrin, 144
Knocknabreestee, 143
Knockomagh, 95

Leenane, 193
Leinster, 37
Iiissoiigliter, 185
IiUg:naquillia, 33
Mamturk, 184, 185
Manjferton, 119
Manmtrasna, 182

Mnllaghanattin, 137
M-^veflrea, 192A
Nephin, 217
Nephinbeg, 208, 220
Ox, 221
Paps, 60

Mountains :

—

Purple, 113
Silvermiue, 155
Slieve Baun, 206

„ Bloom, 56

„ Gamp, 221

„ Mish, 138

„ more, 220

„ naman, 145

j^ugarloai', Great, 24

„ Little, 21, 24

„ (Glengarriff), 103
Thonelagee, 32
Three Rock, 27
Tore, 114
Twelve Pius, 187
TJrrisbeg, 186

Mourne Abbey, 60
Moj^asta, 165

MoycuUen [Co. Galway], 184
Moyne Abbey, 223

„ Castle, 196
]\tucklagmore, 138
Muckinish Castle, 162
Muckross, 115
Mulgrave Barrack, 107
Mulla, 89
Mullan, 51
Mallaranny [Westport], 212
Mullet, 220
*Mullingar, 201
Murrisk Abbey, 210
Mutton Island, 165

N.
*Naas, 50
*jSrenagli, 155
*New Ross, 47, 38
Newbridge (Ovoca), 34
* „ [Co. Kildare], 55
*Newcastle [Co. Limerick], 156
*Newinn [Caher], 149
-Newmarket [Co. Clare], 159
* „ [Kanturk, Co. Cork], 60
-Newport [Westport], 212
Newrath Bridge Hotel, Rathnew, [Co.
Wicklow], 28

*Newtown Barry [Ferns], 37
Head, Great, 43

* „ Mount Kennedy [Grey-
stones], 25, 28

Niuestones, 37

o.

O'Brien Abbey, 160
O'Brien's Tower, 168
O'Connell, 14, 133
Old Connauo-lit, 24
„ Weir Bridge, 114
O'Malley, Grace, 212
O'Sullivan's Cascade, 119
Oola [Tipperary], 150
Oran Castle, 174
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*Oranmore, 174
»Ougliterard [Co. aalway], 184

*Ovoca, 34, 35

P.
Palmerstown, 224

Palace East [New Ross], 38

Pallas, 150, 205
* „ Green [Co. Limerick], 150
Parkiiasilla [Kenmare], 135

[Cork] 70, 63

[Waterford] 45, 44
*Parsonstowii, 155
#Patrick's Well [Co. Limerick], 156

Pigeon Hole, 198
Pike Eock, 113
*Pilto\vn, 144
Pollaphuca, 50, 15

Pontoon, 221
Portacloy, 225
Portally, 44
*Portarlington, 56

*Portlaw [Co. Waterford], 48, 144
Portmagee [Yaleutia Island, Co.
Kerry], 130, 128

»Portumna [Co. Gahvay], 155, 227
Porturlin, 225
Ponl-a-Phooka, 50, 15
Po^verscoiirt, 22
Priest's Leap, 100
Pnnchestown, 50

Q.
*Queensto\vn, 71, 63
Quilty, 165
*Quin, 159

R.
Rahinc Castle, 96

Ram Head, 76
Rathdangan, 34, 51

*Rathdrnm, 29
Ratlidnff, 60
•''Rathkeale [Co. Limerickl, 156

Ratlimore [Co. Kerry], 60
Rathuew [Co. Wicklow], 28
Ratliran Abbey, 224
»Rathvilly [Co. Carlow], 51

*Recess [Co. Galway], 185
Releagh Bridge, 106
*Renvyle Hotel [Letterfrack, Co. Gal-
way], 190

Rhincrew, 79
Rindown Castle, 205
Ringaskiddy [Cork], 71
Ringmoj-lan, 158
Ringrone, 91
Roancarrig, 105
Roche's Point, 62, 70
Rock Cottage, 96
Rock House, 215
Rockisland [Skibbei-een], 9*7

'-Roscommon, 206
*Ro5crea, 155 .

Ross (see New Ross)
„ Abbey [Co. Gahvay], 195

„ Castle, 115, 118
*Rosscarbery [Co. Cork], 93, 96
Rossdohan, 136
Rosserk Abbey, 223
Rosse's Telescopes, 155

*Rosslare, 39

Rostellan, 72
Rosturk Cas., 215
Roughty, 101
Round Towers, see Iiitrod.

*Rouudstone [Co. Galway], 186, 183
*Roundwood [Greystones], 26

s.

Safe Harbour, 205

*St. Ann's Hill [Cork], 69

St. Cronan's Church, 167
*Sallins [Naas], 55

Sally Gap, 26
Salruck, 190,192
Salthill [Dublin], 16, 18
» „ [Galway], 177
Samphire Island, 129

*Sandycove [Kingstown], 19
Scalp, 24
•-'Scarriffi [Limerick], 156
Scattery Island, 158
Scilly [Kinsale], 91

Screeb Bridge, 183
Scullogue Gap, 37

Seal Caves, 220
Selskar Priory, 38 [50, 51

Seven Cliui'clies [Rathdrum], 30,

„ „ of Cloumacnoise, 202

„ Hogs, 139
Shamrock, see Introd.

Shanbally Castle, 148
Sliaiiuoit i!»tca]Ufrs, 226
Shannonlmdge [Ballhiasloe], 227
Shannon Harbour, 227
Sheffrey Bridge, 211
Shelton Abbey, 36
Sherkin Abbey, 95

^Shillelagh [Co. Wicklow], 36

Shippool, 92
Skelligs, 129
*Skibbereen, 93
*Skull [Skibbereen], 97

Slade, 46
Slea Head, 142
*Sligo, 225
Smerwick, 142
Snave Bridge, 101
*Sneem [Kenmare, Co. TJerry] 133
Spaiiisli Point [Miitown Malbay,

Co. Clare], 165
Spoctacle Bridge, 168
Spenser, 89
«Spiddle [Galwav]. 177
Spike Island, 63

Stags of Broadharen, 220
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Staigue Fort, 132

Stradbally, 139

Strancally Castle, New, 80

„ Old, 77

Streamstown [Co. Galway], 189
» „ [Moate], 56

Summercove [Kinsale], 91

Summerhill, 219

Swift, Dean, 12, 96

Sybil Point, 142

T.

Talbotstown, 34

*Tallow [Co. Waterford], 81

»Tarbert [Co. Limerick], 158

Temple Micliael, 79

*Templemore, 56

*Tliomastown, 48, 56

Tliree Castle Head, 97

*Thnrles, 57

*Timoleague [Co. Cork], 92

*Tinaliely [Co. Wicklow], 36

Tinteru, 46
*Tipperary, 149
Togher (see Roundwood)
Tombrack, 37

Toombeola, 186
Toormakeady [Ballinrobe], 207

Tonatan Valley, 214, 215

Toombeola Bridge, 186

Tore Old Bridge, 123

Tourin, 80
-»Tralee, 61

*Tramore [Waterford], 43

*Tuam, 162
Tiibber [Oranmore], IGO

*Tullamore, 56

*Tullow [Co. Carlow], 51

TJ.

Ummeragh Glen, 98

»Union Hall [Leap, Co. Cork], 96, 95

Upton [Innishannon, Co. Cork], 92

Urrisbeg, 186

V.

«Valei»tia Island [Co, Kerry], 128

Ventry [Tralee], 141

Vinegar Hill, 38

w.
Waterfall [Cork], 90

*Waterfortl, 41, 56

Harb., 40

*\Vaterville [Co. Kerry], 131, 125

„ rroiiiontory, 124

Weir Bridge. 114

West Park, 118

Westmeath Lakes, 201

*AVesti»oi't, 209
Quay [Westport], 210

«Wexford, 38

Haven, 39

Whiddy, 100
*W^iclilow, 28

County, 17

Gap, 32,50

Head, 28
Willbrook, 165

\l^ooclen Bridge [Co. Wicklow],
35

*Woodlawn [Co. Galway], 173

Woodstock, 47

Y.

*Youglial, 74.

J^gndon : Printed by ST^ANQEWAYS & SONS^,Tow§r St„ C^p;bridge Circus. W-C
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N.B.—Communications respecting Advertisements should he
addressed to " M. J. B. Baddelet, Bowness-on-Windermere."

Telegrams to "Baddeley, Bowness-on-Windermere."
Only appropriate Advertisements are inserted.

ALPHABETICAL INDEX

RAILWAYS, STEAMERS, HOTELS, HYDROPATHICS, &c.

Alphabetical order is, as far as iJossiMe, observed in this List.

Railways.

Caledonian .

Cambrian
Cockermouth, Keswick

Penrith
Furness .

Glasgow and South-Western . 16
Great Northern (Ireland) . 5

London and North-Western . 11

Page
. 14

. 13

and
. 10
. 8

Page
Londonderry, Lough Swilly,

and Letterkenny . .17
Midland . . . .12
Midland Great Western (Ire-

land) 6

North British . . .15
West Clare .... 7

Steamers.
Caithness, Orkney, & Shetland 19

Loch Lomond . . .17
Loch Tay . . . .17

MacBrayne's (Glasgow and
Highlands). . . .20

Ullswater . . . .18

Hotels.

Ireland .

Scotland
-Wales

Berbysblre (Peak Dis-

trict) .... 26-27
Bevon and Cornvirall . 28-34
Engrllsh Iiake District. 21,

36-45

Miscellaneous.
Boyd & Co., Booksellers and Stationers, Oban
Duthie, Photographer and Fine Art Dealer, Glasgow
Holland, House Agent, Lodgings, Bowness-on-Windermere
Homeland Handbooks . . . . . . .

Maryon, Artist Craftsman, Keswick . ...
Mediterranean Kesorts

"

. . . . .

Sam Bead, Bookseller, Grasmqre . . . .

. 46-50
25, 54-80

. 51-53

74
2.5

23
35
39
24
34

Plje.
Sdinburg-h .

I
Windermere

HydropatblGS. Shortest

Name. Telegraphic Address.
Edinburgh . . . Hydro', Slateford .

Windermere . . Hydro', Windermere

Page
. 22
. 2L



Hotels in En§rland and Wales.

Place. Name of Hotel.

Aberystwyth . Queen's . . .

Ambleside . . Queen's, Saluta-

tion, Waterhead
Sakewell . . . Eutland Arms . .

Sarmoutli . . Inveruga . . .

JBeddgelert . . Prince Llewelyn .

Bideford . . . New Inn . . .

Royal ....
Tanton's . . .

(See Windermere)
Buttermere
Balmoral (Private)

Crescent . . .

George . . . .

New London . .

Green Bank . .

Prince of Wales .

Moss Grove . .

Rothay . . . .

Crown & Mitre .

Dun Bull, Mardale
Granville .

Keswick . .

Queen's . .

,, Sea View .

Iiangrdale (Great) Dungeon Ghyll

Shoi'test

Telegraphic Address. Page

Queen's, Aberystwyth . . 51

Queen's, Ambleside . 36

Bowness .

Buttermere
Buxton

Exeter .

Falmoutb
Grasmere

Haivesivater
J)

Xlfracombe
Keswick .

Iilanfairfecban

Rutland Arms, B'well .

Inveruga, Barmouth .

Llewelyn Hotel, B'gelert

Ascott, Hotel, Bideford
Royal Hotel, Bideford
TantorL's, Bideford

26
51
52
29
28
29

]Lynmoutli
Xiynton

Matlock Bath
Menai Bridgre
IMElnehead
Porlock
Thirlmere

»»

Torquay .

Ullswater

IVindermere

Lyndale

.

. Cottage . .

. Royal Castle

. Valley of Rocks .

. New Bath .

. Victoria . .

. M^tropole .

. Ship . . .

. King's Head

. Nag's Head

. Grand .

. Howtown

. Ullswater

. Belsfield

. Crown
Old England )

(Bowness)
j

. Rigg's . . . .

. Swan(NewbyBri.)

Buttermere Hotel ... 36
Balmoral, Buxton ... 27
Crescent Hotel, Buxton . 26
George Hotel, Buxton . 26
Pople, Exeter .... 30
Green Bk. Hotel, F'mouth 30
Prince Hotel, Grasmere . 37
Moss Grove, Grasmere . 36
Rothay, Grasmere ... 38
Nearest, Penrith, 4 m. . . 39
Nearest, Shap, Im. ... 39
Granville, Ilfracombe . . 29
Wivell, Hotel, Keswick . 40
Queen's, L'fechan ... 53
Gatchell, L'fechan ... 53
Nearest at Elterwater, 2Jm. 38
Lyndale, Lynmouth . . 32

Cottage Hotel, Lynton . . 32
Baker, Hotel, Lynton . . 31

Holman, Lynton ... 31

New Bath, Matlock . . 27

V'toria Hotel, Menaibdge. 52
Metropole, Minehead . . 33

Ship, Porlock 34

Keswick, 5 m 41

Grasmere, 4 w 41

Grand Hotel, Torquay . . 34

Nearest at Pooley Br., 4 m. 41

Bownass, Glenridding . . 42

B'field Hotel, W'mere . . 43

Riggscrown, W'mere . 43

Old England, B'ness-on-

W'mere 44

Rigg, Hotel, Winde1:mere . 43



Hotels In Ireland.



Place.

Iiocli Earn
Oban

»» •

Pitlochry

St. Fillans
Skye (Isle of)

Strathpeffer .

Stratbspey .

Name of Hotel.

Lochearnhead .

Great Western
King's Arms
Fi-her's . . .

Moulin . . .

Scotland's . .

Drummond Arms
Broadford . .

Sligachan . .

Spa ....
Nethy Brid e .

Shortest

Telegraphic Address. Page

Hotel, Lochearnhead . . 72
Western, Oban .... 73
King's Arms, Oban ... 75
Fisher's, Pitlochry ... 76
Moulin Hotel, Pitlochry . 77
Scotland, Pitlochry ... 75
Carmichael, H'l, St. Fillans 77
Ross, Hotel, Broadford . 78
Sligachan Inn .... 78
Wallace, Strathpeffer . . 80
Hotel, Nethy Bridge . . 79
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WINDERMERE HYDRO.,
BOWNESS-ON-WINDERMERE.

5 mins. from

BOWNESS
PIER.

'Bus from
Wmere Station.

For Prospectus,

apply—^ MANAGER.

GEO. HOLLAND,
HOUSE AGENT,

Lake View Villas, Board & Lodging Houses,
BOWNESS-ON-WINDERMERE.

WITH OR WITHOUT ATTENDANCE, LINEN d: PLATE.
Elevated Site, Grand Views of Lake and Mountains. Terraced

Gardens. Five minutes' walk to Bowness Pier. Excellent Steamer
^ervico. 'Bus to all Trains at Windermere (L. & N. W,) Station.

LIST OF HOUSES TO LET CN ////.(/. i f\.



Srxitlmrir.

EDINBURGH
HYDROPATHIC,

SLATEFORD, MIDLOTHIAN.

TeUgrapMc
Address

—

Hydropathic,
Slateford."

Telephone-

No. 1925.

In a lovely Country District, immediately,beyond the Western
Boundary of the City.

Fine Bracing Air off the Pentland Hills equal

to that of Braemar.

EXTENSIVE GROUNDS.
The Largest and Finest Lawns in Scotland for Croquet,

Lawn Tennis, and Bowls,

HALF-MILE CYCLE COURSE, &c.

TOURNAMENTS FOR LAWN TENNIS AND
CROQUET.

DARK ROOM FOR PHOTOGRAPHY.
COMPLETE SYSTEM OF BATHS.

SWIMMING BATH, 50x22 feet.

Terms from £2 12s. 6d. per week.

Frequent Service to City (in 20 Minutes), Fare, 3d.



t';|0mirjg| ^witres to Btoihnij, tft.
AZiIi AT WST PRICES.

" So far ahead of any other series of Guide Books, that there can scarcely be
said to be a good second to it."

—

Saturday Review.

"Tliis work (Scotland, Part I.) will do more to open up the outlying and
secluded glens of Scotland than any influence yet exerted by literature."

Dundee Advertiser

.

" In clearness and accuracy of cartography this series is unapproached."
Academy.

"Every one wlio has had occasion to consult Mr. Baddeley's Guide Books
knows how largely their value depends on the ' thoi'oughness ' of the author's

personal examination of the routes traversed and described. Indeed his acquain-
tance with the by-ways of travel is amazing, and the present edition of ' Scotland

'

surpasses all its predecessors in accuracy and exhaustiveness of detail."

Scottish Geographical Magazine.

From " The Times," 28th July, 1900.

" We are not surprised tliat Mr. Baddeley's Scotland, Part I., has reached
a nintli edition. It has all the best features of tlie guides with which Mr.
Baddeley's name is associated—systematic, careful and discriminating and well

up-to-date. Twenty more pages" have been added to this edition, giving new-

railways, wliile there are 49 admirable maps by Bartliolomew."

From the "Daily Telegraph," 30th July, 1901.

" Mr. Baddeley's guide-books are well known to every tourist in the Britisli

Isles, whether lie travels by coach, cycle, or rail, or prefers tlie laborious delights

of tramping afoot. They are as accurate as human fallibility can make them,
they are bountifully supplied with excellent coloured maps which show every
road, and the descriptions of scenery are written with good literary taste— a
happy medium between the baldness" of some guide-books and the stil'ted jargon
of others."

SCOTLAND I., EDINBUBGH AND GLASGOW AND THE
HIGHLANDS as far as Aberdeen, Inverness, and Stornoway. 50 Maps
and Plans. 6.5. 6t/.

SCOTLAND II., NORTHERN HIGHLANDS, Inverness and Aberdeen
to Cape Wrath and John O'Groats. 14 Maps and Plans. 35. M.

SCOTLAND III., THE LOWLANDS, including Edhiburgh and Glasgow
as in Part I. 20 Maps and Plans. 4*-,

ORKNEY AND SHETLAND, 9 Maps and Plans. 1*-. 6^/, cloth ; l.s. paper

ENGLISH LAKES, 16 Maps and Plans. 5s.

YORKSHIRE, 30 Maps and Plans, 5*. (in parts, 3s. and 2s. Qd.).

DERBYSHIRE (Peak), 10 Maps and Plans. 3s. M.
EASTERN COUNTIES, 21 Maps and Plans. 3s. Qd.

SURREY AND SUSSEX, 19 Maps and Plans. 3s. 6(/.

CORNWALL AND DEVON (North), 23 Maps and Plans. 3s. 6(/.

CORNWALL AND DEVON (Soutb), 22 Maps and Plans, 4s.

ISLE OF WIGHT, 8 Maps and Plans. 2s. M.
WALES (North), 33 Maps and Plans, 5s. (in parts, 3s. and 2s. Qd.)

WALES (South), 19 Maps and Plans. 3s. 6c?.

IRELAND (North), 20 Maps and Plans. 4s.

IRELAND (South), 26 Maps and Plans. 5s.

Edited by M. J. B. Baddkley, B.A., and C. S. WARD, M.A.

Maps by Bartholomew.
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fourth £dition. 637 pp., with New Map, i6.

Also Published ( p^rt I. SotJTH Europe. ) ^*<'^ Volume

TwoFurts:- { Part II. North Africa and Islands,
j *PricefS?6d!

MEDITERRANEAN
WINTER RESORTS.

A Complete and Practical Guide to the Principal

Health and Pleasure Resorts on the Shores of the Mediterranean.

With Special Articles on the Principal Invalid Stations

by Resident English Physicians.

By E. A. REYNOLDS-BALL, B.A., F.R.G.S.
Author of "Cairo of To-day," "Jerusalem," &c.

A special feature in this Edition are the Chapters on new
and rising Winter Stations, such as Biskra, Helouan, Luxor
and Assouan in North Africa ; Ospedaletti, Rapallo, Spezia in

Italy, and Syracuse and Taormina in Sicily.

EXTRACTS FROM REVIEWS.
" Written with trustworthy knowledge and a light hand."— World,
" Remarkably few errors. In this Mr. Reynolds-Ball is far ahead

of Baedeker."

—

Queen.
'

' Readers may feel assured of its impartiality, and can confide

in its advice. "

—

Scotsman.
" Within its limits one of the best books of the kind that has come

under our notice."

—

Lancet.
" Special care appears to have been taken by the Author to give the

most recent and reliable information. "

—

Field.

"It is easily seen that the author writes from personal experience,
and we have not detected a single error throughout the book. We have
no hesitation in saying that this small compact handbook should be
found on the study table of every practitioner."

—

Practitioner.

" Contains a larger amount of practical information respecting these
Health Resorts than any other work dealing with this subject. The
facts are presented in a very interesting manner, and the excellent

arrangement makes reference easy. It will prove a valuable handbook
for physicians as well as for invalids,"

—

Medical Anmcal.

London: KEGAN PAUL, TRENCH, & CO:, Ltd.,
Charing Cross Road, W.C.

Paris: THE GALIGNANI LIBRARY, 224, Rue de Rivoli.

Also on Sale at the Bookstalls of the Principal French Ra/ilway Stations, and
at the ConUnental Offices of Messrs. THOMAS COOK & SON, and HENMT
GAZE & SONS, Limited.



A, DUTHIE,
PHOTOGRAPHIC AMD FINE ART DEALER,

426 & 428 SAUCHIEHALL STREET,
GLASGOW.

iPbOtO^CapbS of Glasgow and the Clyde, Loch Lomond, the
Trossachs, Edinburgh, &c. Best views. Various sizes.

The largest selection in Scotland.

lBtchU\Q6f Bngravinge, Ipbotogravures, Sic, from 120.
6D. to £10 100., of the Principal and Latest Works of Peter
Graham, E.A., John Pettie, K.A., Joseph Farquharson, A.R.A.,
John McWhirter, R.A., and other eminent Scottish Artists.

ButOtgpea, Carbons, Sic, from is. to £2 26. of repre-

sentative pictures by Rembrandt, Corot, Millet, Josef Israels,

Greuze, &c.

1RcprOt>UCtion6 in various styles of the principal pictures in

the National Gallery, London; Scottish National Gallery,

Edinburgh ; Walker Art Gallery, Liverpool ; Glasgow Cor-
poiation, and other Collections.

1b0U^er'6 jplattnOt^peS of the Works of Sir E. Burne-Jones,
G. F. Watts, D. G. Roasetti, Albert Moore, &c.

ARTISTIC PICTURE FRAMING A SPECIALTY.



BAKEWELL
THE RUTLAND ARMS HOTEL.
UNDER new management, entirely refurnished and internally re-

constructed and improved. Fishing free to visitors in the river Wye,
seven miles. Good stabling. Posting. Only three miles from Haddon and
Ghatsworth. Good Golf Links within ten minutes* walk.

TERMS VERY MODERATE.

Proprietor, T. TYACBL(Late of the New Bath Hotel, Matlock Bath).

Telephone -. No. 12, Bakewell. 'BUS AT STATION.

BTJIXITOlNr.

THE GEORGE FAMILY HOTEL.
A First-class House, adjoining the Baths and Pavilion Gardens

;

near the Church and Railway Station ; Suites of Rooms, without

staircases, for Invalids ; Public Dining and Drawing Rooms

;

Private Sitting Rooms ; Billiard, Reading, and Smoke Rooms.
Every convenience pertaining to a good modern Hotel.

Moderate Terms. The House is detached, and has a splendid

situation ; well sheltered.

ELECTRIC LIGHT THROUGHOUT.
For Terms apply to W. F. MILIj, Proprietor.

Telephone, No. 0448.

Telegrams;—"Crescent Hotel, Buxton."

OEBSCENT HOTEL,
IB XT 3SC x* o ziar.

FIRST-CLASS. Best situation. Covered Colonnade to Baths,
Gardens, Opera House, &c. Suites of apartments for

Families. Booms on ground-floor level if required.

Lighted throughout by Electricity.

TABLE D'HOTE AT SEPARATE TABLES. NEW LOUNGE.

EXCELLENT CUISINE. CHOICE WINES. BILLIARDS.

Natitmal Telephone No. 20. CHAS. J. SMILTER, Proprietor.
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BALMORAL PRIVATE HOTEL,
MARLBOROUGH ROAD.

BEAUTIFULLY SITUATED NEAR MINERAL BATHS,

GARDENS, STATION, &c.

Comfortably Heated during Winter.

Telegrams -" Balmoral, Buxton." Telephone No. 0481-

Proprietress, Mrs. LEE (Late of Ilkley).

THE NEW BATH HOTEL.
AFIKST-CLASS Family and Residential Hotel, with all

modern Improvements and every Comfort, standiDg in its

own extensive and Ornamental Grounds. Situated in the most

picturesque part of the Peak of Derbyshire. During the summer
driving parties daily to Haddon Hall, Chatswortb, and Dovedale.

Good Fishing in the District.

TENNIS. CROQUET.

GOLF LINKS ON THE DRY LIMESTONE GROUND

CLOSE TO THE HOTEL.

MOTOR HOUSE, with Pit. Certificated Repairer.

Large Natural Tepid Swimming Batli in the Hotel.

Stabling and Coach Houses.

Sanitary arrangements perfect. Ten ninutes from Railway

Station, Omnibus meets all Trains.

TARIFF ON APPLICATION.

National Telephone, No. 39.
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gtbonB^xxt,

Central for the whole of North Devon, including Westward
Ho ! Clovelly, Hartland, Bude, Ilfracombe, and Lynton.

Four-in-hand Coaches in the Season to above places.

Adjoining Bail-
way Station with
private entrance
from platform.

ROYAL HOTEL, ^"'°°'"'""

BIDEFORD.
THE MOST MODERN HOTEL IN WEST OF ENGLAND

River Ton'idge
and

Old Bridge.

^•"^cJ-^/^S
"'" COKTINEHTAL COURTYARD

Completely sheltered from E. & N.E. winds

Ventilation& Sanitary
Arrangements Perfect.

French
md Qerman

spolten.

*^ PlEST-CLASS

Sorses and

Hot & Cold
BATHS.

Finest

stabling and

Lock-up

Ooach-house

in

Devonshire.

CHARLES KINGSLEY S ROOM.

For situation the Royal is probably unequalled in the North of
Devon, and from its size and the admirable way in which it is fitted out
must be regarded as one of the best Hotels in the West of England. It

stands amid the interesting spots and charming scenery made notorious
by Westward Ho J and is within easy distance of the many romantic
nooks with which the North Devon coast abounds. A portion of the
Hotel, built a.d. 1688, was formerly the mansion of a merchant prince,

and retains the magnificent oak staircase and suite of state rooms, the
ceilings of which are said to be of the grandest in the country, being the
work of Italian artists 200 years ago. In the Drawing Room (see block)
Charles Kingslbt wrote a portion of Westward Ho I and on one of the
panels hangs a portrait (said to be by Van Dyck) of John Strange, the
grandfather of Rose Salteme (the fickle "Rose of the Torridge"),
immortalised in Westward Ho I— Vide Public Press.

" BiDEFOBD.—Chiefly remarkable for having a first-rate hotel."
PwicTi, Oct. 6, 1880.
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NEW INN FAMILY HOTEL.
The Oldest, Largest, and Principal Hotel in the Town.

PRIVATE SITTING ROOMS WITH EXCELLENT VIEWS.
The house is pleasantly situated in the centre of the town,

overlooking the river Torridge, and other Hotels.

Proprietor of the Clovelly and Bude Coaches in connection
with the L. & S. 'W. Railway.

HOT AND COLD BATHS. BILLIA.RDS, TWO TABLES.

H. ASCOTT, Proprietor.

TANTON'S HOTEL.
(Unrivalled Position.)

The best centre for visitors to North Devon, Kingsley and
Tennyson countries.

" Most comfortable hotel in every way."

—

Sporting and Dramatic.

Famous for its First-class Cuisine. Moderate Tariff and *'En

Pension" terms.

V^. GIDDIE, Proprietor.

ILPRACOMBE.

Granville Boarding Establishment.
MAGNIFICENT SEA AND LAND VIEWS.

FINEST DRAWING-ROOM IN THE TOWN

45 BEDROOMS. BATHS. BILLIARDS.

W. B. FOSTEB, Proprietor.
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NEW LONDON HOTEL,
EXETER.

FIRST-CLASS FAMILY HOTEL.

Patronised hy H.M. the King, when Prince of Wales, and

T.R.H. the Duke and Duchess of York.

ADJOINING NORTHERNHAY PARK and NEAR THE
CATHEDRAL AND STATIONS.

Charming Old English Courtyard as Lounge.

TABLE D'HOTE. PERFECT CUISINE. NIGHT PORTER.

Hotel Omnibuses and Cabs,

Posting, Stabling, and Motor Garage.

Telegrams to ''POPLE, EXETER."

WJ^Imckcottocjez.

GHEEH Bfll^K HOTEL.
IS beautifully situated, with charmino- views of the Harbour,

Pendennis and St. Mawes' Castles; and is replete with

every Homely Acc?ommodation for Families and Gentlemen,

Hot and Cold Baths. Ladies' Drawing Eoom. Billiard Room.
Posting in all its branches. High-class Hotel with Moderate
Tariff. Visitors taken en pension during Winter Months.

Hotel 'Bus meets all Trains and Steamers.

M. IVIITCHELL, Proprietress.
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LYNTON, NORTH DEVON,

ROYAL m CASTLE

PA.TR0NI5ED by the English and Continental Royal Families. First-class
Hotel, especially favourite and attractive. Table d'hote. Reading and

Drawing Rooms. New Loungp. Smoking and Billiard Rooms, all facing the
Sea, Magnificent Vi^ws and Ornamental Grounds of Nine Acres. Electric
Light throughout. Charmine"ly situated.

MOTOR GARAGE AND PETROL.
For Tariff apply MANAGERESS.

Telegrams: "Oastle, Lynton."

LYNTON, NORTH DEVON,

The Valley of Rocks Hotel.
Largest & Principal.

Situated in
Offn Magnificent

Grounds.

600 feet above
and facing Sea.

Electric Light.

J. W. HOLMAN.
Resident Owner.

Telegrarm:
" Holman, Lynton."



32

LYNTON COTTAGE HOTEL
Late Residence of Sir C. Smith.

ZiVNTON, NORTH DEVON.

SHELTERED AND SUNNY.
rpHIS Hotel is uniquely and picturesquely situated in its own beautifully wooded grounds
-•- five hundred feet above the sea, commanding unsurpassed land and marine views, Re-
plete with every modem convenience and home comforts.

HUNTING. GOLF. BILLIARDS. CHOICE WINES. POSTING.
Two miles Private Trout Fishing: for Hotel Visitors.

rete^rams; "Cottage Hotel, Lynton." EDWARD HOIiE, Proprietor.

LYNMOUTH, NORTH DEVON.

THE LYNDALE HOTEL.
ENGLISH SWITZERLAND.

FIEST- CLASS and old established. Facing the Bristol

Channel, two minutes' walk from the beach, and overlooking

the River Lyn. Fitted with electric light and modern improve-

ments. Good smoking and billiard rooms.

SALMON AND TROUT FISHING.
Coaches run from the Hotel to Ilfracombe, Minehead, &c.

ALL CHARGES STRICTLY MODERATE.
Mrs. TOM S. BEVAN, Proprietress.

Telegraphic Address: "LYNi>i.LE, Ltnmoxjth."
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MINEHEAD.

Hotel Metropole
The Largest and Most Modern Hotel

in Minehead.

Standing in its own Grounds of Several Acres.

Re-decorated and partly re-farnished. Electric Light

in Every Room. Heated throughout. Directly Facing

the Sea, Five Minutes from Golf Links (18 holes), One

Minute from Station.

GOOD BATHING.

SPLENDID TENNIS and

CROQUET LAWNS.

COACHING, &c
FIRST - CLASS STABLING.

Central for Meets of Devon and Somerset Staghounds,

and other Packs.

IMC. IWCO^V«r-A.T.
'I'degrams: " Methupole, MiMiiitAU. '
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.

(IN CENTRE OF STAG HUNTING DISTRICT.)

Visitors, Tourists and Families, will find Every Accommodation

comlined with Moderate Charges.

Great Western Kailway Coaches from Minehead, also Lynton and
Lynmouth, call daily at this old-established Hotel.

Posting in all its Branches.
0-00X5 STABLES j^J<riD LOOST^ BOXES.

WILLIAM HOOK, Proprietor.

QX7

GRAND HOTEL.
BEST POSITION.

FACING SEA. NEAREST STATION.

BOOKSELLER & STATIONER,
GRASMERE.

Depot for a 1 the best GUIDE BOOKS and MAPS of the
LAKE DISTRICT.

H Xarge Stocft ot Xocal OLiterature,
Including all the latest editions of the Lake Poets and other

Authors.

:fhotogiiaphs, artists' materials.
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m HOMELAND HANDBOOKS.
No. Cloth. Paper.

1. TONBRIDGE FOR THE ANGLER, THE HOLIDAY-
MAKER, AND THE RESIDENT

2. TUNBRIDGE WELLS OF TO-DAY
3. "LONDON TOWN." By Eric Hammond
4. "LYONESE": THE ISLES OF SCILLY
5. "WOLFE-LAND": THE WESTERHAM DISTRICT,

KENT. By Gibson Thompson ...

6. "KENT'S CAPITAL": MAIDSTONE. Second Edition

7. CROYDON, NEW AND OLD. Second Edition, with Map
8. DARTMOOR AND ITS SUBRODNDLNGS ...

9. ROCHESTER & CHATHAM WITH PEN & CAMERA
10. REIGATE AND REDHILL
11. "SURREY'S CAPITAL": GUILDFORD & DISTRICT
12. DULVERTON AND DISTRICT: THE COUNTRY

OF THE WILD liED DEER
13. FARNHAM AND ITS SURROUNDINGS. Intro-

duction by the late Edna Lyall. Map
14. GODALMIHG AND ITS SURROUNDINGS
15. TEIGNMOUTH AND ITS SURROUNDINGS
16. HASTINGS AND ST. LEONARDS. With Plan ...

17. EPSOM AND ITS SURROUNDINGS (1902)

18. MINEHEAD, PORLOCK, AND DUNSTER: THE
SEABOAttD OP JiXMOOR

19. CRANBROOK: THE TOWN OF THE KENTISH
WEALD. 2nd Ed. (1902), with Map. By S. Martin.

20. DAWLISH & THE ESTUARY OF THE EXE (1902)

21. ST. ALBANS: ITS ABBEY & ITS SURROUNDINGS
22. BROMLEY, BECKENHAM AND CHISLEHURST
23. EXETER AND THE CATHEDRAL
24. KINGSTON -UPON -THAMES AND SURBITON ...

25. EVESHAM AND ITS NEIGHBOURHOOD, INCLUD-
ING BROADWAY. With Map

26. PETWORTH & MID-WEST SUSSEX. With Map
27. NEW«iUAY, THE VALE OF LANHERNE & PER-

RANZABULOE. By Fannie Goddard. With Map (1903) 1/-

28. HASLEMERE AND HINDHEAD
29. TAUNTON AND TAUNTON DEANE
30. LITTLEHAMPTON, ARUNDEL, aND AMBERLEY
31. TAVISiOCK AND ITS SURKuUNDINGS ...

32. PLYMOUTH : THE METROPOLIS OF THE WEST
33. THE CHALFONT COUNTRY
34. DUNSTABLE : THE DOWNS & THE DISTRICT..
35. THE QUANTOCK HILLS
36. OXTED. LIMPSFIELD, AND EDENBRIDGE

WEEK-ENDS IN DICKENS. LAND. With Map ..

WEEK-ENDS IN HOP LAND. With Map
Handbooks for many other Towns and Districts are in actit^^.

V-
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.A. 3MC^ xi. z: S X x> xs
Tbe principal centre of tbe Englisb Xake District.

THE SALUTATION HOTEL, THE QUEEN'S HOTEL,

& THE WATERHEAD HOTEL,
(Standing on the margin of Windermere Lake)

Are replete with eveiV comfort and convenience, and offer First-c'ass .

Accommodaiion to Families and Tourists.

GOIiF IZOrKS "WZTHZNT SHORT DZSTAHrCE.
Taylor's Four-in-Fand Stage Coaches leave the flotels and Waterhead
Pier several times i^aily for KESWIOK, C0NI3T0N, ULLSWATER, and

THE LANGDALES, returning in time for Table d'Hole.

POSTING IN AiL ITS BRANCHES. ' GOOD STABLING.
For Tariff and Information apply to—

THOMAS TiLTX.OR, Proprietor.

BUTTERMERE HOTEL
SPLENDIDLY SITUATED.

OVERLOOKING BUTTERMERE AND CRUMMOCK LAKES.
CENTR.\L FOR MOUNTAIN CLIMBING-

GOOD FISHING AND BOATING.

COACHES DAILY FROM KESWICK, via HONISTER PASS.

TARIFF MODERATE.
P.'Stal Address: Telegraphic Address :

BuT'iERMERE, OOCKERMOUTET.
'

BUTTEBMERE HOTEL.

JAMES EDMONDSON, Proprietor.

'CT'.A.X.XS O IE* G;- XS, .A^S IKC X3 XC S

BALDRY'S 'MOSS GROVE"
FIRST-CLASS PRIVATE HOTEL.

(100 yards North of the Chm-ch),

CofTee-room and Public Drawing-room recently Enlarged.

THIS Hotel has been established to provide visitors to the Lake Distri

with high-class accommodaiion at a r<asonable tariff, particulars of

which will be forwarded on application to E. H. Baldrt, Proprietor.

Coaches to all parts of the Lake District, char-a-baucs run to and from

the" Hotel, and meet all the Steamers at Waterhead Pier.

Carriages Ordered and Parties met by Appointment.

S. H. BAX«X>XIY, Proprietor,
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CO"^PEBTH^/7AITE'S

PRINCE OF WALES
HOTEL,

Patronised by H.R.H. The Prince of Wales, The Duke of Connaught,
and the Nobility.

Delightfully situated on the shore of the Lake, within two minutes'

walk of Dove Cottaqe, the early home of Wordsworth, aivd six minutes'

walk of Grasmere Chv/rch.

"The loveliest spot that man hath ever found."—Woedswohth.

r

VIEW OP HOTEL FEOM THE LAKE.

Coaches Daily to Keswick, TJllswater, Lanedales, Ooniston, Winder-
mere, and round Tiiirltnere. Direct pony-traclisto Eisedale Tarn, Borrowdale,
D jrwentwater, TJllswater, and the tops of Helvellyn and Fairfield.

Commitnication by Tlfirough Trains :
—

FromLondon (byL. &N. W. R. to Windermere, and thence by coach), in 7J hrs.

t» t> (by Midland &Fnrness Railways, and np Lake Windermere), ill 8 hrs.

Te Ugraph: " Prince Hotel, Grasmere/ J, COWPPRTHWAITE,
PaOPBIUXOK.
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GRASMERE.
" The loveliest spot that ever man hath tound."—Wordsworth.

The ROTHAY HOTEL,
MOST CENTRAL Hotel in the Lake District, with extensive

Grounds. Adjoining the Church.

Now recognised as the Coaching Centre. Coaches to Coniston

(Buskin's home and burial-place), UUswater, Keswick, and the

Langdales, daily.

NEW GOLF LINKS JUST OPENED.

Best Centre for Climbers. J. COWPERTHWAITE, PropFJetor.

UNDER SAME MANAGEMENT.

PRINCEofWALES LAKE HOTEL
The only Hotel situated near the Lake, with extensive grounds

sloping to the water's edge.

Omnibus meets all Furness Co.'s Steamers at Ambleside.

TARIFF ON APPLICATION.

DUNGEON GHYLL HOTELS,
GREAT LANGDALE, near Ambleside.

Close to Dungeon Ghyll and the Langdale Pikes.

MOST conveniently situated for the ascent of Scafell and
Bowfell ; or for crossing the Passes to Wastwater, Borrow-

dale, <fec. The best Guides, Conveyances, and Mountain Ponies,

may be had at the Hotels (old and new) ; also all information

respecting mountains and mountain passes.

JOS. YOUDELL, Proprietor.
The ** New Hotel " holds the Official Appointment of the General

Towbist'p O^yp. It is also Head-Quarters of the C. T, Q,
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THE DUN BuLl HOTEL
The ONLY Hotel on Haweswater (the Highest Lake in England)*

Strongly ^ecomm^wdwd hy mdical men for fine, bracing climate. ~:,

This Hotel is f-ituated at toe £o t of Higa Street and Nan Rield Pass, and
is odmit':e(Jly the best centre for ascent' on To hills l>ing between TJllswater
and Late Windermere. Within easy reach of

SMALL-"WATER, Bi.EA-WATER, HAYES-WATER,
In -w^hich and Contributing Streams Excellent Fibbing may

be had F'ee.

Book to Shap or Penrith (L. &N.W.), Parties met on receipt
of Letter or Wire.

Postal Address: "Maedale, Pei^rith." TARIFF ON APPLICATION
Proprietor, HARRY USHER.

CROWN AND MITRE HOTEL.
BAMPTON GRANGE, HAWESWATER.

The only Hotel in the fine Mountain District lying between Shap,

Haweswater and Mardale, and Uilswater.

BRACING AIR. CHARMING SCENERY.
GOOD FISHING in River Lowther, and Little Water Tarn, &g.

Parties met at Penrith and Shap Station {L. & N.W.)
when required.

Postal Address : " GEORGE CLARK,
Hampton Grange, Hawetwater, Nr. Penrith.'

Telegrams to " Clarke, Hotel, Bampton Grange,"

Mr. HERBERT J. MARYON
ARTIST CRAFTSMAN,

Exhibitor at the Arts and Crafts, London, and other Exhibitions, is pre-
pared to receive Commissions for Metal Work of all kinds.

CHALLENGE CUPS AND SHIELDS.

PROCESSIONAL CROSSES & ALTAR FURNITCJRE, CHALICES, &c.

MEMORIAL TABLETS, PRESENTATION PLATE,

LESSONS MAY BE ARRANGED BY APPOINTMENT. .

SKETCHES AND ESTIMATES FREE.

LAIRTHWAITE COTTAGE, VICARAGE HILL, KESWICK.
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(gnglts^ yaks. ^f;

Special Boarding Terms, October \st to July 1st, |

TARIFF ON APPLICATION.
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(Snglxs^ yaks.

KING'S HEAD HOTEL,
THIRLSPOT, near gRASMERE.

On the main road from Keswick (5^ miles) to Windermere (15|
miles) and the nearest to Keswick on the grand new Circular Drive
of Thirlmere ; 1| miles from the Great Dam, and close by the
" Castle Bock of Triermain."

Shortest Ascent of Helvellyn on Keswick side. Guide, 5s.;

Pony, 58.

BEAUTIFUL SCENERY. COMFORT. BED and BREAKFAST, 4s.

JAMES EASTON, Proprietor,

THIRLMERE.

NAG'S HEAD HOTEL,
WYTHBURN, near GRASMERE.

On main road from Windermere (13 miles) to Keswick (8 miles),
and the splendid Circular Tour of Thirlmere,

Shortest and easiest ascent of Helvellyn. Horses and
mountain-ponies.

COFFEE-ROOM ENLARGED. COMFORT & MODERATE CHARGES.

EDWARD EASTON, Proprietor.
Late JANE EASTON.

HOWTOWN HOTEL.
Postal Address—POOLEY BRIDGE, PENRITH.

HOWTOWN is situated by the side of the beautiful bay at the end of the
first reach d Uliswater. It is 4 miles from Pooley Bridge (nearest

Tel. Off.). 6 f'Om Patterdale, 9 from Penrith Station, 5 from the majestic
" High street," and 1| hours' walk from Haweswater.

The Hotel has recently been enlarged and under gone extensive alterations.
It now affords every accommodation for visitors, is entirely under new
management, with every comfort of home guarantee d.

There is excellent Trout Fish'ng in the Lake, also in the Streams close by.
Boats can be hired from the Hotel. Steamer Pier is within three minutes'
walk from Hotel. Steimboat calls 8 times daily.

Parties taken in to Board and Lodge on
Reasonable Terms.
WAXiTER BiiZiOitY, Proprietor.
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2^3
Conveyances to all Parts of the^^istrict.

BIXiIiZARDS, BOATSy dec.

rdrC
a fl
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RIGG'S~HOTELS.

RIGG'S WINDERMERE HOTEL
WINDERMERE.

Nearest Hotel io the Lake District to the West Coast
Eoute to Scotland.

Convenient to Windermere Railway Station (L. & N. W. Railway).
Telephone No. 6. Telegram.s : " Riggs, Windermere."

*RIGG'S CROWN HOTEL,
BOWNESS-ON-WINDERMERE.

Stands on an eminence, close to Lake, Steamer and Boating Piers.

Telephone No. 3. Telegrams : " Crown, Windermere."

*RIGG'S BELSFIELD HOTEL,
BOWNESS-ON-WINDERMERE.

Standing in extensive grounds, close to Lake, Steamer and
Boating Piers.

Refurnished throughout by Waring & Gillow, Ltd.
Telephone No. 23. Telegrams: "Belsfield, Windermere."

* NEAREST HOTELS TO GOLF LINKS.

All the Hotels have the Electric Light throughout, and have
situations which command the finest views of Lake, Mountain,

and Landscape Scenery.

Four-in-Hand Coaches leave the Hotels daily during the
Summer Seasoa for all Parts of the District

POSTING IN ALL ITJS BRANCHES.
Tariffs win be forwarded on application—

RIQHARP RIGG^ Proprietor,
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BilliardSi Hot and Cold Baths, Lawn Tennis, &c.

SPLENDID GOLF COURSE
WITHIN EAST DISTANCE.

Four-in-Hand Coaches daily throughout the
season to Coniston, Grasmere, Keswick,

Ullswater, and the district generally.

^^ Omnibuses attend all Trains at Windermere^ Station ; also at the Steamboat Pier, the Boats fromQ Lake Side (terminus of the Midland and Furness
route) and Ambleside.

1
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SWAN HOTEL NEWBY
'9 BRIDGE.

At the foot of WINDERMERE LAKE.
Within a mile of Lake Side Station and Steamboat Pier of

the Furness Railway.

ONE of the oldest Hostelries in the English Lake District,

and patronised for a century past by the Celebrities of the
day, the good old-fashioned style being studiously retained by the
present Proprietor, Tarifif economically arranged. One of the
most charming Ketreats in the Lake District. For Boating, Fishing,

lovely Walks and Drives, and for retirement, this Hotel is un-
surpassed in the district.

GOLF LINKS (9 Holes) 10 Minutes from Hotel.

EDWIN WAUGtH says—" Home-like and well furnished."

NATHANIEL HAWTHORNE says—" The gem of the Lakes.'

Guides generally say—" One of the loveliest beauty-spots."

IMPROVED SERVICE OF THROUGH TRAINS.

Spacious Coffee Room. Table d'hote (Separate Tables).

LUNCHEONS AND AFTERNOON TEAS A SPECIALITY.

Postal Address : "Swan Hotel, Newby Bridge, Ulverston."

Telegrams :
" Revell, Newby Bridge."

T„ TRP.Trg'^gT-Tmr-Tr- Proprietor.

NORTH WALES.

PART 1 3s. Net.

PART II 2s. 6d. Net.

Parts I. & II. in Volume, price 5s. Net.
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THE SLIEVEMORE HOTEL, DUGORT, AGHILL ISLAND.
CO. MAYO, IRELAND.

T>EMODELLED and enlarged tu inaet the lequiremeuts caused by the
J-*' New Railway to the Island, prouioted by Mr A. .1. IJalf'mr. jjitaated
in the iai)r>ediate vicinity of the Grand Mouutaius of Slie eiuore and "run-
glif nn, and the Menawn " Cathedral " Clili's ; cloeie to tue Bathing-strands and
the Seal Cares of Dugort, The cooling breeze from the Atlantic in summer
makes the air of Achill most charming, and pe >ple suffering from dyspepsia
or nervous exhaustion are greatly beuetited by a short stay in the Island.
The trips to the adjacent islands by b.)at are very iuteredtmg to the anti-

quarian, naturalist, and pleasure seeker. Good white and brown trout-fish.ng
and shooting now attached to the Uotol. Hot, Cold, a.id Sex- water Battis on
the Premises.

Long Cars meet the Trains at Acliiil Soand to conoey the visitors through to

Dugort. Special arrangements can he made if visitors will correspond with the
Proprietor.
Telegrams :" Dugort, Achill." JOHN* SJKERISii. <.V.

GLENCOLUMBKILLE HOTEL,
CARRICK, CO. DONEGAL.

TOUEISTS AND ANGLEBS will find the above a most com-

fortable Hotel, situated in the centre of the beet c-ltlf sceneiy

in the British Isles, and with'n easy reach of the famous < liffjj of

Slieve League, Glen Head, and Muckioss.

GOOD SALMON, SEA TROUT, & BROWN TRJUT FISHING,

FREE TO GUESTS AT THE HOTEL,

Two Eivcrs and several Lakes, all quite close to Hotel.

COUNTY DONEGAL.

(ON LOUGH S WILLY).

THIS exc llcut Hotel,- which Hftorda tir&t-clu.-s accommudu-
tion a: d every comfort lo faiuiJies, Gulft^s, and oiher

tourists, is n- X '-'it^ently situattd, with soulherii asj)ect, and
commands sea and mountain views of uiuLehlefes beauty. The
Golf Links (iS hole?) are the most sportiug and picturesque in

the country. Goo I Lake and Sea Fishiug. Boatin^', Bathing,

Tennis, Croq lut, Liili.iids, C^ c' j ,^tore, &c.

Route via I.ondc.derry awd T,u! ' :i::illen: thence by Coach

daihj on arrival of mil- ty Steamer.

Teiegram3: ' jff irL, tortsalcn. " fcr {i.j tjoulars apply Manager.



47

CO. KERRY.

LESUETRAfLWATifbTEL
Paironisedhy E.B.H. PRINCE ALBERT OF PRUSSIA and by

His Ex. LORD HOUGETON.
THIS commoriious and First-class Hotel is pleasantly situated, facing

Valencia Harbour, and contains Colfee and Commercial Rooms, Private
Sitting Rooms, well-appointed find airy Bed Rooms, Smoke and Billiard
Rooms, Bath Room (hot and cold), splendid Lavatory.
Four-in-hand Tourist Coaches start from this Hotel lor "Waterville, Derry-

nane, Parknasilla, and Kenmare.

40,000 ACRES OF MIXED SHOOTING FOR VISITORS.
Sea Bathing Lodgfs to be Lft.

Sea and River Fishing. Excursions daily in the Harbour.
Telegrams—"Leslie's Hotel, Cahirciveen."

W. J. LESLIE, Proprietor.

AIiI. AT ITBT PRICES.

From " The Times" 2Sth July, 1900.

" We are not surprised that Mr. Baddeley's Scotland, Part I., has reached
a ninth edition. It has all the best features of the guides with which Mr.
Baddeley's name is associated—systematic, careful and discriminating and well
up-to-date. Twenty more pages have been added to this edition, giving new
railways, while there are 49 admirable maps by Bartholomew."

SCOTLAND I., EDINBURGH AND GLASGOW AND THE
HIGHLANDS as far as Aberdeen, Inverness, and Stornoway. 50 Maps
and Plans. €s. M.

SCOlXaJND II., NORTHERN HIGHLANDS. Inverness and Aberdeen
to Gape Wrath and John o' Groats. 14 Maps and Plans. 3s. Qd.

SCOTLA^D III , ''HE LOWLANDS, including Edinburgh and Glasgow
as in Part I. 20 Maps and Plans. 4s.

ORKNEY AND SHETLAND, 9 Maps and Plans. Is. 6(Z. cloth ; Is. paper.

ENGLISH LAKES, 16 Maps and Plans. 5s.

YOKKSHIRE, 30 Maps and Plans, 5s. (in parts, 3s. and 2s. %d.)
DERBY SHIKE (Peak), 10 Maps and Plans. 3s. M.
E4.STERN COUNTIES, 21 Maps and Plans. 3s. M.
SUKHEY ANL> SUSSEX, 19 Maps and Plans. 3s. M.
CORNWALL AND DEVON (North), 23 Maps and Plans. 3s. M.
CORNWALL AMD DEVON (South), 22 Maps and Plans. 4s.

ISLE OF WIGHT, 8 Maps and Plans. 2s. M.
WALES (North), 33 Maps and Plans, 5s. (in Parts, 3s. and 2s. 6rf.) '

WALES (Sonth), 19 Maps and Plans. 3s. 6c7.

IRELAND (North), 20 Maps and Plans. 4s.

IRELAND (South), 26 Maps and Plans. 5s.

Written and Edited by M. J. B. Baddeley, B.A.. and ('. 8. Wahd, M.A
Maps by BARTHOLOMEW.



SHELBODRNE HOTEL,

CHARMING SITUATION OVERLOOKING STEPHEN'S
GREEN PARK.

MOST CENTRAL POSITION.

MODERATE CHARGES.

U^^f^'i?^ If
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3frclantr.

HOTEL MBTROPOLE,
SACKVILLE STREET. DUBLIN.

Telegrams :i" M^tropole Dublin.''

Contains all MODERINT ARRANGEMENTS to

secure the Comfort of Visitors.

Spacious Accommodation. Excellent Cuisine and Wines.

Passenger Lift to all Floors.

Electri') Light throughout. Moderate Charges.

THE HOTEL METROPOLE SOUVENIR GUIDE
Sent Free on Application.

Gf J* CAPSSV, Managrer.
i
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ULSTER~HOTEL^
GUILD HALL STREET and CUSTOM HOUSE STREET,

Situated in the Most Central Position in the City.

HOT, COLD, AND SHOWER BATHS.
Telsphone 163. Omnibus attends all Trains.

ELECTRIC LIGHT THROUGHOUT.
Proprietress, Miss KELLY.

SX.XO-0.

VICTORIA HOTEL
{FIRST CLASS),

Patronised by His Excellency the Lord Lieutenant (Earl
Dudley) and ihe Nobility and Gentry.

TOURISTS, Anglers, and Families will find every conveniencer
combined with cleanliness and moderate charges.

PRIVATE ROOMS, LADIES' SITTING ROOMS.
BATHS— HOT, COLD, AND SHOWER.

Gentlemen staying at this Hotel have the privilege of Free
Fishing for Salmon and Trout on Lough Gill. Boats for hire.

Posting in all its branches. Omnibus attends all trains.

•T. A. HALL, Pbopbietob.

XTbotougb (3utC)es»

ORKNEY & SHETLAND
WITH APPROACHES FROM

EDINBUBGH. ABERDEEN, THURSO,
AND THE

WSSTSRN KZaKZiANDS.
MEW^ EDITION NOW READY.

Cloth, Is. 6d.; Paper, Is.
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ggtalta.

ABERYSTWYTH
PEN'S HOTEL
^^
Facing

the Sea,

and

Lighted

by

Electricity.

^^
Soft Invigorating Atlantic Breezes, Pure Water from

Plinlimmon, and excellent drainage.

The late Sir James Clarke, M.D., said :
—" A fortnight at

Aberystwyth is equal to a month at most watering-places."

Boarding Terms from 12/6 per Day and 3| Guineas per Week.

TABLE d'HOTE at 7.30 o»clock.

Tarif on application to W. H. PALMER, Proprietor,

If

B..A.i?,iyi:oTrTs:
Inveruga." Board, &g. Charming sheltered situ-

ation on rising ground. Sunny S.W.
aspect. Near a pplendid beach. Extensive view of Cardigan
Bay and the Mountains of Merioneth and Carnarvon. Bracing
air. Abundant pure water supply. Hot and cold bathe, a.nd

private bathing box. Covered balcony on the sea-front. Excellent
cuisine. Certi&ad sanitation. Quarter mile from Station.
Established 1876. Mrs. J. KYNOCH.

"WILD FLOWERS OF BARMOUTH AND NEIGHBOURHOOD.'
LiBt of 750 plants.) 3rd Edition. 12 pp. Price 3d.

James Kynoch, Barmouth.
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iortj^ Males.

COACH TO PORTMADOC TWICE A DAY FROM THE HOTEL, RETURNING IN

THE AFTERNOON, ALL THE YEAR ROUND.

1

PRINCE LLEWELfN HOTEL, BEDDGELERT,
begs to inform Tourists and other Ladies and Gentlemen visiting

this beautiful and romantic spot that she has every accommodation
conducive to their comfort, and that Cars, &c. , can be obtained on
the shortest notice.

LUNCaEON READY TO MEET ALL CO/ICHB*?.

MENAI BRIDGE.

THE VICTORIA HOTEL
STANDS IN ITS OWN GROUNDS.

FIRST-BATE accommodation and reasonable charges. Omni-
buses to and from Bangor Station four times daily. The

Steamers to and from Liverpool and other places land passengers

at the New Pier, within three minutes' walk of the Hotel. Billiards.

Head-quarters C.T.O. Dark and Developing Boom for Photo-

graphers. Posting. Sea Bathing, Hot and Gold Baths, &c.

TARIFF ON APPLICATION.

A. THOMAS, Proprietress,
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LLANFAIRFEGHAN,
SEA VIEW

BOARDING HOME.
CLOSE to Station, Beach, Church, &c. Charm-

ing Garden, Cycle Accommodation, excellent

Water Supply, Sanitation perfect.

Under the personal superintendence of

The MISSES GATCHEIjIj.

LLANFAIRFEGHAN.

QUEEN'S HOTEL,
The Largest and

Best Appointed,

On the main Holyhead road. C.T.C. Head-qum'ters.

LLANFAIRFEGHAN is the most central of all the watering-places on
the coast of North Wales for the region of Saowdon :—7 miles from

Bangor, 12, from Beaumaris, 16 from Carnarvon, 25 from Llanberis (whence
by rail to top, 5), 29 to Beddgelert, 7 to Oonway, 11 to Llandudno, 23 to
Bettws-y-Ooed.

The rest of the Snowdon range within easy walking distance.

CHARMING SEA VIEWS.
XiANCEIiOT TARR, Proprietor.

Telegraphic Address : "Queen's, Llanfairfechan."

AULTBEA HOTEL,
ROSS-SHIRE, N.B.

RECENTLY re-erected and fitted up with all the latest modern
improvements, and luxuriously furnished. Hot and Cold Baths

and Sea Bathing. There are lovely sands in close proximity to the
house. The fresh-water Trout Fishing is excellent, and the Sea FiShing
is good ; all Free to Visitors. Special attention given to CycllstB.

For Rustic and Mountain Scenery the district is unsurpassed in the
Western Highlands.

TERMS STRICTLY MODERATE. POSTING & BOATING.
Telegraph Office within a Minute's Walk.

Route viA Swift Steamer from Oban to Gairloch, or Coach from
Aiichnasheen Station.

THOMAS MACKAE, Proprietor.
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ABERDEEN.
THE PALACE HOTEL

OWn^.Ti A.TJD MANAGED BY
THE GREAT NORIH OF SCOTLAND RAILWAY COMPANY.

FRONTS UNION STREET—IN MOST CENTRAL POSITION OF THE CITY.

Electrically Lighted. Mechanically Ventilated. Hydraulic Lifts.

EXCELLENT CUISINE. MODERATE CHARGES.

PERSONALLY PATRONISED BY
Their Majesties the Kin^ an<1 Qaeea ; Their Royal High- esses the Prince and

Princess of Wales; anri many other Royal and distingaishei Visitors.

COVERED WAY FROM STATION PLATFORM.
Hotel Porters aitend all Trains.

Luggage removed to and from the Hotel free of charge.

SPECIAL. - Visitors should be careful to address communications,
"PAI>A0K hotel. Aberdeen," otherwise inconvenience may arise.

M. H. McKILLIAM, Manager.

The Cruden Bay Hotd also owned hy the Great North of Scotland
Railway Company (see page 55).
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Seaside & Golfing'Resort, CRUDEN BAY.
THIRTV MILES BY RAIL FROM ABERDEEN.

Sp'endid Beach over Two Miles lon^. Sea Bathing, Boating, Fishing.

HEALTHY CLIMATE. BRACING AIR.

The Golf Course of 18 Holes, laid rut bv the Railway Company is

one of the best in the Kingdom. Ladies' Course of 9 Holes.

GRUDEN BAY HOTEL
OWNED B7

THE GREAT NORTH OF SCOTLAND RAILWAY COMPANY.
Occupies a charming site overlooking the Bay.

LIGSTED BY ELECrRTCITST. LIFT.
Special Accommodatton and Conveniences for Golfers.

BOWLING GREENS. TENNIS COURTS. CROQUET LAWNS.
Electric Tramway for Visitors hetvjeen Cruden Bay Station & Hotel.

Address Enquiries to W. I. TRENCHARD, Manager,
Cruden Bay Hotel, Port ErroU, N.B.

The Palace Hotel, Aberdeen, also oimed by the Great North of Scotland
Railway Compaaiy (seepage 54:.)
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WEEiVr~HOTEL,
TAY BRIDGE, ABERFELDY, PERTHSHIRE.

THIS WELL-KNOWN FAMILY HOTEL is situated about one mile from
Abe feldy. The Hotel is commodions and comfortably fitted up, so

that Families in quest of quiet and comfort may depead upon procurinp
every possible attention. Th) Hotel situation is acknowledged to ba one of

the best in Scotland, being thoroughly protected from all directions, and
having a due South exposure.

Families Bearded by the Weelc or Month.

Posting Establishment complete. Endless Drives.
Magnificent Scenery.

EXCELLENT GOLF COURSE. CHARGES STRICTLY MODERATE
'Bus will meet Parties at Aberfeldy Railway Station, one mile distant,

on the shortest notice being given.
Letters and Telegrams punc ually attended to.

ROBERT MENZIES Proprietor.

BAILIEJIKJjILJARyiE^HOTELi

THIS Hotel has been entirely rebuilt, and now affords excellent

accommodation for Tourists and Families, It is situated amidst
enchanting scenery on the banks of the River Forth, at the Starting
Point of the New Road to the Trossachs and Loch Katrine, over which
Coaches are run daily during the summer. Boats on Loch Ard and
Loph Chon for Fishing and Pleasure Parties. Tennis Lawn. Golf.

Posting. Billiards,

Railway Station, Post and Teleeraph Offices within two minutes'
walk of the Hotel.

A. BLAIR, Proprietor.

ACHNA^H EN, LOCH MAREE & GtlKLOCH.
THE OLD-ESTABLISHED COACH SERVICE

along this famous route of thir ty miles is still being run by the former
proprietor of the Achnasheen H')tel.

Toach leaves Ao.hnashten on arrivf^l of South Mai', about noon (Inverness
depart a>iout 9 50); rettiming from Gairloch in counertion with train leaving
Achnasheen about 3 p,m. (Inverness arrive about 5.15). Also (from 1st July)
Gairlnch f epart 6 30 a.m., Inverness arrive about 2 30 p.m. in connection
with Mail Train to' South.

*** Uonnec'ion with Mr. MacB-ayne'F Ss. "Mabel" on Loch Maree,

For Seats apply to M. McIYER,
Putting M stf-r Mild M .il-c ach Contractor,

ACHNASHEEN, ROSS-SHIRE, N.B.
Al>o Piotirietor of the

(6 miles short of Achnasheen) a quiet retreat for Fishing on Loch Achanault.

BOATS FREE.
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The

AVIEMORE STATION HOTEL
STRATHSPEY.

Post, Telegraph, and Rail — " AVIE MORE."
" A Highland Paradise."—The Gentlewoman, 4th July 1903.

The AXviemore
Station Hotel

First-class

Residential Hotel

in the Finest

Scenery of the

Scottish Highlands.

ELECTRIC LIGHTING.
PASSENGER ELEVATOR.

GOLFING AND FISHING.
im- For Tariff apply to Mr. W. H. LEGGE, Manager

Head of Loch
Lomond.ARDLUI HOTEL

3 minutes' -walk from Steamboat Pier and Ardlui Station,
West Hlg-hland Bail'Wo.y.

THIS Hoti lis beautifully situated amidst unrivalled scenery atidcommanrs
a magi^ificent view of the Loch. 'Ihe Hotel bas been jemo elled and re-

furnished, an addition has be en made, and thu lavatories and sauitary arrange-
ments are nfw, and have been carried out on the most improved principles.

Visiters staying' at this housn. will find evcy comfort and attendance, and
have bo.its and fishing free. Delij^htful daily touts can be arranged to Loch
Kat'iDe, Loch Awe. Loch Tay, Loch Long, &c. Passengers travell'Dg South
by West H guhind Railway ch mge here for Loch Lomond and L ch Katrine.

Parties boarded by week— special Week-end Terms-
August excep ert.

Telegrams :
" Dodds, Ardlui." D. M. DODDS, Proprietor.

N.B.—Grand Circular Tour by Rail, Coach, and Steamer daily from
Kdinbureh and Glasgow.

Further particulars can be obtamed at Crianlarich and Ardlui Hotels, also from the
North British and Caledonian Raibcay*Companies Tourists' Guides,
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BANAVIE.

BflflflVlE HOTEIi, fl.B.
Junction of Caledonian Canal and West Highland Railway.

TO SEE

YOU MUST STAY AT BANAVIE.

The Mountain cannot be seen at all from Fort W^iUiam.

EXCELLENT MOTOR GARAGE.

FINE NEW SEA-SIDE GOLF COURSE.

BANAVIE is thus referred to by the independent press

—

'
' Banavie is the great stopping-place between Oban and Inverness. There

are endless walks and drives. It is the Interlaken of the Caledonian Oanal."
—Truth, 11th August, 1887.

" A magnificent sierht is Ben Nevis at Banavie. Better stay there and wake
up with that in front of your window."

—

Mr. Sidney P. Hall in Oraphic,
24th September, 1892.

" The Banavie Hotel is one of the best for excursions by boat or road. You
can have superb air, fine views, and plenty of day trips without fatigue,
crowding, or hurry, which is not the case with most Scctch centres. Try it,

you cannot do better."

—

The Queen, 10th April, 1897.

"The Banavie Hotel is excellent and up-to-date in every respect. So to
travellers by this route I say, ' Put in here : the " Banavie," c'est moii
avis.' "—Sir F. 0. Bttrnand in Punch, 26th September, 1900.

JOHN MENZIES, Ltd., Proprietors
OP THE PALACE HOTEL, INVERNESS, and STATION HOTEL

MALLAIG.

ELECTRIC LIGHT.
Telegrams :

" Menzies, Banavie.*'
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Invercauld Arms Hotel,
BALLATER, near BALMORAL CASTLE.

PRINCIPAL AND ONLY LICENSED.

FIRST CLASS.

PATRONISED BY ROYALTY.

DEESIDE IS THE SELECT TOURIST RESORT OF
SCOTLAND.

POSTING IN ALL ITS BRANCHES.

GOOD GOLF COURSE.

WILLIAM PROCTOR, Lessee

BALLATER (NEAR BALMORAL).

LOIRSTON HOUSE,
FIRST-CLASS PRIVATE HOTEL.

Under the personal supervision of Mr. and Mrs. Laalond.

DRY, BRACING CLIMATE. MOUNTAIN SCENERY.

GOLFING. CYCLING. POSTING.
Telegrams—" Loirston, Ballater,*
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ATHOLL ARMS HOTEL,
(ADJOINING THE STATION.)

Tel. Address : * Hotel, Blairatholl."

SITUATION unrivalled as a central point from which

to visit the scenery of the Perthshire Highlands,

such as Killiecrankie, the Queen's View of Loch Tummel,

Lochs Tay and Rannoch, Glen Tilt and Braemar, the

Falls of Bruar, Garry, Tummel and Fender, Dunkeld, <fec.

This is also the most convenient resting-place for

breaking the long railway journey to and from the

North of Scotland.

Posting Department extensive and complete.

D. Macdonald & Sons,
Proprietors.

BALMAGARA HOTEL,
BALMACARA, ROSS-SHIRE.

In the midst of beautiful scenery. Most central Hotel for visiting

the far-famed Loch Duich, Looh Long, Falls or Glomach, Buncraig, and
Skye. Magnificent views of Skye Hills from Hotel. Splendid Drives.

Routes:—Rail to Strome Ferry, or Kyle of Lochalsh, thence drive;

steamers Claymore and Clansman from Glasgow and Oban ; or swift

passenger steamer from Oban during tourist season ; and also from
Mallaig, the terminus of the West Highlmd Railway. Parties coming
by steamer should order conveyance, as landing-place is over a mile
from Hotel.

POSTZHrG. BOATING. SBA AITD I.OCB FZSHZM-C
ARCHIBALD SINCLAIR.

TeUgraixis—** Sinclair, Hotel, Balmacaea."

1
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ON THE ROYAL ROUTE TO BRAEMAR.

THE BIRNAM HOTEL,
BIRNAM, PERTHSHIRE.

(STATION, BIRNAM & DUNKELD.)

TTIGH-CLASS Family Hotel, standing in its own grounds, beauti-

fully situated on the banks of the Tay. Elegantly Furnished.

Every Home Comfort. TARIFF VERY MODERATE.

SALMON & TROUT FISHING FREE.
CROQUET & TENNIS. NEW GOLF COURSE.
DARKROOM FOR PHOTOGRAPHY. POSTING.

BRAEMAR (BY BALMORAL).

THE INVERCAULD ARMS HOTEL.
FIRST-CLASS FAMILY AND RESIDENTIA^L HOTEL.

Patronised by Royal Family and Court.

ELECTRICALLY LIGHTED.
Re-fumished and Re-decorated. The Finest Hotel Situation in Scotland.

POSTING IN ALL ITS BRANCBES.

TROUT AND SALMON FISHING.
Coaches during the Season to Blairgowrie, Dunkeld, and Ballater,

LETTERS AND TELEGRAMS PUNCTUALLY ATTENDED 10.

JAMES GREGOR, Proprietor.

CALEDONIAN TEMPERANCE HOTEL,
This is the only First-class Temperance Hotel in

Large Dining Room, Public Drawing Room
ALSO

Ladies' Drawing Room ; Private Sitting Rooms.
HOT and COLD BATHS.

IS X X. X. X ..A. XC. X> XCOOIKC.
Tickets for the Trossachs Coaches to be had at this Hotel.

W, A, BlOQSy Otvner and Manager,
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BRAEMAR BY BALMORAL.

THE . .

FIFE ARMS HOTEL
FIRST=CLASS.

IPatroniseD bg tbe IRoi^al jfamili^ anO tbe Court

Re- Built. Re-Furnished. AH Modern Improvements.

Electric Light.

MOTOR CAR SERVICE
Between BRAEMAR and BALLATER.

COACHES DURING THE SEASON
To BLAIRGOWRIE and DUNKELD.

POSTING IN ALL ITS DEPARTMENTS.

aOLF. SALMON FISHING.

i. MACDONALD, Proprietor,
j
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EDINBURQH
.^f-:>V- -•^.-..

DARLING'S
EEG-ENT HOTEL,

20 WATERLOO PLACE,
UNDER THE PERSONAL MANAGEMENT OF

MISS DARLING.
Address for Telegrams: Darlings Hotkl, Edinburgh.

ROXBURGHE HOTEL,
CHARLOTTE SQUARE, EDINBURGH.

FIRST-CLASS FAMILY HOTEL

JOHN CanZSTXE, Proprietor.
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GARVE~liOTEL,
GARVE, N.B.

ON DINGWALL AND SKYE RAILWAY.
Connected with ROYAL HOTEL, ULLAPOOL.

Situated in the (Jentre of tue Finest Scenery of the Highlands of Jttoss-shire.

VARIETY OF FREE FISHING.
SPECIAL BOARDING T AKIFF FOR FAMILIES

Oonvenient foracr^ess to Braemore, Dnndonnell, Lochbr"om, and Wtet of
Ullapool. The Garve and Ullapool Coach leaves daily at 12.16 Mid-day for
Ullapool. Lurtcueon=t before starting, and from Ullapool, daily, in connection
with 1.8p.m. Mail Tiain.G-arve ; also with MacBrajne's Weekly Steamers, at
Ullapojl.

POSTING. JOBBING. GOLF. PETROL STOCKED.
Telegrams :

" EfOTEL. ^ARVE."
" ROYA ., ULLAPOOL." ' April, 3905.

FISHER'S ROYAL HOTEL
x> XT ly- xs: x: XI. x>.

Under the Patronage of tlie Royal Family.
fTlHlS First-clasp, Old-established Family and Tourut Hotel (seven minutes'
J. walk from Dunkeld Station) is most conveniently tituated adjacent to
the entrance to the Duke of Attioh's Pleasure Grounds, Dunkeld Ancient
Cathedral, Hermitage, and Rumbling Bridge Falls, and nearest for Driving
to Lochs of Lowes, Craiglush, Clunie, and Murthly Castle, &c., &c.

BOABDI^G TER-viS FOR WEEK OR MONTH.
Omnibus and Porters attend all Trains Free of Chargre.

Telegrams for Apartments or Carriages Punctually Attended to.

Fishing on the above Lochs and River Free of Charge.
Hotel Coupons Accepted.

DUNKELD, SPITTaL OF GLENSHEB, and BKAEMAR COACH starts

from this Hotel Daily, at 9 a.m., during July, August, and September, where
Seats can only be secured. Preference of seats given to Vi-itors staying
in Hotel. JOHN FISHER Proprietor.

From the ** Daily Telegraph,'' 30th July, 1901,

"Mr. Baddeley's Guide-books are well known to every

tourist in the British Isles, whether he travels by coach,

cycle, or rail, or prefers the laborious delights of tramping

a-foot. They are as accurate as human fallibility can make

them, they are bountifully supplied with excellent coloured

taaps which show every road, and the descriptions of scenery

are written with good literary taste—a happy medium between

the baldness of some guide-books and the stilted jargon of

others,"

i



65

INVERNESS.

THE PflliilGE HOTEL

^^.^J^-i

THOUGH most central, it is undisturbed by the noise of street

traffic ; and, as it stands on the bank of the Ness, with a

unique view of the Kiver and the Castle, it has exceptional

attractions as a High- class Tourist and Residential Hotel,

ONLY FiRST-CLASS HOTEL LIT BY ELECTRIC LIGHT.

Close to the Cathedral, Ness Islands, and Northern Meeting Grounds.

The only Hotel standing apart in its own Private Grounds.

MOTOR GARAGE.

JOHN MENZIES, Ltd., PropnetofS,
Of BANAVIE HOTEL, N B., and STATION ElTfiL, MALL^Tft.

5
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royaiThotel
INVERNESS.

Old Established. Most Central.

Every Home Comfort.«
NEAREST FIRST -GLASS HOTEL TO THE POST AND

TELEGRAPH OFFIGES.

Directly Opposite the Railway Station.

^c TARIFF. ^
LUNCHEONS, s. d.

Basin of Soup 6

Cold Meat, Vegetables,

and Cheese 2

s. s. d.

Single Bedrooms from 2 to 3

Double Bedrooms ,, 4 ,, 5

Sitting Rooms ,, 5 „ 10 6

BREAKFAST or TEA.
Cup of Tea or Coffee ... 6

Plain Tea or Coffee 1 6

Tea or Coffee, with Eggs
or Cold Meat 2

Ditto, with Chops, Steak,

Ham and Eggs, or Fish 2 6

DINNERS.
Soup or Fish, Joint, and

Cheese 3

Soup or Fish, Joint,

Sweets, and Cheese... 3 6

Table d'Hote 4 6

Attendance, Is, 6d. per Day.

Hotel Porters await Iha arrival of all Trains, and an Omnibus
attends the Caledonian Canal Steamers.

Under tie PERSONAL MAMGEMEKT of the PROPRIETOR,

Telephone No. S4. JOHN S. CHRISTIE. I
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WAVERLEY HOTEL, IHVEMSS.

fop ^^^^^"dl^i^^^^^ Combined

Situation ^^^1^^^^^^ „!"\
. ^^^^Hll^Si ii^S^^M. Moderate

and

Comfort

Telegi ams

"Waverley." „j^

One Minute's walk from the Railway Station.

Porter of the Hotel attends all Trains,

And an Omnibus runs in connection with the Caledonian Canal

Steamers.

D. DAVIDSON, Proprietor.

INVERNESS,

WEST-END TEMPERANCE HOTEL
39 UNION STREET.

(Two Minutes' walk from the Eailway Station and G.P.O.)

Central Situation. Home Comforts. IVIoderate Charges

IKIlBS DAVIDSON, Ziessee.
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XXIB-GS-XTSSS5

WOLFENDEN'S HOTEL.
Half Way between Perth and Inverness.

THIS FIRST-0LAS3 HOTEL, recently RE-BUILT and RE-FURNISHED
is now replete with every comfort. Kingussie is acknowledged to be

one of the most valuable Health Resorts in the North of Scotland.

FISHING, GOLFING, BO\7LING AND TENNIS.
POSTING IN ALL ITS BRANCHES.

BEAUTIFUL WALKS AND DRIVES.
BOOTS ATTENDS ALL TRAINS.

Telegrams:— W. WOLFENDEN
W'OLFENDEN, KiNQussiE.' Proprietor.

LANARK (Falls of Clyde).

CLYDESDALE HOTEL.
FIRST-CLASS accommodation for Families and Tourists. Special Term

for Boarders by the Week end. Week, or Month. Perfect Ssinitary

Arrangements. Spacious Hall for accommodati^^n of Large Parties. Ex-
cellent Cuisine. First-cla?s Wine. BILLTARDS (Two First-class Tablet).

'Bus and Boots attend all Trains, Special accommodation and facilities for

Motor Cars. Stabling and Posting in all its Branches. Coach to Falls ot
Clyde, Clyde Valley (the Orchard of Scotland), and Tillietudlem
Castle Daily. Charges Moderate.

ISriLLIAM H. COX, Proprietor.
Lanark is strongly recommended as a Health Resort. Bracing Atmosphere.

SUPERIOR GOLF COURSE (18 holes) with Visitors' Tickets
at Reasonable Rates. GOOD CYCLING ROADS.

EXCELLENT TROUT FISHING in the Clyde and Tributaries.
BOWLING. BOATING.

THE FALLS OF CLYDE
are described in

Baddeley's LOWLANDS, 4s.

Also in

Baddeley's HIGHLANDS, 6s. 6d.

See }). 23 Advertisemmts.



69

X.OC; ^AL»mroc;

DDNALASTAFR HOTEL
KINLOCH RANNOCH, PERTHSHIRE.

D. C. MACMILLAN.

"'wm

..v^^i.*>K»5S.*:

THIS Hotel is beautifQlly situated in one of the loveliest

and healthiest districts of the Perthshire Highlands,

at the foot of Loch Rannoch, and on the banks of

the River Tummel. The Hotel has all been newly

decorated and re-furnished, also greatly improved ; is

patronised by the Nobihty and all the leading families.

Free Fishing and Boats on Loch and River.
This Hotel has the longest stretch of River Fishing in the District.

POSTING ESTABLISHMENT.
Also at STRUAN.

GOLF COURSE. TERMS MODERATE.
Excellent Accommodation for Motors.

Telegrams: 'Dunalastaie Hotel, Kinloch Rannoch,' and
• ]\Jacmillan, Struan, Oalvini.'
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LOGH AWE HOTEL
(LOCH AWE STATION, CALEDOHIAH RAILWAY.)

Passenger Lift from Station to Hotel.

ELECTRIC LIGHT THROUGHOUT.

SALMON AND TROUT FISHING
ON LOCH AWE, FREE.

BOATING. BILLIARDS. LAWN TENNIS.
CARRIAGES, &c.

P, FRASER, Proprleforp
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Portsonachan Hotel,
The

Portsonachan.

THE OLDEST-ESTABLISHED HOTEL ON LOCH AWE,

Having^ First-class Angling Facilities.

THIS HOTEL has superior advantages. It is beautifully

situated and easy of access, only an hour's sail from
Loch Awe Station (Callander and Oban Railway), where the

Hotel Steamer, '' Caledonia," will make connection with
the principal trains during the season. (See Murray's Time-
table).

Note.—Splendid Trout Fishing on Lochawe and fifteen

other Lakes, Stocked with Eainbow, Brown, and Lochleven
Trout, Free to Visitors.

Letters delivered twice and despatched three t^mes daily.

Postal, Telegraph, and Money Order Office in Hotel Building.

Presbyterian and Episcopalian Churches within easy walking
distance of Hotel.

Posting and Coaching. Beautiful Drives.

FIRST-GLASS BOATS. EXPERIENCED BOATMEN.

CHARGES MODERATE.

NEW BILLIARD ROOM ADDED.
The Steamer will meet any Train at Lochawe Station, by

Special Arrangement.

THOMAS CAMERON, Proprietor.
(Originator of the Glen Nant and Falls of Blairgour Circular Tour.)

Telegraphic Address.—" CAMERON, POETSONACHAN."

f^- Illustrated Hand-book Free for the asking. Mention
Baddeley's Guides.
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trntJer IRo^al Jbt^ ZTwfce tDisfteO bi?

Ipatronage. ^^^ (Slueen Dictoria,

LOCHEARNHEAD HOTEL,
PERTHSHIRE, 12 miles by Railway from Callander.

Lochearnhead Station close to Hotel is now open, book via Comrie.

T ONG established; excellent accommodation for i^milies and Tourists, with^ every comfort, and quiet ; high and dry ; charmingly sheltered at the foot
of the wild Glen Ogle ("The Kyber Pass"). Commands fine views of the sur-
rounding hills and loch ; the old Castle of Glenample ; the scenery of the
Legend of Montrose, in the neighbourhood of Ben Voirlich ; Rob Roy's Grave

;

Loch Voil ; Loch Doine ; Loch Lubnaig ; with many fine Drives and Walks.
Most comfortable place for breaking the journey to Oban.

GOLF COURSE IN CONNECTION WITH THE HOTEL.
Posting and Carriages. Billiards.

Trout and Char Fishing Free. Episcopal Church.
Ladies' Golf Course adjoins Hotel.

'Bus meets the principal Trains during Summer.
E. MAZSET, Proprietor.

THE NEW RAILWAY
BETWEEN

ST. FILLANS & BALQUHIDDER
(BY LOCHEARNHEAD)

IS

NOW OPEN THROUGHOUT,
And forms a Direct Communication

BETWEEN THE

EAST AND WEST OF SCOTLAND
(PERTH AND OBAN),

TRAVERSING SOME OF THE

FINEST SCENERY OF PERTHSHIRE.
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Great Western Hotel
LARGEST AND LEADING HOTEL.

THIS large and handsome Hotel, within five minutes'

walk of the Railway Station, and close to the

Steamboat Pier, commands the finest situation, over-

looking the Bay^

RE-DECORATED AND RE-FURNISHED,
and equipped with every modern accommodation for the

comfort and convenience of Travellers, Families, and
the Public.

A Luxurious Smoking Lounge, handsomely furnished,

has been added.

LIGHTED BY ELECTRICITY.
PASSENGER LIFT.

Cuisine under an Experienced and Efficient Chef.

All Wines, Spirits, and Cigars carefully selected.

An Omnibus attends the arrival and depaiture of Trains and
Steamers, and conveys Visitors Free of Charge.

Charges Moderate. Tariif on application.

Special Boarding Terms, prior to 1st July and after 21st Sept.

MOTOR GARAGE WITH INSPECTION PIT.

ALEX. MCGREGOR, Proprietor.

(Late of Ballater and Brabmab).
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OB^A^IsT.

56 & 58 GEORGE STREET.

The Leading Establishment in the Highlands
for the supply of all kinds of Books, Stationery, Fancy Goods,
Charts, Maps, Guide Books, Photographs, Artists' Drawing
Materials, Highland Crooks, Walking-sticks, &c.

Visitors should purchase Boyd's

SIXPENNY GUIDE TO OBAN AND NEIGHBOURHOOD

By M. J. B. Baddeley, Editor of " Thorough Guide " Series.

Plan of Oban and 4 Maps by Babtholomew.

Crown 8vo., 6cl. ; post free, 8d.

" Will he of great service to Tourists. Day Excursions admirably planned,"
Scotsman.

Monthly Time Table and Diary, Id., by post IJd.

" One of the signs of modern times."—Mail.

FURNISHED HOUSES
And APARTMENTS to Let in Oban and West Highlands.

Printed Lists Free on Application. Postage Id,

PRINTERS,
BOOKSELLERS, STATIONERS & NEWS AGENTS.

(Facing the Bay.)

Telegrams—" BOYD, BOOKSELLERS, OBAN."
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KING'S ARMS HOTEL
FIRST-CLASS TOURIST AND COMMERCIAL.

This old-established Hotel has just been Eebuilt and Enlarged.

Has a commanding Sea View ; is adjacent to the Railway Station

and Steamboat Wharf ; and possesses home comforts, combined
with moderate charges.

Ladies' Drawing Room. Billiard, Smoking, and Bath Rooms.
Parties Boarded on moderate terms.

TJLBIiE HD'HOTIE ZDJ^IXjIT.
PORTERS WAIT THE ARRIVAL OF TRAINS & STEAMERS.

In connection with Richmond Arms Hotel, Tomintoul
(by Ballindalloch)

.

J. M. MAC TAVI8H, Proprietor.

SCOTLAND'S FIRST-CLASS FAMILY HOTEL
(Three Mmn^es' Walk from' Station),

THIS commodious and well-appointed Establishment has been
enlarged to meet the requirements of its increasing connection

Is beautifully situated in the centre of the village of Pitlochry, over-

looking the Vale of AthoU. It contains Forty Bedrooms, lofty and
well-ventilated, Spacious Drawing and Dining Rooms, Private Sitting

Rooms, Commercial Room, Smoking and Billiard Rooms. This house
possesses everything requisite to promote the comfort and convenience
of V isitors.

Hot and Cold Water Baths. Boots waits arrival of all Trains.
Charges Moderate.

E. SCOTLAND, Proprietress.

HEAD.QUARTERS CYCLISTS' TOURING CLUB
TpLBftBAMS TO •• SCOTLAND, PITLOCHRY."
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FISHER'S HOTEL, W •

First= Class Family Hotel and
Posting Establishment.

THIS Hotel is situated in its own Grounds, close to th"* Kailway
Station. The Public .ooms are large and handsome. The Private Sitting Rooms and

Bedrooms are elegantly furoiahed, and overlook the Flower Garden, which is allowed by all
Visitors to be he finest attached to any establishment of the kind.

Parties can viiit fr m this Hotel, Dunbeld, the Queen's View on Loch Tummel, Kinloch-
Rannoch.the Pass of Killiecrankie Glentilt.the Falls of Bruar, &c.
ft Sfi'lochry is on the direct route to Braemar and Balmoral Castle, by Spittal of Gleiishee;
and to Taymouth Castle, by Aberfeldy. Good Salmon and Trent Fishing on the River
Tummel for Hotel Visitors.

11

Excursion Coaches and Brakes leave the Hotel ciaiiy during the seaso i for Pass of Killie-
crankie, Queen's View on Loch Tummel, Falls of Bruar, Dunkeld, Kinloch-Rannoch Ac—

a

fresh Excursion each day.

NEW COACH ROUTE.— Fro n Ist July to 30th September, a Coach leaves
Fisher's Hotel, Pitlocliry, at 9 a.m. daily for Ranuoch Station, on the West
Highland Railway. This route, by Pass of Killiecrankie, Queen's View on Loch Tummel,
Loch Rannoch, and the wild Moor of Rannoch, embraces some of the grandest and
most beautiful scenery in Scotland. Coach Fares, I5s. (including Coachman's Fee). Fare
to Kinloch-Rannoch, 7s. 6d., either Single or Return, and valid only for day of issue.

MOTOR GARAGE & PIT. Resident Engineer for Repairs, &c.

PETROL FOR SALE.
Telegmphic Orders for Apartments, Carriagres, Coach Seats

punctually attended to.

Address "MANAGER."
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Moulin Hotel
Three-quarters of a Mile from Pitlochry Station and

550 feet above Sea Level.

SMOKE ROOM. BEAUTIFUL SITUATION.
INVIGORATING AIR. POSTING.

TERMS MODERATE.

M. HARPER, Proprietress.

On the new line from Comrie (6 miles) to Lochearnhead (8 miles).

Excellent Trout Fishing on Loch Earn and Rivi;r, free.

Drummond Arms Hotel,
ST. FILLANS, by COMRIE,

PERTHSHIRE.
Tj'^XTENSlVE alterations and additions have recently been
-Lj made to this Hotel, giving greatly increased accommodation
for Families and Tourists. Large New Dining and Billiard Booms
added, and the Sanitary arrangements are on the most improved

principles. St. Fillans is beautifully situated at the foot of Loch
Earn, and is one of the loveliest places to be met ^vith anywhere

Baddeley's Guide calls it

—

" The quintessence of undesigned loveliness."

Boats for Fishing and Carriages for Hire.

GOLF COURSE CLOSE TO HOTEL.

JAMES CARMICHAEL, Proprietor.
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BROADFORD HOTEL.
GREATLY EXTENDED 1904.

THE best starting-place for the OuchuUins, Loch Scavaig, and Loch
Coruisk, which are seen to greatest advantage when approached from

the sea.

Good Sea, River, and Loch Fishing. Loch Leven and Rainbow Trout
Lochs ; also Boats free of charge. Parties boarded at moderate terms. All
Steamers between Oban, Kyle of Lochalsh, Portree, Gaitloch, Stomoway,
&c., call here daily.

The new Pier is now open, and all steamers land passengers there. Boots
will await arrival of steamers during the season.

POSTING. POST AND TELEGRAPH OFFICE.

JE, BOSS, Lessee.

XSX.ZS OX"

SLIGACHAN INN,
(S-WZTZERI.AND IIT SKTE).

" The rock-elimbins centre par excellence of the British Isles."
(See Badminton Libsary, Vol. Mountaineering, page 342).

NOW OPEN. NOW OPEN.
ENLARGED, IMPROVED, AND REFURNISHED.

OOOB SBA-TROUT FISHZNG AlTD AZiSO IiOCa AlTD
SEA FISHZirG.

The Inn is within walking distance of the famed Loch Coruisk aad is

Bituated at the foot of the OuchuUin Hills. Scenery unrivalled.

JOHN CAMPBELL, Manager.
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NETHYBRIDCE-OK-SPEY, STRATHSPEY.

NETHYBRIDGE HOTEL
XTEW FIRST -CLASS
^^ FAMILY HOTEL,
near the base of the
Oairngorm Mountains.
Situated amongst the
famous Pine Woods of
Strathspey. 700 feet
above sea - level. Re-
plete with every com-
fort. Dry, Bracing
Climate. Ackno'w-
ledged Most Valu-
able Health Resort.

Moderate Charges.

Special Boarding Terms for Families.

BILLIARDS. POSTING ESTABLISHMENT.
TROUT FISHING FREE.

GOLF, TENNIS, AND CROQUET.
CHARMING DRIVES AND WALKS.

UNDER THE PERSONAL MANAGEMENT of Mb. & Mrs. MACKENZIE

liOLite via Perth and DuDkeld to Broomhill Station,

Highland Kailway.

A. G. MACKENZIE, Proprietor.

BADDELEY'S

NORTHERN HIGHLANDS
(SCOTLAND, Part II.)

FROM SPEYSIDE AND GAIRLOCH
to

JOHN O'GROATS AND CAPE WRATH.
3s, 6d. Net,
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STRATHPEFFER
SPA HOTEL

PATRONISED BY ROYALTY.
The oldest-established and leading Hotel in the Harrogate

of the North. Highest and finest situation.

The SPORTING HOTEL of the HIGHLANDS.
Salmon Angling on the River Conon, and

Trout Fishing in Loch Garve, Loch Luichart, free to Visitors.

Private Beats by Arrangement.

Close to fine sporting IS-hole Golf Course.

TENNIS. CROQUET. CRICKET.
RECREATION AND BALL ROOMS. Electric Light throughout.

Superior Stud of Carriage and Saddle Horses.

CS- .ilu 33e. ./Ik. <3- X3.
Ttlcgra'pUc Address—" Wallace, Stbathpeffer."
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Address :
*' Neab Windebmxbe. Telegrams to " Gkand Hotel, Windeemkbh."

-W. jr. IVARREir, Manager.
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^axih Malts.

BETTWS-Y-COED (North Wales).

WflTEHIiOO HOTEL.

Mrs. McCULLiOCH, ProprietresSi



iort^ Malts.

LLANGOLLEN.

EDWARDS' HAND HOTEL.
UNEQUALLED for the beauty of its situation on the banks

of the Dee. 60 Bedrooms. Large private Sitting-rooms.

Table d'Hote 7.30 at separate tables. Billiards. Omnibuses
from this Hotel meet all trains. Electric Light throughout.

Extensive Motor Garage. Inspection Pit.

Telephone No. 7. Address Manager.

COLWYN BAY.

IMPERIAL (STATION) HOTEL.
FIRST CLASS.

Fronting Sea and Promenade.
HANDSOIME PUBLIC ROOMS AND LOUNGES.

Private Suites for Families.

TARIFF MODERATE. GARAGE. GOLF.

Telephone : 018!^. Telegrams :
" Imperial, Colwyn Bay."

NOW READY,

IRELAND (Part II.)
(Bast, IflTest, and South),

Including DUBLIN 6 HOWTH.
(FIFTH EDITION.)

Price .... 5s.

DULAU & CO., 37 Soho Square, liondon, W.C.



LYN VALLEY HOTEL,
LYNMOUTH, DEVON.

Telegrams to "Valley, Lynmouth."

Overlooking the meeting
of the East and West
Lyns, universally acknow-
ledged to be the loveliest

valley in the South of

England.

. Adjoining the beautiful

Glyn Lyn Grounds.

Communication by rail with all parts of the kingdom
via Barnstaple (omnibus meets trains) ; by sea with

Bristol and Ilfracombe ; by coach with Minehead and

Ilfracombe.

Boating, Bathing, Fishing, Billiards, Golf.

ALL CHARGES STRICTLY MODERATE.

Stntlaittr.

SUTHERLAND.

SCOURIE HOTEL.
AN ideal Tourist Resort, beautifully situated on West Coast

amid splendid Highland scenery. Has superior Brown
Trout, Sea Trout, and Sea Fishing attached.

Hiring and Extensive Boating on Sea and Loch.
DAILY MOTOR SERVICE FROM LAIRG.

Telegrams: "Ross, Scourie." H. E. ROSS, Lessee.



liOCH RANNOGH.

LOCH RANNOGH HOTEL.
Beautifully situated on the Northern Shore of Loch Rannoch.

Is facing South and Sheltered from the North and East Winds. It
commands the Best View of the Loch, Schiehallion and surrounding

district, and is situated within its own Grounds.

About half a mile distant fi^om the Village of Kinloch-Rannoch.

WAS RECENTLY ERECTED, and has now been FURTHER
ENLARGED for the Accommodation of Visitors.

The Hotel is Replete with every Modern Convenience,
and contains iO Bedrooms, besides Private Rooms, Coffee Room,
Drawing Room, Billiard and Smoking Room, while thei-e is ample
Stabling and other accommodation. Visitors staying in the Hotel
have the right of Fishing over the whole of Loch Rannoch, and also in
part of the River Tummel. George Gow, who was tenant of the
Dunalastair Hotel for 16 years preceding Whitsunday, 1898, has
acquired the lease of this Hotel, and trusts that his former clients
will give him a continuance of their patronage.

ON SENDING INTIMATION TO MR. GOW,
Parties will be driven from either the Rannoch Station on the

West Highland Railway, or from the Struan Station

on the Highland Railway.

Reduced Terms from 1st April till end off June.

GOLF COURSE.
GEORGE GOW, Proprietor.

HEALTH RESORT,

BUNRANNOCH HOTEL,
KINLOCH RANNOCH, PERTHSHIRE,

THIS old-established Hotel is reconstructed and redecorated.

Additional Bedrooms. New Bathrooms and Lavatories.

SANITATION UP TO DATE.
Free Fishing on the whole of Loch Rannoch and River

Tummel. Croquet and Tennis Courts. Bunrannoch Golf
Course adjoining, nine holes. Large new Garage, Inspection

Pit. Post Office opposite. Reduced tariff up to 15th July.

Telegrams: "MacRae, Kinloch Rannoch."



Stotlanb.

STRATHPEFFER, N.B.

Munro's Strathpeffer Hotel
HIGHLAND SPA.

FIRST-CLASS HOTEL.

En Pension, 2^ guineas
to £3 10s., according to

time of year.

Nearest Hotel to Golf
Course (18 holes).

Seven minutes' walk
from Railway Station

and Mineral Wells.

J. M. MUNRO,
Proprietor.

SALISBURY HOUSE.
(Beautifully situated on the hill, with Southern Exposure.)

TO LET, furnished, for Summer and Autumn months, con-

taining Four Sitting Rooms, Ten Bedrooms, Dressing

Room, Smoking Room, and Servants' accommodation. All

modern conveniences, including large airy Bathroom. Elevated

Situation, southern exposure. Draining Perfect, with Flushing

Tank ; within four minutes' walk of Mineral Wells and Baths.

Rent very moderate. Apply to

J. M. MUNRO, Strathpeffer Hotel.

KYLEAKIN, SKYE,

KING'S ARMS HOTEL,
KYLEAKIN, SKYE.

TTHIS large and Commodious House, acquired by the present Pro-
Vk prietor, is furnished and fitted up with all the requirements of a

first-class Hotel. It is situated in the midst of the grandest scenery in

the West Highlands, on the Beach of the Kyle, the well-known Health
liesort and Yachting Station. The Glasgow and Liverpool steamers
call daily, and the Terminus of the Highland Railway (Kyle of Loch-
alsh) is within half a mile. Daily steamers to and from Mallaig. The
best Boating and Bathing Beach on the Coast. Fishing. Posting.

Finest Wines and Old Highland Whiskies. Moderate Tariff. Special

Terms to Weekly and Monthly Boarders. Telegraphic Address:
"MacInnes, Kyleakin." jj^ MacINNBS, Proprietor.



Irclanb.

LAKE liOTEL,
KILLARNEY LAKES

Firstr Class.

Patronised by His Most Gracious Majesty the King.

CTAXDIXG in j^s own grounds, upwards of 60 acres, on the shor<
•^ of the Lower Lake, the centre of all that is beautiful anc

sublime in the scenery of Killarnej^.

Newly Furnished. Electric Light throughout.

GOLF, BOATING, FISHING, TENNIS, &c.

Mas^nificent Public Rooms. Splendid Accommodati'

CO. ke:rry.

ROYAL HOTEL, VALENCIA ISLA jD.
This Hotel has been patronised by His Majesty the King, the Duke Oj

Connaught, the Duke and Duchess of York.

TCUEISTS visiting Kern- should not fail to pay a visit to Valencia Island—Railwa;
Station. " Valencia Harbour," the most Westerly railway station in Enope.

The attractions on Valencia are very unique. Bathing, Boating, and First-class Se;

Fishing to be had. The Atlantic Cables, connecting the Old and New Worlds, can be see
in fuU operation. The Clififs of DohiUa. rising 600 feet high sheer from the sea. Lord Johi
Manners in his interesting notes, says. " No words can describe the fascination of the seen
from these Cliffs" The magnificent view from the Slate Quarries, the Lighthouse (Crom
well's Fort), Glanleam, the seat of the Knight of Kerry, where tlie largest fuchsia-tree in th>

world can be seen ; the Pirates' Cave, are all within easy reach of the Hotel.
The drive round the Island is the finest in Ireland. Excursion parties arranged by stean

launch for visiting the Skelligs Eocks, Portmagee Cliffs (850 feet high), Begins Island
Doulas Head and Caves, Church Island, Ballj'carbery Castle, &c.

The climate on the Island in winter is considered to be the mildest in the British Isles.

Hot and Cold Sea-water Baths. Charges fixed and moderate
T. GAjLVIN, Proprietor.
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